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Fredericton and St. Mary's Bridge Inquiry.

REPORTS.

COMEMITTEE ROOM,

FRInAY, 14th June, 1895.

The Select Standing Committee on Public Accounts beg leave to present the fol-
lowing as their Second Report -

Your Committee have had under consideration the items " Fredericton and St.
Mary's Railway Bridge Company Loan Account, $300,000," and " Fredericton and St.
Mary's Bridge Loan, $60,000," set out on page xvi of the Public Accounts of Canada,
for the fiscal year ended 30th June, 1894, under the headings "Sundry Investments"
and "lnterest Special Accounts," and in connection therewith, have examined wit-
nesses under oath, and for the information and convenience of the House of Commons,
have agreed to report at this stage of their proceedings the evidence so far given by
such witnesses.

All which is respectfully submitted.

GEO. B. BAKER,
Chairman.

CoMMITTEE RooM,
FninAY, l2th July, 1895.

The Select Standing Committe on Public Accounts beg leave to present the fol-
lowing as their Sixth Report:-

Your Committee have had under further consideration the items "Fredericton
and St. Mary's Railway Bridge Company Loan Account, $300,000," and "Fredericton
aud St. Mary's Bridge Loan, $60,000," set out on page xvi of the Public Accounts of
Canada, for the fiscal year ended 30th June, 1894, under the headings "Sundry In-
vestments " and " Interest Special Accounts," respectively, and in connection therewith,
have taken further evidence under oath, and for the information of the House have
agreed to report such further evidence annexed hereto; and the Committee recommend
that the said evidence and that contained in their Second Report, be printed.

All which is respectfully submitted.

GEO. B. BAKER,
Chairman.
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Fredericton and St. Mary's Bridge Inquiry.

MINUTES OF EVIDENCE

COMMITTEE Roo.m, -No. 49,
HoUSE oF CoMMoNS, 21st May, 1895,

The Select Standing Committee on Public Accounts met,

Mr. J. M. COURTNEY, Deputy Minister of Finance, called, sworn and examined.

By Sir Richard Cartwright :

1.' You are the Deputy Minister of the Department of Finance ?-Yes,
2. And have been so for the last sixteen or seventeen years ?--Yes.
3. I find here, Mr. Courtney, handed in from your department, a number of commu-

nications with the secretary treasurer of the Fredericton and St. Mary's Bridge Co., and
also with the Auditor General. Do these contain all the papers of every kind in refer-
ence to the Fredericton Bridge in the department ?-In the departnent, yes.

4. You have no other information of any kind ?-No.
5. I observe that beginning in June, 1888, and going on to December, 1894, you

.appear to have addressed, pretty regularly every half-year, a request for interest to this
company. I find also, if I understand these papers of yours, that no paymient for interest
-ever appears to have been made except apparently what was stopped out of a $30,000
bonus granted to the company ?-I think there were $3,000 paid.

6. That does not appear here ?-And $12,000 stopped.
Mr. FosTER.-I think that $3,000 appears in the papers.
The WITNEsS.-The $3,000 is there.

By Sir Richard Cartwright :

7. As far as I can see it is not ---At all events everything was paid up to the 30th
June, 1889.

8. The only $3,000 I can see is apparently $3,000 which was stopped out of the
830,000 ?-Oh, that was the first stoppage.

9. It does not appear from these papers. Looking at then, Mr. Courtney, as far
as I can see, that anything at all was paid except what was stopped out of the $30,000
bonus ; that the -ompany never paid a cent out of its own funds as far as these papers
show. I perceive the 83,000, but you will notice- -That seems to have been
stopped there.

10. Then as far as you are aware nothing was ever paid by the company ?-I believe
not.

11. Except what was stopped ?-Except what was stopped.
12. Out of the $30,000 bonus ?-Yes.

By Mr. Davies:

13. How much was that altogether ?-$15,000.
14. How many years did that cover ?-Up to the 30th June, 1889.
Sir RICHARD CARTWRIGHT.-That would be one year and a quarter.
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By MIr. Davies:

15. And since the 30th June, 1889, nothing has been paid ?-That is so.

By Sir Richard Cartwright:

16. The sum total of arrears, Mr. Courtney, on the 31st December, appears to
amount to $66,000 by your memorandum ?-$66,000 on the 31st December, and half
yearly.

17. Now this correspondence I see extends over some six or seven years. You
acquainted the minister of the department from time to time with the fact that these
sums were not paid ?-Well, with all due respect, is not a communication between the-
Minister and his deputy rather privileged?

Sir RIcHaRD CARTWRIGHT.-Does the Minister raise the point?
Mr. FOSTER-1 will raise no opposition.
WITNESS-The Minister of Finance, I believe, was fully aware of the thing.

By Sir Richard Cartwright :

18. There were two or three Ministers of Finance apparently between 1888 ?
Mr. Foster came in 1888.

19. In 1888, did he?-Yes.
20. I thought he was a year later. However it does not matter. At any rate I

suppose as a matter of course you would acquaint the Minister from time to time with
the state of affairs ?-The Minister of Finance is very well aware of what is in the
public accounts.

21. Now, apparently no explanation whatever that I can find in these letters was
given by the company as to why they did not pay ?-No, none whatever.

22. And apparently they did not always answer your communications ?-Sometimes
they did and soietimes they did not.

23. Well now, here is a period of six years or thereabouts during which each half
year a further large sum of money is accumulating due. Was no action whatever of
any kind or sort taken by the department towards the collecting of these moneys that
you are aware of ?-Beyond the demand every year.

24. Beyond the demand? Well, is it not the practice of the department if these
demands are not responded to to communicate with some other departnent as to the
facts ; to set the law in motion and collect your just debts ?-Well, I do not know of
any other thing that is in arrears.

25. Except the Fredericton Bridge ?-I think that is all.
26. I think there are some harbour bonds of Quebec that look to me to be in

arrears ?-That is the only thing besides that.
27. Those two ?-Yes.
28. Then no communication at all was had with the Department of Justice? Was.

this matter ever reported to the Council ?-I don't report to Council ; that is for the
Minister to do.

29. Then no further authority other than the departmental was obtained for
abstaining f rom collecting or trying to collect what is due ?-Nothing was done except
those two.

30. In the face of 20 or thirty communications made to the- secretary-treasurer of
the Fredericton and St. Mary's Bridge Co.?-That is all.

31. Did you obtain any information as to who composed the Fredericton and St.
Mary's Bridge Co. ?-Nothing whatever.

32. You know nothing at all about them ?-I know nothing whatever.
33. Of any kind ?-Nothing at al, though I may make a remark that the advance

is made under Act of Parliament. It shows how the advance should be made and
under what conditions.

34. Yes, I am aware of that Do you know whether this is secured by any form
of mortgage ?-Yes.
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Fredericton and St. Mary's Bridge Inquiry.

35. In what shape is it ?-I dont know who has the mortgage. I think in this
case, if I may be allowed to refer to the Act, it is 50-51 Victoria, I am speaking from
memory, but it was under the conduct of the Department of Railways, and on the
estimate of their engineer that the work was done and on the deposit of the mortgage
the Auditor General was asked to issue a certificate that the money should be paid.

36. But are you aware that the mortgage is in existence ?-I know there is such a
thing.

37. In wbat department ?-In the Department of Railways and Canais.
Sir RiRCHAR CARTwRIGHT-Well, I suppose the Departnent of Railways and

Canals will produce it ?
Mr. HAaGART--I think it has been produced in the House.
Mr. FoSTER-It was asked for by the House, and it is in the returns to the House,

I think.

By Sir Richard Cartw'righ t:

38. Then, Mr. Courtney, in point of fact, you knew nothing about this ?-Except
those letters.

39. You have no information about the company ?-None whatever.
40. And you are not aware that any other steps whatever were taken to collect

any portion of this money ?-I am not aware of any further steps being taken.
41. And the deed, you say, is in the hands of the Departrnent of Railways and

Canals ?-I believe so.

By M1r. JcMIul/en:

42. Did the company make any return annually, showing the receipts and the ex-
penditures connected with the operation of the bridge ?--I imagine they would (o that
under the Railway Act and to the Railway Department.

-13. You know of none ?-I know of none whatever.
44. Then with regard to this item on page XVI of the Public Accounts : How long

is it since an account of this kind bas been opened? Interest-special account-when
was that opened ?-I don't know how far the Albert Railway loan goes back, but it iust
have been open for some years before the Fredericton and St. Mary bridge business
came up.

45. Why was it left open until this time? Do you look upon these items that are
here as a kind of profit and loss account, or what ?-No; they are an asset of the
IDominion.

46. Are they counted in as an asset in your balance sheet ?-Yes, certainly.
47. And credit taken for them ?-Yes ; credit taken for them.
48. And the interest is taken also ?-The interest is credited to Consolidated Fund

and debited to Special Interest account.
49. And the interest is here stated ? For instance, S60,000 Fredericton Bridge

Co. is counted in as earning interest and an asset of the Dominion in balancing the
accounts of the Dominion, and is deducted when yon make the per capita rate of interest
of this Dominion ?-Yes; certainly.

50. It is deducted out of that?-Yes ; certainly.
51. It is deducted out of that ?-Yes.
52. How is it about the Quebec Harbour bonds, are they treatecl in the same

way ?-I believe so.
53. Well, now, here in these four items there are $805,000 ?-I beg your pardon.
54. In these four items there are $805,000. Now, on balancing the account for

the year, is that sum taken as an asset ?-I believe so. I could look it up in a few
minutes, but I believe it is reckoned off the net debt.

55. Well, we should like to know ?-Well, I believe it is so, but I could make sure
very soon.

56. This is taken out as an available asset and deducted f rom the gross debt of
this country. Are there any other accounts that stand in the same shape ?-Only these
four.
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By Mr. Mills (Bothwell):

57. Are there other accounts not so included here, interest accounts ?-Oh, yes,
there are some that are not included in the estimation of the net debt.

58. Now, will you state to the committee the arrangement for including these
four items and not including others ?--If you will look in the sundry investments
consolidated fund investment account, second item, you will find some things. Bank
of Upper Canada stock which is absolutely dead and worthless is not included. These
four were looked upon as available assets.

By Mr. Davies:

59. Which four ?-Three Rivers Harbour Commission, Quebec Harbour Com-
mission, Fredericton and St. Mary's Bridge Co. and Albert Railway Company.

By Mr. Mills (Bothwell):

60. They are taken at par and deducted from the gross debt ?-Yes.

By Mr. McMfllen :

61. Are you prepared to say that we have no other assets or investments which
stand in the same shape as these. Are these the only items we have that are looked
upon as questionable whether the Dominion may realize on them ?-I do not express
any opinion as to whether they are questionable or not. They are the only four items
from which nothing has accrued in the way of interest.

62. Still vou look upon them as available assets to the extent of deducting them
from the gross debt ?-We have treated them in that way.

By Mr. Mills-(Bothwell).

63. When was interest paid on the Quebec ilarbour Commission bonds ?-Well, I
could not tell you. I read up the Fredericton and St. Mary's because I expected to be
examined on it, but I did not expect to be examined on the others, or I would have
looked them up.

By Mr. Davies:

64. Is there anything in the accounts which you could look up now and find out
when interest was paid ?-I do not think so, I can tell you next day.

65. Do I understand you to say that at the next meeting you will have a state-
ment showing when each of these investments began to get into arrears and how much
each of them bas got into arrears ?-I will get whatever the committee want.

By Mr. Haggart:

66. Have you any other balance sheet than that ?-No.
67. None whatever ?-That is the balance sheet of the Dominion.

By Mr. icfMullen :

68. Since this investment got into arrear bas the Department of Finance ever
inade a report to the Department of Justice with a view to pressing for payment ?-
Are we not at the Fredericton and St. Mary's bridge business.

Mr. FOsTER-We were on the Fredericton bridge, but we have wandered off on to
other things.

Sir RICHARD CARTWRIGHT-We had better confine ourselves to the Fredericton
bridge.

By -Mr. M[cMutllen:

69. You say in the case of the Fredericton Bridge Company there was no report
made to the Department of Justice ?-There was no communication with the Departiment.
of Justice.

A. 1895



Fredericton and St. Mary's Bridge Inquiry.

70. None whatever ?-None whatever.

By Mr. Foster :

71. You say that nothing was paid except what was stopped f rom their subsidy?
-I believe so.

72. That subsidy of course was payable on conditions. They had fultilled the con-
ditions and at the time when the conditions were fulfilled this subsidy was their
money ?-Undoubtedly.

73. So that they paid it out of money they had earned. You stated in vour reply
to Sir Richard Cartwright that the Minister was fully aware of what is in Public Ac-
counts. Will you exercise your memory and inform the committee whether or nlot you
ever made a special report to me upon this matter ?--I do not know that I did.

74. Did you ever bring it to my attention at all ?-Well, going back six years I
would not like to say, but I think I have done so.

75. You have no recollection of having fornally made a report or anything of that
sort ?-J bave made no written report.

76. You have pursued the same course with reference to the Fredericton bridge
that you have with reference to certain other investments that we may call of a similar
nature ?-Yes.

77. Can you recall any other investment of a similar nature in which money under
an Act of Parliament bas been granted for certain objects and money bas been paid,
and they have fallen int arrear and they are still in arrear ?-These three.

78. Have you followed the same course in reference to the Fredericton bridge as
to these three ?-Yes.

79. You say this is a special account. Did you receive special orders from the
Minister to make it ?-No; it was just because it was in arrear and it was the only
way of dealing with it.

80. It was just done by the book-keeper ?-Just by my own volition.
81. Will you say when this Fredericton Bridge Company was put in that special

account ?-Is there any reason why it was put in as a special interest account7--I do
not know how we could otherwise describe it. It was interest due and it was a special
account and I do not know how else we could describe it.

82. What I wish to call your attention to is this, and I would like you to think so
as to see whether you are certain about that or not. The question was asked whether
this $60,000 of the amount of interest were taken into account when you made up the
net debt ?-Yes.

83. That is whether or not they were looked as assets and subtracted from the total
of the gross debt in order to give the net debt. Are you certain that they were so sub-
tracted ?-I would not like to say I am quite certain. I believe so. J said I could find
out in ten minutes.

84. I think you will find they are not. It is a very important point.- believe
the Q60,000 was.

85. J think we had better send for Mr. Dickieson so as to be sure. It would be
better to have a decided answer on that ?-Yes.

By Mur. JcMfullen :

86. The Deputy Minister said they were ?-I said I believed so.
87. If the deputy is right I have had a wrong impression, because mny impression

is that they have been in that special account and were not looked upon by the Dominion
book-keeper as reliable assets and were not subtracted ?-I think the S60,000 were.

88. With regard to this interest on the Fredericton bridge, Mr. Courtney, do you
think that it could remain in arrear for six years and the Minister of Finance not know
anything about it ?-I don't see that I can give an opinion on a suppositious matter.

Mr. FOSTER-YOu need not follow that subject. The Minister of Finance did
know. There is no necessity for getting evidence upon that.

7
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Mr. THoMAs TEMPLE, M.P., called, sworn and examined.

By Sir Richard Cartwright:

89. Mr. Temple, you are the member for the county of York, N.B., I think ?-I
think so, sir.

89. You are also, I believe, a shareholder in the Fredericton and St. Mary's Bridge
Co ?-Yes.

90. Can you inform the committee what is the total capital of that comnpany ?-
Well, I know the cost of it.

91. I mean the total, nominal capital of the Fredericton and St. Mary's Bridge
Co. ?-I think it is $400,000.

92. $400,000 ?-With power to extend it to $500,000.
SEVERAL MEMBERS-We cannot hear the questions or the replies.
93. Well, I will just repeat the question. Mr. Temple, what is the nominal

capital of the Fredericton and St. Mary's Bridge Co., as far as you remember ?-I think
it is $400,000 with power to extend to $500,000, I think it is.

94. Can you tell the committee how much of that capital has been paid up ?-I
think it is all paid up.

95. AU paid up ?-Yes.
96. $400,000 ?-Yes. The cost of the bridge, which is all paid into the treasury,

and all paid out again.
97. The whole $400,000 has been paid ?-It is more than $400,000. It is $418,000

or $419,000.
98. Do you refer now to the capital of the company ? -I refer to the cost of the bridge.
99. What we want to know, sir, is the arnount of capital of the company which

you say is $400,000 ?-That is the capital. It is the amount paid under the contract
that we gave out.

100. That is not exactly the same thing ?-That is the amount, and I don't think
there was more paid up than what has been paid out.

Mr. GIBSON-NOt very well.
WITNEss-We borrowed the money, of course, and paid it up, I can tell you that.

By Sir Richard Cartwright:

101. How was this capital paid up ?-Paid up in money.
102. Did any of it come out of the pockets of the shareholders ?-Soine of it did.
103. Some from the pockets of the shareholders and the remainder from the Gov

ernment, a gift 7-A gift ?
104. Or loan ?-It was a loan; borrowed money under a mortgage.
105. I see. That is the way the capital was paid ?-How do you get money?
106. Then, Mr. Temple, as I understand. you, when you state that this 8400,000 of

capital is paid, you mean that it was paid in this way; a certain proportion was paid by
the shareholders, so to speak, out of their own pockets, and the remainder by a $300,000
loan from the Government ?-Yes.

107. Well, do you consider ?-Not the remainder ; that's not all of it.
108. At any rate in what you would call a payment this $300,000 is included, this

$300,000 of Government loan ?-Yes; that is included, certainly,
109. Then I understand you to say that you consider the entire amount of this

capital to be paid up 7-I do.
110. And no further liability to exist on the part of the shareholders ?-No, only

the Government. They are liable to the Government, that is what they are.
111. The shareholders in their corporate capacity may be, but not in their individual

capacity, if your contention is right ?-Not at all, according to the law. The Govern-
ment has a mortgage on the undertaking, which they can take any time they like ; but
I think if you will allow me to speak one word-

112. Go on.-I think it is rather premature of the Opposition, on behalf of the
Opposition, I might say, to press this thing just at the present time, when there is
every prospect of something being made out of the undertaking.

8
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Fredericton and St. Mary's Bridge Inqui ry.

113. We shall be all delighted to hear it, Mr. Temple.-And I think it is, as I said
before, rather premature to undertake to press the Government to take from the company
the bridge in the present prospect. That is my idea about it.

114. How long do you consider a debt should hang before the Goveriment shouid
press it ?-Well, of course, under the law, the Government can step in at any time and
take the bridge any time they like, and what property we have got in it. The company
bas $120,000 in the construction and they could take that, and pay their interest out of
it, and what little would be due us would be a simall thing if they choose to do it, but I
think it would be not a wise undertaking to do it at the present time.

115. Of course your remarks are entitled to all consideration, Mr. Temple.-Yes,
well, so are yours.

116. I am not receiving as much consideration from the Government perhaps ?-I
don't know about that. I think the Government lias been pretty stringent with us. I
can tell you something more. They had got us pretty well cornered before the bridge
was conpleted at all, before it was almost started, the little money we drew they charged
us with $3,000 interest. I thouglit they might have waited until the thing was
completed. So, I think they have been tight enough to us. That is what I think
about it.

117. I understand that came out of Government money ; that did not cost you
much ?-Did not cost us much, probably not.

118. This is a matter of some consequence and you want to be careful about it.--
There is no inistake about that. I feel it so.

119. Did you collect in the shape of calls ?-In the shape of tolls.
120. In the shape of calls ?-In the shape of calls?
121. 20 per cent of this $400,000 ?-Well, I don't know whether it was in the way

of 20 per cent of the $400,000.
122. Well, in the shape of calls.-There was $20,000 in the first place paid in.
123. On $400,000, that would be 5 per cent. What other calls were made. Have

you told us ?-On $200,000, I think. No, the first capital (after a pause) I am mistaken
about that. The first paid-up capital would be $200,000, what I mean by subscribed
stock.

124. Then the nominal capital was $400, 000 and the subscribed capital $200, 000?-
Yes.

125. Any other call ever made 1-There were moneys called to be paid after the
other money was all paid, out of which, as I told you before, I think there is a debt due
the company-at least they have in it something like $120,000, and I think there is some
other property that they bought last year. I have not been there for a year, and I
could not tell how to make that, and I think myself there is sone other property.

126. Just let us adhere to the call. In the first place were there any other calls
to your knowledge except this first ten per cent ?-Well there was money paid by the
,company, but I could not tell you exactly how it was called in, because that was only
$20,000. Then there is $100,000 paid by the company besides that. There is $100,-
000 more than that paid by the company.

127. Paid in various ways. Do you remember, as a matter of fact, whether there
was not another call than the first call of ten per cent that was paid ?-I don't know as
it was done in that way. I know they paid $100,000.

128. That we will attend to afterwards. But so far as you know there was just
this one call made?-Yes.

129. So far as you know? Now, Mr. Temple, can you tell us who are the share-
holders of that company?-Well, there are some of the first names that are out. It lias
got down now to Mr. Gibson.

130. Yes.-Mr. Temple.
131. Yes.-F. S. Hilyard.
132. Who else ?-Alfred Rowley and Alexander Gibson, jr.
133. The Secretary-Treasurer, Mr. Vanwart, still continues I suppose ?-Yes, I

think so, but I do not know ; I have not been there for a year.
Mr. DAVIEs-What is Vanwart's name.

9
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Sir RICHARD CARTWRIGHT-Vanwart, I think, is the name.
WITNESS-Yes, Vanwart.
134. How much stock do you hold in this company ?-I could not tell you just now.
135. Not even approximately ?-Each one at the time twenty per cent, I think

it was.
136. It was divided into fifths, in fact?-I think it was done that way.
137. I see. But you do not know how much you held yourself ?-I could not tell

you just now, J could not be clear about it. I don't hold the whole of it fortunately.
138. Of what you originally took or the whole stock ?-I don't hold all I origin-

ally took.
139. Do you know how mucli the others held ?-No, J do not know what they hold,

I know what I held myself.
Sir Rich ARD CARTWRIGIIT-Then I think we will have to send for the Secretary-

Treasurer and order him to appear with his books in that case.
140. Were these the original stockholders ?-Yes, these were the first.
141. These five gentlemen, Mr. Hilyard, Mr. Rowley, yourself and the two Mr.

Gibsons ?-I could tell you when J corne back myself. I an going over to-morrow.

By fr. Mills (Bothwell) :

142. Is Mr. Vanwart a stockholder ?-No.
Sir RICHARD CARTWRIGIIT-As I understand these five whose naies have beeni

given are the stockholders.
WITNESS-No.
SIR RICHARD CARTWRIIGHT-At present Mr. Temple does not know whether any

other call was made excepting the first one of ten per cent. (To witness). Mr. Temple,
you stated just now that the company had put in $1 20,000 ?-That is something near it.
I would not say exactly ; I think it is something near that.

143. Oh, by the way, with respect to this you wish to amend your first statement
that there was $400,000 subscribed capital. The nominal capital is $400,000, but the
subscribed stock is only $200,000 ?-Only $200,000.

144. So that each of you would own $40,000 roughly ?-Well, probably.
145. Now, with respect to this other $120,000, Mr. Temple. That $120,000 is

exclusive, I suppose, of the $330,000 you received from the Government ?-$330,000 ?
146. Yes ?-No, there is $15,000 paid or deducted from the moneys received from

the Government.
147. Which you include in the $120,000 paid ?-Not the $15,000, but the 815,000

of that bonus goes into that account.
148. Into the $120,000?-Yes, that goes into the work.
149. Then as I understand you the company put $120,000 in. The government

put 4330,000 in, less $15,000 for interest ?-That is it.
150. That is $315,000 2-Yes.
151. From what source was this $1 20,000 derived ?-From what source ?
152. Yes.-Why from the pockets of the company, if that is a source. It might

be got by notes from a bank.
153. You told us that $20,000 of it was got by a call ?-Pardon me, for one thing

there were $50,000 of bonds.
154. How much ?-$50,000 are bonds and $20,000 call, you say. The other

$50,000, you do not know how this was advanced ?-It was advanced in money.
155. Yes, but it was not apparently advanced in money ?-It is all in the report

of the Railway Department. The whole thing is there, stock and everything in that
report.

By Mr. Haggart:

156. The details of the expenditure and of the stock paid and everything ?-Al
the details and everything.
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By Sir Richard Cartwright :

157. It does not contain such details as the names of the stockholders for example ?
-What is the niatter with that.

158. We want to know who they are ?-I have told you who th'y are.
159. Nor I presume would it show in what manner this other $50,000 was obtained.

You had apparently about S40,000 originally of this stock ?-I forget whether it was
$40,000 or 850,000,

160. But somewhere in that vicinity ?-Yes.
161. It was divided into tifths or sonething of that kind. With respect to that

did you pay any cash on the call that was made ?-Yes, I did.
162-3. That would be $4,000 or $b,000 ?--Paid out of the Britishlank.
164. You say that this road altogether cost you about ,418,000 ?-Sormething in

that neighbourhood I think, or it nay be a little more now. That is to capital account.
I think there is some property we have been dickering about for the last two or three
years, about $4,000 or $5,000. I think thev have closed last fall, but it is not in this
account you are speaking of now.

165. I am speaking of the original account. The co.st you say was $418,000 2-
About that. Between that and S420,000.

166. Even taking the amount of $15,000 from the Governmnent grants or loans of
$330,000, that would show that the Government had advanced $315,000 of that and
that would leave only S1 03,000, you see. instead of $120,000 as you said put in by the
company ?-Certainly, you are right there. 1 think it is $105,000. Yes, $118,000. I
was reckoning it $120,000 when I said it was S105,000 with the $15,000 takei off.

167. You spoke of the company having put in $120,000 ?-$118,000 or $120,000,
but I was reckoning on $120,000. That would leave to the company $105,000.

168. Then the company could only put in $103,000 or $105,000 not $120,000. You
stated that the company had put in S120,000. You also stated that the cost of the
bridge was S418,000. And if you deduct $315,000 which was obtained from the
Government that would only leave $103,000 not $120,000 ?-You are right there. There
was $120,000 they had in originally. I am speaking of the cost of the bridge, including
that $30,000. That is what I am speaking of.

169. You are speaking of the cost of the bridge including the $30,000 ?-That is
what I am speaking of. I told you before that $15,000 was in that tol be deducted
from that $120,000.

170. Then the company would only put in, so to speak, $90,000, plus, if you choose,
the $15,000 which was afterwards deducted from the $30,000 grant 2-Well, do not
vou think that would be quite enough to do for the interests of the people and for the
individuals to lose themselves ? I think it is quite enough.

171. Well I recollect what a splendid speculation you proved it to be on the floor
of Parliament ?-Oh, that is gone by. You have lots of money sunk in Ontario.

172. I am not so sure of that. I was pointing you out as being a remarkably
astute man of business ?-Thank you.

173. J am glad to find we are getting on so well ?-Now I will tell you about that.
If the C. P. R. had carried out their contract -

174. You would have made a fine thing out of it ?-I do not know whether we
should have made a fine thing out of it, but it would have been a good thing for the
country. If they had carried out their contract by building that third section across
there it would have paid the Governmont and the company.

By M!r. Gibson:

175. That is the missing link ?-That is so. They built into the St. John and
Main Line and then they abandoned the third section. It was laid out in three sec-
tions. Thev built two sections, but when thev came to the Harvey section across from
there to Moncton they left the Government and the company with the bridge on our
hands.
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By Sir Richard Cartwright :

176. You were left in fact ?-Yes.
177. And that handsome profit you were to have made did not materialize ?-Did

not materialize.
178. Then the sum you put in was $103,000 ?-Yes, or $105,000.
179. Well, we will not split hairs over that 3 or 5. That would leave, apart from

the call of $20,000, and the bonds of $50,000, it would leave $30,000 to be accounted
for i-I do not know how you are going to account for it, other than that it was paid
out.

180. It might have been obtained on your original notes ?-That we had to do.
181. Who are these gentlemen, Mr. Hillyard and Mr. Rowley ?-He is a clerk in

some establishment up there.
182. What is that ?-He is a clerk, a very decent man and a man of some means.

By Mr. Davies :

183. Whose clerk ?-He is a clerk I say, in some establishment there in Fred-
ericton. He has been in Fredericton and also Mr. Gibson's clerk.

184. And Mr. Hillyard ?-Mr. Hillyard is my son-in-law. That is what you want
I suppose, and I am not ashamed of it.

By Sir Richard Cartwright:

185. Not in the least, we only want to know, having an interest in the solvency of
this company, who they are ?-Oh, well the bridge is worth the money. I think so. I
hope we will ail get something out of it yet.

186. $360,000 ?-Oh, it is only a bagatelle. Look at the millions sunk in Ontario.
Millions sunk in Ontario only in water in canals.

187. Millions have been sunk in canais, do you say ?-It is a good thing for New
Brunswick to have something.

By Mr. McMJullen:

188. Do you refer to the Tay Canal ?-No, I do not refer to anything.

By Mr. Glibson :

189. You wanted your share ?-I beg your pardon.

By Sir Richard Cartwright :

190. It may be a question as to whether you have got your share in Fredericton
which might be a matter of calculation, but we will waive that question. Do you
remember yourself, Mr. Temple, what place these $50,000 bonds you spoke of as having
been issued occupied? Are they a second mortgage ?-I do not think it. I wish they
were. I mean I wish they were a first mortgage.

191. You mean they are a second mortgage 9-I think so. I know in the Act
the Government were to have a first mortgage.

1V2. I suppose the Government might make it a first mortgage ?-I think they are
lying in the bank at the present time.

By Mr. Mills (Bothwell):

193. But they must be owned by somebody ?-I told you as far as the bonds were
concerned they were given for a certain time. That time expired and the bonds were
taken up by the company. They had to be. The bonds were guaranteed and the
money had to be found some other way. They say it is no debt against the company
at all. It is a debt against the company.
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By Mr. Gibson:

194. You say that these bonds were redeemed by the owners of the bridge and
that $50,000 was paid to redeem these bonds ?-Yes.

195. They were taken up by the company ?-Yes.
196. And they are only occupying the place of a second muortgage against the

bridge ?-Well that was all it was, but they were guaranteed as I told you by the ii-
dividuals of the company.

197. But seeing that they occupied a secondary position to the Governnient claii
how did you come to occupy the second position and not pay the Government ?-Be-
cause we wanted to take up these bonds.

198. But you say they were a second niortgage ?-Supposing they were.
199. What about the Government mortgage bonds?-They have their remedy.

They have their remedy to step in and take it any time there is default in the payment of
interest. The Government has their remedy under the law to step in and take al] the
property connected with it.

200. But they have been six years in this position7-I cannot help that, if it is tenl
years, it is just so. There is a law that provides for it.

By Sir Richard Cartwright:
201. Mr. Temple, what roads use this bridge at the present moment ?-Well, at the

present moment prospects look a little better for the bridge. The C. P. R. has comn-
menced to use one end on the other side of the river, on the east side. Fredericton
is on one side and St. Mary's on the other.

202. The C. P. R. is commencing to use the bridge. What other roads use it ?-
The Canada Eastern connecting with the Intercolonial.

203. The Canada Eastern ? What length is that ?-169 miles, I think, something
like that.

204. Where does it run from ?-Chatham.
205. Chatham to where ?-Fredericton.
206. And crosses this bridge ?-And crosses this bridge.
207. Any other road ?-Not at present. There are other roads now in contempla-

tion. The Central Road, I think, will be able to now.
208. But as a matter of fact-- ?-There seems to be a prospect of sonething being

done now.

209. As a matter of fact at this present moment the Canadian Pacifie is beginning
to use it, do you say, and the Canada Eastern lias used it all through ?-What I thirk
makes me speak more confidently about the prospects, I know from the one road, the
Canada Eastern, last year, I think it is, I see by the account it is something like 81,Z00
more than it was before-the tolls.

210. On which, on the Canadian Pacific ?-No, on the Canada Eastern.
211. What were the total tolls do you say ?-I cannot exactly tell you ; between

four and five thousand dollars last year.
212. And you don't know what was received from the Canadian Pacific ?-Nothing

yet.
213. That is in prospective ?-Yes.
214. I think I shall have to move that your secretary-treasurer be sumnoned and

bring his books with him ?-I don't know whether you can get him or not. I don't
know about that.

215. We have the power. I want to know what the company's position is ?-I
have told you all that anybody can tell you about the position.

Sir RICHARD CARTWRIGHT.-I think the secretary-treasurer and his books
would tell us a good deal more.

By Mr. McMullen :
216. Now, Mr. Temple, from the report you sent in the cost of the bridge was

$419,486? That is according to the report of the Minister of Railways ?-Oh, you have
that. I thought you had not it at all.
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217. Well, it is according to your own report to the Minister of Railways ?-Yes•
218. And the capital stock subscribed was $200,000 with 10 per cent to pay. That

is $20,000 ?-Yes.
219. Now, you borrowed $300,000 from the Government and you got $30,000.

Well, only $15,000, $15,000 you say, of that went to pay interest. That is $335,000.
Then there was $50,000 of bonds issued ?-Yes.

220. That made $385,000 ?-Yes.
221. Well, now have you not a floating debt ?-I think there is.
222. How much is that ?-The company is liable for it.
223. We know all that, but we want to know what your floating debt is ?-I think

it is about $19,000.
224. That makes $404,000 counting all the items ?-Yes.
225. That only includes $20,000 of cash. You have altogether received $404,000

while your bi idge cost $419,000. How did the $105,000 go into the bridge in the way
you say it bas done ?-How do you suppose it was built? Without money?

226. I am now counting the money. I am pointing out where you got the funds ?
-You are a man of good judgment, I have no doubt at all. I suggest you go down
and look at that bridge and see what is in it. It could not be built without money or
built for the amount of money which I have stated.

227. I am only merely wanting to know where the money went to, Mr. Temple?
-It went into the bridge. If you want to know anything, that is where it is.

228. According to your own report the bridge cost $419,486. Well, you had
$20,000 of paid up stock, you have got $315,000 from the government, you issued
$50,000 of bonds, you have $19,000 of floating debt; that makes $404,000, including
the paid up stock. Where did the other go? Deducting $20,000 from the $105,000
would leave $85,000. Where did that go to ?-Went into the bridge.

229. It could not ?-I can't tell it went anywhere else, I am sure about that.
230. According to your report, your bridge cost $419,000. Where did the

$85,000 go to. You say this was paid and you ought to know what was done with it ?
-(No answer.)

By Mr. Haggart:
231. Did you give the contractor for the bridge any bonds ?-Gave him $50,000.

By Mr. McMullen :
232. The contractor holds $50,000 does lie ?-No, he does not hold it. We took

them up afterwards.
233. Including all these your sworn report to the Minister of Railways declares

your bridge cost $419,486. That is what it cost. You have got the items I have men-
tioned to you including your floating debt which makes $404,000 of actual money ?--
Yes.

234. Now you say there was $105,000 paid into it. Where bas the money gone,
that is what we want to know ?-I cannot tell you where it bas gone, only it bas gone
into the bridge, nowhere else.

235. Gone into the bridge ?-I do not know where it could go, but to the bridge.
Except that, I don't know where it lias gone; I have not got any of that money.

236. I am pointing out the items of the cost of the bridge ?-I cannot answer you
in any other way, but that I don't know where it has gone, any other place ; I know I
have not it.

237. Are you prepared to say, Mr. Temple, what bas been the annual receipts in
the way of tolls since the bridge was built ?-Just another moment.

The CiiAiRMAN-The returns will show that.
WITNEs-The returns.

By fr. MfcMullen.:
238. I want to know if it is here. The return does not show last year. You say

you make a sworn return that the cost of the operation is $2,000 ?-That is some re-
pairs.

A. 1895
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239. You make a return that the cost of the operation of the bridge is S2,000, and
you make a return that the earnings by tolls are $2,000 ?-Yes.

240 Not a dollar over, or a dollar under, or a dollar less ? Now, how is it that
the earnings and the tolls just amount to the same thing ?-I cannot tell you just why
it is. The interest was paid on these bonds out of the earnings.

241. Oh, the interest was paid on the bonds out of the earnings ?-Yes, for
$50, 000.

242. Who held them at the time the interest was paid ?-The bank.
243. Thev were deposited as collateral security ?-Yes.
244. To what ?-To what?
245. What, were they collateral security to the notes that were in the bank ?-Oh,

yes, I did not understand you.
246. The notes that were in the bank ?-Yes.
247. And you paid interest on the bonds, on the $50,000 of bonds out of the earn-

ings ?-Out of the earnings.
248. They were a second mortgage on the undertaking ; the government held the

first, did they not ?-Yes.
249. Well, now, you paid interest on the second incunbrance, but you paid none

on the first ?-You are right.
250. That's right. And at the time you paid the interest on the Fecond encum-

brance they were in the bank as collateral security-the notes of the company ?-Yes,
that is the way we raise money sometimes you know, when we get stock.

251. It was the most urgent, I suppose. The interest on the $50,000 was more
pressing, you understood it to be so ?-Certainly, there is no doubt about that. It was
an individual liability.

By Sir Richard Cartwright

252. You stated, Mr. Temple, that you paid the contractor partly in cash and
partly in bonds ?-Yes, sir.

253. Those bonds ran for what length of tiime, five years ?-I think it was five
years.

254. So that when you stated the total cost was $419,000, it was $419,000 not
paid in cash, but paid to the extent of $320,000 let us say, in cash, and $50,000 in
second mortgage bonds, having five years to run ?-Yes.

255. That is the contract made by you five years ago ?-Yes, but that was still a
debt just the same as money, because they had to give a guarantee.

256. I am aware it was a debt ?-Not against the government.
257. But you, as a man of business, Mr. Temple, will understand this that when a

bridge is built and when the payment is made, not in cash, but partly in second mort-
gage bonds, that there is in most cases a pretty handsome discount also 7-I don't say
whether they were second or first. They were given, I think, before the mortgage was
given to the government. The stand in that way just as I have told you ; but, of
course, afterwards the mortgage was given to the government, and which I consider of
course they had the first lien on it under the law. That is the way the matter stands.
I don't know whether it was a second mortgage or not, I cannot tell you that.

258. The Department of Justice can inform us. But the point I call your atten-
tion to is this-or rather the attention of the committee to is this-the payment made
was made no doubt largely in cash, that cash being the amount handed over by the gov-
ernment ?-$350,000 was the contract, that was just for the superstructure and the
piers.

259. Well, that will just equal the government loan and the government gift and
your 820,000 subscription to the first contract ?-Ye., I suppose.

260. And the $50,000 was for extras, but that is not quite the sanie, you see ?-
Extras? There are no extras. There are two miles of road to build and all the
approaches.

MR. IIAGGART-Besides giving the bonds as personal guarantee to the parties you
have had to take them up and pay them ?
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SIR RICHARD CARTWRIGHT-They had to take them and pay them five years after-
wards. (To witness.) The bonds running five years. What rate of interest did these
bear ?-6 per cent.

261. Still bonds running for five years, and second mortgage ones, as I presume
they would prove to be ?-But they were guaranteed, as I told you on the back of the
bonds by the individuals.

262. By the individuals ?-So they had to take them.
263. They would be fair security, but they would not be absolutely the same as

cash in the contractor's hand, although I suppose he could obtain advances on them ?-
I guess he did that, anyway.

264. If he had good paper, Mr. Gibson's and your own endorsation, I suppose he
would ?-I would like to have yours on it.

SIR RIckiARD CARTWRIGHT--That is more than I would, under the circumstances.

Mr. EDWARD JACK called, sworn and examined.

By Mr. Foster :

265. Did you come here with the purpose of giving testimony with reference to this
matter, that is, I mean, when you left Fredericton ?-No, sir, I came here with regard
to the Grand Falls Water Power Company.

266. And since this matter came up, you recollect me asking you if you would be
willing to give testimony with reference to the bridge, and on your saying that you
would I intimated to you that you would be called before the committee ?-I told you I
would give such testimony as I could.

267. What is your profession ?-I am a land surveyor, an explorer of timber lands.
268. You are well acquainted with the province of New Brunswick and the section

that lies contiguous with and what may be called in a business sense tributary to this
line of communication ?-I am well acquainted by personal travel with the whole district.

269. Instead of me asking you a lot of individual questions, would you give your
views as to what would be the probable traffic and of what kind, that would find its way
over this bridge naturally in the course of development, coming from the roads that
centre upon it, and business accruing therefrom ?-I cannot give the probable traffic. I
cannot say that, but I can say this, that the best forests in New Brunswick, that is to
say, those on the Miramichi, are, or will be, wholly dependent upon this bridge. Not
only that, but one-third, I think nearly one-third, of the people of New Brunswick when
going to Boston or -New York will shorten their distance about seventy-six miles by
taking the Gibson Road and the Fredericton Bridge rather than by going by the Inter-
colonial.

270. Can you state your reasons for that ?-My reasons-a glance at the map will
show the reasons. I have a map here. The Gibson Road passes about through the cen-
tre, or nearly so, of New Brunswick; beginning at Chatham, or below Chatham on the
Gulf of St. Lawrence, it connects with Fredericton and the connections with the United
States, thereby connecting the Gulf of St. Lawrence, or a large portion of the Gulf of
St. Lawrence, with the United States, in the readiest way. Now, the counties which
will be benefited by this road are Restigouche, Gloucester, Northumberland, part of
Kent, part of York, and part of Sunbury. There are fifteen counties, I think, in the
province. Quite a change has taken place in business in the maritime provinces and else-
where. Lumber that went wholly by boat, by schooner to the markets of the United
States, now wholly goes by rail, and I am informed by Mr. Wm. H. Gray, of 71 Kirby
Street, Boston, a large lumber dealer there, that lumber going by rail

Mr. DAVIEs objected to evidence of this kind being given.
Mr. FOSTER thought it was relevant. The purpose of the inquiry-was to show

whether or not this bridge was an available asset to the Government.
16
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After considerable discussion the CHAIRMAN said :-The inquiry has already taken
the direction of asserting or endeavouring to assert the value of the bridge as an asset.
I think under these circumstances the production of the evidence of an expert is justifi
able, but I quite agree with Mr. Davies that the expert must be confined to his own
personal knowledge, to such information as lie is personally able to give to the Commit-
tee, and that lie is not justified in giving the evidence of third parties in support of his
own opinion. In this case it was mentioned incidentally and a great deal of the tiie
of the Committee has been taken up in hearing an objection that is in the main well
founded. I rule that under the circumstances the evidence of Mr. Jack is admissible,
but I decide that Mr. Jack in giving that testimnony miust confine himself to his own
knowledge and that it is not allowable for him to support his position by the 'ipe dl
of third parties.

By Mr. Foster:

271. Now, Mr. Jack, will you go on after this breezy introduction ?-(-)ne that tends
verv greatlv to the value of that bridge as an asset to the Dominion is the fact that the
duty is removed from American lumber.

By 1fr. Davies:

272. You mean Canadian lunber going ito the United States That lumber,
hemlock boards for example, cari go by rail to iostoîn. Not only that but the cedar
and all the short lunber. I know one streai that enpties into the Miranichi down
there where the cedar when sawn can go direct to Boston. Probably there would be
a saving on that line of S25,000 by going on that bridge. I could not go into details
of course, but I an satistied from whiat I know of New Brunswick that that bridge is
the most important bridge for the development of the country.

273. Has anv development already taken place in view of the advantages of that
shorter cut ?-Yes, there are developments, mills are going up. Of course it takes somne
time to start and develop a business and it is only a short time since the duty was taken
off lumber. You sec the road froma Cliatlian around Nova Scotia is long. This is a
short route, and lumber going into the United States as I was very properly corrected
wlien I called it American lumber, lumber going by rail will conmianîd a higher price
than it will bv water, because if it is dry or seasoned lumber, when it is shipped by
water it is no longer dry when it reaches its destination.

274. You have regard to certain kinds of lumber of secondary value which would
beconie valuable on account of that ?-Short lumber such as cedar and hemlock, of
which there are vast quantities in the forests of the Miranichi, whiclh we havel been
allowing to rot. We have rut the tree down, pulled the bark off and left the tree to
rot.

275. Formerly they were cut down simply for the value of the bark ?-Yes, and
now it is being sawn up and taken over this bridge to the markets of the United States.

276. That is the testimony you would have to give with regard to the value and
the increasing value of that opening ?-Yes.

By Sir Richard Cartwright

277. You spoke of this bridge being especiilly valuable to the Gibson Road1 ?-Yes.
278. Very well, which is the Gibson Road?-The Canada Eastern.
279. Why do you call it the Gibson Road ?-It is owned by Mr. Gibson, lie is the

OWner.

By Mr. Hazen:

280. Mr. Jack, vou have paid some attention to the mineral interests of New
Brunswick, I believe ?-Yes.

281. Do you know anything about the mineral res'urces of the counties of Queen's
and Sunbury ?-There is a very large bel of coal there.

1-2
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282. There is a large coal area, is there not ?-Yes, very large indeed and very
valuable.

283. What effect will this bridge have on the coal interest ?-It will bring this
coal to St. John for manufacturing purposes.

284. How would it be with regard to the western inarket ?-It vould be of advan-
tage and for the United States also.

285. When this bridge was not in existence it would be impossible to send that
coal to the west or to the United States ?-Only by boat. It would go by boat in
summer.

286. For how many months in the year would that be ?-During the winter months
you could do nothing.

By Mr. MrcMullen:

287. Who are the owners of the coal areas ?-Some are owned by individuals, some
by companies, but I think chiefly by Mr. R. G. Leckie. He lives over at Londonderry.

By 3fr. Davies :

288. You spoke of the Canada Central as Gibson's road ?-Canada Eastern.
289. The one you speak of runs f rom Chatham to Fredericton ?--Yes.
290. It is the same road that runs up the Nashwaak ?-Yes.
291. Who owns those timber limits ?-Mr. Gibson owns those on the Nashwaak.

By Mr. Foster:

292. Mr. Gibson does not own those on the Miramichi ?-No.

By Mr. Hazen :

293. Who owns that on the South Miramichi ?-They belong to the South Bruns-
wick Railway Co.

294. And how much belongs to the Crown ?-Well, yes; there is a good deal that
belongs to the Crown. I cannot tell you exactly; that is below Boiestown, 48 miles
from Fredericton, the road strikes the Miramichi.

By Mr. Taylor :

295. As I understand the situation, it is this : the company have a certain amount
of money invested in that bridge-8105,000 or $1 15,000. The government have a
mortgage of $300,000 ?-I know nothing about the financial matters.

296. I just wanted to ask you, do you consider it a good asset for the Dominion
having $300,000 invested in it ?-Do I consider the Fredericton bridge a valuable asset ?

297. Is it a valuable or a safe asset ?-I most undoubtedly do consider it a valuable
asset.

By Mr. Davies:

298. Do you consider it a valuable asset to the shareholders of the company ?-I
am not inclined to think it is at present, but it might be in the future; I don't know.

By fMr. fcMfullen:

299. Do you know the value of bridges? Did you ever build any bridge ?-No.

The witness was then discharged.
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Mr. J. M. COURTNEY recalled and further examined.

WITNESS--I have seen the accountant of the departinent since I left. Those four
items were not taken into calculation at all.

By Mr. F'o8ter•

300. You only expressed your opinion ; that is not correct ?-1 believed so at the
time.

By fr. Mc3JIullen:

301. Are you in the position to say whether they were iot takein into account ?-
We liad a discussion about it, and arrived at that result ;I forget what the reasons
were.

3 01a. We would like to know what the reasons were. You will be required at the
next meeting to give the reasons why they were not taken into accouit 7-I will con-
sult with the accountant.

The committee then adjourned.

19
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COMMITTEE RooM iNo. 49,
HOUSE OF ConMoNs, 14th June, 1895.

The Conmittee met.

Mr. WESLEY VANWART called, sworn and exainined.

By Sir Richard Cartiwright :

302. Mr. Wanwart, you are the Secretary-Treasurer of the Fredericton Bridge Co.,
I believe ?-I am.

303. You were, I understand, directed to bring with you certain transfer books of
the company and so forth ?-I was directed to bring the stock and transfer books.

304. Have you got them there ?-But unfortunately the company never had any.
305. Ahem ' The company never had any transfer books ?-None.
306. Well, if ny recollection is right, it was the duty of the company to have a

transfer book and other matters of that kind ?-I an speaking of the fact there was no
stock book ever made.

307. Then, ahem, Mr. Vanwart, can you tell from your own knDwledge who were
the original shareholders of the company ? Did you say there was a stock book ?-No
stock book.

308. No stock book, nor transfer book ?-None.
309. Can you state then wvho were the original shareholders of this company ?-

T can.
310. Who were they ?-Alexander Gibson.
311. Ahe.-Alexander Gibson, Thomas Temple,-
312. What amnount did they receive individually, can you give them ?-The two

first naned 985 shares each.
313. How much ?-I think S100 a share.
314. Go on, Mr. Vanwart ?-Alexander Gibson, jr., 10 shares.
315. Yes ?-Alfred Rowley 10 shares.
316. Yes ?-F. S. Hillyard 10 shares.

By Sir C. I Tupper:

317. Alexander Gibson, jr., who next ?-Alfred Rowley, 10 shares, F. S. Hillyard,
10 shares.

By Sir Richard Cartwright

318. The total numuber of shares was 2,000 ?-Two thousand.
319. 985 to Mr. Temple, 985 to Mr. Gibson, and ten shares to each of the other

three gentlemen. Mr. Gibson, jr., Mr. What do you call his name-Mr. Rowley-and
who else ?--F. S. Hillyard.

320. Each of whom had ten shares. Well, you state there has been no stock book
nor transfer book ?-None.

321. Then as a matter of course these shares, I presune, remain as they were ?-So
far as I know.

322. Now what is the business of Mr. Row-ley and Mr. Hillyard ? Or wbatever his
name is ?-At the present time I think Mr. Rowley is in the employ of Mr. Gibson.
Mr. Hillyard at the present tinte is Postmaster at Fredericton.

323. I see. What calls have been made upon this stock ?-There have been no calls
made, regular calls.

324. No regular calls have been made. Has any money been paid in upon the stock
as far as you are aware ?-There has been paid for the uses of the company soniewheres
about ninety odd thousand dollars.

A. 1895
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325. You say "paid for the uses of the company.' I asked, have anv calls been
paid or any amount been paid on this stock ?-I answer, there has been no regular calls
made.

326. No regular calls paid ?-But there bas been paid for the purposes of the
company about $90,000 in cash.

327. A curious way of doing business. However, tlis S90,000 in cash includes, I
presume, a certain amount advanced by some of these parties on ,850,000 worth of
bonds?-None whatever.

328. Some bonds we were inforned by 31r. Temple had been issued ?-Indeed. If

vou will permit me I would probably get on much better by stating the whole facts
that would be a quicker way to get at it.

329. Go on.-There was a contract entered into by the bridge company for the con
struction of the foundation piers and steel superstructure for S350,000. Of that $350,000,
S287,000 was a loan fron the government. Tbere was an issue of ,50,000 of bonds
payable in six years with interest at six per cent bearing the personal guarantee of
Alexander Gibson and Thomas Temple. Those bonds were paid iii August, 1893, and
are now held by me as secretary-treasurer of the company.

By Mr. Foster:

330. When paid ?-In August, 1893.

By Sir Richard Cartwright :

331. You say that S287,000 were received f rom the government ?-Yes.
332. Now, the loan is -300,000.-The governient deducted '3,000 for interest

from the time the first payments w e e made until the last payment was made.
333. Ahemi, vou say notbing at all in vour statemient of S30,000 which were re-

ceived from the government besides the -300,000 ?-I will come to tiat as i get along.
334. Go on.-That contract for 8350,000 was simply for the foundation of the

steel superstructure. In addition to that there was to be conistructed thre approaches to
the bridge, about two miles of road. There was the land danages to be provided for,
the construction of the track, the furnisling of steel rails, the building of fences, the
doing of riprap work about the piers, the building of a jaii pier iii front of the pier sus-
taining the draw. Tiese moneys anounted to 81 19,000 additional.

By 3fr. Foster :

335. What you have just enumerated ?-What I have enunerated. The other de-
tails amounted to about -1 19,000 additional. Of this -1 19,000 there was a subsidy
granted by the government of 830,000 of which the company got $15,000, the rest
being retained by the government for arrears of interest. Those mroneys with the
exception of $119,000-I an now speaking in round numbers-which is a floating
liability ; that money was provided by tie company and went into the works.

By Sir Richard Cartwright :

336. You say it was provided by the company ?-Yes.
337. And yet you say they made no calls ?-None.
338. You have no stock book nor transfer book ?-None.
339. Pray in what proportion was it provided by the members of the company ?-

When money was required I called the attention of either Mr. Temple or Mr. Gibson
to it and the money was forthcoming to pay the bills.

340. Without any tedious formalities in the way of making a call ?--None what-
ever.

341. Then in point of fact you say that no call has been made on this stock at all?
-No formal call.

By Mr. Jfulock

342. No kind of call, formal or informal --No, nothing further than the statement
when money was required I would advise the president.
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By Sir Richard Cartwright:

343. You are the treasurer, Mr. Vanwart ?-Yes.
344. You are the treasurer of the company ?-Yes.
345. What is the amount of your present receipts ?-I beg pardon. The returns

will show. I cannot speak from nemory.
346. You know generally, I suppose, within a thousand or two, what your returns

are ?-Well, they are small. I would not venture to state.
347. A nd your expenses,are you quite ignorant of those ?-Oh,I would not attempt-
348. You don't know the expenses either ?-I would not venture to swear.
349. You would not venture to swear ?-No, unless I had the book before me.
350. Could you not say Nwithin a hundred or two hundred dollars ?-The returns

will show. I wili not attempt to speak from inemory.
351. Now what did you state was the total cost of the bridge ?--Speaking in round

numbers $419,000.

By Sir C. H. Tupper:

352. How much ?-S419,000 in round numbers.

By Sir Richard Cartwright

353. Has interest been paid on these bonds ?-The bonds ? Yes, sir. Not only the
bonds but interest as well has been paid.

354. Well, the bonds are not cancelled ?-The bonds are cancelled.
355. Are cancelled, are they ?-Yes, sir, cancelled.
356. Then the present liabilities consist of this S300,000 loan by the government

and the amount of interest which has accrued ?-I beg vour pardon.
357. I say the present liabilities consist of S300,000 loan the government made and

the interest which is not paid ?-Yes, sir.
358. Anything else ?-And about SI 9,000 of a floating debt.
359. That covers the road and a couple of miles of railway ?-Yes, it covers the

bridge and the approaches.
360. The bridge and the approaches 2-The bridge and the approaches.
361. How much are thev? Two miles ?-About two miles, I think, speaking

roughly.
362. You received from time to time, I observe, a number of communications from

the Finance Department calling your attention to the fact that from year to year large
amounts of interest were accunulating against the company. On receipt of these what
steps did you take, if any ?-I notified the management and acknowledged the receipt of
the letter, that is all.

363. You took no further steps ?-No.
364. And your company took no further steps ?-I do not know what the company

did, but personally I did nothing further.
365. You are the secretarv ?-I know.
366. Has the company appointed any directors ?-Yes.
367. Who are the directors ?-The returns will show, I cannot speak f rom memory.
368. You do not recollect ?-No.
369. You do not know how many directors you have ?-I am under the impression

there are five ; I would not say.
370. And I suppose all have to be shareholders ?-I beg pardon.
371. I say all the directors have to be shareholders, and you just told us there were

five shareholders, so I presume the five shareholders are the five directors ?-If there are
five sharebolders no doubt that would cover it.

372. You say there are five directors ?-The returns will show.
373. But you do not know. You, secretary and treasurer, do not know who vour

directors are ?-I would not swear that, certainly not. I do not know whether there
are three or four.

Sir RICHARD CARTWRIGHT-I do not think it is worth while examining you
further.



Fredericton and St. Marfys Bridge Inquiry.

By fr. McMulen:

374. How many meetings have the directors had ?-Very few.
375. Have they had a meeting at all as directors?-Oh, yes, several.
376. Have they had meetings each year ?-They had last year.
377. Any this vear at all ?-No.
378. I notice that in 1889 you made a return stating that the lengtht of your line

is l-f-ý miles and you made a return in 1890 to the saine effect. You say you do not
know what your earnings were ?-I cannot speak fromîî memory.

379. Were the earnings more than the expenses of operating the bridge ?-Speak-
ing from memory, I think so.

380. Cannot you speak definitely? Was there any year in which the earnings were
less than the operating expenses?-I could not say.

381. You could not say, you have no recollection ?-No.
381a. When did you lengthen your line fr-om a mile and a third to two miles and]

a tenth ?-As I understand it, the whole line when completed was about two miles.
382. Well, in your return that you make to the Government you say in several

years that you report the line as a mile and a third ?-Yes.
383. Recently you have reported it as two miles and a tenth h?-Thlat w>ull

include the whole thing. If you take the bridge and the approaches it is two miles and
a tenth.

384. When did you extend it ?-At the time the return was made.
385. When did vou make that extension ? You know the company was in arrear.

Out of what money did you make the extension ?---Out of the aggregate amnount of
$419,000.

386. What was done with the balance of the receipts of the bridge ? The receipts
were considerably in excess of the expenditure. You report the expenditure to be
about 81,300 each year, one year 81,400, and the receipts run up over 83,000, one year
84,000. What did vou do with the balance of the receipts --I cannot tell from memiory
as to what the, earnings were or the receipts.

387. But this money caine into your hands ?-That may be. I caniot speak fron
memory.

388. But you surely have some idea of what became of the money <--It might have
been, if there was any surplus during the currency of those 850,000 bonds, that it went
towards paying the interest on the debentures.

389. On the 850,000 bonds ?-It night have been.
390. Do you know whether it did or not '-I cannot say.
391. And you have no knowledge now from recollection as to what you diid with

the surplus ? Now, you collected something like 817,000, over that amount of earnings,
and vou paid out not 81-,000, but 811,000, for operating expenses, and you cannot tell
us what your did with the rest?-Not having the figures before me, I venture no
opinion.

392. What condition is the bridge in now ? What are your relations with the
Government? Is it just in the same state as it was ?-As secretary I have no knowledge.

393. As an individual have vou any knowledge ?-(No answer.)

By Mr. Davies:

394. I would insist upon an answer ?-Well, I know nothing at all.

By 3fr. JfcMfidlen:

395. You do not know at the present time from vour own personal knowledge or
in the capacity of secretary to the company in what relation the company stands to the
Government ? Are they lessees at the present time ?-Not to my knowledge. I do not
know.

396. You do not know whether they are or not ?-I cannot answer.
397. You do not know what are the arrangements at the present moment ?-I have

no knowledge.
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398. Do you know has the company ever taken a lease from the government of the
bridge ?-Not to my knowledge.

399. You are not aware of anything of the kind ?-Not to my knowledge.
400. Are you the general manager as well as the treasurer ?-Simply secretary, I

told you, and treasurer.
401. Who is the manager ?-Last year Mr. Temple, I think, was managing direc-

tor. If you will show me the returns, I can soon tell you.
402. Who is manager this year ?-There has been no reappointment made this

year. There was no meeting.
403. There was no meting?-I stated before there was no meeting.
404. Who was the manager before last year ?-I think Mr. Temple. I have stated

so already.
405. How long before last year ?-The previous year.

By fr. Davies:

406. Has there ever been any other manager besides Mr. Temple, and if so, who?
-No, think nAt.

By Mfr. fulock:

407. What railway company uses this bridge ?- The Canada Eastern.
408. Any other ?-The C. P. I.
409. What is the bargain between Canada Eastern and the bridge company ?-I

do not know. I may answer this that I think tolls bave been established and the Can-
ada Eastern pay the tolls.

410. Is there any agreement in writing ?-Not to my knowledge.
411. Who keeps the records of the company ?-Which company.
412. The bridge company?-I do.
413. Have you any document in writing shewing the terms on which the Canada

Easterri uses the bridge ?-None. There would be none.
414. There is nothing in writing ?-There would be none. The rates are fixed by

the government for the use of the bridge.
415. By an Order in Council 2-I think so.
416. And the Canada Eastern uses it on the terms of the Order in Council ?-Yes.
417. When were those terns fixed ?-Soine years ago, and thev were amended two

years ago.
418. Was the bridge company represented before the government when these

rates were fixed ?-I could not say.
419. Was the railway company ?-I could not say.
420. Was neither company consulted as far as you know by the government be-

fore increasing the rates ?-No, not to my knowledge.
421. Who is the president of the railway company ?-Which railway company?
422. The Canada Eastern?-Mr. Gibson, I think.
423. Who is the president of the bridge company 1-Mr. Gibson, I think.
424. Do you know any of the directors of the railway company ?-No.
425. You do not know anv of them ? You do not know anvthing about it ?-

Well, from hearsay.
426. Well, I do not suppose you were present when they were elected. Who are,

as you understand, the directors of the railway company ?-I only know as streeL
rumour, not of my own knowledge.

427. Well, as a matter of common repute, who are they ?-E. Brown Winslow, of
Fredericton and James S. Neale is another. Mr. Winslow, of Chatham, is another. I
cannot naine any more. I have heard of these.

428. Are any of those gentlemen directors of the bridge company except Mr.
Gibson ?-No.

429. Has the bridge conipany ever made any representations as to the rate of tolls
being sufficient or insufficient ?-I do not know.
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430. You are the secretary ?-I admit it.
431. Who sends communications ?-I send communications at tiies.
432. Have you ever sent any communication to the government in respect to the

rates charged ?--No, I have not.
433. Have vou been asked to do so ?-No, I do not renenber.
434. Have you heard the bridge company complaining with reference to the

rate ?-In what way ?
435. That they were toc low ?-No, I cannot sav that I have.
436. The bridge company seems quite satisfied with the rates charged ?-They

are fixed.
437. They are not unalterably fixed ?-That may be.
438. You are not aware of the bridge conpany ever making any representations

to the government in respect to the rates ?-I have answered that. No.
439. You say that the 850,000 of bonds were guaranteed by Mr. Gibson, Mr.

Temple and others ?-No, I did not say others. I said Mr. Gibson and Mr. Temple.
440. Mr. Gibson and Mr. Temple. Have they been repaid Yes.
441. And the bonds are now awaiting cancellation ?-They are cancelled.
442. Out of wvhat moneys were they pai( ?-The money was handed to nie by Mr

Gibson and Mr. Temple, and I went and paid theni. That is all I know about it.
443. Are you the treasurer ?-Yes.
444. You keep the accounts ?-Yes.
445. How did you enter that money -Pail to debentures so nmuch.
446. How did vou credit the money ?-Marked it in the conpany's account

"credit debentures."
447. How did you credit the mnoner -In the accounts.
448. Is the acceounts here ?--No.
449. Why not ?-I brought simply what the conmnittee ordered.
450. J think vou hiad better return and get these accounts ?- can get thein.
451. To whom have you given credit for them ?-I have sinply given credit to the

company and charged the ceonpany with having paid the debentures.
452. To no persoi ?--None whatever.
453. How did you enter it ?-In the company's account received so mîuch, paid de

bentures so much money.
454. From whom ?-Simply received, received se mnuch nmoney for a certain pur

pose, and on the other side charged it.
455. And vou have not credited it to anybody I-Ne.
456. Not to Mr. Gibson's stock ?-No.
457. Nor to Mr. Temîîple's ?-Ne.
458. To what extent is Mr. Gibson a sharehoder ?-I told you. 985 shares.
459. Of how much each ?-Of 8100.
460. How much was paid on the subscription of that stock ?-There were no regu

lar calls, I told you, made at all. When any money was required I reported it and the
money was forthcoming.

461. But you have not credited anything on the stock ?-No.
462. So that as far as the books stand the stock remains unpaid ?-Yes.
463. D es not that seem a remark tble state of things ?-I iad no instructions to

that effect.
464. The stock remains still unpaid so far as the books are concerned ?-Yes.
465. Mr. McMullen was asking abont the state of repait of the bridge. Can you

say how much was spent on the bridge this year ?-No.
466. Last year --No.
467. Any year ?- No.
468. Do the books show that ?-Partially.
469. Are they not accurate ?-They are accurate as far as they go.
470. If they did not contain proper entries they would be inaccurate ?-I should

think so.
471. Have you entered up against the bridge all expenditure for maintenance ?-No.
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472. Then the accounts have not been accurately kept ?-They have not come in
this year, s me of them.

473. Prior to this year they ought to have been good ?-I cannot say for that.
474. Can you tell me at any time what expenditure has been made for the

bridge ?-No.
475. Can you tell me, not as secretary only, or as a lawyer, but in any capacity, as

a witness can you tell me what labour or what repairs have been paid upon that bridge
at any time?-I would not venture.

476. You can tell me who is employed upon the bridge by the company ?-No.
477. You d i not know whether any one is employed on it or not ?-I take no in-

terest in it at all.
478. How far do you live from the bridge ?-My residence is a quarter of a mile

away.
479. Is there one man employed upon the bridge all the year round ?-I would not

answer that.
480. Will you swear there is ?-I could not say.
481. Do you not know ?-I do not know.
482. Do not you know that wlien navigation is closed there is no one enployed on

the bridge at all ?-There is a caretaker, I know that.
483. All the year round ?-I cannot swear that. but be is employed.
484. Who would pay him his wages ?--The company.
485. And you are the treasurer ?-Yes.
486. Then you would pay him ?-Not necessarily.
487. Who would pay him then ?-Somebody else.
488. Who else ?-I cannot tell you.
489. Who employs the caretaker ?-The manager.
490. Who is manager ?-I told you it was Mr. Temple.
491. Has lie been dismissed ?-Not to my knowledge.
492. Has he resigned ?-Not to my knowledge.
493. He is still manager?-I cannot answer. I presume he is, but don't know.
494. Then it will be Mr. Temple who employed these men, would it not ?-I cannot

say, sir.
495. Cannot say ?-I am here, I take it, simply to answer what I know.
496. You are here to tell the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the truth.-

I appreciate the truth, sir, just as well as any other man.
497. Now, can you tell me who was employed ? Can you give me the name of any

employee upon the maintenance of that bridge by the company ?-Well, when?
498. I will let you choose your own time.-Well, I have no choice, sir.
499, Give me the present time.-I think there is a gentleman by the name of-I

will give you his name in a moment-there is one by the name of Chappell, is on the
bridge, and another man by the name of Rogers, these two men are on.

500. Chappell and Rogers, what are their duties ?--To care for the bridge and at-
tend to the draw.

501. Caretakers on the bridge ?-Yes.
502. What are they paid ?-I cannot say what they are being paid.
503. Who pays them ?-I have not paid any money to them this year.
504. Who pays them ?-Last year I paid part, and the management of the bridge

paid part.
505. Whom did you pay ?-I paid part to the first and last named.
506. Rogers ?-I paid him a certain payment last year on the certificate of the

management, and I also paid the other man.
507. On whose certificate ?-On the certificate sometimes of Mr. Gibson, and some-

times of Mr. Temple.
508. Do you know how much vou paid them ?-I cannot say.
509. No recollection ?-No.
510. So much a month ?-By the month, I think.
511. About the wages of workingmen, would it not be ?-I could not say.

26

A. 1895



Fredericton and St. Marv's Bridge [nquiry.

512. A dollar a day ?-I cannot say.
513. Was it more ?-I cannot say.
514. Less ?-I cannot say.
515. No idea ?---No. I did not tax my meiory with it only as it was in ny busi-

ness.
516. Were they engaged in the ordinary work? Attending to the business ?-I

presume. I don't know what their duties were.
517. Don't know what their duties were ?-Don't know anythiig about thein.
518. What were they doing there ?--Caretakers of the bridge.
519. They were being paid caretakers' wlages I don't know wlhat c 'retakers'

wages is. My duty was simply to pay what was presented when 1 had the funds.
520. How long were they emploved ? A summer -All last sumnier.
521. Were thev in the employ of the government ?-Can't say.
522. Don't know ?-No.
523. Do you know whether they were in the pay of the comnpany when navigation

closed ?-Could not answer.
524. Do you know if there is anybody in charge of the bridge after navigation

closes ?-Could not answer, don't know.
525. Cari you say if there was any person in the employ of the bridge comipany

doing any service in the naintenance of the bridge or looking after the bridge during
last vear otherwise than during the period of navigation ?-Cant answer.

52G. Can you say whether there were any repairs made on the bridge last vear?-
I know it was wholly repainted. I know that.

527. Bv whom ?-The bridge conpany, I presune.
528. Will you swear it was by the bridge company Wholly, I don't say tiat.
529. How much was charged to that?-That is one of the bills that bas not been

entered in the book.
530. These are very curious books ?-No, they are not.
531. Can you tell me in any fori as witness, lawyer, secretary-treasurer or in any

other capacity, how mîuch money was spent in any year since you bave been in a position
in the maintenance of that bridge ?-I have answered, I cannot.

532. You cannot ? So that you don't know what surplus earnings reinai after
paying the true cost of naintaining the bridge ?-I cannot speak fron nenory, sir.

533. You cannot ? Will the books show it ?-The returns show it.
534. Will the books show it ?Which?
535. Will the bridge company's books show what profit and loss there w'as on the

earnings of that bridge ?-J think it will show the first two or three years. It will not
show last year. The accounts are not all in.

536. Will they show every year succeeding to last year? -I think probably for the
first two or three vears.

537. For the first two or three years commencing with what, 1887 or 1888 ?-1887
J think the bridge was completed.

538. It is S vears since 1887. Will thev show the transactions for three vears ?-
When you spoke in your question you asked ie to show it accurately. I suppose they
will show accuratelv down to last year.

539. I see. Were your accoutits never audited ?-No.
.540. Never audited 7-No, sir.
541. Where did you keep your cash 9-What little there was at-
542. Did you have no bank account ?-No.
543. Who was your cashier ?-Well, I was cashier as far as funds were given me.
544. Well, did you not receive all the earnings of the bridge ?-Wel1, I can only

account for what I got. I presume I saw the greater portion of it ;J don't krnow.
545. Tell me. Who kept the accounts showing what the bridge company ought to

have received from the Canada Eastern ?-How is that ?
546. The rate of toll was so much a car, was it not, or so much a ton ?-Yes.
547. Could you say from memory what the scheme of remuneraition was ?-(To Mr.

Temple) What was it?
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Mr. TEMPLE-So nuch a ca-. Some $1, some 82 and so on.
Examination resumed:
548. Well, who kept the accounts to show that the railway company accounted

for what it properly owed ?-An account was rendered by the Canada Eastern.
549. Kept by the Canada Eastern ?-Yes.
550. Did the bridge company keep no one to check the accounts ?--As far as the

cars were concerned ; as I understood it the caretaker checked the cars.
551. The caretaker checked the cars ?-Yes.
552. Was the caretaker employed by the president of the Canada Eastern or the

president of the bridge company ?-By the bridge company.
553. By the bridge company. Mr. Gibson as president of the bridge company?-

I don't say that.
554. Were these caretakers in the employment of the railway a'so ?-No.
555. They were not ?-Well, have you got the check account as checked by the

caretaker ?-No.
556. There is nothing on record then showing that anvone on behalf of the bridge

company kept a check on the traffic for the purpose of collecting duties from the rail-
way ?-The caretaker would send it in.

557. Answer iny question. Have you such records ?-As what ?
558. You say, you stated a moment ago, that the caretaker of the bridge would

keep a check on the freights passing over the bridge as against the railway company ?-
Yes, I said so.

559. You said that ?-Yes.
560. Then I ask you have you a record of those checks ?-I would have the state-

ment they file.
561. The what ?-I would have the statement that the caretaker would file with

me-that is what I would have.
562. Have you kept these statements continuously during this arrangement ?-No.
563. For what period have you these statements ?--I don't think we have anything

for the last year or eighteen inonths.
564. How do you account for that?-I have no explanation.
565. No explanation ?-I am not managing,
566. Well, should not those verifications be in your custody or in the custody of

your bridge company ?-J told you what has been filed. That is ail I can say.
567. You can only tell us that and there is nothing, then, in the last year or

eighteen months on record showing that the bridge company exercised a supervision
over the earnings of the bridge ?-What the company did, I don't know.

568. You don't know ?-No.
569. Do you know, then, how much the railway company owes the bridge com-

pany ?-No.
570. You don't know. Does it owe it anything ?-Can't answer.
571. Can't answer it at all ? Is there any way except by reference to the rail-

way company to prove what it owes for tolls to the bridge company ?-I don't know.
572. Who would know anything at all about these affairs ?-What?
573. On behalf of the bridge company i-I cant say.
574. It looks very mucli as if the bridge company was absorbed by the railway

companv, does it not ?-Not at all. It has got a separate existence.
575. Now, do vou think, sir, that the bridge company's affairs are being looked

after as independentlv as if they were wholly independent in management from the
railway company ?-Oh, I think so.

576. You don't think so ?-I think so.
576a. You do think so. Do you think if the bridge company and railway com-

pany were total strangers in management that the bridge company's account would be
kept as laxily as these are being kept ?-I would not venture an opinion on that.

577. You would not venture an opinion on that ?-I would not say.
578. I need hardly have asked that ?-I should think not.

A. 1895
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By Sir Richard Cartieright :

579. What salary do you receive in your joint capacity as secretarv-treasurer ?-I
could hardly say. It has been so long since I received any.

580. You are a lawyer, Mr. Vanwart ?-Yes, sir.
581. Are you solicitor for the conpany?--I say they have no solicitor nlow. I

was, yes at the time of construction ; I ami not now.
582. Well, I suppose, you have no action against the railway comnpany. )id you

receive any salary at all ?- No. J have not, as a matter of fact.
583. As a matter of fact you have received no salary ?- No.

By MVr. M.Jcullen

584. Did vou receive any pay as solicitor ?-I did during the construction, sir.
585. You received pay during the construction of the work ?-I had my pay in

connection with a large number of suits and an injunction in the vicinity of 81,000 or
81,500.

586. You received pay for legal services during the construction of the bridge ?-
Yes, sir.

587. Now you made returns for the governnruut, vou sav. They were miade I
suppose prior to the returns that were sent in ?- cannot say.

588. You don't know ?-Wiich returns ; what are thev ?
589. The annual returns miade to the Minister of Railways of the receipts and

expenditures and cost of operations of the bridge. Who made these returns ?-Teli me
what are they ? I can hardly tell.

590. You, as a corporation, are bound to miake returns ainnually to the government
of the receipts and expenditures in connection with vour conpany -with your organiza-
tion. Now who made the returns ?-I woul(l not say whether I made themr or not. It
is probable I looked over themn.

591. I hold in my hand a return of the receipts and expenditures of this bridge. I
see that you have received altogether 817,832.62. That is vour sole return to the
government of your receipts! -That is.

592. Then your return of expenditure in the operatioi of the bridge is $7,650,
which leaves a balance of 810,200 of receipts. Of course all the mroniey for the earningrs
of the bridge went into your hand-, did they not ?-I dion't say it ; that is what I
answered a moment ago, that is what J said.

593. You don't know whether you made this return or not ?-I did not say I did
not muake those returns. I mav have seen themi.

594. Froni the returns miade to the Minister of Rilways as laid on the Table of
the House every year, I see you say the cost of operation was 81,300, the next year
81,300, the third year 81,300, the fourth vear 1892, 81,750 and 1893-94, 82,000. Now
in 1893-94 the earnings were 84,544. You don't know who made these annuai returns
of the bridge at all ?-I don't say that. I say I might have made thein.

595. You don't know whether they are correct or not ?-I presume they are correct.
596. Well, is there any other offi er in connection with the comnpany that would be

possessed with the necessary information to enable hini to make those returns unless
yourself ?-Yes, because I would get certain of that information f roui other persons.

597. That is a copy of the returns that have been made to Parliarient ? -Yes.
598. There are the recepts ?-Yes.
599. And there are the expenditures ?-That is so.
600. Now, what I want to know from vou is this, is there any other person so in-

timately acquainted with the books of the company as to be able to make these returns
besides you, in place of you ?-I think that probably I would have as full information
as any one in regard to them.

601. Then you must have made the return ?-I don't say I did. J at last seen the
returns before they were forwarded.
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By Mr. M!ulock :

602. Mr. Secretary, would you tell me when this company was incorporated ?-I
think it was incorporated in IS86.

603. By what legislature ?-By charter of this Parliament.
604. Was it a special Act ?--Yes, sir.
605. Do you remember whether it organized after the special Act was passed ?-

When ?
606. As required by the law ?-Yes, sir.
607. It did organize ?-Yes.
608. Do you remember who were the first directors ?-I cannot remeinber.
609. I want to get the naine of the caretak-ers for the purpose of subpenaing them.

What is the first name of Chapelle ?-I cannot tell you.
610. Well of Rogers ?-John.
Mr. MULOCK-DO you know, Mr. Temple ?
Mr. TEMPLE-No, I really do not.

By Mfr. McMMullen:

611. You said that you kept no bank account ?-No.
612. When you receive money, for instance, froni the parties that are supposed to

collect the tolls, what (o you do with it ?-There are generally sufficient bills for nie to
pay it out inmediately.

613. And you just pay the accounts that are pressing upon vou out of the fees ?-
Accounts that are presented and certified when I am in funds I pay them. If I an not
they lie over.

614. Who was present at the meeting when you were engaged as secretary, at the
meeting of the Board ?-I think I was appointed by the shareholders.

615. Well who was present ?-I could not tell from memory. It is some years ago.
616. You do not remember it ?-It is some years ago.
617. Were any of then present ?-Probably not. I do not know.
618. You do not remember when the meeting was held or who was present ?-I

would not like to say from memory. It took place six years ago.
619. What books or papers are there ?-As a matter of fact the books will not

give you very much information.

By Mr. Davies :

620. Will you kindly state what books are in your custody or control ?-A record
book.

621. Is that a minute book ?-Yes, you can call it a minute book if vou like. We
cal] it a record book. That is the only book we have. On the back of that is a memo-
randui of the cash that I deal with.

622. That is the sum total of the company's books ?--That is the sum total of the
company's books, if vou want to know. There are a lot of vouchers.

623. Have you vouchers which would show the receipts and expenditure of the
company year by year, papers or vouchers of any kind that would show that ?-I would
have the returns and the data on which the returns were made. I think I have those
and they are all I have.

624. That would be returns from the railway, or what ?-The return would be
from the Canada Eastern. I think I have the return from the Canada Eastern.

625. The returns and the data on which they were made up ?-I think I have
them.

626. Will Mr. Gibson be able to give us information other than what is here ?-
None whatever.

627. Could you forward the books to the Clerk of the Committee ?-I could con-
sider that, but unless I am here I do not think they could make much out of it.

62$. We could examine them and see ?-I will look them over.
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629. If you are satisfied to do that you may be summnioned at any time, if it is
npecessary.-I shall be glad to be suminoned at anv time, but I have pressing engage-
ments next week.

B] 1 Mr. fMlock :

630. Could vou forward the books in the meantime, and perhaps we
to dispense with vour further examination ?-I would consider that, but,
it really understood whether I an to come or not, because I do not want
position that vou would require me at a davs notice. resùwý

THE CIAIRAN--The order is that the witness is to send the books
of the Committee and to await a further sunrnons from the Conunittee.

The Conunittee then adjourned.

w ould be able
I should like
to be in the

to the Clerk
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COMMITTEE Rooir,
HOUSE OF CO lONs, 12th July, 1895.

The committee met.

Mr. TnoIoAs TEMPLE, M.P., recalled and further examined.

By the Chairman :

631. M-Ur. Temple, you have already been sworn ?-Yes.
632. Mr. Temple, what paper is that ?-That is the stock-list.
MUr. MULOCK-I will read it to vou :
"We, the undersigned, under the provisions of the Act of the Dominion Parliament,

48th Victoria, chapter 26, intituled ' An Act to incorporate the Fredericton and Saint
Mary's Railway Bridge Company,' do hereby subscribe for and take the number of
shares of stock in the capital stock of the 'Fredericton and Saint Mary's Railway
Bridge Company,' set opposite our respective names.

Number
Naime. Residence. of

Shares.

Alex. Gibson......................................... Marysville, iN.B........

Thos. Temple........ ................................ Fredericton, N.B..............

Alfred Rowlev............ ..... ..... .............. .. Marysville, N 1l............... .. 10

Alex. Gibson, jr..................................... do . 10

Fred. S. Hilyard.............. ...................... Fredericton, N.B..... ... 10

633. Does this stock-list correctly show the state of the stock-list to-day ?-I think
so.

634. There have been no transfers then ?-No I thought there had been, but there
have not.

635. How much was paid on the stock when subscribed ?-$20,000, I think.
636. The face amount of these shares was 5100 a share, I think ?-1 forget. I

cannot say wvhat it was.
637. There were 2,000 shares, this stock list shows a description of 2,000 shares ?-

Whatever is there is true.
638. 985 to Mr. Gibson, and 985 to you, make 1,970, and three tens make up

2,000 ?-2,000.
639. And those 2,000 shares represent all the shares of the company that were

ever issued ?-Yes.
640. And the face amount of these 2,000 shares is $200,000 ?-$200,000.
641. And ten per cent was paid on this stock at the time of subscription ?-Yes.
642. Making the total cash collected on the stock at that time S20,000 ?-Yes.
643. How much has since been paid or what calls have been made on this stock ?-

I don't know that there were any calls made.
644. What was done with the earnings of the bridge 1-Of course the expenses were

paid out of the earnings and any repairs or anything required in that way.
645. And the balance went to pay interest on some bonds, did it not ?-Yes, that

is all there was.
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646. What amount of bonds had the company issued ?-50,000 of bonds.
647. How were they secured ?-How do you mean? To the parties they were given

to?
648. Yes.-By a guarantee from Mr. Gibson and myself.
649. Mr. Gibson, senior ?-Yes.
650. You and he personally guaranteed the principal and the interest of the bonds?

-Yes.
651. After payment for the maintenance of the bridge, the surplus earnings went to

pay interest on the bonds ?-As far as it would go.
652. As far as it would go; it would not go very far ?-It did not.
653. One more question. I observe in the returns made by the bridge company

to the Government, which you have sworn to, that for the last two or three years you
were unable to swear from knowledge as to the earnings of the bridge, but swore as to
their correctness from returns made bv the railway company, which was it ?-The Canada
Eastern.

654. The Canada Eastern Railway Company ?-Yes.
655. Will you explain why you could not of your own knowledge swear as to the

correctness of those returns?-Because we did not keep the account. They kept the
accounts, and we had access to their books when we settled up with then every six
months. Therefore we had to take their accounts, the same as other railways do.
They have to take each other's account for it and pay over whatever the difference is.

656. Did you at any time have any person on behalf of your bridge coipany to
check the earnings ?-We had one year.

657. What year was that ?-Well, I could not tell exactly.
658. At the commencement was it?-No, it was about the middle of the time. J

think it was about 1892 and 1893.
659. 1892 and 1893 ?-I think so. I am not positive as to that, but it was one

year anyway.
660. J suppose it was when you had to qualify your return that you discontinued

having a person to check the earnings ?-No, we only had one one year out of the five.

By M1r. M1cMullen:

661. Mr. Temple, has vour company within the last year or two taken a lease
from the government of this bridge?- No, sir. That is a mistake. TI at is a mistake
in our account somewhere. I don't know how that came about. I don't know any-
thing about it.

662. On page 240 of the Report of the Department of Riailways and Canais, the
Minister of Railways reports under the date December 31st, 1892, we have the entry,
"Lease Fredericton and Saint Mary's Railway and Bridge Company, twenty-one
years "?-Yes.

663. Well, are 'you aware of the existence of any lease ?-I told you J know
nothing about it.

664. Could it exist without your knowledge ?-I could not think it could very well.
665. Well, would it be possible for it to exist without your knowledge ?--Well,

many things may be possible. I could not tell you that. I tell you I know nothing of
it. That is all I can tell you.

666. Are you not head of the company ?-No, I am not.
667. Who is head of the company ?-Mr. Gibson, he is the president of the com-

pany, and I have been manager of the company, and therefore I don't tbink it would
be possible unless J knew. It is a mistake somewhere or other. They have got it into
their accounts and their books from some other road. As far as I can trace the thing,
since you are speaking of that, I went to the department one day to find out what it
meant, what it was, and I found they knew nothing at all about it. It was a mistake
in the books.

668. Was there no speaking about it? Was there no conversation in the House
about it ?-No, I am speaking now of the department, or the gentleman who has charge
of those things.

33
1--3
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By fr. Daly :

669. Your attention was called to it ?-Yes, by seeing it here (i. e., in the report
of the Departnent of Railways and Canals).

By Mfr. M3cMIullen :

670. Was the bridge ever under lease to any person ?-Not that I know of.
671. Was there ever any proposition for a lease on the part of the company ?-Not

that I know of.
MR. MULOCK :-" Department of Railways and Canals, general statement showing

water power and other public property leased by the Department of Railways and Canals
during the fiscal year ended 30th June, 1894." Then under date December 31st, 1892
-" Term of lease twenty-one years. Lessees Fredericton and St. Mary's Railway
Bridge Company. Property leased, use of St. John River Bridge and connections with
Fredericton Railway westward, and Gibson Branch of Canadian Pacific Railway east-
w'ard." It is evidently identical with this undertaking. This is from the Department
of Railways and Canals annual report.

672. You are still on the board ?-Yes.
673. Have you been at all the board meetings ?-I cannot say I have. I have been

away for a year. We have no board meetings this year.
Mr. MULOCK-This entry was dated in December, 1892?
Mr. DALY-That is clearly a mistake.
Mr. McMULLEN-Well, surely the Minister of Railways and Canals wvould not

make a mistake like that.
TUE CIIAIRMAN-Mr. Temple says most explicitly he knows nothing about it.
Mr. McMULLEN-That may be true, but after al] it may have existed without his

knowing anything about it. There are so many things that he knows nothing about.
Mr. TEMPLE-I think I know where the mistake has cone in. I think probably

it was about this time we were talking of leasing the road to the Canadian Pacific Rail-
way Company, and this memorandum was drawn up at that time, but it fell through.
I think when we have been here at the Railway Committee meeting, this document has
got astray in some way or other, and they have got hold of it in the department and
put it in. Some of the clerks have done it. They have had no authority to do it. I
think that is the way they have got it.

Mr. DALY-The way it is put here would almost bear that out.
Mr. TEMPLE-I think it is likely. This memorandum was drawn up at that time,

but it was not carried out, and therefore fell through.

By M1r. Wood ( JWestmoreland) :

674. Were these negotiations with the Canadian Pacific Railway ?--Yes, these
were with the Canadian Pacific Railway, not with the Government at all. The Gov-
ernment had nothing to do with it.

Mr. DALY-You see the beading of it is " Water power and other public property
leased by the Department of Railways and Canals during the fiscal vear ended 30th
June, 1894." It says "leased by the department." They would have no power to
lease this.

Sir RICHARD CARTWRIGHT-Lnless as mortgagees, the company probably being in
default.

Mr. DALY--The mortgagees would not lease without the consent of the mortga-
gors, and Mr. Temple says they never made any such lease.

Mr. TEMPLE-The Government had nothing at all to do with it whatever.
Mr. MCMULLEN-Under the covenants of that mortgage the agreement sets out

that, whenever you are in arrear, without any action of foreclosure, or anything else,
the Government can of its own act, come into possession and become the owner. That
is virtually the contents of the mortgage you gave the Government. No action is
necessary on their part, simply to corne into possession. Now they knew they were in
arrear for interest. It was open to them to take possession for interest at any moment.
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Mr. TEMPLE-They never did. They~never took possession.
Mr. MCMULLEN-It remains for you and the Minister of Railways to settle it

between you.
Mr. TEMPLE-Well, I tell you it is not so positively. The mistake is just what I

told you in this memorandum, that it was drawn up for the Canada Pacifie Railway.
It bas got into the railway department without any authority at ail.

By Mfr. Daly :

675. It is dated December 31st, 1892 ?-That was about the time of the
negotiations. That memorandum was drawn up at the time of the negotiations w'ith
the Canadian Pacifie Railway. The government knew nothing at all about it. When
it had come to a head, we should of course, bave let the government know. We could
.not have done it of our own accord under the circumstances. But it fell through.

By M1r. McMulln:

676. You say it was an attempt to lease the use of the bridge to the Canadian
Pacifie Railway ?-Yes.

677. Well, now, who was to execute the lease ?-Well that is another thing. I
tell you it went no further than that, and that is all I can tell you. It stopped there.
Of course we could not go any further without going to the government.

678. But if there were any negotiations for the lease, they must have taken place
between some party representing the bridge, and some party representing the Canadian
Pacifie Railwav. Who was the party that represented the bridge ?-The bridge
company.

679 Well, then, if the bridge company represented the bridge in the negotiations
fo r the lease, how is it that it appears in the report of the Minister of Railways and
Canals that the lease was to be executed by the government ?

Mr. DAL--There is nothing to that eflect here (i.e. in the report of the Depart-
ment of Railways and Canals).

By Mr. Meillen.:

679. It could not have got in there unless the Government had something to do
with it ?-I told you they never had anything to do with it. They knew nothing about
it, unless the clerk put it there by mistake.

By Mr. Mulock :

680. Who is in possession of the bridge ?-The bridge company and always have
been.

681. From the beginning ?-Yes.
682. And you have simply collected toll for the use of the bridge ?-Yes.
683. The bridge company have been in uninterrupted possession of the bridge

from its construction to this moment ?-Until this moment.

By Mr. Ouimet :

684. Under what kind of an agreement are these railways using your bridge 7-
Under the tolls.

685. But is that agreement made out for a term of years ?-It was passed by the
Railway Committee here, so much per passenger, so much per hundred weight, and so
much per ton.

686. How long is that agreement to last ?-That is subject to the will of the rail-
ways and the bridge company and the government. Whenever there is any dissatis-
faction on the part of either party they can appeal to the Committee on Railways and
have it settled.
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687. But that agreement between you and these railway companies has been made
without the government's interference, but subject to their approval?--It is subject to
their approval.

688. How long is that agreement to last ?-It will last, as I tell you, until there
should be some disagreement probably; if they wanted to raise the tolls or lower the
tolls, then you have got to come to the Railway Committee. They were changed once
since they were made.

By Mr. McMullen:

689. What change was made in the tolls ?-The change was made with reference
to engines and cars from the Canadian Pacific Railway.

690. You say, Mr. Temple, that there were changes made in the tolls from time to
time ?-That is what I am speaking of.

691. Was there ever any other change made in the tolls?7-No.
692. Who regulated the tolls in the first place ?-The tolls were regulated by the

bridge company, and then brought to the government at the committee, and sanctioned
by the government.

693. And the bridge company are the same men that own the lines approaching
the bridge on each side ?-Yes ; they own the road ; it is not the bridge. You speak
about the bridge ; why, there is nearly as much cost to the road as to the bridge.

694. You own the line approaching the bridge on one side, and Mr. Gibson the line
on the other ?-Yes.

695. And you and Mr. Gibson, with others, compose the bridge company ?-Yes.
696. You say that the company arrange the tolls ?-Yes.
697. And then got the government sanction to the tolls ?-Yes.
698. Well, now, would it be in the interest of the company to make the tolls low ?

-It would at that time. We would have got nothing to do if they had not been low.
We could not get any traffic unless they were low, because the roads were too poor, and
not able to pay high tolls. We were anxious to get something to help pay the
expenses. After the Canadian Pacific Railway abandoned their contract to build that
section of the road, the bridge was left there without an'ything.

699. When you commenced to regulate your tolls, what guide did you make use
of ?-We had lots of guides from other roads and bridges, and other things.

700. Did you take the ordinary toll charged on other bridges ?- Not altogether,
we may in some instances. If we had adopted the same tolls we adopted on the St.
John Bridge below we should have had nothing to do.

701. You had to adopt a lower rate 7-Yes ; but if we had the same rate and the
same traffic, we could pay something, which we should have had if the Canadian
Pacific Railway had gone that way.

702. And in order to get work for the bridge to do, you had to fix a rate of tolls
away down ?-Oh, I don't know that it was away down.

Mr. MULocK-Here are the rates-" Minutes of board meeting on the 10th
December.

" A meeting of the shareholders of the Fredericton and Saint Mary's Railway
Bridge Company was duly called and held this day at 3 o'clock, p.m., at the office of
Alexander Gibson, Esq.

"Present-All the stockholders.
"President in the chair."
703. That would be Mr. Gibson, was it ?-Yes.
Mr. MULOCK (continuing)-" Minutes of meeting held on June 4th, 1889, read

and confirmed.
"On motion the following by-law was made and passed by unanimous vote:
"That the tolls for the use of the bridge of the Fredericton and Saint Mary's Rail-

way Bridge Company for the time being be fixed at the following rates:-

"Passengers, each.................................... $0 10
"Merchandise, per car ............................... 2 00
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"Shingles and clapboards, per car.............. ....... .12 00
"Other manufactured lumber, long and short, per car...... 1 00
"Flour, meal, grain and grain products, per car...........2 00
"Live stock and fresh fish, per car ..................... . 00
"Grindstones, per car........... ..................... 00
"Sleepers, bark, wheels, ship timber, cordwood, stone, logs

and tim ber, per car .............................. 1 00
"Coal (car load), per ton ............. ............... . O 10
"Merchandise, fresh fish, live stock and unenumerated

articles not provided for, per 100 lbs ................. 0 02

704. Then there were some variations later on ? There was a change in the
schedule ?-I think the lumber of all kinds was put at $1 in the next change.

Mr. MULOCK-On the 9th of March, 1894, it appears from the minute book there
was a meeting held, and the following minute is recorded:-

"On motion of Mr. Rowley, seconded by Alex. Gibson, j un., the fallowing by-law
was enacted: 'Resolved, that the following additional tolls for the use of the bridge of
the Fredericton and Saint Mary's Railway Bridge Company be fixed and charged:

"Passenger cars, each.............................50 cents.
"Box and flat cars, each........................... 30 "
"Locomotives, when hauling trains ................... . Free
"Locomotives, light, or when hauling conductors' van.. . . 75

705. These are the existing rates now; I find no other minute ?-No.

By Mr. McMullen:

706. There were no other reductions made ?-No.

By fr. Daly :

707. These are the usual charges, I suppose ?-Yes. Some charge nothing-we
did not for some time-for empties.

By 3fr. Mulock:

708. There was a mortgage executed to the government for the government loan?
-Yes.

709. And then the company issued a second mortgage to secure the $50,000
bonds ?-I don't know. That is more than I can tell vou. I think the bonds were
issued before the other was given.

Mr. MULoCK-J will read you from the minute of July 30th, 1888 :-
"A special meeting of the shareholders of the Fredericton and Saint Marv's Rail-

way Bridge Company was duly held at the office of Alexander Gibson, Esq., Marysville,
on Monday, the 13th day of July, 1888, at 2.30 p. m., pursuant to notice.

" Al the stockholders present.
" President in the chair.
" Minutes of meeting held on the 5th day of June last past, read and confirmed.
" The object of the meeting was to consider the issue of bonds on the bridge

and its approaches and railway connections.
"Ordered that the directors be authorized and empowered to issue bonds bearing

date August 1, 1888, in due form under the seal of the company, to the amount of two
hundred dollars on any part thereof with interest at six per cent per annum payable
half yearly on the first day of August and February in each year at the company's
office, Fredericton, N.B. Fifty thousand dollars thereof payable in five years from
the date thereof, and the balance in twenty-five years from the date thereof, denomin-
ators of $1,000 each with interest coupons attached, and that the directors be fully
authorized to mortgage all the property of the company, it assets, rents and revenues
both present and future to trustees to be by them naned to secure the
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payment of said bonds and interest, subject to the provisions of the Act of

Parliament relating thereto and the lien of the Dominion Government for loan, and
that such mortgage be duly executed by the president and signed by the secretary and
the corporate seal of the company be thereto affixed and when executed be duly regis-
tered."

710. Weli, then, Mr. Temple, will you just please look at that minute and tell me
if that is the minute under which this $50,000 of bonds were issued ?-I think it is
quite likely. I cannot recollect now.

711. There was no other issue of bonds than the $50,000 you referred to ?-No.
712. There are no bonds outstanding now ?-No.
713. The only debt due now is the debt due to the government ?-Yes, those bonds

are due to the parties who took them up.

By Mr. Daly :

714. Subject to the provisions of the agreement with the government ?-Yes, of
course. It could not be done in any other way. The Act provides for that.

By M1r. Mulock :

715. The minister, I think, produced the mortgage to the House ?-I suppose he
did so. I do not know. I think he produced the contract, too.

716. He produced the mortgage and the contract, I think.-The mortgage shows
how it was to be done and how it was to be arranged supposing they took the bridge
over.

717. Did the government ever press you to pay up the interest on the bonds ?-
They wrote pretty sharp letters some times.

718. They never took any proceeding ? They did nothing but write letters ?-That
is all. There was a contract, they could take it over at any time they liked, paying us
a certain amount.

By Mr. McMu<llen:

719. Are the tolls that you collect increasing ?-I think last year, so far as I re-
collect, they were about $1,580 more than thev were before, and I can only say this,
speaking of that, that I am quite satisfied it will increase a great deal more during the
next two or three years, more than three times that, I should judge from the appear-
ance of things, and from the traffic that will and must come over the road, because it is
130 miles nearer, now the bridge is built, to the Boston market, than it would be to go
round by Chatham Junction, Moncton, St. John, and back to Fredericton Junction
again. It is over 130 miles difference, so you can easily judge the difference there
would be in the expense of carrying the lumber, that is shingles, clapboards and hem-
lock boards. Now the duty is taken off it is going to make a vast trade. The district
of the Miramichi River is the best section of the country we have got for this kind of
lumber, and it mav be there are now 400 carloads of bark lying there to be shipped. I
am quite satisfied that it will pay the government something yet, and in a short time,
but it will take some time to get saw-mills up and all those things along the road.
Some parties are building now.

By Mr. Mulock:

720. Can you tell me fron this document (produced) how much you spent on the
maintenance of the bridge b-Yes, I think so.

721. Are you willing to swear that that is correct ?-I have no doubt it is. It is
taken from the book, I am satisfied about that. It must be so. They could not make
the figures.

722. Well, what are the gross earnings of this bridge in 1889 ?-$1,546.34.
723. And what were the gross earnings for the year ending 30th June, 1890 ?-

$1,546.34.
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Mr. DALY-That is the same you said before.
Mr. TEMPLE-1 know it is the same, that is what Mr. Mulock is asking.
Mr. MULOCK-JUSt give it to us for each year, the gross receipts, the gross earn-

ings, and the operating expenses.
Mr. TEMPLE-$1,546.34.

By Mr. McMfullen :

724. That is for 1889 ?-That is for 1888 and 1889. That is just the commence-
ment. Then the expenses are $1,300.

725. That is right ?-That is what you have there?
726. Yes ?-Well, it is a copy of this. Year ending June, 1890, the next is -
727. Receipts ?-$2,461.02.
728. That is right ?-And expenses, $1,300.
729. That is right ?-There are no other expenses than there were before.
730. Now, 1891 ?-1891 is $2,564.24.
731. There must be something wrong there, Mr. Temple ?-Oh, yes, I took the

wrong line. It is $2,908.69.
732. That is right. Operating expenses ?-$1,300.
733. That is right. Now, 1892 ?-$3,360.99.
734. That is right. Operating expenses ?-$1,750, this year.
735. That is right. 1893 ?-Receipts, $3,011.28, a little less than before.
736. That is right ?-And expenses, $1,400, a little worse than before, both worse.
737. 1894?-In 1894 the receipts were $4,544.30.
738. That is right ?-And expenses, $2,000.
739. That is right ?-There were some repairs that caused that,
Mr. DALY-Well, Mr. Temple, you had other expenses in 1893 than the operating

expenses, because I find in the minute book a minute dated January 21st, 1893, with
a detailed statement of the expenses incurred in effecting a junction with the Canadian
Pacifie Railway on the eastern side of the St. John River. If you will look at that you
will see the total given is $5,766.59.

By Sir Richard Cartwright:

740. That is on capital account ?-That is on capital account, it is not included in
this at all.

By Mr. McMullen:

741. You have not these figures added up there, the gross receipts and expendi-
ture?-No, I have not. You take each year by itself. You want to know what was
done with the balance, I suppose.

By Mr. Mulock :

742. You have told us that. The only thing is the amount ?-That is all. I have
told you the amount.

743. That is what you have not told us. We cannot get at the amount so ?-
Why, you can see what the balance is.

744. I know from my memory that the figures given there include more disburse-
ments than would be properly termed operating expenses ?-These tbings are paint, oil,
and all the expenses put into these operating expenses.

Mr. DALY-These returns are sworn to.
Mr. MULOCK-lere is the foundation for that mistake about that railway lease.

This a letter from Mr. Collingwood Schreiber to the Secretary of the Department of
Railways and Canals, Mr. Balderson : " I send you herewith for file a copy of an
agreement, dated the 31st day of December, 1892, between the Fredericton and St.
Mary's Bridge and Railway Company and the Canadian Pacifie Railway Company, with
reference to the railway bridge over the St. John River crossing from Fredericton to
St. Mary's in the County of York."
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Mr. DALY-What is the date of that?
Mr. MULOCK-The date of the letter is the 18th of April, 1894.
Mr. TEMPLE-That is what I was referring to.
Mr. DALY--And more than that, I find by the report of the railway department

of 1894 that it is not shown in any returns at all, but it is shown in 1895.

By MLr. McMule:

745. I find on adding up the receipts and expenses for the years given, that the
receipts altogether for the six years come to $17,832.62 ?-Yes.

746. And the expenses during the same time for operation come to 89,050, leav-
ing a net balance of earnings of 88,782.62 ?-Yes.

747. That is the way they add up ?-I dare say.
748. Those are the figures you gave me ?-I dare say that is all right.

By Jfr. Boyle:

749. Do you keep an interest account other than the interest due to the Dominion
government ?-Yes. The balance every year was paid on the $50,000 bond, and the
balance that was left was paid out of the company's own fund.

By 3fr. Daly :

750. As I understand it the surplus earnings went as far as they could towards
paying the interest on the bond ?-Yes.

751. And the difference was made up out of your private pocket ?-Yes.

By -Mr. Taylor :

752. I understand you to say that you expect that the income from the increased
traffie will be ample to pay the interest on the whole amount ?-No, I do not say that.
I say in the next two or three years I am satisfied that it will be a great deal better.
You can see by the last returns there. I think thereis about 81,500 difference.

Ir. 3Mc3ULLEN-There was Over 82,000 of gross earnings after paying the running
expenses, about 84,000 the last year.

Mr. BoYLE-That is after paying the interest on the bond.

By Mfr. Wood ( Westmtoreland)

753. Were thle bills for the cost of this bridge all paid in cash except 850,000,
which was paid in bonds ?-8300,000 that we got from the government was paid direct
to the contractors.

754. Well, I say the contractors received all cash for the work except $50,000
bonds ?-All cash.

755. They received this $50,000 bonds ?-Yes.
756. And they were guaranteed by Mr. Gibson and yourself and afterwards taken

up at par ?-They were afterwards taken up at par.
757. Do you consider it a cheap work ?-I do. All the engineers that have ever

looked at it say it is the cheapest job that was ever done in this Dominion, according to
the work, and I think it is myself.

758. At all events the bonds were taken up at par and all the rest were paid in
cash-that is what I want to get at ?-It is all paid for.

759. Upon what do you found your expectations of increased traffic developing ?-
As I said before, the Canadian Pacifie Railway at the time the bridge was commenced
or just after it was commenced, had a contract to build a short line, and they built two
sections of the short line, but they failed to complete the other section. The bridge
was built in the meantime, and they left the thing on our hands. We expected large
traffic.
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760. That explains the disappointment you underwent. Now, I ask you upon
what do you found your expectations of future increase ?-Well, the reason is that
there are other roads being built there. There is a road that will be commenced this
year probably, going into the coal fields there. There are about 40 miles of coal fields,
and the commencement of it is about 25 miles from the bridge. It runs over a large area.

761. And it is inevitable that this new line must use your bridge ?-Yes; it could
not be otherwise.

By Mr. Daly:

762. I read to you a few minutes ago, out of your minute book, the record of an
expenditure of $5,766, an expenditure incurred in making that connection in 1892 with
the Canadian Pacific Railway; where did that come from?-Out of our own pockets.

763. Is there a floating debt ?-Yes; of S19,000.
764. And that money came out of the pockets of Mr. Gibson and the shareholders?

-Yes.

By Mfr. Taylor:

765. And the government has security on the whole thing ?-Yes ; on the bridge
and on the road. There is a mile and a half, or a mile and a quarter, of an approach on
the western side that connects with the Canadian Pacific Railway. There are a great
many people who do not understand this matter. They speak about the bridge, and
think it êost a great amount of money. The bridge onily cost about half the expense,
and we have had to pay the other ourselves.

By Mfr. Daly :

766. The approaches ?-The approaches and the land damages, and the building of
this road to connect with other roads on the western side, with the United States road
and the Canadian Pacific Railway.

Mr. Temple was relieved from further attendance.

The Committee adjourned.
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Sault Ste. Marie Canal Inquiry.

REPORT.

The Select Standing Committee on Public Accounts heg leave to present the fol-
lowing as their Fourth Report:

Your Committee have had under consideration certain paynents made to Hugh

Ryan & Co., for work done on the Sault Ste. Marie Canal, as set out on pages 2, 11, 1 2,
43, 44, 45 and 46 of the Auditor General's Report gn Appropriation Accounts for the

fiscal year ended 30th June, 1894, and in connection therewith have examined

witnesses under oath, and for the information of the House, report annexed hereto the

evidence given by such witnesses, and the exhibits filed during said examiniation ; and

the Committee recommend that the said evidence and exlibits, with the exception of

exhibits Nos. 5, 6, ' and 8, be printed.

All which is respectfully submitted.

GEO. 13. BAKER,
COMMITTEE RooM, Chainnau.

Thursday, 11th July, 1895.
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Sault Ste, Marie Canal Inquiry.

MINUTES OF EVIDENCE

COMMITTEE RooM No. 49,
HOUSE OF COMMONS, 17th May, 1895.

The Select Standing Committee on Public Accounts met at 10.30 a.m., Mr. Baker
in the chair.

Mr. COLLINGWOOD SCHREIBER called, sworn and examined.

By Mr. Davies:

1. You are the Deputy Minister and Chief Engineer of Railways and Canals, Mr.
Schreiber ?-Yes.

2. You are summoned here to produce the tenders in the Sault Ste. Marie Canal
contract ?-They are all here.

3. Will you produce them, then 7-Here they are.
(Witness then produced two volumes of documents marked " Sault Ste. Marie

Canal, volume 1," and " Sault Ste. Marie Canal, volume 2 ".)
4. You have returned the specifications, have you, Mr. Schreiber ?-Yes, the speci-

fications and the contract.
5. Have you the estimates with you ?-No; the Auditor General has them.
6. Have you a copy of the tenders yourself ?-No, but there is a copy of all the

estimates in our department in the Accountant's office.
7. Will you look them up, Mr. Schreiber, please ?-The Auditor General will have

them.
(At this point the Auditor General put in a file of papers marked " Sault Ste Marie

Canal, Hugh Ryan & Co. Estimaites froin Auditor General's Office."
8. Are these the papers ? I want to see that they are here ?-I suppose they are

the estimates, the Auditor General undertook to send.
9. Will you open them and seethatthey are there?--These are the last estimates, yes.

10. What other estimates were there than those?-The estimates from the com-
mencement of the work.

11. That is what I wanted. Have you those 7-I have not them here.
12. Are they in your department ?-They are with the accountant.
13. Will you have them produced and sent here ?-Yes.
Mr. HAGGART-Send for them now.
The AUDITOR GENERAL-These estimates include everything up to that time.

By M1r. Davies:

14. But there are o'her estimates 7-Part of those are monthly progress estimates,
but the whole of them are embodied in that. Each month embodies all the work done
previous to that.

15. These will show all the estimates ?-They will show what is covered by all the
estimates.

16. The contract is there 7-The contract is there.
17. Were there any changes made in that contract ?-There were changes made in

the plans.
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18. I want you i be accurate, please, and tell me what the changes were that were
made in the plans. - id they form part of the contract 1-They did.

19. Then if chanh -s were made in the plans changes were made in the contract ?-
Certainly.

20. Will you kini ly detail to the committee the changes made in the contract ?-
The original plans sho v a lock 600 teet long by 85 feet wide, and my recollection is 16
feet 3 inches of water on the mitre silL.

21. Yes 7-These were changed subsequently to 650 feet long, 100 feet wide, and
again there was a further change.

22. Was there any change in the depth the first time ?-I do not think so.
23. Be sure, please, I want you to be accurate. I do not want any trouble about it

afterwards 7-I do not think there was any change.
24. Can you inform yourself accurately by looking up the papers 7-Yes.
25. Do so, please, and the date of the changes ?-They are all in the orders in

council. I do not think there was any change, so far as J remember. (After examin-
ing the papers.) Yes, I think it was 19 feet it was changed to at that time.

26. Are you sure ?-No, I am niot.
27. But you say the orders in council will show that clearly ?-The orders in

council show clearly what the changes were in each case.
28. We will keep to the first change, please. Can you give me the date of that first

change 7-I think it was October, 1891. (After examining the papers.) It was the
23rd December, 1891.

29. That is the first change 7-Yes.
30. Now, was there any other change made afterwards 7-Yes.
31. If so, what was it ?-The lock was changed f rom those dimensions I bave given.
32. From 650 feet long -To 900 feet in length by 60 feet in width by 20 feet 3

inches on the mitre sill.
33. Now, what date was that 7-That was in 1892.
34. What time in 1892?-The order in council shows the exact date.
35. Well, you need not wait to look that up. Now, did you make estimates of the

probable cost of this work for the Minister before the tenders were called for ?-No, but
I see by the correspondence that the then chief engineer did make statements.

36. Estimates were made by the chief engineer for the time being ?-Yes.
37. Have you got those ?-They are here.
38. Do they agree with the work done ? Do you know ?-In what respect ?
39. In any respect 7-Do you mean as to prices ?
40. Yes.-The prices are different to those in the schedule.
41. Can you detail the differences ?-It is all shown there.
42. J know I could work it out for myself, but saurely your skilled knowledge

should be a help to us. In a very few moments you should be able to tell me. (Witness
then proceeded to examine the papers).

43. If it is going to take any time I will not keep the oommittee waiting ?-I will
tell you in one moment.

44. I will get Mr. Gibson to work that out. He wil understand the estimate ?-
The masonry in the lock walls on the original estimates was $11 a yard. The ad-
ditional masonry, not the quantity that would have been in the original masonry, but
the additional masonry.

45. Caused by what ?-Caused by the change-would be $16 a yard.
46. Yes.-Then again in the third change the additional masonry.
47. Excuse me, there are only two changes given by you.-There was the 650 feet

estimate, $11, which I told you was the original. The $16 was the additional quantity
of masonry under the first change; then under the second change of 900 feet, the ad-
ditional masonry was $12.60.

By 1fr. Haggart:

48. Are those the estimates or the actual prices ?-Those are the actual prices given
under the engineer's recommendation.
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49. You were asked for the estimate ?-That is the same as the engineer's estimate.
50. The prices are the same ?-Just the same in the report of the chief engineer.

By Mr. Davies:

51. The estimate made by the chief engineer agrees with the cost of the work
generally. Do I understand you to say that ?-These are the terms, or rather the
estimate of the then chief engineer upon which an arrangement was made with the con-
tractor to make these changes.

52. At the time the changes were made ?-At the time the changes were made.
53. At the time the changes were made, was any arrangement reduced to writing?

-Oh, yes.
54. And a new contract made each time ?-An agreement made each time.
55. And that agreement is there and specifies the price to be paid ?-It does.
56. So that anybody reading this agreement which was made at the time will see

exactly what the contractor was to get ?-Exactly.
57. Is the contract finally completed ?-It is not quite, almost.
58. I want you to give me an idea, as accurately as you can, in what respects that

contract is not completed ?-Where the earth during the winter settled, to fill in all
those places, and levelling up.

59. It is only a mere matter of levelling up ?-Small things to be done, very small.
60. About how much of it is practically completed ?-It is practically completed.
61. How much would require to be done ?-That is the look contract. Ttiere are

two contracts we have. There is the lock contract and there is the lower entrance.
The lower entrance is dredging and crib-work.

62. We will keep to the lock contrast, if you please, for a moment. Is the lock
contract finally completed ?-It is practically completed.

63-4. How much more will it take to complete it?
Ion. Mn. HAGGART-YOU made an estimate, Mr. Schreiber, and you have it in

the estimate.
MR. DAVIEs-Can you give an approximation within a few dollars?
WITNEss-Well, I don't remember what I have given in the estimates to the House.

There are other things besides Ryan's work, you know, and I cannot remember what
the details of it were, but I can get it for you.

65-6. Other things not in the contract ?-Other things not in the contract, not be-
longing to that contract.

67. Which will require to be done before the work is said to be completed ?-Be-
fore the whole work

68. Keep to the lock ?-Well, I say the lock is practically completed. There is
very little to be done.

69. If you say very little it may mean one dollar or ten thousand, I cannot tell?-
It may be ten thousand. I don't remember. I don't think it will be more than that.

70. You say it is a matter of ten thousand dollars before the lock is completed.
Ten thousand dollars will require to be expended, for what class of work ?-Levelling
the ground chiefly.

71. Levelling the ground chiefly ?-I think so.
72. Now, then, there was another contract for deepening the entrance ?-That was

excavating the lower entrance.
73. Deepening the entrance ?-Deepening the entrance and building cribwork along

the side of the piers.
74. Now, is that contract completed ?-It is completed with the exception of about

500 feet of cribbing, I think.
75. How much ? In the neighbourhood of what ?-I think about 500 feet.
76. In the neighbourhood of what cost ?-I really don't remember what it was now,

but I can give you those particulars.
77. Now,about 500 feet of cribbing you estimate to cost, about what ?-I really for-

get what it was, but I can give you the figures.
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78. I don't want the figures within a dollar or so; I want an approximation.-I
don't remember just now.

79. Because I do not know what five hundred feet of cribbing would cost.-I
would rather give you the figures.

80. When will you give me the figures ?-To-day.
81. This morning, so that it will go in as part of your evidence ?-Yes.
82. Then, with those two exceptions-500 feet of cribbing and possibly ten thous-

and dollars to level up around the lock-that contract is completed ?-Practically com-
pleted. There is a little rock to come out of the mouth, which is just about finished.

83. Have you got a statement of the amount paid and when paid ?-The account-
ant has.

84. Have you got it ?-I have not it.
85. When you get the other estimate here of what it will cost to finish that crib-

bing, will you also bring a statement of the amount paid and when paid ?-Yes.
86. That is, this morning ; I mean so that we will get this thing over ?-Yes.
87. Was the contractor to receive any bonus?-He was.
88. What bonus was he to receive ?-$90,000.
89. Has he received it ?-I think he has.
90. When ?-As the work progressed, I think.
Hon. Mr. HAGGART-It is provided in the order in council.
WITNESS. He has received it according to whatever the agreement is ; he has re-

ceived it all now.

By Mr. Davies:

91. Then, I will ask you if you will kindly bring me that estimate of the cribbing
work and also a statement of the amount paid and when paid i I understand from the
Minister the orders in council are all brought down ?-They are.

By Mr. McMullen:

92. Did the original schedule of prices regulate the additional work done under the
new orders in council ?-All the work done up to the quantities of the original plan,
they regulated it. But the new prices for extra work were not regulated by those.

93. Not regulated by the original contract ?-Not regulated by the original con-
tract.

By Mr. Davies:

94. Did the original contract contain a schedule regulating them ?-It did, yes.
95. At the time it was entered into ?-In each case, yes. It is given there (point-

ing to documents in front of him).

By Mr. Haggart:

96. The engineer's reports by which these changes were made, have you brought
them all down ?-They are all there.

97. Who was engineer at the time, or who was Minister 7-In 1891 Mr. Bowell
was acting, I think, when this was done.

By Mr. Davies:

98. When this was done ?-When the first change was made.

By Mr. Haggart:

99. Who was the engineer 7-I think it was Mr. Trudeau.
100. Who was Minister at the last change 7-The last change, Mr. Haggart.
101. Who was the engineer in chief ?-Mr. Trudeau.
102. Did you get his recommendation 7-Yes.
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By Mr. McMullen :

103. With regard to the levelling you say has yet to be done, Mr. Schreiber, is
there any schedule of prices regulating the prices to be paid for that ?-Yes.

By Mr. Davies:

104. Has any claim been preferred for extras ?-No, none yet.
105. Do you know of any claim? Have you been spoken to with respect to any

claim for extras ?-They said they intend to put in a claim, but I don't know
what it is.

106. Have they told you what the extras were for ?-No, they have not.
107. Have they told you the amount i-No, they have not.
10ý. Have you any report from sub-engineers or anything ?-No, I have not.
109. Calling your attention to any extra work ?-No.
110. Did the department authorize any extra work ?-I think not.
111. Don't think ; I want you to know. Did the department authorize any extra

work ?-I don't know of any.
112. So that if any extra work was done it was done without any authority of the

department ?-Without any authority of the department.
113. As far as you know? Is there anybody else who could give authority with-

out your knowlege ?-Yes.
114. Who is that ?-Mr. Trudeau and Mr. Page.
115. And neither of them is to the fore now ?-No.
116. Would they give authority without giving it in writing -- I think I might

say yes.

By Mr. MIcMullen:

117. Without reporting immediately to the department ?-I think so.

By Mr. Haggart :

118. You would know by estimates, Mr. Schreiber, whether they ever did it or not ?
-There is nothing in the estimates to show.

By Mr. Davies :

119. Do I understand you to say you gather that the practice of the department
has been for the chief engineer, or so and so, to authorize extra work to be done without
making any record ?-Mr. Page used to.

By Mr. MeMullen:

120. And not supposed to report ? Would he not be supposed to report when he
did so immediately to the department ?-Well, he did not, no.

Mr. HAGGART.-The reports of the engineer upon which these changes were made
are here and the dates as well. You can consider them just as put in.

By fr. Davies:

121. Are they amongst the papers produced ?-They are amongst these papers.

By -M r. McMullen:

122. What amount of work has been done to complete the canal that is not regu-
lated by the schedule of prices in the original contract ?-I don't understand you. What
amount of work has to be done ?

123. What amount is to be doue, or has been done that has not been so far as
prices are concerned regulated by the original schedule of prices ?-I could not tell you.
The estimate will show you, that document there.

7
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124. Will you kindly turn up and see the amount of work that is not regulated by
the original schedule of prices in connection with the contract ?-There is one estimate,
$18,296. Anther $228,953. Thën thëre is $90,000.

By Mr. Foster:

125. Is that the bonus ?-Yes.
126. What was the bonus for 7-It was for having the lock built by a certain date.
127. Before the contract time ?-Yes.

By Mr. JMcMullen:

128. Was it finished then ?-My recollection is that it was.

By Mr. Davies :

129. Was it finished before that time ?-About that time.
130. About what time?-st July, 1894.
131. When did the contract call for ?-They extended the time under one of the

agreements from 3ist December, 1893, to 31st December, 1894, but these documents
will show exactly.

132. Then they did not finish it before the contract date ?-They finished the lock
itself in July, 1894.

133. Was the bonus to be paid for the finishing of the lock ?-It was for the whole
of the work that is there described.

134. How long before the contract date were they to finish it in order to get that
bonus ?-My recollection is that it was 31st December, 1894.

135. When what ?-The lock was to be finished.
136. If the lock was to have been finished on the 31st December, 1894, they were

paid a bonus to finish it, how much sooner ?-31st July, 1894.
137. A bonus of $90,000 ?-I am not sure.

By Mr. Haggart :

138. Now, be correct. Why do not you refer to the order in council ?-I have it
here, and I have the date when the lock is to be built.

By Mr. Davies :

139. Give us that to start with ?-$90,000 to build the lock by July 14th.
140. You have already stated that the original contract called for December, 1894.

Have you got that document ?-I have the document before me, but I am not looking
at it now.

141. Well, let us get that to start with ; let us get one thing at a time.-I am
trying to get it. (Examining the papers.)

142. Do you know if the original contract provided for the completion of the lock
by 1893 or 1894 ?-1893, I think it was.

143. The original contract was for 1893 ?-I think Eo.
144. And the correction was for 1894 ?-Yes.
145. And the bonus was given for 1894 I-Yes.
146. Are those the correct dates ?-I think so.
147. And the bonus was paid at the time specified i-I think so.
148. Where will I find the time when the bonus was paid ?-The estimates will

show it.
149. In the estimates ?-Yes.
150. So that the order in council, extending the contract, extended it six months

beyond the time you gave a bonus to complete it ?-Yes.
151. Is that a correct statement, Mr. Schreiber ?-Here it is, the 14th October,

1892. It states here that the construction of the lock walls is to be completed by 31st
December, 1893. That was under the original contract.

8
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By Mr. Haggart:

152. That is the look wall. He wants to know when the lock was completed-
wooden culverts and everything ?-31st July, 1894. It is the lock wall.

Mr. HAGGART-No; it is the whole lock. LooK at the documents.
Mr. DAVIES-If Mr. Schreiber is to bring these two statements, I consider he

should take time to look for these things. We want three things: the date when that
original contract was to be completed, the date when the bonus was proposed to be paid
to them. upon its completion within a shorter time, the date of that shorter time, the date
to which the contract was extended, and the time when it was extended.

Mr. OUIMET-It might be well to add the date of the different changes, and the
extent of the changes made in the contract.

The WITNESS-YoU will want the whole letters before you to do that.

By Mr. Davies :

153. Have you got the original contract ?-The original contract is here.
154. On what date did the original contract call for the completion of that lock-

On or before the 10th day of May, 1892.
155. That was the original contract for the construction of the lock ?-That was

the original contract for the construction of the lock.

By Mr. Oninet :

156. Is that the date of the contract or the date when it was to be completed ?-
This is the date of the contract, the 20th November, 1888.

By Mr. Davies :

157. Was that all ?-It was.
158. Then the next I-On the 5th April.
159. That is the date of the document you have got, is it I-Yes, 5th April, 1892

Yes, the lock wall was completed I see on the lst December, 1893, that was it.
160. So you were right in your first statement 1-I was right, yes.
161. Now, will you give us some data we can rely upon exactly ?-Well, hy the

agreement of the 8th November, 1892, I see the contractors undertook to build the
lock masonry by the lst December, 1893.

162. Well, now, by that particular agreement dated 8th November, 1892, the lock
was to be completed by the 1st December, 1893. Very well.

Hon. Mr. HAGGART-That is the lock masonry.

By Mr. Davies:

163. Is that the original contract ?-No.
164. Well, there was a contract previous to that by which the lock was to be com--

pleted at an earlier date. Is that correct ?-The whole thing was to be completed in
1892, that is 31st December, 1892.

165. Then the agreement of the 8th November, 1892, was for an extension ?-To
1893.

166. The agreement dated 8th November, 1892, for the work to be completed by
the 1st December, 1893, was an extension ?-That was an extension of time.

167. Was there any further extension ?-I don't think so.
168. Now then, when was the lock completed ?-The lock masonry, not the lock.
169. But by the agreement tLe lock was to be completed. Will you read what the

agreement says ?-" And whereas in reply the said Hugh Ryan & Co. stated on the
30th September, 1892 (file No. 141562) that if concrete were substituted for masonry
in the backing of the lock chamber walls, and the order to proceed given at once, they
would undertake to build the lock masonry by the lst December, 1893, for the ad-
ditional sum of ninety thousand dollars ($90,000).

9
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170. The lock masonry was then to be completed by the lst December, 1893 1-
Yes, the lock masonry.

171. When was it completed ?-It was completed by that time. The estimates
will show it, I think when you get them.

172. It was completed by that time ?-Yes. Oh, the estimate was right.
173. Can you refer to the estimate to make your recollection sure ?-Yes, the esti-

mate is before you.
174. Then there they are (handing documents to witness).-Those do not give it.
175. I thvught you said all the estimates were there ?-That covers all the work

done by all the estimates.
176. What is missing that you want to refer to?-Each month's work ; the esti-

mates for each month. That embraces all the work.
177. When you come back you will bring that document with you ?-Yes.
178. Was that the time the bonus was agreed to be given, 8th November, 1892?

Does that contract provide for the giving of the bonus ?-It does.

By Mr. Haggart:

179. I will ask Mr. Schrieber when he comes back again to have just a memo. so
that he can state quickly why it was the contract was extended from 1892 to 1893 ;
if they had to finish the contract in 1892; why a bonus was given for its completion
in 1893 and what were the reasons ?-These documents will show it. It was the
Americans who put a toll on all vessels passing through the American canal, and which
was affecting the trade; and I think you will find it from correspondence here upon
that subject in which I think some boards of trade urged.

180. But this is the point Mr. Davies is at. Under the original contract the lock
walls were to be finished in 1892. Ninety thousand dollars were given for the com-
pletion and finishing of them in 1893. Why was it that this sum was given for the
performance of work that was to be done in 1892? Give us the reasons and the docu
ments and have them here at the next meeting. They are all in writing.

By Mr. Davies :

181. Can you do that before the committee adjourns this morning I-I will give
all I can before the committee adjourns, but if you require these here I cannot do it.

182. Then give me what I asked for before ? You have a memorandum?-Yes.
183. You will bring them over in a short time to resume your examination ?-Yes.

The committee adjourned.
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COMMITTEE RooM, No. 49,
HOUSE OF COMMONS, 21st May, 1895.

Committee met.

MR. SCHREIBER, Deputy Minister of Railways and Canals, recalled, produced two
of the statements asked for at the last meeting of the committee, which were marked
Exhibits Nos. 1 and 2.

By Mr. Davies:

184. Have you got the information I asked for ? I gave you three items of in-
formation I wanted at the last meeting ?-One was the value of cribbing to be done by
Ryan & Co., $27,000.

185. Was what ?-The value of crib-work yet to be done on section No. I at the
lower entrance.

186. The value of crib-work yet to be built at the deepening of the entrance, is how
much ?-$27,000.

187. This is the estimate made by whom 1-The estimate made by myself as well
as by others.

188. I want to know did you make the estimate? Is it your estiniate or some-
body else's estimate ? Is it the residential engineer's estimate or your own, or whose is
it ?-No, it is my officer's, the chief draughtsman's, Mr. Spence's.

189. That is Mr. Spence's estimate. He is the draughtsman in your office, is he ?-
No, he is in charge of the draughting work.

190. Is he an engineer ?-Yes.
191. Then Spence's estimate is $27,000 ?-$27,000.
192. That is for the crib-work at the entrance yet to be done ?-Yes.
193. Did you test that estimate in detail so as to be able to endorse it or not ?-

I did not go into figuring on the contract prices.
194. You did not test it, you do not endorse it, you cannot endorse it; it is just

Mr. Spence's estimate. I just want to see where it goes ? Now, then, there was some-
thing else, you had the deepening of the entrance, had you not 1-The deepening of the
entrance is just about completed now.

195. Well, you were to give me some figures in reference to that. You said you
were unable to do it the other day 7-I am unable to do it now. I cannot give it.

196. Do you know how much it will take to complete ?-We will have to sweep
the whole channel to find out what rocks are remaining in the channel.

197. Had you any reports in vour department which you might have examined, or
you ought to have examined, which will enable you to form an approximate estimate ?-
I think probably two or three thousand dollars.

198. Have you any reports in your department as to the condition of that entrance
which will enable you to form an approximate estimate ?-I have nothing f urther than
the report from my engineer up there saying that excepting these rocks that may be
scattered about, the channel will be completed about this time.

By Mr. Gibson :

199. Loose boulders ?-Yes.

By Mr. Davies :

200. It will cost you how much ?-Two or three thousand dollars.
201. So that the resident engineer reports to you that it will cost two or three

thousand dollars more ?-What he reported was with the exception of any loose bould-
11
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ers there might be through the channel-this channel is half a mile or three quarters
long-any loose boulders left in, it will be completed about now.

By Mr. Gibson :

202. It is done to-grade, is it ?-All done to grade.
203. Well, then, he estimates that the picking up of the loose boulders will in all

likelihood cost between two and three thousand dollars.
Mr. HAGGAT-Mr. Schreiber does that.
The WITNESS-It won't cost that.

By Mr. Davies :

204. Is there anything more, sir ?-I don't think so.
205. Was there not another statement you were to give me to-day ?-I think the

payments you asked for (producing papers.)
206. Yes. This is the lock, is it ?-Section 2 is on -,he lock.
207. These are the dates and the amounts and the payments made up to date 1-

Up to 30th June.
208. We will put these in evidence then. Now give us the date when that original

contract was completed ?--There was two contracts. Contract No. 1, chat was dated
30th January, 1889, and it was to be completed on 101h April, 1891.

208f. That is the first one ?-That was the first one. It was extended to the 10th
April, 1892, when a change was made abolishing the

209. When was it extended, what time ?-About November, 1891.
210. Extended November, 1891 ?--About that time.
211. To the 10th April, 1892 ?-That was at the time the beacon was abolished,

and 390 feet of crib was extended 390 feet in lieu thereof at the contract prices.
212. The beacon was abolished and the crib-work extended 390 feet ?-Yes.
Mr. HAGGART, (to witness)-Are you sure about that ?-(To Mr. Davies). le was

not in the department, you know, and is only reading f rom the documents.
Mr. DAVIEs-I know, that is why I want to get possession of the facts.
WITNEsS-Supposing I read that.
213. What are you reading ?-I am reading a memorandum I have taken from the

papers.
214. Prepared by yourself ?-Prepared by myself.
215. Read it please ?-Will I read it f rom the beginning.
Mr. HAGGART-Comence at the first, about the contract.
Mr. SCHREIBER then read the following statement :-

" On the 30th March, 1889, a contract was entered into with Messrs. Hugh Ryan
& Co. for the forming of channel ways and constructing of beacons and piers at the
lower entrance of the canal, the work to be completed by the 20th of May, 1891,
excepting 60 lineal feet of the channel and pier works at the upper end of the section,
which was to be completed by the 10th of April, 1892.

" On the 24th of November. 1891, the Chief Engineer recommended that the bea-
con which was to cost $13,000, should be done away with and that the north pier be
extended a further distance of 390 feet, the cost of which he estimated at the contract
price to be $20,000, and that the amount of the cost of the beacon be transferred to the
lengthening of the pier at the contract rates.

" On the 2nd of May, 1892, an order in council was passed approving of the change
and on the 18th of May, 1892, an agreement was entered into with the contractors for
the changed work, the time for completion being stipulated as the lst of December
1892. This change entailed an additional expense of about $7,000."

By Mr. Davies:

216. When was the bonus proposed to be paid ?-That is on that section ?
217. That is No. 1 section ?-That is No. 1 section.

12
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218. You have a similar memorandum with reference to section No. 2 ?-Yes.
Mr. DAVIEs-'-Go on, then.
Wituess then continued reading as follows

" Section No. 2.

" On the 20th November, 1888, a contract was entered into with Messrs, Hugh
Ryan & Co., for the construction of a lift lock and prism, the lock to be 600 feet in
length, 85 feet in width, with 16 feet, 3 inches of water on the mitre sill, the vork was
to be completed by the 10th May, 1892.

" In the latter part of 1890, and the early part of 1891, the Toronto Board of Trade,
and others engaged in the shipping interests urged the great importance of the size of
the lock being increased. Mr. Walter Shanly was called in to consult with the chief
engineer, and report on the subject, which he did and finally the chief engineer on the
14th May, 1891, reported favouring the enlarging of the lock to 650 feet in
length, 100 feet in width, with 19 feet of water on the mitre sill, and on the 21st
May, 1891, an order in council was passed adopting his report. Negotiations were
then opened with the contractors and an understanding was reached as to the condi-
tions on which the contractors would carry out the change.

" The chief engineer .recommended the adoption of the conditions and on the 14th
June, 1891, an order in council was passed approving the arrangement and on the 13th
June, 1891, an agreement was entered into with the contractors for the execution of
the additional works caused by this (the first) change in the plan of the lock.

"The time for completion was extended to 10th May, 1893. The change involved
the execution of the following additional work which at the prices named in the agree-
ment, amounts up to the following figures taken from the progress estimate for the
month of August, 1894:-

" ADDITIONAL WORK.

Rock from sides cf lock pit 9,187 c.yds at $1.50 ....... $ 13,790.50
do bottom of lock

pit and 50 feet above
and below lock pit....... 14,622 do 1.75.......2,588.50

Rock from filling and em-
ptying culverts. . . . . . . .. ,13,343 do 1.75.......23,350.25

Loose rock, boulders and
other material .......... 3,230 do 1.50.......3,230.00

Lock masonry ........... 5,591 do 16.00.......89,296.00
Puddle ................. nil. do 1.25 ...... nil.
Unwatering . ....................... lump sum ...... 35,000.00

Total additional cost by reason of first change of plan.. 190,245.25

"Towards the close of 1991, several transit companies addressed the minister urging
the necessity for a further enlargement, or change in the dimensions, and the matter
was brought up in Parliament when a promise was made that the subject should receive
most careful and full consideration, which resulted in the chief engineer being called
upon to investigate the matter and report his views. Accordingly on the 17th Decem-
ber, 1891, he presented six different plans, suggesting that he should be at an early
dte instructed to obtain from the contractors a price at which they would be willing to
undertake the additional work involved by the change.

" On the 22nd December, 1891, the chief engineer asked the contractors upon what
terms they were prepared to undertake the execution of this additional work involved
in the inciease of the lock to 900 feet in length, 60 feet in width, with 19 feet of water
on the mitre sill. On the 23rd December, 1891, an order in council was passed
appi oving of the change, provided reasonable terms and conditions could be made with
the contractors. Negotiations were opened with the contractors, and Mr. Walter
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Shanly was asked to assist in arranging reasonable conditions. On the lst of February,
1892, he submitted his views, and on the 29th March, 1892, the chief engineer, concur-
ring in Mr. Shanly's views, reported the terms and conditions, and, on the 1st April,
1892, and order in council was passed adopting the terms and conditions and giving
authority for the issue of an order to the contractors to proceed with the work. On
the 5th April, 1892, the chief engineer issued the necessary authority to the contractors
to proceed with the work upon the terms and conditions agreed upon for the change of
the dimensions of the lock to 900 feet long, 60 feet wide, with 20 feet 3 inches of water
on the mitre sill. The time for completion was extended to 31st December, 1894.

" The additional cost entailed by this change of the plan of the lock at the prices
established as taken from the progress estimate for the month of August, 1894, is:-

"ADDITIONAL WORK.

1. Earth excavation in lock pit. 425 c. yds. at $0.60. . $ 255.00
2. Rock do do .24,270 do 1.40 ...... 33,978.00
3. Ditto in culvert trenches,. . . 8,924 do 1.50 ...... 13,386.00
4. Concrete in foundations .... 17,808 do 8.30 ..... .147,806.40
5. Lock masonry ............. 18,155 do 12.60 ...... 228,753.00
6. Timberin mitre sills andfilling, 1,687 M. ft. B.M., 2.00 ...... 3,374.00
7. Plank in platforms ....... 401,391 do 45.00 ...... 18,062.59
8. Iron bolts in sills and plat-

forms ................ 449,997 lbs. at 0.08 ...... 35,999.76
9. Pressed spike ........... 106,694 do 0.05 ..... 5,334.70

10. Unwatering and contingencies, lump sum............... 15,000.00

" NEW WORKS.

11. Filling behind lock walls . . .44,719 c. yds. at $0.75 ..... $ 33,539.25
12. Timber in culverts and mitre

silis ................ 1..125,033 c. feet at 0.50 ...... 62,516.50
13. Piank in culverts and mitre

sills (See No. 7).......... .M.ft.B.M. at 45.00...... Nil.
14. Iron bolts in culverts and

mitre sills (See No. 8).............. .bs at 0.08 ...... Nil.
15. Pressed spike in culverts and

mitre sills (See No. 9.).............. do 0.05....... Nil.

Total additional cost attributable to second
change of plan.. .......... ............ $498,004.80

By 3fr. Haggart:

219. In the former works the culverts are not included at all ?-The culverts were
not in the original contract with Ryan & Co. It was at first intended that the culverts
should be of iron. Then when the changes were made it was determnined to make them
the same as on the American side in wood. When I say additional cost it is not
entirely additional cost because the wooden ones are substituted for iron.

The committee adjourned.
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CommiTTEE Room, No. 49,
HOUSE OF COMMONS, 7th June, 1895.

The Committee met.

Mr. COLLINGWOOD SCHREIBER, Deputy Minister and Chief Engineer of the Depart-
ment of Railways and Canals, re-called and further examined.

By the Chairman:

220. You have been sworn already, Mr. Schreiber -- Yes.

By Mr. Lister;

221. Mr. Schrieber, what was the contract let to Hugh Ryan & Co.? What was
the amount of it and what was the work done ?--The first contract ?

222. The first contract ?-The first contract was the lower entrance to the canal
-deepening the channel at the lower entrance and the piers.

223. No, that was not the first, that was the subsequent contract. The lock was the
first, was it not J-No, it was not. (After examining the papers.) The first contract
was the lower entrance, let on the 30th January, 1889.

224. That was the lower entrance. How much was that contract I Have you
the contract here J-Yes, it is a schedule contract, it is in the room here somewhere.

225. You can get it, I suppose ?-Yes.
The CHAIRMAN-It is before the committee.

By Mr. Lister :

226. Very well, as a fact tell us how much the contract was let to Mr. Ryan for ?
-It is a schedule contract at schedule rates.

227. Well you figured them all out, I suppose ?-It will amount to about
$421,000.

228. Turn up your figuring. I want to know just what it amounted to. How
many tenders were put in for the lower entrance ?-A. I really could not tell you. I
was not connected with the canal at that tirne.

229. But you would know by looking J-I would by looking, yes.
230. Then you do not know how many tenders were put in ?-I do not know.
231. Have you ta' en the trouble to look ?-I have seen them a number of time.
232. Have you seen them lately ?-Yes, in that book. I think I handled them

the other day. I did not look at them specially. I fancy they are there (pointing to
Exhibit 1).

233. Well you may as well look, you are familiar w ith the papers ?--Here it is, but
it bas not the names. It is moneyed out.

234. No, the names are not there. You can identify the tender with the column,
and there is a report to council and an order in council ?-Here are the tenders for the
lower entrance.

235. Well now what are they ?-(Reading from Exhibit 1) Ryan, Ryan &
Haney, $299,313 ; Murphy &McGreevy, 8322,027 ; Allan & Fleming, S329,842 : Sutton
et al, $330,474; Fraser & Poupore, S368,422; Peter Whalen, $373,560; Edward
Dtwson, *375,496; John Nicholson, $377,200; Raynor, 8390,438 ; George Goodwin,
8411,902 ; Macdonald & Aylmer, 8461,867 ; Gilbert & Hutchinson, 8500,291 ; Larkin &
Connolly, $523,509; McNamee, 8705,295.

236. Those are the tenders for the lower entrance, Mr. Schreiber J-They are, yes.
237. Now look at the tenders for the upper entrance as moneyed out ?-This has

not the names added. There is one, $348,821; $508,085; 8529,676; 8405,131; 8529,904 ;
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$467,209 ; $325,926 ; $807,884 ; $841,282 ; $231,049 ; $477,173 ; $1,150,842 ; $545,-
288; $529,534.

238. Well now, if you look at the engineer's report you will see a summary of the
tenders ?-Whose report is that?

239. I think it is Mr. Page's report to the Minister ?-Oh, yes.

By Sir Charles Hibbert Tupper :

240. Were these tenders received in Mr. Page's time ?-Yes. Here it is signed
"John Page."

By Mr. Lister:

241. Now, then, read from that, please ?-Do you want the whole thing read or
just the figures ?

242. No, you need not read the whole report ?-For the lower section, A, Hugh
Ryan, b299,313; B, $322,027.

243. What is that ?-That is Murphy's. G, $329,842. These appear to be the
lowest tenders.

244. Allan & Fleming, $329,842 ?-$329,842, yes.
245. These are the lowest tenders ?-They are. Upper entrance, John Nicholson,

$231,049 ; William A. Allan and S. H. Fleming, $325,926 ; Hugh Ryan, John Ryan
and M. J. Haney, $348,821.

By Mlr. Haggart:

246. What is Mr. Page's recommendation? Have you it there ?-He says: " It
will be seen that the lowest tender for the lower section is that -marked ' A' from
Hugh Ryan & Co., $299,000. It is desirable that that firm should under the circum-
stances have this part of the work, inasmuch as they could arrange their operations so as
not to interfere in any with the delivery of materials for the lock, and other parts of
the works, all of which it is believed must be brought to the place by way of the
lower end of the lock sections. It may at once be stated that I am fully of opinion
that tender 'J'"

247. Whose tender is " J "?-John Nicholson's, I think. " I tmav at once be stated
that I am fully of opinion that tender " J," which is the lowest for the upper section,
should not be entertained, as the rate stated for the excavation or removal of the
material to form channel-way is very little more, if any, than about one-half of what
will be the cost of the work, a matter which of itself alone is believed to be the
strongest possible reason for the course above recommended. The tender next on the
list is "G," which although low, cannot be classed as unreasonable."

248. That is W. A. Atlan & Cà. ?-Yes. "Which although low, cannot be classed
as unreasonable. Still I fully believe that it would leave no margin for profit. The
lowest tender for the lower and upper sections combined is the objectionable one marked
' J', $608,249, above referred to, which cannot reasonably be considered. The next in
order is the tender marked ' A', $648,134, from Hugh Ryan & Co. I have the honour
to be, &c."

249. Well, now, Mr. Schreiber, who got the contract for the lower entrance ?-
Hugh Ryan & Co.

250. And who was awarded the contract for the upper entrance ?-Allan &
Fleming, I think they are the contractors.

251. Allan & Fleming ?-Yes.
252. Then the two entrances were awarded to different contractors ?-They were.
253. As a matter of fact Hugh Ryan & Co. were the lowest tenderers for the

lower section I--According to this, yes.
254. Their tender being $299,313 ?-Yes, that is it was a schedule contract moneyed

out at certain quantities, I suppose.
255. I suppose so. And Allan & Fleming were awarded the contract for the

upper section at $329,842?-$325,000.
16

A. 1895



Sault Ste. Marie Canal Inquiry.

256. No, $329,000 ?-That is the lower section.
257. That is the lower section? What is the amount for the upper section ?-

S325,926.
258. $325,926 ?-Now they were higher than John Nicholson & Co. ?-Apparently

so, yes.
259. The report which you have just read awards the contract to Allan & Co.,

because it was thought that the tender of John Nicholson was too low ?-So it is stated
in this report.

260. Is that the habit of the department to be sure that the man who tenders tor
a work must nake a profit out of it before they will award him a contract ?-The usual
practice has been to award it to the lowest.

261. So the practice of the department has been to award the contract to the
lowest tenderer, eh ?-Yes, I think so.

262. Why was that practice departed fron in this case ?-For the reasons stated
here, I suppose.

263. What are those reasons again, please ?-Because the Nicholson tender was
considered too low, apparently.

264. Then as a inatter of fact the department considers whether the contractor is
to make any profit out of the contract or not ?-I don't know. It is a question of carry-
ing it through, whether he is able to carry it through, not as to what profit lie will
make.

265. The question of carrying it through involves the question of whether he can
make a profit out of it or do it at the amount of teqder 7-Possibly so.

266. Well, would it not be so, Mr. Schreiber ?-No, I do not know that.
267. Well, then, tell me what you do know ? I am asking for an explanation of

the facts, why it is in some cases you award the contract to the lowest tenderer whilst
in other cases you pass over the lowest tenderer and award it to somebody who desires
the contract at a higher figure ?-Well, there are various reasons. This one especially
appears to be because Mr. Page reported that he did not consider the work could be
done for the money, I think.

268. Well, then, so far as that instance was concerned, the tender was refused
because in his judgment, the work could not be done for the money ?-No, that is what
he recommends, I don't know why.

269. Was it your custom ?-Well, I don't know that I have ever done that.
270. Have you always awarded to the lowest tenderer? -Not in all cases, I think.
271. Not in all cases ?-No.
272. Now, when you invited these tenders was it a condition of the advertisement

that the people offering should put up a certain amount of money as security for the
performance of the contract?-I think the practice-I know what it is now but I don't
know what it was with these tenders particularly-the practice has been that the
deposits should be made with the tender, which if the party whose tender was accepted
refused to enter into the contract, he would forfeit it.

273. He forfeited the amount put up ?-Yes.
274. What percentage of the contract would that be? Was the amount an abso-

lute arbitrary amount ?-Sometimes it is a lump sum ; other tinies, I think, there is 5
per cent when the contract is entered into.

275. It would be an arbitrary sum when the tender was put in ?-It is in many
cases, yes.

276. Did the advertisement in this case require that persons tendering to put up
a fixed sum ?-Well, that I really could not tell you.

277. Cannot you tell by the advertisement itself ?-Well, it is here (pointing to
papers in front of him). Did you see the advertisement in here ?

278. I did not notice it, Mr. Schreiber, but I have no doubt it is there -Well, 1
amn not sure.

279. Well, is it not always the practice ?-It is the usual practice to do so.
280. You can say, can you not, from your experience in the department that it is

always the practice to insist upon the deposit of a fixed sum as security that the con-
tract would be performed if awarded to the tenderer ?-Yes, I think so.
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281. So that so far as Nicholson is concerned, the rule that applied to all others
would be applicable to him ?-I assume so, yes.

282. So as a matter of fact, I suppose Mr. Nicholson put up this money ?-I pre-
sume so.

283. At all events it was not rejected because the deposit was not put up ?-I
don't know whether it was rejected, but J see the reason given by Mr. Page why he
recommends it should not be accepted-because he considers it too low.

284. The report says he considered the offer too low ?-Yes.
285. Now, then, tell me, suppose the contract had been awarded to Mr. Nicholson,

what amount of money would he have been required to put up as security for the per-
formance of the tender that he sent in ?-5 per cent.

286. That would be over $100,000? No, over $12,000 ?-Yes, about $12,000.
287. Do you know John Nicholson ?-I have seen him. I don't know him.
MR. NAGGART-Surely the order in council returning the money speaks for itself;

it must be there. That is all Mr. Schreiber knows about it.
MR. LISTER-It is there.

By Sir C. H. Tupper:

288. Read the order in council?--This appears to be the order in council: "On
a memorandum dated 13th December 1888, from the Minister of Railways and Canals
representing that tenders have been sought for the work of deepening and forming the
lower and the upper entrances to the Sault Ste. Marie canal, and 14 have been received
for it.

" The minister further represents that under date 12th December inst. the chief
engineer of government canals reported showing the prices of the several tenders ex-
tended to their bulk value on the approximate estimates of the work to be done furnish-
ing a list of such values.

" That the lowest tenders, according to this statement, are as follows: Lower section,
A, Ryan & Ryan & Haney, $299,313; upper section I, John Nicholson, $231,049.
That with regard to the lower section the chief engineer reports to the effect that
Messrs. Ryan & Co. who have the contract for the work should have this part of the
work, inasmuch as they could arrange their operations so as not to interfere with the
delivery of materials for the lock and other parts of the work, all of which must, it is
believed, be brought to the place by way of the lower end of the lock section.

"That with regard to the upper section, he states that he is of opinion that the
lowest tenderer, that of Mr. Nicholson, should not be entertained, as the rate given for
the excavation or removal of the material from the channel way is very little, if any,
more than about one-half of the cost of the work.

" That he considers the tender next on the list, marked ' G,' that, namely, of William
A. Allan and S. H. Fleming, $325,926, is one that cannot be classed as unreasonable.

" The Minister on the report of his chief engineer recommends that the contracts
for the work on the upper section be given to Messrs. Allan & Fleming in conformity
with their tender, that of Mr. Nicholson being passed over. The work for the lower
section being placed in the hands of Messrs. Ryan & Co., the lowest tenderers for the
same. The Committee submit the same for your Excellency's approval."

By Mr. Haggart :

289. Who is the minister ?-Mr. Pope.

By Mr. Lister:

290. So that John Nicholson was passed over, for the reason given in that report
to the minister ?-Yes.

291. And the result of that, Mr. Schreiber, was that there was a difference in the
cost to the country, so far as that portion of the work was concerned, of ninety-four
thousand and some odd hundred dollars; Nicholson's tender being $231,049 and Allan's
tender $325,926 I-That would be $68,000.
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292. $68,000 the difference between $325,925 and $231,049 ?-Yes.
Sir C. H. TUPPER.-That is hardly a fair question, and it cones f rom the mouth of

Mr. Lister.
Mr. LISTER.-I am simply asking.
Sir C. H. TUPPER.-We have lots of opinions as to whether the difference in the

contract was anything whatever.

By Mr. Lister :

293. Well then, put it in this way, as the Minister of Justice objects. If Joiih
Nicholson's tender had been accepted at $231,049, and he had done his work, what
would have been the difference-the cost to the country-between his tender and that
of Allan & Co.?

The CHAIRMAN.-It is simply a question of arithnetic.

By Mr. Lister:

294. $94,000 would be the difference, would it not ?-That is the difference in the
two tenders.

295. Did you know John Nicholson as a contractor ?-I have heard of him and I
have seen him, but I don't know him.

296. Had lie ever contracts with the Government ?-I think lie had, but I am not
sure.

297. You are not sure about that ?-I really do not know.
298. You have never taken the trouble to look it up ?-I had nothing to do with

him.
299. Had he any contracts with the Government since you held the office of Deputy

Minister ?-No.
300. Did you know, or is there anything in the department to show that John

Nicholson withdrew his tender ?-If there is it will be here, but I am not aware of it.
301. Is every paper, every bit of correspondence relating to this Sault Canal to be

found here ?-Everything in connection with the letting of these contracts is here as
far as I know.

302. Is all the correspondence there ?-In connection with the letting of the con-
tract.

303. Between Nicholson and the department ?-Yes, I think so.
304. You will say that ?-As far as I know.
305. Did you go over these papers yourself ?-I did.
306. Who selected them 1-I went over and ran through them to put them in order.
307. You went over them after they had been selected ?-Yes, after they had been

selected.
308. Who selected the papers and put them into the files 7-I put them into the

files chronologically as they are here.
309. You put them in the order th-y are now ?-Yes.
310. You undertake to say, Mr. Schreiber, all the papers in connection with the

Sault Canal are to be found there, in the other papers returned to this committee I-All
in connection with the letting as far as I know.

311. Did you find any letter or paper from John Nicholson withdrawing ?-I am
not aware of ever having seen such a thing, but if there is it would be here.

312. Do you know whether John Nicholson became a partner with W. A. Allan
& Co. in the contract they had entered into with the government at $325,926 ?-I do
not.

313. You do not know anything about that ?-Nothing whatever.
314. Do all of the members of the firm of W. A. Allan & Co., or any of them live

in Ottawa ?-Yes.
315. They are all here ?-Yes.
316. Now you told me that the contract for the lower entrance was the first con-

tract entered into by the government ?-Yes, I thought so.
19
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317. Are yc a positive about that ?-No, I am not positive; I will see.
318. I am told not ?-Perhaps you are right. (After examining the papers). No,

section No. 2 was the first let; on the 20th of Noveinber, 1888.
319. What contract was that ?-That was the lock.
320. That is what I thought.-Yes.
321. Then the lock was the first con tract entered into i-I think so, yes.
322. The lower and the upper entrances were entered into subsequently ?-Yes.
323. Were the contracts for the entrances entered into simultaneously ?-No, they

are not the same date.
324. Is there any considerable difference in the dates ?-No, there is no great

difference.
325. They are about the same time ?--Yes.
326. Who received the contract for the lock ?-The department. Oh, you mean

who was awarded the contract?
327. Yes ?-Hugh Ryan & Co.
328. Now, will you tell me how many tenders were received for the construction

of the lock ?-14.
329. How do those tenders read ?-George Go>dwin, $1,163,692; Conmee, Ray,

Dwyer & McTeigue, $1,225,990; Ryan, Ryan & Haney, $1,282,567 ; Neelon, Conmee &
Shields, $1,320,282.

330. Well, the contract was awarded to Rvan & Co. ?-Yes.
331. What was the highest tender ?-Parry, McDonald, McCallum & Lattimore,

$1,990,144.

By M1fr. Gibson:

332. What is that ?-$1,990,144.

By .1r. Ifontague :

333. Will you read all the tenders, Mr. Schreiber ?-I read down to Neelon, Con-
mee & Shields. The next is McArthur Bros., $1,385,650; Raynor & Belden, $1,450,-
806; Murphy & McGreevy, $1,525,155 ; Murray & Cleveland, $1,547,132 ; Macdonald
& Aylmer, $1,604,511 ; Ross, Holt & McKenzie, $1,656,524 ; R. G. Reid, $1,805,120 ;
Larkin & Connolly, $1,912,686; MeLennan & McLennan, $1,954,165; Parry, Mc-
Donald, McCallum & Lattimore, $1,990,144.

By Mr. Lister:

334. Then what was Goodwin's tender again ?-Goodwin's tender was $1,663,992.
335. What was Conmee & Co.'s ?-81,225,990.
336. What was Ryan & Ryan's ?-81,282,567.
337. Yes ; well now, the contract was awarded to Ryan & Haney ?--Yes.
338. At $1,282,567 ?-Yes.
339. Why did you pass over Goodwin, $1,163,692 ?

By Ir. Haggart:

340. Read the engineer's report and the memorandum to council.-The memoran-
dum to council ?

341. The engineer's report to his minister ?-I will read the order in council first;
I have it here.

342. Yes, that will do, it will contain the engineer's report.-" On almemorandum
dated 10th November, 1888, from the Minister of Railways and Canals, representing
that under the authority of an order in council dated the 2nd of May, 1888, tenders
have been called for the works embraced in the construction of a canal and lock at
Sault Ste. Marie, and that a number of tenders, sixteen in all, have been received, of
which, however, two were informal and were not entertained, the deposit receipts re-
quired as evidence of good faith on the part of the contractors being in the one éase un-
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endorsed, and in the other not marked " good " except in respect to S5,000 out of the
820,000 called for. The minister further represents that the several items of each ten-
der have been figured out to their money value on the approximate quantities of the
work, by the chief engineer of canals, who, under date the 9th of November, 1888, fur-
nishes a schedule of such tenders, showing the bulk value to be $1,990,144, and that the
the chief engineer reporting on the same states that the two lowest tenders, those,
namely, of George Goodwin, $1,163,692, and Messrs. Conmee, Ray, Dwyer & MeTeigue,
$1,225,990, are in a number of items below the prices for which the material could be
purchased and delivered, and that in each case they were below what the work will
cost. He therefore considers that these two tenders should not be entertained. Pass-
ing on to the next or third lowest tender, that, namely, of Hugh Ryan John Ryan and
M. J. Haney, the figured out value of which is $1,282,567, the chief engineer states
that the rates are low, but that as a whole they are a small percentage over what is
likely to be the actual cost, and adds that as some menbers of the firm are known to be
skilled and energetic contractors he advises that their tenders be accepted. The Min-
ister, on the foregoing expression of opinion on the part of the chief engineer, recoin-
mends that lie be authorized to pass over the two lowest tenders above mentioned and
to accept that of Messrs. Ryan, Ryan & Haney."

343. May I ask a question in regard to the first contract before we pass from that?
Did you notice any evidence in the department that the contract for the upper section
was offered to Mr. Nicholson ?-No; T do not think so ; but if there is it is here.
(After examining the papers) Oh, yes ; there is a letter from Mr. Nicholson declining.

344. Because he was not given the two contracts ? Read the letter.-" If correct-
ly informed

By Mr. Montague:

345. Whom is this letter from ?-Mr. John Nicholson. "Ottawa, 14th Decenber,
1888. Sir,-If correctly informed, your department intends to give the lower end of
the work advertised to be done at Sault Ste. Marie to Messrs. Ilyan, Haney & Co.
The advertisement asking for tenders included all the work of the approaches at each
end and, as I understand I am the lowest on the whole, I will absolutely refuse to
accept any portion of the work. I have the honour to be, sir, your obedient servant,
John Nicholson. To the Hon. the Minister of Railways and Canals."

By Mfr. Hughes :

346. Were the advertisements calling for these tenders the same advertisement or
were they separate ?-They were separate tenders apparently.

347. Were there two tenders ?-There were two tenders but also in one, if I
understand it rightly by this.

By Mr. Lister:

348. Then according to the records there is a letter from \Ir. Nicholson refusing
to take the contract fer the upper entrance because lie was the lowest on the upper and
lower ?-ApparentIy so.

349. Well, was that so ?-According to the letter I read.
350. Nicholson on the lower entrance tendered at $377,000 and on the upper at

$231,049, making $608,249 on the upper and lower entrances ?-That is correct.
351. Mr. Ryan's tender on the two would be 8299,313 and $348,321, making

$648,134 on the two entrances, or a difference in favour of Nicholson of 840,000 ?
-Yes, apparently so, that is it.

By Mr. Haggart:

352. Would you read the advertisement for tenders so that we may understand it ?
-It does not seem to be here.
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By Mr. Hughes:

353. Were these tenders opened on the same day, Mr. Schreiber? Have you the
dates when they were opened ?-Yes, they appear to have been opened on the 8th
December, 1888, both of them.

By 3fr. Lister:

354. Eh i-They appear to have been both opened on the 8th December, 1888.

By Jr. Amyot:

355. You have not the advertisement with you ?-It does not appear to be here.

By 3fr. Lister :

356. Then how much did you say was the lock contract awarded to Hugh Ryan &
Co., one million ?-As figured out here, it was.

357. 81,282,567 ?-Yes.
358. Then a contract was entered into for that work ?-It was entered into at the

schedule prices.
359. At the schedule prices ? Who made the prices ?-The contractors, the tend-

erers made the prices.

By Mr. Gibson:

360. Who?-The tenderers made the prices.

By Mr. Lister:

361. But you had it figured out, had you not, the quantities and the prices ?-You
mean who made the quantities ?

362. Yes.-I suppose the chief engineer.
363. Now, was a contract entered into for the construction of the lock ?-Yes.
364. What date was that ?-20th November, 1888.
365. You say the contractor figured out the prices ?-Well, his own prices, yes;

the schedule prices.
366. But the department figured them out ?-They extended upon quantities, they

moneyed them out.
367. Well, you see, Mr. Schreiber, that the Government under the department

were induced to reject certain tenders because in the opinion of the department the
prices were too low ?-Yes.

368. Well, now, do they figure out the prices themselves, do they estiniate the
cost i-Well, they did not in this case; I could not tell you.

369. Well, how could they say the prices were too low ?-I could not say how Mr.
Page arrived at that, I do not know.

370. How would you do it ?-I should figure them out.
371. You would figure them out, eh ?-Yes, and I suppose he may have done it,

I don't know.
372. Is there anything in the department to show they were figured out ?-

These? No, I don't know. There is an estimate of the engineer, but the engineer had
all the tenders extended upon quantities, approximate quantities which he supplied.

373. Which the contractor supplied ?-No, no, which the chief engineer supplied.
374. Which the chief engineer supplied, do you preserve those ?

By Mr. Hughes :

375. Pardon me for a moment, may I ask who the engineer was, Mr. Schreiber ?-
Page.
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By M1r. Lister:

373. Are those papers kept at the department-the papers showing what, in the
opinion of the department, are the proper prices ?-I don't know. There is nothing
that I am aware of but the tenders extended upon quantities furnished by the engineer.

377. The engineer gives the quantities ?-Yes.
378. The contractor says I will do that particular work for a certain figure ?-No,

he says he will do the earth work in the basin, we will say, at so much a yard.
379. Yes.-We will do all the nasonry in the lock at so much a yard, and so forth.

He has no quantities before him, that I am aware of.
380. No? Then he takes the kind of work he savs he will do at so much ?-Yes.
381. Well, what I want to know is whether the department, before these tenders

come in at all, have come to any conclusion as to how much the work would cost -I
have seen no estimate of that kind.

382. You have seen no estimate of that kind ?-No.
383. If an estimate of that kind had been prepared by the departnent would it

not be amongst the paper ?-I think it would be; it should be.
384. Then as a matter of fact you found no paper of that kind amongst the

papers ?-I have found none.
385. You have found none, and you say this was the practice to estimate in that

way before letting the contract ?-Not in all cases, but usually I have done that.
386. Usually you have done it? Have you done it in any contracts you have let

to Ryan & Co.?-Yes.
387. Subsequent contracts ?-Yes.
388. You have done it as regards those ?--Yes.
389. Then that would be the proper way to do in order that the department inay

satisfy itself that what the contractor is offering, the anount the contractor is asking, is
a reasonable sum ?-I did not understand that.

390. It is necessary in order that the department miglit know that what the
contractor is offering to do the work for is a reasonable sum ?-Well, upon the report of
the chief engineer. The chief engineer reported here that he considered the lowest
tenderer was too low.

391. I know that ?-And upon that apparently they acted.
392. Then there ought to be something in the department supporting the views of

the chief engineer, showing that it had been figured out by the engineer, ought there
not ?-Well, I don't think there is.

393. You don't think there is? There ought to be ?-I am not sure. He may
have explained it all.

394. But you do it ?-I have done it in nany cases.
395. Now, this contract was let, when ?-20th November, 1888.
396. Good win withdrew, did he ?-I have no idea.
397. No, he did not withdraw, his tender was rejected. Now, what was the infor-

nality as to Goodwin's tender and Connee's ?-I don't know.
398. Was there any ?

By Mr. Haggart:

3 9 8a. Would you look at the memorandum of M r. Page? Does he give any
reason ?-Here is the report, this is the report of the chief engineer, but I think 1 read
that, did I not?

398b. You read the order in council ?-This is dated Ottawa, 9th November,
1888 and is addressed to the Secretary of Department of Railways and Canals.
It reads as follows :-

" SIR,-The tenders received on 7th inst. for the formation of a canal and the con-
struction of a lift lock on the island situated on the north side of the Sault Ste. Marie
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have been applied to the respective approximate quantities of work to be done and the
four lowest tenders are as follows :-

Tender "L "-George Goodwin.................... $1,163,692
do "E "-James Conmee....................

S. H. Ray ................... ..... $1,225,990
M ichael Dwyer ..... ..............
James McTeigue................ .

do "M "-Hugh Ryan......................
John Ryan,...................... $1,282,567
M . J. H aney......................

do "B "-Sylvester Neelon..................
John Carroll....................... U$,320,828
John Shieids.......................

399. What is the reason of their rejection?
Mr. LisTER.-Of Goodwin and Conmee.-" It may here stated for the information

of the minister that tenders " L " and " E " are in a number of items below what the
material could be purchased and delivered for, and in the aggregate are in each case
below what the work will cost."

By Mr. Haggart :

400. That is the only reason ?-" I am of opinion that the marginal note on the
forn of tender is fully applicable in both cases and therefore believe that these two
tenders should not be entertained."

401. What is the marginal note?-" The rates in tender ' M' are low, but taken
as a whole they are a small percentage over what is likely to be the actual cost. Still
as sone members of the firm are known to be skilled and energetic contractors I advise
that their offer be accepted.

"I have the honour to be, your obedient servant,

"JOHN PAGE,
" Chief Engineer of Canals."

402. Then according to the report of the engineer Goodwin's tender was rejected
as well as Conmee & Co's., because they were too low in the opinion of the engineer?-
According to that report I should judge so.

403. Now I ask you again, Mr. Schreiber, if it is not necessary, not usual but
necessary, that the engineer should make a price for himself so as to make up the
total cost prior to asking for tenders?-Prior to recommending you mean?

404. Yes, recommending-Well, of course it is desirable, no doubt.
405. Is it not necessary ?-No, I do not think it is necessary. It is not neces-

sary in all cases.
406. You ask for tenders and your department take no consideration at all as to

what the proper price is ?-Oh, I do not say that. The chief engineer bere states
that he considers these too low and he thinks the other, although low, is reasonable.

407. I know he states that, but I am asking you again if it is not necessary to
make up the total cost in the department before considering the tenders at all. You
make up your minds what it is going to cost.

Mr. HAGGART-The report of Mr. Page says so, that he has made an approximate
estimate of the cost and that these are too low according to it.

By Mr. Lister :

408. Now let us see. It was awarded to Ryan & Co., whose tender was $1,282,562.
Conmee's tender was $1,225,990, or a difference in favour of Conmee of $56,577 ?-Yes.

409. Is that much of a difference on a contract of that kind ?-The difference
is not large.
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410. In other words do you think that the difference would be sufficient to justify
the department in refusing the tender of Conmee & Co. ?-Well, I am niot in a
position now to say. Mr. Page was in a much better position to decide.

411. Had Coninee & Co. ever had any contract with the department? Have you
any record about them ?-That, I do not know. They have had none since I was
in the department.

412. Then Goodwin's is $1,163,567 as against Ryan's $1,282,567. That is, Good-
win's is $118,875 less than Ryan's tender ?-Yes.

By Mr. Anyot :

413. And Ryan's tender is low, too ?-Mr. Page says so.

By Mr. Lister:

414. Now you tell me, taking the upper excavation, that you passed over the
tender of Nicholson because the rate 'or excavation was too low ?-That is what
Mr. Page says.

415. That is what Mr. Page says ?-It is what the order in council says.
416. Now looking at the tenders put in by both contractors, is it not true that

while the rate for excavation in the case of Nicholson may be lower than that of Allan &
Co., the rate for much of the other work to be done is considerably higher ?

Mr. MONTAGUE-I understood that Nicholson was offered the work and withdrew.
Mr. LISTER--Well, the reason given in all these reports is that the rate is too low.

What I asked the engineer is whether if a particular portion of the work is lower in the
case of Nicholson than in that of another contractor, whether certain otier portions of
the work are not much higher than the rates of the contractor wlho received the contract.

The WITNEsS-It might be as you said that they might be very low on a class of
work that there was a great deal of, and on another item it might be high where there
was only a small quantity of work, and although the prices would appear to adjust the
thing it would not necessarily follow.

By Mr. Lister:

417. Unless there was figuring up and figuring down ?--Quite so.
418. Now that contract was let to Ryan & Co. ?-Yes.
419. There was a movement, I believe, made for changes?-Yes.
Mr. HUGHEs-Which contract?
Mr. LISTER-The lock.

By M1r. Haggart:

420. If you are going to another part of the business let me just ask a few ques-
tions. You have no information in the department of the reasons for Mr. Goodwin
withdrawing his tender. You do not know that Mr. Goodwin withdrew his tender on
the advice of Mr. Page because he was too low ?-I arn not aware of it.

Mr. HAGGART-Those are the facts.

By Mr. Lister:

421. How long after the contract had been let was it that a movement was started
by some person for the deepening, widening and lengthening of the basin ?-The con-
tract was let in November, 1888. In the latter part of 1890 and in the early part of
1891 the Toronto Board of Trade and those engaged in the shipping interest urged the
great importance of the change.

422. What did they urge ?-The great importance of the size of the lock being
increased.

423. To what size -I cannot tell you that. Mr. Walter Shanly was called in to
consult with the chief engineer and report on the subject, which he did, and finally
the chief engineer, on the 14th May, 1891, reported favouring the enlarging of the

25
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lock to 650 feet in length, 100 feet in width, with 19 feet of water on the mitre sill,
leaving the gates 60 feet wide.

424. Were there letters f rom Sir Frank Smith ?-I think there was a letter from
him. Yes.

425. Will you turn up that letter ?-Witness then read the following:-

" ToRoNTO, June 29th.
"To the Right Hon. Sir John Macdonald.

" MY DEAR SIR,-When I last saw you in this city I said that I would write you a
few lines with regard to the finishing of the lock you are building at the Sault Ste.
Marie. It is like this, the Americans are building a lock at the same place. They are
making the approach, or entrance to the lock straight, and the same width as the rest
of the lock. This will enable a vessel to go in and take all she may have with her
without delay or dropping off when taking vessels in tow, and will also pass in in one-
half of the time. You will understand what I mean. They are also making the lock 20
feet deep. Now if you could see that these iniprovements could be done without cost-
ing more than the estimate it might be a great benefit in the future, as this lock will
last for ages. Kindly give this matter your serious consideration and oblige.

"I remain, dear Sir John, yours truly,

"FRANK SMITH."
By Mr. Lister:

426. There is also a letter f rom Mr. Van Horne, of April 3rd, 1891 ?-Yes, I
think so.

427. Advising the enlargement ?-Yes, I think so.
MR. FoSTER-Do you want the letter?
MR. LISTER-Oh, no, I am not particular.

By Mr. Lister:

428. Now, who was the engineer in charge of the works at that time ?-In 1890 ?
429. In 1890 and 1891 ?-I think Mr. Thompson.
430. I find a letter there from Mr. Thompson of March 30th, 1891, disapproving of

the scheme to enlarge the canal and giving the reasons ?-What is the date of that ?
431. March 30th, 1891.-Are you sure it was March 30th?
432. Yes, sir.-There is one of March 28th, 1891.
433. Perhaps that is it. Is it a letter from Mr. Thompson ?-Yes, from Mr.

Thompson.
434. Well, there is one of the 30th too, but read that one ?-This is to Mr.

P>radley

"OTTAWA, March 28th, 1891.
"SIR.-I beg to acknowledge the receipt of folio No. 133070 under cover of which

the Hon. Frank Smith suggests that the plan of the lock on Messrs. Hugh Ryan & Cos.
contract for the Sault Ste. Marie Canal should be changed to the extent of making the
lock the same width throughout and deepening it to 20 feet. I cannot advise the ad-
option of the course suggested, for the reason that such a departure f rom the plan would
be breaking the contract, in view of which it would seem unprofitable to discuss the
matter at greater length.

"J have the honour to be, Sir,
"Your obedient servant,

" W. G. THOMPSON."

435. Well, then, there is another letter ?-From whom ?
436. From Mr. Thompson.-Subsequent to that?
437. What date is that, Mr. Schreiber ?-28th March.
438. Subsequent to that ?-No, it must be previous to that, surely.
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439. Well, never mind I won't take up your time in asking you to find it ?-Here
is another dated 28th March, 1891, is that it?

440. Read that one please?

"OTTAWA, March 28th, 1891.
"SIR,-Referring to the resolution of the marine section of the Toronto Board of

Trade, under cover of No. 133682, in which approval is expressed of the width, 85
feet, designed for the Sault Ste. Marie Canal iock now under contract to Messrs. Hugh
Rvan & Co., but suggesting an increase of depth to correspond with that of the lock
now under contract in Sault Ste. Marie, Michigan, I beg to say that to deepen the lock
only at the present time with a view to deepen throughout ultimately, would be a
serious mistake. To deepen the prism of the canal after the provision for securing a
water tight canal had been completed to the depth provided in the contract, would be
to make that water tight provision of no effect. An estimate of the cost of deepening
as above suggested must therefore embrace the full length of Messrs. Hugh Ryan & Co.'s
contract for the canal and lift lock and would be approximately $180,000, apart from
any claims for extras that might result from the contract now in force."

441. Yes. Now, as a matter of fact the Government did enter into a contract for
the deepening and widening and lengthening of that lock ?-I did not catch that.

442. A contract was entered into for the deepening, widening and lengthening of
that lock ?-It was, sir.

443. So that there would be 19 feet of water on the mitre sill ?-Yes.
444. At lowest water ?-Yes.
445. And that it should be 100 feet wide and 650 long ?-Yes.
446. The recommendation of the Board of Trade was that it should be 85 feet

wide, as I understand it ?-85 feet, yes.
447. How long ?-It did not state the length, I think.
448. You adopted 16 feet odd, was it not i-I think it was.
449. Sixteen feet and some inches in depth, 85 feet wide, and, I think, 600 feet

long i-That was the first contract.
450. No ?-Yes; 600x85x16-3.
451. Then the contract was changed so as to make it 650 feet ?-650x100x19.
452. 620x100x19 ?-That is right.
453. That was ultimately adopted by the Government and those changes were

macle ?-They were.
454. And the contract entered into ?-Yes.
455. How much did those changes-an additional charge upon the country-

involve 1-The first change in the lock entailed additional work.
456. What was that ?-To the value of $190,245.25.
457. What change was that, Mr. Schreiber ?-That was the change from 600x85

x16-3 to 65OxlOxl9.
458. What was the total increase ?-That was the total increase on that occasion.
459. Well, then, what other changes ?

By M11r. Haggart :

460. Was that on the lock alone, or on the upper and lower entrances 7-That is
on the lock alone. Then there were subsequent changes to that.

By Mfr. Lister:

461. What were the subsequent changes?-There was a change from 650x100x19 to
90 0 x60x20-3.

462. Then the. lock was extended to 900 feet ?-It was.
463. 900 feet 7-Yes.
464. How wide ?-60 feet.
465. Added ?-No; 60 feet wide.
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By Mfr. Foster .

466. Instead of 100 ?-(No answer.)

By Mr. Lister :

467. It was underrated, then ?-It was underrated, yes ; and when it was 100, the
lock gates were only 60.

468. So it was reduced to 60 and lengthened 100. Anything added to the depth ?
-one foot three inches added to the depth ; 20-3 on the mitre sill.

469. So is would be 20-3 on the mitre sill? What was the additional cost there,
that was at what time ?-1892.

470. Fifth April, 1892 ?-Yes.
471. Well, now, what does that involve ?-That involves an additional cost of

$498,000.
472. $498,000 ? Did you make any change afterwards?

By Mr. Foster

473. Is that an addition to the $190,245 ?-Yes. Then later on, in October, 1892

By Mr. Lister :

474. One moment. Now, up to that time, Mr. Schreiber, the additions involved
an expenditure of $688,249 ?-Yes. Then in October, 1892

By Mfr. Haggart :

475. Be sure of your figures first, Mr. Schreiber ?-I will give all the figures after-
wards.

476. The first contract contemplated iron ?-I will give you that afterwards.
477. He says it was an increase ?-The first change to 650 feet involved an expendi-

ture of $190,245. The second change-the actual increase by the change-was $376,-
091.25, but in making that change, there was originally the culverts-the supply culverts
were not in the contract at all. They were to be of iron, and it was concluded to build
those of wood, the same as they are on the American side, and they were then placed in
this contract, and they cost 8121,913, the two together. These two together made
$490,000.

By Mfr. Lister':

478. What about those culverts again ?-These culverts were originally to have
been in iron. They were not embraced in Ryan's contract at all. They were not let at
the time this change was made, when it was determined to build these culverts of wood.

479. Then the culverts were not Ryan's contract at all ?-They were not.
480. Then you made up your mind that Ryan should have the contract for the

culverts ?-I was not in the department at all. In this agreement the culverts were
embodied at certain prices.

481. When were the culverts introduced ? Do you mean the agreement of April,
1892 ?-On the 5th of April, 1892.

482. So that the culverts were awarded to Ryan & Co. at $121,913 ?-That is what
they came to, yes.

483. And the additional cost then outside of the culverts, was ?-$376,091.25, and
for the culvert, $121,913.

484. Making ?-Altogether $498,000 in round numbers.
485. $498,000 odd. Then how much of that could be considered extra work ?-

$376,091.
486. 8376,091, in addition to the $190,245, was extra work ?-Yes.
487. $121,913 was for the culverts ?-Was new work for the cuiverts.
488. Well, how was it that these culverts were not estimated and provided foi in

the contract ?-I really could not tell you that. I do not know.
28
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489. That would be a very important part of the work ?-It is an important part
of the work.

490. Did the estimates provide at all for the culverts ?-What estimates?
491. In your office ?-The $4,000,000 provided for the culverts.
492. The four million what ?-The $4,000,000, the original estimate of the work,

embraced the culverts.
493. So that, as a matter of fact, the $121,913 was a part of the work that would

have to be done ?-Undoubtedly.
494. And a very important part of the work ?-A very important part of the work.
495. And that vas let without any tender at all ?-That was let in the way I told

you.
496. In what way ?-When this change was made to the 900 feet.
497. The excavation, I believe, was in the original contract for these culverts ?-Yes.
498. The excavation was for the culverts and that formed part of the original con-

tract ?--I think so.
Mr. DAVIES.-There is no " think" about it. It is recited there in clause 7 ex-

pressly: " In addition to the excavation for the discharge and supply culverts which is
covered by the existing contract, a certain works to be done in connection therewith."

By fr. Lister:

499. So that the excavation in connection with these culverts was included in the
contracts with Ryan & Co. ?-Stop a moment, I am not able to say. Here is Ryan ex-
cavation, $24,970. Now, I have not included that in these culverts, and I do not think
it was in these culverts.

500. Do you say, then, that the $121,000 includes making the excavation 3-No, it
does not.

501. Then, making the excavation must have been included in somie other contract?
-I presume so.

By 3fr. Haggart:

502. Be sure, Mr. Schreiber ?-Well, I cannot be sure.
503. Would it not strike you at once if the first lock was only 16 feet and the next

19 feet in depth that it could not possibly have been in it ?-There is extra rock, $24,-
000. There is no doubt about that.

504. You can see at once it could not possibly have been in the first contract ?-
Yes. Then I have not included that $33,928 in the culverts.

505. You forgot that ?-Yes.

By 3fr. Lister:

506. Now what was the next change ?-In October, 1892, there was a change made
in the depth of the prism of the canal to make it conform to the 20 feet 3 inches in the
lock on the sill. That increased the depth of the prism 4 feet.

507. Yes, how much was that ?-And also there was the masonry and piers of the
bridge. The two together made $107,842.

By 3fr. Gibson:

508. What is that ?-$107,842.

By Mr. Lister:

509. $107,842. Now any further changes ?-No, those are the only changes.
510. Those are the only changes in the lock ?-Yes.

By Mr. Davies:

511. No, no, that is not correct, because the great change was made in October,
1892?-I do not hear what you say.
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512. I see the greatest change of all, so far as I gather from reading the papers,
was made in October, 1892, and not in April ?-No, I am speaking of October, $107,842.

Mr. DAVIEs-Then I misunderstood you.

By Mr. Lister:

513. That included the piers of the lock ?-The piers and the abutmnents of the
bridge and the excavation for that as well as the deepening of the prisn.

514. That is included in that 8109,000 9-Yes, in the $107,000.
515. Who authorized the construction of a pier in that lock ?
Mr. HAGGART-There is no pier in the lock.
Mr. GIBso---In the channel.

By fr. Lister :

516. Does that include the pier in the channel ?-Yes.
517. Who authorized that ?-I think that was authorized by order in council under

the recommendation of the chief engineer.

By 1fr. Haggart :

518. Say who authorized it and when it was, and let us have the full particulars
with regard to this pier ?-I have the order in council. It is attached to the tracing.

519. Upon the recommendation of Mr. Page ?-No, on the recommendation of Mr.
Trudeau.

520. Well, when was it? Give us the whole particulars and tell everything about
it ?-It will be in October. I think I see the plan there. I can see the tracing.

521. How far is the pier above the lock ?-It will be 1,500 feet.

By Mr. Lister :

522. On which side of the lock ?-On the upper side.

By Mr. Davies :

523. But you say in Mr. Trudeau's report of that date he recommended that that
pier should be placed in the canal there ?-I think so, yes, I think you will find it there.

524. J don't wish you to say what you thought, but whether you know that to be
the case, I have it in my hands ?-I have seen the recommendation either of Mr. Thomp-
son or Mr. Trudeau, I don't remember which.

525. It is not by Mr. Trudeau in the papers that are here ?-Well, it is either Mr.
Trudeau or Mr. Thompson, I don't know which; I thought that plan was prepared by
Mr. Thompson.

By fr. Lister:

526. I ask you what authority there was for the construction of the pier ?-It is
(the tracing) attached to an order in council.

527. That was before your day, Mr. Schreiber ?-Yes.
528. It was in Mr. Trudeau's time ?-Yes, it was.
529. Now, how much has that work cost up to the present time ?-There are certi-

ficates issued to the amount of $3,171 584.
530. And how much is yet to be paid 7-I think the whole cost will be $3,520,000,

that includes offices, residence for the superintendent, shops and so forth.

By Mr. Haggart :

531. What was the estimated cost ?-$4,000,000 is the original estimated cost.

By Mr. Lister:

532. The original estimate as stated by the minister was $750,000 ?-$4,000,OOQ J
have always supposed.
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533. According to Hansard of 1888, page 1642, the estimated cost the first time
was $1,000,000, then it was in 1889 placed at $2,657,809, including everything, as Sir
Charles Tupper said ?-I am taking this from the records of the department.

534. What records ?-From the reports of the engineers. In the canal reports you
wvill find it.

By Mfr. Davies:

535. Before you pass from that order I want to try and understand these changes
that were made in this order of October, 1892?-Yes.

536 Now, will you shortly state the main changes made--I don't want you to go
too much into detail-by the order of 1892, in the work, in the pay for the work, and
in the time in which the work was to be completed ? Those are the three points ?-As
I have stated in April, 1892, there were works to the extent of 8376,091. The work
was then to be finished under contract in December, 1894.

537. Yes, the time was extended to December, 1894, by that agreement of April ?
-The agreement of April, yes.

538. Well, now I am bringing you to the agreement made in October following ?
-Well, then, in the October following there was $107,000 of additional work authorized
by the change.

539. You say the additional work there was $107,000 ?-Well, one hundred and
seven thousand eight hundred odd dollars.

540. Now, tell me the character of the work-the changes made in the character of
the work in October, 1892 ?-The lowering of the prism of the canal.

541. How much was the prism of the canal lowered? -Four feet.
542. That is one item ?-Yes. Then the underwatering there was $10,000 also.
543. That was not a change in the character of the work, the underwatering ?-

That is in connection with it.
544. I am asking you to state to the committee the change in the character of the

vork by the order of October, 1892. Keep to that for the moment. There was a
lowering of the prism four feet 1-Four feet, yes.

545. Very well, what else ?-Then the piers and the abutments for the bridge.
546. The substructure for the railway bridge, that is two things ?-Yes.
547. Go on. What was the great pre-eminent change made over that of everything

else ?-There was no change made in the contract excepting as to tiine.
548. Yes, there was a great change ?-No, there was not.
549. Was there not a change f rom masonry to Portland cement concrete in the

agreement ?-I don't know when that was, I had nothing to do with it.
550. You had nothing to do with this; you had nothing personally to do with it?

-I mean I don't know when that was first done.
551. You ought to know. You know the other two things which were in the

agreement ?-Yes, but I don't think that is in the agreement.
552. Yes, it is in the agreement, excuse me ?-I don't know that.
553. Is it a matter of fact that the backing, as stated here, in the south walls of

the look chamber were ordered to be built of Portland cernent concrete in place of
masonry, so that a completion could be effected at an earlier date ?-Yes.

554. Very well. Was that change effected by any agreement of October, 1892?
-The agreement permitted them to build the work in that way, but they did not build
it in that way, they built it of masonry. It permitted them to do that to expedite
the work, if they found they could not do it in time the other way.

555. Well, as a matter of fact, that memorandum of 1892 was put in the form of
an agreement of the 8th November, 1892 ?-Yes.

556. And did that not provide explicitly, sir, they were to substitute Portland
cement concrete for masonry in the backing of the lock chamber wall ?-They were
permitted to do that.

557. Was that not on condition they agreed to build the locks 1-That was one of
the conditions. They found they could not complete in any other manner and they did so
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558. Very well. So that the reason which appears to be given here did not apply ?
-No, they did not carry that out. They continued to use masonry in the stone work
instead of the concrete.

559. Well, sir, I will just call your attention to this official document here to show
you the only reason they gave which would enable them to finish it was this change
that I referred to ?-I remember that.

560. " At the outset the contractors distinctly stated that it would not be possible
to complete the work contracted for by that date and the question was therefore by
your direction put to them, whether if the south walis of the lock chamber were per-
nitted to be built of Portland cement concrete in place of masonry such completion
could be effected. To this they replied in the affirmative ?"-That was all right.

561. And he proceeded to obtain the terms on which that work could be done ?-
That was right.

562. This is Mr. Trudeau's report ?-That was right.
563. Then the agreement goes on to provide for this change being made. You say

it was not made ?-It was not made.
564. Then the two changes'of the contract made, although three were contemplated,

were the increase in the depth of four feet, and of the prism of the canal and some
other points, I forget which. There is one more question : For facilitating the time for
completion to the lst December, 1893, the additional sum of $90,000 was paid to
thei ?-It was.

565. As a bonus ?-Yes.

By Mr. McMullen :

566. Will you present to the committee on your next examination the several items
connected with this work for which there was no schedule prices arranged ?-Yes.

By Mr. Haggart:

567. There are none, are there ?-Yes, these schedule prices for these extra works
568. Are there any quantities at all that are not regulated on the schedule prices,

either the schedule prices in the contract or the schedule prices subsequently agreed to
-None that I know of.

The committee then adjourned.
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CoMmITTEE RooM, No. 49,
HOUSE OF COMMoNS, 1lth June, 1895.

Committee met.

Mr. COLLINGWOOD SCHREIBER, Deputy Minister and Chief Engineer of Railways
and Canals, re-called and further examined.

By Mr. Davies :

569. Mr. Schreiber, on this Sault Ste. Miarie Canal contract, 1 understood you to
say in your last examination that there were three different changes made, the first
one increasing the length from 600 to 650 feet and the breadth from 85 to 100 feet,
which cost $190,000. Will you please follow me and see that I state them correctly. The
second one changed the length f rom 650 to 900 feet and the breadth was reduced to 60
feet, which cost, including the culverts, $498,000, and the third one, increasing the depth
of the prism 4 feet and the masonry and the piers of the bridges which is to be built
over the canal cost $107,000. That I believe is correct, is it not ?-Yes, in round figures.

570. I just want to get the general outline. Now, did I understand you to inti-
mate why the change was made in 1892, in October, 1892? Did I understand you to
intimate upon whose report that change was made ?-Yes, I think upon the report of
the chief engineer.

571. You gave the committee to understand that it was upon the report of the
chief engineer ?-Yes.

572. Do you wish us to understand that the chief engineer advised that change,
reported favourably to it, when you say it was made on his report ? You iean that
lie advised it, that it was on his recommendation ?-That is the deepening of the prism ?

573. That is the change which took place in October, 1892 ?-Novenber, 1892.
574. It was carried out by an agreement dated the 8th substituting concrete for

masonry and undertaking to complete by December, 1893, instead of 1894, and $90, 000
were to be paid for the reduction in time ?-Yes.

575. Now I want you to keep to that one change for the present. Do I under-
stand you to intimate that that change was made on the recommendation of the chief
engineer ?-- could tell if I looked at his report.

576. Did you look at his report ?-Yes.
577. Well, was it on his recommendation ? I understood you to say that it was ?-

Yes, I think I said so.
578. Well, I think I must ask you to read that report and see whether your con-

clusion is correct. You will find that report under the date of the l4th October, 1892 ?
-(After examining Exhibit 1) Have you it marked out here ?

579. 14th October, 1892, is the date. Have you got the right volume there ? What
volume have you got ?-I do not think so. These are the early ones. You must
have it there, I think.

580. Yes, it should be in volume 2. You have no index to this, Mr. Schreiber ?-N:.
581. Are they chronologically arranged according to dates do you know ?-I

think so.
582. Well, we will soon find it if they are.
583. Now, sir, I think you will find that is the report. Will you please read it so

that it can be put in evidence ?-" Ottawa, 14th October, 1892. Hon. John Haggart,
Minister of Railways and Canals:

" SiR,-In accordance with your instructions given in view of the desired construc-
tion of the Sault Ste. Marie Canal at a date earlier than that fixed by their contract.
I have the honour to report that I have had negotiations with the contractors, Messrs.
Hugh Ryan & Company, in order to ascertain the terms on which they would be pre-
pared to undertake the completion of the lock walls by the 1st December, 1893.
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" At the outset they distinctly stated that it would not le possible to complete the
work as contracted for by that date, and the question was therefore, by your direction,
put to them, whether, if the said walls of the lock chamber were permitted to be built
of Portland cement concrete instead of masonry, such completion could be effected. To
this they have replied in the affirmative, and I have proceeded to obtain provisionally
the terms on which the work can be done by that date, together with certain other
works requisite for the completion of the whole canal by the lst July, 1894. The
features so dealt with are as follows :-

"The construction of the lock walls by the first of December, 1893.
"The completion of the wooden culverts at the bottom of the lock chamber.
"The deepening of the prism of the canal to the further depth of four feet required

on contract No. 9594.
" The construction of the substructure for the railway bridge in time to admit of the

completion of the whole bridge by the 1st of July, 1894.
" These negotiations have resulted in the preparation of a draft of an agreement

embodying the several works mentioned. This draft I submit.
" It is but proper that while doing so I should observe that the date fixed by the

original contract and the class of work therein called for are, in my opinion, those
requisite to produce a result such as, froin the engineering point of view, it would be
desirable to see attained.

"The exigencies of the situation, however, and the strong view taken by the Gov-
ernment with regard to the expediency of an early date for completion rendered it
essential, if such earlier completion is to be reached, that there should be a modification
of the work. Under these circumstances my duty is simply to ascertain how best the
wishes of the Governmient can be carried out with the minimum of depreciation in the
quality and character of the work.

" This, I have done, and now submit the whole matter for your consideration."
584. Who was that by ?-That is signed by Mr. Trudeau.
585. From an engineering standpoint, then, Mr. Trudeau reports it is desirable that

the original contract should be carried out as originally framed ?-He was in favour of
the lock walls being of masonry rather than of concrete.

586. And he observes that not only the date fixed for the contract, but the class
of work called for therein are, in his opinion, requisite to produce a result from an
engineering standpoint desirable to be attained ?-Ah, yes.

587. That is his report ?-Yes, quite so.
588. So, when Mr. Trudeau reports that although from an engineering standpoint

the original contract should be carried out that the exigency of the situation and the
strong view taken by the Government demanded some change, what did he mean ? Do
you know ? Are you able to state what " the exigencies of the situation " meant ?-I
think

589. Do you know ?-No. I don't know other than what I heard.
590. I don't ask you to state if you don't know. Were you in Mr. Trudeau's con-

fidence ?-No, I was not-that is to say that I had nothing to do with this canal.
591. " The exigencies of the situation and the strong view taken by the Govern-

ment." Well, then, from this report, it appears that it was from the exigencies of the
situation in the Government view, and not Mr. Trudeau's view, that these changes
should be made ?-Well, he thought that they had better have the walls of masonry
rather than concrete.

By Mr. Haggart:

592. And they were made of masonry. What is the use of talking about it ?-
They were made of masonry.

MR. IAGGART-There was no change made.
MR. DAVIEs-The change was provided for against the engineer's advice and to

carry out some " exigencies of the situation " whatever that may be. (To witness.)
Now, sir, that change involved the payment of $90,000 for the reduction of the timé in
which the work was to be completed, did it not ?-Yes.

34
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593. What was the pressing necessity for anticipating by eleven months the time
when that lock was to be finished ?-I don't know. I was not engaged with the canals
at that time, therefore I have to say, I don't know. I have heard the reason.

594. If you don't know you are perfectly right in answering my question and say-
ing you don't know ?-Well, I say I have heard the reason.

595. Now by that report the engineer says that it was impossible for them to anti-
cipate the time for completing the canal unless they were allowed to substitute concrete
for stone ?-That is what it said.

596. That is their reason ?-That is their reason, yes.
597. And the change was conceded to then, the right to make that change ?-It

was.
598. And they said that was the only condition on which they could hope to anti-

cipate the time ? Did they do that ?-They did not do that. They completed it in the
time, but they did not use concrete.

599. They stated it was impossible unless they were allowed to use concrete to
finish the contract within a specified time, and after getting the necessary authority
they did not use concrete ?-They did not.

600. Mr. Trudeau reports to the Minister that he has seen the contractors, and
that it was impossible for themn to complete the work as contracted for by that date.
Just read that paragraph again to the Minister ?--" At the outset they distinctly stated
that it would not be possible to complete the work as contracted for by that date, and
the question was, therefore, by your direction, put to them whether if the side walls of
the lock chamber were permitted to be built of Portland cement concrete in place of
masonry, such completion can be effected. To this they have replied in the affirmative."

601. That is it. It was impossible to finish the work in the time asked for by the
Minister, but if a certain change was made from stone masonry to concrete they could
do it ?-That is the opinion expressed there.

602. After the change was made they got $90,000 for agreeing to shorten the
time. Now, I ask you did they, or did they not, use any portion of concrete ?-I think
they used-where they first started on that-they used some three or four hundred
yards, no more, I think.

603. Three or four hundred yards?-Yes.
604. Did they use Portland cement ?-They did.
605. All over, wherever the cement was required ?-I think not.
606. What did they use instead ?-There was natural cement used in the work.
607. What other cement ?-Portland cement, and natural cement-Canadian

cement.
608. Canadian cement ?-Is there any difference in the price of Canadian cement,

as compared with Portland ? Did the contract permit them to use Canadian cement ?-
It did, yes.

609. Read me the paragraph, please. I have read it carefully myself and did not
see it. That contract provides for Portland cement, I think you will find. The agree-
ment is dated 8th November, 1892, following that Trudeau report ?-Ah, that is the
specification for that work to be done.

610. We are speaking about the change, sir, and nothing else. Don't let us notice
anything else ?-This change that was all lined, I think, with Portland cement.

611. What was lined ?--The work as changed.
612. I thought you told me it was not changed, although it was agreed to be

changed ; they had permission to change it, but they did not change it ?-I am speaking
now of the cement used. In the original contract they could use native cement.

613. Excuse me, perhaps I misunderstood you. Do I understand you to say they
did not take advantage of the permissible change to no extent ?-To no extent? They
did I say to the extent of three or four hundred yards.

614. Then I- ask you if taking advantage of it they used Portland cement or Can-
adian cement ?-Portland cement.

615. All -I think so, yes.
35
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616. And when you stated just now they used Canadian cement what did you
mean ?-As I know they have used a quantity of Canadian cemrent in the work.

617. In the work? The general work ?-In the general work, yes.
618. The Minister wants to know if that was prior to that 7-Prior to that, I think.
619. They had used some Canadian cement ?-I think so.
620. What proportion, do you know? Will Mr. Thompson, the engineer, know ?-

I had a statement of it.
621. Where did you get your statement, from Mr. Thompson ?-The statement I

have came from Mr. Crawford, our engineer.
622. Mr. Thompson would be the gentleman who would know all about that ?-

Mr. Thompson would know.
623. Very well, I won't waste time by asking you about that. Do you know

whether Mr. Thompson reported in favour of these successive changes or was he asked
to report ?-I think he reported on some of them.

624. You think he reported on some of them?-Yes.
625. If he did are his reports amongst those papers ?-IL he did they are amongst

the papers.
626. Will you give me that volume I had just now. I was going to ask you a

question on Mr. Trudeau's report, and I find you have lost my place. Have you got the
other volume there? (After examining Exhibit 1 and handing it to the witness.)
I see there a report from Mr. Thompson on one of the changes. Will you please read
it ?-(Witness then read the following: )

"Sault Ste. Marie Canal,
"Memorandum for the information of the Honourable the Minister of Railways and

Canals.

"Referring to Mr. W. C. VanHorne's telegram from Montreal dated March 30th,
1891, in which the advisability is suggested of making the Canadian lock at Sault Ste.
Marie as deep as the American lock now being constructed at the same point, the utility
of such a course is not apparent unless the policy of deepening the channels between
Lakes Huron and Superior through Canadian waters exclusively, and providing a deep
water harbour on each lake, was determined upon. The estimated cost of such an im-
provement is $1,923,000. Respectfully submitted,

" OTTAWA, March 30th, 1891. "W. J. THOMPSON."

627. That is the report ?-Yes.
628. Well, that speaks for itself. Now, then, these are the changes and I think

you have given the amounts already. We can gather it afterwards from the report, the
cost of each change ?-Yes, I have given them all.

629. And you wound up by saying that the whole cost will be about three and a
half million dollars ?-Three and a half millions, yes.

630. Do you mean that for the work that the Ryans have to do ?-That all the
contractors have to do, and more than all the contractors have to do, for there is a
dwelling for the superintendent, the offices, the shops, and various other things.

631. I wanted to know particularly. When you gave your statement it was not
clear whether it was the sum total of the Ryan contract, or the whole cost of the canal ?
-It was the cost of the canal.

632. What will be the sum total of the Ryan contracts about ?-ïjhe lift lock, I
think, will be $2,176,000.

By Mr. Ouimet :

633. $2,176,000 ?-$2,176,000, and the second one $431,600 in round numbere
634. That is all, is it? Did you give me the sum total of Mr. Ryan's contract ?-

I did of the two contracts, yes.
635. With all the changes ?-That includes all the changes.
636. And what does the total arnount to, do you say ?-$2, 176,000' and $431,000.
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637. That is about $2,500,000, then J-Yes.
638. Will you turn to Mr. Thompson's letter, I have it in my memorandum here

on page 53 or 54, was that the letter you read ?-No, neither one nor the other. (After
looking at the papers.) It was page 100.

639. That is the one you read now. Will you turn to pages 53 or 54, see if there
is another report from Mr. Thompson there ?-No, it is not on 53. Neither on 53 nor
54.

640. Will you let me see it a moment. (Handing Mr. Davies Exhibit 1.) Per-
haps it is 33 and 34.

641. No, it is 53.-Perhaps it is the other volume.
642. It does not matter, I can look thei up before Mr. Thompson is examined. I

need not keep you upon it. I want to ask you some questions about two or three other
matters. There was a change made in the lock valves. I think you said the change
would cost about $20,000 ?-The change made in the lock valves ? No, you mean the
culverts.

643. Not the culverts, the lock valves ?-I did not say anything about lock valves.
644. Was there a contract given for lock valves ?-Yes.
645. Whom was the contract given to ?-To lugh Ryan & Co.
646. For what amount?-829,000.
647. 829,000, are you sure ?-9,037.
648. Read it again ?-It is a schedule contract.
649. Yes, but moneyed out, what does ià amount to ?--$29,037.
650. Was that let by tender ?-I do not think so.
651. You do not think so. In fact you know it was not --I do not think it was
652. You are sure it was not ?-I do not think it vas.
653. When was it let ?-I think it was let in 1894.
654. In 1894?-1 think so.
655. A contract for $29,000 not let by tender ?-I think so.
656. Is that amount included in the amount you gave me just now as the total

amount of their contract ?-No.
657. Well, I asked you for the total amount, why did you not put it in ?-I told

you there were two contracts.
658. I was misled, perhaps not wittingly by you. Then this has to be put in ?-Yes.
659. Was there a contract given for the lock gates ?-Yes, there was.
660. When ?-I think that would be in the end of 1893.
661. What time in 1893? Have you got the papers there 1-The contracts?
662. What time in 1893 ? Are you able to state No, I cannot tell. It would be

the end of 1893 or the beginning of 1894.
663. What was the amount ?-867,500.
664. To whom was it given ?-To Hugh Ryan & Co.
665. Were tenders called for ?-Yes.
666. What length of time were the tenders for ?-Well, I cannot say. The tenders

are there.
667. Have you got the papers here ?-The tenders are there.
668 Turn them up, please, and show me ?-(After examining Exhibits 1 and

2.) No, I do not think they are here.
669. Are you sure tenders were called for ?--Yes, I am.
670. Advertised ?-Yes.
671. Can't you say what time? Why are the tenders not put in there J-Because

what was asked was the two contracts where the changes were made. Mr. Lister told
me so himself.

672. And the papers relating to the original contract and the three changes made
in it and those only ?-And the changes connected therewith.

673. And any work given to Hugh Ryan otherwise is not here ?-No.
674. Well, will you make a memorandum on a piece of paper to produce the tenders

in connection with these lock gates ?-Yes.
675. You will do that, please J-Yes.
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676. The tenders and all the papers connected with the letting of this contract ?-
Yes.

By Mr. Haggart:

677. The recommendations to the Minister and the contract and all the papers ?-
Yes.

678. In the third change made in the contract the provision is made for the con-
struction of a pier for the railway bridge ?-Yes.

679. Who ordered the construction of that pier ?-By order in council.
680. Oh, the order did not emanate from the order in council, somebody must

have moved in the matter ?-What do you mean by "ordered the pier " ? Do you mean
this proposition?

681. At whose suggestion was that contract entered into for the construction of
the pier? How was it brought about 7-It was in the same agreement.

682. That was the third change ?-That was the third change; it was in that.
Mr. Trudeau, I think, must have recommended it. He reported-he was the chief
engineer-he reported on it, I think.

683. Are you sure ?-No, I am not; (after a pause) I am pretty well convinced ;
yes, I an sure.

684. If you have got the papers you can easily ascertain ?-I am sure.
685. Do you mean to say Mr. Trudeau recommended or suggested the construction

of the pier for the bridge ?-No; but I say he recommended the price to be paid for it.
686. But I did not ask the price to be paid for it. I asked who first started the

suggestion of the building of a pier for that bridge in the canal I-I think Mr. Page
must have done it.

687. Have you got any evidence to justify your thought ? Is there anything there
to show that he did ?-No.

Mr. DAvIES-NO, you have got nothing.

By Mr. Haggart:

688. Perhaps I will bring it to your recollection. You remember there was a letter
from Mr. Van Horne recommending a pier should be put in the canal, and the plans
were changed by Mr. Page or Mr. Trudeau to accommodate his suggestion?-Yes, I
remember now. Mr. Van Horne or some one recommended there should be a bridge to
span the whole canal.

689. Yes ?-Then I think my recollection is that Mr. Van Horne thought it should
have a pier in the middle of the canal-a pivotal pier in the middle of the canal-to
swing so that the swing was in the centre, and swelling out the prism on each side of it.
I think that was it.

690. Do you remember the order in council adopting the suggestion; you have it
there, either Mr. Page or Mr. Trudeau's suggestion ?-There is an order in council in
one of these books with plan attached. There is a plan attached to the order in council
(handing it over.)

691. Excuse me, before you go. Is there any other work being done by Hugh
Ryan & Co. beyond what you have already spoken of, either by contract or otherwise ?-
There has been, yes.

692. Please state what it was ?--There were pipes, motor houses, and the lock
valve.

693. How much was the work for all these ?-The lock valve was $1,250, the motor
houses, $3,700, the power pipes, $60,500.

694. $60,500. These are all ?-These are all.
695. Were they let by contract or tender i-I think not.
696. It was given privately ?-Given privately, I think, yes.

By Mr. Gibson :

697. At the close of the examination, at the last meeting of the committee, you
stated that there was no extra amount paid to Hugh Ryan & Co., for the work done
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upon their contract at the Sault Ste. Marie canal, that there were no extra prices paid
for anything beyond the schedule prices ?-No; I said there was nothing paid for any-
thing that was not-that an order in council had not been made for it.

698. Without an order in council having been made for it? Well, I notice here
hat in the progress estimates there are three classes of masonry 7-Yes.

699. Or rather three prices paid for the same class of masonry ?-Yes.
700. Well, now, for the original lock as tendered for, the contract was $11 a yard?

-It was ; yes.
701. Then, when it was decided by the government to make it 650 feet, the price

was raised to $16 a yard 7-It was not the price of the whole work on the canal ; only
that extra.

702. That extra 50 feet; exactly. Well, now, I would like you to explain to this
committee why this extra 50 feet of the lock chamber should be paid for at the rate of
$5 a yard extra over the other work ?-I think-well, I was not connected with the
canals at the time.

703. Well, you are an engineer, and you are familiar enough with masonry to
know that the longer the article is it is cheaper to build, because the whole of the ex-
tensive work of this canal is at the ends, and not in the middle ?-Yes.

704. And the extension was made out to the ends ?-Yes.
705. The same provision was made for the masonry of the ends if the lock had

been 500 or 1,000 feet?-Yes.
706. Now, you cannot give any reason why the government paid $5 extra for this

extra 50 feet ?-I don't know what their reason was; unless it was that the wages of
the masons had increased since the work was first commenced, which I know was the
case. But I am not in a position to say why the prices were made.

707. Who made these prices ?-I think the chief engineer.
708. Who was the chief engineer at that time ?-Mr. Trudeau.

By Mr. Haggart :

709. Who was the minister then ?-Sir John Macdonald, I think; yes, Sir John
Macdonald, I think it was.

By -Mr. Gibson:

710. Now, Mr. Schreiber, following down the same item of masonry, I find that on
the 950 feet lock, Hugh Ryan & Co. were paid $12.60 a yard ?-They were; yes.

711. Now, have you any explanation to give why the reduction was made after
the length of the canal was extended ?-Well, I think the reason was that it was merely
a straight wall. In the other case, where they widened the canal to the 100 feet, the
gates were left at the 60 feet wide, and that it was on a curve, and I think that was the
reason.

712. Yes; that curve was in the original plans î-It was for 85 feet; yes.
713. Now, I find that in the lock-pit excavation, where it is given here at 25 cents

a yard, the additional digging was paid for at the rate of 60 cents per yard t-Yes.
713a. Can you give any reason to the committee why it is increased t-I presume

the reason was because the other prices-I am only supposing it-the other prices were
low; the original tender and competition, probably, was cut very low. I know no other
reason.

714. Well, do you not think that 60 cents a yard, after the contractors had agreed
to do the whole work as it was first originated-600 feet at 25 cents a cubic yard-
that they were getting a tremendously increased price at 60 cents a yard?-It is a
large increase, no doubt ; but at the same time the engineer must have considered it
worth that or he would not have recommended it.

715. Who recommended it t-I think Mr. Trudeau; I think whoever was chief
engineer.

716. That, inasmuch as the contractors were only getting 25 cents a yard, and that
would not pay them for the earth excavation, he recommended that the change should
be made t-I think you will find it in his report.

39



58 Victoria. Appendix (No. 1A.) A. 1895

By Mr. Haggart:

717. What year was that 7-That would be about 1892.
718. In 1892 who vas the Minister ?-In 1891 it was Sir John Macdonald. I see

that the negotiations for the Sault Ste. Marie canal were commenced then, and that it
was arranged under order in council which was dated, the first one, the 23rd December,
1891.

By 3fr. Gibson:

719. What does that order in council recommend ?--That order in council was
passed approving of the change, providing reasonable terms and conditions could be
made with the contractors. Then negotiations were opened with the contractors and
the chief engineer in consultation with Mr. Walter Shanly. Mr. Walter Shanly was
called in and they came to an understanding that these were fair prices.

720. So the chief engineer, instead of recommending a favourable increased amount
to the contractors, took the contractors into his confidence, with Mr. Shanly, and upon
a basis?-I did not say that.

721. Was not Mr. Shanly brought in and the contractors brought before them ?-
Yes.

722. And they were to receive fifty cents per cubic yard ?-Yes.

By Mfr. Ouimet:

723. Did it coincide with the other changes, the other changes in the work ?-It
was not the date for the completion ; this was the second change.

By Mr. Gibson :

724. Now, then, I notice also that in the matter of rock excavations, the price paid
under the original contract with Hugh Ryan & Co. was ninety-five cents a cubic yard,
and the additional excavation is figured out at $1.40 a yard ?-That was arranged in
the same way.

725. Well, now, can you tell me was there anything about the total amount of the
unwatering in the original contract ?-In the original contract ?

726. Yes; how much w'as the original amount for unwatering the prism?-I do not
remember just now, but it will appear there. You see, originally, in the original con-
tract, there were to have been puddle trenches sunk alonside each side of the canal into
the rock and filled with clay puddle. That they did not do. But they preferred any
little addition of pumping, so that they might do it by pumping rather than do this
work.

727. They preferred to spend the money in pumping rather than put a dam across
the niouth of the channel. I notice here unwatering for the prism of the canal $15,000,
and the unwatering and contingencies $10,000. Now the lock-pit; it says here, un-
watering lock-pit $20,000. Then additional S35,000, and then an extra additional
again of $15,000 ?-That is under these two agreements.

728. So that they were paid in all, or will be if they are settled with, $70,000 for
unwatering ?-Yes.

729. As against $25,000 for the first unwatering ?-Yes.
730. $20,000, as 1 understand, was the original amount charged by Ryan & Co. for

unwatering ?-By the tender I could see. I really do not remember. I have no doubt
it is $20,000. That is the certificate, not the final certificate.

731. Where is the tender 7-That is not the one ; it is the entrance, that is the
lift-lock.

By 3fr. Davies:

732. Which section are vou looking for ?-No. 2, the lock.
Mr. DAVIEs.-Here it is, the contract itself. There you are.
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By Mr. Gibson :

733. Here vou see in the contract itself: "Construction of dams, providing and
working pumps, and doing everything that is required for the unwatering of the lock
pit." Now be kind enough to read that clause, please ?-The 19th item of the tender is
" Construction of dam, providing and working pumps, and doing everything that is
required for the unwateriig of the lock pit, cuts for filling and emptving culverts and
other works in the bottom of the pit and doing whatever is necessary to keep the pits
fully unwatered as specified- $20,000."

734. Now for unwatering the lock pit, or rather the prisn, in order to complete a
lock 600 feet long, the contractors were willing to keep that place dry during the coi-
pletion of the work for S20,000 ?-Yes.

735. When the Government recommended that the lock should be increased 50
feet, another arrangement was entered into by whichi the Government were willing to
allow.v the contractors for this additional unwatering of 50 feet, $35,000 ?-Tt was not
only the lengthening but the deepening. They deepened it from 16 feet 3 inches to 19
feet, and the deeper it is the greater the risk, as vou know of the water flowing in. If
you will look at this tender you will see that there were two trenches to be dug along
the side of the canal to prevent the leakage of tie water through the fissures of the lock.

736. How much deeper was it ?-From 16 feet 3 inches to 19 feet.
737. And then ?-From 19 feet to 20 feet 3 inches.
738. What is it now ?-20 feet 3 inches.
739. In the third change, when the lock was lengthened by 250 feet, f rom 650 feet

to 900 feet, you allowed -15,000 extra for unwatering 7-Yes.
740. Under the new condition of things you are aware that the lock pit was made

some 40 feet narrower than it was before ?-It was. Yes.
741. Well, would this not be balanced by the fact of a narrower prisn, 40 feet wide

and 650 feet long ?-I think you will admit the deeper you go down the greater the
danger is.

742. It is not for me to answer the question ?-It is not I arn îîswering it.
743. Is it not a fact there is a less area in a prisn 900 feet long and 60 feet wide

as against one 650 feet long and 100 feet wide ?-That is right.
744. The area is 54 to 65 ?-Yes.
745 Now you said before that this extra depth of digging required greater care.

Where was the greater care required ?-I say it was a greater risk.
746. I ask why ?-The pressure is much greater ; the deeper you get down the

pressure is greater.
747. Still the same area was required to be unwatered, in fact a less area,although

deeper, had to be unwatered. Do you not think, Mr. Schreiber, that $15,000 well spent
upon the dam would have been sufficient to protect this extra pressure you s peak about ?
-The dam ? No, this is not the dam. These that were proposed alongside of the canal
-- not at the end of the canal. We had the dams at the ends, but this was alongside the
canal to prevent water seeking its wav in from other channels. The puddle trenches
were for-

748. At all events you claim then that on account of this extra work notwith-
standing that the area was not increased-that according to this arrangement with
the contractors, the Government gave them 815.000 extra for unwatering ?-Yes, that
is what they gave them.

By Mr. Haggart:

749. What would be the difference in the contract price now under the tender-
what would b3 the difference between that and if they performed the work as originally
tendered for, the puddle trenches and all ?-I had not the carrying out of the tender.
My impression is the trenches were a very large item, I think a very large item.

750. What is your impression-that the last tender was cheaper than the others,
was it not 1-The last would be much cheaper, that is, making the trenches. There is
no doubt about that.
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By Mr. Gibson:

751. Now you spoke in reply to Mr. Davies about Portland cement being used in
the bottom of the lock. What was the contract price paid to Ryan & Co. for Portland
cement ?-No price made for Portland cement. They got a dollar extra for the use of
Portland cement in place of the native.

752. Portland cement is marked at $7 a yard for the bottom of the lock. Accord-
ing to this schedule here, Portland cement concrete was paid at $7 a yard I-Oh, yes,
$8.30 I think they got, did they not?

753. Oh, no, I want to point out that fact to you, that they were willing to under-
take to build Portland cement in the bottom of the lock for $7 a yard, according to the
original tender.-Yes.

754. Then the amount was changed to $8.30 a yard ?-$8.30 was it?
755. Yes. Now you gave the reason why they should be paid a larger sum for the

unwatering. I would like to ask you to give a reason to the committee why they
should get $1.30 a yard for concrete-for the extra concrete required in the work over
and above the price arranged for under the terms of the original concrete ?-Because
after the chief engineer and Mr. Shanly and looking into the matter and learning of the
circumstances they considered it a fair price and that is the reason why it was done.

756. Then it is just the same story: the engineer and Mr. Shanly agreed to raise
the price of this concrete as they had raised everything else ?-They agreed they thought
it was a fair price.

757. J notice, Mr. Schreiber, that there is a revetment wall here that is moneyed
out at the rate of $7 a yard, and then J notice that that is changed to $4.50. What
class of work was this that was changed ?-It was moneyed out at $7.50, was it not?

758. Yes. And there is a foot note signed by yourself which says that " the price
for the masonry for the revetment walls and cement I have placed at $4.50 per cubic
yard, pending further examination into the question, and before issuing a final estimate "
-It was $7.50 a yard in Portland cement f rom stone from a distance, from stone f rom
foreign quarries. The reason it was made $4.50 was because the sandstone out of the
canal was used.

759. Well, would you consider that of sufficient hardness, the stone we have of that
kind ?-I think so, yes.

760. Would it cover it ?-I think so, yes.
761. Is it your intention to leave that revetment wall at the present price you have

given-$4.50 as against $7.50 1-That is my intention.
762. So you don't intend to give them more than $4.50 a yard for that revetment

wall?-Only for that portion of it which is limestone, a small portion of it, which is
limestone.

763. How much did you use of that limestone ?-I could not tell you without
making up the figures now.

764. There are 6,030 yards at $4.50 a yard, $27,170 ?-I think so, yes.
765 I notice also, Mr. Schreiber, in the matter of wrought iron under the original

contract they were paid 6 cents a pound for it ?-6 cents a pound ?
766. 6 cents a pound ?-Yes.
767. What induced the government to give them 8 cents a pound ?-For the same

reason J have stated for those other increases.
768. The government were generous enough to give thein $40 a ton I-No,

they acted on the advice of Mr. Shanly and the chief engineer.
769. Exactly. Under the advice of Mr. Shanly and Mr. Trudeau, for fear these con-

tractors would not get enough money out of them they raised the price to $40 a ton.
Now, Mr. Schreiber, I notice that the extra plank in the culverts and mitre sills is $45
a thousand feet board measure paid for it I--Yes.

770. Well, now, of course, the plank required in culverts would not be of as good a
quality as that required for the flooring of a lock, Mr. Schreiber ?-Oh, it must be of the
very best.

771. For the floor of an ordinary culvert ?--Oh, no. Not for the ordinary culvert,
but for the discharge and feed culverts.
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772. And was it dressed ?-Was it what ?
773. Was it dressed? Was the plank dressed ?-I really don't remember now.
774. You don't remember, of course not. You don't know. Well, now, it was

simply bearing plank, was it not ? It was simply bearing plank, for building the pipe
of the culvert upon ?-Oh, no.

775. What was the plank used for ?-The plank is for the lining of the floor of the
culvert.

776. It was the lining of the culvert. Well, now, how did it come about that you
allowed the contractors $45 a thousand feet for the culvert as against $25 a thousind
in the lock proper ?-The only reason I can give is those two gentlemen recommended
it after looking into the matter.

777. The same generosity ?-Yes.

By Mr. Davies :

778. Do you state Mr. Shanly in his report advises the increase in the price ?-I
think you will find it there.

By the Chairman:

779. Is the report in writing ?-It is in writing there, I think.

By Mfr. Gibson :

780. Perhaps you will be able to tell us the reason why some of the cribs require
to be taken down ?-Yes, because they move forward.

781. Yes, that is a very good reason. Now tell us how they move forward 7-Fron
the pressure of the earth behind. The earth was put in during the winter season, the
filling behind, and in the summer season when it thawed and became like pudding it
pushed forward.

782. Who is looking after the filling of these cribs ?--A man named Scott.
783. Well, he could not certainly have discharged his duties very faithfully to the

government ?-What is said with regard to that by the engineer in charge there, Mr.
Crawford, is that the stone was taken out of the excavation in the winter season and in
filling the cribs there was frozen earth on the stones and that when these thawed
off that this stone settled in.

784. You were not consulted about the filling of those cribs?-In what way?
785. About them being filled in in the winter ?-We were forcing the work in the

winter.
786. At the same time if you were aware that there was frozen material that was

likely to thaw being dumped in you would have objected ?-I would not have liked it
being done, no doubt.

787. And so on account of the loose manner in which this work was done, and the
loose ice being thrown in with the pressure from behind, they thawed out ?-What I
understood is that owing to the earth being frozen on the stone, and probably some ice
also, that in the spring this stone did settle no doubt, and also with regard to the filling
of the earth behind the cribs when that thawed out, the pressure became tremendous and
it forced out.

788. Were the plans of these cribs submitted to you ?-They were made in the
office here.

789. Were they submitted to you ?-Yes.
790. And you approved of them ?-Yes.
791. And you thought they were strong enough ?-I did.
792. What reason had you for taking them down and putting them in 10 feet

wider 1-I was not aware till recently that it was so.
793. Well, as a matter of fact those cribs required to be taken down from top to

bottom and built 10 feet wider, and you knew nothing of it till now ?-I do not think
those taken down were built ten feet wider.

794. Excuse me, Mr. Schreiber, I saw them.-I saw some wider.
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795. The cribs did not move out bodily ?-The bottom did not move.
796. And the top did not move ?-No.
797. The centre moved ?-The centre moved.
798. Like a bow string ?-Yes.
799. And you braced them up ?-Yes.
800. With what ?-With concrete and timber stays.
801. How nuch did that cost ?-Well, I cannot tell you just now what it did cost.
802. It cost a large sum of money ?-No.
803. Would the cost of that bracing and the cost of the crib work have been suffi-

cient to have built the whole of that pit with inasonry from top to bottom ?-No.
804. Cati you give us a memorandum of the cost of that cribbing at another sitting?

-I cannot get it at the present time, but I can get it from Sault Ste. Marie from our
engineer there.

805. Well now, then, about this pier in the channel, how much did it cost? How
much did the substructure cost?--I cannot tell.

806. Iow many yards of masonry were there ?-I forget how many yards of
masonry there are in it. (After examining the papers.) 2,483.

807. 2,483 cubic yards of masonry in that pier ?-No, in the substructure. Not in
that one pier.

808. Give us the quantity of masonry in the pier ?-I cannot do that b-cause it is
given here the land pier, the pivot pier and this, 2,483 in them all.

809. So that in the abutments and in that pier in the centre, or rather towards
midway in the channel, there are 2,400 cubic yards ?-2,483 cubic yards.

810. Do you know the size of that pier in the centre of the channel ?-I think it is
about 14 feet at the bottom by 30 feet long.

811. 30 feet long. About how inuch would that pier and the cribbing around it
cost ?- I do not know. I could not undertake to say. If I am not correct I am told
that it is not right.

812. I am leading up to something I want to ask you and I want ycu to give the
committee some information.-I could figure it out in the office. I could not tell you now.

813. Was it not possible, in the construction of that C.P.R. bridge, to put in a
couple of panels on each side of the centre and to have e)ttended the bridge so as to
cover the whole area of the channel?-You mean when the bridge was completed to
have extended it.

814. Yes.-I submitted that to the Dominion Bridge Company to see what could
be done. I thought it could be done at no heavy expense, and they told me it would
cost pretty near as much as a new span.

$15. Well, Mr. Schreiber, did you believe them when they told you that ?-Well,
it would not cost as much, but it would cost very much more than I expected it would.

816. Well, four or five panels on each side of the centre would have spanned the
whole of that channel complete ?--Yes, but you would have to reinforce other parts of
the bridge.

817. But, Mr. Schreiber, that bridge was swung from the centre ?-It is.
818. And the lightest press was at the extreme ends?-Thev are.
819. And to have increased the carrying capacity of that bridge was only adding

to the centre and putting the ends out, you did not weaken the bridge in any way ?-Oh,
no, but when you increase the span you have to increase the strength of your bridge.

820. Quite so, and of course the upper chords radiating upwards, there was no difficulty
in increasing them I-I submitted that and to see what we could do about it.

821. Could it not have been done ?-Yes.
822. And should it not have been done ?-That is a matter of opinion. It might

have been to span the whole canal.
823. Is it not an eye sore to a beautiful piece of work ?-I think it is.
824. Is it not a dangerous eye sore ?-Well, those who planned it think not. They

think it is much safer.
825. Is there not a likelihood of a vessel missing her way some day, perhaps through

a storm or otherwise, coming through that channel, going wrong in her steerage gear
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running into that pier, or into a girder and carrying away that span ?--There is a
possibility of one running in yet.

826. There is a possibility of one running into that. Now, Mr. Schreiber, you said
that on account of a message from Sir William Van Horne that rest pier was put ii
this locality ?-No, I did not say.

827. What did you say ?-What I said was this : MIr. Van Horne wanted a pivot
pier.

828. In the middle of the canal ?-In the middle of the canal and that the prism
should be swelled out on each side, widened on each side.

MJr. GIBSN.-That would have been worse than the present rest pier.

By Mr. Haggart :

829. The present rest pier ?-Yes.

By Mr. Gibson:

830. Is it not a fact the Government had this canal in contemplation before Mr.
Van Horne built that bridge ?-Oh, yes, I think so.

831. The Canadian Pacific Railway built that bridge, did thev not ?-Yes. Built
that fixed bridge.

832. Is it not a fact' the Government had that waterway laid out before the
Canadian Pacific Railway built that portion of the line ?-I don't know. They liad it
laid out. They certainly had it in contemplation.

833. And is it not a fact Mr. Page notified thein as soon as the canal was coin-
pleted they would have to inake provision for building a bridge of sufficient length to
span the channel ?-I don't know that.

834. You never heard that before ?-I never saw the report.
835. You never saw anything in your department relating to that ?-I have seen a

plan spanning the whole channel.
836. And because Mr. Van Horne-the Canadian Pacific Railway Company-

would have been put to the additional expense of increasing the length of their bridge
the Government thought it incumbent upon them to put up a rest pier in that spot ?-I
could not tell you.

837. You could not tell us. Well, I wonder if there is anybody that can tell us?
Mr. OUIMET.-You have told us.

By _Mr. Macdonell:

838. One moment before you go on. I just want to ask you a question that will
elucidate a matter that arose out of a question by Mr. Davies. If you recollect lie
asked you about those power pipes, the contract for the power pipes ?-Yes.

839. Now, will you refresh your memory and say whether that was let by contract
or by private tender as Mr. Davies spoke of ?-Well, I could only refresh my memory
by looking it up. I don't remember.

840. Do, if you please, because as a matter of fact it was let by contract. Tenders
were asked for?-I don't remember.

By Mr. Haggart:

841. You were mistaken, it was let by tender -- I will look it up.

By Mr. Macdonell.:

842. There is another matter I would like to ask you about. Mr. Gibson asked
you about the difference in the price of earth excavation between 25 cents and 60 cents.
Do you, of your own knowledge, know how much of that earth excavation there was to
be done when that change was made, or do you know the position of the earth to be
moved when the change was to be made or when the change was made in the contract?
-I think I know the amount of it. There was 425 yards of it.
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843. 425 yards. Well now, Mr. Schreiber, can you say where the 425 yards were
situated ?-No, I don't know.

844. Do you know whether it was along the bank of the lock? As amatter of fact
it was a very small quantity ?-A very small quantity.

Mr. DAVIEs.-He says he does not know.

By Mr. Macdonell (Algoma) :

845. It was a very small quantity ?-It was 425 cubic yards.
846. 425 cubie yards at 60 cents. Well it is of no consequence ?-It is only $255.

The committee then adjourned.
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COMMITTEE BooM, No. 49,
HoUSE OF COMMONS, 14th June, 1895.

Committee met.

Mr. COLLINGWOOD SCHREIBER, Deputy Minister and Chief Engineer of Railways
and Canals, recalled and further examined.

By Mr. Haggart:

847. When were you appointed deputy minister and chief engineer of Railways and
Canals ?-On the 30th of November, 1892. On the 5th December, 1892, I entered on
my duties.

848. Have you any personal knowledge either by correspondence or conversation
with the deputy minister of canals, or the minister in charge of the department in refer-
ence to the Sault Ste. Marie Canal prior to that date ?-No, none whatever.

849. Then all your knowledge about the Sault Ste. Marie Canal consists of and is
obtained from documents in your pissession or that you find in the department ?-Yes.

850. Up to that date ?-Yes.
851. Will you look at this, Mr. Scireiber, and read it. It is a leter to the Hon.

Mackenzie Bowell, dated December 17th, 1891. Do you find that in the department?
-Yes.

852. That is a recital of all the transactions, all the changes of contract and the
reasons for the changes up to that date in the department ?-Yes, that recites them al]
I think. It is contained in volume 1 of the exhibits.

853. I would like that memorandum and the report of the engineer to Mr. Mac-
kenzie Bowell, the memorandum to Council and the order in council read. Read them
in order, please.

Witness then read the following:

OTTAWA, December 17th, 1891.

"Honourable MACKENZIE BOWELL,
" Acting Minister of Railways and Canals.

"SIR,-In accordance with your request, I have the honour to submit further infor-
mation respecting the Sault Ste. Marie Canal.

" This request is made in view of observations in parliament by Mr. Gibson, M. P.,
and Sir Richard Cartwright, upon the expediency of increasing the width of the gate
openings to the full width of the proposed lock, namely, 100 feet, and of your promise
to the House that the point should receive consideration.

"Under the original scheme for the construction of this work, as covered by the con
tract made with Messrs. Hugh Ryan & Co., on the 20th of November, 1888, the princi-
pal features were as follows:

" ORIGINAL SCHEME.

(1) Length of chamber (between lock gates)................ 600 feet
Breadth of chamber................................... 85
Breadth of gate openings............................ 60
Depth of water on mitre sills............ .............. 16
Number of vessels of largest Welland Canal type (255 feet

long) to be passed at one lockage..................... 2
Estimated cost......................................$985,000
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" This first scheme was subsequently modified to increase the accommodation at one
lockage from two to four vessels, and it at present stands as follows:

(2> Length of chamber (between lock-gates) ............... e50 feet.
Breadth of chamber...... >......................... 100
Breadth of gate openings........................... . 60
Depth of water on mitre sills........................ 19 "
iNumber of vessels, 255 feet long (largest Welland canal

type), to be passed at one lockage................. 4
Estimated cost...................................$1,205,000

"Under this scheme the extra accommodation was to be obtained by increasing the
width of the lock chamber, thus allowing four vessels to lie together in pairs; an ar-
rangement which, while meeting the requirements of additional accommodation at
probably the minimum of cost, is open, undoubtedly, to the difficulties that attach to
the close proximity of several vessels in a narrow space, and the placing them in the
requisite positions,-difficulties that can only be met by extreme care on the part of
those in charge of both vessels and works.

"In order to secure this accommodation with gate openings of the size, 60 feet, con-
sidered desirable, it was necessary to narrow the lock at both entrances to that width,
leaving a chamber in which two out of four of the vessels it might contain would have
to lie out of the straight channel.

" To avoid this difficulty, and yet accommodate four vessels, two courses are open:
either to increase the width of the gate openings to the full width of the chamber (100.
feet), or to lengthen the chamber.

" The following scheme, No. 3, shows the leading features of a lock with the wide
gates :-

(3) Length of chamber (between lock-gates)...... ..... ... 600 feet.
Breadth of chamber ......................... ....... 100
Breadth of gate openings ........................... 100
Depth of water on mitre sills......................... 19 "

Number of vessels of largest Welland canal type (255 feet
long) to be passed at one lockage, (two vessels side
by side). ..................................... 4

Estimated cost.... z..............................$1,711,000

"I do not advise the adoption of lock-gate openings 100 feet wide.
"Gates of the dimensions requisite to cover an opening of this width would, of ne-

cessity, be large, each gate being 56 feet wide and 44 feet in height; and though, per-
haps, (being moved by hydraulic power,) the difficulty of operation would not begreatly
increased by reason of their size, yet, in the event of accident, it would be a 'serious
matter, involving considerable delay, to replace them. Further, the cost of fivesetsof
gates of such dimensions would be an item to be taken into account.

"I f ullv recognize the advantages of a straight entrance and exit into and out of the
chamber, but consider that these advantages would be better attained by increasing the
length of the lock and reducing the breadth. In the event of future extension of lock
accommodation, two narrow locks, built side þy side, would, no doubt, be found to be a
convenient arrangement.

"The question becomes mainly one of cost.
"To lengthen the lock chamber to such extent as to accommodate four vessels end

on end, the scheme would be as follows:-

(4) Length of chamber (between lock gates) ............. 1,100 feet.
Breadth of chamber............................... 60 "
Breadth of gate openings........................... 60
Depth of water over mitre sills ....................... 19 "

Number of vesséls of largest Welland Canal type (255
feet long) to' be passed at one lockage.. . . 4

Estimated cost................................... $1,770,000
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" If, however, the Government should decide, after due consideration of the questions
involved, to adopt a lock accommioJating three vessels, only, in place of four, the desired
provision of straight entrances could be made without the incurrence of so leavy an
expenditure. The following scheme would meet the.e requirements

(5) Length of chamber (between lock gates) .............. .830 feet.
Breadth of chamber ................................. .. 60
Breadth of gate openings........................... ;60
Depth of water over mitre sills ........................ 19
Number of vessels of largest Welland Canal type (255

feet long) to be passed at one lockage........... . . 3
Estim ated cost..................................... $1,521,000

Comparing the cost of these several schemes, the results are as follows :

(1) Original scheme, depth 16 feet, accommodating 2 vessels.. $ 985,180
(2) Present or modified scheme, depth 19 feet (accommnnodating

4 vessels side by side)................. . ....... 1,205,000
(3) 600 feet x 100 feet, with gates 100 feet wide, depth 19

feet (accommodating 4 vessels side by side) ........ 1,711,000
(4) 1,100 feet x 60 feet, with gates 60 feet wide, depth 19

feet (accommodating 4 vessels, end on end)....... .. 1,770,000
(5) 830 feet x 60 feet, with gates 60 feet wide, depth 19 feet

(accommodating 3 vessels, end on end) ............ 1,521,000

" Iwould recomniend the adoption of scheme No. 5, contemplating a lock 830 feet
long, 60 feet wide, with gate openings 60 feet wide, and with 19 feet of water over the
silis at extreme low stages of lake level, which is equivalent to 20 feet at average level,
the limit of the American canal.

"I may, however, observe that a still further scheme has been suggested by which
provision would be made for one lake vessel 320 feet long and two Welland Canal type
vessels 255 feet long. There are no engmineering objections to such a scheme, which mav
be indicated as follows :

(6) Length of chamber (between lock gates). ............ ... 900 feet.
B readth ................................... . .. . .. 60
Breadth of gate openings................ ......... ... 60
Depth of water over mitre sils ............... ...... ... 19
Number of vessels to be passed at one lockage ....... 3
Estimated cost ...... ............................. $1,600,000

(The increase in cost over the scheme No. 5 would be -79,000.)

"In the event of any change being now mad- in the direction indicated during the
discussion in Parliament upon this question, I should be instructed at an early date to
obtain f rom the contractors a price for which they -would agree to perform the requisite
additional work involved, in ord-r to the subnission of the whole matter for further
consideration.

I have the honour to be, Sir,
Your obedient servant,

(Signed) " T. TRUDEAU,
Chief Engineer of Canals."

"JDecember 23rd, 1891.
"(Memorandum.)

" The undersigned has the honour to represent that in pursuance of a promise made
to Parliament last session, he has caused further consideration to be gi ven to the question
of constructing the entrance and exit to the Sault Ste. Marie canal, no w under contract,
in a straight line with the walls of the lock chamber, and has obtained f rom the chief
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engineer of canals a report dated the 17th inst., accompanied by an explanatory diagram,
indicating the modes by which the desired end can be reached, giving at the same time
the main features of several practicable schemes, and their individual and imperative cost.

" The undersigned would observe that two of the schemes so submitted by the chief
engineer offered the desired advantages. One (No. 5) contemplating a chamber 830
feet long and 60 feet wide, with gate openings 60 feet wide, and a depth of 19 feet of
water over the sills, such chamber to accommodate three vessels of the largest Welland
Canal type (255 feet long).

" The estimated cost of such a lock he sets down at $1,521,000, as against the
estimated cost of the work as as present under contract of $1,205,000.

" This scheme the chief engineer recommends. At the same time, however, he sub-
mits a further scheme (No. 6) which, in place of three vessels, each 255 feet in length,
there would be accomnodated at one lockage one lake vessel 320 feet long and two 255
feet long, the length of the lock chamber being increased to 900 feet, and the cost of
the work to $1,600,000, an increase of $79,000 ; the other features of the scheme being
the same as those of No. 5. To this scheme the chief engineer states that no engineer-
ing objections exist.

"The undersigned submits as part of his present memorandum a copy of the report
of the chief engineer, and considering that the additional accommodation to be afforded
by scheme No. 6, may be regarded as fully equivalent to the increase in cost, further
having in view the possible development of traffic at this point, recommends that the
scheme No. 6 above mentioned be adopted, provided that reasonable terms and con-
ditions can be made with the contractor, covering the necessary amendments and alter-
ations to the work as at present being carried out. Such terms, conditions, amendments
and alterations to be subject to the approval of the Governer in Council.

"iRespectfully submitted,

(Signed) "M. BOWELL.

"A cting Minister of Railways and Canals."

OTTAWA, 24th December, 1891.

"On a memorandum dated 23rd December, 1891, from the acting Minister of Rail-
ways and Canals, representing that in pursuance of a promise made to Parliament last
session, he has caused further consideration to be given to the question of constructing
the entrance and exit of the Sault Ste. Marie canal, now under contract, in a straight
line with the walls of the lock chamber, and has obtained from the chief engineer of
canals a report, dated the 17th December, instant, accompanied by an explanatory
diagram indicating the modes by which the desired end can be reached, giving at the
same time the main features of several practical schemes and their individual and im-
perative cost.

"The minister observes that two of the schemes so submitted by the chief engineer
offer the desired advantages, one, No; 5, contemplating a chamber 830 feet long and 60
feet wide, with gate openings 60 feet wide, and a depth of 19 feet of water over the
sills, such chamber to accommodate three vessels of the largest Welland Canal type
(255 feet long).

" The estimated cost of such a lock he sets down at $1,521,000, as against the esti-
mated cost of the work as at present under contract of $1,205,000. This scheme the
chief engineer recommends. At the same time, however, he submits a further scheme,
No. 6, by which in place of three vessels, each 255 feet in length, there would be accom-
modated at one lockage one lake vessel 320 feet long, and two 255 feet long, the length
of the lock chamber being increased to 900 feet, and the cost of the work to $1,600,000,
an increase of $7 9,000, the other features of the scheme being the same as those of No.
5. To.this scheme the chief engineer states that no engineering objections exist.

" The minister submits herewith a copy of a report of the chief engineer, and con-
sidering that the additional accommodation to be afforded by scheme No. 6 may~be
regarded as f ully equivalent to the increase in cost, further having in view the possible
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development of traffic at this point, recommends that the scheme No. 6 above mentioned
be adopted, provided that reasonable terms and couditions can be made with the con-
tractor, covering the necessary amendmients and alterations to the work as at present
being carried out ; such terms, conditions, amendments and alterations to be subject to
the approval of the Governor in Council.

" The committee recommend the adoption of the above report of the M inister of
Railways and Canals.

(Sd.) "JOHN J. MCGEE,

By Mr. Haggart : " Clerk, lrivy Council."

853a. Then after that report to council, what was the next change ?--The report to
council deals chiefly with the change to 900 feet in length, 60 feet in width and 20 feet
3 inches on the mitre sill.

By 3r. Davies :

854. On the mitre sill ?-20 feet 3 inches.
855. I don't think you are right in that ?-Yes.
856. I don't think so ?-19 feet.
857. I have the document in my hand ?-Well, one moment ; 19 feet probably in

that, but when that change was made it was made for 20 feet 3 inches.
858. But the document from which you were reading expressed it " length, 900

feet, breadth, 60 feet, breadth of gate opening, 60 feet, depth of water on the mitre sill,
19 feet."-Following that you will find another order in council making it 20 feet 3
inches.

By 3/r. Haggart:

859. Which was the depth on the American locks ?-Yes, J understand that.
860. Did that entail any additional cost, the change from 19 feet to 20 feet 3 inches?

-Oh, yes, necessarily so.
861. Eh ?-Necessarily so.
862. You do not know the amount ?-I could not tell you the difference between

the two.
863. Mr. Thompson the engineer in charge of the work would be more likely to

speak accurately as to the effect of the change ?-I think so too, decidedly.
864. You would be surprised to learn that the change would cost hardly anything,

the dropping down of the mitre sill?-Yes, I would.
865. Very little; it would not cost anything ?-He would know.
866. However, we will be able to get that information from the officer in charge.

Then that is the only change from this Order in Council as the lock is constituted at
present, the change of the depth on the mitre sill from 19 feet to 20 feet 3 inches ?-
That is what I learned from the document.

867. Mr. Gibson was asking you the other day, and mentioning a change in the
schedule price of earth from 25 cents to 60 cents. You don't know the amount of
material that was affected by that change ?-That was 415 yard. I think I stated
the other day, 400 and sonie odd yards.

868. Do you know any particulars in reference to that material, do you know what
it was that was excavated ?-No, I don't remember.

869. Mr. Thompson would know it. Mr. Gibson was asking you too about the
change in price on rock material from 95 cents to $1.40 1-Yes.

870. You don't know anything about that ?-No, I could not tell.
871. He was asking you about the increased price allowed to the contractor for the

unwatering of the canal. You remember that ?-Yes.
872. Will you look at the original contract and see what it would have coit to have

unwatered that and carried it out, and what is the difference between it and the last
change that was made ?-From the moneying out of the tenders
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873. First of all give it to me for 16 feet of navigation, what it would cost for the
unwatering and the puddled trenches ? Give me first the puddled trenches ?-The
puddled trenches were first : " Earth excavation inside and end trenches, $4,500."

874. Yes ?-" Rock excavation (the same) $25,500. Unwatering trenches on sides
and ends of canal during the work, $12,500."

875. Yes ?-" Puddled clay inside and end trenches furnished, delivered, &c.,
829,700. Earth excavation in trenches on all four sides of lock at $1,800. Rock, ditto,
$35,000. Unwatering trenches on all four sides of lock-pit, $12,500."

By fr. Davies :

87.5a. That is in twice, you have read that before ?-No.
iMr. IIAGGAT-The end trenches. These are the other trenches.
(Witness resuming) "Puddled clay in trenches furnished and delivered, $23,400."

Tliat makes $144,900 in connection with the puddled trenches. Then " forming dam
at upper end of section and drainage outlet above lock and unwatering prism of canal
during progress of work, &c., 815,000. Construction of dams, providinz and working
pumps and doing everything for the unwatering of the lock pit, cuts for filling and other
works in the bottom of the pit, &c., S20,000.

By Mr. Gibson :

876. Would you allow me for a moment. Is this extra amount you are now giving
the result of the change from 19 feet ?-No, no; this is for 16 feet.

877. This is only an estimate though ?-This is the moneying out of the tenders.

By Mr. Haggart:

878. Then for the lock at 16 feet navigation the unwatering and the puddled
trenches would have cost $179,900 ?-That is according to the moneying out of the
tenders.

879. How inuch of that work was done and what was expended on it, and in what
form. Take the first item ?-Item 2, $750.10, that is the earth excavation.

880. Item 3 ?-$1,110.
881. Item 4 ?-8500.
882. Item 5 ?-Nothing.
883. Item 6 ?--Nothing.
884. Item 7 ?-Nothing.
885. Item 8 ?-Nothing.
886. Item 9 ?-Nothing
887. Item 12 ?-$14,250.
888. Item 19 ?-$20,000.
889. MWhat is the total?-Making a total of $35,611.
890. Leaving a balance of ?-$144,289.
891. Add to that the puddle trenches extended to the length of the lock of 20 ft.

3 in. on the mitre sili. What would be the additional cost as compared with the old
lock of $179,900, if we apply these figures to a depth of 20 ft. 3 in. on the mitre sill
with the increased length. I want to know what would be the probable extra cost of
ca.rrying out the original plan under the new conditions ?-Well, that is very diffBcult to
arrive at. These trenches would have to be increased in depth 4 feet, and of course
the deeper you go the more expensive it would be.

892. Well, give it to me approximately ?-Well, Mr. Thompson could give you that
bet er, but it would be very much more in proportion for the work done.

893. It would be more than a quarter extra price, anyway ?-Yes.
894. Then the cost of doing that work according to the original plan and this par-

ticular kind of work that Mr. Ryan had to do would cost in the neighbourhood, any-
way, of $215,000 ?-I should think it would.

Mr. Davies objected to this line of examination.
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By Mr. Haggart:

895. Add 25 per cent to 8179,000 ?-ln round numbers, *45,000.
896. Add 815,000 to 8179,000 ?-Call it 8180,000, that is S225,000.
897. What did you get all this work done for under the contract as last let to Mr.

Rvan ?-95,611.
898. Yes. What was the saving under the new arrangement Well, call it 895,000

and 8225,000. I said before I think, that would be -130,000.

By 3fr. Dares:

899. What would be 8130,000 ?-The difference between what it cost and wh at it
would have cost under the original contract with the puddle treniches and that 25 per
cent added to it.

By Mr. Mulock

900. But you left out sonie of the work ?-Yes.

By M1r. Davies :

901. The cost of the work originally you put at $179,000 ?--$1I 80,000 in round
n unbers.

Bg 3fr. Hlaggartf:

902. The saving upon the plan latterly adopted as coilpared with the cost if tie
original plan had been followed would be a differ nee of how mlluch ?-A differece of
.8130,000, on the basis J have stated.

By Mr1. Daviles

903. What did vou say Ryan did it for ?- 60,000 and 835,611. That is 895,611.

By Mr. Haggart :

904 I see a statement here in the (lobe " It appeared fromr Mr. Gibs ns cross
examination that the contractors received 85 per cubic yard under the original eontract
for nasonry in the lock and $12.60 per cubie yard unde-r tie new arrangemreit." What
were the a itual changes ?-The actual changes were fr;mi Il. I shal have to Iok
first. It was $11, something to S12.60. In one case it would be fron ýil 1 to 816, iii the
other from 811 to $12.60.

905. What was the reason assigned for the increased price allowed theur ? Do you
know ?-I do not know.

906. You do not know anything about the increased price given thirem for the
bolts ?-No.

907. You do not know anything about the increased pr:ce alleged to have been
given them for the timber ?--No.

908. You do not know anything about that No.
909. Now we can come down to the two points for which you are resporsible. The

suggestion of the G4overnrment for the completion of the work a year sooner than con-
tracted for, for which there is 890,000. Do you know whether that was sufficient
remuneration for the contractor to do it within a year or not ? 1 really do not know.
That was before I had anything to do with it.

910. You made a reference to me in respect to the C.P.R. bridge across the canlai.
Can you tell me the number of yards in that pier ?-550.

911. What was the contract price for building the bridge ?-819,400 for the
superstructure.

912. What would be the cost of the superstructure without the pier there ?-
According to the bridge engineer for the department, 845,000.

913. You had some correspondence with parties, and you got the engineer of the
department to make an estimate, what it would cost to strengthen the present bridge
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that had been contracted foi, for a span that would reach across. Have you got the
correspondence ? Have you got the officer's report upon the subject ?-I think it is
among the papers filed.

914. I do not know whether it is here or not ?-Yes, I think it is there.
915. Read the whole of it, but first of all do you know anything of the reasons

why the bridge was built with a pier ?-No, I do not.
Witness then read the following:-

" Memo. re extension of arm of the Sault Ste. Marie swing bridge to shore abutment
renioval of present plate girder span

To effect the object desired would require either a new superstructure, or an addi-
tion of about 75 feet in length to the canal span, and counter-weighting the short span
or short arm.

" The increased length of canal span with augmented dead and live loading, the
counter-weighting of short arm would produce stresses in the truss niembers, turntable,
&c., of more than double those upon which various members of the truss were propor-
tioned, and cause a lower factor of safety than is permitted in bridge designing, also
more than doubling the permissible stresses of the Government specification.

"To reinforce the various members effected so that the stresses would not exceed the
conditions of specification would not be economical, and I may say impractically the
superstructure would require to be removed and entirely rebuilt, the cost of which would
be greater than the construction of a new superstructure and the result not so satis-
factory a piece of work.

" A new bridge could be constructed with a long and short arm, but it would be
preferable, if not too expensive, to make both arms of the same length by moving back
the abutnent.

"The cost of a new superstructure, including machinery required to operate it by
eleetric power, would be about ;45,000. It would requi-e to be erected in winter, either
using the present bridge or diverting the track which ever would be considered most
economical by the contractors.

" ROBERT C. DOUGLAS.
OTTAwA, 31st October, 1894.

P. S.--Since writing the above I have had, as directed, an interview with Mr.
Johnson, the result of which will be found in appended letter.

" 5th Novenber, 1894. R. C. D."
The WITNESS-Do you wish nie to read the letter appended? It is from Mr.

Johnson, the engineer of the Dominion Bridge Co.
Mr. HAGGARtT-It is a letter agreeing with it and giving his reasons. Perhaps

Mr. Gibson would like to hear it.
Mr. G1isox--Yes, I would like to hear it.
Witness then read the following:

"DommîoN BRIDGE COMPANY (Limited),
"WoRKs AT LACIHINE LocKs, P.Q.,

" MONTREAL, 1st November, 1894.
" . C. DoUC.LAs, Esq., C.E.,

Department of Railways and Canals,
" Ottawa, Ont.

" Re the Sault Ste. Marie Canal swing.

DEAR SIR,--As stated to you verbally, I consider it wholly impracticable to
lengthen the bridge as suggested, the proposed addition of 75 feet to one end and
counterweighting the other, increasing the strains in most of the inembers two to three-
fold, and it is simply imposible to reinforce the different members to make them safe
under the changed conditions. I am well satisfied that the ecnomical thing to do is
to replace the present structure by an entirely new one. It is possible that the present
floor system and a few of the truss members might be worked into a new swing to fair
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advantage, but the remaining portion of the old bridge would be of little value. The
metal could not even be sold for scrap, except after cutting up, and this with the cost
of transportation to any rolling mill would use up nearly its whole scrap value If the
whole bridge is kept on hand it can be worked in somewhere else, but perhaps not
speedily.

"I should presume that the new structure 400 feet or so over all or with one 200
foot aim and the other counterweighted to suit present masonry would cost somewhere
in the neighbourhood of $45,000 or $48,000, including electric motors for turning, but
not including electric generator. The present structure could :only be replaced during
the winter months when there is no navigation.

"Yours very truly,

4DOMINION BRIDGE COMPANY (Limited),

by Phelps Johnson, Manager."

By fr. Gibson:

915a. What is the date of that, Mr. Schreiber ?-That is November 1st, 1894.
916. Yes. I notice in this report, Mr. Schreiber, that the Dominion Bridge Coin-

pany's engineer states that the old material of the bridge would on]y be good for scrap?
-Yes.

917. What opinion have you got to give on that ?-Weil, the bridge could b)e taken
to pieces and rebuilt somewhere else. There is no doubt about that. It would all be
available for a bridge of that span anywhere.

918. Now, Mr. Schreiber, you have had a good deal of experience as a railway en-
gineer in bridge building. Is it possible, as I stated the other day, to have put in about
70 feet into the centre of that bridge and still carry the bridge ?-That is the idea i had
and Mr. Haggart had. We both held that view, and did not think it would cost
anything like $45,000.

919. Do you think an addition of 70 feet would cost $45,000? -We did not think
so.

920. Do you see any necessity of adopting the plan followed by Mr. Douglas of
extending the bridge only at one end and bringing unfair strains at the other end ?-
Taking away the pier in the canal, you would have to counterbalance the short linb.
That could be done.

921. But what I want to get at is what is your opinion in regard to a short limb I
Is there any necessity for a short limb ?-No. You could remove the abutnents fur-
ther back.

922. Remove the abutments of the bridge and extend the bridge fron the centre ?
- -Quite so.

923. In doing that you say 70 feet would be required ?-At each end.
924. That is 140 feet?-Yes.
925. Would that cost $45,000 ?-Well, I don't think so.

By Mr. Haggart :

926. You know nothing of the reasons for the building of the bridge in the form
in which it was ?--No, I don't know.

927. The engineer in charge of the works would know that ?-Mr. Thompson will
know that, he knows all about it.

By Mr. Davies :

928. Perhaps I may have misunderstood you, but did you say that it would have
cost the difference between $19,000 and $45,000 to have a bridge covering the whole
width of the canal instead of a bridge resting on the pier ?-I did not say that. Let
me understand ; would it originally have cost $45,005 to have built the big span ?

929. Yes.-I think it would.
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930. And the cost of the span as built, the bridge as built was 819,000 ?-$19,400.
931. And the change to a bridge across would have been the difference between the

$19,000 and the $45,000 ?-I don't say that. There would be the cost of the pier in the
canal would come out of that, the 550 yards measurement would come out of that. That
would be $6,600.

932. Then no matter who had to pay the cost-deducting the cost of the pier from
the cost of a complete bridge from side to side of the canal what w ould be the difference
between the work as constructed and a bridge extending froin side to side ?-About
$19,000.

933. And that is deducting the $26,000 is it ?-The 326,000, it should be.
934. Is that also deducting the cost of the fixed bridge from the span-there is a

fixed bridge? -Oh, you would have the value of the fixed bridge, you would have that.
I have not deducted that, the value of that would be deducted also.

935. What would that be ? Would you not have to take that into consideration?
-Oh, yes. That would have to be taken into consideration, that would be an addition.

By Mfr. Gibson :

936. In the price you gave of $19,400 for spanning the bridge pier in the centre of
the canal, does that include crib-work ?-No, it does not.

937. That would go to the credit of the new bridge ?-Yes. I think that is some
P7,000 or $8,000; yes, it would.

938. The crib-work would go to the credit by $7,000 or $8,000 ?-Yes.
939. And how many yards of masonry were there ?-There is $6,600 of masonry-

55J at $12 would be -6,600. That is 73 feet span.
940. Then there was that greater span at the end of the centre, Mr. Schreiber, how

nuch would that cost ?-I don't remember what that would cost. I think probably
there would be about 837,000 fromn $45,000.

941. 337,000 from $,45,000 ?-Yes.
942. So that if you had really built a new bridge there would only have been a

difference of S8,000 altogether, and removing all that unsightly thing from the centre
of the canal ?--Yes, that is if it had been originally done so.

By Mr. Haggart :

943. I was asking you about the lock ?-Yes.
944. What is the character of the work there ?-In what way?
945. As a workmanlike piece of work ?-I believe it to be first-class in every

respect.
946. Did you ever see on the continent of Arnerica or anywhere else work of any

kind equal to it in character ?-No, I have never seen finer masonry built anywhere,
and the timber work in the culverts, I believe that to be thoroughly good.

947. Thoroughly good ?-Yes.
948. Do you know anything of the prices that were paid for a similar lock in the

neighbourhood there, within half a mile of it, by the United States Government ?-I
think the engineer there told me it was going to cost 34,000,000.

949. Oh, I mean as to the schedule price a yard ?-No; weil, I don't know.
950. I will be able to show it to you afterwards. The material in our lock I think

is better ?-The backing is very far superior to the backing in the lock of the American
canal.

951. What kind of cement was used in the construction of our lock and what kind
was used in the American lock ?-The cement used in our lock is Portland cement; that
used on the American lock, in the backing, is native cenent.

952. You have been over the two locks ?-The American ?
953. Yes, both ?-Oh, yes.
954. I will not ask you for a comparison because it may be invidious ?-Oh, well,

the lock over there is a very fine lock also, there is no doubt about it. I say the~lock
over there is a fine lock, a fine piece of work.
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955. Fine work ?-Oh, yes.
956. Unfortunately in their lock for somie reason or other the native cemnent ex-

panded and cracked and our lock as constructed is perfect in every respect ?-Perfect
in every respect.

957. And it is the best piece of nasonry and the best piece of work you ever saw
in your life ?-I never saw a better piece of work.

By -ir. Gibson:

958. You saw the result of that crack in the Armerican lock ?-Well, I don't like
talking about their locks it is a capital piece of work.

By 3fr. Miulock:

959. What are the dimensions of the Anerican canal?-Eight hundred feet, the
new one I think-800 feet by 100 feet wide.

Mr. MULOCK-You were cormencing to give a comparison of the cost of the whole
work, were you?

Mr. HAsATar-No, no. The schedule price per cubic yard. He did not know?
WITNESS-NO.

By Mfr. 3acdonell:

960. Mr. Scbreiber, if you recollect the other day when you were giving evidence,
Mr. Davies asked you a question about the contract for the power pipes. You answered
Mr. Davies that no tenders had been asked for-that tie contract wyas not advertised.
Have you looked that up silice ?-Yes. I was under that impression for the moment,
but I was wrong.

961. Will you explain to the committee what the facts are ii connection witlh that ?
-Tenders were invited which tenders are upon the table here now.

962. So that that $67,000 or S69,000 worth of work was let to Ilugl RvanL & Co.
by tender ?-Yes.

By 3fr. Gibson:

963. I notice that in the two tenders mentioned by Mr. Maedonell-that is the
Central Bridge Co. and Mr. Waddell-that they retired f rom the contract ? Yes.

964. On what ground, do you know ?--Yes. They wanted the Governient to

guarantee the pumnping out-guarantee them free froin any cost of pumnping. They
wanted to have it laid dry for them.

965. Well, what then ?-Well, I did not mention-I thouglt it, was uniderstood
in the specification. I mentioned nothing about it and when -

By Mr. Davies :

966. Which are you speaking of now ?-That applies to both paruies tendering.
967. That is the unwatering, is it ?-Yes.
96S. The unwatering was not nentioned in the specification ?-I did not mention

it in the specification, I thought it would be well understood.

By Mfr. Gibson:

969. So that when this was mentioned to these contractors they took alarm and
withdrew froin the contract ?-Yes. They would not undertake to arrange for the nn-
watering.

970. Now, in the case of the Central Bridge, they say they find "that other work
now under contract is to be executed concurrently with the work that we have tendered
for. Therefore, we find that it would be impossible to have such possession of the site
that would enable us to carry on our work without interfering with the work now in
progress, and at the same time incurring a greater cost on work, and a greatly increased
cost on our plant." Do you know the reason why they could not get possession of the
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ground to do this work ?-No, I don't know the reason why they should not have
possession of it, if they did not interfere with the other contractors, but the other con-
tractors had under their contract the use of all that iron.

971. Yes. So that the other contractors were really handicapped, because, notwith-
standing they were the lowest tenderers, the other tenderers could object to their going
on and interfering with their work ?-I think they could.

972. But could not the government have insisted in the specifications that those
tendering for this work should have free access to the works ?-I don't think they could,
when inviting these tenders.

973. Well, then, that practically meant, in other words, that nobody else could do
this work except Ryan & Co.?-Unless they arranged with them, I think.

974. Yes. That was not mentioned in your specification at all?-No; it was not.
975. Dont you think it should have been ?-Well, it would have been better, no

doubt.
976. It would .have been better if it had been mentioned in the specification ?-

Yes : I think it would.
977. It would also have been better if the attention of the parties tendering for

this work had been called to the fact that they were responsible for any leakage that
took place during the work, and so made an arrangement with the other contractors ?-
T think so ; yes.

978. That was altogether forgotten in the specification?-It was not done. You
are not speaking of the original ?

979. I am speaking of this specification now. That is the original specification ?-
Yes.

980. I am not speaking about the general work. So that in this specification no
notice was given, or rather, no objectionable features were pointed out that had to be
overcome by the other contractors ?-No; they were supposed to go and look for them-
selves.

981. Quite so; but is that the usual practice ?-Well, I don't know, I am sure.
It is the usual practice people should go and look for themselves.

982. That is not what I am asking here. Is it not the usual practice for an en-
gineer to point out difficulties of this character to parties intending to tender ?-Well,
I think it would have been better if I had drawn their attention to it.

983. Why, of course ; and the result is, these men were scared of the work, and it
was left to Ryan & Co. to do the contract ?--Well, I don't know.

984. Well, you can see the purport of these letters, that, not being able to get
possession of the work, they were obliged to withdraw their tender?-(No answer.)

By Mr. Macdonell:

985. The original specification for this work provides that the contractors should
have the ground in the vicinity of where their work was ?-That is the 1888 contractors;
yes.

986. Well, now, what I want to make plain is this, that had you put a clause in the
specification providing for these tenders you would be taking away f rom the contractors
under the 1888 specification something that you would have no right to take from them.
In other words you could not by your specification for this contract that we are speak-
ing of now, give the contractors that would come under those tenders any right to the
ground upon which the other contractors were working ?-No.

987. So that if you had put that clause in the specification it would really be
inoperative, or if you attempted to enforce it you would incur a claim for damages from
the contractors ?-Unless they had arranged with the contractors.

988. It is merely to make the thing plain, that if in drawing that specification you
had put such a clause in as suggested by Mr. Gibson you would certainly be running a
risk of having a very large claim for damages from either one contractor or the other-

Mr. DAVIES objected to Mr. Macdonell asking leading questions.
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By Mr. Haggart:

989. Let me ask a few questions to elucidate this. It would be impossible for two
contractors to occupy the same ground in building the works which wou!d be near one
another, and very correctly the man who drew up the original plan laid it out only for
one?-You could not have a contractor coming in where another had conimenced.

990. Was it not contemplated anyway that there would be noue of this work for
the purpose of building the gates and the water power until after this contract was com-
pleted and through ?-Until certain parts of it were completed.

991. Until certain parts of it were completed ?--Yes.
992. So that certain parties who came afterwards to build the water power would

not interfere at all with the original contractor ?-Quite so.
993. That was contemplated in the original specification in the first instance ?-

Yes.
994. What was the reason that it was changed ? Was it on account of the neces-

sity of having the work done in a hurry, in a vear before the tinie contemplated ?-I do
not think there were any conditions made in connection with the last change.

995. But the pipes had to be put in in a hurry ?-Yes.
996. And the original intention was to wait until the contractor had finisbed his

work ?-Yes.
997. And then the subsequent works were to be put in ?-Yes.

By Mr. Davies :

998. So that as a matter of fact I understand froin you that when the changes
were made in this work as to which Mr. Gibson bas examined you, the original contract
was so drawn as to preclude any other man from tendering ?-I do not say that.

999. From carrying out the work ?-No, I do iot think that the conitractor could
carry out the work of putting in those pipes while these other contractors were at work,
without they were completed.

1000. And therefore no other con tractor than Messrs. Ryan could tender and carry
the work out?- It would be very difficult to do.

1001-02. Have you not told Mr. Macdonell it would be impossible. ?-Yes, it woubl.
Mr. DAVIES.-Then it was a farce to call for tenders ?
Mr. MACDONELL-I do not think Mr. Schreiber said it was impossible.

By 3fr. Cochrane:

1003-04. Did you say it was a farce calling for tenders ?-1 did nlot say it was a
farce asking for tenders.

By Mr. Davies:

1005. Mr. Schreiber, I want to ask you one or two questions about the tenders for
the lock gates ?-Yes.

1006. Which you mentioned in connection with the steel pipes ?-Yes.
1007. There were tenders called for for the lock gates of the Sault Ste. Marie Canal?

-Yes.
1008. There were three tenders put in ?-Three, I think, yes.
1009. Hugh Ryan's, Frederick Toms's and the Hamilton Bridge Co. ?-Yes, J

think so.
1010. Hugh Ryan's $67,000, Frederick Toms's $73,000 and the Hamilton Bridge Co.

$54,000 ?-Yes, I think so.
1011. The specifications on which these tenders were called for did not provide for

the unwatering of the canal ?--No.
1012. But after the Hamilton Bridge Co. got the tender then you inserted a clause

requiring the canal to be unwatered ?-The reason
1013. I do not want the reason but the fact ?-No, that is not it. If there was no

water to take out of the canal it would have been all right.
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1014. I will read the words you inserted ?-I remember inserting them perfectly.
1015. The wordsyou added were: "48th section. The lump sum in the tender must

embrace the cot of any unwatering of the canal that may be found necessary "?-Yes.
1016. Tat was not in the specification for the tenders? It was added after the

Hamilton Bridge Co. 's tender was accepted ?-Oh, yes ; it was added on the second
tendering, I think.

1017. And as a consequence of your adding on that, the Hamilton Bridge Co. said
they would not abide by the tender ?- -No, not at all.

1018. Well, will you take that letter of theirs and read it and see whether I am
right or not ?-l will mike an explanation after.

1019. Read te letter, you can make the explanation after.
Witness then read the following letter:

"TIHE HAMILTON BRIDGE COMPANY, LIMITED,
" HAMriNLT , CANADA, September 8th, 1893.

The Hon. JolN HAGGART,
Minister of Railways and Canals,

" Ottawa.

DEAR Sriui,--As the contract for the construction and erection of the lock gate for
the Sault Ste. Marie Canal, for whieh we tendered some tine ago, has a clause in it re-
garding the unwatering of the canal, which was not mentioned in the specifications, and
which we did not contemplate in our tender, and that if any unwatering had to be done,
it would be at a large expPnse not provided for in our tender, we would therefore beg
leave to withdraw our tender for this work upon the understanditg that our security
cheque of $1,500 will be returned unless the government will protect us against the
additional expense of unwatering, if flooding shiould occur

"Yours truly,

"iHAMILTON BRIDGE COMPANY (Limited),

Per J. A. McNicl, Manager."
By Mr. Davies:

1020. Was I not right that they withdrew their tender because of the insertion of
this clause in the contract which was not in the specification of the tender?-In the
contract. I thought vou said in the second specification.

1021. I said you inserted or proposed to insert a clause in the contract which was
not in the specification for their tender, and in consequence of that they withdrew their
tender. Is that true ?-I had that inserted to make sure, because it w-as mentioned
about the unwatering previous to that.

1022. It is a fact that they withdrew their tender because that clause was inserted,
and that the letter says so ?-They withdrew their tender because I said the govern-
ment would not guarantee the lock being laid dry.

1023. What does their letter say they withdrew their tender for ? What does the
letter say ?

The CHAIRMAN (to Mr. Davies)-Does not the letter speak for itself ?

By Mr. Davies :

1024. I want to ask that you read again to the committee what their reason is as
given in that letter ?-" As the contract for the construction and erection of the lock
gate for the Sault Ste. Marie Canal for which we tendered some time ago has a clause
in it for the unwatering of the canal, which was not mentioned in the specifications, and
which w«e did n t contemplate ii our tender, and that if any unwatering had to be done,
it would be at a large expense not provided for in our tender, we would therefore beg
ieave to withdraw our tender for this work, unless the government will protect us
against the additional expense of unwatering if flooding should occur."

1025. So that when they withdrew their tender the contract went to Hugh
Ryan-

A. 1895
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By Mr. Haggart :

1026. I beg your pardon, was any contract let on those tenders ?-Not on thiose first
tenders. You would not let it.

By Mr. Davies :

1027. iNew tenders were called for ?-They were.
1028. Ryan stuck to his tender. It was the same as before ?-Yes.
1029. And Toms, too, and Ryan being lower got it ?-Yes.
1030. How much higher was Ryan than the Hamilton Bridge Company ?-13,500.

By Mr. Mulock :

1031. Was the deposit returned to the Hamilton Bridge Conpany ?-Yes, by order
in council.

By Mr. Davies:

1032. As a matter of fact nobody else could do the work with Ryan in possession ?-
Not without making an arrangement with Ryan.

By Mr. Macdonell :

1033. Was the answer to Mr. Davies that no one else could do that work but Ryan
& Co ?-No. I said they could not (o it without making an arrangeent with Ryan or
doing the unwatering themselves.

By Mr. Ilaggart:

1034. If you will look at the original specification you will find it requires that the
contractor had to keep that pit dry for the purpose of doing this particular work ?--
No, he bas not.

1035. Has he not ?-No, he bas not.
1036. Are you sure he bas not ?-No, he bas not.
1037. Have you got the original specification ?-Yes. It is so with respect to some

other work in connection with the gates, but not with respect to the gates.

By Mr. Macdonell :

1038. The original specification provided that the contractors were to enjoy the
benefit of the land in the vicinity of the canal, all that island, as it were ?-They were,
under the contract they were allowed the use of the island for the carrying on of the
contract.

1039. Now who drew that specification, do you know ?-I thitik it is signed by Mr.
Page. I am not sure. It must have been in 1888.

1040. So any benefit they get under that specification they got from Mr. Page ?-
They got it under their contract.

1041. Exactly, they got it by contract. Did you, Mr. Schreiber, put any clause in
the specification with regard to the power pipe, or even with regard to the lock gate
which Mr. Davies has just been talking about? If you bad put any clause in the speci-
fication for that, giving contending contractors the right to interfere with the original
contractors whereby

By Mr. Haggart:

1042. Let us get the original specification. I want to be certain on that point.
Show me the original specification on contract No. 2. You will find it is in there
(pointing to Exhibits 1 and 2)?-No.

Mr. IAGGART-I know it is.

The committee adjourned.
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COMMITTEE RooM No. 49,
HousE OF COMMONS, 19th June, 1895.

The Select Standing Committee on Public Accounts met.

Mr. W. G. TioMPsoN called, sworn and examined.

By Mr. Lister :

1043. Mr. Thompson, were you at any time resident engineer on the Sault Ste. Marie
Canal ?-I was.

1044. Between what periods, that is to say, what was the time of your appointment,
and when did you cease to be engineer?-I went up there as resident engineer in the
spring of 1889, and I remained in that capacity until October, I think it was, 1891.

1045. You went up in what year ?-In 1889.
1046. In the spring of 1889, and you remained there until October, 1891 ?-Yes;

October, 1891.
1047. Were you the first resident engineer on the canal, that is to say, were you

there from the commencement of the actual work ?-No ; there was another engineer
there before me, Mr. William Crawford.

1048. Where is he now ?-le is up there, I believe.
1049. Still on the works ?-I believe so.
1050. Still in the employ of the government ?-So I understand.
1051. Was he there during the time that you were on the work ?-He was.
1052. All the time ?-Yes.
1053. What is his name again ?-William Crawford.
1054. What position did he occupy ?-When I was there as resident, he was there

as assistant engineer.
1055. He was there as assistant, and when you left as resident engineer, he took

your position ?-As resident engineer, yes.
1056. What was the cause of your leaving ?-I had charge, as superintendent

engineer, of the Welland Canal also.
1057. During all this time ?-During that time. I changed iny headquarters from

Sault Ste. Marie to St. Catharines, and continued to have supervision of mattet s on the
Sault Ste. Marie Canal and on the Welland also.

1058. When did vou become superintendent engineer ?-Shortly before I left Sault
Ste. Marie to go to St. Catharines. I think it would be about the middle of 1891.

1059. And you ceased, you say, to be resident engineer in October, 1891 ?--Well,
I ceased t) reside there. My headquarters had been at Sault Ste. Marie. I had been
living there, and in October I moved from there to St. Catharines.

1060. And you then held the position of superintendent engineer ?-Yes, on both
the Sault Ste. Marie and Welland Canals.

1061. Of course the contract had been let to Ryan and Company at the time you
were appointed resident engineer ?-Yes, when I went upon the ground the con-
tract had been let.

1062. You were residcntengineer or superintendent engineer at the time the proposed
changes in the canal were contemplated. Which office did you hold ?-I think I was
superintendent engineer.

1063. Was vour advice asked by the department as ta the contemplated changes ?
-I was asked to report upon crtain of those changes.

1064. And did you report ?-I did.
1065. And your reports are to be found, I believe, in this book of papers (Exhibit

1 was here handed to the witness)?-Yes, I see one here, one of my reports dated
September 19th.

A. 1895
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By Mr. Davies :

1065. What date is that ?-September l9th, 1890.
1066. What page is that on?-It is on page 81. It is rather a long-winded affair,

Shall I read it?
1067. Yes, it is a reply to Sir William VanHorne's letter. You will have to read

that first.-Well, I will read this report and it will speak for itself.
Witness then read the following :

" OTTAWA, Septemnber 19th, 1890.
"Sia,-I beg to acknowledge the receipt of No. 130419, being a suggestion fronm

Mr. W. C. VanHorne to the effect that the lock now under construction at Sault Ste.
Marie should have the same depth of water over the mitre sills as the lock at present
being built by the United States Government <m their side of the river, and calling at-
tention to the ' vital importance it might at some time iii the future to have every inch
as much water as in the American canal.'

"It will be necessary before coming to a conclusion to examine the condition of the
navigable channel of the St. Mary's River between Lakes Superior and H uron, as well
as the condition of the harbours of Port Arthur or Fort William on Lake Superior, and
Owen Sound or Collingwood on the lower lake. Fron Lake Superior to Sault Ste.
Marie, the navigable channel is so clearly defined by nature that io question cai arise
as to its location.

"It f urnishes a fine channel with a depth of water beyond all present or prospective
requirements, and being the international boundary is free to all vessels alike.

" At Sault Ste Marie a lock constructed by the United States on American terri-
tory, and opened for traffic in 1881, provides a channel past the Falls of St. Mary by a
descent of 18 feet.

" This lock, 515 feet long, 80 feet wide, and with 14 feet 11 inches of water upon
the mitre sills, at the lowest recorded stages of river, is used by American and Canadian
merchant vessels alike, free of toll, subject to the will of the United States (overnment
as exemplified in the year 1870.

" From Sault Ste. Marie to Lime Island (which is near the lower end of St. Joseph's
Island) the international boundary, which is also the navigable channel, except through
the shallows of Lake George, where the channel is on the American side of the line, is
again used by all vessels on the main line of traffic, but at Lime Island the international
boundary passes between that island and the Island of St. Joseph, over shoal rocky
ground, and sweeping to the south of St. Joseph Island, in an easterly direction, through
intricate and unfrequented channels, enters Lake Huron between Drunmnond Island
(American) and Cockburn Island (Canadian), leaving the deep water, direct, and desir-
able channel fron Lime Island to Lake Huron entirely in American water.

" To provide a channel, therefore, accessible to Canadian vessels under suggested
contingencies would necessitate improving the line of navigation to the north of St.
Joseph Island, and so out to Lake Huron by either side of Cockburn Island, preferably
to the east of it.

" But the necessary river improvements would not end there.
"At present and for some time past the United States Government has been deepen-

ing the Hay Lake Channel to a depth corresponding with that of the new lock now
under construction by them at Sault Ste. Marie.

" This channel is entirely in American water, and will make the distance front the
head of Hay Lake to where it again joins the common channel at the head of St.
Joseph Island eight miles less than by the common channel or boundary line, so that to
ensure a similar depth of water for Canadian vessels between the same points would
necessitate the improvement of the long and common channel by the Canadian Govern-
ment at its sole expense.

"The saie reasoning that suggests an independent channel would make Port
Arthur the Lake Superior harbour for deep draught vessels, necessitating a large outlay
for dredging and breakwater construction, the present depth of water being 15 feet.
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"It would also necessitate a heavy expenditure for dredging and pier work at Owen
Sound, where the available depth of water at present is about 15 feet.

" Before unlertaking to deepen the Sault Ste. Marie canal, therefore, it would be
necessary that the Government should determine whether the policy of a 16 feet scale
of navigation now being worked to from Port Colborne upwards should he changed or
not, for if not, the suggested change at Sault Ste. Marie would be unprofitable.

"With friendly relations between Canadaand our neighbours, the 19 feet draught lock
on the American side of the river would be available for Canadian vessels of that draught,
the other locks accommodating the lighter draught vessels, and by the time a second lock
becomes necessary on the Canadian side, the question now under consideration by the
most intelligent vessel men, as to whether the limit for size and draught of vessels upon
the lakes has not been reached, will have been solved, and a second lock will, no doubt,
be built accordingly. Should less happy relations exist, circunstance s would probably
transfer the trade of the Sault Ste. Mrie canal to the raiiways. the draught of water be-
coning, for the time, a secondary consideration.

"To return to the suggestion of lowering the lock now under contract to Messrs.
Hugh Ryan & Co. Were the lock to be lowered now, it would also be necessary to
lower the prism of the canal at the saine time, as the side walls would be destroyed by
blasting, if done after they were built.

"Such alterations would inean the breaking of Messrs. Hugh Ryan & Co.'s contract,
so that the cost of making such alterations can hardly be arrived at in the usual way,
the door being open for danages.

"In estiinating the probable cost, I have therefore made no allowance for damages,
but the item must not be overlooked.

" If asked to express an opinion in the matter, I would say that the circumstances
do not warrant the adoption of a course that would establish such a dangerous precedent
as the breaking of an important Government contract.

"I have the honour to be, sir, your obedient servant,

"W. G. THOMPSON.

"A. P. BRADLEY, Esq., Secretary,
"Department of Railways and Canals,

"Ottawa."

Mr. DAVIEs-Attached to that report is a statement. You had better read that,
too.

Witness then read the following

"Addenda to report upon lowering the Sault Ste. Marie Canal, dated September
19th, 1890.

" Dimensions of Canadian Locks.

Length of chamber ...... ................. .............. ...... 600 ft.
Width of entrance. . . . ....................... 60 ft.
W idth of chamber....... ........................ .............. 85 ft.
Depth on sill at lowest known water...............................16 ft. 3 in.
Increased cost to be added to Hugh Ryan & Co.'s contract

for canal and lock if deepened to 19 feet .. ..... ..... . 18,000
Amount of original contract......................................$1,282,567
Increased cost to be added to Hugh Ryan & Co.'s contract for

lower entrance if deepened to 19 feet.................. 192,000
Amount of original contract ...................................... 299,313
Increased cost to be added to Allan & Fleining's contract if

deepened to 19 feet...............................$276,000
Aiount of original contract ................... ................ 25,926
Estimated cost of river improvements not under contract, f rom

SaultSte. Marieto Lake Huron for19 feet draught of water $ 775,000
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Estimated cost of improving Port Arthur Harbour to 19 feet
draught, not under contract ........................

Estimated cost of improving Owen Sound Harbour to 19 feet
draught (at present under contract to Reed & Pater f rom
Publie Works Department for deepening to 15 feet or more

$ 300,000

$ 200,000

"W. G. THOMPSON.
OTTAWA, September 22nd, 1890."

By Jr. laggart :

1068. Just one moment. You say there is a letter from Mr. Van Horne ?-A. Yes,
sir.

Mr. HAGGART.-You had better put it in.
Mr. DAVIE.-It is in already.
Mr. HAGGART.-It has not been read.
Mr. DAVIES.-A letter from Mr. Van Horne appears in the evidence given the

other day and you can refer to it again. Mr. Van Horne's letter was read by Mr.
Sehreiber.

WITNEs.-The letter is here if you wish it to be read.
Mr. DAVIEs.-It is in evidence already.
Mr. HAGGART.-Then let it be considered as put in.
WITNESS.-It is at page 79.
Mr. BoYLE.-In order to make the evidence complete I suggest that the letter be

retd again.
The CHAIRMAN.-Read Mr. Van Horne's letter, Mr. Thompson.
WITNESS.-It is dated Aug. 17th, 1890, from the Canadian Pacifie Ry. office,

Montreal, and reads as follows

"IDEAR SIR JoiiN,-I asked Mr. Drinkwater to get the relative depth of the Cana-
dian and American canals at the " Soo " and I inclose the result. You will sec that
the new American lock will have 2 feet 8 inches more water on the mitre sill than the
Canadian lock, as it is now being bulit. In ny opinion 16 feet 3 inches will be inade-
quate very soon, and it seems to me that'it would be a great ristake fromn a commercial
standpoint, not to provide for at least as great a draught as in the new American lock.

"I do not know much about naval warfare, but unless the little information I have
on that subject is all wrong it might be of vital importance in the near future to have
every inch as much water as in the American canal. It might be a matter of a great
deal of consequence if the Americans could get iron-clads through their lock and canal
drawing 18 feet or more of water while we could only send up boats drawing 2 or 21
feet less.

"The diflerence in cost ought not to be very great if the additional depth is provid-
ed for now , but to correct it after the locks and canal were once completed would be
enormously expensive if not impracticable.

"Faithfully yours,

"W. C. VAN HORNE.
Right Hon. Sir JOHN A. MACDONALD, G.C.B.,

"Ottawa."

By Mr. Lister :

1069. Is there any other letter, Mr. Thompson ? I think there is one from Sir
Frank Smith? -There is a letter following this from Mr. Drinkwater, secretary of the
C.P. R. to Mr. Van Horne. It is merely giving him information upon which Mr.
Van Horne's letter that I have just read, is based.

1070. Now, Mr. Thompson, were these changes make ?-Yes, the changes were made.
1071. The changes were made. To 19 feet or greater ?--A contract was entered into

With Messrs. Hugh Ryan and C ., to deepen to 19 feet and before that was altogether
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completed it appeared that the American engineers had, by a very slight modification
in the bottom of their lock, got 20 feet of water, and I called the attention of Mr. Tru-
deau, the then chief engineer, to the fact, and that change was also made to 20 feet by
ourselves, but the change was a very insignificant matter as regards cost ; it was simply
the result of lowering the excavation at the end for a short distance, where the nature
of the rock had required an excavation to be taken out nearly to the required depth
which had to be taken for this 20 feet.

1072. Then the contracts were changed whereby the enlargement suggested by Mr.
Van Horne was carried out ?-Largely so.

1073. And afterwards changed again so as to make the canal equal in depth to the
canal on the American side ?-It was.

1074. Can you tell me what the cost of the last changes was ?-I cannot, speaking
from memory, but it is all in those papers there.

By Mr. Hfagart :

1075. Let us understand what the last change was, from 19 to 20 feet?-The last
change was from 19 to 20 feet 3 inches.

1076. What was the cost ?-Well, I am inclined to say the cost may really be put
down as nil.

Mr. HAGGART.-Nothing, it comes to nothing.

By 3fr. Lister:

1077. You say that, do you ?-T do. It is very easily explained how it comes to
be so.

1078. It is a matter of very little consequence, none at all. Then you have stated
that the changes suggested by Sir William Van Horne were made ?-Yes.

1079, And the canal was deepened to a depth equal to the "Soo" canal on the
American shore ?-It was.

By Mr. Davies :

1080. Before quitting that point I have a question to ask you. Will you state to
the committee what the actual sum paid to Ryan & Company was fixed at for the
change to the 19 feet in the first place ?--It was a schedule contract.

1081. Amounting to ?-Well, I think the figures are here also.
1082. Read them, please--the sum totals. I don't want the mode by which they

are arrived at ?-I am not quite sure that they are here, but I fancy they are. I think
I have got a private memorandum in my pocket that perhaps I can speak from (after
consulting memorandum). . The second change, if I am right in these figures, amounted
to $376,000.

1083. That is what you specify as practically nil ?-Oh no, not so by any means.
Mr. Haggart objected to the question on the ground that it was putting state-

ments into the witness's mouth.

By Mr. Davies :

1084. When you made use of the phrase " second change," what did you mean just
now ?-I referred to the change by which the length of the lock was extended from
650 feet to 950 feet in the chamber, and the depth was increased from 16J feet to 19C
feet on the sill.

1085. Exactly, that is Mr. Van Horne's suggested change ?--Yes.
1086. That is the first change ?-That is the second change.
1087. Well, then you spoke just now of the second change as increasing it from 1I

to 20 feet ?-No, that was what might be called a small supplementary matter. That
came in with the second change. It was part and parcel of the second change.

1088. So that we need not dispute about it. The change Mr. Van Horne suggested
practically amounted to what ?-$376,000.

A. 1895
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1089. $376,000? Now, one more question on that point and I will leave you in
Mr. Lister's hands. You spoke in your report of certain other improvements which
were essential to make this other improvement of any advantage. I want the sum total
of your estimate of the cost of those improveients ?-Those items that I read over in
the addenda to that report which I read a few moments ago?

1090. Totted up, what do vou make it ?--$1,923,000.

By Mr. Haggart:

1091. If you are passing from this subject I want to ask a few questions in refer-
ence to it. Who was the minister at the time the change was made ?--Sir Mackenzie
Bowell was acting minister.

1092. Were you in 0ttawa at the time he was actingi inister, when the House was
in session ?-I was.

1093. Did you hear hin explain all these changes to the House before the vote was
made ?-I did.

1094. And he made a statement of the changes proposed to be carried out before
the vote was taken ?-When the estiiates were before the House Sir Mackenzie Bowell
had the papers referring to these matters in his hand. I know what those papers con-
tained because I had been a party to collating them, and, to the best of my recollection,
different questions were asked, and these questions were answered by Sir Mackenzie
Bowell. He said at the time that he had the whole information there, and was willing
to give any information that was required about it. His words were that lie took the
House into his confidence. If I am wrong Hansard will put me right.

1095. Now, in reference to the Hav Channel : If that channel can be utilized by
Canadian vessels, and if our lock is constructed down to Lke Huron, we have over 20
feet of navigation from the Sault Ste. Marie Canal?-Well, not the whole way. At the
present time the United States Government are improving the channel at a place called
Mud Lake.

1096. When that is completed ?-When that is completed there will be what is
called 20 feet of navigation from the "Soo " Canal to Lake Huron.

1097. In your letter you state part of that channel is in American territory. That
is the diversion from the river through Hay Lake ?-Yes, it is.

1098. You cannot speak, I suppose, as to whether we are entitled to use that by
treaty or not ?-I cannot speak of my own knowledge, but I can say what I heard the
late Sir John A. Macdonald say in the matter.

Mr. HAGGART.-Never mind. That is all on that point.

By Mr. Lister :

1099. Of course, Mr. Thompson, you know that the object of this canal was to have
a waterway upon our own side that could be used in case of difficulties with the United
States ?-Yes.

1100. That was the avowed object of building this canal ?-Yes.
1101. And you know also that if we have to trust to the Hay Lake Channel ari

the Mud Lake Channel now being constructed by the United States Government-
that if we had to trust to these channels, our canal would be of very little use in case
of the difficulties which were anticipated when this was constructed or contemplated ?-
If we are shut out from the Hay Lake Channel.

1102. And the Mud Lake?-Well, the Mud Lake, I am not quite sure about the
location of that channel, I think it is partly on our territory and partly

1103. Which ? Mud Lake ?-I think it is partly on our side and partly on American
territory.

1104. I think you are mistaken. However, that is your opinion ?-I am speaking
f rom memory in this matter.

1105. However, all of the Hay Lake Channel is in American water ?-Clearly.
1106. And uiless we make a channel through the " Soo " River of a depth and

equal to the Hay Lake Channel we would be obliged to use the Hay Lake Channel for
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the larger class of vessels-for vessels that can use our canal ?-Yes. We could not get
down through our own waters from Lake George. We have not got that depth.

1107. Without deepening ?-Without deepening. But is it proper for me to say a
word ?

1108. Certainly, Sir.-When this matter was being taken up I remember being
present in the present Minister's room when Sir John M cdonald was Minister of Rail-
ways and Carials, and he said that this enlargement at Lake George through what is
known as the shoals-that is partly on Canadian territory and partly on American
territory-that that was a work that was taken up by the Governments co-jointly, and
that we had the right of navigating that channel.

1109. Is that sol?-I don't know, I am sure.
1110. You don't kiow anything about that. That is not the Hay Lake Channel ?-

It is not the Hay Lake Channel.
1111. But the Hay Lake Channel would be necessary to take vessels down drawing

19 feet of water ?-At the present time, certainly.
1112. Now, then, you have told us you reported to the Governmnent that it would

be necessary ?-To the chief engineer, let me correct you ; to the chief engineer.
1113. To the chief engineer, that it would be necessary to deepen Port Arthur

Harbour, it would be necessary to deepen the harbour at Owen Sound, and would it
not be necessary to deepen all the harbours along the Lake Huron shore ?-Well,
when I was called upon to report upon this matter it appeared to me that it was the
proper thing to point out to my superior officer, the chief engineer, what the possi-
bilities might be, and it occurred to me at once that to have a deep channel and no place
of refuge in case of difflculty with our neighbours for vessels to go to-it would be an
absurdity altogether, so I called attention to these two points. Perhaps I was-what
shall I say-anxious or nervous in the matter, but that was mv motive.

1114. That was your motive ?-Yes.
1115. That was your object ?-Yes.
1116. That unless the waterway was deepened throughout that the construction of

the canal, with the increased depth reconmended by Sir William VanHorne, would be
of very little utility ?-That was my idea.

1117. iNow then, Mr. Thonipson, I àsked you a moment ago, whether it would not
be necessary to deepen all the harbours along the shores of Lake Huron, between the
River St. Clair and Georgian Bay ?.-No, I should say not by any means.

1118. Do you know the depth of Kincardine, Goderich, and Southampton ?-I
think I remember then.

11 9. It would be iecessary to deepen those ?-I was thinking it was necessary to
provide a thorough line of traffic.

1120. You did not think it would be necessary, that vessels would think it worth
while to call at ports along Lake Huron ?-I do not think the department would under-
take to deepen those harbours, because it would fall rather to the local corporation.

1121. But the department has been doing it ?-I think the department has been
doing it for the Iccal traffic, but not for through traffic.

1122. But so far as the harbours along Lake Huron are concerned, they would
derive no advantage at all froin the increased depth, inasmuch as the largest classes of
vessels would not be able to get into those harbours ?-They would not and they do not
at the present uine.

1123. Do they not?-No.
1124. Do not the Beatty Line ?-The Beatty Line get into Sarnia.
1125. That is on Lake St. Clair ?-Yes.
1126. They go into Goderich and Southampton ?-But the Beatty Line are compar-

atively light draught boats. They are capable of loading down, but they only go into
those harbours drawing 13 feet.

1127. At all events, no matter what they draw, it would not, in your opinion, be
necessary to deepen the harbours along Lake Huron ?--No, it would not.

1128. It was only to have a waterway for through traffie ?-It was to have a means
of communication from the Atlantic coast right through to the Pacifie by rail and by
our own line of boats.
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1129. You also indicate there, in that report, that if there were difficulties between
the United States and Canada, that freight would possibly find its way by rail ?-Yes.

1130. It would have to ?--Yes, we would destroy their lock and they would destroy
ours.

1131. So that in case of difficulties, in case of hostilities between the United States
and Canada or Great Britain, these locks would be of no value at all ?

Mr. HAGGART objected to Mr. Lister discussing the policy of the Governient.
Mr. LISTER-I want to get at the reasons which animated the engineer in inaking

this report, and I have a right to do so.
THE CHAIRMAN-The object of this inquiry is to elicit the facts, and I should be

very much disinclined to limit the inquiry in regard to anything connected with the
contracts or the prosecution of the works, but it occurred to me before the question was
raised, that Mr. Lister was going very far afield, and J was on the point of calling his
attention to the fact that he was digressing, but I hesitated because 1 thought it would
be limited to one or two questions, and for that reason J did not interfere. But I think
that Mr. Lister will see it is important we would confine ourselves to the niatter under
investigation.

Mr. LISTER-Undoubtedly, I concur with you on that, Mr. Chairnian, and at the
same time I claim that I am entirely within my rights, because the engineer has read a
report here to his chief, reporting against the enlargement of this canal and giving cer-
tain reasons. That is a part of the evidence and J have a right to probe those reasons
to a certain extent, and that is all J an doing.

THi CIAIRMAN-To a certain reasonable extent.

By Mr. Lister :

1132. Then J ask you again, if the Chairman permits me to ask the question,
whether this canal would be of any benefit to the shipping of Canada in case of difli-
culties between the United States and Canada?

THE CHAIRMAN-That is a question of opinion rather than a question of fact.

By Mr. Lister :

1133. In case of difficulty between the -United States and Canadýt would the canal
at Sault Ste. Marie be of any advantage to us ?-It would simply be a question of the
strongest. If we are able to take care of our canal we would do so.

1134. You told us a few moments ago that the Americans would blow ours up and
we would blow up theirs ?-I think that would likely be the result.

1135. Now, what do you estimate the cost would be of deepening the waterway
from Sault Ste. Marie to Lake Huron ?-From Sault Ste. Marie to Lake Huron J esti-
mated it at $775,000.

1136. That, of course, would be a mere approximation ?-Merely approximate.
1137. A mere guess ?-Not a mere guess. These figures were.arrived at by taking

the soundings on Bayfield's charts and taking the quantities from this.
1138. Then it was not altogether a guess ?-No, it was an approximated estimate.
1139. As you said a moment ago, this was merely contemplated for through traffic?

-Yes.
1140. You did not take into consideration at all the local trade No, J did not.
1141. Do you know whether it would be necessary to deepen the Lime Kiln cross-

ing ?-I believe it would.
1142. Well, you have not estimated that ?-No. because I did not propose to go that

way. I proposed to run to the Georgian Bay and then take the train from there.
1143. Oh, then, your calculation was that all the traffic-your calculation was based

upon the assumption that all the traffic would go by way of Collingwood to Port Arthur
-all the heavy traffic, all the vessels drawing a great depth of water ?-Well, let Me
explain, please, for one instant.

1144. Yes, certainly?-Mr. Van Horne in his letter refers to the question of gun-
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1145. Gun-boats ?-And he brings in the military aspect, as it were, of that ques-
tion-the difficulty between the two countries.

1146. Oh, yes ?-And my report follows in that line.
1147. Just so ?-My idea was what we would want to do would be to have commu-

nication by our own territory, and as a matter of course that would be by rail to the
Georgian Bay, then by water to Port Arthur, and then by the Canadian Pacific Rail-
way crossing the country.

1148. It was to go through Owen Sound -To Owen Sound or Collingwood.
1149. And from there to Sault Ste. Marie ?-Yes.
1150. From there to Port Arthur ?-Port Arthur.
1151. No other ports were considered ?-I did not consider it was necessary to take

any more. Of course the idea was to arrive at that desirable state of affairs with as
small a sum as possible.

1152. Of course. You were looking at it with an economical eve in the interests of
the Government ?-Yes.

1153. So that the effect of it would have been-If these necessary adjuncts to the
canal were carried out-the effect will be that large vessels must ply between Port
Arthur and Owen Sound or Collingwood, is that it ?-Not necessarily.

1154. Will you tell us why ?-Because, as I said a moment ago, it was with refer-
ence to through trade, and to take the shortest route for that through trade, or the
most convenient trip, as the case might be. For those vho wanted to go to other
ports, it would be merely for them to take light draught vessels, and they could get in
there as they are doing at the present moment.

1155. Just exactly ; how many feet; 15 15 feet is too much. I think it will be
nearer 12 feet for the general run of ports.

1156. So that al the vessels drawing more than 12 feet of water would, of necessity,
ply between Owen Sound and Port Arthur ?-Well, not so, Mr. Lister, exactly. I did
not mean to convey that idea. There are some of the harbours--for instance, we have
vessels at the present time going through the Welland Canal and drawing 14 feet, and
there are certain harbours on Lake Erie they are built to go into, but there are others
they are not ; so that if you ask me to say vessels that were drawing more than 12 feet,
would have to go this way I would be saying what would not be the case.

1157. Some might get through ?-Yes.
1158. Have you had anything to do with the St. Clair Flats Canal? Did you

estimate that -No ; I did not. I was taking the most direct route.
1159. What is the depth of water in the St. Clair Flats Canal ?-I think at the

present time, speaking from general information, they are short by 16 feet.
1160. They are short by 16 feet -I think so.
1161. Do you know what depth of water leading to the St. Clair Flats Canal, at its

upper entrance and lower entrance ?-I think they are pinched for 16 feet.
1162. They are pinched for 16 feet -The American Government are improving, at

the present time, those two places.
1163. And that canal belongs to the Americans -That canal is on the boundary

line, and we have as much right to it as they have.
1164. Have you ?-I think so.
1165. They built it with their own money ?-On Canadian territory; on the

boundary line. I think the documents show it.
1166. Can you tell me what is the depth of water at the Lime Kiln Crossing?-

They claim to have 20 feet, but vessels drawing 16 feet often get aground.
1167. So that in order to make this lock a benefit to all the shipping between Port

Arthur and below Lake Huron, the River St. Clair and Lake Erie, it would be
necessary to expend an enormous sum of money, would it not ?-To make it available
for all interests it would.

1168. It would. And to deepen the waterway between Port Arthur and 4)wen
Sound would mean that all vessels drawing over 16 feet of water or perhaps 13 feet of
water would necessarily have to ply between those two points ?-They could not go
where there was not water enough for them.
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1169. To be sure, that follows. Do you know, Mr. Thompson, what the Canadian
tonnage on the Upper Lakes is ?-The Canadian tonnage?

1170. Yes.-I read in the paper the day before yesterday that during the month of
May, the Canadian tonnage passing through the " Soo " canal was 3î per cent, as you
said a few moments ago, and the gross total was close upon 12,000,000 tons.

1171. 3½ per cent of the gross tonnage is Canadian and the balance American ?-I
read that in a newspaper.

1172. That was the report ?-I don't know whether it was a report or not.
1173. Of the canal office at the Sault Ste. Marie Canal ?-I think it is quite likely

it originated there.
1174. So that for 3' per cent of the tonnage we built this canal ?-And for peace

and quietness.
1175. And for peace and quietness, which that canal won't give us. Now, do the

Canadian Pacific boats coal on our side of the river ?-No, they do not.
1176. Where do they coal ?-They coal on the American side, because that is their

route. It would be a loss of time and money to come to our side.
1177. It would be a loss of time and money. It would be a loss of mioney, by having

to pay duty on their coal ?-Yes, there is a duty on the coal.
1178. So that the Canadian Pacific Railway boats coal on the other side and do

you know whether they pass through the locks on the other side ?-Oh, yes.
1179. What about the Beatty line, the North-west Transportation Company ?-They

are doing the same at present.
1180. They are doing the same ?-At present.
1181. Now, you told me a few moments ago that you were the resident engineer on

that canal for a certain time ?-Yes.
1182. I have forgotten the date.-From the spring of 1889 until the fall of 1891.

By Mr. Haggart:

1183, If you are passing from that particular branch I would like to ask a few ques-
tions in reference to it. What is the depth of water on the American lock, the same as
in ours is it not ?-20 feet 3 inches ?-That is the contemplated new lock.

1184. Yes. Any American vessels using their lock and going down to Buffalo have
to pass the Lime Kiln ?-They have.

1185. So the same reasoning as to the depth of the American lock would apply as
to ours ?-Precisely.

1186. Do you know of any place where they have to utilize Canadian territory in
passing down from Lake Huron into Lake Erie ?-Yes. At Bois Blanc. The channel
used by all these boats is entirely in Canadian territory.

1187. So the same principle would apply to American boats passing through and
utilizing those waters, as would apply to ours at Hay Lake?--Exactly.

By Mr. Lister :

1188. You told me that you were the resident engineer from 1889 to October, 1891 ?
-Yes.

1189. October, 1891 ?-Yes.
1190. Then you were made the superintending engineer ?-Yes, I had been doing

the duties of superintending engineer for some time prior to that.
1191. You are a resident now of the "Soo? "-I was a resident at the " Soo," resi-

dent there at the time.
1192. And you told me moreover who was your assistant.-Mr. William Crawford.
1193. Crawford was your assistant at the " Soo? "-Yes.
1194. Then you were made the superintending engineer, still remaining at the

"Soo? "-Yes.
1195. And Crawford was made resident engineer still remaining at the "Soo"

Well, I think if you will refer to what I said a few moments ago you will see that I
stated somewhere about the middle of 1891, I think it was, that my duties were those
of the superintending engineer, though still residing at Sault Ste. Marie.
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1196. Was that a new office created ?-No, it came about in consequence of Mr.
Page's death. I was called upon to perform certain duties on the Welland Canal that
Mr. Page had performed, and while I was resident engineer, living at Sault Ste. Marie,
I was also frequently taken frein there to the Welland Canal, and it was about the
middle of 1891, speaking f rom recollection, that I was superintendent engineer of those
two canals, but up to then I still resided at Sault Ste. Marie.

1197. And when did you remove from Sault Ste. Marie ?-In October I removed
from Sault Ste. Marie to St. Catharines, where my headquarters have been ever since.

1198. From that time on you were superintendent engineer ?-Yes.
1199. And you had been for a few months before ?-Yes.
1200. Did you visit the canal works frequently ?--I used to visit them as often as

I could.
1201. Up to what time ?-Up to last summer when the work was practically

completed.
1202. As often as you could. Will you tell me what that means ?-I used to en-

deavour to be there about once a month, if not oftener, but there were longer intervals
than that.

1203. Well now, Mr. Thompson, was there any friction between vou and the con-
tractors ?-Oh, 1 do not think there was any more than the usual amount of friction be-
tween engineers and contractors. I do not think there was any more than the usual
amount of friction.

1204. Were there any complaints that you were not treating them properly ?-Oh,
I dare say there were lots of them. It is a very commoa thing, especially about esti-
mate time. I think it was likely, though I did not hear of them.

1205. To whom were the complaints made ?--To the chief engineer.
1206. Who was that ?-Mr. Trudeau.
1207. Do you or do you not know that complaints were made to Mr. Trudeau

about you by the contractors Ryan & Co. ?-Yes, I think there were.
1208. These complaints would be made to Mr. Trudeau, and did M. Trudeau com-

municate then to you ?-That would be the usual form.
1209. Is that what was done?-I think so.
1210. When were the first of those complaints communicated to you ?-Well, the

first that I remember was before Mr. Trudeau's time. It was during the late Mr. Page's
time.

1211. That would be when ?-In 1890.
1212. 1890?-1889 or 1890, I am not sure which.
1213. And what were those complaints? Do you remember ?-I do distinctly.
1214. What were they ?-The first one was about them not being sufficiently

measured in the matter of boulders and loose stone, which covered the surface of the
island.

1215. That was the difficulty ?-Yes.
1216. The only difficulty ?-The only one that I am aware of. That I remember.

I remember that quite distinctly.
1217. But you told me that during Mr. Trudeau's time complaints were made ?-

Well, I am not so clear about that, but I think I am pretty sure they were.
1218. You are pretty sure they were ?-I think there were some complaints made

and that Mr. Trudeau spoke to me about them, that I had not estimated sufficiently
for some work the contractors had been doing.

1219. What time would that be ?-I really could not say. I am speaking from
recollection. I have nothing to fix it in my mind.

1220. You went on in 1889 ?-Yes
1221. You left in 1891 ?-Yes.
1222. Now would it be in 1891 ?-It might have been in 1891.
1223. But the culmination of the whole thing was that you were made superin

tendent engineer with your residence at St. Catharines, and Mr. Crawford was made
resident engineer at Sault Ste. Marie ?-I am not aware of there being any connection
whatever between the friction we have just been speaking about and my being made
superintendent engineer.
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1224. It is not likely you would be inforned of it, Mr. Thompson. These things
are not told to the engineers ?-If you will allow me, I will tell you soRething there. It
is only fair for me to say this. I think that my change from the Sault Ste. Marie to
St. Catharines was made clearly and distinctly at my request to Mr. Trudeau that it
should be so. I remember now that it was, and I will tell you the reasons. J had to
be in Ottawa a good deal, and when I lived at Sault Ste. Marie it made it particularly
inconvenient and caused a deal of lost time for nie to go from Sault Ste. Marie to Ottawa
and then possibly have to get round to the Welland canal, whereas if I was living at
St. Catharines and I was required in Ottawa I could leave there at 5.30 in the evening
and be in Ottawa next morning, and it saved nie a good deal of tine and gave me more
time to devote to the work. I have no hesitation in saying it was at niy own request
the change was made.

1225. Things were not very comfortable for you at Sault Ste. Marie ?-They were
as comfortable as I expect ever to have them on public works.

1226. That is not saying very much ?-There is always a lot of friction. Of course,
we have to take these things as they come. We have to take the bitter with the sweet.

1227. But the fact is, whatever the reasons might have been, you were made
superintendent engineer and your headquarters were removed to St. Catharines and Mr.
Crawford was made the engineer in charge, the resident engineer ?-Yes. I had a good
deal more work to do at the saine pay.

1228. Well, that was not fair. Who made the progress estimates after you be-
came superintendent engineer ?-They were made by Mr. Crawford and his assistants,
and passed through my hands.

1229. So far as the actual work was concerned, the estinates were made by Mr.
Crawford ?-Yes, naturally, and his officers.

1230. And his oflicers ?-Yes.
1231. And passed through your hands ?-Yes.
1232. There was no more trouble, I suppose, no more complaints froi the con-

tractors after Mr. Crawford took charge ?-Well, that I do not know.
1233. You never heard of any trouble between the contractors and M r. Crawford ?

His estimates were satisfactory so far as you know ?-Well, I do not know about that.
I could not say about that.

1234. You know nothing to the contrary ?-I (o not.
1235. Now, Mr. Thompson, will you look at a report of yours on page 96 of that

volume (handing witness Exhibit 1) ?-I have it.
1236. Read it, please.
Witness then read the following:

"SAULT STE. MARIE CANAL.
" OTTAWA, March 28th, 1891.

"SIR,-Referring to the resolution of the marine section of the Toronto Board of
Trade, under cover of No. 133692, in which approval is expressed of the width (85
feet), designed for the Sault Ste. Marie canal lock now under contract to Messrs. Hugli
Ryan & Co., but suggesting an increase of depth to correspond to that of the lock now
under contract at Sault Ste. Marie, Michigan, I beg to say that to deepen the lock
only at the present time with a view to deepening throughout ultimately would be a
serious mistake.

To deepen the prism of the canal, after the provision for securing a water tight
canal had been completed to the depth provided in the contract, would be to nake that
water tight provision of no effect.

"An estimate of the cost of deepening as above suggested must, therefore, enbrace
the full length of Messrs. Hugh Ryan & Co.'s contract for the canal and lift lock, and
would be approximately S180,000, apart from any claims for extras that might result
from a departure from the contract now in force.

"I have the honour to be, sir,
"Your obedient servant,

"A. P. BRADLEY, Esq., " W. G. THOMPSON.
"Secretary Dept. of Railways and Canals, Ottawa."
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1237. Page 79. Who was the chief in the office, Bradley? What position did he
hold ?-Mr. Bradley was the secretary of the department and the letters went to him in
the ordinary course of business.

By 3fr. Davies.:

1238. Did that letter go into page 96 or did it run over ?-It concluded on page
96. The letter page 97 is as follows

"SAULT STE. MARIE CANAL.
" OTTAWA, March 28th, 1891.

"Si,-I beg to acknowledge the receipt of file No. 133070, under cover of which
the Hon. Frank Smith suggests that the plan of the lock on Messrs. Hugh Ryan & Co.'s
contract for the Sault Ste. Marie Canal should be changed to the extent of making the
lock the same width throughout and deepening it to 20 feet.

"I cannot advise the adoption of the course suggested, for the reason that such de-
parture fi om the plan would be breaking the contract, in view of which it would seem
unprofitable to discuss the matter at greater length.

"I have the honour to be, sir,
"Your obedient servant,

"W. G. THOMPSON.
"A. P. BRADLEY, Esq.,

"Secretary Departinent Railways and Canals."

By Mr. Lister :

1239. That is page 97, is it not ?--Page 97.
1240. Now take page 99 ?-At page 99 is a telegram, signed by Mr. Van Horne:

" MONTREAL, March 30th, 1891.
"To Right Hon. Sir JohN A. MACDONALD,

" OTTAWA.

"It is rumoured here that Government is being urged to reduce depth of " Soo " look
to 18 feet. Think would be very grave mistake to make it one inch less than American
lock, which is 18 feet 11 inches on mitre still. Think would be wise to go a few inches
more rather than one inch less.

(Signed) "W. C. VAN HORNE."

1241. Did you read page 79 ?-At page 79 is a letter which I read here. It is that
letter from Mr. Van Horne to Sir John A. Macdonald.

1242. Look at page 100, Mr. Thompson ?-Yes.
1243. Read that, please.-" Sault Ste. Marie Canal, Memorandum for the informa-

tion of the Hon. the Minister of Railways and Canals.
" Referring to Mr. W. C. Van Horne's telegram from Montreal, dated March 30th,

1891, in which the advisabilitv is suggested of making the Canadian lock at Sault Ste.
Marie as deep as the American lock now being constructed at the same point, the utility
of such a course is not apparent unless the policy of deepening the channels between
Lakes Huron and Superior, through Canadian waters exclusively, and providing a deep
water harbour on each lake, was determined upon.

"The estimated cost of such an improvement is $1,923,000, respectfully submitted.

"W. G. THOMPSON.
"OTTAWA, March 30th, 1891."

1244. You read that before, Mr. Thompson, did you not ?-No. Mr. Schreiber read it.
1245. Well you had better have it in your evidence, please read it ?-I have just

read it.
By Mr. Davies:

1246. I understood you to say, Mr. Thompson, that the cost of that change, increasing
the depth to 19 feet, was about $376,000 ?-Yes.

74

A. 1895



Sault Ste. Marie Canal lnquiry.

1247. But there was also in connection with that the increased cost of the culverts,
was there not? They are not included in that $376,000?-No, I think not. That was
another.

1248. I just wanted to put it straight so there would be no clashing between your
evidence and the other statement. The cost of these culverts was $121,913 ?-Yes.

1249. So that the actual cost of ma' ing that change was within a trile of S500,000?
-The addition of those sums.

1250. Would make $498,000 ?--Yes.
1251. Now, I just want to ask you : Mr. Schreiber spoke of the third change that

was made increasing the depth of the prism and nasonry and piers of the bridge 4 feet?
-Yes.

1252. \Vill you kindly explain to the committee-shortly, I dont want any length
about it-what the nature of that change was, and why it was niade ?-It was made to
make the depth of 20 feet 3 inches available through the portion of the canal that had
to be done under water.

1253. Exactly so. This was a necessary consequence of what we call the second
change-the main change to 20 feet ?-It followed on that, but it was not a necessary
consequence, but a wise provision.

1254. A wise provision, almost a necessary consequence ? The other would nîot
have been so beneficial without it? And that was the cost of that ? Was that done on
your recommendation ?-I don't remember about that exactly. There was correspond-
ence about it, I think, but I don't remember what it was. The cost of that was estimîated
at 8107,842.

1255. Yes. So added to the $498,000 the actual cost of this change amounted to
a trifle over $600,000 ?-Yes.

By Mr. Gibson :

1256. Mr. Thompson, what was your estimate of the original lock at 600 feet?-
I don't know if I have that here. Do you mean just the lock alone?

1257. When I refer to the lock, I refer to the whole work, at 600 feet?-1 don't
remember what it was. It was only part of the estimate of what was calculated.

1258. When the lock was changed to 650 feet long did you make an estimate of the
additional cost for that 50 feet ?-Yes.

1259. What was your estimate of that extra 50 feet ?-The first change was to
make the lock 650 feet long and 100 feet wide in the chamber with the openings and-
let me see,-1 think that was what was estimated, -190,000.

1260. $190,000. And then after it was changed from 650 feut to 900 feet long ?-
That was the $376,000.

1261. What did you say regarding the additional length?-650 feet I have estimated
the cost of that was $190,000.

1262. And then when it was increased from 650 to 900 feet ?-S376,000.
1263. In addition to the $190,000 ?-Yes. That vas another change that caine on

afterwards.
1264. Now, did this $376,000 include the deepening of the upper entrance ?-No,

it did not.
1265. It did not include it. How much did you include in the deepening of the

upper entrance ?-The deepening through the canal, including the prisn of the canal
under Messrs. Hugh Ryan & Company's contract was .S121,000.

1266. That is the lower end, is it not ?-That is the whole length of section No. 2,
3,500 feet.

1267. How much was it?-S121,000.
1268. $121,000. So that is the whole of Ryan's contract on the channel ?-They

had several other contracts, but that is what we called section No. 2.
1269. This $121,000 of increase for deepening the entrance was confined entirely

to that section which embraced the lock ?-It did.
1270. Now then for the other section, how much would you allow for that ?-

There was no extra. There was no change there.
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1271. No change there?-No.
1272. So that it was contemplated from the first that these locks should be 19 feet ?

-Fron the first. (After a pause.) Oh, no, our first scheme was for 15 feet 3 inches.
1273. What is that ?-Our first schene was for 16 feet 3 inches depth of water

upon the sill.
1274. And the second ?-For 19 feet, but by a change without affecting prices or

quantities we got 20 feet 3 inches.
1275. In the 900 feet lock?-Yes.
1276. When you made the estimates for 20 feet 3 inches on the 900 feet lock, you

said that your estinate was $376,000 ?-Yes.
1277. What difference did you allow in the price of masonry from the original

contract ?-1 did not put the prices upon those. The price that was allowed for the
additional masonry on the change you refer to was $12.60 a yard.

1278. Did you see any reason why this $12.60 a yard should be allowed, or rather
why -1.60 should be added to the original price for the masonry ?-Well, that matter
was brought about by Mr. Walter Shanly.

1279. Yes, I know ?-The prices were submitted to Mr. Walter Shanly and
anongst these papers you 'will find a report from him in which he gives his reasons for
believing that S12.60 was not an unfair price for the work the contractors were asked
to do.

1280. Well, now, if $11 a yard previously, in the original contract, was enough,
do you, of your own knowledge, tell the committee that there was any good reason
why tliat price should be increased 81.60 a yard ?-$11 in the first instance was not
enough.

1281. So that 812.60 a yard was plenty?-Well, you had better ask the contractor
about that. He can tell vou better than I can.

1282. You sav $11 was not enough in the first place ?-No, I do not think it vas.
1-283. Well, when the lock was changed to 650 feet, surely $16 was enough?-

Well, there is a good reason for that which you, Mr. Gibson, as a contractor, will readily
understand. The original design was that the openings were to be 60 feet wide at each
end, and the lock then swelled out by a reverse curve until -we got 85 feet width of
chamber. The first change that was called for made the width of the lock 100 feet, and
widened the width of 60 feet at the entrance, and the consequence was that we get back
100 feet instead of 85, which changed these curves, and a good deal of the new work
that had to be done was work that was cut with a circular face, and that was the reason
for asking for the increased price.

1284. If this 85 a yard had been applied to the gate and made the entrance of the
lock the whole 100 feet wide, would it not have gone a long wav towards paying for
that ?-You mean by making it 100 feet wide?

1285. Yes.-I think it would have been a very bad lock with 100 feet width.
1286. What is the size of the American lock ?-100 feet.
1287. What is the size of their gates ?-100 feet.
1288. What objection is there about their lock ?-The objection is this: that with

100 feet gates, especially when they are made of iron, that the first vessel to strike
them-and this can only be a question of time-then they simply collapse and are
knocked out of shape, and it takes ai- indefinite time to get them made right again.

1289. How often does that occur?-It occurs too often.
1290. Ilow often bas the Arnerican canal at Sault Ste. Marie been stopped during

the time that you resided up there f rom the cause you gave ?-You mean from a gate
being knocked out? Thev have had one or two stoppages of a few hours, and they
have been singularlv fortunate. I do not know whether they have had stoppages owing
to the gates being knocked out, but they have had a stoppage of a few hours owing to
the machinery for opening the gates going wrong.

1291. Is it not rather a matter of the speed of the vessel than of the size of the
gate ?-You cannot make a ve3sel go always where you want ber to go. She may take a
sheer, or if a gale of wind springs up a high cabin will act like a sail and spring ber
round in spite of fate.
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1292. That is a question of navigation, not of engineering?-We are supposed to
inake locks that vessels can go through.

1293. Surely a vessel can get through a gate of 100 feet easier than one of 65 ?-
She would if she went all right.

1294. Can the saine care be exercised on the new lock at Sault Ste. Marie on our
own lock, or on the American lock that is now in operation as on the old American
lock ?-Well, I say these accidents will occur in spite of fate.

1295. You simply objected to the 100 feet gate because it was dangerous in case of
accidents. Could not the same provision be made with 100 feet gates? After all, there
is 20 feet on each wing of the gates to be added to it, a little more, perhaps ; call it :0.
How much greater trouble would it be to ship iron gates than wooden one ?-The difli-
culty is this, that the stoppage of a trade of 1-2,000,000 tons a year would be serious,
and in case of emergency you could make shift with timber, whereas with iron it is a
difficult matter. You can patch up a wooden gate, but an iron gate is another iatter.
If a ship strikes it it is like knocking up a tin pan.

1296. Could they not be sheathed with wood like an iron vessel ?-They could, but
I do not think it would have that effect. If a vessel of 200,000 tons, nmoving at the
rate of four or five miles an hour, gets beyond control you cannot stop lier.

1297. What more probability is there of a vessel rulning into an iron gate and
destroying it than with a wooden one ?-I do not know that there is any greater liability
as to it happening. It is a question of making the repairs afterwards.

1298. Iron gates are a new feature ?-Not altogether. They have leen using them
in the old country and on the continent for many years.

1299. How many years have they been in use ?-I do not know exactly. For
several years.

1300. How many have been destroyed to your knowledge ?-1 cannot tell you that,
but I will tell you this, that the Canada dock at Liverpool has 100 feet width and iron

gates and they find it a nuisance, and a dock gate is not used anything like as frequenitly
as a lock gate.

1301. Do you not think if these lock gates were so inefficient in their working and
of such a dangerous character in their operation that the Anieri ans would renove them
at Sault Ste. Marie and put wooden ones in their place ?-There are questions of cost
which cone in there.

1302. Getting away from the iron lock gate altogether, could not a wooden lock
gate have been built for 100 feet opening ?-Assuredly it could.

1303. Would not that have got over the difficulty of danages ?-I do not think so.
There would be the same difficulty there, when you get a large gate, and there does not
appear to be any necessity for it moreover. I think if you were to ask the Anerican
engineers they would tell you that they regret exceedingly that they have 100 feet gates
in their lock.

1304. Is there any report from them to that effect ?-I do not think so, but I have
gathered it in conversation.

1305. Is not this the third lock that has been built by the Aimerican government?
-Yes.

1306. And it is a larger lock than the old one ?--It is.
1307. What is the length of it ?-The length of it is 800 feet.
1308. And the width of it?-100 feet.
1309. Well, do you think that with the experience they have had with two locks

during the last 30 years, that the American engineers would not have stuck to the old
plan if it was the best ?-Well, there are two or three wNords of explanation about that.
The lock that the Aniericans are now building-800 feet long and 100 feet wide-was
built on the supposition that the trade of the lakes was going to be carried in a very
different way fron that into which it is drifting at the present time. The idea was
there would be a propeller and that she would have three vessels in tov, th at would be
about her own carrying capacity, and that these 4 vessels, with the three towing behind,
would go along, and outside the lock, would be formed into a sort of rigid figure-a phalanx
as it were, fastened together-and move into the lock in a solid mass, that would fill
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the lock and would be locked through and pass out through the other side. When the
question of our enlargement came up, for my own personal information, I wrote to the
owners and the presidents of many of the forwarding companies in the States and I
asked them what their ideas were as regards the most desirable means and the cheapest
way of carrying freight. And they said that this question of having tows was a thing
that was passing out and they gave me the reason. They said: "You have a vessel
that costs perhaps somewhere from a quarter to half a million dollars and three vessels
behind lier that might cost a quarter of a million dollars each, and they get along very
nicely in the open lake, but when they get out to the end, where they are to di-charge.
the whole flotilla has got to wait until they are all discharged, and the consequence is
that a large capital of a million dollars perhaps, or very near it, is standing idle. Their
opinion is, and you will see it if you watch the vessels building to-day, that each vessel
ought to be an independent one, to have ber own engine, take ber own load, be dis-
clarge(d, and get back again. The idea on which the American lock is built is exploded,
and their lock is a back number.

1310. Well now, Mr. Thompson, you appi ove, of course, you say, of the $12.60 a
yard for the 900 feet lock. Now, was it not a fact that according to the original con-
tract, according to the original specifications-the G(overnment reserves a right to itself
to make any changes in the specifications ?-There is a limit, there is a clause to that
effect, I think, in all contracts.

1311. There is a clause to that effect in all contracts ?--Within certain limits.
1312. Within certain limits. And in this case, Mr. Shanly, Mr. Trudeau and the

contractors consulted together, and they arrived at this conclusion, of allowing $11 a
yard for the old lock ?-That was the original contract price.

1313. Was $11 a yard paid for any portion of the present lock ?-I think so.
1314. You think so. Have you no knowledge of how many yards ?-I cannot tell

you from memory, but I saw the estimate here the other day. That gives all the infor-
mation.

Mr. GIBso.-Where is that estimate ?

By 1fr. Haggart :

1315. We want that very particularly answered, Mr. Thompson ? With respect
to the original quantities in the lock that Mr. Ryan contracted for, bas he been receiv-
ing any extra pay other than the amount he contracted to furnish it for ?-I think not.

Mr. GIBsN.-Wait until he gets the answer.
WITNESs (after consulting documents).-There is 44,107 yards at $11.
1316. Yes ?-That is the original contract price.
1317. Yes ; and how many yards at $16 ?-There is 5,581 at $16.
1318. And how many yards at $12.60 ?-18,155 at 812.60.
1319. Now, the lock was not built at 650 feet. What reason was there to pay

$16 a yard for that portion of the lock that was not built ?-Because, as I said a
moment ago, if you will remember, when the change was made of the width of the lock
from 85 to 100 feet, carrying out this curve to get back 100 feet, the additional work-
the greater part of it-was in curved face work, and there is where the extra cost comes in.

1320. Well, that was not built ? The lock is built at 60 feet wide ?-That is
merelv the entran ce.

1321. Yes, and how wide is the present lock within the chamber ?-The present
lock is 60 feet wide.

1322. The other lock was 85 feet wide ?-A commencement was made on that to
carry it out. Each one of thesè changes was partly in progress before the subsequent
change followed.

1323. This stone was destroyed ; it 'as of no use whatever ?-Not destroyed, but
cut over again.

1324. So you paid how many thousand dollars ?-The quantity that is returned at
$16 is 5,581 yards.

1325. And what use was made of that stone ?-Well, that stone would go into the
work.

A. 1895
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1326. And be paid for over again ?--Not paid for over again, but it would be eut
over again.

1327. Do you mean to say there was 8,000 yards of stone re-eut or 5,000 yards 1-
-No; I won't say the whole of that aniount was re-cut. There would be value in the
best part of it.

1328. These estimates show it ?-It shows it was paid for, but it does not say any
thing about re-cutting.

1329. But if it was not required to be all re-cut ; why should it be paid for i-I
don't know exactly how that is.

By 3fr. Lister :

1330. Was that paid for a second time ?--Oh, no ; there was nothing paid for a
second time.

1331. Or any part of it ?-No; I an quite sure there was nothing paid for a
second time.

By fr. Gibson

1332. What was done with the stone ?-The stone went iito the work.
1333. And how was it paid for after it went into the work ?-It was paid for at

$12.60.
1334. It was paid for at 812.60, and what was paid for it before ?-It was not

paid for before at ail.
1335. But you show it there ?-Oh, no; that was other yards.

By fr. Haggart:

1336. These are the actual cubie yards of masonry built ?-These are the actual
cubie yards of masonry built.

By 3fr. Gibson :

1337. Excuse me, I want to follow up this question. You say there are 5,000
yards of stone paid for at $16 a yard ?-Yes.

1338. And then you say that stone was out in consequence of a contemplated
change to a 650 feet lock ?-Not exactly. What I said was this : That the reason that
was given for increasing the price was because the work that would have to be done
under that change necessitated curved work being done.

1339. Well, now, Mr. Thompson, it was only the reverse curve that was changed.
The original curve was the same in the original lock, when it was first contenplated
650 feet wide ?-No. To get back one hundred where the amount had been 85 before.

1340. Yes ?-It would have affected that curve. I remember that distinctly.
1341. 7 feet and a half ?-I don't remember what the quantities are, but 1 remein-

ber distinctly at the time looking it up.
1342. But you say that was not carried out ?-I think some of it was.
1343. But you say 5,000 yards of it were paid for ?-That was when the whole of

the quantities were reached.
1344. And what means of reaching the whole quantities had you, seeing they were

not built ?-They were taken, I presunie, fron the approximate quantities that were
given to the contractors upon which to make their bids, when these changes were made.

1345. Who would give then those quantities ?-They were given to the contrac-
tors by the department, to enable then to make a bid.

1346. You wou:d be able to bring that clown, would you not ?-I think you have
it amongst these papers.

1347. Well, can you find it ?-I will look for it. (After an examination of Exhibit
1) I think it is in the other book-Here they are. On page 57 it is here. It says ;
" Additional lock masonry, 7,000 yards at $16." These quantities were given the con-
tractors to enable them to make a bid, because of course the price would vary with the
quantity.
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1348. So this masonry was paid for at $16 a yard ?--Yes.
1349. And there were how many yards of it?-5,581 at $16.
1350. 5,581 at $16?-Yes.
1351. And that moneyed out?-889,296.
1352. $89,000 î-$89,296.
1353. $89,296. Now, Mr. Thompson this 5581 yards was paid for at the rate of

elò a yard ?-It was.
1354. And it was not required afterwards for that particular part of the work ?-

That is not exactly the way to get at it Mr. Gibson.
1355. Very well, let us have your own explanations ?-The way of it was this. An

arrangement was made with the contractors to pay that price for a certain quantity of
masonry in a certain part of the lock, and these payments were made from time to time,
and what we have here, the quantities that are here, and the gross sums opposite to
them are moneyed out according to those agreements, at those rates. There is no
masonry I am sure that has been paid for twice. There has been no cut stone paid for
twice I am quite sure.

1356. Let us be clear about that. You say that these stones were re-cut ? I feel
quite sure sone of therm were re-cut, but I will not say how many, for the reason that
the third change followed pretty closely upon the second.

1357. It was on the second change that the 816,000 was paid ?-Well, I should say
that the second change followed very closely on the first.

1358. There were not many yards cut, then, that required recutting?-They had
got along well with their cutting in the first instance according to their original design.

1359. So that there were not many stones cut for that curved work ?-I cannot
speak positively as to what the quantities are.

1360. Could you give us any ide- ?-No.
1361. Perhaps a couple of hundred yards ?-I would not like to mention quantities

at all.
1362. 1,000 yards?-I would not like to say. I know at the time this matter was

gone into very carefully to see that the thing was done in a proper way.
1363. But still you state to the committee you do not think there were very many

stones cut on account of the second change closely following the first one ?-Well, I am
speaking altogether from recollection. I do not remember exactly how that was.

1364. So that you do not think there were very many. Of course there could not
be very many changes iade to the stone? I could not speak positively about that. It
is a matter of recollection, and my recollection is not clear.

1365. Still the engineers allowed the contractor $5 extra on 5,581 yards ?-That
was according to the agreement.

1366. Was it not a very liberal agreement ?-Well I am not prepared to say that.
I think if you take the average rate of this nasonry all through you will find that it is
not a high figure. The average cost of that masonry all through in the Sault Ste.
Marie lock is under $12. I remember calculating it some years ago.

1367. I beg your pardon ?-I say the average price of the masonry in the Sault
Ste. Marie lock on our side is, if my memory serves me right, $11.92, I remember very
clearly, because I went into that closely to compare it with the cost of the American
lock, and the average of our inasonry is 811.92, if my memory is correct, and I think
it is.

1368. Well it is very easy to arrive at. Take the money and divide it by the total
number of yards ?-The object of getting that out was to compare it with the cost of the
American lock. Their price is $14 and upwards.

By Mr. Haggart:

1369. Our lock masonry averages $11.92 and the American $14 ?-Something over
$14, I think.

1370. Over $14 ?-It is some years ago that I got out these matters with the object
of obtaining information for myself.

1371. What was the original estimate ?-The original estimate was $44,000.
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Ly Ir. Gibson:

1372. When Mr. Schreiber vas under exaiination I asked him if lie could give
any good reason to the committee why the wrought iron was changed froi ( eents to
S ?-Well there was a very good reason for the increased price. The reason of it was
this. The iron as contracted for, under the original contract, at 6 cents a pound, vas
very simple iron work. There was notlhing difficult about it. But the iron vork that
came in afterwards for these culverts-they were large heavy rods to begin with. They
were screwed on both ends for a good length. There were heavy niuts and waslers,
hexagonal nuts to begin with. The inanner of placing thein the bottom absorbed a
good deal of the price. They had to be put along in the first instance, and then a sill
was placed, and holes were bored through this ill at intervals of about 18 or 20 inches
apart,'and these rods were put down through these and the culvert and hexagonal nuts
on the bottom, and they were retained in that position for the whole length of the bot-
tom of the lock. They were held in this vertical position by props to keep then there
until the timbers forming the side of the eulvert were let down on the top of those again.
Then there was a strap that went over the top of the covers after they were put on, and
washers were necessary and these hexagonal nuts on the top, s> that it was quite an
intricate bit of work getting them in position while this work was goîing on. Tiey were
liable to be knocked over, bent and damaged. There was a good bit of extra wNork and
I do not think the price was excessive.

1373. Were the ends or the threads upset ?-Yes, they were.
1374. Well, what length were they, did you say?-The culvert is 8 feet high;

they are somewhere about 12 feet in lengitli.
1375. An ordinary rod about 12 feet in lenglit and upset niuts worth S cents

a pound ?-You should take into consideration the work that bas been done in coninee-
tion with it.

1376. They supply bridges at 4 cents a pound ?-To-day, but the iron iiarket, as
vou know, is fluctuating and in those days the iron market was higher thilan it is now.
There is another thing that it is fair to mention. The work was done under a great deal
of difficulty. It is just on the frontier. I da not want to offend the Sault Ste. Marie
people, but still it is a long way from the base. Everything bas to be brought up frnoi
500 miles off. The men did not want to work there. They were troublesone to handle
and the cost of doing thýe work up there was far in excess of doing work in the central
part of Ontario. There is no quesion about that at all.

By Mr. Haggart :

1377. On that particular point I want an answer from you. The contractor
received 6 cents per pound for the bolts that were in before ?-The original contractor ?

1378. The original contractor. For the bolts that lie was required to furnish under
the altered specification, do you think that 2 cents which was allowed hii was ton much
-1 do not.

By Mr. Gibson

1379. Wes it only for this class of work he was allowed 2 cents ?-Yes.
1380. How nany pounds was lie paid for ?-448,659.
1381. And h1ow nany of the other at 6 cents was he paid for ?-There are 10,634

li one place and 2,981 in another.
1382. Well, was there no other iron used in the job except that ?-Yes, there was

pressed spike in the culverts, but that was at another figure.
1383. That is not bolts. So evidently there were more bolts paid for at 8 cents a

pound than 6 cents ?-Yes, largely because in the original contract the culverts were
not included. These culverts were an additional matter.

1384. Can you explain to the committee why the planking was raised from i25 a
thousand to S45 ?-lt was on account, I presume, of this being more costly work.
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1385. Was the planking for the culverts more costly than the planking in the lock?
-About the same. The specification for the culverts--for the timber that was required
for sheatiing these culverts- provided that they were to be of two and three inch plank
and that they were to be joined perfectly true at their respective sides, so that there
rmight be a perfectly water tight bottom when they were jointed.

I 3)8. Were thev tongued and 1 grooved ?-Not tongued and grooved, but cross jointed.
1387. HOW would you explain the reason why the $20 a thousand more was allowed

for this than for the sane class of work that was allowed in the dock pit ?-Well, I can
tel] you one reason for it. And that is, that about the time that contract was made the
tiimber inarket lad stiffened very materially, and short]y before that time I remember
hearing it said that the price of timber lad gone up $2 a thousand. Well then, another
reason for it was that these lengths were longer than the ordinary stock lengths.

1388. What length were they ?-I don't remenber what the lengths were. The
plans would show.

1389. You reinember they were longer, but you don't remember the lengths ?-
I remember they were longer, but n ot the lengths.

1390. What did the bracing up the cribs cost, Mr. Thoipson ?-I cannot tell you
anything about that.

1391. You lad nothing to do with that ?-That is about the lock, I don't know.
1392. You were away from the work then ?--I was.
1393. And you were in the habit of going up once a nonth ?-Sonetimes not as

often as that.
1394. Somnetitmes not as often as that ?-What was the reason the bracing was put

in ?-Well, the difficulty was this : The contractors Lad a crib to build froi the upper
end of the lock to the upper end of the secti n, above the surface of the lock, and accord-
ing to the plans and specifications that crib was to be carefully filled with stone so as to
make it a good, solid crib, to give it weight and stability, to take care of the bank be-
hind it, and support a wall upon the top of it. This crib, there is no use attempting to
disguise the niatter, was not filled as it should have been.

1395. It was not properly filled ?-And the result was it showed signs of failure,
and this support in front was put there in the hope of keeping it in its place.

1396. Whose fault was it that the cribs were not properly filled ?-It was the
fault of the contractors, and the men on the government side, who were there to see
that they did what was right.

1397. It was the fault of the contractors and the men whom the government em-
ployed, who did not look after the work properlv ?-That is it.

1398. That is it. , So that, in consequence of that, the pressure froni behind shoved
the cribs out of place ?-lt did.,

1399. And some of theni had to be taken down?--Yes.
1400. And those that were taken down had to be made wider ?-Not that I know of.
1401. I happened to be there, 'Mr. Thompson, the day that they were rebuilding

one of the cribs, and it was about ten feet wider than the other ?-Whereabouts was
that, Mr. Gibson ?

1402. On the left-hand side of the lock looking towards Lake Superior ?-And about
how far up?

1403. Well, perhaps a quarter of the way up ?-Well, I will tell you what I know
about it. There was a piece of the crib-discussion had arisen about this matter, and
how the filling had been done in the cribs-taken down to ascertain what the style of
filling was, and it was found to be imperfect.

1404. This piece was taken down to show the class of filling ?-It was determined
to take down a piece from station 73 for 120 feet to see what the result was.

1405. Station 73 would be how many feet up ?-1,000 feet.
1406. Well I was not far wrong ?-No, you were not. That was taken down and

I remained there and saw it taken down, with a view of seeing beyond the possibility
of doubt just what the filling was.

By Mr. Lister:

1407. What was it ?-The filling was as it should not have been.
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1408. What was it ?-There was some stone. there was a good deal of clav, and
the stone was not packed in between the ties as it should have been, and the conse-
quence was that the weight above bent the ties down and demoralized the crib work.

1409. What was the weight above ?-The weight above was stone filling that had
been put in, and a dry vall that had been built by the contractors to hold up the
material on the back of it for their derricks to travel upon, when they were doing
other parts of the work, a space being reserved in front of this tenporary dry wall to
build a permanent wall that was to go on the cri) and face up froi the top of the crib
to the top of the tow path.

1410. How should the work have been done ?-It should have been done in this
way: As the courses of timber were laid the stone should have been fillel in between
them, course by course, as they went on.

By fr. Haggart :

1411. Hand filled ?-Hand filled. There was n ) doubt in ny minld of their being
required to do it, and it was the neglect to do it that caused the trouble.

By Mr. Lister:

1412. Whose neglect ?-Neglect on the part of the contractor, and on the part of
our people to see that the work was donc.

1413. The contractors and the engineers ?-Yes, they were all to h!ame.

By Mr. Gibson :

1414. Through the neglect of the contractor and the Governmnent engineers who
were there, the inspectors, the Government was put to an unnecessary expense in bracing
up these cribs and filling theni with concrete ?-In filling between the braces with
concrete, that was what was done.

1415. And if the cribs had been properly filled this would not have required to
have been done ?-No.

1416. So that in consequence of the inferior manner in which the work was
conducted, this extra expense was put upon the country ?-An extra expense was
incurred, but who has got to foot the bill, I don't know.

By Mr. Lister:

1417. You know what was done to rectify this ?-Yes, I do.
1418. What was done ?-Braces were put in-stout struts were put in-from thie

b)otton of the canal up the side of the crib-work. Then there was planking secured
behind these braces and the space between that and the crib-work was filled in witl
concrete made in Portland coment.

1419. Then that was filled up with concrete ?-That was filled up with concrete.
The timbers were put out so as to give them support-take the place of a strut, as it
were-and the concrete was filled in between, so as to make solid concrete.

By Mr. Gibson :

1420. Some of them were out 6 feet from the tow path?-Some were out as far as 7 feet.
1421. Well, judged from my eye, I should say there were several feet. In con-

sequence of this a large amount of timber had to be bought and a large quantity of con-
crete had to be put in to get this work in its proper place ?-Yes.

1422. You say that it was built with Portland cenent. Was there any other kind
of cement used ?-Oh, ye', there was a good deal of native cement used.

1423. From where ?-From Thorold.
1424. Why was it used, Mr. Thompson ?-Native cement was used in the first

instance in some of the backing of the lock.
1425. So they really put in native cement in the backing of the lock ?-In some

cases at the commencement. That was according to the terms of the contract.
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1426. But it was atterwards changed to Portland cement ?-Yes.
1427. And after that change no more native cement was used ?-I imagine not.
1428. You do not know ?-I cannot say what occurred during my absence.

By fr. Lister :

1429. Whose duty was it to have looked after that work that you found improperly
done ? The resident engineer ?-The resident engineer and his inspectors.

1430. Was it his duty to visit the works daily ?-Yes.
1431. And his inspectors were there all the time ?-They are supposed to be there

all the time that the contractors men are there.
1432. So that if the contractors were permitted to do the work in the way you

have described it inust have been done with the knowledge of the inspectors ?-It could
lot fail to be so.

14:33. Wio are these inspectors ?-One of their names was McAuley, another
mnan's naine was Scott, another man's naine was Couvrette.

1434. This was done under the resident engineer Mr. Crawford ?-Mr. Crawford.
14:35. Was any investigation held into the conduct of these men in allowing the

work to be done in this way ?-W ell, yes, I think so.
1436. Who held that investigation?-The chief engineer.

13437. Mr. Sclreiber ?-Mr. Schreiber.
J4,38. Mr. Schreiber?-Yes.
14:9. Now, Mr. Thompson, how much of the work was done in this way did you

say ?-I did not say how much.
1440. Well, I ask vou then low much ?-I must just wait for an instant to con-

sider. On the left hand side of the canal as you went up there was a distance there of,
I should think, speaking altogether fromn memory, 500, 600 or perhaps 700 feet where
the work appeared to have been properly donc, and there it stood without any trouble.

1441. Did you test that?-It was there to be seen. It speaks for itself. If the
water was out you would see it there to-day. When that point was passed the faulty
work appears to have commenced on that side, and from that the greater part of the
way on that section.

1442. How many feet ?-About 1,500 feet.
1443. About 1,500 feet was done in this faulty way, as you call it ?-Yes.
1444. Perfectly useless way, I should call it ?-I would not say perfectly useless.

It was decidedly faulty. Tien on the other side of the canal the ditliculty of that sort
was more or less the whole way along.

1445. On the'other side it was the whole way along more or less ?-Yes.
1446. How many feet ?-I ani just trying to remenber the stations (after a pause)

about 2,300 feet.
1447. It appeared all around the canal except one piece of 700 feet ?-Soiewhere

about that, generally speaking. The conditions were different here and there and else-
where.

1448. Sone was a little worse than the other ?-Exactly.
1449. Now, Mr. Thompson, have you-I suppose it was you who discovered it ?-

No, the intimation I got was a letter from Mr. Crawford.
1450. A letter from Mr. Crawford. Have you got that letter ?-No, I have not.
1451. You destroyed it ?-No, I did not destroy it. It is in the department. The

chief engineer will have it.
1452. Mr. Schreiber will have it ?-Yes.
1453. Will you tell me about what time that letter was received i-I think that

letter-
1454. Oh, somewhere near the time?-Possibly somewhere in May, I think.
1455. In May last ?-Perhaps about that time.
1456. In May last that letter was received and that letter is in the hands of the

department here ?-I think so.
1457. Was it forwarded by you to the department $-Yes, it was.
1458. To Mr. Schreiber ?-Yes.
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1459. And that letter intimated that this work had not been properly done ?-It
intimated that the crib-work was not standing in good shape.

1460. Pid it surprise you that it did not stand ?--Well, I was rather surprised to
hear of things being in such a state as that, and I went up immediately to learn the
state of affairs.

1461. You were surprised to learn the crib work vas not standing and you went
up there immediately ?-Yes.

1462. And what did vou do ?--I found it about in the state I have described.
1463. Now that state was a very bad state ?-Yes.
1464. A disgraceful state ?-I think so.

The committee then adjourned.
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COMoITTEE 14ooM No. 49,
HOUSE OF Co'ImoNs, 2.th June, 1895.

The committee met.

W. G. TiioMPsoN re-called and further examined.

By Mr. Lister :

1465. When you were last here, Mr. Thompson, we were talking about the crib-
work ?-Yes.

1466. I want to know definitely the total number of feet of crib-work at the north
side of the lock ?-About 2,600 feet.

1467. About 2,600 feet ?-That is speaking from recollection.
1468. When you were last here you informed us that about 700 feet were properly

done?-That was on the south side.
1469. That would be the south entrance?- That was on the south side that the

portion was in good shape.
1470. On the south side the portion was in good shape. All of it ?-No. the 700

feet you refer to.
1471. Then there was 2,700 feet on the north side?-2,600.
1472. How many feet on the other side ?-The same length.
1473. 2,600 feet. Was the construction of the crib-work on the north side ail

faulty ?-There were some spots, I think, where it was not faultv.
1474. Well, I understood you to say that with the exception of about 700 feet it

was all faulty?-There may have been some small isolated spots here and there, but
generallv speaking it was faulty on the north side.

1475. Then on the north side generally speaking it was faulty ?-Yes.
1476. How about the south side ?-On the south side about six or seven hundred

feet, to the best of mv recollection, was in good shape, and the greater part of the
remaining dist-ance was more or less faulty.

1477. Six or seven hundred feet on the south side were properly built ?-Yes.
1478. And the remainder was more or less faulty ?-What I said was, that it stood

ail right.
1479. Eh ?-What I said was, it stood al] right, that it gave evidence of doing what

it was required to do for six or seven hundred feet.
1480. I an asking you about its construction, whether it was properly done or not?

-Weil, it would appear from the result of its standing, that it was properly done.
1481. As an engineer, do vou say the work was properly done ?-Well, the six or

seven hundred feet that I spoke of. I did not see that built, but the result speaks for
itself, and as it did w-bat it was required to do I am of the opinion that it was properly
built.

1482. Then all on the south side was properly done ?-No, six or seven hundred
feet.

1483. Oh yes, six or seven hundred feet. But there were 2,600 feet were there
not ?-Yes.

1484. How about the 2,000 feet ?-.That, I say, was more or less faulty.
1485. Under w-hose supervision was the six or seven hundred feet built ?-It was

ail constructed under the same supervision., so far as I am aware.
1486. Crawford ?-Yes.
1487. When did you examine the work ?-I saw the work in progress in January

of 1893.
1488. Did you make any complaint at all as to the manner in which it was being

done ?-Yes, I remember speaking about it.
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1489. Who to ?-I called Mr. Crawford's attention to the fact that there was a good
deal of snow in the crib. At the time that I refer to tiere was, I should think, about
3 feet of snow upon the ground. They were lot, the day that I was there, putting any-
thing into the crib, but I saw that there was a lot of snow in the crib-that tlhere was
on the surrounding ground-and I told him it would be proper to take that snow out
otherwise it would make difficulty.

1490. Otherwise it would create difficulty ?-Yes.
1491. Was that the last time you saw them until they vere tinislhed? That, was

the last time I saw it until the time that I refer to, when I went up there having heard
it was not standing as it slhould stand.

1492. Now, how much iad been constructed at that time ?-It was pretty nuch ail
done at that time.

1493. Pretty much all done at that time. So that the whole of the cribwork hiad
been done under the inspection or superintendence of Mr. Crawford ?-Yes, and his
inspectors.

1494. Did you niake any such examination as satisfied you that the work-as regards
the crib-work-was not being done properly ?-Well, as far as 1 could tell, froi the snow
that was on the ground it appeared to be pretty well done, but as i sav, tlwre was a
covering of snow over the whole affair, and 1 could not see into the details of the work,

1495. Did you take any trouble to examine the details of the work ?-I looked about
as well as I could under the existing conditions.

1496. If there were three feet of snow, Mr. Thompson, it would be sontewwhat dificult
to tell what was underneath ?-To be sure it would. I stated I looked about as well as
I could do, under the existing conditions.

1497. And what does that mean ?-Why, there were parts of tic cibil thbat stood up
above the snow, where the face of the cribwork could be seen, and wliere the tics 'ould

be seen and where no stone had been put in. The cribwork had been carried far iii
advance of the stone filling and that portion of it was to be seen as well as any (her
portion.

1498. There was no stone in that portion of the cribwork ?-There was stone in the

botton, there was filling in the bottom, but up to a certain hbeilght, the snow covered it,
and from that up to the timiber work was to Le seeni.

1499. Did you take the trouble to find out whether it was filled wit h frozen clav?
That would have necessitated reioving all the snow, and digging dowu into thbis affair,
and would not have been a satisfactory mode of examining.

1500. Now, as an engineer, taking the results, can you give us an opiion at all as to
whether the probabilities are that a good deal of the cribyork was tilled in with frozen
elay ?-Judging from the results I think it is quite likely there was a good deal of f rozen

clay in it.

1501. There should have been no frozen clay ?-Certainly rot.
1502. It should have been stone work and wood work ?-lt slould.
1503. How deepwas the crib-work ?-It varied in depth according to the undulations

of the rock surface. In some places it was only three or four feet in deptht.
1504. Yes, and in other places ?-In (ther places it m as 10 or 12 feet in depthl.
1505. And on top of that crib-work the stone superstructure was built ?-Yes.
1506. How deep would that be ? What would be the height of that l-Ten feet.
1507. And how wide ?-Two and a half feet wide at the top, and a batter of two and

a half inches to the foot, I think it was, on the face. There was a corresponding batter
about five feet down in the rear, and from that down, the back of the vall was plumb.

1508. And the crib-work, of course, was intended to support the stone work ?-T(>
carry the w all.

1509. You must have had some idea, Mr. Thompson, at that time that the work
was not being properly doned :-The crib-work ?

1510. Yes ?-No ; I cannot say that I had any grave nisgivings on that point.
1511. You spoke to Crawford ?-Yes ; I told himî when there was snow there that

that snow must assuredly come out.
1512. Did you ask him whether he was putting in clay I did not.
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1513. Or allowing it to be put in ?-I don't think so.
1514. Did you ask him anything about clay ?-I don't know that I made use of the

word "clay." I remember
1515. Earth ?-I will tell you something that I remember. They were excavating at

that time in the neighbourhood of the railway swing bridge, and I saw where the
material was coming out, and it was a mixture of stone and frozen clay.

1516. Yes ?-And I said, " Surely that is not going into the crib ?" He said, " No;
that certainly is not; that is being taken to spoil-being waste."

1517. Do you know whether any of that went in or not ?-Not while I was there.
1518. Have you any information at all that would lead you to believe that that

material went into the crib instead of to spoil ?-I know some of it went in, because I
saw it there at a later stage of the work.

1519. That should not have gone in ?-It should not.
1520. What did you say when you saw it at a later stage of the work ?-I said

that accounted, in a large degree, for the failure of the work.
1521. That accounted, in a large degree, for the failure of the work ?-Yes.
1522. And that is your opinion as an engineer ?-It is.
1523. Then, what you say to the committee is this : That the assistant engineer, in

defiance of your orders, put that in-allowed it to be put in ?-Well, that would be
mnaking a direct charge of something very wrong.

1524. Well, it was very wrong ?-I would not like to make that charge that that
material wvas put in. I would be more inclined to say, it was a matter of neglect,
rather than a matter of wilful misdoing.

1525. Neglect on whose part ?-Neglect on the part of the resident engineer and
his assistants, and on the part of the contractor also. They knew what they had to do
as well as he did.

1526. So it would be neglect all around ? The contractors, the engineer and his
assistants ?-I think so.

1527. And your opinion is, that the putting in of that stone and earth largely con-
tributed to the faulty construction of the erib-work ?-I feel quite sure of it.

1528. You feel quite sure of it. Did you tell the Minister anything about it ?-The
Minister was upon the work and I mentioned these matters. This was after the fact,
as it were.

1529. Yes ?-The crib-work was done and was to be seen by everybody.
1530. You were there with the Minister on the works after the crib-work had been

completed and you mentioned the fact? What fact did you mention --The Minister,
the chief engineer, and sone others were there, and I called attention to the fact that
the filling was not properly done. The spaces between the tinibers should have been
thoroughly packed in with stone. Instead of that it was to be seen that large stones
had been thrown in which had fallen in all sorts of shapes, and there were large inter-
stices that there was a good deal of clay that had been adhering to the stone when it
was frozen that had inelted and left large voids, and in making the excavation to ascer-
tain how it was filled in we caine upon ice in several places.

1531. You came upon ice ?-Yes.
1532. Thrown in ?-Some of it appeared to have been ice that was thrown in and

some of it might have been ice that was formed on it, that had made its way under the
crib and formed there.

1533. You pointed all this out to the Minister, you say, when you were there ?-Not
all of it. The party were noving about generally and this thing was being looked at.

1534. Yes. Were there any other difficulties that you pointed out to him ?-I
don't recollect at this particular moment. There may have been but they do not strike
me at this monient.

1535. You don't remember ordering any of the men to take up some boards or
plank ?-In connection with the crib-work ?

1536. No, no, but with any other portion of the work ?-Yes, I do.
1537. What was that ?-I remember in the lock bottoni I noticed that some straps

that went over the cover- of t lie culverts had not been as trulv drilled to receive the
88
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bolts as they should have been, and I saw-I liad soie planking taken up to sec
whether this was just an isoiated case or whether there was some more of that sort of
work.

1538. What did you discover ?-I discovered that there were some other straps that
tnat had not been as truly drilled as they might have been.

1539. And was there anything else, Mr. Thomupson ?-I connection with the lock
1540. Yes ?--Well ves, there was another miatter.
1541. What was that ?--I remember at the upper end of the culverts I discovered

that where there was a space between the two walls whicli should have been filled in
with concrete and for a short distance at the extreme upper end near the breat wall it
lad not been filled in with concrete.

1542. Was it onlv for a short distance -Yes, it was only for a short distance.

1543. Did you follow it up to see how long?-I did. I stood there beside a mian who
lad an augur, and he bored holes through the timber where I asked him to do it and I
then probed with a bar, and ascertained with mv own hands.

1544. How many feet would that be in length ?--About seven, or eight, or nitie feet.
1545. What position ?-Inrnediately adjoining the breast wall.
1546. What was the width ? How much should have been filled ?-The width was

about 18 inches or two feet at the widest part, and then narrowed down to nothing.
1547. That should have been filled in with ?-That should have been filled in witl

concrete.
1548. Anything else ?-Yes, there was another matte- that caie to mey notice at

that timne, and that was the manner in which the frames for the discharge valves were
placed against the upright walls of the culverts.

1549. Explain ?-Thmey did not appear to have been as well bedded as I thought they
should have been.

1550. Yes ?-Those were some of the things that I noticed at that time.
1551. Those were some of the things you noticed ?-Yes. I think those were the

leading things.
1552. Now the engineer was there, I suppose, the a ssistant engineer, at ti is time?-

At that particular moment?
15.53. Mr. Crawford?-He might have been. I don't know. He was beide nie as

it were.
1554. Was he on the works?-Oh yes, he was on the wvorks.
1555. What explanation did lie give of the crib-work and the other nmatters you have

spoken of ?-As regards the crib-work, everyone-when I say everyone, the cont ractors
and Mr. Crawford-found fault with the design. Thev said that tlev thought that the
difficultv arose in a great measure from not having longitudinal ties in this crib-work.

1556. Yes ?-As regards the space that was vacant where there should have been
concrete in the botton, in the side walls of the culvert, the contractor explained that that
was a matter of oversight; that when they were using concrete there a staging had been
put across the walls at this particular point, and that prevented the mnen putting in the
concrete at the time when they were working. The intention was te go back and do it
afterwards, and as is often the case in these matters it wvas over]ooked.

1557. Yes. Well now, going back, for a moment, to the crib-work, the effect of the
faulty construction was what ?-The effect of the faulty execution of the work, as I have
stated, was that the crib became largely a failure.

1558. Became largely a failure in what respect ?-In not holding its shape.
1559. It bulged out ?-It did.
1560. What had to be done then?-As I stated at the last meeting of the Comnmittee,

shores were put in front of it to support it.
1561. Yes, and what was done at the back of it '-At the back of the crib-work?
1562. Yes.-Nothing that I am aware of.
1563. Nothing was done there ?-Not at the back of the crib-work.
1564. The bulging out of the crib-work meant the displacement to so:ne extent of

the stone work ?-Yes, it did.
1565. And it meant the weakening of the whole structure ?-Yes, it did.
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1566. So that the faultv execution of the work ineans a permanent injury to the
work ?-I am not quite prepared to say that, for this reason : The shores that were put
in in front of the crib-work were boarded over and the space between them and the
crib-work was filled in with concrete, made of Portland cement, and it may be that that
lias had the eflect of giving it the stability that it should have had, had it been prompt-
ly executed. That is what tine will tell.

1567. Time alone can tell that, but if this crib-work is not properly filled with stone,
in other words, if a portion of it is empty with a great weight on top of it, will the tend-
encv not be constantly for the weight to bear upon the shoring of the concrete? Will
there not always be pressure against the concrete ?-If there were large cavities in the
crib-work of course there would be that tendency.

1568. Have you any reason to know that there are not large cavities in the crib-
work ?-I an not inclined to think so because of the rain that has been there since then
and the gravelly nature of the material on top-I am inclined to think that that has silted
dowii between the stone, and I fancy by this tiie the space is pretty well filled up.

1569. Have you any reason to know that ?-- have no -reason to know, but I arn
inclined to think that has taken place.

1570. That is an opinion?-Yes.
1571. Suppose a portion of that crib-work had been filled w'ith ice and frozen earth

and large stones such as you speak of, not properiv filled up, would not the effect of the
warm wveather in the spring and sumner be to melt the snow and ice and melt the Clay
and leave a vacancy in the upper part, while it would fill the lower portion of the crib ?
-That is exactly wlat did occur last year.

1572. And your judgment is that there may be an end to that now ?-It is possible.
1573. But you are not able to speak with positiveness upon that ?-Certainly not,

The only means to find that out would be to open up the whole affair, every part of it.
1574. Tell me what the cost of the crib-work was on the upper entrance and the

lower ?-The crib-work that we have just been speaking of was paid by the cubic yard,
and the price was, I think, 84.50 per cubie yard.

1575. It was paid for by the yard'?-Yes, at either $4.00 or 84.50 a yard, I do not
remember which.

1576. Now can you tell me how many cubie yards there are in the upper entrance
and the -lower?-There was none of this style of crib-work that you spoke of in the
lower entrance at all. That was of a difierent nature altogether.

1577. That was defective too?-On the lower entrance there w-as no fault to be found.
1578. No fault No.
1579. Then the crib-work that f tult was to be found with covered how many'feet?

It was the distance from the upper end of the lock to the upper end of section number
two, about 2,600 feet.

1580. Altogether ?-On each side.
1581. 2,600 feet ?-Double that distance.
1582. Tell me how many cubie yards there are on both sides of the upper entrance

where this work was done ?-1 cannot tell vou.
1583. Approximately ?-I cannot tell you approximately. I do not remenber what

the quantities were at all.
1584. Is there any way of ascertaining it at all ?-Yes, I think they are likelv to be

in somne of those papers there vou have on the table, (pointing to volumes "1 " and "2
of letters filed.)

1585. You are not famniliar with those papers ?-I am familiar with them, but I am
not sufficiently familiar- with then to say what is there. If I saw the' papers I could
tell you iii a moment whether they are there or not.

1586. I was asking vou a moment ago about the crib-work. You told us when vou
were under examination before that vour duty was to visit the works occasionally ?-Yes.

1587. Was the work progressing to vour satisfaction? Was it being done in a
manner satisfactory to vou ?-Sometimes there were little matters that had to be
corrected sometines matters appeared to be going in good shape. I did not see much
to find fault with.

A. 1895
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1588. How long did it take to construet this crib-work ?-The crib was conntuenced
in the fall of 1893.

1589. And when was it conpleted ?-It was comnpleted iii the early sununer of 1894.
1590. Well, during that timue had you occasion to go up there ?-No, i had not

been upon the work from January, 1894, until July, I thlink.
1591. So that, as a matter of fact, vou did not see anv portion, or very little of tisî

crib-work while it was being done?-I did not see nuci of it.
1592. Not until it was finished ?-Exactly.
1593. And until the stone work was built on it ?- Soume of the stone work had beei

built on it, and some of it was in progress, and some of it was buit after I w\ ent up thlere.
1594. Who did the measuring of the work ?-It was done by the resident engineer

and his assistants.
1595. Do you know who his assistants were ?-Yes.
1596. Who ?-Mr. Curran was one, Mr. Spence was another, Mr. Morrow was

another.
1597. Spence, Curran and Morrow were his assistants ?-Yes.
1598. And anong them the work would be mneasured ?-Yes.
1599. Who was likely to do it, the engineer or bis assistants ?-Tle measuremîents

out in the field were generally taken by Spence and Morrow amid partly by Crawford.
The quantities would be worked out and exten(ded by Spence and Morrow and would
be examined by Crawford and checked bv him.

1600. Now, when vou found the crib-work in tihis condition did you speak toMor-
row on the occasion when you and the Minister were there ?-No.

1601. Not to Morrow, but to Crawford ?-Yes, there was a gooidl deal said ablout it.
1602. There was a good deal said about it !-Yes.
1603. Did Crawford attempt to explain ?-Yes, as I said a montent ao, lhefountid

fault witl the design. He said there should have been longtitudinal tibileis in t ie
crib.

1604. He was charged with not having had these cribs properily tilled, was hle nlot
--Yes.

1605. Did you tell himu that he iad takei the excavation fromt the pier and put it
in there instead of taking it to the spoil ?-No.

1606. Did you say that to him ?---No.
1607. Notbing of that kind at ail ?-No.
1608. What was done ? Was any action taken by the Minlister -I canntot say.
1609. Was Crawford dismissed there and then No.
1610. Crawford was not dismissed ?-No.
1611. He was kept on the work ?-Yes.
1612. He is there still ?-I believe so.
1613. You know, Mr. Thompson, something, I suppose, about a bonus beinggiven

to the contractors as an inducenent to threm to have the work completed Iin 1894 ?-

Yes.
1614. What time in 1894 was the canal to be opeued or conmpleted ?-The object

that was being worked for was to have the entire canal completed ou thte 1 st of July.
161.5. How much was the bonus ?-The bonus was $90,000 to be paijd in proportion,

pro rata, as the muasonry of the lock was coripleted.
1616. And it was to be finished conpletely on the 1st of July 1894 ?--The mnasonry

was to be completed at the end of 1893 and other works that had to be done were to be
completed in time to admit of the opening of the canal on the 1st of July 1894.

1617. The canal was not opened, as a matter of fact, on the 1st of J uly No, it
was not.

1618. And it is not open yet ?-I do not know.
1619. Do you know anything about the condition of the approaches to tUe canal,

that is whether vessels of any draft can go in there now or not, drawing, say, over 9 feet
of water ?-I read in a Sault Ste. Marie newspaper that they were engaged at the pre-
sent time in taking out boulders which were in the clannels, but I an aware of mluy
own knowledge that the required depth has been reached.

91
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1620. What is that ?-I am aware of my own knowledge that the required depth
generally lias been reached, and that the obstructions which are there are boulders and
pieces of rock on the bottom.

1621. Do you know whether it bas ever been swept out ?-They were sweeping it
last fall and they are sweeping it at the present time.

1622. Do you know of your own knowledge, or do you not that the tug " Jessie"
drawing 8 feet of water grounded there within the last few days ?-No I do not.

1623. You do not know of your own knowledge that the canal has been opened ?
-No I (10 not.

1624. In the construction or preparation for the construction were plans and speci-
fications prepared for each stone that went into it?- That is for the lock ?

16 25. Yes.-There were certain dimension stones the sizes of which were specified.
1 626. Yes.--But not generally for the whole work.
1627. Is the stone in the lock of uniform size ?-No.
1628. Why ?-Because it makes a better job to be otherwise.
1629. Eh ?-It makes a better job to be otherwise.
1630. In your opinion it inake a better job to be otherwise ?-I am certain of it.
1631. You are certain of it ?-Yes.
1632. You and other engineers disagree as to that ?-Yes, I dare say there are

differences of opinion on that point.
1633. There are differences of opinion. Now, taking the approaches to the lock,

are the stones laid evenly? Is the stone work even, or do-s it protude? When we
speak of the approaches to the locks we refer to contracts No. 1 and No. 3. I fancy
that is not what you refer to.

1634. I don't know--No, I fancy not. I don't know exactly what you do refer to.
1635. Well, there is stone work, is there not, in the approaches to the lock ?-In

the wall.
THE CHAIRMAN-He says you misunderstand each other as to what the approaches

consist of.

By 3 ir. Lister:

1636. How do you understand it, Mr. Thompson ?-For instance, the lock proper
lias a boucharded face. At the lower end there is a short piece of masonry outside this
boucharded face work.

1637. At the entrance to the lock ?--At the lower entrance, quite a short piece,
which is a different class of masonry-which is not boucharded, and then the cribwork
which is in the approaches proper in another contract cones up to that point. At the
upper end of the lock there is the crib-work that we have been speaking about a few
minutes ago, and then upon the surface of that-upon the top of that rather-there is
this stone wall, which was to be random-coursed masonry wall.

1638 What do vou call it ?-Random-coursed.
1639. Are there projecting rocks, projecting stones ?-The faces are not dressed

smooth, but there is not supposed to be any projection there that would injure a vessel.
1640. Can a vessel use lier tenders going through there, so as to protect herself ?

Would the tenders of a vessel be a protection to lier from injury by this stone work ?-
The fenders.

1641. I mean the fenders, yes.-I presume there is a boom that war and the
fenders would glance along this boom.

1642. There is a boom there ?-I think there is a boom.
1643. You think there is a boom, and the fenders would.,glance along on the

boom ?-Yes.
1644. Of course vou know very little about the actual construction-you left there

two or three years ago-except what you have seen, as other people have seen 1-J am
not prepared to say that. To say that I know very little about it would hardly be
the case.

1645. You onlv visited the works occasionallv ?-My visits were occasional visits
Up to the end of 1893 I endeavored to be there once a month; sometimes my visits
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were a little longer. After 1893, as I stated a few moments ago, I was there from the
first of January until sometime in July.

1646. Were you consulted about the pier ?-The railway bridge pier
1647. Yes.-I think I had largely to say as to the position of that pier.
1648. Did vou advise the putting in of that pier ?-I did.
1649. You advised the pier to be put in ?-I did.
1650. Does not that interfere with the safety of navigation ?-I do not think so.
1651. That is your opinion ?-Yes.
1652. Now, is not the pier there looked upon by engineers as an engmeerig

atrocity ?--I do not think so.
1653. You do not think so?-No.
1654. What is the length of the draw there ?-The length of the draw fromu end to

end is 225 feet.
1655. Clear draw?-The swing portion of the bridge.
1656. What is the distance between the pier and the side of the canal ?-< n the

channel side it is 90 feet.
1657. And on the other side ?-It is less than 70.
1658. How is it on the American canal--the new canal On the American canal

the bridge spans 108 feet.
1659. Clear acrcss ?--It does.
1660. There is no pier there ?-No. There is a reason fur having that pier where

it is and a good one.
1661. What is the reason ?-It is this : When Mr. P1age conceived the idea what

should be there, he proposed to have the pivot on one sidle of the canal, amd for a bridge
to swing over the whole opening. When the time approached for putting this work
into execution, that is as regards the bridge, Mr. Varn Horne rep1 îresentted that a
communit travelling by rail had interests as well as the marine interest, and that a
bridge of the length to span across there-it would be 420 feet to swing riglt across
from side to side-would be very difficult to operate and maintain ; that in case of high
wind it would be very difficult to open, and there nigit be times whmen it would he- im-
possible to open ; that trains migbt be delayed, and that the same difficulty, the saime
high wind that would prevent the bridge fron being swung mn ight dri ve vessels down
upon it and carry the bridge away, and that a very serious state of affirs might be
brought about.

1662. Will not all those reasons hold good as regards the cantal oit the other side ?-
Not to the sane extent, because on our canal the widti actoss there is about 147-
about 150 feet-whereas their span, as I said a moinent ago, is 108, antid the difli-
culty that I have spoken about as regards the swinging of the bridge in windy weather
does not exist there.

1663. So it was on your advice that the pier was placed there ?-Well, the imatter
was brought up and gradually reached the stage where it has. As I stated, the originaL
proposal, and as I understood it, was to have a bridge that would span from side to
side. Well, these reasons of -Mr. Van Horne were brougit forward and they were
considered, and they were believed to have a good deal of weigbt, and instead of hîaving
the bridge at one side it was determined to have a pivot pier in the centre, and a chan-
nel on each side, which channel would be 72 feet 6 inches in' width.

1664. That was at the request of Mr. Van Horne It was. fie pointed out-I
won't say requested, but he called attention to this inatter and the reasorts he gave
vere supposed to have sufficient weight to be acted upon. It was determined to put it

in that shape, and the span of the bridge was to be 225 feet with a channel on either side.
1665. Well, you have a channel on or.e side of the pier ?-Well yes, what I was

going to say was this. It occurred to me that to have a bridge in the centre it would
be very liable to be struck by vessels passing. It would be exceedingly diticult to
prevent it being struck in the narrow channel by vessels passing through these two
narrow channels-and I suggested to Mr. Trudeau we should take the same length of
bridge and put it on one side, and that would give us one channel of 90 feet, and that
is what was carried out.
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1666. That gives a channel of 90 feet ?-90. feet.
1667. On one side ?-On one side.
1668. How many feet on the other side?--The channel on the other side is some-

thing less than 70 but is iiot open. There is a fixed span upon it.
1669. It is not intended to use it at all ?-Merely for tugs and small boats.
1670. Who did you say were the assistant engineers whose duty it was to inspect

the canal ? What naines did you give ?-Spence and Morrow and Curran.
1671. Spence, Morrow and Curran?-Yes.
1672. Is there a man named Couverette on the work ?-Yes. He was an inspector.
1673. He was an inspector ?-Yes.
1674. Did you ever take any trouble to verify the measurements returned ?-Yes.
1675. When ?-That was my object in endeavouring to be there every month

about estiiate time. I used to see the quantities, and I would go upon the work and
used to take imeasurements myself.

1676. I think you told me you were not there between January and July ?-No.
1677. During the time the crib-work was going on ?-No.
1678. Well, of course, there would be estimates for all the work each month ?--

What I have said did not refer to that crib-work.
1679. Does not refer to that crib-work at ail ? Did you take any trouble to verify

the measurements in the crib-work ?-Well, in a general sort of way, but I had not
the means of ascertaining that as closely as I had other parts of the vork.

1680. Iwant you to say what sort of stone the crib-work should be filled with ?-The
intention was that the crib-work should be filled with the stone from the excavation,
packed in dexterously so as to make a solid mass.

1681. Not round stone, field stone?-I would not have objected to round stone,
field stone. They w ould have made very good filling.

By Mr. Gbsn:

1682. Mr. Thompson, I notice in the progress estimates an amount of 2,831 yards
masonry paid for at the rate of $1 I a yard for a removable dam. Will you explain to
the comittee where that dam was placed?-That was placed about 1,500 feet above
the lock.

1683. 1,500 feet above the lock ?-Yes.
1684. How long was it kept there ?-It is there as a permanency.
1685. It is there as a permanent structure ?-Yes.
1686. Was this work contracted for in the original estimate?-It was.
1687. And that was the price that it was estimated for, $11 ?-Yes.
1688. There was no increase upon that ?-Not that I am aware of. I do not think

there w as.
1689. Are you aware whether $2,750 for placing anchors was included in the original

tender of Rvan & Co. ?-It was not included in the original tender.
1690. It was included in the original tender ?-No.
1691. Well, who awarded thiscontract to Hugli Ryan & Co. ?-The original contract?
1692. No. this $2, 750 ?-I cannot tell you.
1693. You do not know. Well, do you know the cost of the girder span, Mr.

Thompson, that was put upon this 65 foot span from the centre span to the other side?
-Yes, the whole superstructure is included in the sum of $19,420.

1694. The superstructure cost $19,000 ?-Yes, that is the swing bridge, the whole
superstructure, the swing and the fixed portion.

1695. You had nothing to do with the swing bridge ?-The superstructure was built
by the Hamilton Bridge Company.

1696. I think the Canadian Pacific Railway Company built that at their own
expense ?-No.

1697. Did not the Pacific Railway Company build that at their own expense ?-No,
the Hamilton Bridge Company built it.

1698. And the Government paid for it ?-I presume so.
1699. Mr. Schreiber, in his examination, stated that on account of that swing bridge

not being sufficiently large, and in order to make it of sufficient length to cover the
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whole channel, that it would cost about 848,000 ?-I think there is someting a little
astray there.

1700. Tiere is sonething astrav ?-I think there is a little mrisunderstaniinrg in the
matter. The Hamilton Bridge Company had a contract. Tenders were asked for. It
was awarded to the Hamilton Bridge Companv for the sun of .19,420.

1701. $19,420. What reason was it that the Governmrent had to build this bridge
for the Canadian Pacific Raîlway Company ?- cannot tell you.

1702. Was not the canal projected and somre work done before the SaultSte. Marie
lne was built ?-No, there was a trestle across there, built by the Sault Ste. Marie

Bridge Company as far back as 1884, 1885 or 1886.
1703. 1884, 1885 or 1886 ?-I think so.
1704. So that the Canadian Pacifie Railway bridge was built in consequence of a

trestle bridge being built there-the Government were obliged to provide a superstruc~
ture for the opening of the canal ?-I cannot teil you about tiat part of it.

1705. Well, what was the reason of the bridge ?- The Sault Ste. Marie Bridge Coin-

pany, as it is termied, construeted an international bridge acress the river and a trestle
across the Island of St. Mary and two fixed spans across t wo smrall crannels of the St.
Mary, and their trains were running whren the contract was ]et for the canal.

1706. Was that railway charter granted before the canal was corrtempilated ?- do
not know ab out that.

1707. Are you aware that Mr. Page notified the comrpanv thai trey would have to
provide a span suffliciently long to span the whole opening of the canal ? have soime
recollection of something of that sort, but I do not krnow the details of it.

1708. Still you are aware that Mr. Page bad that matter M view .---Yes, I know
that Mr. Page designed a bridge and proposed that the canal srouild be siannred by a
clear opener, but as regards the payment I am not acquainted with tire details.

1709. So tiat we find now fromr you that instead of the Canadianr Pacific REailwav
Companv building their own bridge, tie Dominion Governnenrt built it for them ? As
a niatter of fact the bridge was built by the Hamilton Bridge Comprany.

1710. Who paid for it ?-It was paid for by tie Departnent of R1ailways and Canals
for all that I know to the contrary.

1711. In addition to that, Mr. Thompson, there was a girder span 65 feet i lenrgth
frorn the central pier that you spoke about ?-That is ineluded in tihe same sumr.

1712. So that in the cost of excavation for the swing bridge you iad $570.60, and
for the masonry of the abutments, the pivot pier, and the central pier $29,796 ?-I do
not follow the figures, they are in the estimates there.

1713. In addition to that there was a large sui of mroney paid for crib work -
Yes, that was done by Hugh Ryan & Co.

1714. Do you remember how much the crib-work came to ?-I think it vas ý6,000
or 87,000.

1715. e6,000 or $7,000 ?-I an speaking altogether from rmemrory and may be quite
astrav there.

1716. So that, altogether, the Dominion Government spent 856,000 on this piece of
work ; that is, on the superstructure, the girder spar, the substructure and the crib
work ?-I do not know the amount, but those items, whatever they were, were paid for
by the Department of Railways and Canals, as I understand.

1717. They were paid for by the departient ?-There migit be a contra accounît
for all I know.

1718. Do not you think that a span covering the whole opening might have been
built for $50,000 or 860,000 ?-That would include the masonry and the rest piers and
the superstructure ?

1719. You would not require rest piers for a swing covering the whole opening ?-
You would require rest piers at the ends.

1720. At the ends ?-Yes.
1721. You would require a rest pier and ballast walls ?-Two abutments, a pivot

pier and two rest piers.
1722. They are required in the present pier ?-Yes.
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1723. And tiere would be no more masonry required than now No.
1724. You said to Mr. Lister just now that it would be very difficult to operate on

account of its great lengtlh ?-I stated that that was the argument advanced and I
think a very sound one.

1725. Are you aware that there are larger bridges than 150 feet opening ?-There
is one at Rariton.

1726. What is the length down at the Burlington piers ?-I do not remember.
1727. They have no difficulty there and the channel is wider than at the Soo ?-I

expect there are times when they have difficulty.
1728. Do not you think that that pier and girder span is more dangerous than the

opening of the large swing bridge would be ?-No, not by any means. With a 90 feet
channel for vessels to go through they are no more likely to strike that pier than the
entraice pier.

1729. But that pier stands out 65 feet froin its centre to the channel ?-But there
is a channel of 90 feet.

1730. There is a channel of 90 feet ?-I consider one channel of 90 feet infinitely
preferable to two channels of 72 feet, to enter which a vessel would have to change her
course.

1731. That is a swing froin the centre, but there is no necessity for that. It could
be swung from the side ?-They might swing from the side, but there is a difficulty Mr.
Van Horne objected to.

1732. Mr. Van Horne's opinion was taken and the Government made the rest pier
in the centre of the channel to suit Mr. Van Horne's idea 1-I do not know that. He
wrote about it, and possibly others may have done so, and supported Mr. Van Horne,
and the Goverment came to this conclusion.

1733. You said the community had some interest as well as the Government The
railway community have an interest there.

1734. That is not a community ?-I think so, a railway community. Its success
depends upon catering well for the public at large.

1735. I understand a community is the people residing in the neighbourhood. The
bridge is not a foot bridge ?-I take the whole travelling public froi one end of the
country to the other

1736. Yes. The general public does not travel over t bridge except by rail -.
That is just it, and if a train is stopped, there is a great outcry, and if the bridge could
not be swung properly and if a vessel came down and carried it away, and a train with
a num-ber of passengers went in, there would be a very serious state of affairs.

1737. But there are signals to prevent that ?-True, but they do not alwayswork
and it was to guard against that.

1738. Has the canal the right of way over the railway people I presume it has.
I don't know how that is.

1739. Supposing the canal lad the right of way, would not trains approaching the
bridge from another direction approach under a reduced rate of speed ?-Yes, the law
provides they shall come to a stand.

1740. There would be very little danger of running under these circumstances.-If
all went well.

1741. Now, Mr Thompson, you spoke at the last meeting of the committee about
there being in the neighbourhood of 1,.500 feet on one side of the channel that the crib-
work was bad and upon the other about 2,300 feet ?-Yes, I forgot the distances. I
think those are the same distances that I gave a few minutes ago, but it was fromi the
upper end of the section.

1742. I understood you to say the other day that these struts in some instances
stood out about seven feet fromn the base of the crib-work ?-I should say so.

1743. Now, they were filled with what, between ?-They were boarded over so as to
make strong boarding, and the space between that boarding and the crib-work was filled
with concrete.

1744. iNow, taking the struts at sixteen feet long for 3,800 feet, you would find
7,000 cubic yards of concrete Yes.
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1745. Who paid for that?-I do not know that it is paid for up to this moment.
1746. Do you think the Government is entitled to pay for that work !-Well, is it

for me to express an opinion about these matters, because it is only an opinion?

By .3r. Gibson :

1747. It is an opinion I am asking you for.
The CHAIRMAN-IS it the opinion of an expert?
WIT-NEsS-My opinion is they should not pay for it.

By Mr. Gibson :

1748. Your opinion is they should not pay for it ? How mucli is thiat class of work
worth a yard ?-I should bave to make some figures about that before I could say what
it would be worth.

1749. Well, is it worth the ordinary price of concrete ?-The concrete %would be
worth more than the ordinary price of concrete on account of the diticulties of putting
it in.

1750. On account of the difficulties of putting it in. I suppose it wvould require to
be rammed together?-It would require to be rainmed together.

1751. And it would be worth more than the ordinary price paid for the ordinary
concrete ?-I would think so.

1752. What is the price of other concrete ? $8.50, is it iot ?-Tht contract shows
it.

The CHAIRMAN-The contract shows.
Mr. GIBsoN-The contract was altered this time.
WITNEsS-It is there.

By Mr. Gibson:

1752a. It is $8.30. So you believe this materialto be worth more than 8.30 a yard?
Now, according to your own figures Mr. Thompson the struts were 16 feet long, and
stood out 7 feet. According to this measureient there were 7,881 cubie yards of con-
crete ?-Yes.

1753. So Mr. Thompson, according to the prices paid at the rate of -8. 30 a yard for
this concrete which you believe is worth more money on account of the difficulty of do-
ing the work and having it rammed in between the struts, there were some -66,000
spent in order to prevent this cribbing fron bulging ?-I do not know that lias been
spent. A lot of that protection bas been done along there, and what the actual amount
is I am not prepared to say.

1754. Well you gave us to understand the other day that there were 1,500 feet on
one side and 2300 feet on the other ?-Yes, sonewhere about that.

1755. The figures worked out will give, you will find, 7,881 cubie yards at $8.30.
How much more than $8.30 is it worth ?-I dare say it would be worth a quarter of a
dollar more perhaps.

1756. Say $8.50 ?-Assuming $8.30 was the legitimate price, I think it would be
that increased value.

1757. Well, in addition to these sixty-six thousand odd dollars there was a great
deal of timber used ?-There was.

1758. How much timber would there be ?-I cannot tell you. The struts were about
4 or 5 feet apart.

1759. Four or five feet apart ? Dividing 3,800 feet by 4 you would have about 900
pieces or a thousand struts of 16 feet long. What size were they ?-Round timbers,
chiefly. 1 dare say they would average 12 or 15 inches through.

1760. Would they square about 12 inches ?-No.
1761. Square ten ?-Perhaps they might square about 10 inches.
1762. So that in addition to these 7,881 yards of concrete there would be about

1,000 pieces of timber 16 feet, and how many would square 10 by 10 ?-I would not say.
I do not like to give certain figures and dimensions in an off-hand way. Assuming your
figures there are correct, that is about what they would be,
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1763. I am taking your own statement, and dividing it. You say there were about
3,800 lineal feet of cribbing that were improperly done and required a strut about every
4 feet.-I think so. I am speaking in this way; I just imagine I see the whole thing
before my mind's eye, more or less.

1764. 900 pieces of timber 16 feet long and squared ten by ten inches. Who paid
for this?-I don't know that it is paid for yet.

1765. You don' ?-What would that timber be worth a thousand ?-I don't know
what the contractor would pay for that. I think a good deal of it was got in the
neighbourhood there. Some of it was timber that had been used for other purposes.
There was a good deal of timber required for their surface works, and 1 think a good
deal of it was available.

1766. You would not allow inferior timber to be used for straining the braces,
would you ?-It might not necessarily be new timber or first class timber, but quite good
enough for that purpose. As long as it was a good thrifty stick it would be strong
enough.

1767. Worth $25 a thousand ?-I should think so.
1768. Is there no way of finding out whether this material has been paid for by the

Government or not ?-I dare say those papers will tell you that.
1769. I cannot find it in any of these papers ?-Well, 1 would be inclined to sup-

pose, then, that it had not been paid for.
1770. There is no estimate for section 1 here ? What section was this ?-That was

on section 2.
1771. On section 2?-Yes.
1772. There is nothing in section 2. Well, you say if the cribs had been properly

filled this strut work would not have required to be done ?-I do.
1773. You do say that. What alteration was required on the random coursed

masonry above the crib-work ý-It was understood that the wall above the crib-work
was to be random coursed masonry.

1774. Yes?-And as I saw that wall in July, 1894, it was not random coursed
masonry.

1775. What was it ?-It was rubble.
1776. So that it was an inferior class of work than that called for by the specifica-

tion ?-It was.
1777. Did you object to this ?-I did.
1778. To whom, Mr. Thompson ?-I remember calling the contractor's attention to

it and the Resident Engineer's and the Inspector's attention to it.
1779. What had they to say for themselves ?-They said they thought it was what

was called for.
1780. Did they not know the difference between random coursed masonry and

rubble ?-I did not say so.
1781. Do you think a man in charge of a public work should know the difference ?

-- He should.
1782. And he did know ?-There is another little point to think about there. There

has been a good deal of discussion as to what the terrn " random coursed " conveyed.
I have no doubt in my mind as to what it is. But the people up there claimed that
under a certain reading they had filled the bill. The inspector was of that opinion.

1783. Who was the inspector who thought that rubble filled the bill of random
coursed masonry ?-Scott.

1784. Where did lie come from ?-I do not know-Robert Scott was his name.
1785. Was he a practical inason ?-I think so.
1786. What is your understanding of random-coursed masonry ?-My understand-

ing is that the vertical joints should be plumb, that the horizontal joints should be level
and parallel but not necessarily continuous.

1787. Quite so, so that instead of that being built of rubble it should have been
made with joints runniug vertically and beds running horizontally ?-Yes.

1788. Then it was an inferior class of work. There were no tools required for the
class of work as now built ?-I think in places that where the stones were pretty rough
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they pointed off the beds, and in some places where large stones came close together they
eut checks to get them together.

1789. That was only in the case of large stones. Most of them were simall, were
they not ?--It was not what I call random coursed masonry.

1790. Was the coping work lifted ?-Some of it was.
1791. Did it require any building to bring it up to the level ?-Yes, in places.
1792. How much ?-It varied.
1793. Give us the greatest depression ?-I cannot tel] you what the greatest depres-

sion was. I daresay the greatest depression might have amounted to three or four
inches.

1794. Three or four inches ?-There was more difference in the alignment than in
the depression.

1795. It was more out and in than up and down ?-I think so.
1796. You stated the other day that if the crib had been properly filled there

would have been no need for anything of this kind of work being constructed or sup-
ported in the way in which it has been done?-I did.

1797. And you consider, as an engineer, if your plans had been closely followed and
the specifications observed and adhered to, and the cribs properly filled, that the crib
according to your plans and specification would have been sufficient to carry that stone
wall on the top ?-It was not my plan.

1798. Did you approve of it ?-I thought it would do what was required of it. I
am quite sure it would, if it was properly carried out.

By Mr. Iaggart:

1799. Whose plans were they ?-The plans came fron the office of the Department.

By Mr. Gibson:

1800. Were they by Mr. Spence?-I think Mr. Spence's, most likely.
1801. In any case if the plans had been properly carried out it would have done

the work ?-I am sure of it.

By Mr. Haggart :

1802. Is the plan for the crib-work the same on the American side?-No it is not.
1803. What is the difference ?-In the American crib-work their ties are put one

above the other so as to make a succession of pocket s that extend from the top to the
bottom of the crib. In the crib-work on our side of the river the ties were ten feet
apart alternately one above the other.

1804. In the American crib-work how far were they apart ?-I think they were not
very far from the same distance, but it made a succession of pockets from top to bottom.
In our case the size of the pockets was reduced in consequence of the ties being put
alternately in the different courses.

1805. Otherwise the plans were the same ?-They were.
1806. Except that the struts or ties were perpendicular on the American side from

top to bottom, and they were not in our own ?-They were alternate in our own.
1807. Do you remember how the American cribs were filled ?-The Anerican cribs

were filled by putting in the earth that came from the excavation.
1808. What was it ?-I think it was earth and stone just as they found it.
1809. Was it not all earth ?-Chiefly. I should say, it was earth.

By Mr. Cibson :

1810. When were these American cribs filled, in the summer or in the winter ?-I
cannot tell you. On the original canal I do not know when it was filled.

1811. In the summer time with the material from the excavation-loose material ?
-Yes.

1812. Did their cribs bulge out ?-I have not been there since.
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By Mr. liaggart:

1813. Do you know the height of their cribs ?-I should think the height of their
cribs would be 24, 25 or 26 feet.

1814. About double the height of ours ?-Yes.
1815. Can you tell me the quantities of stone work-masonry work, that was in the

original contract, as let to Mr. Ryan ?-I think the approximate quantity in the
original lock was about 45,000 yards.

1816. About 45,000 yards ?-I think so.
1817. What was the price paid for that ?-$11 per cubic yard.
181S. That price has not been changed in all the changes made subsequently on the

lock ?-No; not for the original quantities.
1819. Not for the original quantities ?-No.
1820. The first change added how much to it ?-The first change added $5 per yard.
1821. How much was the quantity increased by the change ?-Speaking from recol-

lection I think it was 5,500 odd yards.
1822. That is right. The second change added how nuch ?-The second change

added $1.60.
1823. That made it $12.60. How many yards ?-I think it was in the neighbour-

hood of 17,000 yards.
1824. 17,000 yards at S12.60?-Yes.
1825. I think you gave the average price for the lock when it was built ?-The

average price for the lock, as I remember, speaking from recollection, taking the quan-
tities out sonie time before the lock was completed, amounted to $11.92.

1826. We made it $11.84. It is very near it-$11.92. Will you tell me what the
cost was on the American side ?-Upwards of $14.

Mr. HAGGART-$14.50.

By Mr Lister:

1827. You say on the Canadian lock it was $11.92 ?-That is merely approximately.
1828. And on the United States ?-$14.50.

By Mr. Haggart:

1829. There is $90,000 allowed to Messrs. Ryan for the purpose of finishing the
masonry work on the lock a year before their contract required them to do it ?-There
was.

1830. Was that too much ?-I do not think it was.
1831. Have you any idea what it cost them extra?-No, I have not. I know there

was a very large outlay for plant to begin with. I know that the news had got abroad
among the men that there was a desire to expedite the work, and they looked for diffi-
culties with the men, the cost of which it would be difficult for anybody except the
contractors to figure out.

1832. Were you consulted as to fixing the prices for this extra masonry at all ?-I
was spoken to about it.

1833. Who was it fixed the prices ?-I think they were determined by Mr. Walter
Shanly.

1834. Mr. Walter Shanly and any one else ?-Mr. Trudeau.
1835. Who was the ininister at the tine ?-Sir Mackenzie Bowell.
1836. Some questions were asked you the other day. Mr. Gibson asked you about

a quantity of earth, I think it was 450 or 600 feet, where the price was increased from
25 to 60 cents. Can you explain the reason for the increase ?-That was in connection
with the first change.

1837. The first change, yes.-The lock pit excavating was very nearly completed,
and when it was proposed to extend the width of the lock from 85 to 100 feet there was
some earth to be taken off in detached places here and there, where ià was difficult to
get at, and where the derricks and appliances for removing it had to be brought back, and
the increased cost was in view of the increased difficulty of removing this small quantity.
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1838. Do you think the increased price compensated the contractor for the labour lie
bestowed upon it ?-I do not think it would more than do so.

1839. It would not more than do so. There was an increased price given for sone
rock work. I forget the quantity, but Mr. Gibson asked you about it the other day.
The conditions were about the same.

1840. The price given to the contractor for doing that work was not more than the
actual expenditure he incurred in carrying it out.-I do not think it was.

1841. There were some questions asked you the other day in reference to power pipes
and the contracts made for supplying them ?-Yes.

1842. Do you know anything about the reasons assigned-I suppose they are in
writing-for the purpose of not going on with the contract?-I remember hearing it
stated in the examination of the chief engineer that the parties objected to it because
they believed they would not have the right to enter upon the ground.

1843 Have you got the specifications ?-Thev are on the table.
1844. What is your interpretation of thein -That the original specifications and

that the clauses in the subsequent agreement clearly and distinctly provide that parties
tendering for that work had the right to do so.

1845. Had the right to do so?-There are clauses in the supplementary-
1846. Did the contractor ever refuse to allow parties to go on and do the work ?-T

am not aware of anything of that sort.
1847. You are not aware of anything of that kind ? What would be the total value

of the changes you have spoken about in reply to two or three questions asked by Mr.
Lister? There was something about a few bolts astray and sone concrete left out?-
That would not be a matter of more than a few hundred dollars at the outside.

1848. A few hundred dollars altogether. Two hundred dollars would cover the
whole of it ?-I should think two or three hundred dollars would cover the wiole (f it.

1849. You have seen a good deal of masonry and a good deal of lock work in your
life time, and you have inspected the whole of the work on the Anerican side, which, I
suppose, is the finest of the kind in the United States. What is your opiion, compar-
ing our work with their's ?-I think our work is quite as good as tÂieir's.

1850. Quite as good ?-I do. There is one very strong point in connection with our
work and it is this ; that we have the very best of sand. We have excellent cement, ve
had perfectly clean water which gave the very best of mortar, and the imortar was not
stinted, and that is the life and soul of any piece of work.

1851. On the whole what do you think of the work on the lock ?-T think it will do
what it is required to do beyond a doubt.

1852. First class work?
Mr. Davies objected to the forn of question.

By Mr. Haggart :

1853. What class of work is it? The work there speaks for itself ?-Well, there are
certain terms that are sometimes used in masonry and they are very misleading. You
will see in the sp-cifications of railway engineers they speak about bridge masonry and
culvert masonry, and first class work and second class work, and these terns are mis-
leading. My idea is to put the thing beyond a doubt ; that exactly what is required
should be indicated in terms and then there is no mistake as to whether it fills the bill
or not. In answer to this question, whether that is first class work or not, I do not say
it was first class work, because when this evidence goes abroad, as it probably will, some
railway engineers will take that up and compare the work done there with certain work
they might do, and it would not agree with their specifications, and they would say, I
had stated what was not the case. But I guard myself by saying, I have no hesitation
in saying from what I have seen of the work, and at the present time I have not seen
it for 7 or 8 months, I believe that that work is perfectlv equal to do everything that is
required of it, that that work will give no difficulty in the future-that masonry.

By Mr. Gibson:

1854. You refer more particularly to the lock?-I am speaking of the lock exclusively.
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By Mr. Haggart:

1855. Now in regard to the bridge we have heard so much about. When was that
bridge decided upon ?-I think it was in 1893.

1856. In 1893. It was upon your plan and report it was adopted, I suppose. In
reference to the building of the bridge. By whom was the plan prepared ?-A plan
showing the pier in the centre and channel on each side I remember seeing it-I don't
know where it was got up, I presume in the departmental office-and when it came to
making the change there was a sketch attached to the order in council showing the pier,
the pivot pier, on one side and the swing to a rest pier 90 feet from the north side, and
that plan I suggested to Mr. Trudeau, and it no doubt was approved or it would not
have been so built.

1857. There is one reason you forgot, perhaps that will be a right question. Was
not the principal reason for adopting that at the time that the bridge required to swing
from the centre of the pier?-Yes, that was one of the reasons.

1858. One of the principal reasons. And the other reason was the force of the wind
against the long bridge on the other side ?-Yes that was stated.

1859. However, it does not amount to much. You can take out the pier any time
you want to and increase the beauty of the canal. How does this bridge compare with
the American bridge? You say it is 90 feet between the pier and the shore ?-Yes.

1860. What is the breadth of our locks?-The breadth of our lock is 60 feet.
1861. What is the breadth of the American bridge, over there ?-108 feet.
1862. What is the breadth of their lock ?-100 feet.
1863. Then comparing our lock with their's there is comparatively more room on

our side than there is on their's ?-There is.
1864. Even with that pier ?--There is.
1865. Even with that pier ?-There is moreover an economy to the extent of several

thousand dollars.
1866. Now there is one question Mr. Schreiber was not able to answer, perhaps

you will be able to answer it. If you built the puddle trenches for a lock 20 feet 3
inches deep on the mitre sill and did unwatering, what would be the increased amount
that the contractor would be entitled to at the price that he received for the 16 foot
lock ? What would be the proportionate increase taking the 16 foot lock as a basis, for
the increased depth of 4 feet with the puddle trenches and the unwatering?-I do not
think it would be fair to take it as a matter of proportion, but I think it fair to say
that the amount asked for unwatering was not accepted, for the reason that we were
working on an island in the Potsdam sand stone which was full of crevices and fissures
and an inflow of water might be looked for at any time.

1867. Then the contractor took that responsibility ?-Yes.
1868. I would like the exact amount moneyed out ?-I have not the data, but I

could arrive at it.
1869. The deeper down you go I suppose the increased cost would be proportionately

larger ?-Yes, owing to the greater liability to damage by water.
1870. Owing to the greater liability of water pressure. Mr. Schreiber estimated

that it would increase the price one-third. Was he well within the mark ?-I think so.
Mr. HAGGART-I would like to put in the report of the engineer. There was a

complaint made to the department as to the work and I sent up three engineers for the
purpose of examining and making enquiry. I would like to put in the report of those
parties who made the examination.

(Reports put in and marked exhibits 3 and 4.)
The CHAIRMAN-YOU wish these to be printed with the evidence ?
Mr. HAGGART-Yes.

By -Mr. Gibson:

1871. Mr. Thompson, what did you say was the cost of the American stone work ?-
The masonry, I have understood, cost upwards of $14 per cubic yard, nearly $14.50.

1872. How did you get this information 7-It was taken from the press. I think I
got that from the Engineering Aews.
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1873. Did this include cernent? -Yes, it would include the whole cost of the work
as I understood it.

1874. Did the contractor supply the cement ?-No ; the governmient.
1875 Did the government supply the cernent and pay $14.50 for the nasonry 1-

No, I did not say that. I said that, as I understood it, the cost of the work, all charges
against it, would be $14.50.

1876. But you are not quite sure. It is only a report from the engineer ?-J rend it
in the Engineering News and it purported to be a report fron the engineer of the Sault
Ste. Marie Canal.

1877. Are you aware that the cement on the Amnerican lock was tried every day ?-
They had a large force on there and were testing it.

1878. They tested the cement every day before it was used ?-They tested it in
advance.

1879. The governnent tested the cement in advance and supplied the contractors
with it?-Yes, and charged them for it.

1880. Was the cement upon the Canadian lock tried every day No, it wa.s not.
1881. Was it ever tried ?-Yes.
1882. Iow often ?-I have often made tests of it inyself at different times, and I

have watched it in the work. The time was so short for buildiag that we were not in a
position to do as the Americans did. We did not start out on the principle of testing
the cernent as the Americans were doing.

1883. You had not the saine privileges because you had not the power to handle the
cement the sanie as the Amnerican engineers ?-We got the best brands of cenent. I
never had any fault to find with it.

1884. How much of our lock was built with native cement ?-I could not tell you
how much. The original intention was that the face stone should be laid in Portland
cement and the backing in native cernent.

1885. That was the original intention? Yes.
1886. How much of that was carried out ?-I cannot tell.
1887. Can you give us any idea ?-No ; it would only be a guess.
1888. Would not that reduce the price of the work on our side because of the use

of Canadian cement ?-That was the contract.
1889. Quite so, but you say that you averaged up the whole of the Canadian lock

at $11.95 Yes, according to the price paid for certain quantities.
1890. But there was a portion of the work paid for of which you cannot give the

price ?-The quantities, you mean.
1891. Yes.-No.

By Mr. Haggart:

1892. Would not the fact be the very opposite of what Mr. Gibson said, that if we
used native cement the price would be less than what we paid for Portland cernent ?-
If native cement had been used the price assuredly would have been less.

1893. Less than $11.84 ?-Yes.
1894. And the price of the American lock would have remaired the sane, $14.50

Yes.
1895. Then we had a better cement for the masonry that co-t 1 1.84 than they had

for masonry using native cement which cost them $14.50. In that estimate of our
prices, $11.92, what did you reckon on using ?-The specification provided that the face
stone should be laid in Portland and the backing in native cement.

1896. But what does it amount to, what was the actual cost ?--The actual cost as I
said before, is $11.92 for the entire masonry in the lock, some of which was at $11, some
at $16, and some at $12.60.

1897. Does that include English cement ?-It includes all the expenses in connection
with the masonry.

1898. And the other, $14.50, that the Americans paid for theirs is a price including
native cement ?--They used native cement in the whole of their backing and Portland
in the face.
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By fr. (ibson :

1899. What I wanted to get at was this, that if the whole of the work on the Can

adian lock had been done with Portland cement the price would have been more than
$11.92 a yard ?-If the contractors had known that they would be called on to put in

Portland cement, as a matter of course they would have asked a higher figure.

By Mfr. Lister:

1900. You said that the work on the canal would answer the purpose for which it
was constructed, you thought that there would be no difEiculty about the lock?-The
lock was what we were speaking about.

1901. You want the committee to understand that the class of work, so far as
workmanship is concerned, is equal to that on the American lock ?-I think it is.

1902. Do not y ou know that on the American lock there is a plan and specification
for every stone ?-As I said before, I think it is putting unnecessary work in and making
it no better, and not as good.

1903. Do not you know that on the American lock if it is one-twelfth of an inch
out it is rejected ?-I think that is an absurdity.

1904. If the stone is at all out it is rejected ?-I have heard it said so.
1905. Did vou observe the sane strictness on the Canadian side ?-No, it is not at

all necessary.

By mr. Higlies:

1906. Why, Mr. Thompson?-For this reason. If you go into a quarry the common
sense thing to do is to utilize the stone according to how the bed of the quarry turns

out. On the American lock they had certain fixed dimensions, anci the consequence
was they had to throw away a lot of geod stone in order to bring all the stones to that
stindard size. I think it was a great waste of money and matei ial.

1907. Does it accomplish any god, Mr. Thompson ?-I don't think it does. I don't
think the bond is as good.

By Mr. Lister:

1908. Was Crawford suspended when you were up there ?--Not that I am aware of

By . Davies:

1909. At any time ?-Not that I am aware of.

_Mr. HUGH RVAN called, sworn, examirted.

By the ChairMan:

1910. Your name is ?-Hugh Ryan.
1911. Your residence, the city of Toronto, and your occupation ?-Contractor.

By Mr. Haggart ;

1912. Who built the Sault Ste. Marie lock ?-The firm of Hugh Ryan and Company.
1913. Hugh -yan and Company. Yes. And the approaches below ?-One of them,

the lower end.
1914. The crib-work above ?-The crib-work through the prism of the canal.
1915. When was the first contract entered into by you in building this work ?-

November, 1888.
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1916. What did that contemplate the original scheme ?-The original contract con-
templated the building of the lock as originally designed and the construction of the
canal above.

Mr. DAIEs-Does not the contract speak for itself.
IMr. HAGGART-I want to show the change fron the first to the second and I want

then to get the quantities. 1 want to lead up to the changes on the lock, in order to
learn the change in prices and the reasons for it.

1917. What was the quantity of mïsonry work in vour tirst contract for building
that lock?-About 45,000 yards.

1918. What was the price you got for it ?-1 1 per yard.
1919. What was the first change that was imade ?-Tie first change ?
1920. How did it increase the price?-In the increas d quantity.
1921. In the increased quantity and the increased price ?-Well the increasel quan-

tity as I heard it stited, had been paid for 5,500 yards.
1922. 5,500 yards? And what was the price you got ?-$16 a yard for it, for thtt

quantity.
1923. What was the reason assigned for the ditTerence between -,l and -16 for the

5,500 yards ?-Well at the time that change was made the prices for labour and especi-
ally for mechanics had gone up-betweein the time we took the contract and thien-for
inechanics to between 40, 50 and 60 per cent, and the labourers fi om 25 to 40 per cent.
That was one of the reasons.

1924. Yes.-And another reason was, that increasing the width of that lock froni
85 feet to 100 it increased that radius round there, which was under that plan and
would increase the cost of the cutting of the stone very inaterially. Another reasont
still was,-

By M11r. Lister :

1925. Radius of what?-The approach to the gates and we had a great deal of
trouble and doubt about where we were going to find the backing stone upr to that
time. These were the principal reasons for that first increase.

By Mr. Haggart :

1926. Yes, with whoim did you make the arrangements for that increase ?-I sent
a tender to the department which was handed to Mr. Trudeau.

1927. Who was the minister ?-Mr. Bowell, I think was the minister then, the
acting minister.

1928. How was the price arranged ?--Well we were asked for prices for the work
necessitated by the change.

1929. Yes ?-We m-de out our figures and handed them, as I have said, to the
chief engineer. Then the chief engineer, and I an not certain whether 'Mr. Shanly was
consulted at that first meeting or not, but our arrangements were all with MVr. Trudeau,
and the prices, as finally settled on, fixed with him.

1930. Those were the reasons, I suppose, that result in vour getting the increased
price, and I suppose influenced the department in granting the increased price on that
5,500 yards?-Yes. I think Mr. Trudeau and the others connected thought the prices
were only reasonable and fair.

1931. And were they reasonable and fair ?-They were.
1932. The next increase was how much ?-The next increase increased the lock

The first increase included 50 feet extra of length as well; increased the quantity.
1933. Increased the quantity ?-Sxteen or seventeen thousand yards
1934. 16,000 yards? Give the price you got in full, for those 16,000 yards ?-We

got $12.60 a yard for that quantity.
1935. What was the reason of your getting $1.60 more than was provided for in

your original contract where the figure was $11 ? How did you arrive at that ?-We
arrived at it in this way. When we took the original contract, as I have stated before,
the prices for labourers and mechanics were what I then stated.
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1936. Yes ?-I will give you the figures.
1937. I would like the figures.-Common labour down here then at the outside

was $1.25 a day.
1938. Yes ?-We were paying from $1.50 to $1.75 for common labour.
1939. Yes ?-Quarrymen, skilled labour, down here would be from $1.40 to $1.50 at

the outside. We were paying them $1.75 and in some cases $2.00.
1940. Yes ?-Masons were paid down here $2.50 a day to perhaps $2.75 for extra

men. We paid them $4.00.
1941. $4.00?--Stonecutters would be at the same rates.
1942. Yes?-Carpenters were paid here, say for good men, $1.50. We paid them

from $2.50 to $2.75 and $3.00. Blacksmiths in the same proportion and everybody
else that we had to employ about the place.

1943. Yes ?--Here you can hire teamsters for $18 a month and board. There we
paid them $30 and everything else was in the saie proportion or thereabouts.

1944. Well, that would hardly justify the increase up there. What were the
increased prices you had to pay up there from what you had to when you were paid $11
a yard-that is the comparison between the price here and there ? Did the prices up
there increase ?-Well, those were the prices. The prices up there increased as I have
told you.

1945. You said down here. You made the comparison between here and there.
These are the rates of increase on the work itself ?-These are the rates of increase
on the work itself.

Mr. IAGGART-Now I understand you.

By Mr. Hughes:

1946. The prices increased up there from the time the work commenced ?-There
were no prices paid there at the time we took that first contract; there was nobody
working there then. Our first contract was based upon such prices as I have stated.

By Mr. Sproule :

1947. Upon the prices of labour here ?-Upon the prices of labour here, mechanics
and all that. When we got up there we had to pay more, probably on account of the

work on the other side of the river.

By fr. Haggart :

1948. Now, Mr. Ryan, I want to make this clear. Was the price of your original
contract, that is the quantities in your original contract, in any of these changes
increased at ail ?-Not one cent.

1949. Then the prices allowed, the increased prices, were only allowed for the extra
work you were required to do ?-Only for that.

1950. Now, Mr. Ryan, there was a change in your work by which you were obliged
to build it one year earlier than you were obliged to do under contract, for which you
received $90,000 ?-Yes.

1951. Can you tell me what it cost you to do that work one year earlier than you
had contracted for ?-Well, I cannot give you the exact figures, but I can give you the
exact figures of what the extra plant cost us in order to get the work done in that time.

1952. Well, give us that, and give us the estimate of the other as near as you can?
-That arrangement was entered into in the autumn, the late summer of 1892, and
between October, 1892, and the close of the wall work in 1893 we had paid out for
plant $64,643.45.

1953. That is extra plant ?-Yes. At that time we had the plant for the work to
be done in the original time all provided and on the ground.

By llr. Bergeron :

1954. When was this work to be finished ?-In 1894, and we had expended in
addition to that $64,000 odd on the plant on the ground during the winter of 1892-9S
$21,173.97.
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By iMr. Haggart:

1955. Is there anything else ?-No.
1956. Then for plant alone the increased expenditure you were put to was how

much ?-$85,000 or $86,000.
1957. Did $90,000 at all compensate you for doing the work a vear earlier?-We

could not keep any correct account on the day work which had to be done. When you
take into account the extra day work we had to pay for in addition to that plant-I
have a memorandum here.

1958. Let us see the memorandum ?-At the time I made the arrangement with you
I made a memorandum, an estimate of what the increased cost would be, and for that
I put down the extra cost of doing the extra work by night instead of by day as
$1.6,000, which was a very moderate estimate. We had then the increased cost of our
labour. The wages of our masons and stonecutters went from $4 to $4.30 a day, and
there was a grod deal less work done per day than when we were paying the lower rate
of wages.

By Mr. Bergeron:

1959. The days were shorter ?-No, the men were more saucy and independent.
They knew we had to get that work done. We had several strikes during the summer.
We put $16,000 down for that. When I agreed to take the work at $90,000 I made
at that time an estimate that it would cost every dollar of that sum.

By Mr. Gibson:

1960. Read the different items that you estimated ?-Well, we changed some of thein
as marked. For stone crushers for concrete work we put down $10,000. We did not
spend quite that for stone crushers. We only got one which delivered there cost us
less than $5,000. For steam power and engines I put down $4,500. That should be
at least nearer S20,000.

1961. What was that ?-For steam power hoisters and everything of that description.
1962. Extra hoisters?-Yes.

By Mr. Hughes:

1963. $20,000 ?-Yes, at least $20,000. Now for additional derricks for building
in the stone yard we put down $8,000, and these items turned out to be too snall. For
other plant such as rails, cars and other things only $6,000. Extra coal $4,500. Now
here is an item that we did not need to get, but I put down a small sum for it, and that
was for electric plant. I thought we would have to get that, but we did not have to.
We got along without it, and made light in other ways.

By Mr. Davies:

1964. How much was that ?-84,000. For the cost of operating it during construc-
tion $2,000.

By Mr. Bergeron:

1965. As a matter of fact how much did your lighting amount to ?-We used other
means.

1966. Was there a great deal of difference in the cost ?-There was some difference.

By Mr. Gibson:

1967. They used the moon a good deal?-No, we did not use the moon, we got good
light. Extra storage buildings for cement are down at only $1,000. Extra cost of
doing work by night instead of by day $16,000. Additional cost of work increased
wages, $16,000. For steam shovels for excavating $8,000. We used other means
than that steam shovel. Then we added for contingencies $10,000. Now you have
the whole sum of $90,000.
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1968. That was your estimate ?-That was a very rough estimate made within one
hour's time.

By Mr. Hughes:

1969. Before the tender ?-Before the tender was put in.

By Mr. Hfaggart:

1970, But the actual amount that it cost you was in excess of that ?-Yes, there is
no doubt of it whatsoever.

By Mr. Gibson:

1971. Could you give us the excess ?-I will give you the extra cost.

By Mr. Lister:

1971. You must have lost a lot of money on that job?-I think we did lose some on
that particular job.

1972. I hmean on the whole job?-Well, I do not know about that.

The committee then adjourned.
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COMMITTEE RooM, No. 49,
HOUSE OF COMMONS, 27th June, 1895.

The Committee met.

Mr. HuGr RYAN recalled and further examined.

By lfr. Raggart :

1973. You were there, Mr. Ryan, when that fault in the concrete that Mr. Thorp-
son spoke about was discovered-where it was left out? \Vill you please explain that?
-There was a little piece of concrete left out at the end of the partition wall where it
went up against the breast wall, and that piece of concrete, I suppose, would measure
the whole of it, about eight yards. I may say I neasured it in every way with a rod,
lengthwise, crosswise and the depth of it.

1974. Then there is another little matter. What was the reason of the increased
price of the iron ?-It was a very different class of iron work.

1975. You mean in the change from the old contract prices to the new ?-The iron
in the old contract was simply drift bolts, that was in the first contract. For the rew
work it was all double work, and it had a nut of a thread cut on both ends and had to
be put in in a very difficult position and place.

1976. What is the difference in price between native cenent and tie cement that
you used, that is Portland ?-They are not sold in the same weight of barrel, but if you
would ask by the hundred pounds.

1977. Yes, by the hundred pounds ?-I suppose the difference is over 50 per cent.
1978. Over 50 per cent ?-Yes, I should think it would be 80 per cent.

By Mr. McMullen:

1979. The Portland cernent cost over 50 per cent more than the native ?-.More
than that. They vary somewhat in price. I should think 80 per cent would be nearer
than fifty.

By Ir. Haggart:

1980. Were you ever asked for permission to put in the gates by any of the con-
tractors or tenderers for the gates on the lock ?-No.

1981. So there was no interference on your part with any one, nor any conversa-
tion ?-None whatever.

1982. Now in regard to the lock, Mr. Ryan, what was the character of the work,
and what were your instructions to the men on the work, and how was it carried out?
Just give a little statement ?-We got the best naterial we could buy for mroney of
every kind. We got the best stone, and we hired the best mechanics we could get, and
paid them the highest wages. I believe it is as good as could be built.

1983. Both in timber, stone-work, and every other respect ?-We bought the best
timber also.

1984. What were your instructions to your men ?-Our instructions were to make
as good a piece of work of it as could possibly be made.

1985. Do you not think it is as fine a piece of work as there is of the class ?-It is
as fine as I have ever seen. I do not think we could make it better.

1986. Then as to the crib-work that bulged out, what explanation do you give of
the bulging out of the crib-work ?-I have not the least doubt but that the bulging out
was caused by the pressure behind in the spring when the frost was going out of the
material with which it was packed in the winter. The shape of the back of the cril-
was a half V, that is the material had to be excavated above the rock and taken out
with a very slight slope on the back side. Of course the other &ide would be straight
up and down so that it made the shape of a half V, the slope on one side and straight
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up on the other. Then ss the material was taken out of the cutting in the winter, it
was dumped into that place. Of course it would naturally be frozen, a great deal of it,
and in the spring, when bhe frost began to come out of that, a great deal of it was of
a quick-sandy nature and it ran down in that place and that forced that crib-work
forward.

1987. Now, Mr. Ryan, in reference to the wall that is on top of the crib-work,
you heard the description of the character of the work last day. I furnished you with
a couple of photographs of the work this morning. Would you please show the photo-
graphs to the committee and put them in as evidence as to the character of the work
that is described as rubble work ? (Witness put in the photographs, which were marked
Exhibits 5 and 6.)

Mr. GinsoN-Is that what Mr. Thompson called rubble work ?
Mr. HAGGART-It is Scotch random coursed work.

B y M r. Haggart :

1988. What was your payment per yard for this work ?-The agreement was $7.50.
1989. What did the department pay you for it ?-The department in the early

part paid us $7.50. Latterly they paid $4.50 and we would not take it.

By Mr. Davies :

1990. That was for the random coursed masonry ?-That is what is called random
coursed masonry.

By Mr. Haggart:

1991. Have you done a lot of that masonry work ?-In other places ?
1992. In other places ?-I have built a good deal of niasonry ; yes.
1993. Do you know whether that cones within the designation of the work that

you were to do under your contract ?-Well, we considered it so.
Mr. HAGGART-There was some reference by Mr. Lister as to the depth of water

on the approaches, I want to put in the engineer's report and the soundings of the
approaches to the entrance and exit of the canal as evidence.

(Engineer's report and soundings put in and marked Exhibits 7, 8 and 9.)
Examination of witness continued.

By fr. Gibson :

1994. When you were building this random-coursed masonry, did you expect to be
paid $4.50 for it ?-I did not.

1995. What did you expect to be paid ?-$7.5u.
1996. And did you build it with a view of being paid $7.50 for it ?-We did.
1997. Did you eut the stones for the work ?-Well, we did not cut them as we cut

the stones for the lock or anything of that kind; we dressed them to suit the class of
work they were intended for.

1998. There is no dressing on that?-I beg your pardon.
1999. There is no dressing on that ?-Well, there is the dressing that would be put

on coarse stones to make them lie well on their beds, and give them fairly good joints.
2000. That is known as random-coursed masonry ?-Well, Mr. Gibson, that is a

unatter of opinion. There are some men cal one work rubble, and another man would
call it perhaps by a different name.

2001. What do you call it?-I call it-it was called there-what is known in
Scotland as Scotch random-coursed work ; not as rubble, certainly not.

2002. It is not random-coursed masonry as known in this country, is it ?-Well, I
don't know. I don't know that I have read the specification of random-coursed
masonry.

2003. How did you come to build it in that way? What do you call it ?-Well, I
would call it just what I have stated to you.
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2004. What is that ?-I have stated that it is good work for the purpose for which
it is intended.

2005. That is not an answer. I don't think there is any clause, Mr. Gibson, in our
specification for random-coursed inasonry at all.

2006. Have you got the specification dealing with that with you ?-No, I have not.
Mr. HAGGART-It is here.

By Mr. Gibson :

2007. It was not built according to the specification ?-Well, if there is a specifica-
tion we will see.

Mr. HAGGART-If it is not it won't be paid for, that is all.

By Mr. Gibson :

2008. At page 30, vol. 2, of the file of papers produced by Mr. Schreiber you will
find the clause in the specification governing this matter. Perhaps you will be kind
enough to read it to this Committee. -This specification was for the old contract.

2009. Read that specification if you please to the Committee, it ?-" Side Walls.-
In case the rock through which rhe canal is formed proves to be of a sound and
durable nature, walls are to be built to raise the side to the required height, 3 feet
over highest known water line, proper seats for which must be prepared by the
removal froni the space to be occupied by them, of all earth, muck, clay, sand, grave],
and loose stone down to the solid rock and placing them in spoil banks. For this work
the contract rate for excavation on the section, corresponding to the position of the
work done, will be allowed.

" The walls must be built of large sized, flat-bedded, well-shaped stones, iot less than
9 inches thick, laid on their natural beds, of approved gray Iinestone, or an accepted
quality of sound, close-grained, durable sandstone. They are to be of random-coursed
work 2ý feet wide on top increasing downwards on the face side at the rate of 2ï inches
to the foot, and on the rear side increase at the rate of 3 inches to the foot for the first
five feet from the top, thence downward the back is to be plumb.

" The front stones are to be laid at right angles to the face, which must be hammered,
scabbled, picked or pointed off before being brought on to the walls, so that, when laid,
no projection shall exceed two inches beyond the pitched lines at the joints. All the stones
must be properly bonded over with each other in the heart of the wall, as well as in the
front and rear side ; and in every course there must be headers of at least three feet
depth of bed not more than seven feet apart.

" If the stones used for the walls are of a class that cannot be readily hammered or
dressed into shape, an oblique timber may be bolted on to the rock of such a height on
the front side and properly filled in the rear as will give the top of the first course of
stone the required inclination and the face the proposed batter. The coping stones
must be of the full width of the top of the wall (two and a half feet) increasing in
width downwards to the batter on both sides in pieces of at least nine inches thick on
the face side and sufficiently thick on the rear, that with ordinary joints, without spalls,
the top will be level."

200 9 a. So you did not follow the specification then in cutting the stone ?-That
specification does not refer to that wall at all.

2010. Does not refer to that wall at all?-No, sir.
2011. They made a specification to suit this work ?-They did not.
2012. Did they alter the work ?-That is for a dry wall.
2013. For any kind of a wall ?-No sir, it is for a dry wall.
2014. It is, eh ?-That is the case.
2015. Does it mention there " dry " ?-It does not mention "dry," nor does it men-

tion " wet." There is no mortar intended to be put in that wall, as is evident. You
can see from the last part of it where it is stated " no spalls to be allowed."

2016. Exactly, Mr. Ryan, because you could not use spalls in random-coursed
-work ?-On the back portion.
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2017. You could not use spalls ?-I could use spalls in the back.
2018. Where ?-In the back.
2019. Not in the face of it ?-Not in the face of it.
2020. Exactly, but there are spalls in here ?-I do not think there are many.
2021. There should not be any ?-I do not know that there are any.
2022. It is rubble work ?-I do not know.
Mr. G1BsN-But you do know?
The CHAIRMAN-You are not entitled to contradict the witness. He has

stated on oath that he does not know. I am sure Mr. Gibson did not wish to be
offensive.

Mr. GIBSON-No, I do not think Mr. Ryan will take it in that way. I only wished
to point out to him that this is not random-coursed masonry as mentioned in the speci-
fication.

The WITNESS-May I be allowed to make a remark. I am quite sure that that
specification referred to a dry wall that was provided for in the original contract, not
to the wall we built.

2023. Well, that specification covers, does it not, the random-coursed masonry
without regard to where it is built ?-That is the original contract, but that is not the
wall that was built. It is not the same wall that was built at all.

2024. Are there any other specifications in connection with this work dealing with
random-coursed masonry other than that you have read q-None that I know of.

2025. Then how can you say that that specification does not apply to this work as
well as to the dry wall ?-Because the word mortar is not used, nor the word lime, nor
anything else that appertains to it.

2026. Is the word " dry " used there ?-I do not see it here.
2027. No, it is not there.-No contractor would build a mortar wall under that

specification for the price that he would have stated for the work under that specifica-
tion.

2028. Was that retaining wall in the original contract ?-A dry wall was provided
for in the original contract ; that is the wall we tendered for under that specification;
it was to be a dry wall.

2029. If it was to be a dry wall you would have been required to cut the stone
properly so as to alight on the top of one another ?-In a dry wall it is more necessary
that they should be nicely dressed so as to alight well on the top of one another.

2030. So instead of random-coursed masonry you built a rubble wall ?-We built
a wall as directed and the engineers were satisfied.

2031. They were satisfied with the change you made from random-coursed to
rubble ?-We did not change the work. The whole thing was changed. This was in-
tended to be a dry revetment wall on top of rock. The other thing was a mortar wall
on top of crib-work, not on top of the rock at all.

2032. Well, now, the wall on top of this crib-work, what class was it to be ?-There
is no specification for it that I know of. This specification did not provide for that wall.
It provides for a wall on top of the rock.

2033. So that the Government not specifying the class of work the contractor was
able to do the work just as it suited him ?-No.

2034. Well, let us hear what you say ?-I say we built it to suit the engineers and
their instructions and not to suit ourselves.

2035. Verbal or written instruction ?-I think verbal.
2036. And not according to specification ?-The specification did not apply to it.
2037. What does the specification apply to ?-lt applies to a dry wall upon that

rock when the earth was taken from it under the contract.
2038. Give me your reason for saying a dry wall ?-I am satisfied, if I might be

permitted to put it in this way, that you would not build a mortar wall under that
specification, Mr. Gibson,

2039. That is not my answer. Give us the reason why that applies to a dry wall?
-Because it does not say anything to the contrary. It merely mentions stone, not
mortar.
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2040. You did not cut the stones under that specification?-We were not building
under that specification.

2041. What specification were you building under ?-Under the direction of the
engineers. I do not think we had any specification when the wall was built at all.

2042. Now then, Mr. Ryan, you heard Mr. Thompson saying the other day that
the cribs were improperly filled ?-I did.

2043. What have you to say about that ?-I have simply to say this, that I saw
the cribs being filled in the early part of the winter of 1894. I saw them again very
frequently in the early part of the spring. I have been down into the cribs where
some of the material was taken out to examine, and the crib was filled with imaterial
taken from the cutting in the prisin of the canal. That is what I say.

2044. The material that the cribs were filled with was the material excavated
from the prism of the canal ?-From the rock.

2045. Was that according to specification ?-J do not think there is any specifica-
tion for that particular work.

2046. Well, what about this I an going to read vou :-" The crib-work was of
such a design that its stability and efficiency as a retaining wall were dependent largely
upon the manner in which the stone filling was done. The specifications for this work
contained a clause in the words following : 'The crib-work shall be well and solidly
filled with stone from bottom to top, which shall be carefully packed around and be-
tween the ties and properly levelled off at the top ?' "-What specification is that?

2047. This is from the engineers' report, Messrs. Hobson and Gregory. Now,
there was a specification, according to this ?--I have not seen it.

2048. But we have seen it. The Governrment did not provide you with specifica-
tions.-I was not on the work all the tine.

2049. That is not the question ?-I did not see it.
2050. You never saw it ?-I did not.
2051. How was it you thought you were allowed to fill the crib-work with the

material from the excavation ?-My partner told me it was done every day under the
supervision of the inspector.

2052. So, that instead of following the specification and filling the crib well and
solidly with stone from bottom to top, you filled it with the material from the excava-
tion of the prism of the canal ?-I think the specification was for the old contract, not
for the new. I do not know that we have a specification. J have not seen it.

2053. Is that specification correct or not ?-It may be correct, I will not say
it is not.

2054. Do you say it is not correct ?-I have just said what I say now, that J
do not know.

2055. How were you allowed to depart from it ?-I cannot tell. If we did depart
from it I do not know.

By Mr. Sproule:

2056. Was the stuff taken out from the bottom of the canal stone ?-Yes.

By Mr. Gibson :

2057. You say it was stone 7-Yes; there is no doubt about it.
2058. No doubt of what ?-That it was stone.
2059. That is not what you said a while ago ?-I did not say anything else.
2060. You said it was material taken out of the prism of the canal ?-I said it was

stone taken out of the bottom.
2061. Was it all stone ?-What was put into the crib was all stone. In the rock

cutting, there are seams between the layers of rock where there is decomposed or disin-
tegrated rock, between the strata of rock. In the spring, when the frost came out, that
became loose material, but it was lying among the solid stone, and the spaces that I saw
there were not large. The crib was well filled with this material. Not hand packed.
I would not say that, but it was well filled with the material taken from the rock cutting.
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2062. Was it solidly packed ?-Well, I do not think it was hiand packed; no.
2063. You do not think it was hand packed 'i-No.
2064. So that there were spaces enough in the crib-work to allow a settlement in,

the retaining wall on top ?-Well, there was not many spaces. This,loose material filled
up those spaces.

2065. Well, then, what caused the crib to bulge ?-The cribý. undoubtedIy, was
caused to bulge fron the pressure fron behind. I have seen plenty of that kind of work,
and I have no doubt in my mind at ad.

2066. You heard what Mr. Thompson said the other day that there were lumps of
frozen clay adhering to the rock, and that when it thawed, it left spaces in the crib ?-
I have only to say that I think Lr. Thompson was mistaken, for this reason, that the
clay overlaid the rock, and had all been removed before the winter set in at all.

2067. Were you present when that piece of crib-work was taken down to find out
what it was filled with ?-I was

2068. What did you find ?-Just as I have described.
2069. And what did Mr. Thompson say ?-I don't remember what he said then. I

had no conversation with him about it.
2070. How much larger was the new crib put in than the old one ?-I could not

tell vou.
2071. It was larger ?-It was larger a portion of the way; yes.
2072. For what reason, Mr. Ryan3?-I think where the depth of the crib was

greater, to make it stronger, and to give it greater strength to resist the pressure.
2073. So they built the new crib much larger than the old one ?-I think it was

built deeper, thicker.
2074. In consequence, I suppose, of the engineer's thinking that the old crib was

not strong enough ?-I suppose that was the view they took of it.
2075. Is not that your own opinion ?-Well, perhaps it would be better if it was

somewhat thicker.
2076. You think probably if the cribs had been larger they would not have been

so liable to bulge as they were ?-I had to make them large enough to resist any pres-
sure. I thought at the time they were put there, there was an idea they were strong
enlough.

2077. You do not think it was bad filling had to do with the bulging ?-lt was
fairly well done as it was done. It was not hand packed; otherwise it was filled with
the rock taken fron the cutting.

By Mr. Haggart .

2078. Did you ever hear of hand-filling cribs yourself ?-I never did in my
life. The stone generally is taken to the crib and filled into it. You cannot hand-pack
when the cribs are filled under water.

By Mr. Gibson :

2079. Now, Mr. Ryan, were those cribs under water ?-They were not.
2080. Don't mislead the committee, please. There was no water in the canal at

the time these cribs were filled ?-Not any.
2081. So there was no trouble to hand pack. Come, be fair. Well, now, do you

believe that stone that was filled in the crib was the proper material to be put into it ?
-I do think it was good sound stone.

2082. Now ?-It was really.
2083. Was it proper material to be put into the crib ?-Yes. It was good material

for filling cribs with.
2084. Will it last ?-I think it will last,
2085. You think it will ?-I think the great bulk of that sandstone will la5t. It

is first class durable sandstone, the great portion of it.
2086. I thought it was liable to disintegrate ?-I told you the seams between the

beds was filled with this disintegrated matter. There will be a thin seam not over an
inch thick and some four inches.
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2087. I suppose you did not put any of that material into the crib at all ?--We did
put that material. It was frozen to the beds of rock and was put in just as it came
out of the rock cutting.

2088. You made no distinction ? You put it in helter skelter I suppose ?-It was
put into the crib as I have put stone into cribs very often before.

2089. Now, Mr. Ryan, you gave us a reason the other day why the Minister or
the Government increased your price 890,000. When under examination the last day
you named the amount extra of plant that you bought in consequence of this rush onl the
work. You made an estimate of the amount for the Minister at the time you were mak-
ing a claim fcr the 890,000. Now that was only an estimate. Will you kindly give us
the exact amount of the different plant you bought and paid for ?-With regaid
to that first estimate, Mr. Gibson, it was like this ; that was an idea I had forned
very hurriedly and a very crude one. When I went back on the work to meet ny
partners there, we went over that very carefully and we changed that plant a great deal,
and instead of getting ail these articles mentioned we got others of a diflerent kind.

2090. What others did you get ?-We got a very great deal of hoisting power,
great big steam derricks and cars and rails, I could not enumerate them.

2091. How many big derricks had you on the wvork 3 We had on the work at one
time 14 derricks.

2092. All steam hoisters ?-All steam hoisters.
2093. Fourteen?-On the walls alone.
2094. On the walls alone, 14 steam hoisters?-Yes, sir.
2095. That was in consequence of the lock being 900 feet was it ?-And having to

do it in much quicker time we had to use double the plant.
2096. Mr. Ryan, did you require any more plant on account of having to hurry

the work or did you have plant sufficient to cover the work ?-We had plant sufticient
as we calculated to cover the work, had we another season to build the walls
in. When we built them in half the time we had to about double the plant, and I
might say here the season there is little better than five months.

2097. Yes ?-And I might say when you have to build some 65,000 yards of
masonry in that length of time you know, and nobody knows better, how much plant
is required to do it with.

2098. How much extra plant did you buy ?-I had the book-keeper check them
f rom the books, the money we paid out on account of plant, fron the fall of 1892 to
the end of 1893, that is when we finished with the work.

2099. Give us that please ?-Until we had the walls built he reports to me that we
paid for plant outside, $64,643.45. He also says that we paid for putting this plant
together, building those derricks through the winter, preparing for the spring work and
evervthing else that was done on the ground, 821,173.97.

2100. Extra money ?-I won't say it was all.
2101. How mucli of that was for the extra plant ?--There would be 70 per cent

of it.
2102. Seventy per cent of that $60,000 was for extra plant ?-There is more than

$60,000. There is $64,643.45 and $21,173.97.
2103. So that in reality after ail, Mr. Ryan, you spent $63,000 for extra plant ?-

Well, I could not tell to the dollar what it was now.
2104. Have you any donbt you did not spend that money ?-Have I any doubt I

did not spend that much?
2105. Have you any doubt you did not spend $63,000 ?-I have not the slighest

doubt as to the correctness of those figures.
2106. You have not the details ?-I have not, but they can be given.
2107. You mentioned the other day, you estimated a stone crusher at $5,000 ?-

Yes, and its engine, and it cost more than that.
2108. How much did it cost ?--The cost 9 I think the thing cost, this bare crusher

alone, somewhere about 835,000.
2109. You mean 83,500 ?-Yes, $3,500, and in addition to that we got a large

boiler, and it was built up and set into masonry, and I am satisfied when set in its place

(and we never turned a wheel on it) it cost us $5,000 or over.
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2109a. You have never used it?-We never used it.
2110. How did you break your stone before you had the crusher ?-We had another

crusher before that. This part of the plant we doubled in case of emergency.
2111. So that after all you did not require it 7-Not that particular article. We

required all the extra derricks. We kept a lot of plant duplicated in case of emergency,
otherwise we could not have done the work.

2112. So that this $90,000, allowed by the Government enabled you to double your
plant?-That and for other reasons.

2113. What other reasons ?-We were paying very high wages before this arrange-
ment was entered into. The next spring our stone cutters struck for higher wages. We
had to pay tliem $4.83 a day and they did not increase the quantity of work that was
donc. On the contrary it was very much decreased. The stonecutting in 1893 cost us
fully 25 per cent more than the season before and the season before that again.

2114. What did your Portland cement cost you ?-I do not know.
2115. You do not know ?-I do not say I do not know, but I do not think I will

tell vou.
THE CHAIRMAN-Give us the market value. If Mr. Ryan has exceptional oppor-

tunities of buying cement, that is his affair.

By Mr. Gibso.n:

2116. Ido not ask you what you paid for it, but the market value. You said to
Mr. Haggart that you paid about 80 per cent more for Portland cement than for native?
-I have no objection to tell you. We bought it at $1.25 per barrel of 240 pounds-
that was the size of their barrel at Welland.

2117. At Thorold ?-No, it was delivered at the Sault.
2118. But you bought the Thorold cement delivered at the Sault for $1.25 ?-That

was the first contract we made.
2119. Did you continue paying that all through ?-The second year we did not pay

quite so much, and the third year we paid more, because the two makers there, Usher
and Battle got together and made us pay more the third year than the fourth. They
got up a combine.

2120. I though there was no Thorold cement used in the third year's operations ?-
Oh yes, there was.

2121. Where ?-There was Thorold cement used in what you call the rubble wall
and what I call random-coursed. That was Thorold cement. There was some used in
the back wall.

2122. That was not according to the new arrangement ?-Yes, it was.
2123. I thought they gave you $12.60, so that you would not require to use native

cement ?-No, they did not.
2124. Well, according to Mr. Thompson's statement the other day, there was no

Thorold cement used on the lock at ail ?-I do not think he stated that, and if he did
he would be mistaken.

2125. He admitted that in the early part of the work, when it was first commenced,
that it was all Thorold cement ?-I did not hear hii. The whole of the lock walls?

2126. The first part of the work, he said, as originally intended, was built of Thorold
cement ?-The first contract called for masonry, for the face work to be built with Port-
land cement and the backing with native cement.

2127. Was the concrete when the work was first started built of Thorold cement or
Portland cement ?-You mean the concrete ?

2128. Yes?-There was no concrete built of native cement at all.
2129. None at all ?-None whatever.
2130. All through the work, the whole of the face work of the lock was built~of

Portland cement and backed up with native cement 1-Not the whole of it.
2131. How much of it ?-I could not tell you.
2132. But you used it every year ?-What i
2133. Native cement ?-Yes, we did.
2134. Right along ?-Yes.

116

A. 1895



Sault Ste. Marie Canal Inquiry.

2135. What proportion of native cement to Portland cenent did you use in the
backing of the wall?-Perhaps I had better tell you how much was used altogether and
take the yards of nasonry and concrete.

2136. How many barrels of cement were used in the lock ?-I could not tell you.
2137. Then give us the whole ?-52,063 barrels of Portland cement were used.
2138. Yes ?-And there were 37,686 barrels of native cement used.
2149a. Yes ?-About 90,000 barrels in all.

By Mr Haggart :

2140. 37,686 barrels of native cement ?-Yes.

By Mfr. Gibson

2141. And 52,063 barrels of Portland cernent?-52,063 of Portland.
2142. 89,749 barrels altogether?-Yes.
2143. Now, Mr. Ryan, what other work outside of the lock and the revetnent wall

that has been under discussion this morning did you use native cement upon ?-Not
anv.

2144. How many yards were there in that revetment wall ?--I really cannot say.
2145. Would it average a yard to the running foot all through on the top of that

crib-work ?-I should think it would.
2146. So that in that work for about how may yards of masonry would a barrel of

cement be required ?-Well according to the number of yards that we had and the
amount of cement that we used in that masonry, I think fully a barrel of cement to a
yard and a half of masonry.

2147. It would require to be, the way it is, for it would require to be all cement
almost ?-What is it you have reference to?

2148. This beautiful piece of work. You would use 3,000 barrels of cemnent to 3,-
000 yards of that masonry ?-There was sorne Portland cement used for that wall. The
backing was done and the coping was all laid on with Portland cernent.

2149. How much would that require ?-I do not know.
2150. Half a dozen barrels would point the whole thing. Allowing that you used

3,000 barrels of cement in that retaining wall-I an giving vou a liberal allowance I
think ?-Yes.

2151. That would still leave you about 34,000 barrels of native cement that you
used in the lock ?-That is according to those figures.

2152. According to your figures ?-Yes, sir.
2153. So that you used about 60 per cent of native ceinent?-No.
2154. Not 60 but 40. You used about 40 per cent of native cement in complet-

ing that work ?-Which work?
2155. The lock work ?-Oh, no, we did not, because that 37,000 barrels of native

cement had only 240 pounds to the barrel. The other cernent had 350 pounds to the
barrel.

2156. Yes. What proportion would that be, then ?-Well, I may tell you this.
This is the nearest thing I can corne to it. We built so many yards of concrete. We
made good concrete, and the balance of the Portland cement went into the lock walls.

2157. Is it not a fact that you used as much Thorold cement at the back of the
wall as you did of the Portland -In the walls of the lock?

2158. In the masonry of the lock did you not use as much Thorold cement as
Portland 7-I do not think so, but in the masonry of the backing we used as much, not
including the whole work.

2159. Did you use Portland in the backing ?-We did, a great deal. We did it
under positive orders from the Chief Engineer.

2160. Why ?-Because he considered it a great deal better than the other.
2161. Why did he allow you to use any Thorold at all if he thought the other was

b3tter ?-f cannot tell you that.
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2162. But you were willing to take his orders and use Portland cement, although
it cost you twice as much money, or eighty per cent ?-We were told ve would be paid
for it.

2163. You were told you would be paid for it ?-Yes, sir.
2164. You expected to be paid extra for that ?-I did not know it would be extra.

I expected to be paid for that cement
2165. It is a wonder to me you did not use it altogether ?-I would have if in-

structed to do so.
2166. Of course, always keeping in view you expected to be paid for it? Of

course you still expect to be paid for it ?-I still expect to be paid for it; I was in-
structed to put it there.

2167. You would have used it altogether if you had been instructed ?-Certainly.
2168. I suppose the engineer when he ordered you to use Portland cement gave

you to understand as it was outside the specification you would be paid for it ?-He
gave me to understand I would be paid the difference in the cost between the cement
called for by the contract price and the specification-that cement.

2169. I suppose the engineer then kept a correct account of the number of barrels
of Portland cement used ?-I don't know that.

]3y Mr. Davies :

2170. Have you your account charging that ?-We have not.
2171. You have not put in your bill yet ?-We have not put in our bill. We asked

payment for it, but did not get it.

By Mfr. Gibson :

2172. Did you apply in writing ?-No.
2173. Now, Mr. Ryan, how many yards of concrete did you build in that work ?-

I really could not tell you, but the estimate would show it. I think it is somewhere
about-excuse me I don't know whether I have it.

2174. You think you have got it here ?-I think I have got it, Mr. Gibson. Yes,
we have built about 24,000 yards.

2175. About 24,000 yards of concrete ?-Yes.
2176. How many barrels to the yard ?-Oh, a barrel to the yard would make

good concrete.
2177. So that would really after all leave 28,000 barrels of cenent to the lock

work ?-That is what it would be.
21 78. Not 52,000 barrels ?-No. Not 52,000 barrels. You could not put 52,000

barrels in that lock.
2179. Certainly not. You used 28,000 barrels of cement on the lock against

34,000 of native cement ?-No, because the native cement, a good deal of it, went into
that retaining wall.

2180. But we took off 3,000 barrels for that ?-Perhaps you might take off more.
2181. Mr. Ryan, tell the committee now (you are an experienced contractor) if

a barrel of cement won't build three yards of that work ?-Three yards ?
2182. Yes.-Mr. Gibson, it did not.
2183. How many, then ?-Well, I don't believe it built a yard and a half of that.
2184. Well, then, I have allowed you a barrel for every yard and you say it built a

yard and a half. Now, I have taken off 3,000 barrels and there still remain 34,000
barrels of native cernent against 28,000 ?-I think you must take off more than 3,000
barrels.

2185. Take off another 3,000 ?-Yes, take off another 3,000.
2186. Now, that brings us back to the same question I asked you before : Did you

not use more native cement in the lock work than Portland ?-I don't mean in barrels,
I mean in pounds. You must make a distinction between those barrels.

2187. I understand that distinctly. Portland cement weighs 350 lbs. to the barrel
gross weight, does it not ?-No, 375 gross weight.
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2188. What does the other weigh gross ?-The other weighs gross 260.
2189. 260. The other nets 240 lbs. to the barrel. 60 lbs. to the bushel ?-That

is right.
2190. What is Portland cement ?-350 lbs.
2191. How many bushels to the barrel ?-The barrels are larger. There is about

3 feet and one-third to a barrel.
2192. I do not want to lessen your chances of getting paid for the Portland cenent

if you have a claim against the Government for it, by any means. They say a fellow
feeling make us wondrous kind. But I want to get at the facts. I understand fron
Mr. Thompson that no native cement was used in the lock after the work was begun ?
-I did not understand it that way.

2193. And he gave a reason. He gave it as a reason that they were justified in
ncreasing your prices in consequence ?-Who?

2194. Mr. Thompson.-They did not increase our prices in consequence of any
such thing.

2195. Well, you expect your prices to be increased ?-I expect to be paid for that
cement, because I was instructed by the Chief Engineer and the Minister to use it. We
bought it and paid for it under their directions, and put it in the work.

2196. Now, Mr. Ryan, you heard Mr. Thonpson say that he considered that that
randon-coursed work was well paid at the price that Mr. Schreiber had given for it,
$4.50 a yard.-Well, I don't think Mr. Thonipson would be a good judge of what that
work cost.

2197. Who would be a good judge ?-We would be good judges, because we know
what it costs. Remember the men that did that work were getting 4.30 a day wages.
Labourers were being paid in proportion, and every other man employed about the work
paid in proportion.

2198. It will look well when it is under water, Mr. lyan ?-It looks well now
when it is above water-that is what is above the water, a portion of it.

2199. This is the whole lock ?-Oh, ves, but there is a portion of that above the
water.

2200. Well, what do you think it is worth ?--7.50 a yard.
2201. You are very modest, Mr. Ryan.-Very inodest. Contractors are always

that.
2202. Why, of course. Now, you told us the other day that vou bought a steam

shovel, but you did not use it ?-I did not tell you I bought it. I told you it forned
part of the plant that I thought about getting. No, I did not tell you that, Mr. Gib-
son; we did not buy it.

2203. Y u did not buy it ?-I told you we did not buy it.
2204. So there was an amount of $8,000 that could have been deducted from that

$90,000 ?-No; because we substituted other plant for it, which made up the figures
which I gave you here before.

2205. What could you substitute for a steam shovel?-We increased the -that was
for the purpose of prism work ; that had nothing to do with the lock walls, the building
of it. We were obliged to have that work done in shorter time than I thought to
have-for the prism, not for the lock walls.

2206. Did this tend to expedite the work outside the lock walls ? -Certainly.
2207. And instead of that you used labour, did you ?-Used labour.
2208. Was that more economical ?-Well, I don't know that it would be.
2209. Had you not rails and cars before the Government decided to shorten the

time for finishing the work ?-We had.
2210. And how many more did you buy ?-Well, J cannot tell you just now, but I

know we bought enough to enable us to do the work in the time. We went over it
carefully and we ordered plant of every kind to enable us to get that work done by the
time we had agreed to do it.

2211. You heard Mr. Thompson state the intention was to build it of Portland
cement and back it up with native cement ?-That was the original contract.
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2212. You said that you bought a large number of extra rails and cars in cunse-
quence of having to expedite the work ?-Yes. That would be a part of what makes
up those figures.

2213. How much did you pay ?-I could not answer that here, but we bought
fully as many cars as we had before.

2214. You could tell the Minister before making the bargain that it would require
$6,000 to buy extra rails and cars but now that the rails and cars are bcught you can-
not tell how much you did pay ?-Well, I have not got all these before me.

2215. Did it cost you $6,000 ?-I would not say, Mr. Gibson.
2216. But it cost you $3,000 ?-Oh it cost more than that.
2217. How much ?-Well, now, I cannot tell you. We got several hundred tons

of rails besides the cars and other plant connected wit it.
2218. Well, you said that you estimated $4,000 for electric plant ?-Yes.
2219. How much electric plant did you buy ?-We did not buy any. I told you

so before.
2220. You told Mr. Lister, and that you estimated $2,000 for operating ?-Yes.
2221. That was $6,000. What did you substitute for that ?-For that light ?
2222. Yes.-We substituted wood barrels.
2223. You burnt up your old cement barrels ?-Everything we could find to get

light.
2224. Was that as satisfactory as electrie light ?-It answered the purpose very well.
2225. So that by a little thrift you saved $6,000 ?-Not so much, the other cost us

sonething.
2226. How much would you have got for the old barrels ?-Not much. But it

cost us something to get them together.
2227. How much did you get for your cement barrels ?-Not a cent, nor for much

better plant either.
2228. So you burnt them ?-Yes.
2229. And it gave you sufficient light ?-And other kinds of wood as well.
2230. There would be cuttings from the ends of your crib-work and so on ?-Yes.
2231. So that with your empty barrels and any refuse timber, you were able to

light up your works by night ?-I may say that that estimate I gave to Mr. Haggart
was entirely changed-not entirely, but to a great extent, with regard to the plant we
bought.

By Mr. Haggart:

2232. In other words your $90,000 is not an estimate you formed at all 1-Not at all.
The estimate I gave you was not as much as $90,000.

By Mr. Gibson:

2233a. I understood in your evidence at the last sitting that you gave a complete
account making up the $90,000.

Mr. HAGGART-That is different from the original. There were two estimates.
There was an original w hich he estimated before he entered into the work as to what it
would cost. Then there was the actual figures, what it did cost.

The WITNEss-The first one was merely guesswork made in half an hour's time.

By Mr. Gibson :

2234. You say, Mr. Ryan, that you simply made an estimate that it would cost
you about $90,000 to buy extra plant ?-Not all for plant. I estimated the cost of the
change would be $90,000, extra wages and so on.

2235. Plant and extra wages ?-Extra cost of every kind.
2236. Now will you be kind enough to tell the committee how much night work

you did ?-I think, Mr. Gibson, we worked more or less every night. I may say I was
not there all the time, bu, when I was there there were men working every night, some
nights more, some nights less.
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2237. Well, were you not made aware that the work was being prosecuted at night
wvhen you were not there ?-I am aware fron the time books. My partner was there
all the time, day and night.

2238. In consequence of night work you estimated that it would cost vou about
S16,000 ?-That was a guess, you know.

2239. Well did it cost you $16,000 ?-I cannot say. We kept no account of that
extra cost.

2240. But if the work had not been rushed, or rather required in a
shorter time, you would not have done any night work at all -We would not have
been obliged to. I do not say we would not.

2241. Would you have worked or not ?-Unless it was for the benefit of the work
we would not, of course not.

2242. Now, Mr. Ryan, you estimated that it would cost you $1,000 for extra
cement houses ?-I think it did.

2243. More than the one you had before ?-Well, we had two altogether, or rather
we had three altogether. We got a good deal of cement in the summer of 1893, I think
over 40,000 barrels of that cement in that summer, and we had to have houses to take
care of it. We had one very large one, one smaller, and a third smaller still.

2244. So that you were compelled, in consequence of rushing the work, to provide
for a greater quantity of cement ?--Than we otherwise would have stored. Well, I
think so ?

224.5. Did that cost you $1,000 ?-Well, I cannot speak exactly. That is what I
put in the estimate.

2246. Of course it did not cost you $1,000 ?-I do not know what it cost. It nay
have cost more.

2247. What did you make of it after you were through with it, a ball-room?
It is standing there yet, and we would be glad to sell it for very little.

MR. WILLIAM CRAWFORD called, sworn and examined.

By Mr. Gibson :

2248. What position did you occupy at the Sault canal ?-Assistant engineer.
2249. How long were you in that position ?-I was in that position --

By Mr. Davies:

2050. From that date, that is the point ?-From July, 1888, to Octoaber, 1894.
2051. Did you succeed Mr. Thompson, or were you under Mr. Thompson i-I was

under Mr. Thompson.

By .Mr. Gibson:

2252. You were under Mr. Thompson from the dates you have given ?-No, I was
not. In the early part I was in charge of the surveys. Did I say 1888 ? I am wrong.
I went in July, 1887, and I was up to the end of 1888 making the surveys.

2253. So then from 1888, when did you go back again to the Sault ?-I was there
all the time.

2254. Why do you say 1888?-I was wrong in giving that date; it was when the
contract was let.

2255. In other words you have been continuously there since 1887 ?-J have been
continuously there since 1887.

2256. Since the first survey was made ?-Yes.
2257. You went right up there when the survey was made and have been there

ever since 2-Ever since.
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2258. What position did you occupy there ?-As I said, for the first year I was in
charge of the survey. After that I was assistant engineer until 1894.

2259. From the commencement of the practical part of the work you were assistant
to Mr. Thompson ?-Yes, from the building.

2260. Until when ?-Until 1894.
2261. Until last year ?-Last year.
2262. And then what position did you occupy ?-Engineer in charge.
2263. You were made engineer in charge in 1894 ? So you have been practically

on the work since its inception till the present moment ?-Yes.
2264. Are you aware, Mr. Crawford, that complaints were made about the cribs

along that revetment wall ?-Yes.
2265. Did you see Mr. Thompson's evidence in regard to that ?-No, I did not see it.
2266 You are not aware of what he said ?-No.
2267. The complaint Mr. Thompson made was that they were improperly filled,

and that you, your assistants and the contractors were to blame for the cribs bulging
out in the way they did -Well, I differ from Mr. Thompson. They were properly
filled. They were well filled.

2268. You differ with Mr. Thompson and you say they were properly filled ?-Yes.
2269. Well, can you give any reason, Mr. Crawford, why they bulged out ?-From

the wet material behind them.
2270. Fronà the wet material behind them ?-It was soft, spongy stuff behind them.
2271. Should there have been soft, spongy stuff behind them ?-Being built in the

winter vou could not help it being spongy.
2272. What kind of material was put behind ?-It was with material-it is a sort

of sandy clay that covers the island.
2273. A sort of red sandy clay ?--No, not a red.
2274. Yellow ?-It is a mixture of sand and of clay.
2275. A mixture of sand and clay ? So that the effect of the winter upon it was

it was all frozen up ?-It was frozen up, yes.
2276. And then when the frost came out of the ground, the cribs were bulged out?

-Bulged the cribs out.
2277. Were you present when the cribs were taken down ?-Yes.
2278. How did you find them filled ?-They were well filled.
2279. Did Mr. Thompson call your attention to the manner in which they were

filled ?-He complained at the end they were not well filled.
2280. He complained thev were not well filled ?-Yes.
2281. And what ground did you take ?-Well, I said I differed with him.-I said

they were well fillied ; that he was mistaken.
2282. Did he point out the vacant spaces in the crib that was taken down ?-No.

He might have pointed out one or two, perhaps.
2283. There were no large holes in the crib ?-No, there was no large hole there,

that you would not expect from broken stone. Of course there were some holes.
2284. Mr. Thompson said that when he found fault with the filling of the cribs,

you found fault with the design ?-Oh, no; he is mistaken there. I might have said
that-

2285. The question was put in this way: " Now the engineer was there, I suppose,
the assistant engineer, at this time ?-A. At that particular moment? Q. Mr. Craw
ford ?-A. -He might have been. I don't know. He was beside me as it were. Q.
Was he on the works ?-A. Oh, ves, he was on the works. Q. What explanation did
he give of the crib-work and the other matters you have spoken of ?-A. As regards the
crib-work, everyone-when I say everyone, the contractors and Mr. Crawford-found fault
with the design. They said that they thought that the difficulty arose in a great
measure f rom not having longitudinal ties in this crib-work." Did you say that ?-
Well, I dare say I thought it would be better; I will admit that.

2286. So that when Mr. Thompson complained to you that the cribs were improperly
filled you denied that assertion and said the crib-work was faulty in designs.-I said it
might have been improved by that.
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2287, In what position were the ties placed in the cribi Were they on the top
of one another ?-Yes.

2288. In pockets ?-In pockets.
2289. They were not irregular ?-They were not irregular.
2290. They were running up and down ?-Running up and down.
2291. Don't you think that is the most improved way of having cribs properly

filled ?-Yes, it is a very good way to fill cribs.
2292. Is not a crib of that design more easily more easily than one where the

ties are placed promiscuously ?-Yes, of course.
2293. So that there are really pockets in the crib-work ?-Yes.
2294. Was there any difficulty in filling the pockets ?-No.
229.5. Were there complaints about them being improperly filled ?-I don't know.
2296a. Do you think that the material was frozen when they were filled ?--There

was some little, there was some.
2296. There was some frozen material. Much ?--No, not very much.
2297. Was there enough of it frozen to leave a space when the frost left the cribs?

--No, I do not think so. I think there was only the seains between the-
2298. At page 5 of the evidence taken at the last meeting of the coiiittee, Mr.

Thompson was asked, " Then what you say to the committee is this: That the assist-
ant engineer in defiance of your orders, put that in-allowed it to be put in ?-Well,
that would be making a direct charge of something very wrong.

2299. Well, it was very wrong ?-I would not like to make that charge, that that
material was put in. I would be more inclined to say it was a matter of neglect rather
than a matter of wilful misdoing."-But he did not give anv orders about it. It was
all done,

2300. Well, he says he was present with the minister and with you when this crib-
work was taken down and he complained to you ?-There was one piece taken down
when he was there,

By Mr. Davies:

2301. He says he called attention to the fact " That the filling was n ot properly
done. The spaces between the timbers should have been thoroughly packed in with
stone. Instead of that it was to be seen that larger stones had been thrown in which had
fallen in all sorts of shapes, and there were large interstices; that there was a good deal
of clay that had been adhering to the stone when it was frozen that had melted and left
large voids, and in making the excavation to ascertain how it was filled iii we came upon
ice in several places. Q. You came upon ice ?-A. Yes. Q. Thrown in ?-A. Sorme of
it appeared to have ice that was thrown in and some of it might have been ice that was
forined on it, that had made its way under the crib and formed there." ?-A. That was
the only ice that I saw there. Water underneath the crib had frozen up, and there was
ice there, a little, we saw.

By Mr. Cibson

2302, Well, Mr. Crawford, was the nature of the material such that in the winter
time you could not discern whether it was solid ice or rock ?-Well, it was hard to
separate those seams from the rock.

2303. It was hard to separate them ? If you had any doubt, why allow it to be
put in ?-I don't know. I did not consider it at all harmful.

2304. You did not consider it at all harmful, and yet when the crib-work was taken
down you had pointed out to you large voids in the crib, by Mr. Thompson ?-Pardon
me. I differ with him there. There were not large voids.

2305. Were there any voids ?-There were voids that you will get in any crib that
is filled with stone. Unless you hand pack your stone, you will get voids.

2306. Should not that crib have been hand-packed ?-No; I don't think so.
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By Mr. Haggart :

2307. Did you ever know in your life a crib on any other work hand packed ?-No;
I never did.

By Mr. Gibson:

2308. Were the cribs sufficiently strong ?-Yes; I think I thought they were, but
I think they would have been improved. Afterwards we found out more than we did
at first. I did not think they were too light at first, but that weight of material was
too much for thein.

2309. Experience showed you, Mr. Crawford, when the cribs were built, and they
were bulged out that they were not sufficiently strong ?--Well, yes, experience showed
that they were not sufliciently strong in some places.

2310. Do you think it was the improper filling that caused the bulging ?-No.
2311. Do you mean to say to the Committee, Mr. Crawford, that if that had been

properly filled, it would still have been bulged ?-I say they were properly filled.
2312. Then what reason have you to give for them bulging ?-Wet material behind.
2313. Then, in other words, they were not strong enough ?-Well, with that wet

material, I think they were not strong enough. We did not know that that would turn
out that way.

2314. When the piece was taken down and rebuilt again, how much larger was the
piece you put back again ?-It was not any larger. We took down only 203 lineal feet.

2315. 205 lineal feet you took down?-Yes.
2316. And did you build it up the same size again --I do not think it was much

increased.
2317. Now, Mr. Crawford, did you build it the saine size as it was before, yes or no?

-I do not remember. I think it was built the saine size.
2318. You think it was the same size, are you sure of that?-I am not.
2319. Would it be a surprise to you if I were to tell you that you made it larger ?

-I have heard you say so, but I do not agree. I would have to look it up and see. I
could easily find it out.

2320. Mr. Thompson said it was built larger ?-I think not. I do not think it
was built larger.

2321. You then say most positively that the crib was not built larger ?-No ; I say
I do not think it was.

2322. WelI, if it was not built larger, why did you expect it to stand any better
than the other 7-Well, you see, the material behind was dryer then than when we put
it in it had drained off.

2323. The inaterial was dryer ?-It was not put in in the winter, it was done
.after.

2324. It was not put in in the winter, but it was the same material put back
in again ?-Yes.

2325. Well do you expect it will stand ?-Oh yes.
2326. So you took no precautions to make the cribs any larger than they were

before ?-They were built in instead of with steps. They were built up higher. The
back was built up higher and that gave greater weight to the crib.

2327. So you put in a heavier crib ?-Yes, it was heavier.
2328. J thought you told me vou did not make them any larger ?-No deeper. I

thought you said we added depth to them.
2329. You did strengthen your crib ?-We added weight to the crib.
2330. Why did you add weight to it ?-So as to keep it f rom bulging out again.
2331. Did that strengthen the crib ?-Yes.
2332. It strengthened the crib of course. Why did you do that ?-To strengthen it.
2333. That was the reason. Then you thought that the other cribs were too light,

,or you would not have added to these ?-At that place it required a stronger crib.
2334. How far up from the end of the lock was this placed ?-They varied. There

were three or four places. If you will allow me I will read a report that I made.
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By 31r. Davies .-
2335. Excuse me, is that a report made after the crib had bulged and you had

fixed it ?-Yes, that is a report to Mr. Keefer who was up there.
The CHAIRMAN-IS it before the Committee?
Mr. DAVIES-Mr. Keefer's report is, but Mr. Crawford's report to bim is niot.
Witness then read the following :

"SAULT STE. MARIE CANAL.
SAULT STE. MARIE, l9th September, 1894.

" T. C. KEEFER, Esq.,
" Ottawa

DEAR Si,--In reply to your questions regarding the inovement in the Timber
Revetruent Walls of this Canal, I send you the followinîg inforimiation -

lst. The percentage of length of crib-work on each side which showed no movemeit
at all?-On the north side 30 per cent moved and 70 did not, and on the south side 16
per cent moved and 84 per cent showed no motion.

"2nd. The length taken down and rebuilt as crib-work ?-Two hundred and five
lineal feet or 4½ per cent was taken down and rebuilt as crib-work.

3rd. The length taken down and rebuilt as wall ?-T wo hundred and eightV-two
lineal feet or 6 per cent of crib-work.

" In addition to these 570 feet or 122 per cent of the crib-work showed motion and
was propped up with shores, and the space between them filled in with conerete.

4th. The date when crib-work above lock was begun?-31st October, 1893.
"5th. The date when crib-work above lock was completed ?-2nd J une, 1894.
"6th. The date when first failure showed itself ?-May 1894.
"7th. Extent of greatest movement of crib on rock ?-None.
"8th. Extent of greatest movement of crib in centre, that is the bulge ?-As nearly'

as can be ascertained this was about 2½ to 3 feet, and, in nearlv all cases, before the
wall was built on the crib, but it was impossible to keep such a record as seems desir-
able, after the event. No movement was anticipated and therefore the necessary pre-
liminary arrangements were not made in time. The staff was exceedingly small and a
great deal of other work in many places required immediate and constant attention to
keep up with the rapid progress of the works. The banks were new and settling,
therefore fixed points could not easily be formed at suitable places, and the distances were
great, and it was difficult to get accurate measurements, besides which there were
innumerable obstacles, such as derricks, &c., in the way.

" The main point was to stop the movement and be sure it hiad ceased ; and to do this
work took all the available force.

" 9th. The extent in length of crib-work put in place before prism in front was exca-
vated ?

" The excavation for the prism was taken out to full width (including crib-work
foundations, and depth required for deepening canal from upper end of lock (Sta. 65) to
about Sta. 70, as this was the prism originally and excavated wider than required when
lock was lengthened. From this point to the swing bridge (Sta. 80) the material over-
laying the rock was stripped off the whole width including crib foundations and a gullet
some 30 or 40 feet from the face of the south side was driven through the rock to the
full depth of the canal to get a face to take out the rest of the excavation to advantage.
Above the bridge wide gullets were taken out to the surface of sound rock on either side,
except for a couple of hundred feet, partly with carts and partly with derricks, to allow
the crib-work to be built and filled from the excavation and the centre was left in partly
because there was some delay in getting through the swing bridge trestle, but principally
because the rock was exceptionally good and reserved for building the wall. This ques-
tion should therefore be answered Sta. 70 to 88 or 1,800 ft. on each side.

" 10th. To what extent did crib-work move before it was raised to full height and
filled i

"115 feet of crib west of the bridge and on the north side of canal was built* but
could not be filled for some little time, as there was no derrick handy, and was moved
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out by the wet quicksand behind it. It was then taken down, rebuilt and filled and
there has been no further movement.

"And did any begin to move when first filled in behind ?-There was no noticeable
movement from filling in behind the crib at any place.

" 1th. What space was left between crib-work and bank generally for filling?
"No more than sufficient to put the crib in place with as steep a slope behind it as

possible to avoid unnecessary excavation.
"12th. What proportion gave way when there was no spoil bank behind?
"74 per cent of the crib-work which noved had no spoil bank behind, and 26 per-

cent had a spoil bank from 25 to 30 feet from the face of crib.
"I am strongly of opinion that the cause of the bulging of the cribs was the wet

spongy quicksand which was formed in places behind, and at the time of construction
was more or less frozen and therefore caused comparatively little apprehension, but when
it thawed out there was not sufficient weight to resist the strain; that the spoil banks
being placed on good solid ground and sufficiently far back had no inj urious efiect on the
crib ; that the crib was well and solidly filled, and the little snow and frozen material
which necessarily got in did no harn whatever, and the few large stones put in gave
greater weight and therefore were rather a benefit than otherwise.

"Yours truly,

(Sd.) "WILLIAM CRAWFORD,

"Resident Engineer."
There is another one to Mr. Schreiber.

By Mr. Daries :

2336. Was that when Mr. Keefer was up making his examination ?-That was be-
fore, when I was instructed to look into some complaints.

2337. Was it after Mr. Keefer went up, or before ?--It was before, 27th August.
Mr. DAvIEs.-That is in already. It is addressed by the witness to Mr. Schreiber

on the 27th August. It is put in already. That is before Mr. Keefer and the other
men went down.

By Mr. Gibson:

2338. You state in this report of yours, Mr. Crawford, that on the north side there
was 30 per cent that moved and 70 per cent that did not, and on the south side 16
per cent noved and 80 per cent showed no motion. Did you build no more bracing
than 30 per cent on the north side ?-Yes. On the north side we built more than that.
It was not bracing, it was more, we put concrete in front of the rock to face the rock
and to keep it f rom being washed out, but of bracing we did not put any more than 30
per cent.

2339. And what kept the concrete up where you did not brace it ?-We put little
sticks-they were not regular braces-they were put up against it and filled in between
It faced the rock and kept the rock from being washed out.

2340. So you did not brace any more than 30 per cent on the north side ?-No.
2341. Are you sure of that ?-I am sure of that.
2342. And how many feet did you do on the south side ? Anv more than 16 per

cen. ?-Yes, I am sure we did not brace. Well perhaps-I could not tell that, I could
not answer that question at present. I would have to look that up.

2343. Have you not got the measurements ?-I have.
2344. Have you got them here ?-I have not.
2345. Did you not bring some of the measurements here ?-I have some at the

hotel, I can get them.
2346. You had better get them for the next meeting. You had better get some

of the exact measurements, because you say you only did a small percentage of shoring
on the north side, not more than 30 per cent.
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By Mr. Haggart:

2347. Have you not cross sections of the whole of the cribbing from one end to the
other ?-Yes. (Witness produces cross sections of canal as finished).

By Mr Gibson :

2348. Is that showing the bracing 7-It shows the cross section. Here is the
whole thing.

2349. Well, that gives me measurements?-Yes, these are the measureiments.
These are the regular stations, every 25 feet between then.

2350. Give the stations that are there, that are braced.-That are braeed?
2351. Yes.-I have those stations down-I would prefer if you wouid let me wait

until after I can give the stations.
2352. You will give us a statement by the next sitting of the comittee? Have

it made up. You will be able to give us the cost, will you ?-The cost of this?
2353. The cost of the shoring, of the filling ?-An approximate, yes.
2354. I would like to get the number of vards of concrete and the number of pieces

of timber approximately, that were used. You heard NI r. Ryvan's explanation about
the random-coursed nansonrv at the entrance to the lock ?-Yes.

2355. You heard him state that that specification did not apply ?-Please say to
the committee whether that specification applies to this class of xvork or not ?-There
is an agreement-another agreement that that wall was built from. A letter.

2356. Where is it?
Witness institutes a search amnongst the files of papers before the conmittee.
2357. Have you found the agreement ?-No, I have not. There is no agreement,

Mr. Schreiber says.
2358. You did not find the agreement ?-No, I did not.
2359. There is no agreement, then ? Do you know if there is one ?-No, I do not.
2360. Was there an agreement ?-I was under the impression that there was a

letter.
2361. You were under the impression that there was an agreement ?-I am wrong.

It was not an agreement ; it was a letter.
2362. From whom ?-Mr Schreiber to Mr. Haggart.
2363. A letter from Mr. Schreiber to Mr. Haggart ?-Yes.
2364. What did that letter state ?-It stated-

By Mr. Davies :

2365. Where is the letter or the agreement ?-It is not an agreement; I was
wrong. There was a letter, of which I have a copy.

2366. You have a copy of the letter, you say 7-I have a copy of the letter.

By Mr. Gibson :

2367. Was the letter sent to you officially from Mr. Schreiber for your guidance?
I suppose so. I don't know how I got it now.

2368. Was it a letter from Mr. Schreiber to yourself ?-I had rather produce the
paper and then I could tell.

2369. Have you got it with you ?-I have it down at the hotel.

By Mr. Davies:

2370. Did you act on that letter ?-Yes.

By Mr. Gibson:

2371. From your impression that letter gave you the power to build this class of
work instead of random-coursed work 7-It was called random-coursed masonry just the
saine, and I thought that was random-coursed masonry.
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2372. What directions did it give you about changing the class of work ?-I don't
consider it a change at all.

2373. You don't consider it a change at all ?-I thought it was random-coursed
masonry-that was the wall being put up. I think so still.

2374. So you returned the quantities every month at contract prices ?-At contract
prices.

2375. You were not aware perhaps that change was made in the price ?-Oh, yes,
that was at the price mentioned in this letter.

2376. Who made that change ?-Well, I must have the letter.
2377. You must have the letter. Well, there must have been some misunder-

standing about the class of work or there would not have been a reduction made in the
price ?-I cannot answer without seeing the letter.

Mr. HA(GART-If I remember the matter, it is simply this : The contractor was
claiming S7.50 and I objected to the price on the ground that he was not entitled to it,
and he was instructed to classify it under another classification.

By Mfr. Gibson :

2378. I suppose, Mr. Crawford, as resident engineer ?-I am wrong in calling that
an agreement.

By M1fr. Daries:

2379. You now call it a letter of instructions from Mr. Schreiber?-Yes.
2380. It was under that letter of instructions this wall was built ?-No, I can show

you the letter.
2381. You say the wall was not built under the agreement as it appears in the

specification ?-No ; it was built according to that specification.
2382. Well, you stated a moment ago it was not; then it was an error ?-I was in

error.
2383. You were in error in stating that the wall was not built under this agreement

and specification ?-Certainly.
2384. Then the wall was built under this agreement and specification ?-Yes.

By Mr. Gibson :

2385. You were furnished with a copy, a detailed'copy of the original contract?-Yes.
2386. Setting forth the various prices, to which you were to attach the quantities,

and money out the amount due to the contractors every month ?-Yes.
2387. Under No. 13 " Revetment wall along the sides of the canal, if formed of

stone f rom the excavation," the contractor was to be paid $3 a yard ?-Yes.
2388. " Revetment walls alongside of the canal, if formed from stone procured

from a distance " ?-$6.
2389. These were to be dry walls ?-These were to be dry walls I understood.
2390. Now, then, item 55 on the schedule, " random-coursed masonry of gray

limestone laid in cement mortar where directed, $7.50 "?-Yes.
2391. Now Mr. Crawford, you say that this random-coursed masonry was built

according to a letter received by you from Mr. Schreiber ?-It was built according to
the specification.

2392. According to the specification ?-The price was changed in that letter.
2393. Can you give us the changed specification ?-Jt is not a changed specification.

There is no change in the specification. The price was changed.
2394. Do you mean to say that this work was built according to that specification ?

-Yes.
2395. You do ?-Yes.
2396. Read that specification, please.-Witness then read the following:-
" Side Walls.-In case the rock through which the canal is formed provesto be of

a sound and durable nature, walls are to be built to raise the side to the required height.
3 feet over highest known water line, proper seats for which must be prepared by the
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removal from the space to be occupied by them, of ail earth, muck, clay, sand, gravel,
and loose stone down to the solid rock and placing thei in spoil banks. For this work
the contract rate for excavation on the section, corresponding to the position of the
work done, will be allowed.

The walls must be built of large sized, flat-bedded well-shaped stoines, not less
than 9 inches thick, laid on their natural beds, of approved gray liniestone, or an ac-
cepted quality of sound, close grained, durable sandstone. They are to be of randon-
coursed work 2½ feet wide on top increasing downwards on the face side at the rate of
2.1, inches to the foot and on the rear side increase at the rate of 3 inches to the foot for
the first five feet from the top, thence downward, the back is to be plumïb.

" The front stones are to be laid at right angles to the face, which nust be hain-
nered, scabbled, picked or pointed off before being brought on to the walls, so that,
when laid, no projection shall exceed 2 inches beyond the pitched lines at the joints.
Al the stones must be properly bonded over and with each other in the heart of the
wall, as well as in the front and rear side ; and in every course there nust be headers
of at least 3 feet depth of bed not more than 7 feet apart.

" If the stones used for the walls are of a class that cannot be readily lanmmered
or dressed into shape, an oblique timber may be bolted on to the rock of such a heigh
on the front side and properly filled in the rear as will give the top of the first course of
stone the required inclination and the face the proposed batter. The coping stones nust
be of the full width of the top of the wall (21 feet) increasing in width downwards to the
batter on both sides in pieces of at least 9 inches thick on the face side and sufficiently
thick on the rear that, with ordinary joints without spalls, the top will be level."

2397. Wa3 that specification carried out ?-I think so.
2398. Will you look on that photograph an] tell the comnittee if that stone is

properly bonded according to random-coursed nasonry ?-I think it is properly bonded.
(After examining Exhibit "5 " at a point on the photograph indicated by Mr. Gibson.)

2399. According to the specification ?-I think so.
2400. Are you sure, Mr. Crawford ?-I am sure, I think so.
2401. Do vou notice there are some two or three feet without a bond in it at ail,

right there (again indicating the spot on the photograph). Is that properly bonded
according to the specification ?-J think that is well bonded.

2402. Is that properly bonded according to the specification. Look at the specifl-
cation ?-(After examinning specification). J think so. I think that wall was built
according to the specification.

2103. Were the stones hammner dressed ?-No.
2404. Thev were not hammer dressed. Did not the specification call for hammer

dressed ?-No.
2405. Read that and see if you find it there (handling witness the specilication),

Does not the specification, which you read, distinctly state that the stone shall be laid
at right angles to the face, which must be hanmmered, scabbled, picked or pointed off
before being brought on to the walls? Does it or does it not ?-Yes, it does call for it.

2406. But the work was not done that way ?-It was not exactly carried out that
way, according to the letter of the law.

2407. Now, Mr. Crawford, would not you call that good rubble work ?-No ; i
would not.

2408. Would you call it bad random-coursed work ?-It is a good wall.
2409. That is not the question. Is it good random-coursed work ?-I think it is a

good random-coursed wall.
2410. Did you ever see anything worse done in the shape of random-coursed

work ?-I do not want to see much better.
2411. Did you ever see any better ?-Yes ; perhaps in the buildings here. Yeu

might call that random-coursed work.
2412. Is it as well done as that revetment wall in front of the Parliament

buildings steps ?-That is random-coursed work too, but it is fancy work. Random-
coursed is an indefinite terra that applies to many kinds of masonry.
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2413. Then as it was an indefinite term you let the contractors off as easily as you
could ?-I had the wall built according to the requirements.

2414. You had no quarrel with the contractors ?--No.
2415. You were well satisfied ?-I was satisfied with the wall.
2416. And that it was good enough according to the specification ?-Yes.
2417. Did you read the specification to the contractor and point out that thougli

that wall was not according to the specification it was good enough for you ?-No; I
thought it was a good substantial wall.

2418. Did your inspector call your attention to this class of work that was being
done ?-He showed me the work, yes. I went over it.

2419. Did lie find any fault with it ?-No.
2420. Did he say it was according to she specification ?-No ; I don't remember.
2421. You don't think he did ? Who was your inspector, Mr. Crawford ?-Robert

Scott.
2422. Was he a man of experience ?-Yes, a man of experience.

By Mr. Davies:

2423. Is he here ?-No.

By Mr. Gibson :

2424. Where is he now ?-In Perth.
Mr. HAGGART.-We had better have him at the next meeting.

By Mr. Gibson:

2425. So Mr. Scott made no complaint to you about this work ?-No.
2426. Mr. Thompson found no fault with this work when he came up. (No answer).
2427. Did Mr. Thompson find any fault when he came up ?-Yes, he found fault

with it, but in a general sort of way.
2428. Why. in a general sort of way ?-Well, he was finding fault with many

things, and he found fault with it. He said it was bad ; it was not random-coursed
masonry.

2429. What did you say to Mr. Thompson when he found fault ? Did you tell huin
that it was good enougi ?-I said if he thought it was not good enough that he ought
to have it stopped-stop the work.

2430. This was during the progress of the work ?-During the progress of the work.
2431. He did not offer to stop it ?-No, he did not offer to stop it.
2432. Did you tell him you had special instructions from Mr. Schreiber? Did you

produce this letter fron Mr. Schreiber ?-No. Oh, yes, there was a letter. It was not
in the nature of no special instructions, they only cbanged the prices.

2433. What was the change made in the price ?-That putting it into item 55a.
2434. You were to class it under item 5 a, that is random-coursed masonry?

Well what class had you it in before ?-It had not been in any class.
2435. It was in no class at all? Well, why did you require to get instructions, Mr.

Crawford, to put it under item 55a ?-It was not in'any class. It was put in 55a $7.50.
That changed the item because it was built with mortar.

2436. Because it was built with mortar it was changed from 14 ?-It was not
changed from any because it was not in any item before.

The Committee then adjourned.
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COMMITTEE ROCM,- NO. -0,
FlouslE OF Co :IN,21d .J ly, i 89..

The committee met.

Mr. Hui RYA recalled and further exanined.

By Mfr. Lister:

2437. Mr. Ryan, you are the contractor for the lower entranice to the lock at Sault
Ste. Marie ?-I was one of the firm, yes.

2438. You were one of the firm ?--Yes, the firmn of Hugh Ryan & Comîîpanîy.
2439. Allan & Fleming were the contractors for the north entrance ?--They were.
2440. Did you become interested in the Allan & Fleming contract in ary way ?-

No.
2441. Did your firm ?-Not as a firmn.
2442. Did any member of vour firm ?-Not that I an aware of. In fact, I amn

sure of it.
2443. Did any mieniber of your firm give you to uniderstand that they had ?-

Never.
2444. And you had no interest in it either as a firn or as an individual ?-None

whatever.
2445. Do you claini against the governmient for the work of putting in the concrete

to support the crib-work ? Is that a part of your claim against the governînent ?-Well,
we have not any claim yet. We have not put any claini before the goverinent or made
any yet.

2446. Well, do not fence, please ?-I an not fencing at all. I t is not settled.
2447. Of course not, but you know perfectly well what vour intended claim is

against the government ?-We shall expect that portion of the work to be returned iii
the estimates the sanie as any other work we did.

2448. Exactly. Then the work that was done for the purpose of supporting the
crib-work will be put against the government just the sane as any other work ?-We
expect the government to return it in the estimates and pay us for it just the saine as
any other work we did.

2449. Exactly, and you also expect to be paid the sane way as you were paid for
any other work for the so-called random-coursed mîasonry ?--Certainily.

2450. At the price nentioned in the contract?-At the price mentioned in the
contract.

2451. 87.50 a yard ?-That wall is not in the original contract. It was a wall
that was built afterwards by instructions fron the chief engineer.

2452. Is that to be the price that you put in -- That is to be the price, s7.50 a
yard.

2453. S7.50 a yard. You have already told us who the nemlbers of this partner-
ship are, Hugh Ryan, and who else ?--Hughi Ryan, Joln lyan, and Michael -J. Haney.

2454. They were partners and contractors from the first to the last ?-Quite so.
2455. Now as to the changes that were made in the lock. Were any changes made

in the approach ? In other words have you any claim against the government over and
above the contract price, the $299,313 ?-That sun was only an assuned sui. It was
only an estimated sum. We are paid on s1chedule prices.

2456. I know that very well, but that was an estinated sum, estimated )y the en-
gineer ?-Yes, before the work was begun at all.

2457. Before the work was begun at ail ?-Yes.
2458. And the contract was let to you upon that basis ?-It was let to us on a

schedule of prices.
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2459. Totalling ?-Presumed to total that amount.
2460. $299,313 ?-Well, somewhere about that.
2461. How nuch is the actual charge for the work ?--Up to now?
2462. Yes, for that work ?--I have not got the figures, Mr. Lister.
2463. I suppose you have not the exact figures, but you can tell us pretty near.

The estimates here will show that.
2464. You and the estinates differ ?-I do not think so. We have never been paid

except on the estinates furnished by the engineers.
2465. i know you have not been paid, but these estimates have not been always

satisfactory to you ?-I do not think there has been much difference, taking a work of
that kind.

2466. But they have not been always satisfactory to you?-They were never con-
sidered as final estimates, but simply as progress estimates and approximate.

2467. If they were considered as final estinates they 0ould not be satisfactory to
you ?-Perhaps not quite.

2468. Now, then, I ask you, for the work that vou undertook with the government
to do, for $299,000, how much is your charge against the governnent for that work ?--
Up to now?

2469. Up to its completion ?--Well, it is not completed yet.
2470. It is not completed yet ?-No.
2471. What has to be done?-There were 500 feet or thereabouts of additional

cribbing ordered to be put in last fall on the south side of the entrance, and it is not
done vet.

2472. Is it all finished with the exception of that cribbing ?-I think so.
2473. You have attained the proper depth ?-That is what we are told.
2474. Eh?-I think so.
2475. You are satisfied as to that?-Well, the engineers have decided that part of it.

By JJr. Haggart :

2476. The soundings are here ?-Thev have gone over it several times to my
kn owledge.

By Mr. Lister:

2477. I an told, and I have read also, that the tug " Jessie" drawing 10 feet of
water went aground there ?-Well, I heard that.

2478. You heard that ?-Yes.
2479. Well, if that is so, then the work is not finished ?-Yes, that is so, if that

accouat of it is correct, but I am told that the tug " Jessie " was nearly 100 feet out of
the channel when she struck on the ground.

2480. Report says she was in the channel?-It is said she was in, but I am told
by people who were there that the buoy was placed 200 feet nearer the shoal than it
ought to have been, and if she went near the buoy of course she was out of the channel.

2481. Then the buoy did not indicate where the channel was?-Not at that partic-
ular point.

2482. Then, what you say as one of the contractors, is that the deepening of the
approach has been finished ?--W e think so, yes.

2483. You think so ?-Yes.
2484. Now, then, coming back to the $299,000. I ask you again whether the

amount of $299,000 covers fully the claim against the government for that portion of
Section 1 ?-Well, it is like this. For Section 1 our contract price is so much per cubic
yard, and the work wvill be returned as so many cubic yards of excavation done and such
an amount of cribbing done, and it will be all paid for by the schedule of prices.

2485. I know that ?-And I do not think it will amount to much more than the
original schedule of prices. It will not amount to much more than it was estimated,
and it is a better job.
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2486. I know that it is according to a seledule of prices that it is to be paid. I
know that perfectly well, but I know also that the contract was awarded to you after
being worked out by the department to ascertain the tigures of all the tenders. Yours
being $299,000, the contract was awarded to vou on that basis. Now J want to know
if the price to be paid by the government is to exceed the $299,000 ?-Provided that
there are not a greater number of vards than the calculation upon which thev base the
estimate. Of course if there are more it will aimount to more. If the nunber of vards
in the quantities is greater than the quantities we calculated on, of course it will amount
to more. If the quantities were less it will ainount to less.

2487. But it will not amount to less ?-It will not anount to less.
24-88. Oh, corne now, 'Mr. Rvan ?-We are not paid in that way, we are paid on a

schedule of prices.
2489. You know what your progress estiiates are, whbat you have received, and

you expect to receive. Now, I ask vou, speaking approximately, whether the $299,000
will cover the cost ?-If I had the estinates here 1 could tell you.

2490. Cannot you give us some idea ?-I think it will comne very near.
2491. Will it coie within 850,000 ?-Oh, less than that.
2492. Forty ?-Perhaps less than that.
2493. Thirt y ?-Well, I won't sav.
2494. You wvon't say it will corne to less than $:0,000 ?--You must reiember that

this additional 500 feet of crib-work and the dredging connected with it has been added
to it since ihe oriinal estimate was made.

2495. We will get at that in a moment. )oes your ,30,000 include the 500 feet
of crib-work ?-No, I an not to be fixed at $30,000 at all, because I have not got the
quantities, but I fancv - 30,000 would cover it.

2496. Cover the additional crib-work and the whole cost?--There will be no further
cost than our prices per yard applied to the quantity of material we have moved.

2497. But I want to get you down to the $30.000 -Well, i have not seen the
figures since last year.

2498. Well, vou told me a few moments ago that '30,000 would cover ie whole
additional cost ?--I think so now.

2499. That will cover the crib-work too ?-And the cribh-work too.
2500. It will cover everything ?--That is ny opinion. It was according to the last

figures or estimates w e got. Let me tel] you that they have not, as far as I (an tell
you, made the final estimate of this work, cousequently we cannot tell, until we -et that
final estimate, what the quantities really will be.

2501. They have been workingz at it since last winter ?-I think tbey have been
working on the quantities on the other section-section 2.

2502. And section 1 was yours, too?-Yes.
2503. Were they not working on both sections?-I do not think they were working

on the lower section.
2504. Have you any accountants working with the government accountants ?-

None. \We have engineers working for ourselves, not with the government engineers.
2505. Making up your own estimates?-Certairnly.
2506. And the government have their engineers ?-I suppose so.
2507. They have been at work since last winter ?-Whom?
2508. The government engineers ?-I don't know. I have not been in the office of

the government engineers since last winter.
2509. Have yours been working ?-Ours have been working, yes.
2510. Since when ?-Last December.
2511. And they are not through yet?-Ours are about through.
2512. You have no idea what the result is ?-No.
2513. None, whatever. I want to understand what the cost to the country is. Is

this not going to cost $30,000 over and above the 8299,000 ?-I am not to be fastened
so any such thing, because I have nothing to do with it, I am only to be paid so much
a yard for the material we move.
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2514. How much would the crib-work be worth ?-Perhaps 814,000 or 815,000.
This is nerely a guess. I cannot tell you those things right off.

2515. You have been thinking over it for weeks ?-No, ny dear sir, I have not.
I liave not thought of it since we got the instructions to have it put in.

2516. Your tender was the lowest on No. 1 ?-Quite so.
2517. And the next tender was $322,000 ?-Yes.
2518. So, as a matter of fact, your contract will exceed the amount of his, if you

get the $30,000 ?-No, because his would have exceeded his original estimate in propor-
tion as ours do. It would not have made any diflerence. If he had done more work he
would have been paid for it.

2519. As a i atter of fact the estimate made by the department, when they said
$299.000, was not a very accurate estimate ?- I think they were very accurate under the
ci rcumstances.

2520. Very accurate under the circumstances? - do.
2521. Of course, Mr. Ryan, you would think so. Now, tell me who was your book-

keeper frorm the tine you commenced this work ? In 1889, was it not ,you commenced ?
-Yes, in 1889.

2522. Who was your book-keeper during those vears ?-Mr. Healy.
2523. Where is Mr. Healy ?-Mr. Realy is in Toronto.
2524. In vour employ still ?-Yes.
2525. And the firmr kept regular books, of course?--I think so.
252C. And ie during aill the time -was the book-keeper ?-During the whole time,

yes.
2527. I suppose the firin kept a bank account also ?-They also kept a bank

account.
2528. They also kept a bank account, of course with proper bank books? And the

books of the concern, where are they ?-They are in Toronto.
2529. At your oflice ?-Yes.
2530. The office of the firm in Toronto?-Yes.
251. And can be produced if neuessary ?- I suppose so.
2532. Were you much on the work vourself ?-Well, the work-the orga1nization

was like tis : I did the whole of the outside work, practically, that is the purchasing
of supplies and everything connected with the getting of supplies, miaterial, and all
that. Mv brother attended to getting the face stone principally. Mr. Haney took
more particular charge of tie work, but I was there off and on for two or three weeks
at a time, and sometimes I was no, there for more than three or four days.

2533. How long were you working on the job before it became necessary to have
a departure fron the original plan, before that scieme began to be worked up ?-We
c'ommlenced you know in the spring of 1889.

2534. And I think it was in 1890 that the first change was suggested.
2535. In 1890 the first change was suggested ?-I think so.
2536. I observe f rom the papers that Sir Frank Smith and Sir William Van Horne

and the Toronto Board of Trade urged upon the Government the propriety of changing
the lock from the size provided for in the contract to a greater size ?-I think they did;
but the first suggestion that was made in connection with it that I have any recollec-
tion or knowledge of, was made in the Toronto Globe.

2537. Yes ?- And then afterwards an article appeared in the Moitreal Gazette.
Then 1 tlink the Board of Trade at Toronto took it up to some extent and the Board
of Trade in Montreal, I understand.

2538. Of course you had nothing to do with any of these things or you did not
suggest it yourself to anybody ?-I did not suggest nor write an article nor anything else.

2539. But did you not talk with people about having it done ?-If I did talk with
anybody about lraving it done I said it was the proper thing to do.

2540. That is all J want to know. I do not want to know anything else. I sim
ply want to get at the fact if the contractor did not speak to people about having these
changes made?-Yes, J did.

2541. Who did you talk to ?-I talked to Sir Frank Smith.
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2542. Yes, I thought so ?-And to Mr., now Sir, Mackenzie Bowell, but not about
any change we were interested in.

2543. Of course you were not interested, but you know changes are the contractors,
opportunities ?-t did not make a bit of diflerence. The change I suggested-the one
that I suggested to them, was to change the shape of th'e lock from the width of 85 to
100 feet and 65 feet wide gates to inake the gates the saine width as the prisî, and 1
lad very good reasons for making the suggestions.

2544. No doubt ?-Not of the nature you insinuate, because it did not iake a bit
of difference to me.

2545. You know the breaking of a contract makes a great deal of diffetreice to a
contractor ?-It did not in that case, and, I tell you further : Those suggestions were
made during the conversations I had with the American engineers on the otier side of
the river, and with Mr. Wheeler especially, who had been on the construction of the
American lock, and who had been the superintending engineer fron the tine it 'was
opened until then.

2546. Then it was the American engineers wio suggested the chanîges to you ?
Mr. HACAIT--Let him finish.
WITNES---Mr. Wheeler said to n, it was a great pity for our people to go on and

construct their lock on the same plan and design as the Amterican blck was constructed
that the design of their lock was a mistake and the only one of the kind lie knîew of or
heard of anvwhere. I watched the working of tieir vessels through their lock and I
saw what Mr. Wheeler had said was, to my mind, quite correct, and consequently i felt
it was well to let our people know it.

2547. So, then, you let your people know that a chage w-as desirable -Yes.
2548. They would be building more canals than the Americaits lid in the last

forty years, but you thought the American suggestions were te better ones ?-We had
no lock bnilt in the last forty years or any other number of years ; there was no design
like it in the world.

2549. That it not of muci consequence. At all events, what the engineer told
you, Mr. Ryan, caused you to talk to sonebody else -- That is right, sir.

2550. And that somebody else was Sir Frank Smith ?-Sir Frank Smith, who was
then, I think, Acting Minister of Public Works.

By 3fr. Hfaggarf:

2551. Minister of Railways and Canals ?-No; of Public Works. And I iappen-
ed to come down here, and saw him at the hotel on the evening of my arrival, and
talked the matter over with him ; and then he talked it over witl Mr. Bowell; and
they came to the conclusion they would go up and see the work for themselves, and they
did so.

2552. Then Sir Frank wrote a letter ?-Perhaps lie nay have.
2553. Did you not know that ? -I did not know it.
2554. He never told you ?-No.
2555. And you never knew it ?-Not till I heard it spoken of the other day.
2556. Did you talk with Mr. Van Horne ?-Very little. I had a talk with Mr.

Van Horne about the deepening, not the widening.
2556a. About what ?-About making the lock the same depth as the American lock.

2557. Exactly ; and Mr. Van Horne wrote a letter?-I did not know that.

2558. He never told you that ?-No.
2559. Did you talk t oany members of the Toronto Board of Trade ?-I may have; yes.
2560. Did you ?- think so.
2561. Who ?-Really, I cannot recollect. I think Mr. A. M. Smith-the late Mr.

A. M. Smith-was one. He was then president of th? marine section of the Board of
Trade ; and I may tell you that whoever I spoke to or heard speak about it, they all

agreed that the canal should be deepened.
2562. Was that the first change ?-That was the first change.
2563. Then about the second change ?-The second change to the 900 feet lock ?
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2564. Yes.-I think that change was made principally by Mr. Trudeau, the chief
engineer at the time.

2565. Now, Mr. Ryan, do you tell the committee that you never talked with Sir
Frank Smith about that change ?-I never said a word to any one about that change till
I saw the plan in Mr. Trudeau's office.

2566. You never had any conversation with any one about that change ?-Not
until it -was decided.

2567. These letters from Sir William Van Horne and Sir Frank Smith happein to
be about that change ?-I do not know anything about that. I said nothirig more to
minister s than what I said at the time I told you of.

2568. The letter of Sir Frank Smith is about the change to 900 feet, and that of
Sir William Van Horne is also about the change to 900 feet, with a depth of 20 feet 2
on the mitre sill ?-Not at rhy suggestion.

2569. Then your suggestion was as regards the smaller change ?-My suggestion
was as regards making the lock chambers the same width as the gate, or the gates the
same width as the chambers.

2570. Was that adopted ?-Yes, it was adopted and it is a much better lock than
it would have been otherwise.

2571. Certainly it is, and the second change was not suggested at all by you ?-No.
2572. So Sir Frank Smith's letter does not refer to the first charge, and you say

that Sir William Van Horne's letter does not refer to the first change? Both letters
refer to the second change ?-1 do not think there was any necessity for them writing
letters as to the first change. They went over the ground and saw for themselves, and
went over on the American side and had a conversation with the Mr. Wheeler I told
you about, and he advised them to have i he change made at whatever cost.

2573. That was the first change ?-That was the first change.
2574. So that when one change was made, it made little difference ? The contract

was broken?-It was like this: Senator Ferguson, who knows about locks, and Mr.
Trudeau were with thein ; when they were there they decided to make our lock 650
feet long and 100 feet wide, the same as the American. After they got back home Mr.
Trudeau had doubts about the advisability of making the lock 100 feet wide and gates
100 feet wide, so he changed the design, and instead of making the lock 100 feet wide
and 650 feet long he made it 900 feet long and 60 feet wide.

2575. Now, was Mr, Perley in the departient at the time you made this contract?
-Perhaps he was.

2576. At the time the estimates were made ?--Well, it may be.

By Mr. Haggart :

2577. Mr. Perley was not in the Department of Railways and Canals at all ?-No,
no, he was in the Public Works Department.

By /r. Lister :

2578. He was not in the Railways and Canals ?-He was never there that I know
of, I may be permitted perhaps to say that Mr. Wheeler said to me on more than one
occasion that the present design of the Sault Ste. Marie lock is by far the best design of
any that was got out, and a better design than the one they had adopted for their own.
He was quite open about it.

2579. Mr. Crawford, I believe, was the Assistant Engineer at the commencement
of the work ?--Mr. Crawford was there before we went there.

2580. And he has been there ever since ?-Yes.
2581. Part of the time as assistant and part of the time as engineer in charge ?--I

suppose that would be the way.
2582. Mr. Thompson was there for about a year or more ?-I think he was there

more than a year. He came there in the spring of 1889 and I think he left in the early
part of 1891. ie had moved his family away, but he was back and forth all the time.

2583. Yes, occasionally. Did you and he have any trouble ?-Nothing special.
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2584. You made no complaint ?-About these estimates ?
2585. Made them where ?-Here.
2586. To the chief engineer ?-Yes.
2587. Were these complaints in writing ?-No.
2588. How were they made, verballv ?--They were made in this way: I would

walk into the engineer's office and I would tell him I thought the estimates were ot
what they ought t be. He would ask nie in what particular, and I would tell him.
In one or two instances we got relief.

2589. That is to say, Mr. Thompson did not estimate Vou as you thought 3 ou ought
to be estimated ?-Not on all the works. It was particularly on the quantity of stone
delivered.

2590. How often did you make these complaints ?-Perhaps two or three diffeernt
times.

2591. Two or three different times. That would be within a year ?-Fron now ?
2592. No, from the time vou coninenced the work ?- More than a year had elapsed

before we had any occasion to make complaints, lut ail the conplaints we made were
made within one vear.

2593. All the complaints you made were made within one year ?-I tlink so, but
I do not carry all these dates in my head. I aim pretty well satisfied that is the case.

2594. You complained two or three timtes ?-We got the estimates changed twice.

By Mr. Haggarf

2595. What were the complaints made about ?-The quantities of stone, arnd the
price allowed for this stone.

2596. That is your progress estimates ?-Quite so.

By Mfr. Listerr:

2597. The complaints were about the quantities and prices for stone. Is that the
only matter you had complaints about ?-That is the only matter I remteiber having
complaints about.

2598. Did you complain to the chief engineer or to the minister ?-We complained
once to Mr. Trudeau, and he changed the figures about the timte that lie was leaving.
We had been making some complaints against the advances, which were nlot what they
ought to have been. These were merely advances on account of inaterial delivered.
Mr. Schreiber came upon the ground where Mr. Thompson was. He saw the material
delivered, the quantity and condition it was in, and he made a further advance.

2599. Well, then, there were only two complaints made? -Practically there were
only those two complaints made.

2600. At all events the result of two complaints was that you got your estirnates
increased ?-Excuse me, that is not a fair way of putting it.

2601. You got the price increased, the total anount increased, and the total
quantity was increased ?-No.

2602. Well, let us hear what vou have gotto say about it 9- We clained we had
20,000 yards of stone for that work. Mr. Thompson would call it 10,000 or 12,000.
Mr. Thompson would say we were entitled to $1 a yard. We clained S8 for the stone
delivered on the ground.

2603. Was the stone cut or uncut ?-Oh, uncut. These were faced stone. For
the cut stone we claimed more.

2604. You claimed more than Mr. Thompson would allow ?-Mr. Thompson would
not allow it to us. Then it was we appeald to Mr. Trudeau. Mr. Trudeau advanced
it to very nearly wiat we claimed.

2605. Is not that what I said ?-No.
2606. Did I not say the quantity of stone was not sufficient according to your view

of it and you got it increased ?-Those are not the words, but it has the sanie meaning,
I suppose.
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2607. You wanted an estiimate for so much stone and Mr. Thompson would only
give you a smaller quantity ?--Precisely.

2608. It was the same with the prices. You wanted a higher price than Mr.
Thompson would allow, and you got it ?-That would be an advance.

By Mr. Iaggart(:

2609. Did it make a cent's difference in the final prices or in the amount you
received whether you got twice the value in the way of an advance ?-Not at all.

By AIr. Lister :

2610. What I say is that the difference between you and the engineer was that he
had not estimated you for the quantity you clainied you ought to have been estinated
for and the price you claimed you ought to have been estimated for ?-That is right.

2611. It makes no difference what the ultimate result and the consequence of all
this was. You made complaints to the departmnent ?-That is so.

2612. And the result of these complaints was that Mr. Ttiompson went to St.
Catharines -I do not know anything about that. I cannot tell at ail.

2613. But you know the fact that he did go to St. Catharines ?-I know the fact
that Mr. Thompson was going to St. Catharines, especially after Mr. Page's death, that
he was goiig to St. Catharines all the time more or less.

2614. All I want to know is the fact that Thompson did go to St. Catharines ?-
That is correct.

2615. And Crawford was left in charge of the work ?-I suppose so.
2616. You know that?-We took instructions from him.
2617. Did you make any complaints about him ?-About his estimates ?
2618. Yes?--No, the matter was all settled then. The stone was all used and put

in the wall.
2619. There were other matters involving estimates ?-Only the quantities.
2620. You had no complaints about quantities after Crawford assuned charge ?-

We had never any complaint about quantities excepting this material delivered. That
question did not arise after Mr. Thompson left. Besides, the previous settlement had
fixed it.

2621. 1 say no complaints were made, no matter whether they were justified or not?
No complaints were made after Thompson left ?-We made 1.o complaints against Mr.
Crawford.

2622. You made no comiplaints ?-No.
2623. And so far as the suggestion of changes is concerned, you say you never

made any suggestion except on the first charge ?-The first charge embodied all the
suggestions that I made.

2624. Of course, Mr. Ryan, you know that when the contract was once departed
froin there was virtually no contract ?-Is that so, I am glad to hear it.

2625. Did you know that ?-I did not.
2626. You do not know anything about extras ?-We have no claim. I do not

know what you eall extras.
2627. You have no extras in this at all ?-I do not know what you call extras.
2628. Do you not ?-No.
2629. Now, Mr. Ryan, as a contractor for many years, do you inean to tell me

you do not know what extras are ?-There is that 500 feet additional. Do you call
that an extra ?

2630. Yes ?-Well, then, I laim to be paid for it.
2631. Then the concrete was an extra, putting it to support the crib ?-Well it

was ordered to be put in and we put it in as part of the work.
2632. And you are going to coilect pay for it ?-We are going to be paid for it.

We were instructed to put it there and we did it, so we expect to be paid for it.
2633. Although you did not build the crib-work according to contract ?-Yes, we

did build the crib-work according to contract.
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2634. You put it in by hand ?-We had no contract to put it in by hand.
2635. You just dumped it in ?-Our contract was to fill theni with stone and we

did so.
2636. Not hand packed at ail ?-No.
2637. Was it not to be hand packed ?-We did it by instructions and under the

superintendence of the engineers and inspectors.
263S. You say your contract does not prov'ide for hand nacking ?-No, that is what

I claim.
2639. The crib-work on the prisin ?-On the prismn, yes.
2640. Does it provide for it on the approaches ?--I think it does.
2641. Was that band packed ?-You could not hand pack it al] because great deal

of it was put in in 18 or 20 feet of water.
2642. In fully 18 or 20 feet of water ?-Yes.
2643. Then as a inatter of fact none of it was hand packed ?-The top of the crib

was hand packed, but where there was no water
2644. What do you mean by " where there was no water -i The prisn of tbe

canal ?-It was filled with <tone as we had agreed to do.
2645. Dumped in ?-Dumped in, brought thire in boxes and filled in.
2646. Was there any water when tbe cribs were being filled ? h, yes, the crib

was built and stone put in to sink it to the bottoi, and then it was put iii on the top.
2647. Where?-At the entrance on section 1.
2648. How much have you received on this work altogether ?-I really could not

sav just now.
2649. Can you tell us ?-You inean on the two sections
2650. On your total contract ?- I think it is soinething orer -2,000,000.
2651. 82,000,000 ?-It is above that.
2652. Z2 ,00,000 2-Not quite so muAi as that, I think. However, the est imates

will show.
2653. How much do you claim against the Governmiient now ?-We have no clain

against the (overnment now.
2654. Why ?-Because our quantities are not all quite done and we cannot tell

anything about it till we get the final estimate.
2655. But you have made Vour final estimate?-We have not quite finisbed it.
2656. Not quite but pretty near ?-We do not know until we get their final estimates.
2657. You cannot tell absolutely until you get their estimates -Y e do not know

until we get their final estimates whether we will claini one dollar beyond their esti-
mates. If their estimate will give u; what we are entitled to we shall not claim one cent.

2658. What does vour estinate show ?-We have not added it up yet. We have
not put it together.

2659. Who is making out your estimates ?- Our engineer, Mr. Iirmingham.
2660. What is your engineer's naine ?-Mr. Birmingiam.
2661. Is he here ?-No, he is at the Sault.
2662. Birmingham ?-Yes.
2663. He is your engineer ?-Yes.
2664. Anybodv helping bim ?-Oh yes.
2665. Who ?-We had Mr. Brophy here with him a good deal of the time during

the winter.
2666. Who is Brophy ? Is he of Ottawa ?--He is Mr. John Brophy. Yes, I

think lie lives here now.
2667. Yes ?-We had another man working at the figures. They were simply

working at the figures, carrying out the calculations.
2668. Anybody else ?-Yes, there was a young man we had] there on the work all

the time.
2669. What is his name ?-Crawford.
2670. Any relation to the engineer ?-Well, I cannot tell you.
2671. You had him on the work all the time ? Do you know what is his christian

name ?-I cannot tell you, I forget for the moment.
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2672. When did lie go on the work ?-He has been on the work for about th'ree
years.

2673. He has been on it for three years ?-I may tell you he is a son of an en-
gineer under whom I worked 25 years ago.

2674. No doubt, a very deserving man.-And I was very glad to give employment
to his son.

2675. Then lie has been on the work for 3 years ?--r. Crawford ? Well, I don't
think it is so long as that. He was a young man merely in the office, not on the work
at al], but in the office helping our book-keeper. We were overcrowded with work.

2676. The amount you have received thus far is S2,39l,352.54 ?-Well, I suppose
that is correct.

2677. That is the amount you have received up to this time. Now, speaking ap-
proximately, will the balance due to you amount to a million dollars ?--I am afraid
not. In fact I will take half a million for it.

2678. You will take half a million ?-Yes, bulk it right now and take my chances.
2679. You will have made how much out of the Government ?-Four millions, I

suppose. It did not take anything at all.
2680. You are on oath ?-I beg your pardon, do not take it down.
2681. Take it down just as he says it.-Then I withdraw the statement. If you

are going to put that statement down, I withdraw it.

By the Chairman:

2682. It will be well for you to remember your answers are to be taken down.-
Yes, sir, if you please I will withdraw that statement. Put that question again and I
will answer it.

By Mr. Lister:

2683. I asked you a few moments ago if the amount still due to you by the govern-
ment would approximate a million dollars according to vour calculation ?-No.

2684. You told me you were willing to take half a million dollars to settle the
work now ?-I will stick to that.

2685. You make that offer now ?-Yes.
2686. Would you be willing to take less ?-Perhaps a little less, yes.
2687. A few dollars?- May be more than a few dollars.
2688. Four hundred ?-I cannot tell you until I get our estimate made out, and

their estimate.
2689. You would take half a million ?-We would take just what is owing to us.
2690. You would take half a million ?- -I would take half a million.
2691. But not four hundred thousand ?-Yes.
2692. You would take that much ?-A. Yes.
2693. You would take three hundred thousand ?-Oh, I cannot say.
2694. You do not want to say the ainount ?-I cannot say whbat I would take

until we get our estimates completed.
2695. When do you expect to get your estimates?
Mr. HAGGART-Those are not fair questions to ask a contractor who has a claim

against the Government.

By Mr. Lister:

2696. Did Crawford call your attention in May last to the bulging out of the crib-
work ?-In May last ;my partner was on the ground at the time-saw it with Mr.
Crawford-and there was no necessity of calling my attention to it. We both saw it at
the same time.

2697. Do you know Shelletto at the American " Soo "?-I don't know..
2698. You don't know him at all ?-Don't know him at all.
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2699. Well, now, Mr. Ryan, during the time that this work has been going on'
from the commencement up to the present, have vou, individually, or lias your firn or
any member of your firm, to your knowledge, lent or given any inoney to any of the
officials on the canal or anything else, or made any present to any oflicial on the canal?
-On our canal ?

2700. On the Sault Canal ?-Not a cent.
2701. Not a cent ?-Not that I know of.
2702. Not that vou know of ?-No.
2703. Nothing ?-I want to tell you wlien our inspector was appointed aiid 1 was

notified-that when we were notified that e vas appointed--I asked him to go downt
and examine the work that was then being done on the St. Lawrence Canal. As I
said, "We want to make a better job, if it is possible to do it, than they are making.
We have good material, the very best we can get, and we -want to make it, if possible,
a better job than they are naking, and I wish you would see that work." I paid bis
expenses going up and down, and that very m uch against his inclination. I lad to
press him to take it, although lie went there at niy instance and it only amounted to
S10. I said, " You must have this, because you went tiere at mîy expense and for my
benefit."

2704. What is his naie ?-Mr. Scott.
2705. Then, so far as you are concerned, no present vas ever imade by ye-' to any

official of the Government on the canal or off it ?--Not une dollar.
2706. Not one dollar ?-And I want to say further than that, I never gave one

dollar to an engineer for any such purpose, nor to an iiispector, rior to any one else.
2707 Do vou know Couvrette ?-1 know himn as a foreman.
2708. He was une of the inspectors?-He was inspector foi' awhile, and he would

be in our employ as foreman for awhile.
2709. He would be in your employ ?-Yes.
2710 Was he an inspector for the government ?-He was.
2711. For how long ?-Oh, I could not exactly say.
2712. And was lie dismissed by the goveranient ?-Well, I really don't know. 1

think his services were not required as the work was drawing to a close.
2713. Well, when did he cease to be empioyed by the government?-Perhaps in

the fall of 1893.
2714. In the fall of 1893 ?-And how long lad lie been working for the govern

ment ?-Well, he was there f rom the time the masonry was begun or perhaps before
that.

2715. As inspector for the governinent ?--As inspector; ves.
2716. One of the inspectors? Was it part of ls duty to measure the work ?-

Not that I know of.
2717. You don't know anything about that ?--I don't think it, was,
2718. Whose duty was it to reasure the work! -The engineer's.
2719. Did the inspectors assist hin?-Not that I know of, in fact I know nothing

about their measurements, we never interfered with them.
2720. Then he ceased to be an emplovee of the governniert in 1893 ?-That is my

recollection.
2721. And lie was hired by yoi ?-He was put on as foreman, yes. As lock fore-

man.
2722. Do you know where he is now ?-No ; I do not.
2723. Were charges made by him that there Lad been overimeasurements? -I

know nothing about it.
2724. Had you heard of them ?-I had not.
2725. Never heard of them ?-Never heard lie made any charges of overieasure-

ment.
2726. Never heard he said there had been over'measuremnents ?-Not that 1 heard

at all.
2727. You never heard that at all?-Never heard lie made any such charges.
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2728. Did you hear he made charges about the inferiority of the work ?-I heard
sonething about it ; not from hin.

2729. Was that while he was working for you or for the governaient ?-That he
made those charges?

2730. Yes.-I think it was after he left the work altogether.
2731. Never niade them before ?-No; not that I heard of.
2732. Not that you heard of. You don't know where he is working now ?-No

I do not.
2733. You have had that work in charge since 1889 ?-Yes; the contract was

signed in 1888, in November.
2734. Froin that time forward, Mr. Ryan, up to the present time have you con-

tributed to the election funds of the Dominion Government directly or indirectly in
anyway ?-(No answer).

Mr. FOSTER-YOU have no right to answer that question.

By Mr. Lister :

2735. You refuse to answer, Mr. Ryan ?-I must decline to answer now, yes.
Mr. LIsTER.-Very well, that will do.

By Mr. Haggart:

2736. I want to bring out more clearly about the advances that were made during

the progress of the work. Did the amount that you receive on your progress estimates
affect the amount of your contract to the extent of one cent ?-Not orie cent.

2737. The price, then, was only increased for the purpose of assisting you in carry-
ing on the work to the extent that is done with all contractors under their contracts?
You mean the additional allowance we got on those stones?

2738. The allowance that you have got on those stones.-That is it.
2739. And it did not affect the prices that you received under the contract one

bit ?--Not one dollar.
2740. Not one dollar. Mr. Lister talks about the contract being broken. Was

your original contract at any time changed at all by these works, by any subsequent
contract ?-We did not so understand it. When the changes were made, the plans for
those changes were submitted to us. We submitted prices for thein, and contracts were
made for the work that was necessitated by that work.

2741. Your orginial contract, your original prices and quantities never were af-
fected ?-Not at all.

By Mr. Glibson:

2742. 1 want to say, Mr. R.yan, just one word about that. In reply to the minis-
ter just now you said there was no increase in the price. In the earlier part of your
examination did you not admit that you got $16 a yard for masonry ?-That was work
necessitated by one of the changes, not by the original contract.

2743. You say now that there was no excess paid at all ?-I say the original con-
tract prices were not affected 1,y any of the subsequent changes.

2744. They were altered for the additional work in the subsequent changes ?-Yes.
2745. Everything was increased subsequently ?-Some things were not.
2746. What things were not increased ?-Well, really, I have not the schedule be-

fore me.
2747. Well, I have vour evidence here and the schedules. Was not the price of

the unwatering increased ?-Yes.
2748. And of the earth excavation ?-For the increased quantity, yes.
2749. And the rock excavation ?-Yes.
2750. And the timber ?-Yes. We had no contract price under the original con-

tract for timber other than for the mitre sill platform. We had no contract prices for
those big culverts and everything of that sort under the original contract.
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2751. Was not the price of the timber increased from $25 a thousand to $45 a
thousand on the culverts ?-Not for the sane work, nor under the same contract.

2752. You had >25 a thousand for your mitre sills and the bottoui of tie lock ?-

I really do not remember.
2753. And then when the culverts were decided upon and the deepening of the

lock you were paid $45 a thousand ?-It was not by the thousand but by the cubie foot
except for the planking.

2754. At any rate ther- was an inïcrease for the increased work in the things I
have mentioned ?-It was a new contract and we fixed prices for themn.

2755. Did you not receive $1.30 additional on concrete ?-Yes.
2756. And did you not receive -1.60 additional on your rock masonry when the

length of the lock was increased to 900 feet ?-We got bigger prices for the work under
the later contract than under the first.

2757. On the 900 foot loý-k the price of your miasonry was increased b $.60 a
yard ?-We got a higher price for the last work than for the first.

2758. On the subsequent masonry, when the lock was increased fron 600 to 650
feet, were you not paid $1.60 additional foi this increased work ?-Tlhat is riglt.

2759. When the lock was increased from 650 feet to 900 feet, was there not $5 a
yard added for the price of the additional work ?-For that portion.

By Mr. Haggart :

2760. It is hardly worth while asking this once more because you have explained
it again and again, but I wish to make it clear that the original quantities and the
prices under the original contract were not increased one cent ?-Not a dollar.

2761. The timber that you used for the purpose of the culverts in the lock was not
provided for at all in the original contract ?-No.

2762. It was intended to be iron ?-That was what the specification said.
2763. It was completely changed ?-Yes.
2764. Then the extra prices were for the increased work over and above your

additional contract ?--That is right, and I want to give the reasons for that.
2765. Yes, go over it again, you have given theni before ?-We increased the depth

of the lock after the lock was excavated ; our derricks had been renoved and our
plant was on other portions of the work. We had to bring al] of theni back again and
put them in the saine place for that very small quantity which had to comle out.

By Ir. Lister :

2766. Small quantity ?-Yes, a small quantity in the botton. Takig two or
three feet off the lock would be a small quantity and the saine way iii the prism. We
had to take it from a deeper place and hoist it to a higher point and we got nothing
more than was fair and reasonable.

By Mr. Mills (Bothwell)

2767. Then the increased work done over and above what was originally conten-
plated was not paid for at the prices in the original contract ?-That is right.

By Mr. Taylor :

2768. The contract for this work was let in 1888, as I understood you?-Yes.
2769. Mr. Lister asked you whether since that time you had contributed anything

to election funds ?-He asked me that question.
2770. And defined it to mean the Dominion elections ?-That is what I understood.
2771. And you refused to answer that. I ask you, since that time have you

contributed anything to election funds in the Province of Ontario ?-I must decline to
answer anything of that sort at all.

2772. Did you contribute anything to assist Mr. Greenway in his election ?-I
must decline that also.

143



58 Victoria. Appendix (No. 1A.) A. 18 95

By Mr. Gibson:

2773. I will not touch on election funds, but I want to ask you one thing. When
the lock was increased to 900 feet in length, how much thicker were the walls made
than before ?-So much thicker in proportion to the height. They carried a certain
percentage of thickness all the way through.

2774. Then you had a larger thickness in the 900 feet than in the 600 feet ?-A
shade.

2775. How much of a shade ?-From 37 to 39 per cent of thickness. The thick-
ness of the walls was, if I remember right, about 37 and perhaps they were changed to 39.

2776. Are you sure they are not 40 ?-I think not. I would not be positive, but
I think not.

2777. Would not 2 pr cent upon a work of that kind aid very largely to the
profits of the contractor without an extra price ?-Not very largely. It would not add
largely to the quantity even.

2778. Not on the 900 feet lock ?-You know, Mr. Gibson-
2779. Well, at any rate, in spite of the increased size of the lock the Government

was kind enough not only to give you that, but to give you an increased price ?-They
gave mue the increased price on account of the wall being made higher, and consequently
they had to increase the thickness. They did not do it for me, but for the stability of
the work.

By Mr. Lister:

2780. One question before you go. You have not been a contractor for the local
Government?-l don't think so; no.

2781. No, you go for bigger game ?-Yes.
2782. Now the canal is not open yet, is it ?-I really don't, know I have not been

up there this spring.
2783. It was to have been opened on the lst July, 1894.-I don't think so.
2784. Was it not ?-Not that I know of.
2785. Or the first of August ?-Not the first of August ;I don't know when it

was to be opened.
2786. You don' know anything about that?-I don' think it was to be opened

then.
2787. Eh ?-Not under our contract.
2788. Was not the arrangement to shorten the time for completing the lock to get

it open a year earlier ?--Yes.
2789. It is not open yet ? -IL will be opened a year earlier.
2790. You would have been a year later ?-No.
2791. Is it open yet ?-Well, i am no0 aware. I don't know, but I think it is

ready to be opened.
2792. Do you think it is ?--Yes, I saw vessels going through it last fall.
2793. You think it is ready to b- opened. Do you know anything about a leak?

-- No.
2794. Do you know whether it is po sible to open it at all or not ?-Well, it was

opened last fall anid closed again. We went through on the boat that went through it.
The witness was th -n discharged from further attendance.

Mr. WILLIAM CRAWFORD was recalled and further examined.

By fr. Gibson.:

2795. Mr. Crawford, at the last meeting of the committee the question was
asked you whether you could give the exact length of the walls that requfred to be
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braced on account of the bulging of the cribs, and you said you could not until you had
brought some papers. Have you got those papers ?-I did not understand you to say
the exact length of the walls. I thought you said the amount of concrete.

2796. I asked you at the last meeting whether you braced any more than 30 per
cent on the north side, and you said no. You were then asked, " Are vou sure of
that ?" and the answer returned was, " I an sure of that." These questions were also
asked, " And how many feet did you do on the south side," any more than 16 per cent?
-Yes, I am sure we did not brace. Well, perhaps I could not tell that, I would nlot
answer that question at present. I would have to look the matter up.

2797. Those were your answers as taken down. Now, have you looked the miatter
up ?-I did not have a copy of that, as I thought what you asked' for was the amount
of the concrete put in.

2798. Can you give us the length on the north side of the canal that was braced
in orler to keep up, to save the cribs fron crowding on to the work ?-Give me that
question again ?

2799. Will you kindly state to the committee the lengthi of wall tha t was required
to be braced to prevent the cribs from bulging into the cana ?-(Witness after consult-
ing memoranda) The length of crib-work that required to be braced was 570 feet.

2800. On what side of the canal was that ?-That was on both sides.
2801. Only 570 feet required bracing ?-Required bracing 400 feet on the niorth

side and 170 on the south.
2802. Did you do any more shoring than that ?-Yes, we did somne more on each

side of a bulge ; it was continued on each side.
2803. How much further than 400 feet would there be on the north side?--About

230 feet more than that.
2804. About 230 feet that was braced in addition to the 570 ?-Yes.
2805. Was this 230 feet done after you wrote this letter to Mr. Keefer r-Oh, no,

it was not.
2806. Well, then in the letter that you wrote Mr. Keefer dated 19tlh September,

1894, you mentioned this 570 feet ?-That required to be braced ?
2807. Yes?-Yes.
2808. And you say in addition to the 570 feet you had 230 feet more ?-Yes, tlhey

were extended at the bulges on either side. The bracing was carried on in case of the
bulge extending.

2809. What was the greatest bulge that you had upon your cribs, Mr. Crawford ?
-About 3 or 4 feet.

2810. Three or four feet ?-I think that was it.
2811. J notice in your report to Mr. Keefer that it was only 21, to 3 feet ?-Well, I

am wrong. I am speaking from memory. I thought I had said to him 3 or 4 feet.

By Mr. Haggart:

2812. What you stated to Mr. Keefer was correct ?-Yes, that was correct as far
as I could get at it.

By Mr. Gibson:

2813. Was your first report to Mr. Keefer so far as bulging was concerned 2î to
3 feet in the centre of the cribs --Yes.

2814. The other day you stated you would look up your papers and see exactly
how much stronger you rebuilt the 205 feet of crib-work and m hether you made it
wider or not ?-I thought I told you I raised up the back of the crib-work higher and
thus gave greater weight to the crib.

2815. You built the crib higher up ?-Yes.
2816. But you were to tell us whether you made it any extra width or not ?--I did

not make it any wider.
2817. You said you stepped it ?-It was stepped originally, but instead of that at

these wet places where they bulged the back was carried up.
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2818. Oh, the back was carried up plumb instead of being stepped ?-Yes.
2819. Was not that making it wider ?-Well, I do not know.
2820. In st ctions it was ?-Yes.
2821. In sections you were making it wider ?-Yes.
2822. Have you got that letter you promised to bring with you at this meeting, giving

you instructions about that random-coursed masonry ?-I was wrong in saying it gave
me instructions. It was a letter from Mr. Schreiber to the minister about the matter.
There was no instructions about it. It merely gives an opinion about this business.

By Mr. Lister:
2823. Whose opinion ?-Mr. Schreiber's. It gives his opinion to the Minister

about the cribs.
2824. Where is the letter ? Is that it ?-This is a copy of it.
2825. You lad better read it ?-Witness then read the following:-

" DEPARTMENT oF RAILWAYS AND CANALS,
"OTTAwA, February 10, 1893.

"DEAR MR. IAGGART,-As you are aware, a question has arisen with the contrac-
tors with regard to the building of a revetment wall along each side of the prism of the
Sault Ste. Marie Canal.

" If the rock proved to be of a sound and durable nature, the revetment wall was to
be of masonry built from the rock surface up to the top of the tow path, if on the other
hand the rock proved to be unsound and unsuitable to rest a revetinent wall of masonry
upon, the revetment wall was to be of wood.

"Upon my recent visit to these works I observed that the superintending engineer,
having found the rock of too shaky a character upon which to rest a masonry wall, was
having it cut down to the level of the bottom of the prism of the canal for a wall 11 feet
6 inches in width at the bottom, and that a length of about 500 feet on each side of the
canal had been so prepared, in fact as far as the excavation of the rock in the prism of
the canal had advanced at that date.

"I was informed by the engineer in charge that a test pit had been sunk towards
the western end of the prism, which showed no indication of a more solid class of rock
being met with. To carry out the plan of building a masonry wall from the bottoin of
the canal to the top of tow path would no doubt make a neat and substantial piece of
work, but it would add considerably to the cost of the canal and would not be in accord-
ance with the specification.

"I propose that the specification shall be conformed to, by building a revetment of
wood from the surface of the rock upwards to within six inches of the lowest water,
topping it up with a revetment of masonry, but the contractors while admitting that
the building of a revetment of wood would be according to contract, they contended
there was no price in the contract for the construction of such a revetinent, and that
the contract and specification gave no indication of how the revetmient of wood mas to
be built, nor was there any plan, general or special, of its construction.

"The matter was submitted to the Justice Department, who advise that there is no
provision made in the schedule of prices attached to the contract for the building of a
revetment of wood, and that it will be necessary to agree upon a price with the con-
tractors.

" I have since gone into this matter with the contractors and the superintending
engineer, which has resulted in the contractors making an offer of $3.50 a cubie yard
for a revetment of timber with an open back, or $4 a cubic yard with a close back.

" The superintending engineer reports that if it is decided to build this revetment
of timber, he considers the price of $4 for the revetment with a close faced back reason-
able and might be accepted. I concur in this view, and recommend its acceptance,
upon the understanding that the revetment of wood will extend from the surface of the
rock to within six inches of lowest water level, and from the lowest water level to the
top of the tow path, a random-coursed masonry wall of gray limestone laid in cement
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mortar is to be built, which masonry under the contract is to be paid for at $7.50 per
cubic yard.

The estimated cost of the work as it was being done
with masonry from the botton of the prisn of
canal to the top of the tow path at S7.50 per
cubic yard.................................. $320,000 00

The estimated cost of the work with a revetmient of
timber from surface of rock to within six inches of
lowest water level at $4 per cubie yard, and thence
nasonry to top of tow path at 87.50 per cubic

yard is..... .............................. $160,000 00

"This latter plan, which is the one I recomnend, will iake a lasting, satisfactory
piece of wvork, and such as I think you will approve.

" Faithfully yours,

(Sgd.) "COLLINGWOOD SCHREIBER,
Ch ifEnieer of Canals."

By 1r. Gibson:

2826. So, Mr. Crawford, in consequence of the character of the stone work you were
obiiged to build cribs right along the face of this wall?-To build cribs ?

2827. In consequence of the shaky nature of the rock you were obliged to build a
wooden revetment wall up to and for the purpose of carrying on the stone revetment
wall ?-Yes.

By Mr. Haggart:

2828. Was not the real reason to save the price ?-There were other reasons.

By Mr. Gibson:

2829. Well, we will get at that by and by. Your chief engineer considered it was
on account of the nature of the rock that it required a wooden revetmnent wall and you
agreed with him ?-I was not consulted.

2830. However you carried out his instructions ?-Yes.
2831. And in his report or letter to the Minister he said that $4 per cubic yard for

the timber work was a fair price ?-Yes.
2832. Did that include the filling ?-It included the filling.
2833. And was this shaky rock put into the crib filling ?-Yes.
2834. So that while it was not good enough to build upon it was good enough to

put in ?-It was good enough, but in this position it was not good enough for a found-
ation.

2835. Was it not far enough out in the channel ?-It did not make a good founda-
tion, but it was a good solid rock.

2836. Did you say this $4 per yard included the filling ?-Yes.
2837. And you filled it with the shaky rock?-We did not fill it with shaky rock,

we filled it with good rock.
2838. Where did you get the good rock ?-Good rock from the canal.
2839. From this very place that the chief engineer objected to build the wall upon?

-He objected to it, I understood, as a foundation. The rock was good enough to fill
but not to build on as it stood.

2840. Now, Mr. Crawford, in other words that rock was not compact enough to
build a retaining wall on the top of it ?-No, I do not think so.

2841. And in consequence the chief engineer reported to the Minister that the rock
would require to be removed and the wooden revetment wall put in its place ?-That is
a fact.
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2842. Is it not a fact?-Yes.
2843. And they built the retaining wall on the top of that ?-They put the crib-

work on the top of that.
2844. They built the crib-work on the top of that wall?-Yes.
2845. And it was improperly built and it bulged ?-No, it did not.
2846. You stated the other day that you were present when Mr. Thomps n pointed

out to you the large spaces that were in the crib-work ?-No, he did not point out to
me large spaces in the crib-work.

2847. He said in his evidence that there were and you disputed that ?-Yes.
2848. Did you take issue with him at the time ?-Yes.
2849. And did he admit that you were right and say that he was wrong ?-No, I

said that there was nothing wrong with the large stones that went in. I had not seen
anything loose in filling that crib. That is what I said.

2850. Would you read to the committee the specifications about the crib filling ?
Have you got them ?-No.

By 11r. Haggart:

2851. Is there any specification for the filling of the upper cribs ?-I think lnot.
MR. HAGGART-YOU think not. Then what is the use of hunting for one ?
MR. SCHREIBER-There is.

By MIr. Gibson :

2852. You heard that the Minister says, Mr. Crawford, that there was no specifica-
tion ? Should there have been ?

MR. HAGGART-I did not say there was no specification. J asked you to ask him
if there was a specification in the first instance.

MR. GIBsoN-I will ask him that.
2853. Was there a specification ?-I don't think so.
2854. Do you think there ought to have been one ?-I don't know.
2855. Now, Mr. Crawford, I ask you not to play with the committee. First of

all you got instructions from the chief engineer.
MR. BERGIN-That is not a fair statement to make.
THE CHAIRMAN-There is an objection to your lecturing the witness or suggesting

that he is not acting fairly.

By Mr. Gibson:

2856. You received instructions that this work is to be paid for at so much a
yard ?-Yes.

2857. You got no instructions as to how the work w as to be carried out ?-Yes, a
plan was given.

2858. A plan was given ? Is that plan here ? There is vol. 1 of the papers pro-
duced before the committee, perhaps you will find the plan there. Mr. Schreiber has
gone over to see if there is a specification. At all events you never saw it did
you ?-I don't think so.

2859. You don't think so ? Do you think as an engineer it was proper to carry
on the work without some instructions from the department ?-Well, I think I had
plenty of instructions.

2860. Well, where are they ? Can you produce them here to the committee ?--The
plan will give ail the instructions that were necessary.

2861. Oh, no, the plan only gives the shape, does it not ?-The shape, but it shows
that it has to be filled.

2862. The sizes ?-And the sizes.
2863. Dimensions ?-Yes.
2864. The size of the timber, but the plan does not say what the quality of the

timber is to be, does it I-No. Well, I am not sure. I think it does. 'Wel, no.
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2865. Did you ever make a plan and write specifications upon it ?-No; but I have
made many a plan and put on it what the timuber is to be and what work has to be done.

2866. The size of it ?-The sizes and the kinds of material and all the information
wanted.

2867. On the plan ?-Yes.
2868. Talking about the wane edges ; would you describe whether the timuber was

to be sound or not sound ?-As a matter of course.
2869. Would you describe it on the plan whether it was to be full of knots or any-

thing of that kind ?-No, not necessarily. But why is it neceszary to say that ?
2870. Because the contracLor would say, " there is; your plan." You asked mne a

question and I will answer you. The contractor would say, "I carried out the plan. I
carried it out with inferior material." The specification, as I understand, it gives the
specification of the work. The plan simply directs the contractor as to the style in
which the work is to be carried on. Is that not your impression as an engineer ?-I
think the engineer sees that the work is carried out properly.

2871. But you have no instructions in regard to carrying this crib-work out ?-
Nothing more than that, I think.

2872. Nothing of a definite character ?-I don't think so.
2873. So you allowed the crib work to be built in this nianner and it bulged ?-Yes.
2874. You thought they were big enougli ?-Yes.
2875. And still you say that the wet material bulged themn out ?-At wet places, yes.
2876. At wet places. Why was the material put in wet ?-It was not put in wet.

Behind, it was filled with the material that was about there, and it was wet naterial-
wet places.

2877. You stated the material was not wet and you afterwards say it was wet ?-
I do not say it was not wet. There were wet places along that canal and that material
was frozen when it was put in and the frost cime out and it becaie soft, spongy stuff.

2878. When the frost came out it bulged the eribs ?-Yes.
2879. And should not greater care have been taken with the filling behind those

cribs ?-It was not expected it would turn out as bad stuff-no indications.
2880. There were no indications, so you allowed the stuff to be put iu the cribs

promiscuously? But you knew when the thaw took place that you had allowed the
work to be carried on without proper supervision ?-No, I found that there was bad
material there that bulged the cribs. I did not think that it was bad supervision.

2881. Bad material bulged the crib? Well, why did you allow bad material to be
used in the crib?-It turned out bad, but it looked good.

2882. Did you see it ?-I saw it.
2883. And you could not tell whether it was frozen ice or frozen clay ?-It was

like ordinary clay.
2884. Ordinary clay pretty well frozen?-It did not appear very badly frozen.
2885. Had it been long excavated ?--No, it was excavated during the winter.
2886. Excavated during the winter. Well, how did you know it was wet ?--Well,

it did not show wet at first. It showed wet afterwards.
2887. Now, Mr. Crawford, what class of work did you have the backing of the

lock prepared of?-Of masonry.
2888. Of course, they were not built of concrete ?-No, they were built of masonry.
2889. Of what size were they built -- They were large. Well, they varied a great

part of them, the size where they were built of mortar. Then there were sorne of it
built with very large stones, built in concrete.

2890. Large pieces built in concrete ?-Yes.
2891. Where was the concrete used ?-They were built intc this concrete.
2892. Built into the centre of the wall?-No, into the backing of the wall.
2893. Did the specification allow that ?-Yes.
2894. Does not the specification call for the stones to be scabbled -- That is a sup-

plementary.
2895. Picked or pointed into good blocks. But this was not done ?-Yes, that

was done in great part.
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2896. Where did you put the concrete in, if it was built of blocks ?-In other parts.
2897. What other parts?-Other parts of the backing. There was a part of it

built by that specification and part by a supplementary.

By Mfr. Haggart :

2898. Is it concrete ? Do you mean concrete or cement ?-Yes, concrete. Large
stones were built in with concrete.

2899. That is broken stone and cement ?-Broken stone and cement and sand.

By Mr. Gibson:

2900. You say this was allowed, Mr. Crawford ?-There was a specification allow-
ing, an agreement allowing, the contractors to use concrete in the backing.

2901. So that the backing of the lock was not done with solid stone work ?-Solid
stone work ? Yes. It was good masonry, built as I told you of stones on concrete.

2902. Was it built of solid concrete ?-Yes, it was built of solid concrete.
2903. But not according to the original contract ?-Not according to the original

contract.
2904. According to a supplementary contract ?-Yes, part of it was.
2905. How mucli of the work was done in this way ?-I could not tell you now.

Mr. Schreiber, I think, says in his evidence three or four hundred yards. I could not say.
2906. Was this abandoned altogether ?-It went on to the end.
2907. So that instead of carrying on the work as it was originally intended you car-

ried it on in two ways ?-Yes.
2908. You carried it on by placing a piece of backing where it suited you on the

wall, did you not ?-Yes.
2909. If there were a space between the backing and the faced stone, what did you

put in there ?-Some times it was mortar and some times it was concrete.
2910. But does the specification call for that ?-No.
2911. Did you ever see nasonry built in that way before with a mixture of backing

and concrete ?--No, I cannot say that I have, but I think it is a most excellent piece of
work.

2912. Oh, of course, this was an exceEent piece of work, I have no doubt about that.
But would it not be a more excellent piece of work if a stone had been cut to fill that
space ?-No, certainly not, for lock backing you could not have anything better.

2913. Solid stone is not as good as concrete, in your opinion ?-For lock backing?
2914. For any kind of backing 9-I think that concrete is better.
2915. Better than solid stone ?-It was mixed with solid stone.
2916. I know it was mixed. It was mixed in a very improper manner was it not?

-Very improper?
2917. Yes.-Certainly not.
2918. You never saw any backing done better you say ? Did you ever see any on

the Welland Canal done in that way ?-No.
2919. Did you ever see it done anywhere else ?-No.

By Mfr. Haggart :

2920. Did you ever see work done on the Welland Canal as well as this ?-No.
2921. Or anywhere else ?-Certainly no better than this anywhere else.

By 1r. Gibson:

2922. Seeing that the Minister has departed from the Sault Ste. Marie Canal to
call your attention to the Welland Canal, I will ask you what was the comparison
between the prices paid on the Welland Canal and on the Sault Ste. Marie Canal for
this class of work ?-I could not tell you.
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2923. Mr. Crawford, did you not make out some of the estimates on the Welland ?
-Yes.

2924. But you do not remember the prices of any of the locks ?-It was a very
hard thing, as you remember, to get hold of the prices, because there were so nany
prices.

2925. Did you ever hear of it being done for $8.-50 a yard ?-It is many years since
I looked at the prices on the Welland and I do not remember.

2926. Have you known it to be done for less than $10 a yard ?-I do not remem-
ber.

2927. It is so long ago. Still you remember that the work on the Sault is better
than on the Welland ?-Yes, 1 think it was.

2928. Is it better in comparison to the prices paid ?-I do not remember the prices.
2929. What better was it than the Welland Canal work ?-I think that very

thing. using concrete in the backing, was an improvemrent. It inade it water tight.
2930. Then this is a patent you have got out in building stone work ?-No, it is

not a patent I have got out.
2931. Who is the originator ?-The contractors, I suppose.
2932. The contractors, of course. They were doing all this for the benetit of the

country, Mr. Crawford ?-(No answer).

By Mr. Taylor :

2933. Who was the contractor on the Welland Canal ?-Well, there were mnany
contractors.

Mr. TA YLoR-I thought, perhaps, Mr. Gibson was one, because he knew the prices.
Mr. GIBSoN-Mr. Crawford was on my work on the Welland Canal.

By Mfr. Lister :

2934. Is it true, or is it not true that the spoil from the pier was put into the
crib-work-The spoil ?

2935. The excavation froin the pier ?-From what pier
2936. The pier put in for the support of the bridge ?-The excavation ? There

is no excavation.
2937. Mr. Thompson told us the other day that the excavation instead of heng

taken to the spoil was put into the crib-work. Is that so ?-The excavation was taken
to the spoil and excavation was also put into the crib-work from the canal.

2938. From the canal ?-From the prism of the canal.
2939. Well now, Mr. Thompson says that was not proper ?-Well
2940. Do vou say it was ?-I say it was, certainly.
2941. In the face of the specification ?-The specification says nothing against that.

By 3r. Haggart:
2 941a. It was the excavation from the rock prism of the canal ?-From the rock

prism of the canal.

By Mr. Lister:

2942. Now, you say there was an agreement allowing you to use concrete instead
of stone ?-Yes.

2943. Was it a form of contract drawn up and signed by the departinent, or was it
merely a letter ?-A specification made out by Mr. Thompson, I believe.

Mr. HAGGART-It is among the papers.
Mr. LISTER-I do not see it here.

By Mr. Lister :

2944. How did the prices range? Was the price allowed to the contractors the
same as if they had done their work with stone ?-I do not understand that there was
any change in price.
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2945. No change in price? So that they were to get the saine figures as if they
had done it according to the specification ?-According to the original specification, yes.

2946. Was the work worth as much ?-Yes ; I thought so.
2947. You think it was worth as much ?-Yes.

By Mr. Haggart :

2948. Would it not cost more to build it of concrete than of stone ?-Yes.

By Mr. Lister ;

2949. That would be concrete paid on lock prices ?-Yes.
2950. How much a yard ?-It varied. It was $11 and $12.60.
2951. And $16 ?-And $16.
2952. So that you allowed the concrete at $11, $12.60 and 16 ?-Yes.

By Mr. Ilaggart :

2953. Did you allow any more for concrete than you would allow for backing ?-No.
2954. Would not the concrete cost more than backing eut in the ordinary manner?

-So I understand from all.

By 1fr. Lister :

2955. You estimated for the random-coursed masonry, allowing them 7.50 a
yard ?-Yes.

2956. That was paid to the contractors for some time ?-I do not know about pay-
ments. I sent it in in that way.

2957. You sent it in in that way. When will that canal be ready to open for
public trafIic ?-I expect very soon.

2958. How soon ?-I cannot tell exactly, because I am waiting to find out and to
get a few boulders taken out of the channels.

2959. The only obstacle or difficulty in the way is the removal of a few boulders
from the channels?-That is all.

2960. When do you expect to get those out ?-It is very hard to tell. I was just
sweeping to find out how nany there were when you called me down here, and as soon
as I get back I hope it will be done in a very short time.

2961. Then your opinion is that the canal will be open by the lst of August ?-I
should think so. I do not know of any serious difficulties. Though I cannot tell till
I go there with the sweep and find out.

9962. Well, are there any difficulties other than the entrance ?-No.
2963. Sure of that ?-Yes, there were no difficulties.
2964. Eh ?-No difficulties.
2965. No difficulties at at ? Is the lock chamber perfectly tight ?-Perfectly tight.
2966. When did you try it ?-It has been empty for some time and there was no

water in it for any leaks.
2967. There is no difficulty there ?-No difficulty there at all.
2968. And all that remains to be done is the sweeping out of the channel ?--That

is all.
2969. Whose duty is that ?-Well, that is my duty to see that it is done.
2970. To see it is done? But first whose duty is it to do it ?-I go and see it done

as much as I can.
2971. Who bas to do it ?-Oh, the assistants, my assistants.

By 3fr. Haggart :

2972. But who has to do the actual work ?-Oh, the actual work, that is being done
by Hugh Ryan and Company.
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By &r. Lister:

2973. Is that part of their contract ?-It is a subsidiary contract, a little contract
made for that.

2974. Oh, that is a subsidiary contract. Is the steel pipe leaking ?-No.
2975. Is it all right ?-It is all right.
Mr. HAGGART-Here is a specification for the crib-work which Mr. Schreiber has

found.

By Mr. Gibson:

2976. You never saw that before, Mr. Crawford ?-I dont think so.
2977. Read it please ?

" DEPARTMENT OF RAILWAYs AND CANALS, CANADA.

"Specifications for work to be done in the construction of timber revetment on each
side of the prism of the Sault Ste. Marie Canal.

" The contractor must prepare the foundations as near level as practicable, any sucli
levelling as may require to be done shall be covered by the price of the crib-work.

"Crib-work.

"The crib-work is to be of the width shown on the plan, and of such varving height
as the surface of the rock on which it is to be founded, may necessitate to bring it up
to the uniform level on top as shown on plan, the sides to be of timbers not less than I1
inches square, straight, sound and free from wane and shakes.

"iramiLng.

"The timbers of the walls of the crib-work to be framed for close joints, the front
wall to have a batter of 2.1, inches to the foot and the rear wall to be pluib.

" Cross Ties.

"The cross ties shall be at least 10 inches thick of sufficient size to square 10" x 10"
at both ends, and of the full length of the outside width of the cribbing. They are to
be placed not more than 10 feet apart centres, and so arranged that the ties resting on
the different rounds of timber, shall be midway between those of the courses imme-
diately above and below. These ends are to be dovetailed 3. inches into the timbers
under and over them, the dovetail to splay Il inches on both sides so as to stand 8
inches at the neck and 1i inches at the outer end. The crib-work from bottom to finish
shall be formed of white pine, henilock, tanarack or spruce, straight, of good quality,
free from unsound knots, shakes, sapwood or other defects.

" The crib-work shall be well and solidly built witli stone from bottom to top, which
shall he carefully packed, well rounded and between the ties and properly levelled off at
the top.

"The sides of the crib-work shall be built as shown on the plan and everything done
that is necessary (although not herein particularly mentioned) to place the whole in a
finished and satisfactory condition.

(Sgd.) " COLLINGWTOD SCHIIREIBER.

"OTTAWA, 10th February, 1893."

By Mr. Taylor:

2978-9. Mr. Crawford, you are a practical engineer of considerable experience, are
you not ?-Yes.

2980. Did you act in the capacity of engineer on the Welland Canal ?-Yes, assist-
ant eng*neer.
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2981. When was that ?-That was about 1886, I think it was.
2982. In whose employ were you, then ?-The Government employ.
2983. The Government employ ?-Assistant to Mr. Munro.
2984. You were assistant engineer when the Welland Canal was building ?-Yes.
2985. And you were employed on that work ?-Yes, that is the last enlargement,
2986. The last enlargement of which Mr. Gibson was contractor ?-Yes.
2987. One of the contractors ? You were engineer, you made the estimates for the

work that he did, and supervised the work that he performed ?-Yes.
2988. Did Mr. Gibson make you any present while you were on that work ?-No.
2989. Did he offer you any ?-No.

By Mfr. Gibson

2990. Did you ever hear it reported that he ever made an offer to anybody ?-No,
2991. Do you believe he would do such a thing ?-I never heard any one do that.

By Mr. Taylor:

2992. Then when Mr. Gibson was contractor you were doing the same work in
your capacity as engineer as you were at the time of Mr. Ryan's contract ?-Yes.

2993. And you say the contract on the Welland Canal is not as good a class of
work as that performed on the Sault ?-It was a very good work on the Welland
Canal, but I prefer this kind of work for lock wall backing.

By Mfr. Vulock:

2994. Did you pass the Welland Canal work ?-Yes.
2995. It was up to the contract ?-It was up to the contract. Very good work.

By fr. Taylor :

2996. And you passed this work ?-Yes.
2997. And it was up to the contract ?-Yes.
2998. And the timber put in the revetment on each side of the prism was of first

class quality ?-Yes.
2999. And the work was performed in a good workmanlike manner ?-Yes.
3000. How long have vou been down here in connection with this investigation ?

-Since last Thursday.
3001. You have been retained here for this investigation. Is that causing delay

in getting the canal opened ?-Yes.
3002. Your being kept here is causing a delay in getting the canal opened ?-Yes.

By Mfr. Gibson:

3003. You stated to Mr. Li-ter that the concrete that was used in the lock
masonry was paid for at the same prices as that paid for lock masonry ?-Yes.

3004. And you gave as a reason for that that it was more expensive to make ?-
I did not give any reason for it.

3005. To the minister when he asked you a question ?-I said it was-I stated
that as a fact, but that was not the reason.

3006. How far was the stone for the backing of the lock work brought ?-For the
backing?

3007. Yes.-It was brought from Manitoulin.
3008. It was brought fromi Manitoulin ?-Yes.
3009. Was it all brought from the Manitoulin Islands ?-Yes.
3010. The whole of the backing ?-No, there vas some sandstone mixed up with

it. Some sandstone out of the excavation.
3011. The stone for the concrete did not require to be brought from the Manitoulin

Islands ?-No.
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3012. Any kind of small stones that could be found around there, at the quarry
and where they were cutting stone could be used for concrete ?-Yes.

3013. So it could not be as valuable for the backing ?--Oh, the contractors have
told me that it was more expensive.

3014. More expensive to scabble a piece of ordinary backing, we will say a yard
in size, no matter what its dimensions a yard in quantity, 3 feet by 3 feet by 3 feet-
more expensive to scabble that and to lay it than to make a yard of concrete ? Is it or
is it not ?-I don't know.

3015. As an engineer have you not seen a good deal of stone cutting done ?-Yes,
I have seen some.

3016. You have seen some ?-A good deal.
3017. And you think it is more expensive to make a yard of backing of concrete

than to eut a yard of stone ?-You mean to eut a cubic yard ?
3018. To scabble a yard of backing and to lay it ?-That is not ordinary work.
3019. Ah, but this specification calls for extraordinary work, Mr. Crawford. Of

course you did not see the specification, although it is dated 10th February, 1893 ?-No,
I did not.

3020. And you never asked for any instructions about the filling of those cribs?
-- No, I did not think it was necessary.

By Mr. Mulock :

3021. You did not know about it ?-No, I did not know about it.

By Mr. Gibson:

3022. It says, they were to be carefully packed well around and between the ties
and properly levelled off at the top. And you were not aware this had to be done ?-
I think it was done. It was carefully packed and levelled off at the top. J did not
see that, I think.

3023. You think you did not see it ?-Still in your exainnnation the other day you
said that the cribs were fairly well filled, but they were not hand-packed ?-They were
not hand-packed, no.

3024. And you never saw any cribs hand packed ?-No. J never did.
3025. But what did these specifications call for? Did they not call for that ?-No

I don't think so. WeIl packed, but not hand packed.

By Mr. Lister :

3026. When was this crib-work filled in, in winter or summer ?-It was filled in
winter and some of it in summer.

3027. What proportion of it would be filled in in winter ?-The greater proportion.
3028. Three-quarters of it ?-I dare say.
3029. Do you know where Couvrette is working ?--No. I do not knmow.

The witness vas then discharged from further attendance.

The committee then adjourned.
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COMMITTEE RooM 49,
HOUSE OF COMMONS, 1lth July, 1895.

The Committee met.

MR. MICHAEL J. HANEY called, sworn and examined.

By Mr. Haggart :

3030. Mr. Haney, you are one of the firm of Ryan & Co., contractors for the Sault
Ste. Marie Canal ?-I am.

3031. You have been on the work of that contract from the beginning, I suppose,
to the finish ?-From the beginning to the finish.

3032. Do you know anything of the changes of contract from the time you com-
menced the work ?--I know that there were changes from the original plan.

3033. I suppose you know nothing of the reasons which induced the departmient to
make the changes, except by hearsay ?-No, sir, I had no communication whatever
with reference to that.

3034. However, there were several changes made in the plan of the lock from the
time you had the contract until the final plan ?-Yes, there were two principal changes.

3035. What is the final plan as completed ?-It was a lock 900 feet between the
quoins and 60 feet wide, with a depth of 20 feet 3 inches of water on the mitre sill.

3036. There was a small change I think, from 19 feet to 20 feet 3 inches on the
mitre sill ?--There was.

3037. Did you hear the evidence of Mr. Thompson in reference to wVhat the cost
of that change would amount to ?-I did. I think he said it was practically nil.

3038. Practically nil. So that the change from 19 feet to 20 feet 3 inches was
practically nil?--It was a very small matter.

3039. I suppose you do not know the reason of the change, but the fact is the
depth of water on the mitre sill is the same on that lock as on the lock at Sault Ste.
Marie ?-On the American side, yes, sir.

3040. On the American side, the sanie depth of water ?-The same depth of water.
3041. What is the character of the work in the lock ?-First-class. You are speak-

ing of the Canadian lock ?
3042. Of the Canadian lock ?-First-class throughout.
3043. First class masonry ?-Yes, sir. Of course, in speaking of classes of masonry

I am speaking of the general character of the whole work.
3044. Yes ?-There is first class masonrv and there is backing, but in speaking of

the work as a work I say it is first-class throughout, being built of first-class materials
and by the best workmen that we could procure in the country.

3045. You have been on public works, I suppose, most of your life ?-Since I was
18 years old.

3046. Since you were 18 years old. Did you ever see, taking the same character
of work, a better job?-I did not.

3047. What were the instructions that you were to give to your men in reference
as to how they were to do the work ?-Well, my instructions were to do the work in a
first-class manner throughout.

3048. Yes, and in every respect it is done in a first-class manner ?-That is my
opinion.

3049. The material used in it is first-class ?-First-class.
3050. li every respect ?-In every respect, yes.
3051. You have been listening to the evidence here for some days and vou have

heard the account given of the increased prices that were paid to the contractors over
and abox e the original contract price for doing the extra work required ?-I have.
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3052. Why was it you asked for and received higher prices ?-The cost of the work
we considered was increased to us. The wages which we found had to be paid were
greater than were contemplated when the original contract was made. The work had
to be pushed which necessitated working nights as well as day. All those things add to
the increased cost of work. Those were the principal reasons why we asked an increased
price for the work.

3053. You got $90,000 for finishing the work a year sooner than you were required
under the contract ?-We did.

3054. What did that work cost you to finish over and abov e the prices that you
should have execut d it for under the contract?-Well, I an not prepared to imake a
statement with reference to that.

3055. Well, do it as near as possible ?-I think-my impression is it would have
cost fully the amount of $90,000.

3056. $90,000 ?-I don't think there was much noney in that job.
3057. You had a contract also for dredging at the lock ?-At the east approaches.
3058. Yes. What was the price moneyed out, taking the estimated quantities of

the engineer of the department? What was the amount moneyed out that the contract
would cone to ?-WeJI, to the best of my recollection, it was nearly $300,000.

3059. Two hundred and nineýy and some odd thousands, I think? About $300,000.
3060. You were required to do some extra work besides that work ?-ome ad-

ditional work.
3061. What would that additional work corne to ?-Well, that is a natter I have

not gone into, but I should say thirty to forty thousand dollars.
3062. Thirty to forty thousand dollars?--Have you made up the quantities of the

whole work completed under that section?-Under section 1, the lower end?
3063. Yes, that is the approach, I forgot the number ?-We have not nmade it up.
3064. Do you know whether the departmnent has made it up? I do iot.
3065. Do you know what would be the total amount included in that extra work

you were required to do-what the total amount would mom.ey out in section 1 ?-
I know about the amount we have received. It is, as near as I can recollect, about
.305,000 or $306,000.

3066. $306,000 ?-And the amount of the work remaining to be done would
be in the vicinity of thirty-five thousand dollars. It is the additional pier, the additional
crib-work, you might put it. I assume the work has been measured up pretty close.

3067. That is your estimate ?-Yes.
3068. Then, if those figures are correct, adding the extra work-that is the extra

pier work-the work will be done for very near the figures of the original contract -
I should say it would be done very close to it. I may say it was a schedule contract.

3069. Yes, I know The opportunities for taking the soundings and measurements
were good and the work naturally would be measured very close originally.

3070. Or in other words, that the original estimate of quantities has turned out
very nearly exactly what it was estimated 1-That is the answer, yes.

3071. Now we come to that portion of the contract dealing with the crib-work
above the lock. Were you away from the commencement of it until the finish ?-With
the exception of a couple of weeks.

3072. With the exception of a couple of weeks ?-With the exception of a
couple of weeks during January I was on the work all the time.

3073. When did you commence that work ?-We commenced it in the latter
part of October or November, 1893.

3074. When did you finish it ?-We finished it in the early spring-the spring of
1894.

3075. Who was the superintending engineer of that work ?-Mr. W. G. Thompson.
3076. Was he there at any time during the period that the work was progressing ?

-I saw him in Sault Ste. Marie in January.
3077. When was he there next <-It must have been the latter part of June or

the first of July.
3078. The work was finished then -- Practically.
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3079. Mr. Thompson was not on the work then from the beginning of January
until June ?-No, sir, I did not see him on the work.

3080. He was not there on the work? Give us a description briefly, of that work
and the reason of the bulging out of the the timbers on it ?-The preparation was made
for the construction of the crib-work during the summer of 1893. Also for the taking
out of the rock excavation during the fall of 1893 and the winter of 1894, these pre-
parations consisted of stripping the rock, so that we would have but very little frost to
contend with in the excavation, or in other words that we would not have any
earth excavation in which there would be frost during the winter nonths.
We also provided a large portion of the timber during the latter part of the winter and
the summer of 1893, and also made arrangements to provide the balance of the timber
during the winter of 1894. The construction of the crib-work was commenced as I said
in October or November, 1893. In that work as in all other work we endeavoured to
employ the best men that were available, and we have good men in the construction of
the timber work. When the timber work was being constructed we also carried on
three classes of work from the excavation. The work was being forced through to com-
pletion early in 1894, and in order to do that it was necessary for us to build the cribs,
fill the cribs, make the embankment behind the cribs, and also at our own expense build
a retaining wall immediately or in the rear of the masonry wall, so that the whole of
the material that was required for the backing up of the cribs would be in place when
the niasonry was built. When this work was done which I have been speaking of, it
would be completed when the masonry wall was finished. Now I have heard in the
evidence that there was very little complaint about the framing of the cribs, or the
timber that was used. The objections seemed to be in the filling, and I desire to say that
there should always be a motive in doing bad work, and we had no motive whatever for
putting anything but the very best rock in the filling of these cribs. There certain] y
could be no advantage or gain to us in doing otherwise, and we did that. The instruc-
tions were to sort the material carefully, and I was there continually to see that those
instructions were carried out. The inspecting engineer was on the work and the
inspector was there, and the material was sorted, so that the most suitable rock for
crib-filling was put in the cribs; the quarry waste would be placed behind the crib and
in the embankment above the crib, and the larger stones were saved for the purpose of
building this retaining wall that I have spoken of. That is the manner in which the
wori was done. There was perhaps some little frost on the rock as it was being put
into the different kinds of work, but as the rock was broken up from day to day with
powder, there could be but very little frost which would have adhered to the rock and
which would be put in the crib-work, so that was specially sorted for that particular
part of the work. If any material that ought not to have gone into the crib was put in,
it was owiin to the carelessness of some of our men when they were not specially looked
after by our foreman. That is liable to occur upon any work, and while we gave to
the work the most careful supervision, I would not say that from time to time a man in a
careless way-- we have some men who did not speak English-would not dump a box
of material there, which, had I been there, or the inspector, or the engineer or the fore-
man, lie would not have been allowed to put into the crib. We also kept men on the
crib to see that the material was distributed about in the crib so that it would be as
solidly filled as is usually the case in a work of that kind.

By Mr. Haggart :

3081. You saw some of them opened afterwards ?-We excavated test holes in the
cribs, and we found they were well and solidly filled. We also found that the cribs
which wer- not bulged were filled in the same manner as the cribs that were. With
reference to the bulging I might say that there was no bulging after the cribs were filled
above the muvable dam about station 75. The bulging was below that, and only a part
of that bulged ; the greatest niovement in the crib-work was at a point where an old tree
had crossed the line of the canal, and the material in the original formation at that point
was of a quicksandy, silty nature.
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3082. You have not given the reason, _Mr. Haney, in your opinion of the bulging
out of the cribs ?-I think it was due to the fact that the work was done in the winter
time, and owing to the pressure from the material behind caused by settling of the
material that was put behind the ci ib. There was very little sediment in the crib.

3083. You saw the crib-work on the American side ?-Yes.
3084. What is the difference between the mode of construction on this side and the

mode there ?-In the crib-work on this side the tics extended from front to rear wall
without longitudinals. As the crib was brought out, offsets were made in the back of
the crib. The face of the crib was battered, and the crib was filled with stone.

3085. On the other side ?-On the other side there was no offset in the bank. The
crib was built plumb in back and rear. The ties extended from front the bck.

3086. Perpendicularly ?-Horizontally, and longitudinals were placed parallel with
the face and back of the crib, so that square pockets were formed instead of long pockets.

3087. The object of that was to fill it with clay ?-It was filled with clav.
3088. To keep it fron leaking ?-I suppose to use it for coffer dam purposes

By Mr. Gibson:

3089. Where was this ?-On the American side.

By Mr. Haggart;

3090. Do you know the masonry that was on the wall ?-I do.
3091. Just give us a description of it and what you think of it ?-The masonry was

built under an agreement which was made at the tine the crib-work was decided upon,
and I have no special instructions that the specifications for the masonry were clanged,
but I would say that the masonry was built, or that the specifications which were in
the origin;l contract for randon-coursed masonry can be applied to titis class of work
with one exception, -nd that is that randon-coursed masonry called for in the specifica-
tion was to be laid dry, and this w as laid in mortar.

By Mr. Gibson :

3092. The specifications called for that being hammer-dressed ?-It was liammier-
dressed.

3093. I suppose you call it good random.coursed masonry ?-Yes, sir ; I call it

good random-coursed masonry, good work. In speaking of the specifications I niglt
say that there is no other point which enters into the details of all specifications and in
this as well, and that is that the engineer decides how the work shall be done, and the
work has been done in this case under the directions in accordance with the specifica-
tions.

Mr. HAGGART-That is ail I have to ask Mr. Haney.

By Mr. Lister :

3094. The nuinber 1 section was contracted for by Ryan and Haney ?-It was, yes
sir. Hugh Ryan & Company, that is the firm. There are two Rvans.

309.5. The firm consists of John and Hugh Ryan and yourself, Mr. Haney ? At
the time that contract was made had it been determined to deepen the lock to 20 feet 3
inches ?-No, sir.

3096. Then what was the depth that the approach was to be l-My recollection is
18J feet.

3097. 18- feet ?-Yes, sir.
3098. That would be for a depth in the lock of 16 feet 1-16 feet 3 inches, yes.
3099. 16 feet 3 inches ? When it was determined to deepen the lock to 20 feet 3

inches was any arrangement irade for deepening the approach, making it a greater depth
than your contract in the first place required ?-It was not deepened.

3100. No. Then, as a matter of fact, it was deternined to deepen the lock to 20
feet 3 inches and the approach to the lock was to remain at 19 feet or 18 feet 6 iiches,
was it ?-18 feet 6.
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3100a. 18 feet 6 ? But the approaches at the south end, at all events, were to
remain at 18 feet 6 inches, while the lock itself was to be 20 feet 3 inches ?-The
approaches at the east end. That is the way we designated the approaches east and
west. You said the south.

3101. Well, I call it the south. It is from the " Soo " River and the other is froin
Lake Superior down. Well, now, Mr. Haney, as a practical man, I ask you the question,
whether the canal or the chamber or lock could have taken a vesse] in, drawing more
than say, 17 feet, in view of the depth of the approaches ?-About 18, I should think.

3102. About 18 feet ? Well, then, what was the object of making the lock 20 feet
3 inches with an approach of 18 feet ?--I don't know.

3103. Eh ?-I could not say. I was not consulted.
3104. You were not consulted, I know, but I want to find out if you know any

reason, with an approach of 18 feet 6 inches, why the lock should have 20 feet 3 inches
depth of water?-I could give a reason.

3105. Give us your reason?-The lock on the American side was 20 feet 3 inches.
3106. Yes ?-The traffic going through both of those canals would be the same.
3107. Yes?-With the lock deepened at a very slight expense-a very small

expense, comparatively speaking-during the construction of the lock, the approach
could be deepened later on without interfering with traffic or injuring the character of
the work, at a very small expense.

3108. Yes?-That is the reason I would assign, and I might further state I think
it would be better if all the locks on the various canals were to be deepened to a
greater depth in the prisms, and the prisms, as necessity would require, could be
deepened without interfering with the operation of the principal part of those works.

3109. Is the approach of rock ?-A portion of the approach is rock.
3110. The upper portion of section No. 1 or the lower ?-The upper part and a part

of the lower.
3111. Part of the lower ?-Yes; there are pockets in between where no rock

appears, I understand.
3112. In case of deepening, it would be very necessary to either apply powder, or

whatever you use, for blasting ?-It would; yes.
3113. Would the walls be at all interfered with ?-I think not. They are doing it

on the American side-deepening.
3114. You think the blasting of the approaches with powder would not interfere

with the walls ?-With care, it ought not to.

By Mr. Haggart:

3115. What walls would it interfere it ?-The cribwalls, I presume.

By M11r. Gibson :

3116. The lock walls, the retaining walls ?-The crib-walls. You are misleading.
3117. I am not misleading you, because you ought to know ?-You are branching

off. Excuse me, Mr. Chairman, but I desire to place myself right in this matter. We
were speaking of the approach.

3118. Yes ?-And your question related to the walls and I assume it was the walls
or crib-work of the approach.

3119. Yes ?-Now is that what you mean?
3120. Yes, I inean that ?-I don't think it would seriously injure them with care.
3121. You don't think it would seriously injure them with care i-Injure the crib-

work.
3122. Injure the crib-work. Would it at all injure the lock itself -It would not.

The deepening of the approach would not injure the lock. Care was taken in that par-
ticular to provide against coming in contact with the lock by the excavation to the full
depth of the lock of 50 feet outside of the lock walls.

3123. Then the reason for the government allowing you higher prices when they
decided upon change is that the labour was higher than you anticipated ?-Well, all
those matters were gone into carefully at the time.
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3124. Those matters were gone into ?-And our reasons were set forth. The
government reasons I don't know.

3125. Those were your reasons ?-Yes, sir.
3126. And you got the job?-What's that?
3127. You got the contract?-We had the original contract.
3128. You had the original contr! ect and you received the subsequent contract ?-

We did the work, finished it.
3129. Under contract ?-Under contract.
3130. Original ?-I think most of the contracts were original.
3131. Will you undertake to say Mr. Haney, that the subsequent contracts were

original contracts ?-Which one do you speak of ?
3132. For the extension of 50 feet and the extension from 650 to 900 ?-They

were.
3133. When these changes were deterniined upon nobody else but Hugh Ryan &

Company could get the contracts, I suppose, unless you threw up your original contract?
-Well, I don't know what could have been done.

3134. Well, you had the contract for the lock at 600 feet ?-Yes.
3135. That was your contract ?-It was.
3136. And unless you liked to throw up that contract or get a new one for the

additional work it was your right either to throw up the contract or to say to the gov-
ernment, " We must have the additional work." ?-I night say we would not be a con-
senting party.

3137. So that the additional work, of course of necessity, was given without
tender. It was a matter of negotiation ?-It was a matter of negotiation.

Mr. HAGGART: I did not hear the question.

By Mr. Lister:

3138. The question I asked him was, that the sub equent contracts were contracts
made by negotiation ?-You were speaking of the lock.

3139. Of the lock ?-Yes.
3140. From 600 to 650 and from 650 to 900 ?-Yes.
3141. How long after the contract had been awarded to you for the lock was it

that you received the contract for the approach ?-Well, tenders were called for in
November, 1888, for the lock and prisn, and I think in January, or it may be February,
1894, for the lower entrance.

3142. Do you think that it was wise and prudent to do the work thatt you have
spoken of in the winter-the crib-work ?-Well it depends altogether on the object to be
attained. Under the circumstances I think it was. The object was to complete the
work within a certain time.

3143. The object vas to complete the work and in view of the great necessity for
the completion of the work you think it was wisdom to carry on this portion of the
work in winter ?-I think so.

3144. You were to have completed the prism and the lock up to what time ?-The
lock by 1893.

3145. What time in 1893 ?-The 1st of December, 1893, or perhaps it was the
season of 1893.

3146. And you got 890,000 to complete it at what tinie ?-1893.
3147. That could not be so ?-That is a fact.
3148. You got $90,000 as a bonus to complete the lock a year ahead of timne ?-

We got it to complete it in 1893.
3149. When were you bound to complete it by your contract ?-In 1894.
3150. You were bound to complete it in 1894, and $90,000 was given to you as a

bonus to have it completed in 1893 ?-That is the way I understood it.
3151. By what time in 1893 ?-On the 16th November the last stone was iaid.
3152. What time was it to be completed by your contract ?-The end of 1894.
3153. And $90,000 was to have it completed in 1893, and you say it was completed

at what time in 1893?3-On the 16th of November, 1893, the last stone was laid.
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By Mr. Haggart :

:3154. How much quicker was that than your contract ?-Something over a vear.
3155. How many weeks over ?-You were to complete it by the lst of January,

1895, if I remember rightly or the latter end of 1894 ?-The latter end of 1894.
3156. You had it completed about six or seven weeks before your contract ?-I do

not remember the exact date. I know the object was to complete the masonry in 1893
under the last arrangement, and naturally on account of cold weather we made arrange-
ments to have it completed before the 1st of December. Whether that is our contract
or whether it is the 1st of January I do not know.

By 1r Lister :

3157. Your original contract was to have it completed in 1892 ?-That was the 600
foot lock.

3158. 600 feet ?-Yes.
3159. Then the enlargement took place and after the contract for the enlargement

took place, there was a contract made between you by which you were to receive $90,000
to have it done a year ahead ?-I think there were two agreements.

3160. One for 650 feet and the other for 900 feet, and then there was a contract
for a bonus of $90,000 ?-Yes.

3161. Is the canal open yet for traffic ?-I have not heard of it being opened.
3162. Do vou know any reason why it should not be opened ?-No, sir.
3163. Have you completed all the work necessary to be done by you for the open-

ing of the canal?-We have.
3164. Including the sweeping and cleaning out of the approaches ?-Well, sweeping

is a matter that we have nothing to do with, or had nothing to do with after last August,
a year ago nearly. We made a subsequent arrangement with the department to rig up
a sweep and operate it for them up to a certain tine last sunmer.

3165. So far as you are concerned your contract was completed a year ago?-I do
not say that.

3166. What do you say I-I was speaking of the sweep.
3167. Well, is your contract completed ?-Our contract is not completed on the

lower section.
3168. What is to be done yet ?-Some crib-work.
3169. Some crib-work is to be done yet, but I asked you furthermore whether the

work had been so far completed as to enable the canal to be opened for trafic ?-I think
so. That is my opinion. I night say that there were some boulders found when I was
up there, some boulders found by the sweep, that could be buoyed if it was necessary to
do so.

3170. Does not the contract require that these should be taken out of the approach
altogether ?-It does when they are found, and I think they are working at them now.

3171. When those boulders are taken out is there any obstacle to the opening of
the canal ?-I do not think there is any obstacle.

3172. You do not think there would be any obstacle ?-No, sir.
3173. You do not know of your own knowledge or you have not heard that the

canal has not been opened for traffic ?-No, I do not know.
3174. You do not know the reason ?-No.
3175. Have you ever heard anything about the lock leaking? Do you know any-

thing about that ?-I have not-well, I heard there was a leak there, but it was discov-
ered that it was not so.

3176. You have discovered it was not so ?-Yes.
3177. Where was it you heard the leak was i-In the breast wall.

By Mr. Haggart:

3178. On that point you found out that it was a false report ?-Yes.
3179. How did you find out it was a false report ?-By observation.
3180. You were there ?-Yes.
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3181. When would that be ?-This spring.
3182. Have you liard anything about it lately ?-No, sir.
3183. Have you not heard it stated that the lock was leakinj -- No, sir.
3184. Never heard that at all since lat spring ?-I do not tt Ik so. I may have

heard that report. I am not sure about that, I have heard so mar y reports.
31N5. Then what I understand you to say is that the tiniber put into it. was all of

first quality ?-That is what I say.
3186. And the work was of first quality for a work of that kind ?-Yes, sir.

By Mr. Macdone!7 :

3187. With regard to the crib-work, did I understand you to say that there were
no cross ties, only longitudinal in the crib-work ?-Only cross ties without longitudinal.

3188. Si that consequently there w ere long pockets instead of small pockets ?-Yes,
sir. Longitudinal ties would make the pockets smaller.

By Mr. Gbson :

3189. Were you present when that piece of crib-work was taken down that Mr.
Thompson complained of?-I was.

3190. Did you see any of the vacant spaces lie comiplainel of ?-I did not any more
than you would see in ordinary crib-work.

3191. You say that when you saw that work done in winter tinie it was well done ?
-I do.

3192. If you were aware that the work was being done iii the winter tinie, and you
say it was well done, how do you know that it was owing to its being lone in t he winter
time that it turned out bad ?-I say that it proved insufficient. I will not aeknowledge
that it was bad.

3193. Now, Mr. Hanev, you have given the Conmittee this norning a very nice
description of the work, generally speaking ?-Yes.

3194. Is that an unusual thing for contractors to do ?-To give a very nice des-
cription.

3195. Yes.-I don't know, I am sure.
3196. I suppose vou have heard the old story, have you not about a fishi wife sell-

ing stinking fish ?-I have never heard. I would like to hear it, though.
3197. You never heard a contractor running down his work ?-I think the con-

tractor would be very foolish to do it.
3198. Of course. Yousee, Mr. Haney, we would not expect you to do anvthing

this morning except give the work a good nane. Now, you said you liad no motive for
putting bad articles into the cribs ?-That is what I said.

3199. And if any was put in it was more by accident than by anything else ?-By
accident.

3200. Not intentionally on the part on the contractor, at all ? Was the specifica-
tion that you got for building the retaining walls different froni that laid down in the

general specifications?-I never saw any specification for building those retaining
walls, but I understood from the engineer that he was following the specification in the
original specification for random-coursed work.

3201. Were you not supplied with a general specification when the work was let,
Mr. Haney? -I am referring to the general specification.

3202. Well, were you not supplied with a copy of that ?-We were.
3203. Did you not follow it ?-We did.
3204. But you say you did not pay any attention to see whether you were follow-

ing the specification ?-I did not sty I did not pay any attention to it, but I under-
stood from the engineer that in completing this random-coursed work he was following
the original sp cification.

3205. But you did not understand that you were following it ?-I understood I
was to do the work as directed by the engineer, and if he was following it and directed
it to be done in a certain manner, I assume it was our duty to do as he directed.
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3206. You carried out the instructions of the engineer ? but when carrying out the
instructions of the engineer, lad you any doubts that you were carrying out the general
specification for the random-coursed work ?-No. Nor have I now, except that we
built it of mortar instead of building it dry.

3207. You have built it of mortar instead of building it dry. Is there anything
in the specification to lead the committee to believe it was intended to be dry ?-There
is nothing in the specification to lead me to believe it would be mortar, except the spe-
cifications where it refers to a wall that has to be built of mortar and it refers to two or
three classes of work, in which different kinds of cement are to he used. It specifies
the cement that is to be used, how it is to be mixed and how it is to be laid.

3208. Yes. There were three prices for that class of work, Mr. Haney. The item
in the schedule states the revetment wall was to be built, if formed of stones from the
excavation, at $3.50 per yard.

By Mr. List'r :

32081. Was this built of stone from the excavation ?-Partially.

By Mr. Gibson:

3209. It was to be paid at $3.50 a yard if built of stone from the excavation ?-
Yes, that was the dry wall.

3210. Now then, if stone was procured from a distance you were to receive $7 a
yard for it.

Mr. HAs;AnT--Not the dry wall, I think ?-86 a yard.

By Mr. Gibson :

3211. I notice in one place it says $6 a yard and further down $7.50 ?-$7.50 for
a mortar wall.

By Mr. Lister:

3212. How about that dry wall ?-S3.50.
3213. Built with stone from the excavation ?-With stone fron the excavation. I

said $3.50, but I think the price was $3. That is my impression.

By Mr. Gibson:

3214. $3, and $6 if it was brought fron a distance?
Mr. HAGGAT--There was a difference of 81 between the price paid for the dry

wall and the one laid with cement.
WITNEsS-Excuse me, it is $1.50.

By the Chairnan :

3215. $3 if the stone was taken from the excavation, $6 if taken froi a distance,
and 87.50 if laid in mortar ?-$3, $6 and $7.50.

By Mr. Haggart.:

3216. I think all you were to get for that wall was the difference between a dry
wall and one laid in cement. That was $1 ?-That would be it, Mr. Hacgart.

By 31r. Gibson

3217. When I asked you the question previously, I was looking at another tender.
Thei e are a number of tenders here. I have now got your tender, and according to
item 13 vou were to be paid $3 a yard for building a revetment wall alongside the canal
if f ormed of stone from the excavation ?-Yes, sir.

3218. And for the revetment wall alongside the wall if formed of stone procured
f rom a distance by the contractor you were to be paid $6 a yard ?-Yes.

3219. Now, this wall was not built dry ?-It was a mortar wall, yes.
3220. It was built with mortar, and it was built of stone taken from the excava-

tion ?-Part of it.
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3221. How much ?--I should sav by the permission of the chief engineer, allowing
us under this agreement to substitute the sandstone or the stone fromn the excavation
for gray limestone with three-quarters at least of this stone froi the excavation.

3222. Three-quarters of the work was done with the stone taken from the excava-
tion ?-Further, I would like to add in connection with this, that we kept our quarry at
Manitoulin Island open, or a man there all the winter, and during the early part of the
summer, to make sure and to satisfy the chief engineer that t ie stone from the ,xcava-
tion was suitable and would be allowed to be substituted before we disbanded the
quarry.

3223. Who are we to understand, from the remark that you make, was Chief
Engineei ?-Mr. Schreiber.

3224. So Mr. Schreiber gave you consent to use the stone out of the excavation ?-
To substitute the stone out of the excavation.

3225. And you built theee-quarters of the wall out of that stone ? -About that, I
should say.

3226. Where did the other 25 per cent cone from ?-Fromn M0lanitoulin Island.
3227. From Manitoulin Island ?-Some was Amherstburg stone that was left over.
3228. What kind of stone was it that was left over ? What kinid of stone '
3229. Yes ?-Limnestone.

By M1r. Lister :

3230. Left over where ?-After the face-stone.

By fr. Gibson :
3231. Surplus stone after conpleting the locks from Amherstburg. Having built

the work in the manner you stated you were paid for it at a certain price '-We were
paid $4.50 a yard for it.

3232. Exactly. But when did this happen? When was it struck down to $4.50 ?
-Excuse me.

3233. When was the change made to $4.50 a yard ?- We w-ere paid at $ 7.50 a yard
first and then we were only allowed $4.50 a yard.

3234. When ?-Well, it was after the payient of r7.50.
3235. When Mr. Thompson found fault with the work a change was made by the

chief engineer here?-I beg your pardon.
3236. Were you not paid $7.50 for that retaining wall up to the tine, or prior to

the time Mr. Thompson found fault with the class of that work ?-I cannot tell what
Mr. Thompson did, but I will say this. Mr. Thompson came up there and gave direc-

tions, found fault with the manner in which the work w-as being built. -He gave direc-
tions to have the work as he said differently, but for my part I could not see that there
was any difference in the construction, although it was done under his imediate super-
vision, from the manner in which we had been building the work before.

3237. If that work had been done of good randon-coursed work, would it not be
worth more a yard than you were paid for it ?-It is good random-coursed work.

3238. If it had- been proper random coursed work i-lt is proper random-coursed
work according to the specifications.

3239. Is it properly bonded ? There was a photograph here. I do not know
whether it was made an exhibit or not ?-I know what you refer to.

3240. There were three or four feet-I cannot judge exactly because it is not to a
scale, but from my eye and the size of the work, I should say there are three or four feet
of a vertical joint without any bond at all?-There is a bond. That is what constitutes
random-coursed work.

3241. Let me see the photograph? (Exhibit 5, was here handed to Mr. Gibson,
who pointed out to the witness the place he referred to.)-I have a distinct recollection

of calling our mason's attention to the fact of this very high joint, and he explained it
by saying he bad a very large and long stone, which extended into the wall, and be con-
sidered that by leaving that vertical joint in the manner in which he did, he was naking
much stronger work than he would make if he attempted to veneer the work to suit the
eye.
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3242. That was the explanation of your mason, was it ?-And I quite agreed with
him.

3243. Perhaps vou are looking at one part of the work and J am looking at an-
other. Let me show you the place I mean. (Spot pointed out on photograph.) There
are no joints about that. There is no large stone. You will admit that that is not
very good -work ?-I cannot admit that because 1 know the work, I know that that is a
stone from Amherstburg, which was 6 feet in length and about 2½ feet square. I re-
member it Ilistinctly.

:3244. will not dispute where the work comes from, but it is badly built, badly
bonded ?-] an the witness, I suppose.

By Mr. Haggart:

324-5. What (o you think of it ?-I say it is well bonded and well built and in ac-
(ordance with the specifications.

By Mr. Gibson:

3246. In accordance with the specification that was afterwards altered, and not in
accordance with the original specification? I am speaking of the original specifi-
cation now.

The witness was disharged from further attendance.

Mr. T. C. KEEFER called, sworn and examined.

B;y Mi. Haggart:

3247. Mr. Keefer, vou were requested by the departnent to go up and examine
this work that we have been talking about, the Sault Ste. Marie Canal ?-Yes.

3248. Have you got the letter of instructions you received when yoi went up?
No, but I have a copy of my report which recites theni.

3249. Have you got a copy of your report with you?-Yes. That recites the
character of the instructions. Thev were, " directing me in consequence of unfavourable
reports having reached you as to the character of the work of the construction of the
Sault Ste. Marie Canal, to proced with Messrs. Hobson and Gregory, C.K's, to that
canal, and make a thorough investigation and inspection before the water was let in, and
before any payaients were made to the contractors." That was taken fron the end of
the instructions.

3250. You examined that work then, Mr. Keefer ?-As far as I could at that
advanced stage.

3251. Will you just give us a general opinion of the lock masonry in the first
instance ?-The lock was built and the other masonry completed éxcept at the points
where the crib-work had been rebuilt, and I think there was %ome wall yet to be built.
My mission there was in reference to special complaints that bad been made in aletter, a
copy of which was given to me, and these complaints did not include the masonry except
thr lock. They did not refer to this revetment at al] on top of the cribs so I did not
look particularly at that. In fact, I could not see anything of it except the outsidp, and
so with the lock, but I never saw finer masonry than the lock walls themselves. I tested
the cement wherever I had the opportunity and found it as good as it could be.

3252. As good as good can be ! You never saw finer masonry and you tested the
cement and found it as good as good can be ?-Yes.

3253. Did you look at the understructure, that is the wood work ?-Yes. I saw
the timber work that was nearly all in sight, the cribs below the look foundations and
the crib-work where it was exposed, which was on top of the rock and underneath the
revetnent wall. I did not see a stick of inferior timber in any part of the work.
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The letter of complaint which was referred to me lad stated that the timber in sonie
of the cribs and in the culverts-

3254. Yes, we will get to that. Oh, in the culverts ?-In the culverts was so rotten
that it could be torn down by the hand, and I sent for the man who had made the
complaint and asked him if he had ever attemnpted, if lie had actually pulled any of it
away by the hand. He said no, and I asked him whyl he did not and he said, because
it was f rozen when he saw it. But I did not see any tinber that was not only nîot
rotten but I did not see any that was inferior. Take it altogether it is as fine a class
of timber as I have seen for that cliss of work.

3255. You were instructed to look at the crib-work above the lock. Was that in
your instructions ?--I think so.

3256. You did look at it ?-Yes. One of the items in this letter was with regard
to the crib filling, and of course I could not tell anything about it, how it had been
filled, because there was very little of it that was not covered with the wall. And
where it was broken and the2y were repairing it, it had beei so tori to pieces that]I
could not tell what its original state was wlien it was filled.

3257. Did you come to any conclusion then as to what were the reasons for the
bulging out of the crib-work ?-Oh, I think it was entirelv due to pressure fron the back
of the cribs.

3258. Pressure f rom the back of the cribs ?-I looked particularly to see if any crib
had been moved on its seat, and I saw no indication of that. It was a bulge where it
had not been straightened up. There was not nuch of it in that condition at the time
I got there, but it was bulged out from the bottom towards the centre.

3259. As to the material in the work and the mechanical construction of it, what
is your opinion ?-You refer to the timber work?

3260. Yes, the timber work.-The material was, as I have said already, very good
in every place I saw it, and the framing, as far as I could see it, was well done.

3261. Did you pay any particular attention to the wall ?-Which wall?
3262. This wall here and the masonry on top of the crib-work, which was of a sirnilar

character, or do you remember ?-I saw all the walls. of course.
3263. Yes-The external face of that, there was, as I say, no complaint made with

regard to the revetment wall as it is called.
3264. There was no complaint made, but did you pay particular attention to it

when you were up there ?-Except looking at the face of it.
3265. What did you think of it ?-I was asked the question by the engineer when

I was there, if I would call it random-coursed work ?-I told hin I did not think it was

random coursed work, that I thought randomn coursed work carried horizontal and ver-

tical joints. I would call it random-coursed rubble work.
3266. Was it well done ?-It was very much beavier work than the specification

called for. Looked at externally the stones in it were larger. The specification only
called for 9-inch stone. For the purpose, for the work it had to do, it was just as good
as any other wall that could be put there, but it is not as good looking as it might have

been if it had been what I would call random-coursed work.

By Mr. Gibson:

3267. Would you call that work on the revetmnent wall second-class masonry, more
properly speaking ?-Well, of course, if it is random-coursed rubble it is second-class.

3268. Exactly. It was larger than ordinary rubble work ?-I call it a heavy rubble

wall.
3269. But you would not, under any pretence whatever, call it random-coursed

masonry ?-I would not call it randoin-coursed masonry.

By Mr. Haggart:

3270. What is that work worth per yard laid in Portland cement ?-I could not

give any opinion as to value or prices without knowing all the conditions under which

the work was done ; the rate of wages and all the other circumstances of the case, and

where the stone came from. Of course, some stone was brought from a distance and
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the other was got upon the work. It would be necessary also to know the time in
which it was done and the amount of machinery necessary. And whether it was a
hurried work, and two or three derricks had to be put on wlhen one would do at another
time. All this would affect the cost.

By Mr. Lister :

3271. Just one question. I suppose all you were able to see was what was exposed
on the canal ?-Certainly ; just the exterior.

3272. And so far as you could see the timber it appeared to be as you have des-
cribed it ?

Mr. HAGGART-He could see all the timber.

By. Mr Lister :

3273. Could you see all the timber ?-No; I could not see all ia the culverts, but
what I did see was good. If you can see the exterior face of a stick of timber you can
formi a pretty good idea of what it is.

3274. There were other engineers with you ?-Yes.
3275. And they also reported ?-They also reported.
3276. I notice in the reports they made a good deal of their opinion seems to have

been formed on what they have been told by people on the work ?-I don't remember
now.

3277. Have you read the report ?-Yes ; I read it, but it was last year.

By Mr. Haggart:

3278. Just one word as to the lock itself. Did you ever in your lifetime see a finer
piece of work of the same kind ?-No; I did not. And the American engineer told me
he considered it a better job than their own. They had a fanciful idea by which every
stone put in the lock face walls was of the same size.

By M r. Gibson :

3279. Header and stretcher ?-It is like a brick wall. Every stone is of the same
dimensions. That was, I suppose, to guarantee a certain depth of bed and dressing, and
so forth ; but the engineer told me he did not consider it as good work-as strong work
-as our Canadian lock.

By Mr. Lister:

3280. More expensive work ?-Oh, more expensive and not as good-a fanciful
idea. I suppose the specification was made in Washington. They did not want to
trust their people out there as to the bed and joints of the stone. They determined to
know that so much of it from a certain depth in f rom the face of the wall was as true
as brick work.

3281. And you saw the American, and saw our lock there ?-Yes.
3282. Now, how do you think that our lock compares with the American as to

work and everything else ?-I think our lock is a finer piece of work than theirs as com-
pared with either of the American locks, the old or the new.

By Mr. Gibson :

3283. Of course, you did not see the inside of the walls of the lock, did you ?-No.
3284. There was none of that exposed to view ?--No.
3285. I suppose you have had a great deal of experience in building masonry ?-I

have had some; yes.
3286. Did you ever know of a case where backing and concrete were allowed to be

used simultaneously together in a work of that kind-the backing of a wall ?-Concrete
as a backing?
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3287. Did you ever in your experience as an engineer know of a piece of work
being done under the supervision of an engineer in which the backing up of the face
work was done partly of stone and filled up with concrete ?-Not in my tine.

3288. Not in your life-time ?-Concrete was not used a few vears ago as it is now.
Portland cement was not used until since my time.

By Mr. Haggarf :
3289. Would not vou think it would be a good plan ?-Oh, certainly ; that is, if

the concrete is right. It ought to make butter backing as far as the tightness of the
wall goes, provided, only, that it is, of course, bonded into the face work.

3290. But how could you bond into the face work with concrete from the front of
the wall that is lined up with cut stone to the back of the wall that is backed up with
backing ?-If the headers that are in the front wall are not eut off square at the ends at
the back of the wall they will run into the concrete.

3291. And would that be a good bond, Mr. Keefer ?- think it would. In fact,
if the foundation is ail right and the front wall is all right there woukl be ne more bond
needed there than filling up a crib.

3292. Is it not as necessary to bond up the back of the wall as the face ?- I do not
think it is necessary to bond concrete into a wall so long as it cannot escape.

3293. There is no bonding of concrete in this case because it is simîultaneous ?-
They are building new masonry altogether of concrete, and locks of concrete with noth-
ing but the face stone.

3294. That is why I am asking you this question. I am quite aware that they are
building locks of concrete. They have built houses of concrete and so on ?-Yes, and
bridges.

3295. But in all your experience did you ever see concrete used with the same class
of work as cut stone and backing in the saine work together ?-No, because it is so nany
years since I was connected with it. I did not use concrete.

By Mfr. Haggart :
3296. Are you not aware that the locks on the Manchester Canal are faced with

cut stone and backed with concrete ?-Yes, so I understand.

By Mr. Gibson :
3297. What I want to get at it this. Mr. Crawford states in his evidence that lie

never saw it done anywhere else. What I want to know whether you ever saw cut
stone backing and concrete built together ?-It must be renenibered that the wall is
on rock bottom. Nothing could happen to it unless the foundation gave way. If it
should sink at the back, it would open between the concrete and the face wall. I
consider that it would make a lock wall tighter than it would in the ordinary way of
backing, trusting to the flushing up.

3298. Would the concrete dry as quick as the ordinary bed upon a piece of backing
in those vacancies that I spoke about. In building up the niext course would the
concrete be in a state to build upon the same as solid backing would be ?-It ought not
to dry before it is built upon.

3299. You know that masonry is built in course, and if it is done during the dry
season, the walls have got to be wet ?-Yes.

3300. If the front and the back of those walls are solid stone, cut at the front and
scabbled at the back, then the space between ther is filled with concrete. Has that
concrete sufficient bearing qualities as compared with the cut stone when you come to
lay the next course on top of it ?-That would altogether depend on how the next
course was laid, if the front course ran over the concrete, but I take it the bearings
would be on the front wall.

3301. But you see the next time perhaps that they were using a piece of backing
it might lie over that vacant space that was built in with concrete, and the concrete
would not be able to bear it ?-I assume this concrete was built in the ordinary w ay, and if
so it would go under any space of a projecting stone, supposing there was a slack space.

Witness was discharged.
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Mr. RoBERT SCOTT called, sworn and examined.

By Mr. Hfaggar( :

3302. 'Mr. Scott, are you a practical mason ?-Yes.
3303. Where did you learn your trade ?-I learned it in Scotland.
3304. How many years did you serve your apprenticeship learning your trade ?-I

served four years.
3305. Iow many years have you been in the business?-I suppose about 45.
3306. You were one of the superintending master masons on the Sault Ste. Marie

Canal ?-Yes, sir.
3307. Would you just give us a short account of what you consider that work was ?

In the look first.-The wall lock masonry? As has been said I consider it first class.
330S. Every detail that came under your observation, I suppose, was done in a

workmanlike and thorough manner ?-Yes, as far as we knew how.
3309. You were master mason superintending this work ? What would you call

the work on the revetnent wall ?-It was just made to suit the specification as far as
we knew.

3310. What would you call that kind of work in this country ?-We would call it
random-coursed work.

3311. Does random-coursed work necessarily require parallel joints ?-Well, we don't
always make the upright joints parallel. Sometimes we lay one against the other. If
the stones were big and high we just fit the joints to suit the angle.

3312. What would you call it in Scotland, such work as that ? These joints are
not parallel, some of them ?-Well, I have never done any kind of work like that in
Scotland.

By Mfr. G'ibson:

3313. What do you say ?-I have never done any of that class of work in Scotland,

By 3r. Haggart:

3314. What is the character of the work, Mr. Scott ?-This work ?
3315. Yes ?-Well, I call it random-coursed work.
3316. Is it well done ?-Well done with heavy stone laid across. Outside the

stones were hanner-dressed, and they were picked off in the face straight, or almost
straight.

By Mr. Gibson

3317. Would vou look out of the window please and state what is the class of work
done on this building ?-I would call it broken rubble.

3318. Broken rubble? Was the work on the lock done as good as that ?-It was
a different class of work.

3319. A different class of work ?--And you call the work that was done random-
coursed masonry ?--Yes.

3320. Was it done according to specification ?-As near as we knew how.
3321. As near as you knew how ?-Yes.
3322. Did vou cut the joints parallel ?-Well, some of them were and some of them

were not.
3323. Were there more of them that were not, than were ?-Well, I could not say.
3324. I thought you had charge of the work ?-Yes.
3325. And you did not see all of those stones that were put in ?--Not all of them,

pretty much.
3326. They were just nobbled off and built as fast as contractors could lay them?

-Oh, ne.
3327. Well, that photograph looks like it ?-Oh, I do not think it.
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3328. You say that you angled some of the joints ?-Yes. When we got
two big stones coming together if they did not need much off, if they were not exactly
plumb, we laid them angled.

3329. You laid them if they were not exactly vertical ?--Some of theim.
3330. Was that according to the specification ?-We thought so. That maide a

stronger job.
3331. Was that according to the specitication ?-I don't know. The specitication

did not say.
3332. You could not lay two angled stones one on top of the other and make bond

with them, could you ?-Yes.
3333. Could you ?-Yes. Supposing the joints lay that way (illustrating withi his

hand and walking stick). Of course the beds were level.
3334. You have had 45 years experience as a mason ?-Yes.
3335. Builder and stone cutter ?-I learned both, the stone cutting and the build-

ing.
3336. You worked at both ?-Yes.
3337. For 45 years ?-Yes.
3338. Off and on ?-Yes.
3339. Did vou ever in all your life see backing, cut stone and concrete used ii the

same work together ?-Well no, I di I not. I never had the experience of it before.
3340. Did you ever see anybody that had the experience of it before ?-I don't

think it.

By Mr Hlaygart:

3341. What do you think of the backing being done in that manner ?-I thought
it mtde a very strong job. Because we had a very large bed. Suppose we lad a large
bed and had concrete. We laid large stones upon it and kept away from the face of
the wall and filled it all round.

By Mr. Lister :

3342. For whoi were you inspector? For Ryan & Co., or for the Goverînment 2-
For the Government, sir.

3343. Did you work for Ryan No.
3344. You never worked for Ryan & Co. ?-I did once work for him.
3345. Did you work for him on this job at any time ?-No.
3346. When did you work for him ?-About thirty years ago I should think.
3347. You never worked for him since then ?-No.
3348. And were you inspector for the Government from the time the work com-

menced until it was completed ?-From the time the masonry was completed ?
3349. Yes ?-Yes.
3350. You were always inspector for the Government on the work ?-Yes.
3351. You were al ways on the work looking carefully after it ?-Yes, sir.
3352. You knew Couvrette? Did you not ?-Yes.
3353. You know he charged there was over-measurement ?-Well, I don't know

anything about that.
33-54. You know lie said so1-No. I never heard it until J heard it here.
3355. You never knew anything about over-measurements ?-No.
3356. Or the admission of improper material ?-No, I do not.
3357. You do not know anything about that ?--No.

The witness was then discharged.

The Committee adjourned.
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EXHIBITS REFERRED TO IN MINUTES OF EVIDENCE.

EXHIBIT No. 1.

AF-EMo. re payments to Hugh Ryan & Co.

Date

Applica-
tion.

Section No. 1. Aiount.

S1889.

Dec. 10.. Etimate No. 1. ...

1890.

Janî.
. nIe
'July
Aug.
Sept.
Oct.
Nov.
Dec.
Jlune
July
Aug.
Sept.
Oct.
Nov.
Dec.

189

9. . i

17.
14..
17. .
11. .
13..

15..!
15..'
16..
13. .
S.

1.

-Jan. 8..
June 13..
do 31..

Aug. 15. .
Sept. 15..

5 cts. 1891.

2,100 (0 Oct. 14. . Estinmate No. 1
Nov. 12. do
Dec. 12.. do

1,400 00 1893.
6,608 80
9,382 50 Jan. 11. do .

12,818 25 Feb. 10.. (o
12,681 90 Mar. 14. . do
12,781 80 A pril 1Il. . do
11,121 35 May 8.. ( ..
8,544 10 .June 17.. do

15,307 65 (1o 30.. (10
16,984 40 Aug. 14. . do ..
16,143 52 Sept. 31.. do ..
13,280 0,5 Oct. 7.. do

6,808 69 Dec. 7.. do
6,579 99

10,183 l0 1894.

April 11. do ...
May 10.. do ...

498 34 I.Te 11.. do
15,921L) 91 do 30.. do ..
7,249 85
9,729 46
5,407 62

Date
of

Applica-
tion.

Section No. 1.

$ ets.

2,214 03
4,215 52
3,35F, 4.'

4,818
4,098
1,4.9
2,778
1,953
7,283
6,087
5,985

15,985
2,123
1,9K6;

2,502 37
......... 12,357 51

13,138 95
5,968 52

299,775 17

.. .. .. . .. . .
... .. . ... ..
.... . .. .. .. ..

.. . . . . . . . . . .

.. .. . . . . . .
. . .. . . . . . . I
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EXHIBIT No. 2.

MEMîo. re payments made to Hugh Ryan & Co., Sault Ste. Marie Canal.

Date
<if

AIp ica-
tion.

Date

Amnount.

tioni.

Section No. 2. Amriount.

1889.

10. . Estimate No. 1 . .. .......
28.. ( 2 ........ .
9.. do 3........ .

10. do 4..........
11.. do 5............
11.. 6.. ... .
10.. do 7 ..........

. ...........

9 ...........
10..........
13 ...........
14............
13...........14...... . ... .

17 ...........
18..........
1 9 . . . . . . . . .. . .
20 ..........
21 .. . .... ....
22 ._ .... . .
23 ....
24..........
25 ..... ......
2o;...........
2 7 ....... ....

28. ..........

3 ...... .. ..
32.........

1890.

Jîan. 9..
May 8..
June 10..
July 17..
Au,. 13.
Sept. 17..
Oct. 13..
Nov. 13..
Dec. 15..

1891.

Jan. 14..
Febi. 13. .
Mar. 12..
April 14..
June 13..
July 15..,
Aug. 15. .1
Sept. i1 |
Oct. 13..
Nov. 11..
Dec. 5..

1892.

I an. 8..
Feb. i1 l
Mar. 12..
A pril 14. .
May 13. .

3,100 00
1,800 00
4,400 00
6,200 00
4,700 00
5,400 00
7,700 00

3,700 00
1,610 00
4,082 45

17,058 69
14,089 54
14,792 58
14,141 34
12,365 87
14.282 86

9,737 00
10,797 00
25,816 00

613 28
787 50

3,902 40
17,624 92
17,639 49
24,747 08
19,550 02
3,357 68

3,557 47
3,973 60

11,467 53
25,875 77
8,086 87

,une 17.. Estiaute No. 33........ ...
do 30.. do .4

Aug. 15.. do 35...........
Sept. 15.. do 36..... . ....
Oct. 18.. do 37..........
N ov. 14.. do 38....... ....
Dec. 12.. (o 39...........

1893.

Jlan. 11.. do 40......... ..
Feb. 16. do 41........
M ar. 14.. do 42............
April 11.. do 43.. .........
do 15.. Advance on account of draw-

back............. ...
May 12.. Estiiate No. 44...........
1.June 17 . do 45............

do 30.. do 46...... ..
Aug. 14. do 47......
Sept. 12.. do 48 . . . .....
Oct. 13.. do 49...........
Nov. 14.. do 50 .........

do 17.. Advance on account of draw-
back.................

Dec. 13.. Estimate No. 51............

1894.

J an. 12. . do 52.........
Feb. 9. do 53.......
M ar. 9.. do 54............
'April 12. do 55... ..... ..
May 5.. Advance on account of draw-

back .. ..... . ...... ......
May 10. . Estimate No. 56 ...........
June 18. . do 57

Total payments to 30th
J une, 1894 ......

174

IJune
do

Aug.
Sept.
Oct.
Nov.
D)ec.

$ ets.

22,573 54
46,494 49
52,856 91
47,270 24
43,145 81
55,925 89
41,455 69

60,586 04
7,853 93
2,248 02
2,875 55

40,000 00
19,319 22

100,985 '4
126,058 03
159,102 39
163,298 07
94,157 72
44,468 52

70,000 00
69,926 88

42,220 88
52,546 00
56,794 00
51,568 10

70,000 00
51,635 72
10,479 60

1,922,803 42

'Section No. :2.

'S ets. 19.
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EXHIBIT No. 3.

SAULT STE. MARIE, ONT., August 30th, 1894.

COLLINGWOOD SCHRE1BER, Esq., C. M. G., Ottawa.
DEAR SIR,-Herewith I send you some more letters from the men who were emt

ployed on the construction of this canal, giving their v iews of the kind of material used
and class of work done.

Yours truly,

(Sgd) WILLIAM CRAWFORD.

SAULT STE. LMARIE, ONT., August 25th, 1894.

This is to certify that I have been in the employment of Hugh Ryan & Co., as
foreman of masonry on the Sault Ste. Marie Canal for the pas' two years and have
followed public works in the capacity of foreman of masonry for 20 years on the follow
ing works: Welland Viaduct, masonry on suctions 1, 8 and 9 Welland Canal, Quebec
Graving Dock, Esquinalt Graving Dock, :Kingston Graving Dock, also Cleveland
Viaduct, and have a thorough experience of how such work should be done. I hereby
certify that I never saw a better class of work performed in every particular than was
done on the Sault Ste. Marie Lock, the engineers' and inspectors' instructions were car-
ried out to the letter and the contractors', Messrs. Ryan & Haney, instructions were to
use the best possible means to make a first class job, they did not save any expense that
was to the best interest of the work.

Any practical man can see that the work speaks for itself, I can prove this by inen
on the works.

(Sgd) W. IL HUGHES.

SAULT STE. MARIE, Ont., 25th August, 1894.
W. CRAWFORD, Esq

Sault Ste. Marie, Ont.
DEAR SIR,-In reply to your inquiry regarding quality of timber in culverts and

mitre sill platform of lock of Sault Ste. Marie Canal, Ont., I beg to state that I had the
superintendence of the unloading, assorting, planing, framing, and building of all the
timber put in the culverts and mitre sill platforns in 1893, and that I know the tinber
to be good sound timber of the size specified.

Truly yours,

(Sgd.) W. WHITE.

SAULT STE. MARIE, 25th August, 1894.

At your request I make this statament, I have over 40 years'experience as a inason,
and a good deal of that time on publie works in different parts of this country and in
Scotland, and have been inspector on this lock from its beginning until it was finished,
and was every working day and all day long going over the work and seeing that the
work was well done. The mason work of the walls was most carefully built and filled
with good cement mortar, and not a word against giving plenty by the contractors, there
can be no better test given than the test they got last summer before the walls were
finished building than from 25 to 30 feet of sludge run in behind them which made no
impression upon them.

I also examined daily the putting in of the foundations and building of the culverts
and the work was well done, the timber was good, and no such thing as bad timber and
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planed so as to fit closely, after the mason work was finished I inspected the building of
most of the crib-work in the canal and watched it closely, the timber was good and
sound, weil framed together and the crib was well filled, the same may be said of all
parts of the work ; the material was all good and the work done to my mind satisfactorily.

(Sgd.) ROBERT SCOTT.

CARDINAL, 25th AuguSt, 1894.
WM. CRAWFORD, Esq., C.E.,

Sault Ste. Marie, Ont.

DEAR SiR,-Your favour of 21st containing copy of a letter sent by A. McLennan
to the honourable the Minister of Railways and Canals was received when on my
journey here, hence the delay in answering your i equest to give you my opinion on his
charges from my personal observation and experience. I must say that it does seeni to
me almost a waste of time to answer charges that are so utterly at variance with the
fact, and truth. However, as you have requested it, I will do so as far as I am compe-
tent to do it.

1st. Then, re the crib-work. That the crib-work bas given way in places is an
evident fact, but that it was not well tilled or that the worknanship was bad, is not so
as has been proven in the only way possible, viz.: by sinking test holes to the bottom
of the crib in a number of places at the point where the shore has been greatest. Being
desirous of profiting by the experience gained in the case, J made a personal examina-
tion of these test holes and do assert that in every case they the cribs were well filled
and the workmanship is unquestionably good. Had it been defective, then I think a great
part of it would have been destroyed under the great pressure brought to bear upon it.
If McLellan is, as he asserts, a practical man and had an examination of these cribs in
the manner mentioned then, i think lie never would have made this charge, for now
that the experience bas been had the cause of the trouble is plain to be seen.

2nd. Asto his charge that 75 to 80 feet bas been needlessly excavated, that of course
is nonsense and only shows that however practical he mav be in something, he is not
a practical canal man who would know something had to be made there.

3rd. As to the charge that one half the timber in the lock bottom is rotten and so
badly rotten that it could be picked to pieces with the naked hands, no more arrant rot
was ever written by any sane man. 1 witnessed a considerable portion of this timber
being put in and did not see any (even one piece) being put there that I would have
condemned had I been acting as inspector.

4th. And now we come to what he considers the main charge, viz., the lock walls.
I wonder did this practical man ever see a lock wall built before this one. As you are
aware, I have seen almost every if not quite every lock wall on the canals from Mont-
real to the Soo and the greater part of them, under construction as well as completed,
and therefore I can speak as an experienced if not as a practical man. Now, I have no
hesitation in saying that I have seen no better class of masonry than this on the whole
line of the canal, neither did I ever see more care being exercised in its construction
than I saw being exercised during the time I was there last fall, but perhaps the
strongest proof of the untruthfulness of this charge bas been given by the contractors
themselves who have puddled behind the walls by flushing in the material with water
instead of tamping in the usual manner. Had the wall been built as this man asserts
the water would have poured through in torrents and I would not have been surprised
to have seen symptoins of a bulge under the strain of a 44 foot head as they had on it
whilst it was still gre n. As it is the only thing to be seen is the natural leakage that
comes through the stone walls that have water behind them and are not protected by a
heavy coating of Portland cement.

5th, 6th and 7th. All I can say is if McLennan and thousands of others will make oath
to the truth of his statement then there are thousands up there that are quite regardless
of what they make oath to ; as to his patriotism I would have thought more of that and
less of his venom had he adhered sonewhere nearly to the truth. I think his P. S.
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shows clearly that he was making statements that he did not know the trutl of, because
the crib has not spread as he thought, but was driven to the shape showi by the
pressure on the opposite side of the crib: and the natural inference is that lie knew quite
as little about the other charges.

I remain, respectifully yours,

(Signed) ROBERT MILLER.

SAULT STE -MARIE CANAL,
SAULr STE. MARIE, ONT., 27th August, 1894.

COLLINGWOOD SCHREIBER, Esq., C.M.G.,
Chief Engineer, Dept. Railways and Canals, Ottawa.

DEAR SIR,-I am in reeipt of your letter of 2Oth instant, ine]osing a copy of a
letter from Mr. Alex. McLennan to the Hon. Minister, in which lie indulges in such
reckless and absurd abuse of every part of this canal and every one connected with it,
that his own letter should answer itself. All large public works are Elable to some
failures, for it is not given to mian to foresee every danger that inay happen, but I never
heard of one that had not some redeening feature.

Mr. Alex. iMcLennan seems to be well known here, is, I am> tohl, quite a stump
orator and makes himself known. He worked on the lock in Fraser's gang as a
labourer mnixing mortar, also for a few days in the planing miill, and is now, I believe
chopping wood and clearing a bush farn not far from here. On one occasion le called
on me and wished ta be appointed masonry inspector, but as there was no vacancy, I
did not inquire into his qualifications.

His charges are as follows

(1) That the crib revetment was built in win, er, " filled with all kinds of rubbish
and stones of enormous size too large to go between the ties, conseqi ently stuck there,
besides there was a larg- quantity of frozen earth, snow and ice; that noc supports
were put between the ties and the workmanship was bad, therefore wlhen the stone wall
was built on top of the crib it "squeezed the loose naterial against the sides of tne
timbers and caused this so called crib-work to bulge out near the bottomu like the round-
ing of the bottom of a ship."

In this statement he is partially right ad partially incorrect. The wcrk was prin-
cipally done in winter for the best of reasons, and on that account crib-work was used
instead of a stone wall, for many engineers doubt if nasonry can be built in wiîter as
well as in summer, therefore of course some snow and ice was iixed up with the filling,
but not enough to do more than moisten the niaterial when the w,'armu weather arrived.
Some frozen clay also went in, for there are clay seams between the beds of rock, and it
was quite impossible to separate rock from frozen clay, but as rubbish was put in and
the earth overlying the rock was too valuable for other purposes, therefore, it was
taken off and banked long before any cribs were built. No unprejudiced person will
say that large stones are not quite as good if not botter than snall ones, provided they
do not damage the ties or bottom in being put in. There was no floor and it bas been
well proved, by the holes made in the cribs and those portions taken down anid replaced,
that no damage was done to the ties by the few large stones that were put in. These
exaninations of the crib have also proved, very clearly I think, that the crib-work was
well built, well filled and well bedded in the rock. The blocks put in between the ties
were quite sufficient to prevent the ties breaking from the weight of wall and material
above them, if it had not happened that in some places the material behind the crib,
which in winter did not seem very bad, had not turned out in spring to be very wet,
and the pressure behind the cribs became too great for the weight in the crib and it was
pressed out, as has often happened with stone walls under similar circumstances. As
soon as this was noticed, heavy props were put in and the space between then con-
creted, which prevented further slides and made an excellent substantial job.
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(2.) That a width of 75 or 80 feet unnecessary excavation was made " for which the
country bas to pay a large amount of money almost for nothing " is simply nonsense.
The excavation taken out bas been solely for the width of channel as originally designed
and for foundation of cribs to rock surface.

(3.) That nearly all the mechanical work on the canal is at fault and nearly one-half
of the tiniber in the bottom of the lock is rotten and ought to be culled and so forth.

This statemnent is absolutely false. There is not a single stick of timber in the
foundations of the lock which has one particle of rot in it, and I append a short note
fron Mr. Wmu. White, who saw the timber unloaded, superintended its framing and
planing, put it in place, and actually did see every single stick of timber over and over
again. M1r. White is a man of some twenty-five years' experience in timber structures,
and bas quite a record as a good and reliable crib and bridge builder, and bas no hesita-
tion in referring to Messrs. A. Cargill, Alex. McNeill and J. S. Rowand, members of
parlianent, as to the way he has conducted work of this sort in the county of Bruce,
and ther e are others in other parts of the country for whom he bas worked. He mav
iot be a patriotic man of Mr. McLennan's stamp, but I know, and I speak advisedly
wlhen I say so, that no man could get hin to put in a rotten piece of timber in this or
any other piece of work, and I also know thiat if lie or anyone else had done so on this
work lie would not have remained one minute longer on the work after being lound out.
I feel ashamed, after five or six years' experience of the work done by Messrs. Ryan &
Haney, that I shall be called on to defend their honesty, but as this seems to be the
case, I state most distinctly that I have not only never seen the slightest inclination to
skirk their work or put in bad material, but on the contrary, with or without super-
vision, they have rejectedi material or work that had the slightest flaw in it, and they
have often supplemented work at their own expense so as to nake a more perfect job
than w\ as called for by the specifications.

(4.) That the lock walls are built of bad mortar and are full of " rat holes so that
the water can run through them like a sieve."

This is put as a climax to Mr. McLennan's objections and indeed a climax, for up
to this timne we thou-ht the lock masonry was a very excellent job and have been rather
proud of it. A large number of engineers from this continent and also froni Europe,
in consequence of the World's Fair at Chicago, have visited us and examined the lock
walls very carefully at different stages of construction, and all agree that it was impos-
sible to build a better lock wall. The cement used was of the very best brands in the
market, and was used in abundance, the sand was exceptionally good, and the stone,
both for facework and backing, could not be excelled in this or any other country. No
better crowd of masons was ever brought together on any public work than on this, as
vas proved by the hollow cuoins, 45 feet high, which must be absolutely true to suit

the gates, requiring so little dressing that the best authorities in lock walls were amazed
at the accuracy of the building. Therefore it is rather absurd for the mixer of iortar to
condeun these walls and as he says all the other natters are " secondary affair in com-
parison to the way the lock walls were being built," I think his case is weak.

Yours faithfully,
(Signed) WILLIAM CRAWFORD,

1Resident Engineer.

SAULT STE. MARIE, ONT.
27th August, 1894.

MR. WILLIAM CRAWFORD,

DEAR SIR,-In reply to your communication in reference to inferior workmanship
on the Sault Ste. Marie Canal, I have only to state that I had charge of masonry and
cut stone during the most important part of its progress, and in no instance was trouble
or expense spared to make the walls first class in every respect. I consider the backing
stone that was used to be admirably suited for the purpose, it has good level beds, and
averages from 4 to 9 tons each stone, laid in good cement mortar and properly grouted,
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the instructions of the inspector in charge were strictly adhered to throughout. The
face stone is properly eut, well bonded, and laid in the best quality of imported English
cement. I have had 29 years' experience in the building trade, 18 years of which vas
spent as foreman on important works in England. I was employed for two seasons on
the new canal on the American side, and I conscientiously say that I consider the walls
on the Canadian lock to be stronger and better than those on the Aierican side, the
backing here being so much larger and superior to that used on the Ainerican side.

I remain,
Yours respectfully,

(Signed,) HENRY WATSON,
Superintendent of Cut Sow, &c.

SAULT STE. MARIE, 28th August, 1894.
GENTLEMEN,-The Sault Ste. Marie Canal, Ontario, is just about completed. I

should have great pleasure in expressing iy opinion on its construction. I have had
12 years' experience as foreman on masonry, chiefly on public works. 1 have been emi
ployed on the above canal as forenan since the commencement of building. I have
pleasure in stating that Hugh Ryan & Co. had the best staff of foremen tiat I have
come in contact with either in the United States or the Dominion of Canada, and I con-
sider, as an experienced man, that the nasonry of this canal is second to none in the
Dominion of Canada. No expense has been spared to make it a success and I inut say
that the inspectors in charge have spared no pains in seeing that the work was done
satisfactorily.

I remain, yours truly,

(Sgd.) GEORGE MO(RE.

SAULT STE. MARIE, 28th August, I 894.
DEAR S1R,-This is to certify that I was in charge of the gang whichi mixed prac-

tically all the mortar used on the lock wall, and that all the mortar was strictly first
class and satisfactory to the inspector in charge.

My orders from Mr. Haney were to make first class mortar always and any cement
that was at all damaged to throw it out; these orders I always carried out, no inortar
was ever left mixed over night in order that it was alwavs fresh -when used. I have
seen after a rain pools of water remain on the lock wall for days, which speaks for itself
as to the quality of mortar used. To this I amn willing at any tinie to make affidavit if
necessary.

(Sgd.) W. J. COLLINS.

SAULT STE. MARIE, 28th August, 1894.
WILLIAM CRAWFORD, Esq.,

Sault Ste. Marie, Ont.
DEAR SI,-In reply to your inquiry regarding the masonry of the Sault Ste. Marie

Canal I say that I have never seen better work of this class. I have been working at
my trade as a mason for twenty years, nine years in the Isle of Man and eleven years
in this country, six years of which time I was employed on the Welland aqueduct, and
on locks 3 and 10 of the Welland canal, also two years on railroad work and about two
years on the Niagara Falls tunnel canal. I have been here during the construction of
most of the rnasonry and would say it is first class work. The instructions of the
Government inspector were always carried out by me. And the contractors told me
over and over to do the best work I could on the wall.

I might say that during my eleven years' experience in this country I have been a
foreman for six years.

Yours respectfully,
(Sgd.) ROBERT MYLCHREEST.
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SAULT STE. MARIE, 28th August, 1894.
W. CRAWFORD, Esq.,

DEAR SIR,-I hereby certify that I occupied a position as foreman on the construc-
tion of the crib-work of this canal from the start to the finish of it, and at no time during
that work did I see any but good sound timber go into any part of it. I might also
say that I handled a great deal of the timber put in the bottom of the lock, and found
it all good sound timber suitable for any work.

I have been doing timber work for ten years, and can say that the timber used on
this work was as good, all round, as any I have handled in that time; my instructions
from the contractor was always to do good work, and I always endeavoured to carry out
those instructions.

Yours truly,
(Sgd.) S. McDONALD.

SAULT STE. MARIE, 29th August, 1894.
W. CRAwFORD, Esq.,

Resident Engineer, Sault Canal.

DEAR SIR,-Having been requested to give you ny opinion of the work and material
used in the construction of the canal here, I have no hesitation in saying that as far as
the branch in which I was particularly connected is concerned both the material and
workmanship was of the best-I refer to the timber work-having had charge of that
oranch since the first of January ; previous to that I handled every stick of timuber
used in the lock-bottom through the dimension plainer before it was put in ; I did this
part myself, personally, and can vouch for the good quality of timber used. In the
crib-building it was equally good and well built, we slighted nothing, having received
particular instructions from Mr. Haney to slight no part of the work and to comply
with any requests made by the inspectors which I think they will admit I have always
done, and having to pass back and forth over the cribs every day can say they were well
filled.

As to the mason work in the lock, I did not have the opportunity of seeing a great
deal of it, but what I did, consider it well built; I plumbed and measured all the quoins
and walls of lock for the gates and mitre sills, and must say was astonished at the
accuracy, for in no place was there a variation of 1 of an inch which I think remark-4
able, and I think I ought to have a fair knowledge of work of that kind having been
engaged on canal works for fourteen years, eight of whicb I have hîad charge of all the
work for the firm I wvas engaged with.

You are at liberty to make use of this any way you wish, and I am willing to make
affidavit to saine any time.

Yours truly,
(Sgd.) H. W. ROSS,

Superintendent Timber Work for H. Ryan & Co., Soo Canal.

EXHIBIT No. 4.

SAULT STE. MARIE, August 9th, 1894.
Hon. JorN HAGGART.

SIR,-I being a friend and supporter of the Government, I consider it my duty to
inform you of sone of what has transpired as well as what is transpiring on this canal.
The so called crib-work was mostly built in winter and filled with all kinds of rubbish
and stones of enormous size too large to go between the ties consequently stuck there
besides this there was a large quantity of frozen earth, snow and ice-

When they begai to build a stone wall on top of this, the whole thing began to
sink, because there was no proper support put under the ties to keep them f rom breaking,
therefore there was not sufficient support to keep up this weight which squeezed out this
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loose material against the sides of the timbers and caused this so called crib-work to bulge
out near the bottom like the rounding of the botton of a ship. The excavation made to
make room for all this rubbish including the space taken up by the braces are no less
than 35 to 40 feet on each side of the canal-making in all from 75 to 80 feet of excava
tion al] along the canal for which this country lias to pay a large amount of mîoney
almost for nothing. Being a practical man I an certain that the sinking of this crib-work
was caused by bad workmanship, but it is not only the crib-work that is at fault but
nearly all the mechanical work on the canal, nearly one half the timber in the bottoin
of the lock is rotten and ougit to be culled, a person could take a great part of the
sticks apart with his hands before they were put in the lock ; no one can see the quality
of timber now as they kept the best sides outside. But all this is a secondary affair in
comparison to the way the lock walls were being built, I lad the opportunity to observe
while the men were at work mixing the mortar the water run through it as it would go
through pure sand and run into the numerous rat holes as it would go through a sieve
-stones thrown on top of stones without any bedding whatever.

Neither contractor nor foreman would pay any attention to inspector or any one
else, they seemed to do pretty mucli as they pleased.

I may say that I and others were eye witnesses to all I have stated here and we
are prepared to prove it all on oath. I have no hesitation in saying that I and
thousatnds of others do believe that this canal work is one of the most gigantic frauds
that ever was carried on in Canada if not in North America.

I do not write this through any ill-will but fron a pure spirit of patriotisn as I
consider this work would be a disgrace to any country even to a semi-civilized country.

The governnent may find out when it is too late that they made a nistake in
allowing so important national work as this to be controlled by Irish Ainricans, and
some of them could be proved even by Government officials to be common vagabonds.

I may state that if there is no imîmediate steps taken by the Governimenît to rectify
some of this wrong doing, I and a great nany others shall deem it oui duty to write
all this and a great deal more to the public press.
P. S.

iDEAR SIR,-In case vou may have occasion to find out my address, I nay say that
it is impossible for properly constructed crib-work to spread without the tics breaking
or being cut.

(Sgd.) A. IMcL.
ALEX. McLENNAN,

Sault Ste. Mari-, Ont.

OTTAWA, 5th September, 1894.
(Jemorandum of Instructions.)

Unfavourable reports as to the character of the work of construction of the Sault
Ste. Marie Canal having reached the Honourable Minister of Railways and Canals, he
desires before any further payments are made on account of this work, that a thorough
examination of the work be made by three engineers of undoubted higli repute in the
profession, who it is desired shall at once proceed to Sault Ste. Marie to make a thior-
ough inspection of the works, exercising their own judgement as to the mode of pro-
cedure and report to him.

It is important that no delay shall arise in making the examination as the water
cannot be let into the canal so as to enable the dams to be eut away until the examin-
ation is completed. It is the desire of the Government that there shall be no hindrance
to the work being proceeded with to completion so as to enable the canal to be opened
for traffic this season.

By order,
(Sgd.) COLLINGWOOD SCHREIBER,

Deputy Alinister.
TrOMAs KEEFER, Esq., C.M.G., CE.
CHARLES GREGORY, Esq., C.E.
JOSEPH HOBSoN, Esq., C.E.
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SAULT STE. MARIE, 17th September, 1894.
Honourable JOHNI HAGGART,

Minister of Railways and Canals, Ottawa.

SiR,-We, the undersigned having, in accordance with instructions from your
department, inspected the works of construction of the Sault Ste. Marie Canal, beg
leave to submit the following interim report pending further information now being
obtained by -Mr. Keefer.

The lock-walls are completed and backed up with earth to their full height, so that
nothing is visible except the face and copings of the masonry. This masonry is massive
and appears to be of the most excellent character, both as regards materials and work-
manship, and fully up to the requirements of the plans and specifications. The walls
are in such perfect line and plane that we have no doubt that they have been substan-
tially and properly put together throughout, since any defect, even in the interior of
the masonry, wouldi be pretty sure by this time to have exhibited itself in some way
upon the surface. Our opinion of the good quality of the lock masonry is fully confirmed
by the statements of the Government officers and others who were competent of judg-
ing, and who had opportunities of seeing the work while under construction.

The earth filling behind the masonry was, we are informed, flushed in with water,
and this severe test of the stability of the work caused no indication of any defect in it ;
we think, therefore, that the character of the masonry of the lock, in ail its parts, is
beyond question.

The lock gates are, in our opinion, of excellent material and workmanship.
A niatter which appeared to us of great moment was, the inspection and, if possible,

the testing of the efficiency of the anchoring bolts, by which the wooden filling culvert,
in the lock, are secured to the rock upon which they are built, so as to guard against
their floating or being displaced by hydrostatic pressure from below their floor.

Owing to the anchoring bolts of these culverts being now inaccessible we were
unable to test any of them ; we could therefore only make diligent inquiries as to the
supervision which had been exercised over the work of sinking the holes in the rock,
and of securing the bolts therein. We had no evidence to lead us to suppose that the
inspection w-as not sufficiently rigorous we have however been impressed with the idea
that, when the work was in prog ess, there was a feeling among all engaged upon it
that, the only force which had to be guarded against was the floatage power of the
timber. In this opinion we hesitate to concur as there is a danger, we are inclined to
believe, that a pressure may exist under the floor of culverts tending to lift it, due pro-
bably to the head of water in the upper part of the lock ; we consider that steps should
be taken to guard against the possible injury to the culverts which might arise from this.
That there is water under the floor we know from openings which we caused to be made.

All the timber used in the construction of the culverts at the bottom of the lock,
so far as we could see it, was of good quality ; and from the information obtained from
trustworthy persons employed upon these culverts, when they were being built, we feel
warranted in believing that no bad material was used in them.

Some portions of the crib-work upon the sides of the prism of the canal bulged, but
the defects have been remedied by some of these parts of the work having been taken
-down and rebuilt by the orders, and under the supervision, of your engineers, and by
other parts being supported by inclined struts extending f rom the rock in the bed of the
canal to the face of the cribwork, a few feet below the top. The spaces between these
braces, and between thein and the face of the crib-work and of the rock beneath it, were
filled with concrete so as to present a smooth, plane surface.

The crib-work was of such a design that its stability and efficiency as a retaining
wall were dependent largely upon the manner in which the stone filling was done. The
specification for this work contained a clause in the words following :-" The crib-work
shall be well and solidly filled with stone from bottom to top, which shall be carefully
packed around and between the ties and properly levelled off at the top."

The construction of the crib-work and the filling of it with stone, and also the
filling in the earth at the back of it, were, we understand, carried on during the winter
last past, as was also the excavation of the rock in the canal prism in front of it.
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We can very readily appreciate the force of vhat has been represented to us that
during the winter it was almost impossible to detect the thin strata of clay which exist-
ed between the beds of the rock, and which adhered to the stone used for filling, and
that in consequence some soft material found its way into the cribs. We attribute the
bulging of the cribs partly to this mixture of clay in the filling, and partly to the rock
below theni being insufficient for their support, after the excavation for the canal prisi
had been taken out to its full width and c ose to the face of the crib-work ; the move-
ment in the cribs may therefore, to a considerable extent, be attributed to the prosecu-
tion of the work during the winter, whereby not oily vas the capacity of the cribs to
resist the thrust of the earth behind thein reduced, but the tendency of this earth to
slide when the spring came was increased by reason of the thawing and subsequenit
liquefaction of the frozen material which had been used for filling the cribs and for
making up the ground at the back of,them. The defects which the cribwork has ex-
hibited may therefore be largely ascribed to the work having beei earried on during the
winter. The methods adop:ted by your engineers for overcoming the difficulties encoun-
tered are perhaps the best that could have been devised uider the circumstances, as the
struts afford support to the cribs, and the concrete filling between these struts and in
front of the rock underlying the cribs, prevents its further disintegration, supposing no
movement had occurred in the cribwork the protection of the rock would h1ave been a
necessity.

We have the honour to be, sir,
Your obedient servants,

(Sgd.) JOSEPH HOBSON,
'' CHARLES C. GREGORY.

OTTAwA, 27tlh September, I894.
To the Honourable JoHN HAGGART,

Minister of Railways and Canais.

SIr,-I have the honour to acknowledge the receipt of your itstructions of tie 5th
instant, directing me in consequence of unfavourable reports ha ing reached you as to
the character of the work of the Sault Ste. Marie Canal, to proceed witl hMessrs.
Hobson and Gregory, C. E's. to that canal, and make a thorough examiinati n and in1-
spection of the work before the water was let in, and before any payments were made
to the contractors.

Messrs. Hob on and Gregory reached the Sault on the l2th, and I arrived there on
the 13th. On the 14th we went over the work together. Tley completed examiniation
and returned on the 18th, and I left them on the 19th after mnaking arrangements for
certain information to be forwarded to me froin the office of the resident engineer,
whlch I received on the 24th. Before leaving the Sault, my colleagues read to mie an
interim report upon which they had agreed, tu which I was unable to subscribe.

The unfavourable reports referred to in our instructions w re chiefly c ntained in a
letter written from Sault Ste. Marie in August last by a former enployee of the contrac-
tors named McLeinan. As we learned that he was near the Sault, we sent for and
heard him.

The three charges made by him were
1. The masonry of the lock was not solid.
2. The timber in the filling culverts of the lock was unsound.
3. The cribs for foundation of wallN of canal banks were not properly filled.
McLennan informed us that he had been employed as a mixer of mortar on the

lock walls and therefore knew that sufficient cement and mortar had not been used.
Asked when he saw this he replied :-"In June, 1893."
When asked why he (who wrote, as he states in his letter, as a friend of the Gov-

ernment and fron patriotic motives) had waited until August, 1894, and until the lock
walls were completed, before he reported this defective work, his answer was that heý
had not had time before. Questioned as to the culvert timber which he had said could
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be pulled apart with the hands, lie said lie had not so tested it because when he saw it
it was frozen.

All the timber in sight-and the most of it was yet in sight-we found to be of
excellent quality, and as to the masonry of the lock walls wherever visible, nothing
could be finer. We were convinced froin what is to be seen, and from the statements
of engineers and inspectors-as well as from information obtained from the American
side (where similar work is going on) that there is nothing whatever in the charges as
to the quality of the masonry and timber. It is inconceivable that, in so public a place
with the works open to all-surrounded by experts on both sides of the river, visited by
tourists, foreign engineers and contractors, bad masonry and timber could have been
put in the work, without its having been brought to the knowledge of the press and of
the Government.

As to the crib filling, the fact that some of the crib-work failed, gave colour to the
charge against the filling, which could not ndw be seen. For the greater part of its
length, these cribs were seated on the rock in pits excavated for them before the earth
and rock excavation of the canal prismi in front of them was taken out, and were filled
and backed up from the excavation as it progressed. Some of them were moved by
the pressure behind thein before they were filled up and reconstructed.

The extent of this crib-work is over 2,000 feet in length upon each side of the
canal, and I learn from the resident engineer that seventy per cent of that upon the
north side and eighty-four per cent of that upon the south side withstood the pressure.
Of the remainder-about ten per cent of the whole length was rebuilt-41 per cent of
it as crib-vork and 6 per cent as wall ; this last being where the rock base for crib-
work had been too much shattered by the blasting.

About 12½ per cent of the whole, which show d signs of yielding to the pressure,
was secured by struts or shoring from the solid rock bottom of the canal, and this system
has been carried throughout, not only supporting the crib-work, but for the purpose of
concreting the ragged face of the rock excavation, and thus retaining in situ the loose
and friable strata. This was under the circumstances necessary, and the course adopted
will, I believe prove effectual. It serves the double purpose of securing the crib foun-
dations of the masonry walls upon each side of the canal and of protecting passing craft.

This crib-work is now secure and with the water in will be more so, especially if any
spoil bank behind it and near enough to affect it is renioved before the water is with
drawn, and thus relieve a saturated bank in rear of the crib from this additional weight.
The specification, I believe, provides that no spoil bank higher than 10 feet shall be
within 90 feet of the face of the wall-and none shall be within 50 feet of that face.

As we were instructed that further payments to the contractors would await our
report, I think it proper to state, that I do not believe ihat there is anytbing 1. the
present condition of this great work which makes it necessary or reasonable to withhold
the usual estima tes.

To avoid muisconception, I deem it necessary to specify the only point upon which
I differ with my colleagues in their interim report. This is with reference to the
necessity of giving relief to any water which may find its way either from the rock
below or elsewhere-to the underside of the flooring of the filling culverts in the lock
bottom. This floor rests upon tirbers across the lock bottom which are bedded in con-
crete, with spaces of only six inches between them.

The greatest head to be apprehended would be when the lock is pumped out and
the Lake Superior level resting against the guard gate. I do not think that Lake
Superior pressure can be transmitted to these culvert foundations under the mitre sills
and breast walls: and if it could, the span between the timbers, exposed te such pres-
sure, is so narrow that spiking or tree-nailing is sufficient to resist it. If there be any
doubt upon this point, I think the true remedy is to increase the plank fastenings.

The question raises that of the efficiency of the anchorage of the culverts them-
selves, which we were unable to reach or test, we therefore made the only test practi-
cable of the holding power of similar anchorage bolts at the foundation of the movable
dam. A pair of hydraulic jacks of 15 and 20 tons respectively were applied to two of
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these bolts. In one case the bolt was broken off, in the other it was neither broken nor
withdrawn.

There was no gauge bv which the exact strain could be ascertained, but it was
known to exceed ten tons upon each bolt.

Ten tons is the limit of the strain called for by the contract for the rock bolting at
the lock upon the Amierican side.

I have the honour to be, sir,
Your obedient servant,

(Sgd) THOMAS C. KEEFEIL

HAITON, ONT., October Ist, 1894.

To the Honourable JorN HAGGART,
Minister of Railways and Canals, Ottawa.

SIR,-I have the honour to acknowledge the receipt of a copy of Mr. T. C. Keefer's
report, dated the 27th ult., upon the character of the work of construction of the Sault
Ste. Marie Canal, and having carefully considered it, I beg to say that, from t le
inspection of the work which I made in company with hin andi Mr. C. C. Gregory, I
fully agree with him that, there is nothing " in the present condition of this great work
which makes it necessarv or reasonable to wit hhold the usual estimates - froi the con-
tractors. In our interim ieport, dated the 17th uilt., Mr. Gregory and T stated our
favourable opinion of the work, and I find that there is nothing in Mr. Keefr's report
which conflicts with what we therein said about it.

As to the only subject upon whicl there was any difference of opinion beteen Mr.
Keefer and Mr. Gregory and myself-the anchorage of timiber culUerts in the bottoi of
the lock ; Mr. Gregory and I referred to the question of the anchorage, being impressed
with the idea that there was a possibility of its being insufhicient., but since w'e made
our report I have learned that the water has been let into the lock, with the miîost satis-
factory results : This, of course, settles the question.

I have the honour to be, Sir,
Your obedient servant,

(Signed) JOSEPHI H[lMON.

20, MANNING ARCADE,
TORONTO, March 1th, 1S95.

To the Honourable JoHN HAGGART,
Minister of Railways and Canals.

SIR-As the report signed by Mr. Hobson and myself in the iatter of the Saul
Ste. Marie Canal was an interim report, and as Mr. Keefer, C.M.G., made a separate
and later report, the adoption of which by Mr. Hobson and nyself would render it
unnecessary that any formal, joint and final report should be made, I beg iereby to
express my concurrence in Mr. Keefer's report, saving only ny maintenance of the
opinion expressed in Mr. Hobson's and my provisional report, that it iight have been
well, by providing an outlet for any water that miglt becoîe iipounded below the
flooring of the filling culverts to guard against any hydrostatic pressure from any con-
nection with water at a higher level. Mr. Keefer appears to think that we spoke of
such outlet or relief as a necessity, whereas we only recommended it as a precautiori, so
that after all there is no issue between us. T was, and am, far from saying that there
was any necessity and therefore do not differ from Mr. Keefer. The satisfactory filling
of the lock goes far to support Mr. Keefer's opinion that there was no necessity for
what we recommended as a precaution.

I have the honour to be, Sir,
Your obedient servant,

(Signed) CHAS. C. GREGO1Y.
185
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EXHIBITS Nos. 5 AND 6.

Photograph of the lock and entrance to the Sault Ste. Marie Canal. (Not reproduced
here.)

EXHIBITS Nos. 7 AND 8.

Plans of upper and lower entrances, showing obstacles met during recent sweeping.
(X ot reproduced here.)

EXHIBIT No. 9.

( Engineer's report accompanying plans of upper and lower entrances of Sault Ste. Mfarie
Canal showing obstacles met during recent sweeping.)

SAULT STE. MARIE CANAL,
SAULT STE. MARIE, ONT., June 7, 1895.

COLLINGWOOD SCIHREIBER, Esq., C.M. G.,
Chief Engineer Dept. Rys. and Canals,

Ottawa.
DEAR SIR,-I have been delayed writing you about the results of the recent sweep-

ing of the entrance channels in order to send you plans of the depths found which will
give you a much better idea of the position of the obstacles met and the depth of water
obtainable than a description. Where no sounding is shown the sweep met with no
obstacle when down to 20 feet. Every care was takea to cover every portion of tlie

ground, which is a very difficult thing to do, therefore the lines overlapped each other
censiderably and the same boulder may appear in two lines. Some boulders were found
at the eastern end of the lower channel where the original cross-sections showed no
dredging required, therefore nothing vas expected and this part of the channel was not
laid out, but in a few days I will have this properly laid out and swept. The dredge is
again going over the whole channel and the derrick scow is picking up the larger
boulders at the lower entrance and a dredge and drill are working at the upper dam.

I am sir, your obedient servant,

WILLIAM CR AWFORD,
Engineer in Charge.
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Tobique Valley Railway Inquiry.

REPORT

COMMITTEE ROOM,

FRIDAY, 12th July, 1895.

The Select Standing Committee on Public Accounts beg leave to present the follow-
ing as their Fifth Report

Your Committee have had under consideration the item " Tobique Valley Railway,
319,341.54," as set out under the heading " Railway subsidies paid in 1893-94," on page
Q-148 of the Auditor General's Report, on Appropriation Accounts for the fiscal year
ended 30th June, 1894, and in connection therewith have heard a statemrent under oath
by the Hon. the Minister of Marine and Fisheries, and for the information of the House
report herewith the said statement and the evidence given by the said Minister, and the
exhibit filedin connection thereto ; and the Committee recommend that the said state-
nient, evidence and exhibit be printed.

All which is respectfully submitted.

GEO. B. BAKER,

3
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MINUTES OF EVIDENCE.

COMMITTEE Roow,
HoUSE OF COMMNIONs, 9th July, 1895.

The Conmittee met.

Hon. Mr. COSTIGAN appeared before the committee and said : Mr. Chairman, J wish
an opportunity of miaking a statement-a short statement-in connection with the
construction of the Tobique Valley Railway, the subsidies voted for it, and in connection
with the interest that I have in properties along that line ; and in order to do so in aI
manner that will challenge, I think, the fair opinion and decision of the public, J ask to
be sworn and to make that statement under oath, and I would further ask that my
statement be taken down as I make it, by the shorthand writers.

The oath having been administered, Mr. Costigan said : As a representative of my
constituency, Victoria, New Brunswick, I assume whatever responsibility may fairly be
attached to me for getting the necessary aid, coupled with provincial aid, to coiplete
the construction of a portion of a projected line of railway, called the Tobique Valley
Railway. That constituency more than any other constituency, in our province at least,
felt the necessity of railway construction, it being an interior county, the furthest re-
moved f rom navigation with the St. Lawrence or the Bay of Fundy. A Mr. Stewart, of
Andover, was an enthusiast on the subject of railway communication on the Tobique
River. After the policy of the Government was adopted of affording aid to provincial
railways, I felt a strong hope that something might be done for my constituency in that
line. At that time a charter was obtained through the Provincial Legisla-
ture of New Brunswick for the construction of this line-not merely
this line of 28 miles, but a line projected from Perth to connect with a road, a proposed
road, from Campbellton. A subsidy was promised by the Blair Government, but not
voted. My first application-I do not mean by that such an application as would come
from a company or promoters, but I am speaking of the effort J made in this connection
-was when the question of subsidies in the different provinces was considered, to lend
my legitimate influence, as I considered it, to secure a subsidy for a portion of this
work. While it was the policy of the Government to encourage the construction of
roads deemed to be of importance, especially by the Provincial Legislature, it will be
easily understood that the subsidy for the construction of the whole line in all cases
could not well he granted. A subsidy of S3,200 a mile was granted for 28 miles of this
railway. I can give the date of that, I think, in June, 1886. I want to state that up
to that time in 1886, when that subsidy was granted, I did not own one foot of land in

that section of the country at ail. I held no mining leases covering any property there
or near it, or anywhere else. When that first subsidy was voted the only interest J had
-and J state it positively-was the interest that I believe I felt in my constituents
and the development of this section of the country. The first 14 miles of this road
will be admitted by ail engineers to be of such a character as to be impossible of con-
struction for the usual estimate made for railways. The Blair Government found itself
in a position then, that it could not carry out what I have stated I believed to have
been the promise of a subsidy to be made in conjunction with the Dominion subsidy, on

account of the fact that there were so many other claims for railways, and the finances
would not admit of opening the door. That is the statement made to me. The subsidy
as voted was, therefore, perfectly useless. It would not secure the construction of the



58 Victoria. Appendix (No. 2.) A. 1895

road. At the next session- the session, at any rate, of 1887--the subsidy applied to the
28 miles was made applicable to the first 14 miles that were considered doubly expensive
at least.

Jy Mr. Lister :
Q. That would be S6,400 a mile, would it ?-A. Yes, it was just doubled up. Yes,

that is, in effect, the same thing. That was voted under chapter 50, 51 Victoria, and it
was on the 23rd June, 1887, when that was done. I want to state when that took
place, and wvhen that money vas voted I owned no land, controlled no leases. had no in-
terest to the extent of one dollar along that line, nor had I up to that time, nor since
that time, one cent's worth of interest directly or indirectly in any stock or other way
that a man could be interested financially or personally in an enterprise of that kind.
The subsidy was voted in this way for the first 14 miles. Bear in mind I have told you
this charter was granted by the Legislature of New Brunswick under a Liberal Admin-
istration.

Q. Coaliti m, Mr. Costigan ?-A. Yes. Well, coalition with a strongly Liberal
leader.

Q. Well, not strongly ?-A. I am not going to diverge, but intend to confine myself
t, a statement of the bare facts without discussing anything outside of that. Our peo-
ple were anxious for the construction of that road. The men who held the charter I
concluded, rightly or wrongly, were delaying pushing on the work in face of the excep-
tional circumstances of the subsidy given to promote this work. It cane to my know-
ledge that several meetings had taken place between these charter members-the men
holding the charter-and railway constructors, but with no evidence that they would
agree. The impression left upon my mind, to put it mildly, was that they were trying
to see what bargain they could make; to sell out their charter to some one who would
undertake to construct the work. To my knowledge several responsible parties had
offered to take the road over, pay the expenses incurred and proceed immediately with
the work. This resulted in nothing. When in New Brunswick I called upon these
gentlemen to meet me at the Barker House Hotel, Fredericton, to discuss this subject.
I met them frankly and fairly. I said: " Gentlemen, you are very slow about getting
to work to construct that work. You must understand my interest is to see the work
constructed. The money bas been voted to start that road the first 14 miles
which are the most difficult. We want that constructed. That will over-
come the most difficult part of the navigation of the river and will be of
great benefit though not of the benefit we expect the road to be when it
is extended." They took the ground that they had the charter and that they were
the best judges as to when they would proceed with the construction of the road. I
then made this statement to them : " Gentlemen, I don't want to do anything that is
unfair. This is a business transaction so far as you are concerned. I don't care if you
make millions out of it. It is none of my business. But my county wants the road and
wants it constructed without delay, and unless you go to work under your charter and
take advantage of that subsidy and prosecute your work, some one will introduce a bill,
verv likelv in Parliament, asking for a new charter to construct the work." They said:
'You would not surely entertain the proposition that the Dominion Parliament would

agree to grant a charter to another company which would be virtually covering the same
ground ?" I said: "I think Parliament would under certain circumstances. I think if
the case were put before Parliament in this way, that they had voted a liberal subsidy
for the construction of this work and that you held the charter, and gave no evidence
of proceeding in good faith, I think that Parliament under those conditions, unless
vou could show cause why they should not do it, would grant a charter, but they would
only be asked to grant it, I tell you this, with the condition that it should not interfere,
even after its passage, with your chartered rights. If you even then went to work and
prosecuted the construction vou would be all right, because a clause could be put in as
is often done in a bill, that this bill should only take effect at some day. I forget the
dite now, say, six or eight months, so as to give an opportunity to the chartered com-
pany to go on and carry the work out under their charter."

The Committee adjourned.
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HOUSE OF CoMMONs, oth July, 1895.
The Committee met.

Hon. JoHN COsTIGAN continued his statement under oath as follows :- think I was
referring yesterday when the Committee rose, to legislation of the Dominion Parliaient.
A charter was asked for f rom this Parliament. The men holding the charter froim the
New Brunswick Legislature made their objections as I expected and I was called upon
to give reasons why this Parliament should grant that charter. I gave the reasons and
they were acceptable to the House. There was no division, no objections were taken,
and the Bill passed, but it contained a clause as I stated, that the measure should not
go into operation until a certain date-it is now on the statute-book-that it should
not go into operation until a certain date, so as to allow that tine to the original charter
holders to enter upon the work under their charter, and that if they did commence the
work in good faith that that bill was to have ni effect. It liad the result that I
expected. The men made arrangements with some other parties, some St. John men-
and it is not necessary to go into the details of what I rememlber about it-and the
contract was entered into and construction was commenced. What is known as the
Tobique Valley Railway Company pushed on their work, large advanc-s having been
made by Simeon R. Jones, of St. John. Before they completed their contract for that
14 miles they got into difficulties and suspended work. Debts remained unpaid and
matters were in a very unsatisfactory condition. The New Brunswick Governiment had
-I forget whether it was just at that time-renewed their promise of assistance to
this road, and the reasons given to their Legislature for subsidizing this road were that
these 28 miles would lead to the immense deposits of gypsuin which the Provincial
Government owned, being Crown lands principally. A few grants lad beei made, but
the bulk of the lands were held by the Crown, and the Provincial Governient gave as
a reason to justify them for granting a subsidy to this road, that it would bring them
a revenue by obtaining a royalty on every ton that was to bs taken out of the mines.
Now, this property that was owned by the Provincial Governinent was that which
would be expected to be the terminus of these 28 miles which it was important should
be constructed first. A man by the nane of Arbuckle owned a hundred acre lot about
three miles below that.

By Mr. Mulock:
Q. Do you mean beyond the 28 mile point ?-A. No.
Q. Within 28 miles from Perth Centre?-A. About 25 miles from Perth Centre.

He owned and had been developing that property, I suppose, for the last thirty years,
speaking from memory; that is developing it by taking out the raw article and selling
it principally to the people in the United States, where it is handy, and who came across
to draw it from his mine. Arbuckle never would sell or dispose of his property before
that, because he considered it a valuable property-that the construction of a railway
would develop it-and he thought, of course, he had a very valuable property.
After the financial difficulties with this company had gone on for some nonths
evidently he became discouraged, because he offered his property for sale, and
this Mr. Stewart whose name I have mentioned, wired me that I could have
the property for $2,500. I wired him back, to buy the property immediately for me,
and that if he could a deed of the property given him delivered to the Bank in Wood-
stock that the money would be there to pay Mr. Arbuckle on executing the deed. Mr.
Arbuckle went with Mr. Stewart to Woodstock, I believe. They prepared a deed, they
placed it--carrving out these conditions-in the hands of the bank, and the bank on
my authority, paid over to him $2,500. This is the deed, dated, I think, 1890 :

" This indenture made this 12th day of May, in the year of our Lord one thousand
eight hundred and ninety, between John W. Arbuckle, of the Parish of Gordon, in the
County of Victoria and Province of New Brunswick, farmer, and Catherine, his wife,
of the first part; and John Costigan, of the City of Ottawa, Minister of Inland Revenue,
of the other part.
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" Witnesseth, that the said John W. Arbuckle and Catharine, his wife, for and in
consideration of the sum of two thousand five hundred dollars of lawful monev of
Canada to the said John W. Arbuckle and Catherine, his wife, in hand well and truly
paid, at or before the ensealing and delivery of these presents, by the said John Costigan,
the receipt whereof is hereby acknowledged, have granted, bargained, sold, aliened,
released, conveyed, and confirmed ; and by these presents doth grant, bargain, sell, alien,
release, convey and confirin unto the said John Costigan, his heirs and assigns, ail that
certain lot, piece or parcel of land and premises situate, lving and being in the 'Parish
of Perth, County of Carleton,' now in the Parish of Gordon, in the County of Victoria,
and Province of New Brunswick, and bounded as follows, namely: Commencing at a
stake placed on the east bank or shore of the Tobique River, east from the head of
Island No. 6, being the first island above the mouth of the River Wapskahegan, thence
south 67 degrees east 82 chains, thence south 23 degrees west 18 chains to the north
bank or shore of the Wapskahegan stream, thence down said stream and up the Tobique
to the place of begirning, known as lot " G," containing 140 acres more or less, being
the saie property deeded by one Georgiana Wilson to the said John W. Arbuckle by
deed dated 1M ay 29th, A.D. 1870, and recorded in Book " F " on pages 700 and 701 on
the .5th August, 1871.

"Together with ail houses, outhouses, barns, buildings, edifices, fences, improvements,
profts, privileges, and appurtenances to the saine belonging, or in any manner apper-
taining ; and the reversion and reversions remainder, and remainders, rents, issues, and
profits thereof. And also ail the estate, right, title, dower and title to dower, interest,
use, possession, property, claim, and denand, either at law or in equity of the said John
W. Arbuckle and Catherine his wife, of, in, to or out of the same and every part and
parcel thereof with the appurtenances to have and to hold the said described lot, piece
or parcel of land and premises hereby granted, bargained, and sold or meant, mentioned
or intended so to be, and every part and parcel thereof, with the appurtenances unto
the said John Costigan, his heirs and assigns to the only proper use, benefit and behoof
of the said John Costigan, bis heirs and assigns, for ever.

"In witness whereof the said John W. Arbuckle and Catherine, bis wife, have
hereunto set their hands and seals the day and year first herein written.

"JOHN W. ARBUCKLE.
"CATHERINE ARBUCKLE.

"Signed, Sealed and
Delivered in the presence of

" J. C. lcCLUSKY."

By M1r. Huiock :

Q. What was the date and the year?
The CHAIRMAN-12th May, 1890.
Mr. CoSTIGAN-Now, I stated before, following up the history of this transaction,

that when the first subsidy was granted, when the subsidy was re-arranged, and in fact
up to that date-up to the date of the purchase of the property under that deed-
stated, and I repeat, that I had no interest in one foot of land either as a freehold or
leasehold, as a nining privilege, or in any other way in that section of the country. I
bought that property, I am sorry to say, not with ny own money. I discounted a note,
raised the money on it, sent it down and bought the property in that way; private pro-
perty that passed out of the Crown in 1837 by grant to one Eccles. Yes, July, 1837.
That was the first time I became interested in any property in that section of the coun-
try. That I state as an explanation. I have no excuse to offer for buying a piece of
private property along that line of railway or in any other part of the country. The Gov-
ernment lands still remained where they were, with this exception, that the Government
of New Brunswick had given a lease of all their gypsum lands to another company. I
forget the names, but there were some of them that were friends of the Government;
some of themi members of the Local Legislature. They gave a lease of their landsdto a
company, in which I had no interest, of course consistent with the policy laid down by
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that Government that they would still in handing over the lease, get their royalty and
revenue that would justify the payment of the subsidy. Negotiations took place then
after I became the purchaser of this property between the holders of the lease of the Gov-
ernment property and myself, and the Tobique Valley Railway Company, who were
interested in this company that held the lease.

The offer was made and I was asked to put in my property, this Arbuckle property,
with the property that they had. 100 acres was freehold, they having bought out the
property of Mr. Edgar, and the balance of their property was on a lease f roi the
Provincial Government for a long term of years to mine and work all the Governmrent
property. That was theirs. I had simply this 100 acres one mile below. I considered
my property more valuable in proportion, first because it was three miles shorter haul,
second because it was represented as being the best mine, and thirdly because there was
a sufficient supply there to meet the demand for years without going a mile above it.
I was disFosed to make any arrangement that could be made to put my property into a
company to work it out. I did not know much about forming companies myself, and I did
not want to have anything to do with it. The proposition was made that the comipany
holding the lease from the Government and the large property above, and the Tobique
Valley Railway Company being interested in the lands at the terminus of the road,
that these two interests and my property should be amalgamated, and that we should
not only put my property and the upper leased grounds into one property, but that the
Tobique Valley Railway Company should become part of the one company. To make
myself plain, I mean that the road itself, with all the mining property, the gypsuni
properties there, should become one property, in order to work the mines successfully,
and run the road in connection with the working of these mines. I said, " 1 am quite
willing to put in my property at whatever may be considered a fair valuation, and make
one gypsum company of it, and I can understand that it should be of great advantage
that you should make one company including the railway too, but the moment you con-
sider that, I must drop out, because while I have a perfect right to own 100 acres of
land, and do as I please with it, and I would be perfectly justified in putting that into
your company to work out the mineral lands, 1 could not for a moment entertain the
proposition of putting it into a company where a railway subsidized by the Government
would be a portion of the assets, I suppose you call them." They saw the objection at
once. It was reasonable, because I would be placed in a false position if J beeame a
member of a company which had my property and a piece of railway subsidized by the
government, and while I intended to remain the member for my county and as the mem-
ber to, advocate further subsidies. That negotiation ended. The owners of the mine asked
me not to put my property in the market because they were in negotiation with some
capitalists in New York. I thought it was rather like asking me to make a sacrifice in
their interests, especially as they gave the answer frankly and fairly that if I put this
property on the market it would interfere with the negotiations pending. I thought it
was worth its value, so I agreed to their request and I never tried to sell or dispose of it
for over 12 months. Other changes were made. Mr. Kitchen undertook the contract
to build that 14 miles of railway and he carried out his contract. In 1890 I will show
you that I got this property. I told you that I discounted a note to purchase this pro-
perty. When the note became due, I had not sufficient means to meet it. I could
have had it renewed, I presume, or had a friend to endorse it for me, or managed the
way men often manage when they have not all the money they want, and their good
faith is not doubted. Instead of that J got Mr. Connor, Mr. John Connor of St. John,
to advance the money to pay the purchase money and interest. He advanced the
money and as security took this mortgage

"This Indenture made this Thirteenth day of September in the year of Our Lord
one thousand eight hundred and ninety, between the Honourable John Costigan of the
City of Ottawa, in the Province of Ontario, Minister of Inland Revenue, of the first
part, and John Connor of the City of Saint John, rope manufacturer, of the second
part, witnesseth that the said John Costigan, for and in consideration of the surn of
three thousand dollars of lawful money of Canada to him in hand well and truly paid
at or before the ensealing and delivery of these presents by the said John Connor, the
receipt whereof is hereby acknowledged, hath granted, bargained, sold, aliened,

9
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released, conveyed and confirmed and by these presents doth grant, bargain, sel], alien,
release, convey and confirn unto the said John Connor, his heirs and assigns, all that
certain lot, piece or parcel of land and premises situate, lying and being in the Parish
of Gordon, in the County of Victoria, and Province of New Brunswick, and bounded
as follo s : Commencing at a stake placed on the east bank or shore of the Tobique
River east from the head of Island number six, being the first Island above the mouth of
the River Wapskehegan, thence south sixty-seven degrees east eighty-two chains, thence
south twenty-tlree degrees west eighteen chains to the north bank or shor-, of the
Wapskehegan stream, thence down said stream and up the Tobique to the place of
beginning, known as Lot G containing one hundred and forty acres more or less, being
the property deeded by John W. Arbuckle and wife to the said John Costigan by deed
dated the twelfth day of May, one thousand eight hundred and ninety, and recorded in
Book N of Records in the County of Victoria, pages 751 and 752, together with all
houses, out-houses, barns, buildings, edifices, fences, improvements, profits, privileges
and appurtenances to the saie belonging or in any inanner appertaining and the rever-
sion and reversions, remainder and remainders, rents, issues and profits thereof ; and
also all the estate, right, title, interest, use, possession, claim and demand at law or in
equity of the said John Costigan of, in, to or out of the saine and every part and parcel
thereof with the appurtenances to have and to hold the said lot of land and premises
hereby granted, bargained, and sold or intended so to be and every part and parcel
thereof with the appurtenances unto the said John Connor, his heirs and assigns, to the
only proper use, benefit and behoof of the said John Connor, his heirs and assigns,
for ever-Provide d always that if the said John Costigan, his heirs, executors, adminis-
trators ard assigns, shall well and truly pay or cause to be paid to the said John Connor,
his executors, administrators or assigns, on the thirteenth day of September which will
be in the year of Our Lord one thousand eight hundred and ninety-one, the said principal
sum of three thousand dollars with interest thereon and shall also pay all rates, taxes
or other charges which may be imposed on the said John Connor by reason hereof, then
this Indenture shall be void ; otherwise the sane shall remain in full force, virtue and
effect.

" In witness whereof the said the Honourable John Costigan hath hereunto set his
hand and seal the day and year first above written.

"Signed, sealed and delivered X JOHN COSTIGAN.
"in presence of j

"(Sgd.) JAMES STRATON.

"The amount secured by the above document has been fully paid, liquidated and
satisfied and the same is hereby cancelled and made void and delivered up to the above
named Hon. John Costigan.

"Dated this 2nd September, 1892.

"Witness, JOHN CONNOR.
"JOHN C. ARBUCKLE."

That is one part of the transaction. The Committee will please remember that I
am speaking just from memory and not fron any written statement. I am not at all
doubtful as to the facts, but I may not be consecutive, still I want all the facts to appear.
Perhaps one may be stated before the other and they may not appear in their proper
order, but I want them all to be given.

By Mr. Coatsworth

Q. You mean you may not give them in chronological order ?-A. Yes.
Then I was advised-and when I say I was advised, I was seeking and inquiring

what was best to be done with this property. A young man of the name of Lynch, well
known here, who was considered a very reliable man, and had some experience, inter-
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viewed several parties to know whether they would be willing to take stock and forni a
company to work this property. Mr. Brophy, of this city, went down and visited the
property, and on the representation he made, it resulted, to cut it short, in a company
being formed to work that property. Though the property was mine, I did not do
much canvassing to get stock. I believed the property was a thoroughly valuable pro-
perty, and that the investment was a safe one, but I felt a delicacy in asking anyhody
to take stock less they should think I was doing it more for my own sake and asking
them to risk their money in my interest. The gentlemen who took stock either took it
f rom their own personal knowledge, or took it f rom information derived f rom statements
by the Hon. H. A. Connell, of Woodstock, Mr. George P. Brophy, of Ottawa, who had
visited the property and examined it, and Mr. E. R. Burpe-, of St. John. The Company
was formed. 1 put the property in at a valuation of -20,000, on condition that I was
to hold my stock as paid-up stock. If it turned out a success, my profits would corne
out of that paid-up stock. If it was a failure, I would get nothing, but the condition
was that the $3,000, the amount of this mortgage, was to be paid out of the funds of
the company, and I was to transfer the property over to the company.

By Mr. Mulock:

Q. What was the naine of that company ?-A. The company was formed under the
name of the Tobique Valley Gypsum Mining and Manufacturing Company. They were
incorporated under letters patent.

On the 20th of September, 1893, I handed over this property on that agreement to
the company by this conveyance:

" This indenture made in duplicate this 20th day of September, in the year of our
Lord, one thousand eight hundred and ninety-three, between the Honourable John
Costigan, of the City of Ottawa, in the Province of Ontario, Secretary of State of Can-
ada, and Harriet Costigan, bis wife, of the same place. of the first part; and 'The
Tobique Valley Gypsum Mining and Manufacturing Company (Limited),' and herein-
after called ' The Company,' of the second part.

" Witnesseth that the said John Costigan and Harriet Costigan, bis wife, for and in
consideration of the sum of S20,000 of lawful mîoney of Canada to the said John Cos-
tigan and Harriet Costigan, bis wife, well and truly paid, the receipt whereof is hereby
acknowledged, have granted, bargained, sold, aliened, released, conveyed and confirmed,
and by these presents do grant, bargain, sell, alien, releïse, convey and confirm unto
the said 'the Company,' their successors and assigns, all that certain lot, piece or parcel
of land and premises situate, lying and being in the Parish of Perth, County of Carle-
ton, now in the Parish of Gordon, in the County of Victoria, in the Province of New
Brunswick, and bounded as follows, viz : Commencing at a stake placed on the east bank
or shore of the Tobique River east from the head of Jsland Number Six, being the first
island above the mouth of the River Wapskahegan, thence south sixty-seven degrees
east eighty-two chains, thence south twenty-three degrees west eighteen chains to the
north bank or shore of the Wapskahegan stream, thence down said strean and up the
Tobique to the place of beginning, known as Lot G, containing one hundred and forty
acres, more or less, being the same property deeded by one Georgiana Wilson to one John
W. Arbuckle by deed bearing date the 29th day of May, A.D. 1870.

"Together with all bouses, outhouses, barns, buildings, edifices, fences, improvements,
profits, privileges and appurtenances to the same belonging or in any manner appertain-
ing and the reversion and reversions, remainder and remainders, rents, issues and profits
thereof, and also all the estate, right, title, dower and title to dower, interest, use, pos-
session, property, claim and demand, either at law or in equity, of the said John Costi-
gan and Harriet Costigan, bis wife, of, in, to or out of the saie and every part and
parcel thereof with the appurtenances; to have and to hold the said described lot, piece
or parcel of land and premises hereby granted, bargained and sold, or intended so to be,
and every part and parcel thereof with the appurtenances unto the said 'the Conpany,'
their successors and assigns, to the only, proper use, benefit and behoof of the said 'the
Company,' their successors and assigns for ever.
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" In witness whereof the said John Costigan and Harriet Costigan, bis wife, have
hereunto set their hands and seals the day and year first herein written.

"Signed sealed and delivered
"in the presence of (Signed) JOHN COSTIGAN,

"(Sgd.) MATTHEw F. WALSH. do HARRIET COSTIGAN."

"Canada, Province of Ontario, , Matthew F. Walsh, of the City of Ottawa, in the
"Count of ireton. Province of Ontario, Esquire, make oath and say:

"1. That I was personally present and did see John Costigan and Harriet Costigan,
two of the parties hereto duly sign, seal aid execute the within instrument and
duplicate.

"2. That the said instrument and duplicate were executed at the City of Ottawa,
aforesaid.

":3. That I know the said John Costigan and Harriet Costigan.
"4. That I arn a subscribing witness to the said instrument and duplicate.

"Sworn before me at the City of Ottawa, ]
"County of Carleton, this Fifth day (Sgd) MATTHEW F. WALSH."
"of Deceiber, A.D., 1893. J

"(Sgd.) W. E. HoDGINs,

" A Commissioner, &c., and a Kotary Public, &c."

" New Brunswick, County of Victoria, S.S. No. 7544, recorded in Book " Q " of
Rlecords, on pages 285 and 286 on the 9th day of December, A.D. 1893.

"(Signed) HARRY H. TIBBITS,
" Registrar."

There we arrive at the stage where the company has been formed to develop this
property, and the property passed out of my hands, the mortgage being discharged, and
it becomes the property of the company on the conditions I have stated. There bas
neen some talk about transferring a lease. I would like you to listen to this point.
Reference is made in the newspapers, not only in one article but in several, of my trans-
ferring a lease at some time to this company or to a company.

It appeared to me the most serious part of the accusations against me although not
openly stated was that although I had no lands at the time this road was started, I was
shrewd and was looking forward to all these minerals being there, and that was the
principal reason for pressing and getting a subsidy so as to develop the property I
intended to get hold of. And to any one not knowing the geography of the country, a
conclusion might reasonably be arrived at that I had secured in some way these
valuable properties after the road had been started and the money voted. It is
true that when I assigned a property that I bought and paid for to this company I had
to assign a mining lease. Now, I want the committee just to understand why that had
to be done. I bought my property-private property that had passed out of the pos-
session of the Crown in 1837-and I paid for it, got the deed from Mr. Arbuckle, regis-
tered in the Registry Office, and the property was mine to all intents and purposes.
Shortly afterwards I was notified that another party, one of the men interested in the
other mineral lands-in fact one of the Tobique Valley Railway Company--had actually
been to the Crown Lands Office in Fredericton and filed an application, which they
contend under the law he had a right to do, for a right to mine over a little larger section,
but taking in the hundred acres J bad bought and paid for, principally for the value of
this deposit. No one would imagine that in that country where land is cheap, I would
pay 82,500 for 100 acres of land unless for this gypsum deposit that it contained. I
protested at once to the Local Government that surely they could not intend to
grant a license to mine upon my private property. I was informed then that-their
law gave them power to grant a license to mine on private property, but that the pre-
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ference was always given to the owner, and that it had been represented to them that
this application had been made on my behalf. I told them at once that I had never
given such authority ; I might be very good natured, but I would not after I bouglt a
property allow a person to take a licen-e to work the whole thing. The governient of
New Brunswick stopped it at once seeing it was a very unfair thing to do and wrote me
the form I should make, and I complied under protest under the interpretation of their
Act. Sound lawyers will say they had no right to exercise any control over gypsum,
although they had over certain minerals named under their Act. However 1 had to pay
$50 to mine over my own land that I bought and paid for. I paid that under protest.
Rather than raise any conflict I paid $50 and took out tliis right. It is a permit to
mine ; therefore, when I sold my property to this company 1 transfered that lease and
they will have to renew it unless they test the law or the law is changed. But let me
tell the committee this, that that is only an incident and does not affect the question it
all. It would be more difficult for me to explain if that lease covered the Crown lands
containing this valuable deposit that the province looked to for obtaining a revenue to
indeninify itself for voting a subsidy. The lease in question was only a lease to mine
upon my own lands and it was taken out for a certain area at a cost of $50. The appli-
cation that was put in by Mr. Stratton, I think, and for which I got a lease-covered
more than my own land, but it was stili more than two miles away fron the Govern-
ment lands above. The mining lease gives the right to mine on this land that I paid
for and perhaps a few acres outside-a little square block-and does not constitute ny
property and never did. My property has a clear title and is a piece of real estate that
I bought and paid for. That was handed over, and in giving this explanation I do not
think it is very important except in so far as to prevent the conclusion that might be
drawn, that I had actually leased the Government lands too, and acquired the right to
mine thei. The local Government did give a subsidy to that road. It carried out its
promise afterwards and as I said when it voted that subsidy, it gave as a justification
that it was one of the most reasonable subsidies to give, because while the province
could expect no direct return except through the development of the country, and the
Dominion Goverament generally got most of the benefit through the developmnent--out
of this road they would receive a direct return in the shape of the royalty for every ton
of gypsum that was mined. A further subsidy was then granted. The subsidies that
I explained before, secured the construction of the first 14 miles. Then of course, it was
necessary to build another 14 miles to reach the mine. The subsidy for 11 miles further
was granted. I may explain that, because the time it was granted the government of
New Brunswick-or rather Mr. Blair himself-called attention to the fact, and the lease-
holders of the other mine called my attention to the fact, that an 11 mile subsidy would
only take the road to this property that I had acquired and if it did not go beyond that
why of course, it would be giving my mine all the advantage. I saw that at once. If
I had been doing it as a sharp piece of business, it would have been
a very nice thing to do. If I could manage it, to get the road just to
come to the property I had recently bought and go no further, it is very plain the
advantage would lie with me or the owners of that property. But at the same tirme Mr.
Blair pointed out that if that were the intention it would take away from him any
justification for granting the subsidy because lie might naturally say, " The subsidy
from this province is not to develop a mine for you. It is to develop provincial mines."
Some of the friends here in connection with the Tobique Valley Railway called my
attention to the fact. Well, I said : "I will explain that to vou in five minutes. We
have a certain amount. We can give a certain amount of aid to railways in New
Brunswick. We have a certain number of roads that deserve encouragement
and we have to give a portion this year, and a portion next year, just according
to the resources at our disposai." To make up a fair proportion in that
district we could not get more than eight or ten miles, or twelve miles perhaps at the
very outside. To get the whole fourteen miles would have been more than the propor-
tion, and some other road would have to go a few miles short. As they were still under
contract for the first fourteen miles, and that would take a year to complete, they could
not require either the subsidy for eleven miles or fourteen miles, nor the subsidy they
were getting from the Local Government for another year, and I stated to Mr. Blair and
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to the other friends that I hoped they would not think there was any intention on my
part to do what I would call such a dishonourable thing as to use my position to get a
subsidy just for my own ad vantage and block out the others. That would place me in a
very awkward position. They accepted that in very good faith. Immediately after-
wards at the next session out of the other subsidy that was voted, we got a subsidy for
the other three miles. It was in plenty of time, because the original fourteen miles
could not be completed, nor the last fourteen miles could not be commenced that year.
So that the additional remaining three miles was voted quite early enough not to inter-
fere with or delay the construction of that road, and it did not. The fourteen-mile road
was completed.

I do not know f rom memory that I need state anything more. These are the facts.
The company was formed to work out this mine. I hold still some $14,000 of that stock.
I received no money out of the company except the money to pay off the liability on the
property when I handed it over. I thought the stock was very valuable. I think it is
good stock yet. A mill has been built, a very fine mill. It is not running just now-
the market is limited-but there is a fair prospect of doing a paying business on a
reasonable scale. It may develop in years.

To resume, the subsidies granted to the Tobique Valley Railway were granted for
the construction of a public work. As a representative of my county, I say on my oath
I had no other object in pressing for the granting of that subsidy and the construction
of that road than the discharge of a duty that I believed I owed to my constituents
honestly and fairly. The subsidy was granted in the same way as tO other roads. The
road is an important road.

Now, I may mention one more point, because that question has been raised, and I
will be done. Attention lias been called to the fact that the road is not operated, and it
bas been argued that if it was a sufficiently important section of country to put a road
through, there is therefore the more reason why it should be operated. I will give you
a few facts with regard to that. I want to place the committee in possession of all the
facts that I know, though it will perhaps be more convenient for members to ask further
questions in order to get any information they require. The reason the road bas not
been operated begins in this way. I told you of the financial difficulties of the com-
pany. They made a con tract with Mr. Kitchen to complete the last fourteen miles of
the twenty-eight. He executed his contract. They were embarrassed, they could not
operate the road, and they delayed. My constituents complained. In the fall of the
year the lumber interest had arranged to carry their supplies by contract with men with
teams over the 28 miles, but they were expecting to get their supplies round by the Cana-
dian Pacific Railway and then by this branch, which would be a great advantage to them.
This stoppage of the road was a great inconvenience to these lumbermen generally and to
the settlers on both sides of the river. In the meantime an arrangement had been made
for the leasing of this road to the Canadian Pacific Railway Company, and it was con-
firmed, as I srated, by an Act of Parliament. The lease provided that the Canadian
Pacific Railway should take that road over and run and operate it, and on their part
they were to deliver the road in good running order. The terms will appear in the Act.
The first fourteen miles that was constructed they used during the construction of the
last fourteen miles, and some years had elapsed. Naturally the first fourteen miles,
which, as I stated before, vas very expensive to construct, and more expensive to keep
up than the other, has got out of repair and out of order considerably. The Canadian
Pacific Railway sent their engineer over the road before they would consent to take it
over. He reported that it would take about $7,000 to put it in order. I think $7,000
was what the Canadian Pacific Railway offered to take in cash instead of obliging the
Tobique Valley Railway Company to put it in repair. They said : " It is not in a condi-
tion to be taken over, and we are under no obligation to put it in repair. Either put it
in repair and hand it over to us, or if you cannot, we will do the necessary work, and
you shall give us $7,000." The Tobique Valley Railway Company did not raise the
$7,000. The delay went on and I felt it was a very awkward position for my constitu-
ents and myself that this road should not be operated after it had been constructed. I
applied for information to the Railway Department, and got the information necessary
to know what steps should be taken. I put the machinery of the law into operation,
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and the Tobique Valley Railway Company were summoned before the Exchequer Court
to give reasons why they were not operating the road. They came here, and they then
got a delay of a certain time to complete their arrangements under that lease with the
Canadian Pacifie Railway.

The Canadian Pacific Railway modified its demand to a payment of $2,000, or $3,000
cash and a pledge f rom the Tobique Valley Railway Company that they should be allowed
to recoup themselves for the balance of the $7,000 out of the percentage of the earn-
ings that under the lease they were to give to the Tobique Valley Railway Company.
That arrangement was agreed to, and everything was satisfactory as I thought. They
had to get the authority of the company to hold that paynient. The Canadian Pacifie
Railway then reported that all the titles for right of way were not placed in their hands,
that the Tobique Valley Railway Company had not secured titles though they might
have satisfied the claim. They were then asked to secure titles for the right of way.
The last was from the Indian Department, the line crosses a piece of their reserve. That
was about a month ago, and I was informed that everything had been complied with,
the lease would be executed, and the Canadian Pacifie Railway would engage to run the
road. I have no doubt at all that when the lease is completed-and it ought to be
ready for coinpletion now-that the Canadian Pacific Railway will do as it does with its
branches generally, operate that road, because it is in such an important section of the
country. That is the reason of the delay, a delay as unpleasant to me as to any person in
the country, a delay most unsatisfactory to me and to my constitutents, for we are mos4
interested in the road. I give you that explanation of the delay.

I do not think it necessary to make any statement now other than that I have
made. I have made that statement frankly and honestly, believing it to bc true in
every respect, and if the committee or any member of the committee wish to ask any
question on any point as to which he is in doubt, or for any other reason, J will be most
happy to give him any further information that I can on the subject.

By Mr. Lister :

Q. There are one or two questions as to which I should like to have a little further
information. Perhaps I did not understand them thoroughly in the course of your nar-
rative. What is the total length of this Tobique Valley Railway ?-A. Do you mean
already constructed ?

Q. Not the total length constructed, but the total length authorized to be con-
structed ?-A. You are speaking now of the charter under wlich it was constructed.

Q. It was chartered by the Nova Scotia Parliament ?-A. By the New Brunswick
Parliament. It was chartered for the construction of a road from Tobique to connect
with the proposed road--that was the intention, 1 do not know whether it is the exact
wording or not-that would run from Campbelltown across to Grand Falls.

Q. What would be the length ?-A. That would involve the construction in all as
near as I can judge of about 90 or 100 miles or perhaps 80 to 100 miles.

Q. Then there was a subsidy granted, as I understand it, of 83,200 a mila for 28
miles ?-A. 28 miles, yes.

Q. It was found that owing to the difficulties of construction the amount of the
Dominion subsidy was not sufficient ?-A. Yes.

Q. The authority was then taken to apply the total subsidy of S3,200 a mile to the
construction of the first 14 miles ?-A. What does the hon. gentleman mean by
authority?

Q. Statute, I suppose ?-A. Yes, parliamentary authority.
Q. Parliamentary authority i-A. The subsidy was voted by Parliament.
Q. Instead of for the whole 28 miles it was allowed to apply to the first 14 miles?

That was the way it was done ?-A. Yes.
Q. Then the 14 miles I suppose were constructed -- A. There were undertaken

and construction was commenced, but as I have stated the company got into financial
difficulties before they completed their contract.

Q. Before the first 14 miles i-A. Before the first 14 miles.
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Q. Did the New Brunswick Government also grant a subsidy for those 14 miles ?-
A. Afterwards.

Q. And before their completion ?-A. I would not be sure whether it was before
its completion. They entered into the obligation. I don't know when it was paid. I
would not be certain about it.

Q. It is no consequence. Whatever the subsidy of the New Brunswick Govern-
ment was it was t) apply to the first 14 miles ?-A. No, I think not, and that I do not
care about discussing, because it is a question of policy of the New Brunswick Govern-
ment. I tell the hon. gentleman this from memory that I think there was a block sum
granted by the Provincial Government, and it was a question that I heard discussed by
the company and some of the friends of the Government as to how that should be
applied ; whether it should be applied to the upper portion of the road that was not
commenced or whether it should be divided in a certain proportion between the first
14 miles and the last 14 miles.

Q. How much was it ?-A. I don't know that either, because we had no control
over that. It was a local subsidy that was dealt with between the company and the
local government.

Q. Now you found, or it was necessary as a matter of fact to come back to the
Dominion Parliament and to ask for a further subsidy for the Tobique Valley Railway?
-A. Yes.

Q. You rememiber when that was, iMr. Costigan ?-A. It was at the next
Q. I think it was in May, 1890 ?-A. For a further subsidy ?
Q. A total subsidy of $35,200 1-A. A bulk sum.
Q. A bulk sum ?-A. What would that cover?
Q. I do not know ?-A. That would be about 11 miles, I suppose ?
Q. About 11 miles ?--A. Yes.
Q. When that subsidy was voted in May, 1890, had any portion of the Tobique

Valley Railway been completed ?-A. In 1890?
Q. In May, 1890 ?-A. I think it was about completed, I would not be sure.
Q. That would be the 11 miles ?-A. No.
Q. Then you think that when the subsidy of May, 1890, was granted, the first 14

miles would be about completed ?-A. No. They had had that financial break and I
think about that time Kitchen took the contract to complete their contract and was
going on with it.

Q. Their work would be about 14 miles ?-A. Originally the contract was 14 miles
and the first contractors failed to complete it, and Kitchen was the second contractor
that undertook and did execute the work, but it was not executed at the time this
subsidy for Il miles was granted.

Q. No. Then did that $35,200 apply to the first 11 miles or was it to be applied
to the rest of the road ?-A. That 835,000? The Dominion had no further right nor
could it be asked to grant any more to the first 14 miles.

By Mr. Davies :

Q. You got a double subsidy on the first portion ?-A. Yes.

By 3r. L ister :

Q. A double subsidy.on the first 14 miles and 835,000 in addition ?-A. No, not
all on the first 14 miles. The first 28 miles had $3,200 a mile. At the next session of
Parlianient that subsidy was changed so as to make the subsidy for the 28 miles appli-
cable te the first 14 solely.

Q. Yes, exactly ?-A. Or giving a double mileage rate. That left nothing for the
other 14 miles. Then the $35,000 bulk suin was to aid the construction of the upper
14 miles to the exteit of Il miles of the next 14.

Q. That is what I wanted to get at. Then the $35,000 was for the next 14 miles?
-A. For 11 miles of the next 14.

Q. And I suppose the grant of that $35,000 it was understood would have the
effect of securing the completion of the 28 miles ?-A. No.
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Q Well what?- A. It would tend towards it. It was a recognition of the
road. It was getting a portion of the subsidy, and as I stated before, if there was a
contract entered into I do not know what position we would be in with regard to the
other 14 miles or the balance remaining to be constructed under our first scheie as the
principal portion of the undertaking originally.

Q. Well, as a matter of fact, the road was constructed for 28 miles ?--A. Finally.
Q. Finally ?-A. Yes.
Q. That would include the 835,200, the subsidy of 86,400 and whatever was re-

ceived fromn the New Brunswick (overniment ?-A. Yes, that is it.
Q. These and whatever private funds were put into the enterprise to construct it?

-A. Yes.

BU 3fr. Davies:

Q. Were there any private funds that vou know of ?-A. Yes, I think I mentioned
Mr. Simeon R. Jones. I think ie advanced very largely on bonds or something.

Q. On bonds ?-A. He holds bonds, I think.

By Mfr. Lister:

Q. Now, that subsidy of S35,200 was asked for in the House on the 12th May,
1890, Mr. Costigan ?-A. Perhaps so.

Q. It appears by the records ?-A. I do not dispute that.
Q. I suppose that is correct ? Then on the 13th Mav, the Governiment asked Par-

liament to grant 835,200 to this railway, one day after you had becomue die purchaser of
the propertv, as I understand it. Will you look and see ?-A. l2th May, 1890, that is
the date of the deed.

Q_ The conveyance to you of this particular property was iade on the l2th iMay,
1890 ? You became the purchaser of it at the price of 82,500 --A. Yes.

Q. Then on the 13th May, 1890, the Government asked Parliament to grant a fur-
ther subsidy to the road of $35,200. That is correct ?-A. Yes.

Q. One day after your purchase ?-A. You are reading from the records, I suppose,
I have no reason to doubt that.

Q. Yes, I an taking the Parliamentary record. Of course you, as a umeumber of the
Government, knew at the time you made the purchase of the failure of the comnpany to
construct the road, on account, t suppose, of the inadequacy of the bonuses ? You
knew, I say, that the Government had decided to grant a further subsidy of $35,200 ?

A. No. I would like to answer every question that my friend puts, but I would like
him not to put the question in such a way that an affirmative answer would bc mis-
leading.

Q. Well, I would put it in this way, Mr. Costigan.-A. I will give my own
answer.

Q. Give your own answer. I do not want to embarrass you. Did you know prior
to the 13th May, the day when Parliament was asked for the grant of this bonus, that
the bonus was to be granted ?-A. I took it for granted, of course, like any other item
in the estimates proposed to Parliament which would likely be voted. There is not
much doubt about that.

Q. So that at that time, of course, you were aware that the road was to get a fur-
ther bonus ?-A. What I did not like, Mr. Lister, was this, that you coupled it with the
inquiry : " Did not you know at this time just when you became purchaser of this pro-
perty, that Parliment was to be asked for a subsidy, and you knew that the road could
not be built on account of the inadequacy of the aid they were getting, and that this
835,000 was to end it all." I did not know anything of the sort. I knew I had purchased
the property. I knew that Parliament would be asked for, and would likely vote, that
835,000 for Il miles, at the upper end of the 28 miles. I knew also that Mr. Kitchen
was completing his contract, and would complete it under the subsidies granted, as they
were perfectly adequate, and that this S35,000 was just exactly in line with the policy
before adopted, that this Parliament had subsidized 28 miles out of the whole lot. That

17
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subsidy was changed because it would not secure the construction of one mile, and they
put the subsidy on the first 14 miles. That went on, and they wvent on and got the 11
miles constructed, because it could be constructed under the ordinary subsidy, being
the ordinary class of work.

Q. The point is this, that the day before the Government asked Parliainent to vote

this S35,200, you becane the purchaser of the Arbuckle property ?-A. I became the

purchaser of the Arbuckle property on the 12th of May.
Q. And the Arbuckle property was a property that had been owned by Mr.

Ai buckle for 30 vears ?-A. I do not know. He had worked it for 30vears, and I sup-
pose lie nust have owned it.

Q. Which of the property had been leased by the Government to a eompany ?-A.
You uitan the Crown lands ?

Q. It was leased to a conpany ?-A. Yes.
Q. Then do I understand fron your statement that the only part of the gypsum

property in that section not controlled by this coimpanv was the property purchased by
you froi Arbuckle ?-A. You are speaking of the other gypsuni company that had the
lease.

Q. That had the lease ?-A. Not the railway company.
Q. Not the railway company ?-A. They controlled all the Crown lands. They

controlled also what was known as the Edgar lot, that lad been nined for gypsuin
too, which was private property, right at the terminus of the road, where the govern-

ment property lay. I think there w ere four lots above that, gypsum lots leld by pri-
vate individuals above the terminus of the road.

Q. Above the terminus of the ioad ?-A. Yes.
Q. But the question I an asking vou is whether all the property in the vicinity of

the road, with the exception of the Arbuckle lot had been leased by the Government to
this company, that is the question, with the exception of the Arbuekle lot ?-A. No, there
were two or three lots thev could nlot lease.

Q. Beyond the road ?-A. Beyond the road.
Q. You said four miles bevond the terminus of the road, did vou not ?-A. No, I

did nlot say four miles. Ail these lots lay close together near the government lots.
They have sold one or two at the upper end, and they have leased the test.

Q. Then w ith the exception of one or two which the goveriment sold, the company
held the bulk of the land ?-A. Yes, that was my statement.

Q. Then how much did this Tobique Valley Railway Company receive altogether
iii bonuses from the Dominion Government ?-A. Well, I have never figured it up. I
have not disputed the figures there. $130,000 may be correct or it may not. 1 did
not look into it. That could easily be ascertained. They received 83,200 a mile for the
whole 28 miles, and they recei\ ed 8ý3,200 additional for the first 14 miles. That would
be 28 times )3,200 and 14 tines $3, 200 added together.

BUy Mr. iffdock

Q. S134,000 ?-A. I suppose that is correct.
Q. At the time vou submitted the pioposition to government, you represented, of

course, that the constructi n of the i oad would develop the plaster deposits in that sec-
tion of the country ?-A. When the first application was made ?

Q. Yes, when the first application was made ?-A. Yes, when the first application
was made that was stated in the petitions that came to parliament, and in the applica-

tions to the New Brunswick legislature.
Q. It was stated here by you ?-A. Yes, and in the petitions. I referred to the

petitions.
Q. The petitions were also submitted ?-A. Yes.
Q. Were any statements made about it when the further subsidy was asked for ?-

A. I do not remember.
Q. You do not reiember that ?-A, If it was necessary to give any reasoïïs, very

likely that reason would be given, because that was one of the largest iLems of tratic.



Tobique Valley Railway Inquiry.

Q. Well now, on the 25th September, 1S91, vou asked for the renewal of the origi-
nal subsidy of î89,600. That would be in 1891 ?-A. In 1891.

Q. Yes, the 25th September, 1891 ?-A. What do you miean by the renewal of the
$89,600.

Q. $S0,600. It liad lapsed ?-A. I suppose it had sinply lapsed, and it was to keep
it from expiring. The road was under construction.

Q. That was after you purchased the property A. Yes.
Q. The subsidy had lapsed, application was made to Parliament for a renewal of

the subsidy, and vou were asked by Mr. Mulock " Who are the owners of the plaster
deposits." Do vou remember that, MIr. Costigan ?-A. I do not recollect.

Q, It will be found on page 6139 of Hansardof thatvear ?-A. I have no doubt of it.
Q. And in answer to that question you say this: " The New Brunswick (ov'ern-

ment are the principal owners, and that is the reason the local subsidy -was granted. I
believe some private persons have one or two lots ?-A. That is strictly correct. I
would ,consider that strictly correct froin my iemory.

Q. One of the one or tw-o private personis that owned home of the lots was your-
self ?-A. Evidentlv, according to the dates given.

Q. Then the property was purchased by vou, you say, fr )2,500. That was the
original purchase price ?-A. Yes.

Q. And afterwards a joint stock company was forned in which you were to receive
,20,00 worth of the stock ?-A. 820,000.
Q. You were to get S20,000 worth of the stock ?-A. For the propety.
Q. And the companv was to assume paynent of the nortgage which you had given?

-A. No.
Q. You were to pay the mortgage -A. They gave ie the monev and paid the

mortgage out of the 820,000.
Q. So that that would leave you A. 816,500.
Q. For which vou hold stock ?-A. Yes.
Q. Now can you tell mue the total shares in tlat company ? Are 250 shares sub-

scribed ?-A. They are 8100 shares. The authorize ] capital under the charter is $50,000.
fIhere is ,31,900 paid-up stock.

Q. That would include vour $20,000 ?-A. Yes. There is $18,100 undistributed
stock held by the company.

Q. The total number of shares subscribed is 250 ?-A. They are $100 shares.
Q. That wvould be 250, Mr. Costigan, would it not!?-A. Perhaps so. No, 250

would be $25,000 would it not ?
Q. Yes. But in the original application--the original stock list-filed with the

Department, the number of shares subscribed for is 250 ?-A. Oh, that may be, yes.
Q. Fifty per cent of the whole thing ?-A. Yes.
Q. And vou appear there to have been the holder of 225 of these shares ?-A. That

may be of course.
Q. This stock list still stands in the same position ?-A. I asked the secretary to

give me a statement and this is his statement : "Authorized capital $50,000, paid-up
stock, $31,900 ; undisposed of stock still held by the company S18,100 ; stock held b>y
myself, $14,500." I have disposed of $2,000 of the stock. That is held by others,
but the statement is correct. What I orignially held was 816,500.

Q. You told us already that Arbuckle became despondent about the road ever
being completed ?-A. I never saw him, but I suppose that is what I heard.

Q. That is what you heard ?-A. That is what I heard.
Q. And when asked as to whether you would give S2,500 for the land, you con-

pleted the purchase ?-A. I said so at once.
Q. How long would that be before you got the convevance?--A. Oh, it would not

be nany days, because I knew if I did not buy it some one else would.
Q. Well, I suppose the effect of the construction of the road was to enhance the

value of these gypsum beds very materially ?-A. Yes. I am quite willing to admit
that the gypsuma deposits there would not be of any very great value unless the road
was constructed.

19
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Q. Then, as matters stood at that time, would 82,00 b- a far price for the pro-
perty ?-A. 82,500?

Q. And not knowing, of course, that the road was to be finished ?-A. 82,500
would never have been a fair value for the property if you gave any consideration to
the deposits of gypsum. Unless you calculated the extra value of this deposit it would
not be worth a quarter of that money as farm land or for any other purpose.

Q. Calculating at that time and assuming no road was to be Luilt, would 82,500 be
a fair consideration for the land ? Including its value on account of farming as well as
gypsum beds ?-A. Well, the man might be satis6ed to take it or he might ask more. I
would not give anv more for it.

Q. You considered it was worth that at all events ?-A. I considered it was worth
more because I had no money to purchase. I was not a speculator and I had no means
to invest in that way.

Q. You considered it a bargain ?-A. I considered it was a very advantageous
offer, and I had just as good a right to take advantage of it as my friend here or any one
else.

Q. Assuming the road would be completed ?-A. I had no doubt about the road
being completed.

Q. You had no doubt about the road being conipleted at all ?-A. No.
Q. Well, then, the completion of the road, I understand you to say, would enhance

the value of this property very inaterially ?-A. I can ha e no doubt about that. No
one could pretend that it did not.

Q. Would you consider it increased the value 820,000 ?-A. I consider it would
increase the value to more than that, but I miglit be mistaken.

Q. Then what I understand you to say is--A. The road is completed now and I
cannot sell that stock for what I could first sell it.

Q. We are talking about things as thev were then. The completion of the roai
nieant that the property would at least be worth S20,000 ?-A. The completion of the
road made the property valuable. I know what the hon. gentleman's meaning is and I
au glad to enlighten him. The property would not have had any extraordinary value
beyond the minerals that would be perhaps difficult of access, and the completion of the
road no matter who owns this land, muade it nost valuable. As far as the hon. gentle-
man can connect me with this nmatter, I tell him the road enhanced the value of the land.

Q. You have already told us vu consider the lands after the completion of the
road to be worth more than $20,000 ?-A. I thought that the lands would be very valu-
able if properly worked, and I think so still.

Q. The answer you gave, and I onlv want to knov whether you adhere to it or not,
was as to how you understood the facts at that time 7-A. Yes.

Q. Would the completion of the road mnake the lands that you purchased for
$2,500 worth more than 820,000 ?-A. I could not place any exact value any more than
you could, Mr. Lister, upon nmining property, but I tell you this, frankly and honestly,
if I did not think the road would have been completed, I would never have bought the
land ; and I tell you honestly I bought the land because I believed the road would have
been completed, and I tell you honestly that the value of the land would be very greatly
enhanced by the construction of the road. That is as much as I can tell you.

Q. You have told us you thought it was increased more than 820,000 ?-A. It is in
connection with the price given by the company for it. I thought $20,000 was a fair
value and I accepted it for that.

Q. You thought $20,000 a fair value ?-A. Yes.
Q. And in addition to that you had the large profits you would have as a stock-

holder in the company ?-A. Those were prospective.
Q. If a money offer of $20,000 had been made to you for the property would you

have accepted it at the time 7-A. Very likely.
Q. Before the formation of the company ?-A. If you had offered me $10,000 I

would have taken it, and thought you were getting a bargain, but you would have had
to form a company and to have developed the property.

The Committee adjourned.

A. 1895
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COMMITTEE Rooi No. 49,
HOUSE OF Co 1oss, 11th July, 1895.

The Cornmittee met.

Hon. JoHN COSTIGAN re-called and further examined.

By Mfr. Mulock :

Q. Mr. Costigan, the first Government bonus of SS9,600 lapsed, if I reimemnber
rightly, and was renewed in 1891 ?-A. I admit any statement the hon. gentleman niakes,
presuming he bas taken it from the record. There is no point in it.

Q. Wait till I see if I am right on that. The first Governnent honus was a bonus
of $89,600, S6,400 a mile ?-A. The first vote was a vote of that amount of S3,200 a
mile for 28 miles.

Q. And they doubled it up, giving the sane anount foi lialf the line ?-A. On lialf
the line, at the next session of Parliament.

Q. At the next session of Parliam nt ?-A. Yes.
Q. Well, tracing it dlown historicallv, I find it does. T1h first bonus ilat was

availed of vas the result of the vote of 835.200 in 1S90, because vou will find that in
1891, on the 2~>th of September, 1891, the House voted S9,600, which was a revote ?-
A. Before I answer that 1 wish to sav that I am sorry I cannot place inyself in the
position that my friend seems to think that lie is justified in taking. I cannot plead or
argue. I have come here to give ny statement of facts.

THE CHAIR1AN.-You have a right to give your statement in the fullest way and
with the fullest explanations.

IR. MULOCK.-YOU can frame your answer as vou like.
MR. COSTIGA.-YeS, but the question you put to me stated as a fact that the

subsidy which was first voted for 28 miles was doubled up. Then you say the first
subsidy that was availed of was that for the first 14 miles or for the 11.

Mr. MULOCK-Please do not wander away from the question.
Mr. COSTIGAN-I think vou will admit that I have a right to make a statement in

my own defence. If you judge from the beading in the newlprs, stating that certain
things have been proved, it would lead to a very wrong impression. The argument, if
there is anything in it is this, that all the other subsidies had expired and died, and the
first subsidy availed of was this which was granted, as you say, one day after 1 pur-
chased the Arbuckle property.

Mr. MULCK-We shall not get on by argument. Please answer the question.
Mr. COSTIGAN-But you will admit that I have a right to iake an explanation.

My answer is that that was not the first subsidy availed of, that tlougli the subsidy al-
luded to expired, as several other subsidies had expired, that they were renewed-i sup-
pose that is the proper term.

Mr. MULOCK-Revoted.
Mr. COsTIGAN-That they were revoted by Parliament, and that long before this

subsidy you allude to was granted this road was under contract.
Mr. MULOCK-These are all matters of explanation and argument. I an not

wanting to misrepresent you. I am just wanting to take it historically, and you can
add any explanation you like.

Mr. COSTIGA-That is my answer.

By M1r. Muiock :

Q. The first question, I put to you, is this. What was the first money derived by
this railway from a vote of Parliament? For your recollection I would say the original
vote of $89,600 lapsed. Admitting, of course, that the work was under contract at the

time, and that Parliament was simply formally revoting the subsidy, it had lapsed ?-A.
Yes.
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Q. And historically-I am just taking it chronologically now.-A. Well, now, I
will answer your question.

Q. I find the first vote that went into the treasury of this company was this S35,-
200 vote in 1890 ?-A. I think that must be wiong. I will tell you the reason. I have
had nothing to do with the payments. I did not follow the payments. P5y impression
is that iust be wrong, because the road was under contract and the first few miles
begun.

Q. Have vou got " Hansard " for 1891 ?-A. If the hon. gentleman does not mind
me depending on my nemory, my impression is that it was not the first contract, that
the road was under contract, partly constructed, and completed afterwards on the vote
of that $89,600, that that must have been the first money used to pay for the construe-
tion of the first 14 miles, and that the first 14 miles was constructed and completed be-
fore the second 14 miles was in a position to claim any portion of the second vote.

Q. On the 2.th September, 1S91, if the " Hansard " was here vou would find it as
I state, the House voted 889,600, being in lieu of the previous subsidy of that amount?
-A. Yes.

Q. Now, there was only one previous subsidy of that amount ?-A. That is all-I
beg your pardon.

Q. There had been one previous subsidy prior to September, 1891 ?-A. You have
that in nmy statement and your own. As I said before, there was only one subsidy of
63,200 per mile for 28 miles, but at the next session of Parliament that grant was made
applicable to the first 14 miles.

Q. And that subsidy of $6,400 per mile amounted to 889,600 ?-A. Of course.
Q. And there was only one such vote ? That one lapsed and the other took its

place ?-A. Yes.
Q. Then the vote ,f 1891 of 89,600 was the only 89,600 voted to the coinpany

-A. There vas no other inoiev. It was confirming or extending or continuing the
same amount of money, only it was to be paid on that shorter distance.

Q. We will admit that the enterprise was under way at the time ?-A. Yes.
Q. Then I want to go back to it historically. The first vote that did not lapse,

that went into the treasury of the company, was the vote of S35,200 in -May, 1890 ?-
A. Yes.

Q. And the then current vote of 89,600 having lapsed in 1,891 was revoted in
September, 1891. Is that what you understand ?-A. I would not object to that state-
ment as being contrary to the fact. It is very likely, because it means this : It means
that the original vote was first changed to a vote of the same anount to be distributed
on half the distance.

Q. I will let you have the "lHansard,' and then you will see whether I am in error.
I only want to be just historically ?-A. I think I understand the question that the hon.
gentleman is asking.

Q. See here is the resolution on page 6139 of the ' Hansard " of 1891
"To the Tobique Valley Railway Company, for 14 miles of their railway, from

Perth Centre Station towards Plaister Rock Island, in lieu of the subsidy for a like
amount granted by the Act passed in the session held in the 50th and 51st years of
Her Majesty's reign, chapter 24, a subsidy not exceeding 86,400 per mile, nor exceedingC
in the whole $89,600."

That was the resolution under which that 689,600 was paid to the company ?-A.
Yes, I suppose it was paid under that resolution.

Q. And then what was the third grant or bonus ?-A. The third grant-three
miles further.

Q. 83,200 a mile ?-A. Yes.
Q. What vear was that voted ?-A. It must have been next vear I suppose.
Q. It is immaterial?-A. It was the next year that any subsidies were voted, I

know that.

Q. Well, Mr. Costigan, only one question more. I asked you here at the time this
subsidy was voted, on the 25th day of September, 1891, when Parliament was being
asked to make that revote-you spoke in support of the resolution as appears in " Han-
sard ", page 6140, and here are your remarks:

9"?

A. 1895
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"I can, perhaps, give somie information in regard to this railwav. The subsidv
was originally granted for the construction of 28 miles from Perth Centre Station to
what was known as the Plaister Rock Island, where there is an inexhaustible deposit of
gypsum. A memorial was sent in favour of it fron people in the Province of Quebec
as well as people in the Province of New Brunswick. So that the road is not a purelv
local road, and it was on this ground that the subsidy was granted. It runs tlhrougl
an excellent agricultural country, though the great object is, of course, to develop these
immense deposits of gypsum. The Legislature of New Brunsw% ick lias granted -70,000 to
this railway. Fourteen miles have been put under contract, and the contract is about
completed, so that nearly all the subsidy has been earned.-

That is the explanation vou made to acconpany this revote ?-A. I an satisfied
that statement was made in good faith.

Q. No doubt. Mr. Mills, of Bothwell, asked " Is this called the McAllister sub-
sidy ? "

Mr. Costigan-I never heard that nane applied to it."
"Mr. Mulock-Who are the owners of this plaster deposit
Mr. Costigan-The New Brunswick Government are the principal owners, and

that is the reason the local subsidy was granted. I believe some private persons have
one or two lots.'

Now, were you not one of the private persons who had one or two lots ?-A. 1»y
the statement made the other day, and the facts brought out, that on a certain date, the
day before the discussion in the House, I was constituted the owner by deed and by
telegraph. I must have been one of the owners. That statement was perfectly true.

Q. Then why did you not give vour name to the House at that tinme ?-A. If i was
the owner, and I dont dispute it from what the honourable gentleman lias said,-

Q. It is not from what I said, it is from what vou know ?-A. I would not have
known it until you called my attention to it.

Q. But this is a year afterwards. Remember this is not May, 1890. This is
in September, 1891, I asked you the question. You bought the property in lay, 1890 ?-
A. Yes.

Q. And in September, 1891, vou advocated the granting of a bonus or the revote
-A. Yes.

Q. And in support of that application you told Parliament that the pritncipal
owners were the Province of New Brunswick and one or two iriv ate persois owned
land ?-A. And the answer was absolutely correct.

Q. Yes, but do you not think when you are advising Parliament and you being one
of these two persons owning land, vou should in candour have given thtat answer?
A. I stated under my oath that I did not then, nor do I sec any reason now 0 why I
should volunteer the statement that I was the owner by an honest purchase of a piece
of private property that I had a right to buy independent of the existence of the lion.

gentleman and Parliament itself.
Q. Nobody is questioning your right to buy the property ?-A. If you hîad gone

further, Mr. Mulock, when you made that statement and asked ie " do you know who
the owners are ? Are you one of the owners ? Can vou teIl who the owners are ?"
Then if I were an owner I would say, Mr. Mulock, I own one of those lots."

Q. When you were asked who the owners of the property are, you did not give your
own name as one ?-A. No, I did not volunteer that.

Q. No, you did not volunteer that, and yet you were, as a member of the govern-
ment, advising Parliament to support that vote ?-A. Does the hon. gentleman himîself
think I had any unworthy reasons for withholding it?

Q. It may have been an accident. I think you should have given the answer to
Parliament ?-A. I do not plead it was an accident at all.

Q. When you were asked who were the owners if that plaster deposit you did not
say you owned part of that property and there is the responsibility I attach to you.
You ought in candour to have stated it, and it is a matter of comment ?-A. I arm very
sorry if I have been the ineans of leaving my hon. friend in a position to shake his con-
fidence. I still adhere strictly speaking to the truth. I feel no conscientious scruples for
having made that statement, as it appears there. I feel that I was not withholding any
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truth, I was shirking no responsibility, and I still adhere to the statement that that
statement was Made in good faith.

Q. Of course, it might be an accident or an oversight ?-A. I do not plead it was
any accident. I want the facts to be brought out for whatever thev are worth. I am
responsible to the fullest extent for any fair interpretation that may be put upon my
actions.

Q. There is nothing gained by our arguing ?-A. There is nothing, and I do not want
to argue. Let other people argue for me if they can.

Q. The facts are, that at that time you were the owner of one of the properties?
-A. Evidently I was the owner of 100 acres of land not at the terminus of
the road, not of the principal deposit at all, as has been indicated. I have explained
that before that the Go- ernment deposits, with the exception of a couple of lots, were at
this Plaster Island. The Government of New Brunswick controlled the whole of it,
either themselves or lad let it to New Brunswick gentlemen on lease.

Q. We have had that all before.-A. I hope the honourable gentleman will not
complain I ask no favours fron the honourable gentleman, but I ask the treatient of
a gentleman.

Q. 1 an examining you as a witness. You can lecture me sonie other time.-A.
No, I an trying to state this as a witness, and I will try and be careful not to state
anything that would not be considered binding upon me as a sworn witness. I will call
the attention of the honourable g-ntleman to the fact that I am sworn, and I hope he
will not forget that. He is not sworn, and in putting his questions, or as to any infer-
ence lie May draw in putting them, I hope lie will treat me fairly.

Q. I ani anxious to do this with absolute fairness and it is a verv great cisappoint-
ment and surprise with respect to a matter to which I attached a great deal of import-
ance, to learn through tiese newspaper articles-that was my first intimation-that you
had an interest in this property and had not given that answer to me when I asked vou,
because as a member of the Government, asking Parliament, in the public interest, to
grant mnoney, it seems to me Parliamnent should know the exact position that such a
gentleman is in. He lias a right to have a private interest, but in that case it would be
better if Parliamnent knew it, so as to understand how far to be governed by the advice

given. That is a matter of comment.-A. That is a matter of comment. M. Chair-
man, I am a vol untary witness, making a statement here. I told you I would not extend
that statement further than was necessarv. At this stage I must make a short state-
ment. I am sorry my honourable friend was surprised I did not volunteer this infor-
mation.

Q. No, you were asked it.-A. If you will excuse me, now I will make my state-
ment very short. I am sorry my friend is surprised and disappointed I did not make
that statement at the time. There might be an impression created outside that does
not exist now, that I came to Parliament a member of the Government having recentlv
purchased 100 acres of this mining land, the value of which would be increased by the
c'nstruction of this road, and having so purchased that land I came before the House
and pleaded for a subsidy for that road. The policy of the subsidy for that road, as I
have shown you, was decided when the whole 28 miles were subsidized. The policy of
the building of that road was fixed when that subsidy was changed so as to insure the
construction of the first 14 miles. The policy was insured and justified by the province
wlen they gave provincial aid, and in a further statement that I make under oath I say
that that did not influence me one iota in my advocacy for a subsidy, and if I did not own
one inch of land there I would have advocated that subsidy, as I felt bound to advocate
as a private miember or otherwise representingntyý the further subsidy, and My
constituents know it. I wish to make the further statement in contradiction to an im-
pression that has been created on account of the answer I gave the other day, that I
got this property because there was no hope of any one knowing he could get it at a
low price and the moment I got it, then I got a vote that would secure the construction
of the road. I stated the owner of the property seemed to be discouraged at the de-
lav, but tiere was not a man, even my opponents in the constituency, that had any
doubt of the construction of the road. I think tlat is all I need to say on those few
points.
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Q. Can you say why the road is not in operation ?--A. Did the hon. gentleman hear
my explanation on that point, because I volunteered that too.

Q. You have covered that ?-A. If you want any further information I will give
it to you.

Q. I was not present ?-A. I covered it just froi memorv. If the hon. gentleman
wants any further information I will answer him on that point.

Q. One other question. What part did vou take in getting the third subsidy ?-
A. Do you ca'1 the last three miles the third subsidy ?

Q. Yes.-A. The subsidy for the last three miles was given as a natter of g.od
faith. The Government was pledged to it, because the subsidy for the eleven miles was
given by them, knowing that it would not complete the second fourteen miles. The
amount was so small that year that all subsidies had to be giveni in proportion to the
claims made, but the granting of that eleven miles implied, and assurances were given,
that the other three miles would be given wlenever subsidies were again voted by
Parliament. That pledge was given,and the subsidy for the three miles was granted when
tlec other subsidies were voted.

Q. I an asking you whiat part you took in promoting that grant of 83,200 for the
last three miles ?-A. I cannot renember the last movement or the last argument, but I
will admit that I took the fullest part that a representive of that constituency, interested
in that part of the country, could take and from that notice, entirel inudepeident of
any money considerations or money mterest.

By Mr. Sprmu':

Q. That was your own constituency ?-A. Yes.

By 3fr. Mfulock :

Q. When that vote was asked from Parliament, did vou at tliat tiie informn Par-
liament that you were interested in the property ?--A. Not unless 1 was asked.

Q. There is no record of it.-A. I do not pretend that I volunteered ie informa-
tion. I do not think it was the business of Parliament and I (o not thinik it was yours.

Q. Did you inforn your colleagues in Council?-A. I do not think I informed
them, because it vas none of their business any more than it vas yours.

By 3fr. Lister:

Q. You told us the other day that the New Brunswick Governnent Lad granted a
lease to a co:npany of all the plaster deposits tha-t had not been sold or granted by the
Government to private individuals ?-A. That is my impression. That is my conviction.

Q. And you have also told us that the plaster deposits granted by the Government,
or rather leased by the Government to a company--that the railway company was
intere4ed in these leases, the Tobique Valley Railway Company ?-A. Will my friend
Mr. Lister allow me to make one statement, and it will assist him iii putting questions
so as not to cause confusion. In the first place, there was the Tobique Valley Railway
Company controlling and pushing on that woi k, and dealing witlh the Government for
subsidies to aid them in the construction of the road. Then, besides that, there was a
company-I suppose they were organized, I do not know-but there were several gentle-
men banded together, either by charter or letters patent, I do not know which ; at any
rate, there were several individuals interested by a lease they had obtained from the
Local Government for the privilege of working these gypsum lands. That covered the
Government lands, I think all thit they controlled. Now, that may be called another
company.

Q. What was the name of that comnpany ?-A. I do not know, unless it would be
a mining or gypsum company. I do not know. Then when you speak of the Tobique
Valley Gypsum and Mining Company, that is the company, the last company formed,
that purchased my private property. Now these three are distinct.

Q. I understand that, Mr. Costigan ?-A. Now another point. I want to show you
where the connection is, but I do not want any confusion. The Tobique Valley Rail-
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wav Company were the companv constructing and owning and controlling that road.
The second company that I alluded to were the holders of a lease from the local Govern-
ment of the Crown lands.

Ly the Chairm(f n

Q. At the terminus A. At the terminus. Some members of the Tobique Valley
1Railway Comnyv toi k shares or bought stock of this leased Government property.
Therefore some of the memîbers of the Tobique Valley Railway Company-there is no
reason wly I should not mention the name,-Mr. John Connor, for instance, bought
out somebdy's share iii this other companv or orgamzation. I had nothing to do with
any of these mio venments at the time.

Q. I am not charging that you ever had ?-A. But the honourable gentleman will
see tiat it is important that the public should understand the position of these three
different companies, because otherwise they might core to a wrong conclusion. He has
hinted that the interests of the Tobique Valley Railway Company and the Tobique
Valley Gvpsumn and Mining Company might have been connected. I say there was no
connection at all. The Tobique Vallev Gvpsum and Mining Company was a company
to> develop the deposits on the Arbuckle property about three miles below the gypsum
property leased from the Government by the gentlemen I have spoken of.

Q. Your statement is this, that there was a railway companv, an incorporated com-
pany ?-A. Yes.

Q. And there was a plaster company, whether incorporated or not vou do not
undertake to say, but some people who were interested in the railway company were
interested in the plaster company ?-A. (O>ne or two.

Q. Then there was the Tobique Valley Gypsum and Mining Company formed for
the purpose of developing the Arbuekle propertv ?- A. Yes, and the other company
was interested in the Government property and the private land they bought above.

Q. I understand vou. I understood vou to say the other day that the company
bolding the land leased fron the Governnent went to New York for the purpose of
offering the stock of the cormpany, as I understood, or selling the property. which ?-A.
If you change the words " went to New York " to " had negotiations.

Q. With people in New York ?-A. Yes.
Q. Well, which was it, to sell the property, or to have it stocked ?-A. My impres-

sion was that it was to get sone une to form a strong company and take the railway and
their lands over together. The reason I remember that is because I was willing to put
iv land in until I found I could not put it in, if thev put the railway in, for the reasons

I gave you the other day.
Q. You told us also that some arrangements were made between you and these

parties who were desirous of having tbis company stocked, that you would not offer
your property for sale until they had had an opportunity of carrying out their scheme?
-A. If the question is important, I will answer the question very frankly. I did state
the other day that a proposition was made for me to join the company, and I refused
and said I could not join that company with My property, for the reasons that I gave,
because a portion of the asets woulc be that railway that would be coming for sub-
sidies bere. Then negotiations had been going on, as I understood, between these gen-
tlemen and the Tobique Valley Railway Company and other capitalists for the sale of
the railway an-i the ot-her deposits. You asked if I agreed not to offer my property for
sale then. I did. I was asked to do so, and I said at the time they expected me to be
verv generous to refuse an opportunity of selling my propertv. Their argument was :
"If you sell vour property now, it is three miles shorter haul, it may jeopardize our
chances of selling, and an arrangement might be made whereby we couk' put these two
properties in with the railway and the gypsum company." I say on oath that I think
in doing that I was acting very generously and that I was not looking very closely to
my own nterest or trving to take advantage of any profit I could make out of this land

A. 1895
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Q. Was the arrangement with this company that you and your property shouhl be
taken in when this company was formed ?-A. No.

Q. Then it was not contemplated that there should be a convevanice froi vou to
the companv under any circumstances ?-No.

Q. There was no arrangement thev would buy vour property ?-A. ()nv the
arrangement I have already stated. I saw at once, and they admitted themselves when
I raised that point, that it would be impossible for me honourably to put this property
in, if the railway vas put in as one of the assets.

Q. I thought you said there wvas sonme arrangement that thev were to buy your
property previouslv to this ?-A. No, thev wvere talking with me about putting in the
gypsum property, mv gypsum property. Not the Tobique Valley RZailway Company,
remember. I was quite ready to do that.

Q. What arrangement was there ? Was your property put iii, as proposed ?--A.
There was no proposition fixed, no arrangement made. There vas only a dliscussionî and
when we met to take a practical step, I found they wanted to put the railw-ay iii, and I
said, "No, we cannot do that," and there was no arrangeient because they adnitted it
could not Le done.

Q. There appears to have been a mortgage on this property when vou appear to
have sold it to the company, the Tobique Gvpsum Company ?- A. Yes.

Q. There w-as a mortgage on the property of 83,000, I think ?-A. The mîortgage
speaks for itself. I bought the property for 82,500, anid there was somne interest. It
would be under $3,000.

Q. That mortgage was given te whom ?-A. John Connor.
Q. Is John Connor a member of the Cordage Company of Ha ifax ?-le is a mîem-

ber of a good many corporations. I don't know whether lie is a ienber of the Cord-
age Company of Halifax. I know he is engaged in the cordage business aind lias been
ever since he was 14 vears old.

Q. There are one or two more questions. The 86,500 lapsed anid was revoted in
September, 1891 A. I daresay it is correct. It was revoted, yes.

Q. So that no part of the original vote of .889,600, as a iatter of fact, had been
used in the construction of the road up to September, 1891 ?-A. That seems to be very
evident. If it was only revoted it could not have been used.

Q. Then the portion that was used would be the 835,200 voted on the Oth May,
1890 ?-A. No, I cannot say that. I am not speaking froin inemiiory or a knowledge of the
facts, but I say this, that I cannot understand that that would hold. The hon. genitie-
man wants me to say--

Q. I don't want you to say anything, Mr. Costigan, that vou do not want to say.
I do not expect you to say anything that you are not perfectly willng to say. J ai

just getting at the facts. I see here by the records that on the :Oth May, 1890, tiere
were 835,200 of a new vote ?-A. Yes.

Q. A year and four months afterwards. namely, on the 25tlh September, 1891, there
was a revote of the old subsidy of $89,600 ; that is to say, the revote was a year and
four months after the vote of 835,200. The subsidy originally granted, 889,600, that
was revoted in September, 1891 ?-A. I do not recollect that it was revoted, because it
had not expired.

Q. The $35,200 voted in May, 1890, was not the first money actually used in the
construction of the road?- A. I do not know how the paynents were made. I do not
doubt the dates or the figures of the hon. gentleman. I suppose he is speaking froin the
records and they can be easily traced. The first subsidy having expired was renewed,
certainv.

Q. It was renewed after the second subsidy was voted !-A. Because it did not
expire until the tirst subsidy was voted. They were all subsidies for the saine road.
Let us speak plain about this. The first subsidy, the hon. gentleman says, expired anid
was revoted.

Q. In Septeniber, 1891 ?-A. After another subsidy had been voted. Certairly,
because it had not expired until a further subsidy given for the next 14 miles had been
voted.
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Q. That may be so, I am not disputing it ?-A. But it is a fact, and that is what I
want to state. It was voted after the second subsidy, because only after the second sub-
sidy was voted did the original subsidy expire.

Q. Well, what I want to get at is, the subsidy of 889,600 revoted in September,
1891, had never been earned or paid ?-A. It had been partly earned, i don't know
whether it was all paid. The question of paynents need not be a question between us
at ail. The pavinents are very easily got at, and the dates I do not dispute. It is the
conclusions.

Q. Well, the conclusions are matters of argument, Mr. Costigan ?--A. They are
matters of argument, but the conclusions drawn hastilv from outside depend greatly
upon the impression sought to be given bwy gentlemen w-ho are not always fair.

Q. Well, that is a matter of argument too ?-A. Oh, it is a matter of argument.
Q. Now, Mr. Costigan, do not Jet us diseuss this matter?-A. We do not want te

discuss it. Not at all. I will be as patient as I can.
Q. AI] I want to find out is the simple fact that the subsidy of $889,G0 was re-

voted in Septeiber, 1891. You say that is so ?-A. I sav, I admit that presumably
von are quoting froin the records.

Q. That being so, the railway companv had no right whatever to anv portion of
thiat 889,600 ?-A. If Parliament went back on its policy and took advantage of the
expiration of the time for which it was voted they could not collect and could not demand
iý, I suppose.

Q. Without a further Act, and the Act was passed at that tine. Then in May,
1890, a new subsidv of 35,200 was granted. Now, vou have told us that Mr. Arbuckle
becaine discouraged about tbis road being ever constructed ?-A. I never saw Mr.
Arbuckle. 1 admitted bwhat '-\Ir. Stewart infornied me w-as, that he was rather dis-
eouraged and wanted to lea-e and would sell the property.

Q. He was liscouraged, and wanted to leav e and wanted to sell the property, you
were so inforned ?-A. Yes.

Q. Were you informed that by letter or by telegram ?-A. I think by letter. It
might be by telegram, but I think by letter. If the hon. gentleman thinks that is
important I will tell himu that I closed the transaction by telegran myself. I can have
no doubt about that.

Q. At all events this information wvas conveyed to you by letter or telegram ?-A.
Yes.

Q. It nay have been bv letter, but it is certain the matter was closed by telegram ?
-A. Yes.

Q. And that, as before stated, was on the 12th day of May, 1890. You knew at
that tine, Mi. Costigan, that the government had determined to grant a subsidy-a
further subsidy of 835,200 to this road ?-A. I knew all the facts about the subsidies
baving been voted and the dates they were voted.

Q. Well, the public knew nothing about it at that date ?-A. The public must
think I was very innocent if I did not know the amount voted by Parlianient.. The

gentleman is quoting.
Q. No, the anount voted by Parliament, I am quoting, liad not been voted on the

12th Mav, it was voted on the 13th May. 1 t was subnitted to Parlianient on the 13th
May. The question I ask you is, "Wbether you did not know before Parliament and
the country were informed of the fact that the government had determined te further
subsidize this road to the extent cf S35,200 " ?-A. I had perfect knowledge as far as
perfect confidence would give that knowledge, that that subsidy would be voted, and
that the policy previously adopted would be carried out. As I told the hon. gentleman,
not only my friends but my opponents in the constituency and the province had not the
slightest doubt that that vote would be given to carry on the work.

Q. It is not a question of confidence, but of knowledge ?-A. You will take my
answer just as I give it to you and you will get no more-at least not to questions of
that sort.

Q. I will just simply ask it. Did you know, Mr. Costigan, on the 1 2th of May that
the Government had determined to give 835,200 more to the Tobique Valley Railway
Company ?-A. I have already answered the hon. gentleman that I knew, and there

28
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seemed to be no doubt anywhere in the minds of those who took anv interest in the
construction of the road, that that subsidy would be voted. Personally- as the lion.
gentleman wants to be very particular-personally I had not the slightest doubt. You
can drop out the word " confidence " that I used before, if you like. I had not the
slightest reason to doubt that the subsidy would be paid and the promise of the Govern-
ment fulfilled, and the policy already adopted carried out.

Q. Were you equallv confident that the vote of S89,600 would be revoted if it
lapsed ?-A. If possible more confident.

Q. You were more confident of that ?-A. Yes.
Q. So that you had the greatest possible confidence that in case the $89,600 suh-

sidy lapsed it wvould be revoted ?-A. I had not any doubt about that.
Q. And you had an absolute knowledge tlat the other subsidy of 35,200 would be

granted ?--A. Certainly.

Q. Did Arbuckle know it ?-A. I do not know that lie did. le would have known
if he lad asked me. I would have given him mv opinion.

Q. He was not in Ottawa, I suppose, where vou were ? He wîas living in New
Brunswick ?-A. That is so.

Q. You do not know, _Mr. Costigan, whether vour agent inforiiied liimî or not ?-A.
Wlom da you call my agent

Q. The gentleman who telegi aphed foi vou '--A. I suppose that so far as that goes
he did act the part of a friend or agent.

Q. For that matter I do lot suppose he knew eitlier ?-A. He had every reasoto
believe the vote would be given. le was the original prom oter of tie road, and
devoted his tiie to it and got nothing for it.

Q. You (o not know whether lie told Arbuckle that the old subsidy was suie to be
revoted and that there would be a further subsidy of $3-5,200 voted ?--A. My fri und
might be so conscientiously serupulous as to mention that when he accepted. I could
not say whether lie did or not.

Q. You have already told us that if there was no railway constructed the price you
were paying for it of S2,500 was a fair price ?-A. I did not quite say that, if I reinli-
ber. I stated that outside of the value of the gypumîî in tie land, as a farming lot it
would not be worth anyýhing like that sum, that I nvself woulkI not buy it, and I liad
not money to spare, unless it is for the exceptional value giver it by this deposit. But
a man of means might consider it an opportunity for investrient iii a place iost likely
for a railway to be constructed in, and he might think it worth worth while to buy it
for more than $2, .500.

Q. Did you tell me that in view of the plaster deposit and other circunstances, t hat
you considered $2,500 a fair price for the property if no railway woulk be constructed
-A. I would not have given that for it, if the hon. gentleiian wants to establish thiat
unless I thought that a railway would be constructed there and there wvould be soeue
means of getting it out. There is no doubt about that.

Q. You told me also on that examination that you considered that if the railway
was constructed the property would be worth more than 820,000 or S2.5,000, I do not
remember which was the answer, but it was more than $20,000 at all events ?-A. I
cannot deny that. I want to be particular and state that I had no ineans of putting
any exact value upon it. I am quite willing to tell the hon. gentleman that wlen J
bought the property I thought I was getting it at a very low price, and that I could
by a fair transaction get a fair profit out of it. I think that the property to-day,
although the stock is not paying and is not worth par, I think it is well worth $20,000.

Q. So that the construction of the road had the effect of bringing the property
that was not worth more than ;2,500 up to $20,000 ?-A. I dare say that is a fair
conclusion to draw, but I want the hon. gentleman to go further and say that it lid
at least the same effect on the government lands out of which the local governmnent is
to be indemnified partially for the subsidy they gave. The increase would be propor-
tionate.

Q. But while the hon. gentleman knew that the subsidy of 89,600 would be
revoted and he knew that a further subsidy of $35,000 was to be voted, and he knew
that the effect of that would be the securing of the construction of this road, he will
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not undertake to say that Arbuckle knew that ?-A. I do not pretend to undertake to
say. If the hon. gentleman says le did not know, I am quite prepared to admit that
lie did not know it.

Q. And you, N r. Costigan, say here that occupying the advantageous position you
oceupied, knowing all that vou knew, having all the power that vou lad to forward a
grant from the Government, you say that you and Arbuckle were dealing on terms of
equality ?-A. That is a singular question, Mr. Chairman.

Q. No, it is not a singular question ?-A. Will vou allow me to put it as vou have
put it ?

Q. Yes, certainly ?-A. You say here that I have all this knowledge and the other
man having none of it-I never said any sueh thing.

Q. I did not say tlat you said so ?-A. But that is the question you put to me.
Q. I will repeat the question, and you will see. You have already admitted vou

were satisfied the Government would revote the old subsidy after it expired ?-A. Yes.
Q. You have already admitted that you knew that the Government intended to

vote 3 .5, 200 ? -A. Yes.
Q. You have alreadv stated that vou were satisfied this w ould secure the construe-

tion of the road ?-A. Yes.
Q. So that on these three points you were perfectly satisfied h-A. Perfectly.
Q. You have told us that Mr. Arbuckle was discouraged ?-A. I told vou that

that was reported to me and I had no doubt of it.
Q. That lie wanted to sell the property and leave ?-A. Yes.
Q. And that you did not know that le had this information ?-A. And that I

migLt as well have bought it as anybody else.
Q. Well, the simple question I asked y-ou was, in view of all these facts, do you

pretend to say that Arbuekle and vou were dealing on terms of equality ?-A. I have
stated the information I had, 1 have admitted the position you place hm inii, and I have
no reason to state I had any undue advantage over the man. He Lad offered this pro-
perty for 2,500. If I had not bought it by telegran, there were twenty others who
would have bouglt it. The man Stewart w-ho telegraphed to nie had an option on it
before, but lie Lad not the monev, and that is the reason lie telegrapled to me to buy
it. I told him I would buy it, and I would give Lim an interest in i if lie wanted. I
think I promised to give himi an interest hecause lie Lad the option first. I bought it
because he eould not pay the money

By Mfr. Haygart :

Q. You say that the ian Stewart had an option when you purchased ?-A. He
leld the option for over a year.

By ifîr. Lbister:

Q. For low nuch, Mr. Costigan ?-A. I cannot tell the price, but not any greater
price. Mr. Stewart now claims-I make this statement voluntarily-that lie has an
interest in the property although it was bought by me. It w-as transferred to me, I
paid tLe money, paid tle interest, and lie never paid a dollar on i ; but in view of the
fact that lie Lad the option, that le went and paid over the money and got the deed I
told him I would give him whatever Le thought was a reasonable interest in that pro-
perty, in consideration of the fact that Le had the option, and that if he had the money
le night have bought the property before me.

Mr. MULOCK have liere a letter from Mr. Costigan addressed to the Hon. M.
Bowell, acting Minister of Railways, which I wisli to hand in as an exhibit.

By fr. Lister :

Q. There were three miles necessary to get the road up to your deposits, -were
there ?-A. No, sir.

Q. How many ?-A. Not one mile of the three.
30
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Q. Well, there were three miles additional at all events to get to some deposits ?-
A. Yes. I will put the honourable gentleman right. He is a little on the wrong track
there. There were not three miles necessarv to get the road up to my deposits as lie
calls it. There were three miles necessary to complete the road as originally subsidized
and promised, and the three miles additional w ere to complete the last 14 miles and to
bring the road up to the Governnent deposits, so that mtakes a littie difference.

By A1r.'Sproue

Q. Would that be beyond vours ?-A. Bevnd mine, of course.

By Ji1. Liste:

Q. So that the road would pass vour land 1before conueing the t liree miles ?-
A. About the three miles, perhaps.

Q. It would go up to about vour lanîd ?-A. It would harully reacht it, but w ould be
very close to it though.

Q. And it was for that reason that the Governnent extendled it mr mnade a grant
for the completion of the three miles ?-A. Extenietl thue the miles ?

Q. Yes.-A. As I have already stated the grant for 11 ile-s was givei the lession
before, and the oilv reason whv it was not 14, instead of 11, was t hat t lie subsidies had
to be proportionate and as the subsidies could not be u1ed that year l1 miles were put

in, on the ground as I stated here, that it did not matter imucli whether it w as 11 or 8,

but that would do for that vear with the uidersianding thai the balance, whatever it
might be, would be forthcoming whenever the subsidies wer\ otd at tle nt session

or whenever thev were voted again, and that w as carried out. lii tle mneanttine the
subsidy for that three miles was voted in sutieient time not to dela v ost tuit itîtn of

the work.

By 31r. Haat:

Q. Was this road under contract when you purchased tis lot ?-A. The road was
under contract long befire I purchased the property.

Q. Was any portion of it completed ?-A. i t hink the firt 14 - miles w ere comttîplet ed
as near as I can remember. I an speakinïg froiii miteitory. I did n t tbk over the
dates because my statement here in answer to questions put by my honourale( frienld
here is subject to the records thenselves. If he quotes the date of a subsidY I will not
dispute the year. As to the qtestion the Minister puts to mite whether the cortraet was
completed or not, I say I believe it was. It was uder cotntract foi several years

Q. And part of it completed ?-A. Well on to oiplletiontt, if lot complted.

Q. Can you tell mie what portion of that $89,000 that was revoted was earned
before it was revoted ?-A. Oh, yes, it was earned.

Q. What portion was earned before it was revoted ?-A. I t was eirn-d, I supplilose,
by advances made to these men as in any other wav, but they could iot draw mttoney, of
course, until a certain portion of the work was done.

Q. Then the p trty living on the land there miiust have been as cognizant of the
amount of the road that was under contract and completed as vou were ?-A. He lived
right there the whole time, knew all the facts.

Q. This man had given an option to another person wlo had the right of purchas-

ing his property for a vear, and he was unable to sell it at that price ?-A. 1 stated that
is the information Mr. Stewart gave me. Of course I cannot on oatli state this mîai
had done so, but long before I telegraphed, before I got this commtîunieation, Mr.
Stewart told me that he had an option and would buy this property. Then, wlen I

got his letter or communication that this man was wvlintg to take the î2,500 if lie could

get it-that he wanted to move away-I immediatel; said: " Close with hiim."
Q. The last vote, that is for the three miles, was not for the purpose of taking the

road up to this property but away past it ?-A. Taking it past it to the Provincial Gov-

ernment property.
The CHAIRMAN-The letter put in shows that conclusively.
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By 3fr. Lister:

Q. The road was under construction, and it had been for some years, had it not ?-
A. Under construction ?

Q. Yes, in course of construction.-A. Excuse me, it had been for some years
before what ?

Q. Before the revote.-A. Yes.
Q. And before the subsidy of $35,200 the contractors had failed ?-A. No ; the

contractors got embarrassed.
Q. They got embarrassed ?-A. The company, I suppose, usually gives the contract

to the contractors.
Q. Yes ?--A. The contractors failed.
Q. Yes ?-A. Got embarrassed at any rate and could not pay their claims for a

while. Then Mr. Kitchen & Bros., I think, or Son, contractors in Fredericton, came
forward and made arrangements with the company and completed this work that other
contractors had failed to carry out.

Q. How much have they failed to carry out ?-A. Oh, I could not speak with
regard to that at all. I did not follow the financial arrangement of their accounts. That
would appear of course, it is a matter of record.

Q. How long after the contractors failed in their work before Kitchen took hold of
it ?-A. I have not the dates of that, but I would be quite sure they were in difficulties
for several months before they couldi make their arrangements and go to work.

Q. Then can you give me any idea as to when this work commenced-when the con-
tractors comnienced the construction of the road ?-A. I could not give you the dates, no.

Q. Nor the year ?-A. Nor I could not give the year off hand.
Q. Would it be back as far as 1884 ?-A. I could not say when it was.
Q. At all events it was some years ?-A. Some vears f rom when ?
Q. Fron the time of commencement to the time the contractors failed or suspended

or did not pay up ?-A. I think after the vote, after the subsidy was given, there was
a delay for the reasons that I stated before. The charter was in the hands of men
who did not seem inclined to go on. That caused the greatest portion of the delay.
I am not going to repeat the steps I took to force them to come to terms or to secure
the construction of the road.

Q. Weli, the result of the whole thing as far as Arbuckle was concerned, vas that
lie became discouraged and wanted to sell out and leave the place ?-A. As I never saw
the gentleman to get his opinions upon it, the prosecutor in the case must draw his own
conclusions.

Q. Now tell me this question : Was the work in a state of suspension or in active
progress at the time that vou bought the Arbuckle property ?-A. The road, I think, at
that time was in hand, was under contract to Kitchen & Bros., reliable contractors, and
there could be no doubt about their ability and intention to build that road.

Q. Was the work going on at the time you bought this property ?-A. I cannot
exactly tell you whether it was going on. I was not trotting up and down to see
whether they put their men on. My own impression was that the road was under con-
tract-under reliable and solvent contractors and that the completion of the road was
thereby insured, and I only hesitated to give the answer because my impression is that
thev were at work on the road, but J did not want to say that without being positive.
It is very easy to ask a question off-hand about something that occurred three or four
years ago with which I bad no connection whatever except in one capacity.

Q. Ail you need say is that you do not remember, you are not positive ?-A. Well,
I say my impression is they were at work.

Q. You will not undertake to say they were ?-A. I will not undertake to say any-
thing that I am not positive about.

Q. You are undertaking to say something ?-A. I will undertake to say a great
deal more than I am saying now under my oath.

Q. Then so far as the actual progress of the work was concerned, you do not under-
take to say with positiveness that the work was in progress at the time you bought the
Arbuckle property.

A. 1895
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THE CHAIRMAN-Mr. Costigan bas stated already to the best of his recollection.

By 31r. Haggart:

Q. This fact is clear, that for a year before vou bought the property another man
had the option ?-A. I think it was a year before that Mr. Stewart told me lie had the
option f rom Arbuckle.

Q. And he had been trying to sell it ?-A. le did not say lie was trving to sell it.
Q. He had the option ?-A. Yes, if Stewart had the money lie would have bought

it at once. If he had gone to Mr. Baird at Andover, a Senator here now, and oflered it
to him he wvould have bought it. That is mv belief. He might say that lie would not
but my impression is that he would be willing to give him $',500 for it tlat day himu-
self. It was a chance of buying a piece of private property that the Provincial
Governnent had not any claim upon, that was granted by patent in 186' . You mîay
talk about " squeeze."

By Mfr. McMufllen:

Q. Was Mr. Arbuekle one of your constituents ?-A. He was one of my supporters.
Q. And whose interests you should defend ?-A. Whose interests I would defend

better than you.
Q. Do you think you treated him fairly in buying this property at the price you

paid for it ?-A. I cannot state that I treated hini as fairly as you might have treated
him, but I state that I treated him as fairly as I believe you would have treated him1 .

Q. Then your opinion of my treatment of him is of a very low order ?-A. If you
will look at my answers you vill see that that does not necessarily follow. I stated that
I treated him as fairly as I believe you would have treated him.

THE CHAIRMAN-Let us get at the facts.

By Mfr. McMul/en :

Q. It is evident your opinion of my treatment is of a very low order ?-A. No, it
mav be that your intelligence does not grasp the meaning of my replv.

By 3r. Boyle:

Q. As far as I understand the increase in the value of the land does not depend on
the voting of the subsidies but on the construction of the road ?-A. It depended
entirely on the construction of the railway, and the construction of the railway was
ensured years before.

Q. So as soon as the construction of the railway was assured, it was not contingent
or collateral but it had already occurred?-A. Yes.

Q. So it is a matter of fact that at the time you bought the land it was well under-
stood that the railway was going through and would be finished '-A. Yes, it was
generally understood.

By Mfr. McMullen:

Q. Do you know of any of the members of the Local Goverrrnent who took advan-
tage of the circumstances and bought any of the property there ?-A. Does the honour-
able gentleman wish to question me upon my knowledge of the actions of the Local
Government, bis Liberal friends? I am under oath. Go on. I have made no state-
ment in connection with the Liberal Government of New Brunswick. Question me if
you dare about the Liberal party.

Mr. MCMULLEN-I don't want to get you mad.
Mr. COSTIGAN-You are getting me mad, and it would be quite a mistake for some

of you to get me too mad. I trust I am not hasty or imprudent, but I have the
feelings of a man. I like an enemy, but I despise a sneak, or a stabber-behind, a man
that will insinuate what he knows is only an insinuation to injure a man when he can-
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not charge him with anything wrong. I will continue under my oath and say this : I
won't ask a vote of a cornmittee to clear me of this charge. I won't ask a
committee of the House to clear me before the public of the slightest suspicion of fraud
or dishonest action in this matter. I will say that you cannot find ten gentlemen on
the Liberal side who will stand up and say "John Costigan, you have acted dishonour-
ably in the slightest degree from the beginning to the end of this matter." Is there
anything further gentlemen?

TuE C IR)IAN -No, that is a]l, Mr. Costigan.

The Committee adjourned.

A. 1895
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EXHIBIT REFERRED TO IN MINUTES OF EVIIENCE.

EXHIBIT.

OTTAWA, 4th August, 1891.

MY DEAR BOwELL,-The application of the Tobique Valley Railway Company for
a subsidy of $3,200 per mile for the three last miles of the twenty-eight originally sub-
sidized is, I think, entitled to vour most favourable consideration.

The original subsidy granted by the Dominion was for S3,200 per mile for twenty-
eight miles, the distance between Perth Station, on the New Brunswick Ilailwav, an'd
Plaster Rock, on the T. V. R., the principal object being to reach said Plaster Rock,
where an inexhaustible supply of gypsum is to be found. The Local Government having
failed to provide a provincial subsidy, the Dominion subsidy for the twenty-eight miles
was made applicable to the first fourteen miles, and a contract was entered iito covering
that distance. Last session the ordinary subsidy of ,3,200 per mile vas asked for the
upper fourteen miles, and was granted to the extent of eleven miles, leaving the last
three miles unprovided for. The first fourteen miles are now nearly completed. The
New Brunswick Government, at last session, voted S70,000 to secure the completion of
the road to Plaster Rock, but of coui se will not give any portion of that subsidy unless
the road be completed to the Rock, as originally intended.

You will, therefore, easily see how important it is that the Dominion slould grant
the subsidy for the last three miles, as without this the local subsidy of S70,000 will
not be available, and the fourteen miles, constructed at considerable cost, will be
of little or no value, while the granting of the small subsidy will ensure the completion
of the whole twenty-eight miles, and make that immense gypsun deposit accessible,
which was the original object in subsidizing that railway.

Yours very truly,
JOHN COSTIGAN.

Hon. M. BOWELL,
Acting Minister of Railways,

Ottawa.
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RE PORT.

The Select Standing Committee on Agriculture and Colonization have the
honour to present their third and final report.

The investigations made by the committee at its sittings during the session have
embraced the subjects of Agriculture in ils several divisions; the question ot brand-

ing cheese, and immigration.

On the subject of' agriculture the several officers of the Central Experimental
Farm were examined, and a report of the information obtained from them is here-
unto annexed and submitted for the consideration of the House.

It will be found to contain information not only of interest to the farmiers of
Canada but of economic value to all who arc interestod in the welfare of lie )omnin-
ion, considered in relation to agricultural development. Much new iatter will be
found in this report and evidence, while many facts, which were before kiown, are
presented in a -new and striking light.

ORGANIZATION OF THE DOMINION EXPERIMENTAL FARMS.

Mr. William Saunders, the director of the experimental farmns, was first exan-
ined (7th May). He stated that in all the operations which have been carried on,
the lines prescribed by the Experimental Farms Act had been closely followed. The
work of clearing, cleaning and fencing the land was begun at the central fim in
1887; that on the farm in the Maritime Provinces was commenced in thc followiig
year, as was also that on the farms at Brandon and Indian Ilead, and that on the

Agassiz farm in 1889. The director stated that it required three or four yo:ars to

complete the effective organization of the farms. It is, therefore, yet early to esti-

mate all the advantages for the farmers of the Dominion which may be reasonably
expected to fiow from them.

EXPERIMENTAL OPERATIONS.

The nature of the work carried out includes experiniit:al tets with the grains,
root crops, vegetables, fruits, trees and plants, in particulars whiich are of' interest
and great importance to farmers. The number ofvarieties of firm crops, lie said, on
which experiments had been made is upwards of 500, and the numnber of varieties of

large and small fruits much greater, including, at Brandon, 200 varieties of the hard-

iest sorts of Russian apples, and the saine at Indiain IeaJ. So fiar, however, only
one variety of Siberian crab has proved entirely hardy at Brandon and lndian Icad.

At the experimental farm at Agassiz there now exists in very successful oper-
ation one of the largest test orchards in the world. As many as 1,800 different
varieties of fruits are under test, of which upwards of 1,200 are large fruits, and it

is believed that valuable results will be obtained.
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DISTRIBUTION OF SEED GRAIN.

The distribution of samples of seed grain in three-pound bags was actively con-
tinued during the past year. It was reported to the committee last session that
88,501 of these samples had been distributed to 44,181 farmers, from the commence-
ment. This year, between the 11th of February and the 6th of May, 19,040 three-
pouid samples had been sent out to about 19,000 farmers, while there were at the
date mentioned, about 8,320 applications which could not be supplied. These facts
show the very great interest of farmers in this sample distribution. The practical
results have been highly satisfactory in improving some of the grain crops of the
country. From a sample of three pounds, carefully sown one year, a farmer can
obtain a good supply of seed for the next, and afterwards have enough for the improve-
ment of bis neighbourhood. This makes an appreciable accretion to the wealth of
the country.

There has been a new feature in the grain distribution of the present year,
namely of one-pound packages of some of the new cross-bred wheats and hybrid
barleys which have been produced at the central farm. The trial of these in many
parts of the ]Dominion may be looked forward to with much interest. As many as
1,150 of the one-pound samples of cross-bred wheats and the same number of one-
pound samples of hybrid barleys have been distributed.

In explaining the several crosses tried at the farm, the director pointed out that
he hoped to succeed to produce a variety of wheat having the qualities of the Red
Fife, but ripening a few days earlier. If such a result could be obtained itwould be
one of very great importance for the whole of the Canadian North-west.

The director of the experimental farms gave much practical information in
bis evidence relating to experiments with barnyard manure and some of the
artificial fertilizers, showing the results obtained by applications to the different
crops. The practical details afforded being of most interest in the information
given ; the farmer is referred to the report annexed.

The information given with regard to hedge and tree planting, including shelter
belts, at different points of the Dominion, is interesting, and thefarmer is referred to,
the details.

The director gave an account of the trouble which had been found in connection
with the disease of tuberculosis among the herds of the experimental farms and
the methods taken for its extirpation.

DEVELOPMENT OF THE DAIRY IND'JSTRY, AS A WHOLE AND BY PROVINCEs.

The dairy commissioner, Mr. James W. Robertson, of the experimental farms,
next gave evidence before the Committee, and the information he furnished bad
relation to what had been already achieved, and what was hoped to be, by the opera-
tions carried on by him under the administration of the Minister of Agriculture.
The information he furnished was divided into four heads, namely (1) Dairying in
connection with the varions experimental dairy stations establisbed in the different
provinces of the Dominion; (2) The action taken under the direction of the Minister
to help the butter trade by means of shipments to the United Kingdom; (3) The cold
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storage service and accommodation proposed to assist in the development of this
trade; and (4) The outlook of the cheese market for the current year. The dairying
progress which has been made under the operations which have been carried out,
can only be described as remarkable.

In Prince Edward Island, in 1892, there was only one dairy station on
that island. It was put up by the farmers and the Department loaned the
machinery to fit up the factory. Some other factories were built and titted
up at the expense of joint stock companies of farmers. In 1893 the dairy
division of the Department of Agriculture managed eleven dairy stations, patronized
by 1,187 farmers, turning out cheese to the value of over $48,000. The
actual cost to the government in bringing about this result was $2,500 for the year,
including the salary of Mr. Dillon, the dairy superintendent. In 1894 there were
16 cheese factories and 2 creameries, and, at the end of that year, the value of the
cheese and butter turned out was over $90,000, of which amount $11,830 was in
butter. The quality of cheese made in Prince Edward Island was the highest, and
sold for half a cent a pound above the average price of Ontario cheese. Th'lie growing
of corn ensilage and winter butter-making are gaining a decided footing on the
Island, and it is clear that very soon no further assistance will be required from the
Department, the whole cost of which to the Dominion, to the end of 1894, was
$4,800. A wealth making progress of importance lias thus been set in motion at a
trifling money cost, the effects of which will be permanent.

The dairy commissioner showed that in the provinces of Nova Seotia and New
Brunswick similar operations have been carried on, with promise of much suCess4,
in addition to that aiready obtained. In 1894, 16 new factories were built in Nova
Scotia, and 39 were in operation. The farmers are commencing to make butter in
winter and cheese during the summer in that province. During the present
year (1895) the commissioner believed that there would be 49 cheese and butter
factories in operation, and Nova Scotia will this year become an exporter of
cheese. The methods pursued in New iBrunswick are similar in kind. The
travelling dairy in New Brunswick visited 68 places in the province, and the
farmers were shown how to avoid making losses, and how, instead, to make gains.

Thedairy commissioner pointed out that the presence of His Excellency the Gov-
ernor General at very large dairy meetings in the Maritime Provinces, during the
past year, had the effect of quickening the interest and exciting enthusiasim among
the farmers; as many as from three to ten thousand people being ut each of
these gatherings, together with Lieu tenan t-Governors and provincial Pre-
miers. There was also present ex-Governor Hoard, of Wisconsin, a very high
authority in dairy matters ; and he published in his paper,-lloard's Dairyman-
the most widely circulated dairy paper, after bis return, the statement :" They
make the finest cheese there (Prince Edward Island), that I ever saw. . . . You
would never know that all that cheese was not made by one man, on accourit of
its uniformity. Every single cheese maker bad been trained to a given standard."
This is very satisfactory testimony from very high expert authority.

In the province of Quebec very active work has been donc under the super-
vision of the assistant dairy commissioner, Mr. J. C. Chapais, who, during the past
year, addressed nine meetings in Prince Edward Island, one in New Bruns-
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wick, eight in Ontario and eighty-two in Quebee, besides delivering
thirty-four lectures to the students at the dairy sebool at St. Hyacinthe.
The dairy school at St. Hyacinthe receives $1,000 a year from the
Dairymen's Association of Quebec, and the )epartment of Agriculture
meets other expenses. The work of teaching and spreading information, as to
the best methods of dairy practice, appears to be very active in that province. The
total number of cheese factories in Quebec is 1,192, and of butter factories, 262.
The dairy commissioner expressed the opinion that this year the province of
Quebec will produce about half of the total amount of cheese exportable from
Canada.

In the provinceof Ontario, the dai ry commissioner stated i Lat in 1894the plant used
for butter making which had been loaned by the Department to companies offarmers
was so]d to them, and, last winter, they commenced to manage the business for them-
selves. It is believed that the teaching assistaiice may, in the future, be withdrawn
from that province. The operations of winter butter-making, with the assistance of a
vote of Parliament, under the direction of Dairy Commissioner Robertson, were coin-
nenced at Woodstock and Mount Elgin in 1892; and from these points have since

extended all over Canada. Last winter there were in operation about 100 butter-
making factories in Ontario. The dairy commissioner particularly described the
starting of a large factory at Renfrew, a joint stock comipany putting up the build-
ings and entirely furnishing them. The department carried on the butter-making,
so that the factory night have the advantage of the good name which had been
gained. le said he Lad information that this factory would make a ton of butter
a day, after it had got well in operation in June.

In Manitoba and the North-we-t Territories the operations have been actively
carried on. Travelling dairies were started in the province and Territories last.
year., the procedure followed being somewha t similar to that in New Brunswick
Sixty-three places were visited. The work done appears to be approved by the
people interested in Manitoba and the North-west, the fact having been expressed
by resolution of the Manitoba Dairymen's Association. Butter factories bave
commlleiced in the North-west, and there is reason to hope for success.

In concluding this part of his evidence, the dairy commissioner expressed the
opinion that the vote for dairy service in educational work in the provinces may
soon be very much reduced, with a view to discontinuance.

DAIRY PRODUCTION AND EXPORTS.

The second division of the information which the dairy commissioner furnisbed
tothe committee, namely, the promotion of the shipment of butter, to foster thebutter
trade, is cognate with the third division of his classification, namely, cold storage,
and both cuntain matter calling for serious consileration in the interest of dairy
far mers. And both these points have again important bearing on his fourth division,
namely, the cheese market in the United Kingdom. He stated that we now send to
England 60 per cent of the total amount of cheese which is i mported into that country;
and Le contended that, if the Canadian dairy farmers kept on extending the cheese
trade only, at the same time enlarging the flow of milk per cow and lengthening
the milking season, the result would probably be congestion of the market, and

xil
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consequent plaeing of the cheese trade in a very bad condition. le therefore, held
that safety would seem to lie in the direetion of turning mailk iii larger quantities
into butter instoed of eontinuing to enlarge the miaki ng of cheese. le said that in
this wouild be ound to rest the only hope to eseape from an era of low prices wlieh
would arise therefrom. At present the influenee of Canadian butter on the ruluing

prices of the British market was liardiy appreciable, because we sent lss tli:i two

pounds out of every 100 which were im rported. The whole of the dairy com-
missioner's remarks on this subject are worlthy of the carel i consideration of the

farmers, for the guidance of their operat ioni. lere is anple evidence that Canadian
butter, if shipped in good condition, will eormr:-ni a higi, if not the highest prie
on the Entglish market.

THE IMPORTANCE OF STATE ASSISTANCE TO EXPORT (F DAIRY PRODUCTS.

He held the position that the saie prineiple ot deparrtnental aid in dairying

which had led to the results shown, inreasing ; lie exports of cheese fromi a figure of

$6,774,626.00 in 1886, to the very considerablJ total of $15,448,191.00 last year,
might, with great advantage, be applied to tihe stimulation ou inre case in the trade of
butter. This very large increase of outpurt was obtuirned at a eompr1 aratively smali
expense by the system pursued. The, dairy conimissioner held that the ane

principle applied to the shipping trade in butter, by providing cold storage in
Canada on shipboard, also, on the other side of the Atlantic, woruld lead lo similar
results. What has been done, the dairy c(mmissioner stated, has aiready saved
financial distress in manv respects, and there cannot be a doubt that the reasonable

prospect of success which is offered by the proposals to promote butter export

should receive the support of government and parliarnent. Tie dairy commis-
sioner pointed out that Denmark offered for Canada a very striking exanple. Den-
mark bad been even more inert in regard to butter-making thain the Canadians

have been; but, from the judicious guidance and assistance afforded by the govern-

ment, that Kingdom had become one of the most prosperous, in the agricultural in-

dustries, in the world.

The information furnished by the dairy commissioner, as to iethods of

butter-making, may well be commended to the careful consideration of farmers.

COMPULSORY BRANDING oF CHEESE.

The second division of the information obtained by the committee, during- its

sittings, had relation to the .branding of cheese. There was much conflict of opinion,
the weight of evidence seeming to be against the branding which had been advocated;

and the views of farmers, so far as obtained, are on the affirmative side. The

opinions of both sides and the reasons on which they are based are sufficiently

clearly stated in the evidence appended.

Mr. Craig, the borticulturist; Mr. Shutt, the chemist; Mr. Fletcher, the en-

tomologist ; and Mr. Gilbert, the poultry manager, all furnished the committee in-

formation relating to their respective divisions of the experimental farm, of much

interest to the farming community. Each narrated the principal incidents of their

operations during the year.
xiii



59 Victoria. Appendix (No. 3.)

ASSISTANCE TO EXPORT OF FRUIT BY COLD STORAGE.

The horticulturist dealt with the question of cold storage as a means of
preserving the more delicate of the Canadian fruits sufficiently long to enable
shipments to be made to the markets of the United Kingdom, where indubit-
ably a large demand would be found to arise, if the fruits could be safely car-
ried there. The establishing of a cold storage system seems to be feasible in
connection with that now being cai ried into effect for the preservation of dairy
produets. This piroposa1 so far met the approval ofthe committee as to lead to the
passing of a resolution, on motion of Mr. Carpenter, seconded by Mr. Roome, com-
mending it to the attention of the Minister of Agriculture, and recommending
active assistance in the carrying out of the project.

The information furnished by the entomologist contained matter of much practi-

cal interest to farmers, as did also that of the chemist of the farm. The relations of
chemistry to farming are now so clearly elucidated that advanced farners every-
where are beginning to avail themselves of them. These will find matter of interest
in the statements of Mr. Shutt appended to this report; and almost similar remarks
may be made with respect to the information f urnished by the entomologist. The
damages which have been inflicted in the past by injurious insects, parasites and
fungoids, have been so great as to make the means which may be employed to arrest
the destruction they cause, of very great interest to farmers. The poultry manager
gave many interesting details in his evidence as to the advantages and economies of
poultry keeping, which is a matter of sufficient interest to call for the increasing
attention of farmers and others.

THE IMMIGRATION AND sETTLEMENT OF LAST YEAR.

On the subject of Immigration, Mr. A. M. Burgess, the Deputy Minister of the
Interior, was examined. He informed committee that there had been a decline in
the immigration to Canada and that he did not sec any distinct evidences of revival.
He stated the whole number of arrivals of the immigrant class, at the ports of
Quebec, Halifax and Montreal, during the year 1894, was 27,911, as compared with
63,447 during the previous year, and that of the 27,911 mentioned, 20,680 declared
their intention of becoming residents of the Dominion, being over 8,000 less than
the previous year. These statistics, however, only refer to the Atlantic maritime

ports, no attempt being made to obtain statisties from the interior ports.

Mr. Burgess gave a specific account of the homesteading which had taken place,
there having been a particular movement in that direction from the western United
States. He mentioned that the reduction of the vote by Parliament from $200,
000 to $130,000 for the present year, would necessarily make a reduction of effort in
immigration propagandism by the department; but, he hoped that in the present
state of things, such would not materially affect the movem.ent to the country.

JUVENILE IMMIGRATION

Mr. Burgess communicated to the committee a letter from Mr. Alfred B. Owen,
the manager of Dr. Barnardo's homes in Toronto, in which he described the system on
which the homes are conducted in Great Britain, where the children are first taken
in charge. He particularly disclaimed the prevalent impression that these child-
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dren are gathered in promiscuously friom among the vagrant class, known in Eng-
land as "street arabs," and, he asserted, on the contrary, that Dr. Barnardo's homes
come to the rescue of children of honest parents, who have succumbed in the strug-
gle of lifo, and, in consequence of which, the parental home became broken up. ie
showed that these children were carefully trained in the homes in the Mother
Country in which they are gathered, and where they are furnished with sueh edu-
cation as to fit them to gain livelihoods. He said those selected for this country
are particularly trained; and that the exceptions to the rule of moral and physical
well-being on the part of these young immigrants are very small. Mr. Owen claims
that the following points have been established by the actual facts as respects the
juvenile immigration which has been conducted for some years past under the
auspices of Dr. Barnardo's homes:-(a) That the system rescues from a life of
street adventure the children from homes broken up by the misfortune of sickness
or the death of parents; (b) That less than one per cent of these immigrant child-
ren bas been convicted of offences ; (c) That the bulk of those placed in the )om-
inion have experieneed remarkable immunity from disease, the death rate and
health statistics in relation to them comparing favourably with those of any ot her
class in the Domi nion ; (d) That as a rule the domestie relatioiislips whieh have
grown up between the children from the homes and those who have taken Ihein in,
have been mutually satisfactory; (e) and that at least 85 per cent of t.hose child-
ren who have corne to Canada and arrived at adult age are now permnanently
established on farms managed or owned by themselves.

The question of the advantage of Ihese juvenile immigrants has been fbr many
years past variously discussed before this committee, it having been always main-
tained by the officers of the Immigration Department that the adverse opinions had
invariably rested on the cases of a very fractional number of exceptions, while the
great bulk of those who bad done well and proved of great advantage to the country
were not taken into account. It is, therefore, to be pointed out that a sweeping
generalization should not be made on the fact of a fractional exception.

RECOMMENDATION.

The committee recommend that a suitable building be erected at the central
experimental farm in whieh excursionists and parties visiting the farn might be
accommodated as a place of shelter and lunch taking, with a good supply of water,
by fountain or otherwise, and other necessary conveniences for their comfort.

It is also recotnmended that at least fifty copies of the report of the committee
be supplied to each member representing a rural constitueney, in addition to those
usually supplied.

The annexed report of the sub-committee is submitted herewith as a part of
this report, together with the evidence he-rewith.

The whole respectfully submitted.
T. S. SPROIU LE,

Chairman.
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REPORT OF SUB-COMMITTEE.

(Adopted as a part of the preceding report.)

The sub-comrnittee appointed 10 examine into and report upon the present
methods ofdistribution of the official reports on agriculture, with a view to suggest
improvements in such distribution, if found practicable, beg to submit the foilowing
report for corsideration of the whole committee:-

1. That in view of the fhct that there are not likely to be any additional num-
ber of reports to those already ordered from the experimental farm available in time
for distribution in the current year, no immediate change is recommended.

2. \Wc recommend that the director of the experimental fàrms take such means
as he can for the pi esent to correct the distribution lists to be used for the current
year.

3. That the permanent mailing lists at the central experimental farm be divided in-
to electoral ridings so thateach member can be supplied with the nanes of parties in
his constituency receiving reports, with a view to a revision of said lists from year
to year.

4. We recommend also for the future that in addition to the number of reports
provided for supply of the permanent mailing lists at the central experimental farm,
a quantity be provided to the number of 250 copies of each of the Experimental
Farm Report and the Dairy Report, to every such member of the House of Com-
mons as represents a rural constituency, for bis personal distribution.

Respectfully submitted.

T. S. SPROULE,
Chairman of Sub-Committee..

Committee Room 46,
15th July, 1895.
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COMMITTEE BooM No. 46,

HoUSE OF COMMoNS,

TUESDAY, 7th May, 1895.

The Select Standing Committee on Agriculture and Colonization met this day at
10.30 a.m. Mr. Sproule, Chairman, presiding.

Mr. Saunders, Director of the Dominion Experimental Farms, was present by in-
vitation and addressed the Committee as follows

Mr. CHAIRMAN AND GENTLEIIMEN,-I thank you for this opportunity of again
appearing before the Committee with the object of giving explanations regarding the
progress of the work for which the Experimental Farins were established. In carrying
out this work I have endeavoured, as far as possible, to follow the course prescribed by

THE EXPERIMENTAL FARMS ACT OF 1886.

This Act defines the nature of the work to be carried on, very clearly. The
objects, as set forth in the Act, were, in brief, first, to test the merits, hardiness, and
adaptability of new or untried varieties of cereals and other field crops, of grasses,
forage plants, fruits, vegetables, plants and trees, and to disseminate anong persons
engaged in farming, girdening or fruit-growing, upon such conditions as inay be pre-
scribed by the Minister, samples of the surplus of such products as are considered to be
specially worthy of introduction. These were among the main objects for which
the Experimental Farms were established, and they have from the outset clainied much
of our attention.

The Act also prescribed that we were to test the relative value for ail purposes, of
different breeds of stock and their adaptability to the varying climatic or other con-
ditions which prevail in the several provinces of the Dominion and in the North-west
Territories. Further, that we were to examine into the econonic conditions involved in
the production of butter and cheese. As this work is carried on by the Dairy Com-
missioner, and as he is to appear before the committee, I will leave that branch for him to
discuss. Another duty prescribed was to analyse fertilizers, whether natural or artificial
and to conduct experiments with such fertilizers in order to test their comparative
value as applied to crops of different kinds.

We were to examine into the composition and digestibility of foods for domestic
animals ; to conduct experiments in the planting of trees for tiuber and shelter; to
examine into the diseases to which cultivated plants and trees are subject; also into
the ravages of destructive insects and to ascertain and test the most useful preventives
and remedies to be used in each case.

We were to investigate the diseases to which domestic animals are subject ; to

ascertain the vitality and purity of agricultural seeds and to conduct any other experi-
ments and researches bearing upon the agricultural industry of Canada, which are
approved by the Minister.

These were the avowed objects for which the experimental farms were established,
and I have thought that it would be well on this occasion to bring before you some
facts to show how far these different lines of work which the Act has prescribed, have
been undertaken and carried out. The Act giving the Government of Canada power
to establish five experimental farms in the Dominion, for the purposes specified, was
passed in the spring of 1886, but no action was taken until October 16th of that year, when
I was appointed director.

3
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LOCATION AND PURCHASE OF EXPERIMENTAL FARM SITES.

The day following my appointment I left for the Maritime Provinces to enter on a
systematic inquiry into the conditions of agriculture in all the settled portions of the
Dominion from the Atlantic to the Pacific, for the purpose of ascertaining where the
Experimentai Farms could be best located so as to confer the greatest benefit on the
farmers of the Dominion. Since it was provided in the Act that the Central Experi-
mental Farm should be located near the city of Ottawa, no great difficulty attended the
selection of a site here. Acting on instruction of the Honourable the Minister of Agricul-
ture, I had spent several weeks prior to my appointment in inspecting lands in the
vicinity of Ottawa, a work which resulted in the selection of the present site.

The clearing, cleaning and fencing of the land was begun on the Central Farm in
the spring of 1887, eight years ago, but the important work of gaining the information
necessary to a correct judgment as to the most desirable locations for the four branch
farms occupied nearly two years.

The farm for the Maritime Provinces was purchased during the winter of 1887,
and work begun on it in the spring of 1888. Possession of the farm at Indian Head,
North-west Territories, was had on the 24th April, 1888, and work begun at once.
Work on the Brandon Farm was begun in July, 1888, and on the farm at Agassiz, B.C.,
on the 19th of September, 1889.

OFFICIAL STAFF AT THE CENTRAL FARM.

The present officers who share in the responsibility of carrying on this work were
appointed as follows:-

Mr. James Fletcher, entomologist and botanist, early in 1887.
Mr. T. Shutt, chemist, July, 1887.
Prof. J. W. Robertson, February, 1890.
John Craig, horticulturist, 7th January, 1888.
A. G. Gilbert, poultry manager, in May, 1888.

It will thus be seen that the organization as it now stands required three or four years
to complete so that the Experimental Farms have only been in effective operation a part
of the eight years since the work was begun.

We may now consider briefly how far the work contemplated when the act was
framed has been overtaken by the Experimental Farms. Your chairman informs me
that it is your intention to call before you, as was done last year, the different members
of the staff in succession, hence I shall not need to refer in detail to those parts of the
work specially covered by these several officers.

THE TESTING OF CEREALS,-NEW VARIETIES DEVELOPED.

Leaving grasses out of the question, which will be dealt with by Mr. Fletcher, I
shall refer, first, to the testing of the relative merits, hardiness and adaptability of the
more important farm, field crops and forage plants. In these classes of products, as well
as in most other departments, new and desirable varieties have been searched for in
all parts of the world where similar climates to these found in the Dominion prevail.
I cannot give you the exact number of varieties of different sorts of farm crops which
have thus been brought together, tested and compared, but 1 know they would number
considerably more than 500 different sorts. Besides this, between 500 and 600 additional
new sorts have been originated in this group at the Experimental Farms, and many
of these are still under test and some of them are of much promise. The seeding for
this season is not yet complete, but I may inform the committee that we have already
in the ground 334 varieties of wheat, barley, oats and pease. By the time we have
completed sowing the various field crops for test this season, the number will exceed 500
different sorts. Each of these experimental plots is carefully watched, the quantity of
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seed sown accurately recorded, the products harvested and threshed separately and the
yields ascertained. Careful notes are also taken at different periods of the seasons with
reference to the character of the growth, earliness of ripening and freedom froin disease,
in the case of grain, etc., so that we nay be in possession of the fullest records to give
to the public from year to year, as to the relative merits of these different sorts of pro-
ducts under test. Several years ago the system of uniforn comparative test plots vas
arranged on the Experimnental Farms, by which the saine variety of wheat, barley, oats
and other products could be tested at eadh farn under similar conditions, the only vary-
ing factor in the case being the climate. We have found these comparative test plots
of great value in enabling us to formu a judgment as to what we should recommend as
the best sorts, for the different provinces. These test plots are so arranged as to include
all the more promising varieties of grain and other field crops.

As arranged for this year, these plots include: onts, 48 varieties wheat, 33
barley, 37 varieties; pease, 12 varieties ; turnips, 12 varieties ; inangels, 12 varieties
carrots, 12 varieties; corn, 17 varieties, and potatoees 6G varieties, making a total of 249
varieties of the best and leading sorts of these agricultural products, of which there are
now at each experimental farm, plots of about the sane siz,., and treated exactly in the
same way, as to planting and subsequent care. Thus the saine varieties will be tested
under the different climatie conditions which prevail in those districts where the farms
are located.

Since this work began more than 400 varieties of potatoes have been carefully and
comparatively tested.

EXPERIMENTAL ORCHARDS-VARIETIES OF FRUITS TESTED--NEW PRODUCTIONS.

The cultivation of fruit was another important item in the requirements of the
Act. In the testing of fruits much has been already done, and the work in progress in
this line is a most extensive one.

The fruit testing at the Central Farm will bc reported on more fully by the Ilorti-
culturist, Mr. John Craig. Mr. Craig inforns me that the total nuimber of varieties of
large fruitsunder test, there, at the present time,is about 850,and of small fruits about 700,
making a total of 1,550 varieties. At the Nnppan Farm, including the varieties planted
this season, the large fruits number 272 varieties, the snialler fruits nurnber froin 50 to
60 varieties. At Brandon, about 200 varieties of the hardiest sorts of lussian apples
have been tested, and about an equal number at Indian Head, with smtaller proportions
of other fruits. The small fruits have succeeded remarkably well, but the tests with
apples, there, have not yet been successful, except with one variety of crab. a very snall
one, known as Pyrus baccata or the " berried crab," which was obtained from bte northern
part of Siberia. This wild variety has proved entirely hardy at Brandon, ar, I believe,
equally so at Indian Head. The buds have come out at the tips of the branches each
year for several years in succession. This wild variety was crossed last year with the
Duchess, Yellow Transparent and several oth r very good and hardy varieties of apples
and with some of the larger crabs. These experiments have been very successfui, the
seeds have germinated, and the young trees are now cominng into second leaf. From
these we shall have about 200 new varieties for test, among which we hope to find some
useful fornis of improved quality which will be hardy enough to stand the very cold
weather and the trying conditions to which they will be exposed in the climates in the
North-west.

At the Experimental Farm at Agassiz, where fruit-growing is more successful,
there are now the largest test orchards of fruits to be found anywhere in the world.
There are about 1,800 different varieties, of which more than 1,200 are large fruits, that
is, apples, pears, plums, cherries, peaches, apricots, nectarines, quinces, &c. These have
been collected from all parts of the world and form a most interesting and useful group.
It is not to be supposed that any very large proportion of these varieties will be found
worthy to be classed among the best sorts for general cultivation, but unless we covered
the whole field very thoroughly, we should be very likely to leave out, in our tests, vari-
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eties which would be extremely useful. For that reason it has been thought best to test
all the varieties obtainable, side by side. The less valuable ones will be gradually dis-
carded, and the experience gained as to the varieties which are most valuable to the
settler and most suitable to the climate, will be available to all. Orchards have been
planted in the valley of the Fraser, and others at different heights on the bench lands
on the sides of the mountains at heights of 100, 500 and 800 feet, and a new orchard
is being planted this year 1,000 feet above the valley. As far as the experience there
has gone, the trees in the higher orchards have been earlier in leaf and healthier in
growth than the same varieties planted in the valley. The usefulness of this sort of
land for fruit-growing, which cannot be used for ordinary agricultural purposes and of
which there is an almost unlimited quantity in that country, is being demonstrated in a
most convincing way, by these experiments carried on at Agassiz, by the superintendent,
Mr. Thomas A. Sharpe.

The testing of vegetables was another line of work prescribed by the Act. Mr.
Craig will be able to tell you how thoroughly this useful work has been carried on at
the Central Farm, and the details given in the annual reports of similar work conducted
at the branch farms, afford convincing testimony as to the thorough manner in which
this branch of the work has been prosecuted at each farn.

CLIMATIC TESTS OF TREES, SIIRUBS AND ORNAMENTAL PLANTS.

The testing of plants and trees cornes next in order in the lines of work laid down
in the Act. This branch of the work could not be so soon undertaken as sone others,
nor did it seeni so important and pressing at the outset, but now that the land has been
got into good order at all the farins, this work is being pushed rapidly forward. Large
collections of useful and ornamental trees and plants have been and are being supplied
to each of th ebranch farms so that their hardiness and adaptability to the several clim-
ates may be tested. As yet, the largest number is to be found in the arboretum at the
Central Farm, where there are now accumulated over 800 varieties of trees and shrubs
and a large number of ornamental plants.

The plan usually adopted has been to either grow these from seed or procure them
as small specimens fron some of the large nurseries in France, Holland or Great Britain,
where they can be obtained very cheaply, and plant then out in nursery rows at the
Central Farm where they are grown and propagated and gradually distributed to the
branch farms. In this manner, with a comparatively small annual outlay, the farms are
being gradually stocked with fine collections embracing all the newer and more promis-
ing introductions. These have added very much to the attractiveness and general
usefulness of the experimental farns.

FREE DISTRIBUTION OF CEREALS TO FARMERS, FOR PURPOSES OF TEST.

Another duty prescribed by the Act was the distribution of samples of such surplus
products of the farms as may be considered specially worthy of general introduction, by
sending them to farmers, gardeners and others for testing. When I had the honour of
appearing before the comnittee last year, I gave some details relating to this branch of
the work and showed that from the date of the establishment of the farns up to the
period when my evidence was given, 88,501 three-pound samples had been distributed to
44,181 farmers.

The distribution this vear, 1895, began on the 1lth of February, and up to last
evening, the 6th May instant, 19,040 three-pound samples had been sent out to about
19,000 farmers. I mtight also say, while on this part of the work, that the applications
for samples, this year, have been unprecedentedly large and up to date we have about 8,320
applications still unsupplied. It would be quite impossible to overtake all these in time
for seeding, but we are doing the very best we can, and shall nearly finish the distribu-
tion of such material as we have, by the end of next week. The applications are filled
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in the order in which they have been received and as soon as we have done all that we
can do, towards meeting the wishes of the applicants, the parties who have not received
samples will be informed as to the reason why we have not been able to meet their
wishes, and their names will be entered on our books so that if a distribution is made
another year, these names will be the first considered.

A new feature in the distribution, this year, has been the sending ont for test, to a
limited number of farmers selected from among those w-ho haïe been the nost careful
in reporting on samples already received, one pound packages of some of the new cross-
bred wheats and hybrid barleys which have been produced at the Central Farmn, for trial
in different sections of the Dominion. In all, there has been distributed in this way, in
addition to the three-pound samples already nentioned, 1,150 one-pound samples of
cross-bred wheats and 1,150 one-pound samples of hybrid barleys.

The interest which farmers are every where taking in this useful branch of toe work
of the farms is evident from the number of letters received at the Central Farm. During
March and April, the number received was 17,576, alnost double the number received
in the corresponding months of 1894.

A large proportion of these, were applications for samnples of grain, and the largest
number of letters received on any one day was 820. It is (uite impossible witlt the
limited staff provided at the Central Farm to answer all these letters promlptly, but the
work is being overtaken as rapidly as is practicable.

THE STOCK AND D>AI1RY DEPARTMENT.

You will hear from 'Mr. Robertson, particulars regarding the testing of stock
and the econonic conditions involved in the production of butter and clieese, branches
of the work which have been carried on by him with great etlciency and mucl advan-
tage to the country at large.

THE CHEMICAL BRANCH AT THE CENTRAL FARM.

In the chemical department much work has been done in connection with fertilizers,
composition of foods, and in the solution of other cheniical problens relating to agri-
culture, fuller particulars of which will be given you by the chemist, Mr. F. T. Shutt.

RESULTS OBTAINED FROM VARIED APPLICATIONS OF MANURES.

The practical tests of different fertilizers applied to crops have beeri coritinued and
the details of the results will be found in the forthcomning report of the Experimental
Farms. Again, barnyard manure has given better results than any of the artificial
fertilizers. Although good results have been had from a complete fertilizer
consisting of superphosphate of lime, nitrate of soda and wood ashes. The well rotted
manure, weight for weight, has given a better crop of spring wheat than the fresh
manure, by 2j bushels to the acre, one being 25 bushels, and the other about 22,
bushels.

But the fresh manure has given the best crop of barley by nearly 7 bushels-38
bushels 16 pounds from fresh manure, against 31 bushels 32 pounds to the acre of
rotted manure. The best crop of oats has been given by the use of fresh manure, by
3 bushels 8 pounds to the acre.

The rotted manure has given the best results with Indian corn for ensilage by 2½
tons per acre and the best results with mangels by nearly 2 tons per acre. The
advantage is also slightly on the side of the rotted manure in the case of turnips,
by 320 pounds per acre, but with carrots the vield from the fresh manure was the
largest by over six tons per acre,-whilst with potatoes the yield was practically the
same from both.
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Setting all these different crops, the one against the other, I think the average of
last year's results will be found a little in favour of fresh manure. Certainly, when you
add last year's results to the results of the previous six years during which these ex-
periments have been carried on, as shown in the annual report, it will be found that the
fresh manure is at least equal in effect to that which is well rotted ; and when we
consider that the manure, during the process of rotting, loses fully 40 per cent of its
weight, and there is the ïdditional labour of twice noving it, besides the turning, it
shows that this question in regard to the best method of using barnyard manure is one
of very great importance to the farming community.

By Mr Smilh (Ontario):

Q. When was the manure used ?-A. It was taken fresh from the barnyard and
put on the ground at once.

By Mr. M]cJillan:

Q. Is it spread over the land ?-A. It is spread over the land at once. It is
carried out fresh and spread over the plot, and by this method, the full benefit is got
fron the liquid portions of the manure, which are very much more valuable than the
solid portions. During the process of fermentation the valuable constituents contained
in the liquids are largely lost by decomposition and evaporation.

By Mr. Wilson :

Q. Do you draw it out during the winter just the same ?-A. During the winter
we draw it out as far as is practicable, and where it cannot be conveniently spread, it is
put in small heaps of one or two loads each. We have found by careful analysis of
dried manure, that the mere drying of it does not materially affect its quality-that it
simply loses water. So that the drying which it gets when exposed by spreading or by
being placed in small piles, is no great disadvantage. These small heaps do not ferment
to that degree which the large heaps do.

Q. Do you spread it regularly in the snow ?-A. If the snow is deep we prefer to put it
in larger piles, but where the conditions are not favourable for spreading the manure fresh,
every farmer must use his own judgment in the management of this valuable material.
When we understand thoroughly the principles which should guide us and know that
it is more economical to apply the fresh manure at once, to the land, the farmer should
do this wherever it is practicable, and, when it is not practicable, then he must use his
own judgment as to what course it is best for him to adopt.

By Mr. McMillan :

Q. Does not the character of the soil affect the results where fresh manure is
applied ?-A. Some soils would be greatly improved in mechanical condition by the
application of fresli manure. This resuit often occurs where the soil is heavy and ten-
acious, while land of a light and open texture would not receive the same benefit. There
is no doubt, however, that barnyard manure, fresh, contains fertilizing ingredients
which make it equal in value, when applied at once to the soil, to the same weight of
barnyard manure, rotted.

By the Chairman:

Q. Is there not a danger of sowing weed seeds, by using fresh manure ?-A. There
is always this danger in applying fresh manure. Fresh manure should not be applied to
any but roots or crops which can be cultivated, then the question of a few weeds is not
of much consequence.
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By Jfr. McMillan:

Q. Heavy soils want as much manure as possible, fresh from the stable, and light
land requires manure well rotted ?-A. These experiments which I have referred to,
have been carried out on the same land every year for six or seven vears past. The
corn plots are on a light sandy soil, the other plots are on heavier land, but fresh
and rotted manure are applied with good results, to both.

Q. While talking of that I may say I happened to be out on the farin one day an(d
came to where the ploughman was ploughing. He was turning the manure right out.
If it had been under my direction, I would have cultivated the manure into the surface
and not have ploughed it. That is the systein we pursue ?-A. I do not know of any-
thing of the particular case to which Mr. MeMillan refers. With regard to the tturning
of manure under, this is left largely to the judgment of the farm foremuan, who has had
long experience. It is not customary, however, for us to plough inanure very deeply in
the soil. A light ploughing is generally given, to turn it under and the land gets a
deeper ploughing later in the season.

The average of the Indian corn plots, taking the seven years' experience, is 15 tons
1,568 lbs. for the rotted manure, and 18 tons 1,466 lbs. for the fresh ianure; so that
although last year's results have given an advantage in favour of rotted mnanure, the
average of seven years' experience gives results in favour of the fresh mtanure.

By Mfr. Robillard:

Q. On the same soil ?-A. Yes. On the same plots.

By Mr. McNeill :

Q. How many plots were there?-A. There are 105 plots of oiie-tenth acre each,
devoted to this special line of work.

Q. I mean as to corn, for example. How many plots had you under cultivation
with the rotted manure, and how many with fresh ianure ii one season -A. There
are 21 corn plots in all, only one of these is treated witlh rotted ianure, and one
with fresh manure. Two plots are left unmanured for comparison, while the rest are
manured with artificial fertilizers.

By Mr. McMillan :

Q. Before leaving manure. You spoke of turning manure. Do you find it neces-
sary to turn the manure ?-A. We find it better to turn it once during the winiter.

Q. We never turn our manure. I would say we make our manure in sheds, and if
it lies till the end of May or the beginning of June, it suits the purpose ?-A. I would
like to ask Mr. McMillan what his manure consists of, how much of it is cow manure,
and how much horse manure?

Q. We have perhaps 80 head of cattle, and five or six horses.-A. Then your
manure being nearly all cow manure would require different treatnent f rom ours. Cow
manure is best treated under shelter, but where there is a larger proportion of horse
manure, there is less need of shelter or covering.

At the Central Experimental Farm we have 15 or 16 horses and about 50 cows,
and we find that this mixed manure is best without any covering. If it is placed under
cover, fermentation takes place so rapidly that there is a danger of its becoming " fire
fanged," unless it is scratched or watered, and this, I think, is always the case where
the manure pile is made up largely of horse manure.

By Mr. Edwards :

Q. What is your opinion when it is well mixed with cow manure and compacted ?
-A. That, I think, would be good treatment, although I am of opinion that it is nore



59 Victoria. Appendix (No. 3.)

economical to use the manure fresh, wherever this is practicable, but it is not possible
to lay down any rule which -will apply equally well to all cases ; every man should ex-
ercise his own judgment in such matters.

By MJr. Mcmillan :

Q. You mix the horse and cow manures together ?-A. Yes. We mix them
thoroughlv.

Q. I do not altogether approve the system of keeping the manure at the Central Ex-
perinental Farm. Where it has spread over a large surface, with a large quantityof snow or
rain there is a greater opportunity of leaching ?-A. During the winter, where it cannot
always be applied promptly to the land and a large number of animals are kept, it is
impossible to avoid some accumulation. In the spring the manure is moved out as early
as possible and put on the land. What Mr. McMillan refers to, was probably some
frozen manure which was spread over the yard to thaw out.

Q. I always thought you should have a shed at the Experimental Farm for keeping
your manure ?-A. That would, I believe, be good practice if the manure we had was
chiefly cow manure, but with the large proportion of horse manure we have, this has
no' been found necessary.

By Mr. Edwards:

Q. Supposing you have one hundred cows and one hundred horses, if the manure
is drawn together and compacted under cover and kept sufficiently compacted, would it
not be preserved in the best way ?--A. I have never seen such an experiment tried.

Q. We use it on our farms in that proportion with the best results ?-A. I am glad
to hear the results of such wide experience. The constant tramping and the watering
which the animals would give to such manure, would, no doubt, result in bringing it
into good condition.

Q. We keep the steers upon it continually ?-A. You have advantages, with a large
number of animals, which the ordinary farier has not. Our experiments are carried on
mainly for the benefit of those working smaller farms, as these constitute the greater bulk
of the farming community. It is, however, always a great advantage to get the experi-
ence of large farmers.

By 3fr. Roome:

Q. Do you find that manure compacted in this way is the best for raising crops
with ?-A. The manure made at the Experimental Fari is not made in this way.

PLANTING OF TIMBER TREES,-HEDGE PLANTING.

The next line of work prescribed by the Act was to conduct experiments with the
planting of trees for timber and for shelter. At the Central Farm, this work was
begun six years ago, but the planting could not be completed until last autumn. In
all about 20,000 trees have been planted here, chiefly of the most valuable sorts of hard
woods. These trees form a belt at the rear of the farm along the west boundary, 165
f et in width, and along the north boundary 60 feet in width. In the planting of
these trees, the endeavour is being made to solve several problems : First, as to the best
distance to plant young trees for timber growing, next, to ascertain whether they will
make more rapid growth when planted in clumps of one kind, or when a number of
different sorts are mixed together. The growth of the timber trees under these different
conditions is being ascertained by annual measurements.

The value of these belts for shelter, also the advantages of hedge planting for the
same purpose, are being investigated. As this latter subject has become one of very
general interest in the community, a chapter has been devoted to it in the forthcoming
report. This is entitled, " Sample Hedges on the Experimental Farm," and instructions
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are given for the planting of hedges, as weli as statements of the results which have been
obtained by such planting at the Experimental Farm. Illustrations are also given of
some of the best of the Russian poplars and willows, from photographs of trees growing
at the Central Farm.

At the Experimental Farm at Nappan, N.S., two small sielter belts have been
planted and a number of different varieties of trees and shrubs are also being tested in
hedges. to determine their value, in this way, for shelter.

At the Experimental Farm at Brandon, Man., where the need of trees for shelter
is much greater, there are now growing in shelter belts, hedges and other plantations,
65,274 trees, all of which have been planted there since the fari was establisled. Thie
main shelter belts are 100 feet wide and are planted along the west boundary of the
farn, the north being already sheltered by native bluffs of poplar, &c.

At the Experimental Faim at Indian Head, N.W.T., wlich at the outset was a
bare prairie section, the number of trees and shrubs now growing there is 129,897.
The shelter belts are 100 feet wide and extend for nearly two miles along the north
and west boundaries, while intervening hedge-rows and forest clumps break the force of
the winds, assist in collecting snow during the winter and bring about conditions more
favourable to successful agriculture. At the saime time the bare prairie is beautified
by the lines and belts of trees.

AT AGASSIZ

a shelter belt has been planted along the north-west boundary, but the main part of
the work in this branch, there, has been the planting of some of the valuable eastern
hard woods, such as hickory, black walnut, elmn, ash, oak, &c. These are being planted
out on a sufficiently large scale to admit, when grown, of commercial testing. One of
the difficulties in planting largely, at Agassiz, lias been the expense cf transportation.
On this account one year old seedlings have been chiefly used, and iri the case of the
hickory and walnut, a large quantity of the nuts have been planted where the trees are
to grow. About 20,000 of these young trees of the most valuable sorts for timber are
now growing on patches of arable land on the mountain sides ; and already the practi-
cability of growing the most valuable sorts of timber, by planting these smnall areas of
otherwise useless land, is being demonstrated.

SUPPLEMENTING NATIVE WOODS ON THE PACIFIC COAST.

The woods on the Pacific coast are nearly all soft woods, the only exception being that
of a maple which seldon exceeds two to three feet in diameter and of which there is no
great abundance, and the crab-apple which grows to a good size, the wood of which
is used in handles of tools and other similar uses. Put for manufacturing purposes
where hard woods are required the British Columbian manufacturer must necessarily
send east for his material. These hard woods are therefore beiiig planted out on a
sufficiently large scale to admit when grown of commercial test, and it is loped that
they will serve a very useful purpose. Three years ago, 800 acres of mnountain land
which was valueless for agricultural purposes was transferred to the Experimiierital
Farm by the Department cof the Interior for this purpose. It is, therefore, on these
mountain ledges, which are useless for general agricultural purposes, that these trees are
being planted.

Of the nuts of the hickory and walnut which have been planted, it is estimated
that about 75 per cent have grown. Already the practicability of growing these valu-
able sorts of timber on these patches of otherwise useless land is being demonstrated,
and much interest is felt in this promising experiment.

DEPARTMENT OF ENTOMOLOGY.

Inquiring into the destructive insects and the diseases to which trees are subjet
comes within the province of the entomologist, and this will be left to Mr. Fletcher to
deal with.
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INVESTIGATIONS IN REFERENCE TO CATTLE DISEASE-RESULTS.

Another prescribed course of work was to investigate the diseases to which domestic
animals are subject. This line of work has not been carried out as it might have been,
had there been a competent veterinary surgeon in direct connection with the farm staff.
The only original work attempted has been the investigations regarding tuberculosis at
the various farms. When I had the honour of appearing before the committee last year
I gave some of the results of the experiments which had been conducted by Mr.
Robertson and myself with tuberculin, on the cattle at the Central Experimental Farm,
and at that tinie assured the committee that, during the summer, similar investigations
would be carried on at all the branch farms in accordance with instructions I had
received from the Minister of Agriculture. The results are given in the forthcoming
annual report.

BRANDON.-The Experimental Farm at Brandon was visited 20th July. The cattle
composing the herd there numbered 28 animals, 4 of which were grades, and 24 pure
bred. These were all carefully tested with tuberculin, and 21 animals were found to
be diseased, 19 pure bred and 2 grades. These were destroyed : a post-mortem examina-
tion was made in each case, and evidences of the presence of the disease found in every
instance.

INDIAN HEAD.-The herd at the Experimental Farm at Indian Head was examined
later in July, this consisted of 39 animals, of which 9 were grades and 30 pure bred.
Thirteen of these animals (10 pure bred and 3 grades) gave evidence when tested, of the
presence of the disease, and were destroyed. On post-mortem examination, tubercle was
detected in every instance.

NAPPAN.-During the month of August, I visited the Experimental Farn at Nappan,
Nova Scotia. The herd of cattle there consisted of 39 animals, 21 of which were pure
bred and 18 grades. Of these, ten were found to be diseased, 5 pure bred and 5 grades.
These also were killed, when the post-mortem examination revealed similar evidences of
the disease.

AGAssIz.-On the 13th September, I visited Agassiz, B.C., and tested the cattle
there. The herd consisted of 18 head, 16 of which were pure bred and 2 grades. Of
these, 5 were found to be diseased and were destroyed. In this instance all the animals
were pure bred.

During all these investigations evidences of the presenceof the disease were detected
in every animal killed. Subsequently the buildings were all thoroughly disinfected, and
no indications of any further manifestation of this disease among the remaining cattle
have been detected.

By Mr. Smith (Ontario).

Q. Were the pure bred animals milking breeds ?-A. Yes, in most instances.

By Mr. McMillan:

Q. Were they mostly bred at the different farms, or were they sent there ?-A.
At Brandon out of the 21 animals destroyed, 9 were bred in Manitoba and 12 were sent
there from Ontario. Of the 13 killed at Indian Head, 4 were bred there and 9 sent
from Ontario. At Nappan, Nova Scotia, of the 10 animals destroyed, 9 were bred in
the Maritime Provinces, and one was sent there froin Ontario, and of the 5 animals
killed at Agassiz, B.C., 3 were sent from Ontario and 2 from Manitoba.

By Mr. McNeill;

Q. Is there any evidence to show that the pure breds are more liable to the disease
than the grades ?-A. It is not easy to speak positively on that point, but my-impres-
sion is that they are. We found that so in the Maritime Provinces and also at Indian
Head, where the number of grades to pure breds was proportionately larger.
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By Mr. O'Brien:

Q. Might not that be due to this fact: that where a man lias a lot of pure bred
cattle, he takes a great deal more care to keep them warm and protected from the
weather, and I think it is very largely due to the fact that we are over-housing, and
especially with pure bred cattle, keeping thein too warn that they are so susceptible to
tuberculosis ; ordinary animals are often subject to the other extreme and get too
much exposed, but they do not seem to be so liable ?-A. The treatment of all the cattle
at Indian Head where there were 13 animals out of the total 39 head affected, is to
have them outside all the summer. During the spring and fall they are kept in the
barn at night, and during the winter they have to be kept in the barni all the tinie.

At Brandon the pastures are good enough to leave them out all sumnier long, and
yet there was a larger proportion of animals diseased there, than at any of the other
farms.

By Mr. McJfillan:

Q. WVas there any investigation made as to whether the disease was natural or
inherited, or whether from the sire or the dam ?-A. I have been reading the Report of
the Royal Commission that bas just reported last year in Great Britain, and- I see in
one locality where there was a thoroughbred male animal brought in, and every herd
he had anything to do with was affected with the disease in two years after, and all the
young that came fron him. I consider that is one of the great means of spreading the
disease. I think it would be well, in Canada, if a law was passed tlhat ail animals to be
sold for breeding purposes, specially males, that the sire and the daim should both be
tested, to see that they are clear of tuberculosis.

By Mr. Edwards:

Q. To what extent is this disease contagious, that is from one animal to another?
-A. It is easily spread in that way, but it is believed now by scientific mien that the
disease is seldom or never transmitted directly from parent to offspring, althiough some
cases have been reported which are difficult to explain, on any other grountd. We had one
case at the Central Farm, out of 14 young calves which were killec, which were bred
from diseased parents, where the farm foreman and the herdsman reported that there
were distinct evidences of tuberculosis. I did not see this case myself as I was absent.
The others which were killed in my presence gave no evidence whatever of any disease
in any of their organs.

By Mr. Roome:

Q. How old were the calves that were killed ?-A. They varied in age from a few
weeks up to two months. There is no doubt whatever, that the animals born from
diseased parents inherit a strong tendency to the disease, and that they take it when-
ever exposed to the influence, more readily than those born from healthy parents, and
hence there is much force in Mr. McMillan's statement, just now made. As to general
results it is not a matter of very much moment, whether you consider it possible for the
disease to be carried from parent to offspring, or whether it inherits that tendency so
strongly as to take the disease whenever the bacillus is brought into contact with the
animal, and the germ is able to effect a lodgment.

By Mr. Edwards:

Q. Kindly answer another question. Supposing you have a perfectly healthy herd
and you introduce into that herd a diseased animal, and that those animals are kept in
the ordinary way that the farmers' cattle are kept in Canada ; to what extent would
that whole herd be endangered, or any portion of it ?--A. The very fact that some
animals inherit a tendency to disease while others do not would indicate that, like human
beings, some may travel in an atmosphere affected by these bacilli, or live in it a very
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considerable length of time without being injured at all, having a strong resisting power
to the disease; whereas other weaker animals would succumb in a very short time. To be
able to answer this question satisfactorily, which Mr. Edwards has put, would require a
knowledge of every individual animal in the herd, and its tendencies, before a satisfac-
tory opinion could be formed.

By the Chairman :

Q. The fact would seem to be that it is contagious and may be communicated in
every locality where diseased animals are found ?-A. If the sputa of a diseased animal
be allowed to drop about on the floors of the passages in the barn, then allowed to dry
and be swept up, the bacilli may be disseminated with the dust in the air, and other
animals iay inhale them in breathing. Then if their tendcncies to contracting the
disease are strong, a large proportion of the herd might soon be affected; whereas if it
was otherwise, it might be years before the disease spread to any considerable extent,
just as it is with human beings who are exposed to such influences. The large pro-
portion of us are able to resist them, and although dangers lurk around us at all times,
we maintain our health in spite of them.

DISTINCTION BETWEEN TUBERCULOSIS AND PNEUMONIA.

There is one point to which I would like to draw your attention, in connection with
this series of investigations, and that is that we find tuberculosis is not essentially a
lung disease, and therein it can and should always be distinctly separated from pleuro-
pneumonia, which is essentially a lung disease, and one where the course of the disease
is very rapid. Out of the 74 cases of post-mortem examinations which have been made
in connection with these investigations at the experimental farms, in 20 of them, or
more than one-third of the whole, no disease whatever could be detected in the lungs,
nor were the functions of the lungs interfered with in any way, the disease in all those
cases being confined to some other organs or glands of the body. I think we cannot
emphasize that point too strongly, for the reason that it occurs so often that parties
writing in the newspapers will confound these two diseases ; the one of which is a most
deadly and terrible disease, which is not known to exist anywhere in Canada, while the
other is a disease which exists wherever cattle are kept in domestication, and I doubt if
any country is entirely free from it.

By Mr. O'Brien :

Q. You sav that tuberculosis is not a lung disease. Most of us have regarded
it as such and, therefore, we have thought that anything like close confinement
would tend to produce it. If it is not a lung disease, this would not be so dangerous.
That is the point I want to get at.-A. I think my words must have been misunder-
stood. I said it was not essentiallv a lung disease, and that out of 74 cases 26 were
found where no disease of the lungs could be discovered, but in the larger number the
lung disease exists. In the past, before tuberculin was discovered, the only means of
detecting the disease was when it existed in the lungs (unless there was a great enlarge-
ment of the glands), and this was usually done by the difficulty in breathing. The point
to which I desired to draw the attention of the committee, was, that it was not essentially
a lung disease and I wished thereby to more strongly impress upon the minds of al], the
distinction between tuberculosis and pleuro-pneumonia which is essentially a lung
disease.

Q. Is it a disease that is necessarily affected or produced by foul air, as any other
lung disease would be?-A. It is a disease that is more likely to be produced in a foul
atmosphere than a pure one.

By fr. McNeill :

Q. Foul air would prepare the cattle for catching the contagion i-A. Yes.
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By the Chairman:

Q. They are predisposed to it ?-Yes.

By Mfr. Mceill:

Q. Has this injection been tried as a preventive ?-A. It has been tried, but has
not proved a success as a preventive.

HOSPITAL TREATMENT OF TUBERCULOUS SUBJECTS.

There is one point in this connection, which I have forgotten to speak of. I
reported to the committee last year that we had five voung heifers which the tuberculin
had shown to be affected with this disease, that they were in hospital, and that we pro-
posed to try the effect of sone curative agencies on them, to see if anything cou]d be
done in the way of curing the disease. These five animais were yearlings at the time
the experiment began. For about a year we have treated thiem fait hfully with
sulphurous acid, a remedy which was suggested by several physicians. At the end of
this period, we tested them again with tuberculin and they gave practically the saine
reaction as when they were first tested.

We then stopped the administration of sulphurous acid, and for the past two
months we have been injecting periodic-dly small quantities of tuberculii into these
animais, to see if that would have any curative effect. After giving this a thorough
trial, it is probable that we may slaughter one or more of them, and endeavour to ascer-
tain what effect these curative agents have had on the diseased organs.

The animais in the meantime are thriving. Two of them are Durhams and are
developing into very fine specimens, such as any butcher would be willing to gi ve a good
price for. There appear to be no external symptoms of the disease, but I have ro
doubt that if they were slaughtered we should find the disease, probably in some of the
glands. It is scarcely likely to be in the lungs, as in that case there would probably
have arisen, by this time, some symptoms which we could have detected.

By Mr. Roome :

Q. The sulphurous acid may have kept it in abeyance ?-A. This is quite possible.

TRE TUBERCULIN TEST.--EXCEPTIoNAL CASES.

By Mr. McMillan:

Q. Have there been any cases where tuberculin was used as a test where the ani-
mals have given indications and. upon being slaughtered, no disease was found ?--A.
There hve been, I believe, several cases in New York State during the past year, where
the veterinarians have slaughtered animals and have been unable to find the disease.
These, however, have been exceptional, only one now and then out of a total of about
900 animals slaughtered. In a very large proportion of the cases, the disease was
detected; and it is probable that in those occasional instances where the disease was not
detected, it may have arisen from the veterinarians not being sufficiently careful in
getting an accurate idea of the normal temperature of the animais. There are some ani-
mals at different periods of the day wbich will vary considerably in their normal tempera-
ture. These are, however, exceptional cases, of which we have had one or two. In our
experiments we have always taken the normal temperature of the animais a sufficient
number of times so as to avoid errors in diagnosis, and we have had no failures in
detecting the disease in the 74 cases of post-mortem we have had, excepting in one young
bull, the particulars of which were reported in Bulletin No. 20. This animal had a
very bad record, having had a diseased sire and a diseased dam, and he was killed one day
when we were disposing of a large number, and the examination was not as thorough
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as it might have been. We did not detect any evidence of the presence of the disease
in that case, but it is quite probable that the disease was present, although it escaped
notice. Some of the organs we did not examine. That was the only instance where we
did not find distinct evidence of the existence of the disease in every case where the
tuberculin indicated its presence.

TESTING VITALITY AND PURITY OF SEEDs.

Among the other subjects prescribed for the work of the Experimental Farm was
that of ascertaining the vitality and the purity of agricultural seeds for farmers. This
work has been carried on every year, and during the past spring about 1,900 samples
have been tested and reported on. We were also to conduct such other researches bear-
ing upon the agricultural industry of Canada as might be approved by the Minister.

These were the avowed objects contemplated in connection with the establishment
of the system of Experimental Farms, which I have endeavoured to present to you in as
few words as possible. All of these different branches of work have been carried on as
far as the means available will permit, and any one who will visit the Experimental Farms
and look carefully over the work which bas been done, will, I think, coine to the con-
clusion that the effort has been made to honestly meet the requirements of the Experi-
mental Farms Act, and that no line of work bas been undertaken other than those
distinctly prescribed by this Act by which the Experimental Farms were created, and
to which we must necessarily look for guidance.

CROSS BREEDING OF CEREALS.

PEASE.-Permit me now to call your attention to some samples of cross-bred pease
which I have brought here for your inspection. I mentioned in my evidence, last year,
that this work had been in progress for some time and that the results in some instances
were very promising. These crosses have been made with several of the most esteemed
standard varieties. For instance, the Mummy has been crossed with the Multiplier; the
Black Marrowfat with the Munmy and the White Marrowfat; and these have been
crossed both ways, using a particular variety in some cases as the male, and in other
cases as the female.

By Mr. Robillard:

Q. Do they make a distinct variety ?-A. Quite distinct.

By Mr. Roome :

Q. Can you detect any evidence of a cross between such varieties as Black Mar-
rowfat and Mummy ?-A. Yes. If we take the black-eyed Marrowfat, either as the
male or the female, the evidence is shown in the black points on the pea.

Q. It leaves black points ?-A. Yes ; the black points are quite distinct. Further
evidence is given by modifications in the size of the cross-bred pea. Where a small pea
is crossed with a large one, the progeny is larger than the female, and vice versa. The
best results we have had in the way of crop f rom any of these cross bred pease was in
the case of a cross between a Mummy and a large White Marrowfat. In this instance,
the progeny is larger than the female ; we had 635 pease as the result of the firstplant-
ing of a single pea, and last year we had 17¾ pounds of pease as the result of planting
the 635 peas.

Another cross gave 14 pounds of pease at the same time; and another 133 lbs.
All the less promising sorts have been discarded so as to lessen the number of varieties
under test, planting only the most promising sorts: and we hope in the course of a year
or two, to bring the number of those which we are testing down to about a dozen
varieties. The first year, we had a hundred and thirty-seven varieties; the next year,
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this was reduced to 75 ; and this year, to about 50. This line of work is an important
one in view of the fact that the pea crop is so useful and so largely grown in mnany
districts of the country.

By 1r. McVGr.egor:

Q. In Western Ontario our pease are terribly affected with the pea hug. What is
the best quality of pea for the Western Ontario district ?-A. I do not know of aiv
bug-proof pea, and apart fron this the question would I presuime resolv e it.self into that
of the most productive variety. The Mumny is one of the best varieties, for the reasoi
that it bears the g-reater part of its crop on the upper pait of the plant, where tle
pod• get the benefit of the sun and wNIhere the pease ripen in a fairly uniforiii and evei
nianner. It also bears good crops, and is oie of i lie pease which commîîîîanîds a goo d price.

By -ir. Roome:

Q. In reference to the pea question, when yu cross two varieties, say t ie ] lauk-eye
Marrowfat with the Muiînuny, and a pea is produced similar to the Munan1111v, will these
in turnt produce the black-eyed pease again A. We have oilv exprimentie on tiese
crosses for two years, and we find that theV sport very eonsideri-ably. We i nt end to
follow up these experiments carefully aid hiarvest the puase wlich vary fromi the glneral
crop, separately, so that we nay gain further infornatioin on tis subjeit. Tisi course
is being also followed with the cross-bred wheats antid barleys, tad somue of thle arieties
have, already, their types fairly well established.

Q. Have you had any success in growing horse bteans ?- I Ottawa,
where last year we had good rains all suiametr, tley gave us good trop :i i imaiy
parts of Ontario where droughts prevailed the vields were ot sat isfactory. Fr the
saune reason, horse beans did iot do well at the branch experiienital farims at Irandon
and Indian Head, but the yield was very good at the branci farnm at Nappanu, Nova
Scotia.

B3y Mfr. McfXe ill:

Q. Which of the spring wheats do you find nost prom)isin ? A. Our ir-st cross-
bred specimlens were with Ladoga as the feiale, anud Red Fife as the mald . We have
two beardless varieties of that cross, and two with White Fife of tle saii year, wliich
are quite promising. Since then we have had crosses of soiiie of tle early Inodian
wheats with the Red Fife. We are trying to intu-oduce Red Fife hh>ilito all these
crosses on account of its high quality and productiveness. If we cani produce a variety
of wheat equal in every respect to Red Fife, and a few days earlier, it will be a great
point gained. Of course, in Ontario, the Red Fife does not hol1 the saimle important
relative position as in the North-west, and in the east it soon develops inîto a compara-
tively soft variety.

Q. Are the Indian wheats early ?-A. They are about as early as Ladoga, and one
or two of them are slightly earlier. They vere obtained form different points in the
Himalaya Mountains in India, from 500 to 11,000 feet in helighit. ThIey were kindly
procured for testing at the experimental farms in Canada, tirough Lord Dufferini, when
he was Viceroy of India. He gave instructions to thef' proper officers to collect the
samples and forward them to Canada. We tbink we have some valuaIle varieties
among the crosses, from this source.

There are nany other topies I might have referred to this moriing ; but I thiought
that on this occasion it might be well to devote most of the tinie given me, to siowiig
how far we have endeavoured at the Experimental Farms to conform to the requirements
laid down in the Act.

laving examined the preceding transcript of my evidence, I find it correct.

WM. SAUNDERS,
Director of Dominion Experimental Farms
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COMMITTEE RooM No. 43,
FIOUSE 0F COMMONS,

OTTAWA, 14th May, 1895.

The Select Committee on Agriculture and Colonization met this morning at 10.30,
Mr. Sproule, Chairman, presiding.

Mr. J ts. W. ROBERTSON, Dominion Dairy Commissioner, was called and addressed
the meetiig as f:>lows

Mr. Chairman and Gentleien,-This morning I shall arrange what I have to say
under four heads that you nay have my work describeci as clearly as is practicable in
the time at ny disposal. i shall speak in the tirst place of the Dairying Service in con-
nection with the various experimental dairy stations established in the different
provinces ; in the second place, of the action taken by the Department to help the
butter trade by shipments of butter to Great Britian ; in the third place, of the cold
storage service and accommodation through which it is proposed to assist the develop-
ment of the butter trade this summer ; and in the fourth place, of the outlook of the
cheese market for the current year. If there be any time at my disposal when I have
finished these, and if the committee would like my opinion on the bill now before the
House, dealing with the branding of cheese, I shal discuss that.

I shall begin in the far east at Prince Edward Island. In 1892 there was only one
dairy station on the Island, at New Perth ; it was put up by the farmers themselves.
The government loaned the machinery to fit up the factory in Prince Edward Island.
All the others there were built and fitted up at the expense of joint stock companies of
the farniers theniselves. In 1893 we managed Il dairy stations, patronized by 1187
farmers, turning out cheese to the value of $48,000. The cost to the Government for
taking control of these was about $2,500 for the year, including the salary of Mr.
Dillon, Dairy Superintendent on Prince Edward Island. In 1894 there were 16 cheese
factories and two creanieries. The new factories were put up without any direct prom-
ise of help f rom us, but they were put up by the people on the expectation that the
Government would give them help similar to that afforded to the other factories in
1893. After they were put up I recommended to the Hon. the Minister of Agriculture
that wé take charge of the manufacturing of cheese and the making of butter in these
factories on terms similar to what had been given in 1893. We charged 14 cents per
poundt for the manufacturing of cheese, and 3½ cents per pound for the manufacturing of
butter, the cost of delivering the milk at the factory being paid by the farmers them-
selves in both cases. Up to the end of December the value of the total quantity of
cheese and butter manufactured in them was over $90,000.

.By 3r. McMillan:

Q. Had you not better give us the cheese and butter separately v-A. We had, from
cheese, $78,370, and in butter $11,830. We had two creameries which were run all
summer and were continued all winter, besides one creamery started at New Perth
after the cheese-making was ended there for the season. The value of the butter is
estimated in part because some of it was held at Charlottetown to meet the demands of
the local markets. It is being sold at 16 and 17 cents. The average price of the whole
of the cheese sold from the factories on the Island was a little over 10ý cents per pound
in 1893, which I think was the highest price recorded by any single factory in the Do-
minion for that year. This sufficiently proves that the cheese were fine in quality.
Besides th&t, there is another substantiation of the claim that the cheese produced in
Prince Edward Island was of fine quality. In both years, 1893 and 1894, the cheese
were sold in a falling market at the top price at the time, and tbere has not been a
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single complaint in quality from those who bought them. Everybody who bas had any-
thing to do with the sale of cheese knows that if there is the least ground of complaint,
when the cheese is bought in a falling market, the purchaser is certain to let you know ;
but in Prince Edward Island we sold over 12,000 boxes and there was not a complaint.
Last year out of 12,200 boxes, only 27 cheese were not fit to ship or sell at ordinary
prices, which I think was as low a percentage of inferior cheese as any factory can
show. The prices realized by the farmers in 1893 ranged from 66¾ to 761 cents per 100
pounds of milk. Last year, 1894, the prices ranged from 641 to 71¾ cents per 100
pounds of milk.

By fr. Xfacdonald (Huron):

Q. Is the cheese all sold that was manufactured last year ?-A. They were all sold
in November, with the exception of those 27 boxes.

By fr. JIcfiillan:

Q. Is there any truth in the report in the " Globe " of the meeting held at Brock-
ville about the condition of the cheese manufactured in Prince Edward Island not be-
ing what it ought to have been ?-A. I did not see the report in the "Globe " but I will
tell you what did happen at Brockville. Mr. M. K. Evertts had said at Mallorytown
that the cheese of Prince Edward Island niade in 1893 were inferior in quality and
insinuated that they were not worth more than 8¾ cents per pound. I said that as a
matter of fact the cheese were all superior in quality and were sold for half a cent a
pound above the average price in Ontario, and for a price higher than was realized from
the cheese manufactured in any of his factories.

By Mfr. Cochrane:

Q. Where was it sold -- A. It was sold from the warehouse in Charlottetown to a
firm of merchants in Montreal. There was not a single iota of foundation for the state-
ment that the cheese were inferior or that.the price was one to be ashamed of.

There is one other matter which I think I should bring before the committee in con-
nection with our work in Prince Edward Island. There have been some rumours going
aboutthat the government had somehow been bonusing the cheese industry thereby means
of payments on account of milk supplied to the factories before the cheese were sold.
The fact is that $36,000 were voted by Parliament to enable me to pay advances of 50
cents per 100 pounds on milk supplied at ail the dairy stations in ail the provinces.
No interest was paid by the government, so that it cost nobody anything and was of
decided benefit and advantage to the farmers. The people themselves on the Island,
the leading farmers there with whom I have conversed, say that of the 890,200 worth
of cheese and butter last year at least $50,000 is the amount which they realized from
the same farms and cows more than they did before they were acquainted with this
method of conducting their business. The whole cost to the treasury last year up to
the end of our cheese making season was about $4,800, so that by the spending of
$4,800, the revenue of the farmers of Prince Edward Island from their natural resources
was increased by at least $50,000 more than it had been or would have been if this
work had not been done.

Q. Was this from the same number of farms and cows ?-A. Yes, from the sanie
farms, but the farmers are growing more Indian corn to feed to more cows hereafter.
It is not that they are drawing more money out of anybody's pockets, but they are
making more wealth out of their own resources. The point I wish to impress upon the
committee is that the spending by the farmers of the $50,000 of additional revenue
derived by them would more than recoup the treasury for ail it cost the Goveriniment
to start this work, so that instead of the other farmers of Canada contributing of their
money for the benefit of those of Prince Edward Island the work there bas been more
than self-sustaining, and the increased revenue to the Government from taxation has
more than balanced the expenditure.

3-2j
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Nobody in any other parc of the Dominion is being called upon to sustain the

work in that part of Canada. I might sum up the whole of our work in Prince Edward

Island in developing the cheese-making industry, by saying: The treasury of the

Dominion has been re-imbursed for all it bas spent on it; the good name of Canadian

cheese has been sustained and improved ; because no single province lias sent so much
fine cheese, out of the quantity it did send, as Prince Edward Island ; and the people
there have been benefited very much by what has been done for them.

WINTER DAIRYING IN PRINCE EDWARD ISLAND.

Then the winter dairying movement has been commenced in Prince Edward Island
in a most satisfactory way. The cheese factory at New Perth was fitted up last fall for
the making of butter. It ran the whole winter; and when I was there in March, they
made butter once a week, at the rate of over 300 pounds. That butter was all taken on
the Island at prices ranging from 20 to 2)1 cents per pound. Two other creameries
that had been in operation during the summer, were also carried on in Prince Edward
Island, during the winter, this year. Three factories have been running all the winter,
although it was said we could not carry on the business past November, and we have
applications from the directors of three other factories, to have butter making carried
on in them during the coming winter. They would put in the butter-making apparatus
and equipment at their own expense. All we would do would be to provide a butter-
maker for making the butter, and charge them 3½ cents per pound for doing it. The
one lack which the people of the Island still have for continuing this dairy business
theinselves, is that of close market contact. There have not been means of direct com-
munication from the Island to Great Britain for sbipping cheese or butter, and there
have been no buyers on the Island to purchase the cheese or buter for export, except
those who went at my invitation, and so it bas been decided to run the factories there
during the current year mainly for the purpose of giving the farmers, through the
presidents and representatives of the joint stock companies, a chance to meet the buyers
of cheese and butter, helping in the marketing themselves in some measure, a.nd thus
becoming fully acquainted with the whole range of business. When that is done, I
think the farmers will be both competent and willing to run the factories themselves,
except in the case of a few of the smaller ones, which might fairly and reasonably expect
and really deserve the support we can give for another year by running the factories for
them. Of the thirty cheese factories that are to be in operation this year, I estimate
that ten of them will more than pay the whole of the expenses incurred, and leave a
small profit, to be turned over and applied to meet charges incurred in the management
of the smaller factories.

By an kon. member:

Q. Is the skim milk returned to the patrons, because it appears there is not very
much left for them after paying 3½ cents for making butter? I think you said it sold
at 17 cents per pound ?-A. That was soine of the summer and fall butter. Yes; the skim
milk is taken back by the patrons from the creameries, and. the whey is taken by them
from the cheese factories.

By Mr. Innes :

Q. Is there anything in the report that the butter made on the Island is tainted by
seaweed ?-A. I do not think there is. There was a report that the cheese had a sectional
flavour ; that lias been made fun of by a few unimportant people; but the sectional
flavour of Prince Edward Island cheese is like the sectional flavour in the cheese from
Switzerland, which fetches the highest price in the London market. That is why a
merchant, who once got this Island cheese, has been wanting to buy it ever since. He
was well pleased with the quality of it. The peculiar flavour is that from the bacteria
which are common in the atmosphere there.
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Q. Did it have any effAct on the price when sold 7-A. Not so far. The cheese
was always sold at top market price ; and there was no complaint afterwards. I
might give one illustration. When the Prince Edward Island cheese went to Chicago
some of the experts there discussed with me a peculiar flavour they had found in one
of these cheeses. I went with the judges after the judging was done that day and
examined other cheeses which were there, to compare the lavour with that of the Swiss
cheese. They said : " That is good cheese. We thought it was soie new and there-
fore objectionable flavour, but we find it is all right." It was merely 1 lie unusual flavour
that puzzled the judges and so at first it was condemned by themn. I think the Island
is capable of turning out as fine cheese, in fact I think the finest cheese, that are made
on this continent.

Q. Of that peculiar flavour ?-A. Not so pronounced. The flavour is also some-
what like that of the Dunlop cheese, which long held the first place in Scotland.

By fr. 1cMfillan:

Q. Did these cheese go to the market in England ?-A. The cheese were sent tg
England ; that was the ultimate destination. We sold then to a Montreal house, but
I learned that they had gone to London, England.

BRIANDING OF CHEESE.

By 3fr. Cochrane:

Q. Are these cheese branded ?-A. They are branded on the boxes " Prince Ed ward
Island."

Q. Not on the cheese ?-A. Not on the cheese, because the brands on (ir suimmîner
cheese in a moist climate like that of Prince Edwardl Island wouldii not be discernible
after the lapse of a few months on account of the nould.

By the Chairman:

Q. Al the boxes of cheese are branded before leaving Montreal ?-A. Tlhey are
branded " Canadian " because the English Tradesmiark Act demnands that the naie of
the country of origin be on the product.

By -Mr. Mcieill :

Q. Could not the brand be on something that would appear on the cees --A. In
my opinion it would be quite undecipherable on the cheese. In a moist cliiate the
mould would cover the brand and it would not be discernible if put on the side ,f the
cheese. I had a letter from a large manufacturer of cleese in Nova Scotia a few days
ago, referring to the same matter ; and he said he had not been able so far to put his
particular brand of '1 Antigonish, Nova Scotia," upon lus cheese so as to have it discernible
after the cheese had been kept a few months.

Q. Would it not be possible to have a label ?-A. I think it would be difficult to
have a label adhere on account of the greasy condition of the cheese cloth and of the
exudation from the cheese in hot weather.

By Mr. Mc]Jfillan :

Q. I have seen it done in June and July until September and the brand was aU
right?-A. In western Ontario you have not the saine difficulty from humidity of the
climate.

In Prince Edward Island the work has been under the immediate charge of Mr. T.
J. Dillon, who is a very capable cheese-maker and a good business man. He attended
forty-one meetings since my last report and has trained in these factories severi young
cheese-makers, who take charge of seven of the new factories this year. After this year
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there will be over thirty Island boys, farmers' sons in every case, ready to take charge
of the factories on the Island, so that the people will be able in every respect to run the
business themselves after this present year. The probable value of the output of cheese
and butter this year will be about $180,000.

The farmers are growing corn, building silos and feeding their cows much cheaper
than they did, finding they can make milk after some of the factories close in October,
supply themselves with butter and furnish all they want to the shopkeepers. So they
have increased the milking capacities of their cows during the summer, prolonged the
milking season, and found a market for their product.

SUMMARY

OF THE

BUSINESS FOR THE SEASON OF 1894

AT THE

NEW PERTH DAIRY STATION, P.E.I.

The factory was opened on June 1st, and closed October 30th.
Milk was furnished by 73 patrons.
The quantity of milk received was 600,413 lbs.
The quantity of cheese manufactured was 56,332 lbs.
The quantity of milk required to make a pound of cheese was 10-65 lbs.
The total quantity of butter fat was 21,335·88 lbs.
The average quantity of fat was 3·55 lbs. in 100 lbs. of milk.
The quantity of cheese manufactured was 2-64 lbs. per lb. of fat in the milk.
The average price realized for cheese was 9-92 ets. per lb.
The net value of butter fat was 20-225 ets. per lb.

Receipts from Sales of Cheese. Lbs. $ ets.

Sold to Hodgson Bros., M ontreal................................... ........ 35,018 3,361 93
Sold to R. Lawson, Toronto............ .......................... ...... 210 21 35
Sold to H. N. Bate & Son, Ottawa.......................................... 213 21 30
Sold for local trade, as per statenent No. 3 ................................. 18,322 1,927 93
Sold to patrons, as per statement No. 1.................................. .... 2,569 256.92

56,332 5,589 43

Disbursements. $ cts.

Charge for manufacturing-56,332 lbs. @ 1¾ ets. per lb............. .......... ............ 704 15
Amount paid for milk drawing, statement No. 2.............................. ............ 515 56
Freight, wharfage and truckage............................................ ............ 54 34
Divided among patrons for milk :-

Cash, as per statement No. 1............................................ 2,591 00
Cheese do do ............................................ 256 92
Seeds, &c. do do ....... .................................... 46 52

Balance pald by cheque, 1895, statement No 1................................ 1,420 76

4,315 20
Fractions of cents............................. ............................. 0 18 4,315 38

5,589 43
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The full details of the work in Prince Edward Island are published on sheets (of
which the foregoing is a summary) for every factory, with a further statem ien t of the milk
received, the cheese sold, to whom sold, and a stateient of the account of every fariner
showing the quantity of milk he sent, and the noney be received. If anv mneiber of
the committee would like to get copies of these, 1 have fifty extra copies of the state-
ments referring to each factory. They are sent to all the patrons for educational pur-
poses. Any patron, in the event of his neighbour gettinîg $250 while lie himseif only
got $100, can find out the reasons for that and endeavour to iniprove his own nanage-
ment.

DAIRY PROGRESs IN NOVA SCOTIA.

In the Province of Nova Scotia we have a dairy station at Nappan. We made
cheese from the 1st of July to the 9th of October, and butter from the 9th October until
probably the end of next month (June.) At this station our huLtter for the winter was
sold at 23 cents per pound, being contracted for in Halifax early in the fall. That con-
tract lasted until the middle of April, I think; and after that we have simply to take
what the market will afford.

There have been many visitors to the dairy station at Nappan. Nineteen young
men have learned butter making and cheese making there, and are now in good positions
in factories either in Nova Scotia or the adjoining provin-e of New Brunswick. This
dairy station has been useful to the farniers who have found through it a miarket for
their nilk and in addition it has afforded a good opportunity to young miei In these two
provinces to learn the business and to follow it up. Mr. J. E. Hopkins is in charge of
this dairy station, and it has also been his duty to visit the factories in the province to
give instructions and advice. In 1894 sixteen factories were built, ten of thein putting
in the plant for making both butter and cheese. In that year there were 3;9 factories
altogether in operation in that province, and they are commencing to make butter during
the winter and cheese during the suinmer. In 1895, the present year, there will likely
be 49 cheese and butter factories in operation in Nova Scotia, and that province this
year will become an exporter of cheese. I may add that Mr. Hopkins lias, durinig the
winter, attended 22 public meetings.

DAIRY WORK IN NEW BRUNSWICK.

The Dairying Service in New Brunswick bas been soinewhat similar to that in the
other provinces, although in each province we have tried to adapt our work to the special
needs of the farmers. At Kingsclear, the dairy station is now managed by a joint stock
company. We had the management of it, for butter making for two years. At Sussex,
N.B., winter butter making was started in 1893; the factory is now in charge of a com-
pany and it is managed very satisfactorily. We had a travelling dairy in this province
which went into the more sparsely settled districts and gave instructions in butter making
particularly for home dairying. We sent out posters on which the prograrmme of the
work for the day was given. This programme included the testing of milk, the use of
the centrifugal cream separator, the making and packing of butter, in fact the whole
practical art of butter making from its first steps until the product was ready for the
market. This travelling dairy visited sixty-eight places in the province and was in charge
of Messrs. S. L. Peters and W. W. Hubbard. We found one unexpected service rendered
in this way. Farmers would bring their skimmed milk and buttermilk to be tested,
and in some cases it was discovered that there was 40 per cent of the butter fat lef t in
the skimmed milk, owing to the ignorance of the farmers of the best method for recovering
it. In other cases there would be 5 per cent of butter fat discovered in the butterrmilk
when there should only be about a quarter of one per cent. From the instructions which
the travelling dairy was able to impart to them, the farmers have learned how to avoid
losses in these ways. The travelling dairies have proved themselves valuable in instruc-
ting farmers how to make butter for the home market. We commenced the dairy school



59 Victoria. Appendix (No. 3.) A. 1896

at Sussex, N.B., in 1894, and that year we had 30 students who took tlie course of
instruction. This school is expected to meet the needs of the two provinces. This year
54 students were in attendance. During the last session in order to make the oppor-
tunity for instruction equally available to all the young men in the province, the local
government co-operated with our department and paid half the railway fares of the
students to Sussex. I arm glad to acknowledge that the local governments have given
us every aid, so that our work has not been in any way combative of that of the pro-
vincial governments, but in many instances we have arranged the plans for their work,
and they have co-operated with us in the heartiest manner possible.

AGRICULTURAL CONFERENCES.

There is one feature of the work in the Maritime Provinces during the past year
which deserves special mention, namely, the presence of His Excellncy the Governor
General at the three great agricultural conferences at Charlottetown, P.E.I., Frederic-
ton, N.B., and Truro, N.S. His Excellency's attendance and addresses contributed nuch
in awakening interest and quickening the enthusiasm of thefarners about recognizing and
making the most of the resources of their own country. I have always had a very great
respect for and belief in the virtue and value of patriotic, unselfish sentiment; and when
you have gatherings of from three to ten thousand farmers you can quicken the whole-
some sentiment in those provinces in a way such as nothing else had done there previously.
These gatherings were promoted and helped by the provinoïal authorities. The Lieutenant-
Governors and the Provincial Premiers were on the platforms and delivered speeches.
The general effect of the gatherings was to e.icourage the farmers and to stir thein up
to the task of developing the resources of their provinces, and making them bett r places
to live it. At the meetings in question we had with us ex Governor Hoard of Wisconsin,
who attended th- meetings as a inatter of generous international courtesy. And bere
I may make a remark of a somewhat personal character. I have been criticised for
visiting the United States and delivering lectures at a few of the large conventions
there during the past winter. Ex-Governor Hoard came to Canada last summer with-
out charging any fee for lis splendid services, simply to oblige us and to enjoy himself.
He is perhaps the greatest living authority on the philosophv of dairying and when he
asked me if I would take his place and address a few meetings in the New England
States I felt that on the principle of one good turn deserving another, I could do no-
thing else than accede to his request. The visit of ex-Governor Hoard through Canada
last year has had ntost beneficial results to this country. He publishes four papers,
one of which, "l oard's Dairyman," is the most widely circulated dairy paper in the
world, and goes into nearly all countries. Repeatedlv since his return from the Mari-
time Provinces he has made practical references to what he saw there. In the issue of
this paper of May 3rd, 1895, this is what he is reported to have said in addressing a
large gathering of cheese makers in the United States with reference to Prince Ed-
ward Island. He said :-"They have hot weather there in the summer, though not as
hot as we have, because they are so near the ocean. They make the finest cheese there
that I ever saw. * * * I rode by carriage almosu the length of Prince Edward
Island which is 120 miles long. I visited factory after factory with Mr. D. M. Mc-
Pherson and Prof. Robertson, and you would never know that all that cheese was not
made by one man, on account or its uniformity. Every single che se maker had been
trained to a given standard, and the result was, factories all being constructed alike, that
the goods were remarkable fine, and of great uniformity, though I do believe that they were
no better than we can make here in Northern Wisconsin." Then, if you will allow me,
I will read another short extract to show the recognition and appreciation which this
gentleman, who occupies a foremost place amongst the dairymen of the United States, has
of the work of Their Excellencies the Governor General and the Countess of Aberdeen in
their visit to the Maritime Provinces last year. The Hon. W. D. Hoard says: "I found
human nature just about the same as anywhere else; but I found this, that the government
takes a wonderful interest in the dairy industry and stands behind it with a tremendous
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force. Don't you think if the President of the United States should travel for a mnonîth
holding dairy meetings that it would give greit impulse to the sentiment of the cotnt ry
on that question ? Suppose that President Cleveland and his wife and little Ruth
should start out and hold monster dairy meetings and bid the peoplo 'od-speed this
work of civilization, this is the work of progress and hope,' Don't vou suppose it would

give a great impulse to publie sentiment along that line ? Now, this question is one
which is objected to as being one of sentiment. Why men go to their death foir senti-
ment. I remember lots of times on the field of battle, whein, if it hadn't beern for my
pride, my sentiment, I would have got out of there in a York minute. Sentiment, senti-
ment everywhere. We love our country because of sentiment, we take a pride in our
country because of sentiment, we stand by ' Old ( lory ' beeause of sentiment, and we
are all the time being, and doing things from nere sentimiient. Now, we want a good,
strong sentiment in this state, full of pride, conerning the character of our dairy pro-
ducts."

Governor Hoard has helped to foster that sentiment in Canada in a very large
measure ; and Their Excellencies are establishing in Canadians the inspiring sentiment
and conviction that true nobility and a noble service of the people are inseparable.

INSTRUCTION IN DAIRYING IN QUEBEC.

In the province of Quebec the assistant dairy commfiiissioner, Mr. J. C. Chapai,
bas been actively at work. fie spends most of bis timn gi'ing help as is needed to ihe
French speaking citizens of Canada. During the past vear lhe addressed ine neeti)iis
in Prince Edward Island, one in New Brunswick, eiglit in Ontario, anîd eightytwo in
the province of Quebec. Besides these lie delivered thirty-four lectures to the stiuents
at the dairy school at St. Hyacinthe. He has also spent a good deal of time in advis-
ing and otherwise helping iiin the formation of svndicates of factories in Quebec. The e
are organizations of factories, say of 15 or 25, whereby they emnploy the services of a
competent inspector, who visits the factories as often as lie can and gives practical illus-
trations and other information of how to make the finest butter and chîeese.

The dairy school at St. Hyacinthe has received help to the extent of ý[,000 a year
from the Dairymen's Association of Quebec ; our departmnent ieets all die other
expenses.

In 1893-4 there were 268 students in attendance at thiis school, and during the
w«inter of 1894-5 the number rose to 328, so that a large nuiiber of the chiese aid
butter factories in the province of Quebec are in the hands of imyakers who have liad a
thorough course of instruction in up-to-date metlhods of carrviig ont tlieîr work.
Then the superintendent of the school, Mr. J. D. Leclair, received leave of absice to
visit Europe, his travelling expenses being paid by the provincial governeiîin. lie
went to look into the butter-making methods of Denmiark and F"raice and got miost
useful and valuable information which he has since given to thie fariiers at dairv coi-
ventions and to the students attending the course of instruction at the school at St.

Hyacinthe.
We carried on a winter butter-making station at Lennoxville, Quebec, and that has

been conducted by the farmers themselves since the beginning of April.
The total number of cheese factories in the province cf Quebue is 1192 and of

butter factories 262. I think that this year the province of Quebec will produce about
half of the total amount of cheese exportable f rom Canada.

DAIRY TEACHING IN ONTARIO.

I come now to what we are doing in the province of Ontario through the Dairying
Service.& We commenced the work of our winter dairying stations at Woodstock and
Mount Elgin, Ont. In 1894 we sold the butter making plant which we had loaned to
companies of farmers at these factories, and during the past winter they have mariaged
the business themselves. From reports I have received I learn that they have managed
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it most satisfactorily and successfully. From these two factories the winter dairying
movement has extended all over Canada, so much so that last winter there were. in
operation about 100 butter-making factories; and the first that were started were these
two, at places J have mentioned, in 1892. We carried on butter-making last winter at
Wellman's Corners, Ont., and this year we sold the plant to the cheesemaker there, who
will carry it on hereafter. We carried it on at Chesterville, Ont., and the owner of the
factory is in correspondence on the subject of buying the machinery there. I hope the
dairymen will now be able to continue winter butter-making in Ontario without the
direct management of any factories by our department. I think we may witlidraw from
that part of our work. We also carried on butter-making at Renfrew, Ont., last winter.
The joint stock company put up the buildings and furnished them entirely themselves.
We did not even lend the machinery. We merely carried on the butter-making so that
they might have the advantage of the good name we have gained to get a good start in
their business. Since the end of April the company has carried it on themselves, and
my last word f rom the manager was that they would make a ton of butter a day after
they were well going in June. We also carried on winter dairying at Kingston, Ont.,
and carried on a dairy school in connection therewith, at which 109 pupils were in
attendance. That work was in charge of Mr. J. A. Ruddick, and was a part of the
educational work of the school of Agriculture and Mining at Kingston, whose board of
governors put up the buildings and found the equipment. The school of Agriculture
and Mining works in harmony with Queen's University, Kingston. At the closing
exercises Principal Grant was present, and was willing to express his opinion that no
single educational movement in Ontario had been started or carried on with better
prospect of helping the farmers in the eastern part of the province. The total cost to
our department was about $2,500, of which nearly $1,000 was a loss on milk which we
purchased for use in the school. It was therein different from our dairy station work.
There appeared to be the threatened difficulty of getting a supply of milk for giving
illustrations of making butter and cheese. The only way was to offer a good price for
it, and we offered 30 cents per pound of butter-fat. As it turned out, the difference in
the quality of milk was so great that at this rate one patron received $1.05 per 100
pounds of milk, while another realized $1.65 per 100 pounds of milk. We expected to
sell the butter for what we paid for the milk, giving the labour for educational purposes.
The price of butter went down in the meantime and we lost on it, but we did not lose
any more than any other school in Canada that has been obliged to purchase milk for
illustrative teaching. Hereafter we can purchase milk at the ordinary market rate, as
the farmers have now the experience that they can produce milk in winter at a reason-
able cost, which they did not know before. They were afraid of storms blocking the
roads, but on no single day did we find it impossible to get a full supply of the milk
required for the carrying on of the school. I might mention one matter here which
perhaps does not come exactly within the scope of my evidence, but is closely connected
with this matter. This $2,500 was an entirely unexpected and unprovided-for expen-
diture, because the dairy school was only started last summer, and I think it would
have been impossible for the board of governors of the school of Agriculture and Mining
to run the dairy school satisfactorily unless cur department had taken hold of it. This
educational dairy work is so much in its infancy that it is impossible to estimate, at the
beginning of the year, just how much money will be required to carry on the work
efficiently and still keep within the exact limits of the estimate. When a department
or division of a department is well organized and the work is, so to speak, stereotyped
in certain channels and directions, then the expenditure can be kept within estimated
bounds, but in the dairying service it is very difficult to do the work as it should be
done, to undertake all the new work that crops up du ring the year and needs to be done,
and still come out at the end of the year always within the limits of the estimates and
appropriation. I hope the embers will bear this fact in mind and deal generously with
the Dairy Commissioner if sometimes the dairy vote a little behind, which this year,
however, I do not think it be.
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MANITOBA AND THE TERRITORIES.

Our work in Manitoba and the North-west Territories has been of two sorts. We
started travelling dairies there last year to give the farmers instruction on how to carry
on the making of butter at their own homes. The method of procedure was somîewhat
similar to that followed in the province of New Bruns-wick. We sent out posters about a
month ahead, giving the names of the places where the travelling dairy was to be
stationed:

DOMINION OF CANADA.

Department of Agriculture.

DAIRYING SERVICE.

OFFICE OF DAIRY COMMISSIoNER,

CENTRAL EXPERIMENTAL FARM,

OTTAwA, May, 1894.

The Dominion Government has made provision for the maintenance of Travelling
Dairies in Manitoba and the North-west Territories. They will be under the direction
of the Dairy Commissioner for the Dominion.

The object of the travelling daines is to afford those who are engaged ii butter-
making an opportunity to gain further. exact, practical and helpful information on all
parts of the process, from the separating of the creani to the printing and packing of
the butter.

One expert butter-maker and an assistant, with an outfit of dairy utensils, includ-
ing a centrifugal cream separator, a churn, a butter-worker, a Babcock milk tester, &c.,
&c., will compose each travelling dairy. Two days will be spent at every place wlich
is visited, if the local committee make the necessary preparations of a place for meet-
ings, a supply of milk and a supply of cream.

The programme of instruction and illustration will be arranged, as far as practie
able, in accordance with the following time cards:-

FIRsT DAY.

10 to 12 a.m. (1) Running of centrifugal cream separator, and separating cream
from about 10 gallons of milk to be supplied by the local
committee;

(2) Testing samnples of milk;
(3) Preparing about 2 gallons of cream, to be supplied by the local

committee ;
2 to 5 p.m. (4) Churning of cream supplied by the local committee;

(5) Making butter, &c.
(6) Ripening of cream from centrifugal separator;
(7) Address on butter-making.

SECOND DAY.

9 to 10 a.m. (1) Testing samples of milk ;
10 to 12 a.m. (2) Churning creani from centrifugal cream separator, and making

butter;
2 to 4 p.m. (3) Running the centrifugal cream separator;

(4) Discussion on dairying.
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REQUIREMENTS.

To enable the farmers, their wives and families to get as much benefit as possible

from the practical teachings of those travelling dairies, it is necessary that a local com-

mittee or individual, in every place to be visited, should arrange beforehand
(1) For a convenient place of meeting;
(2) For a supply of about ten gallons of sweet whole milk, to be furnished on the

morning of the first day;
(3) For a supply of about two gallons of cream (ripened if practicable), also to be

furnished on the morning of the first day ;
(4) For the distribution of bills (similar to this which will be furnished free)

announcing the dates and places of meetings, widely and thoroughly in the surrounding
country.

Farmers are invited to bring samples of whole milk, of skimmed-milk and of butter-

milk, to be tested ; about half a tea-cupful is plenty for each sample.

IMPORTANCE.

In many districts in Manitoba and the North-west Territories, dairying can be
followed with profit and success. The soil, the pasturage, the fodder crops, and the
climatic conditions, as well as the demands and opportunities of the markets, are all
suitable for the production of the finest quality of milk, butter, cheese, beef and bacon.
By a system of mixed farming, the growing of wheat at a profit may be helped and not
hindered ; and thereby the farmers may protect themselves f rom the very serious risk
of loss and failure which is incurred by any individual or comniunity in the western
provinces, that depends wbolly or mainly on one crop or on the selling of grain only.

I urge the farmers and business men generally to avail themselves of the benefits
which these travelling dairies are intended to give. The women from the farms are
specially invited to be present at the meetings.

If vou are interested in the welfare and progress of the district where you live,
you are hereby invited to see that a local committee is formed and that it makes the
necessary preparations for your locality in good time.

JAS. W. ROBERTSON,
Dairy Commissioner.

The travelling dairy will visit the following places on the dates named:-

For two days we gave the people as much information as we could, especially on the
practical part of butter-naking. The number of places visited was 63. Here again the
reports of my assistants show that there were samples of skim-milk containing quite 40
per cent of the butter-fat. ; and butter-milk containing from 5 to 8 per cent of fat.
These losses have been remedied in large measure since the waste was pointed out to
the farners. This work was highly appreciated in Manitoba. Besides the thanks sent
in correspondence, we have a resolution from the Manitoba Dairymen's Association
which commerds the work of the travelling dairies and says "No work of the kind has
had more useful results or is meeting with more general appreciation." The resolution
in full simply speaks well of the men who carried on the work and the good results that
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followed. At the annual meetings of the Farmers' Institutes of Manitoba, in nearly
every case they took occasion to refer to the work of the travelling dairies in their sec-
tions. I do not think it would be wise to read extracts fromn their reports, it would
take too much time ; but I have the reports underliued for the inembers of the com-
mittee to look at if they wish. I will read you one fron the Virden Institute which I
have taken by chance and without any preferential selection : 1' The travelling dairy
meetings were large and enchusiastic. Over 200 farmers were in attendance and the
work of instruction will do a great deal of good."

Our work up there has had the quality which the rest of our work has had as far as
we could make it so, in that it was directly helpful to the farmers and practical in every
part of its presentation. At the dairy station at Moosejaw, where we had 58 patrons,
over 22,000 pounds of butter were made, and the C. P. R. take one-third of the supply,
which they need for their whole western service, from this dairy station. There are
many new cheese factories and creameries in course of erection in Manitoba and the
North-west Territories, and already this year we have sent three travelling instructors
to visit these newly established cheese faccories and creameries, spending fron two to
three days at each, according to their needs and the limitations of the railway service.
After that work is done we hope to resume the work of travelling dairies, and visit the
most sparsely settled districts, giving them instructions in butter makinîg and how to
establish and support co-operative factories. At the present time the narkets; for dairy
butter in Manitoba are iu a most deplorable condition. At the present tine in som1e
places dairy butter cannot be sold for 7 cents a pound, on account of tie surplus of
dairy butter which is not wanted anywhere for export. The nerchants are simply
refusing to take it and the only alternative for the peo ple is to get crtaumries put up
for the making of a quality of butter that can be taken for export, and whlich mtust be

protected against being spoiled during transportation, by cold storage service on the
way.

The work at our branch dairy stations will be almost finished this year as far as I
can see now. The object of these, as I said before the comnittee last year, was first to
introduce co-operative methods in dairying, where these were unknown. We have done
that in the Maritime Provinces and we are getti ng it done in Manritoba and thre Northi-
west Territories. The second object was to establish winter butter-making in factories.
That is now being done so thoroughly that we iay withdraw entirely froin tiis work in
Ontario. The third object was to improve the general quality Of the dairy products
throughout all the provinces ; and there never was such excellence in the cheese and
butter of the provinces at any time in the past as now. They are all graded up t

nearly one standard of excellence. In consequence next year, that is the financial year
1896-97, I expect the Dairying Service can be administered with $5,000 less than tihis
year of 1895-96 and the following year with $10,000 less again because the work of

initiation being done and the industry being set well on its feet, the rest may safely be
left to the farmers themselves and the enterprise of business men.

GOVERNMENT AID TO BUTTER EXPORT.

The next matter I had in my notes to speak of, was what has been done to foster

the butter trade. That I might make what has been done entirely clear to the coin-

mittee, I shall give a very brief resume of the causes which led to the unfortunate con-
dition of our butter trade in Canada. The volume of the butter trade has shrunken
very much. That was not due to anything so mucli as to the very rapid expansion of

our cheese trade. The milk of cows being fed by farmers was turned towards cheese-

making instead of being kept at butter making. The enlargement of our cheese trade

at so rapid a rate was only possible by the reduction of our butter trade. Then the

loss of the market for our butter was due to two causes :-first, to the change of taste

on the part of customers who used to prefer the rather strnngly flavoured but pure
butter to the mild-flavoured imitation butter. Now the consumers in Europe would

rather have the mild-flavoured oleomargarine than the stronger-flavoured pure butter
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made in dairies, some of which necessarily bas a strong flavour. By the change in the
taste of consumers, we lost that market in a measure. By the tremendous increase in
the production of imitation butters in other countries we lost it nearly altogether.

Then in carrying on the dairy work in Canada under the stress of fierce competi-
tion from all quarters, the farmers could find safety only in two directions. If they keep
on extending the cheese trade only, and at the same time keep enlarging the flow of
milk per cow and lengthening the milking season, the result will be that we will soon
have our cheese trade in a very bad condition, because we already send to England
sixty per cent of the cheese she imports and are thus pushing our competitors very bard
to the wall. Our safety seems to lie in turning milk in larger quantities into butter
making instead of continuing to enlarge the cheese-making. Unless we do that I do
-not see any escape f rom an era of low prices or f rom the calamity of over production in
cheese. The next question that was to be settled, as far as it could be settled in
advance, was, what was the most profitable time of the year to make our butter in order
to find a good market. The influence of the Canadian butter on the ruling prices in
the British market is hardly appreciable, because we send less than two pounds out of
every hundred pounds imported there. But in EngIand there has been a clearly marked
yearly fluctuation in the butter market for fifteen years. This chart wil illlustrate
what I want to say more clearly than words will -lo. The butter market in England
bas gone down in summer. The zig-zag line represents the price each year from 1880
for Danish butter, and the average price available in summer is about six cents a pound
lower from April till August than from September to March. That accounts for the
holding of butter made in creameries and elsewhere in June and July in Canada.
Nobody cares to ship butter to the British market when the ruling price for fine butter
is six cents a pound lower than it will be in a few months' time. The likelihood of this
being the case bas been based on the experience of fifteen years without a single
exception. Then there seemed to be just two ways of meeting that difficulty. Either
we should make butter at the season of the year when the butter markets are high and
send the butter freshly made then, or we should make butter when it is most conven-
ient to do so and provide for the holding of it without spoiling, so that it would reach
the market when the ruling price was higliest, and yet without any deterioration in
quality. There were just these two ways of meeting that difBlculty. We tried to meet
it in both ways and tiat is why our winter dairying movement was started first :-Be-
cause the price for butter in England w'as always higher in winter than in summer, and
we could ship then with safety on account of the cold temperature that prevailed at
that season. Now, in starting this winter dairving movement, as I mentioned in dealing
with the work in the province of Ontario, it was to my mind essential that the farmers
should get some direct help which they could not avail themselves of through any other
channel than that which the government could provide. When any new business is
being started it seems to me essential tiat the people should co-operate until they have
obtained the facilities for doing singly what they require. Let me make my meaning
clear-because this lies at the very basis of my view of why we were not only justified,
but would have been inexcusable if we had not helped the butter trade as we have been
doing during this past year. At first when a man wanted to build a bouse for himself
in this country lie resorted to essential " bees." That was a form of co-operation. Now
a man does not build his house by means of a neighbourhood " bee," because be can hire
masons and carpenters and obtain by purchase all the material he needs. But in the old
days men could not have had bouses and clearings for themselves unless they had these
logging " bees," when other men co-operated with them and helped to erect their cabins.
That was the exact condition of the butter trade last winter, when we provided means
for the shipments of butter. The Government had ample justification for their action,
but there would have been no justification for a neglect or refusal to act under the cir-
cumstances.

For myself I believe in the widest possible application, within legitimate bounds,
of co-operative methods for the promotion of the public good ; and government in the
highest exercise of its functions, is one way whereby the people co-operate for ther own
benefit. The protection of life and property is perhaps only the primary function of
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government, and the making of one's country a desirable land to live in, is a responsibility
inseparable from the carrying on of government in the highest order of civilization.
The clearest illustration of this is found in the existence of schools iaintained by the
taxes of the people and kept in a measure under the control of the governnent. To
go back to the old illustration of the logging " bees " and house-building " bees," soineone
in a new settlement might have said: "Why should I tax my time to help a new-comer
who is going to be a competitor with me in the markets î" lad such a one let his
question find expression in his action, his conduct would have been short-sighted and
hurtful to himself, because it would have been of decided advantage to him as an individual,
and eminently fitting and manly in him as a member of the community, to help a new
neighbour. The winter butter-making dairyman is siiply a new neighbour among the
other productive labourers in Canada, and he is a labourer through whom the welfare of
the whole community will be promoted.

I would like to make a few observations as to how far the promotion of winter
dairying, through the Dairying Service, may be a fair use of government money. If
wealth can be created from natural i esources through dairying, the business men and
manufacturers do not sustain any loss by a portion of the taxes being devoted to helping
to develop the butter and cheese trade; because, if the incoies of the farmers are
increased they will be able to spend more; and their extra spendings will give a chance
for increased profits to the merchants and will cause a demand for products of the
manufacturers. What I want to do is to make it clear that, after all, none but the
farmers themselves are contributing to the aid which we are temporarily rendering them.
But for the organization of dairymen's associations, the employnent of travellin g
instructors, the holding of conventions and the issuing of reports, the cheese trade could
not have been established as it now exists. That trade bas grown so much that while
in 1886 the exports reached only a value of $6,754,626, last year the exports reached a
splendid total of $15,488,191. The increase in the value of the output of cheese during
the last eight years bas been more than a million of dollars a year ; and it would not
have been possible but for the fostering help this business received iii the ways I have
indicated. This increase bas been gained without any depreciation in price, becaue the
thoroughly practical aid given made improvenient in the quality of the cheese as fast
as the increase in the quantity manufactured. Thus we have been enabled to hold our
customers and gain others. This bas saved the country fron financial distress in nmany
respects, and I may ask here, how much better off would the country have been if w% e 11ad
had half as much more coming in yearly fromn the exports of butter ? I have no besitation
in saying that this is quite within our capacity within a few years. If we had live or
seven millions of dollars' worth of butter to export annually, everybody in Canada would
have a chance of being better off. That is the possibility and the legitimate outcoie of
aid to the butter trade.

It is fair to the cheesemen, altbough a few of thei say it is not fair to apply public
money to aid those whom they call their competitors. It nust not be forgotten, how-
ever, that the winter dairying stations have been supported by farmiers who were sup-
plying milk to cheese factories in the suimmer. Those who support the winter creairieries
are the same men who enable the cheese manufacturers to carry on their industry. The
interests are not hostile in any respect ; they are identically the same men who are
being helped through the cheese business in summer and the butter business in winter;
and consequently there is no ground for complaint.

Assistance to the butter makers of Canada is only fair because they ought to re-
ceive similar help to that given to the butter men by the governments in other countries.
In 1886 when I first visited Dennark, I found two dairy experts in the employment of
the government of that country, together with five dairy chemists, while we in Canada
have not a single dairy chemist yet. We have Mr. F. T. Shutt, one of the most efficient
chemists in the Dominion, and capable of doing any class of work, but he is chenist of
the experimental farms, and his work is principally confined to soils, fertilizers, fodders
and waters. In Denmark there were five special dairy chemists at work in 1886. In
1883 Denmark exported 14,000 tons of butter and in 1894, 54,000 tons.
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By Sir John Carling :

Q. What are our exports in butter at the present ?-A. Less than 3,000 tons a
year; and think of it, 54,000 tons as the output in Denmark ! The people of Denmark
were even more inert in regard to buttermaking and improved agriculture than the
Canadians were; but from the judicious guidance which they have received, it has become,
I think, the most prosperous agricultural country in the world. The change wrought in
fifteen years has been most remarkable, as about 1880 it was reported to be the most
severelv distressed agricultural country in Europe. If, then, we are to compete with
the Danes in the British market, and to-day they hav e the largest share of that market,
we need to help our farmers in a measure as they have been helped by the governinent
in Denmark, in order to make the conditions of competition fair and just for our people.
Last winter, whben we found winter dairying was making satisfactory progress, I had
letters from many farmers saying, We cannot sell our butter. At that saie time we
were selling the butter from the government dairy stations at 21½- and 22 cents per
pound, but the men who would ordinarily have been buying and shipping butter at that
time of the year were laden down with held butter made last summer. It had not been
kept in refrigerators or cold storage and was therefore partly spoiled. Thus it was that
the usual ehannels of commerce were blocked by the speculative action of the dealers
who bought last summer's product and who were holding it for a rise in the market.
On considering the matter I had no hesitation in recommending to the Minister of
Agriculture that butter from these winter creameries should be taken at twenty cents
a pound, or a cent an a half per pound less than we were getting at the experimental
dairy stations at that time. I should remark that our winter-made butter had been
greatly improved in quality and was quite as good as the best Australian, and almost
as good as the best Danish. The English merchants, however, did not know that. All
things considered, it was an opportune tinne to make shipments from the Canadian dairy
stations in order to attract customers who might be large buyers next summer, and give
them an opportunity of judging of its exoellent quality. Arrangements for shipments
to Great Britain were made, and we sent a less quantity than I had expected. The total
number of packages fo ;rwarded was 915, plus about 200 from Prince Edward Island, of
which I have not yet received the exact particulars. It was understood that we were
only to take butter made between the first of January and the last of March. In order
to give the committee an idea of the feeling of the trade in Great Britain with regard
to our products of butter, I will read you one or two extracts fron letters which I have
received fron prominent produce dealers in the mother country.

After receipt of the first consignment Messrs. Andrew Clement & Son, Manchester,
wrote

"The high colour of Australian is against even the best qualities. The paler the
colour, the better the deiand on this market.

"We are much pleased with the quality of boxes mnarked ' Chesterville' and 'Len-
noxville No. 3', (Government Dairy Stations). These will sell in preference to Aus-
tralian on this market, being paler in colour, and at least equal in flavour. For these
we made 86 shillings to 90 shillings, which is more than Australian brought.

"Most of our customers were surprised at the quality of this parcel, as they ex-
pect Canadian to be something inferior. If you can ship quality equal to 'Chesterville',
and ship it when fresh-made, we can handle all you send."

Under date 25th April, 1895, the same firm wrote :-
"We have received delivery of 215 packages of butter ex " Ottoman"; most of this

shipment is fresher than last." If I may be allowed to interject an explanation here, I
may say that even it was not very fresh, because, in some cases, the butter had been
held at the creameries two or three weeks before it was shipped to Montreal, and,
moreover, held in unsuitable places. The letter goes on :-" fresher than last, and alto-

gether superior, and proves to us that if care be taken with details at your end, and
the goods shipped absolutely as soon as made, you need not fear what quantity you
send. They will certainly suit this market better than Australian; of course it will
take some time to get them known. * * * We have sold about the half of this
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shipment at various prices from 74s. to 84s. We have had several of the best buyers
in Lancashire examining these, and the general opinion is that you could run the
Danes very hard in a year or so."

By Mr. Taylor:

Q. What will the prices that you have just given net -A. Not more than 15
cents on the average ; our first two shipments realized a little over 16 cents at Montreal.

By Mr. Wilson :

Q. Was that Ontario butter -A. It was butter from Ontario and Quebec. I
may state that the butter market was never in a worse condition in the Ol Country
than of late. The Canadians were not the only people who held butter in unsuitable
places. There were some 2,000 tons of Australian butter held in England since the
winter of 1893-94, and that quantity held over the beads of the trade had a most de-
pressing and demoralizing effect on the market. If those 2,000 tons could have been
bought by the butter merchants and dumped into the Thames, it would have paid thein
in the end, and would have created a far better state of trade in the butter market. I
recognize that the winter dairying business in Canada has grown to such dimensions
that we will have to take a price on the export basis for butter, because we will have a
surplus to sell. If the summer creamery butter could be shipped out by October, the
local markets in Canada would take 90 per cent of the winter-made butter for another
year. In the Maritime Provinces the butter-makers have suffered as in the other
markets, because Montreal merchants have been shipping summer-made creamery there
and selling it at 14 and 1 cents a pound, paying freight and insurance in addition.

That shows the folly and risk of the practice which lias been in vogue of holding a
perishable product for a rise in the market without protecting the product against
injury in quality.

By Mr. McNeill:

Q. What does Danish butter generally bring in winter 1-A. I will read notes from
the next letter from the same firm, dated May lst. It says "Yesterday Danish
dropped to 84 from 88 shillings."

Q. What would that be a pound 7-A. That would be from 18 to 1 8¾ cents a pound
there.

Q. Is that abnormally low -A. Yes, nearly 50 per cent lower than usual, and in
part that is in consequence of the holding of butter that came from the colonies mainly,
and was held under very unsuitable conditions.

Q. What might we fairly expect for winter butter in England 7-A. I think
taking the last five or six years' experience as a basis to found an opinion upon, about
18 cents per lb. here. I do not think our farmers may look for much above that for
winter-made butter. Of course markets fluctuate, and I am giving that as tentative
and approximate only.

Q. For the last four or five years what did Danish butter net --A. It has been
gradually shrinking, but this chart gives the prices. In 1893 it was as high as 119
shillings per cwt. at Copenhagen, that is 25J cents per pound, and as low as 86 shillings
per cwt. in May of that year. For ten years the price at Copenhagen, Denmark, lias
been from about 120 shillings per cwt. to 84 shillings per cwt. The highest prices have
been on the average from October to March and the lowest prices from May till July.

Q. If they ship such large quantities there from Australia that will have some
effect 7-A. Yes, some effect, no doubt.

In another letter from the same firm, under date of April 29th, they say, " As it
is, to offer Canadian butter means that you must spend some time explaining that it is
not that which is usually known as Canadian butter."

33
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COLD STORAGE SERVICE FOR BUTTER.

By Mr. Mcfillan:

Q. Do you think it possible to make butter in summer and hold it and put it on
the butter market in winter in good condition ?-A. Yes, I am coming to that point
now. As long as seven years ago I publicly advocated cold storage for the summer
made butter in order that it might be held in good condition if it was to be kept until
prices were higher than when it was made. It is quite possible to hold it without
deterioration if proper storage accommodation be provided. I would not provide it to
facilitate or encourage speculation, but if it is to be held for the natural rise in the
market owing to the scarcity of butter in winter, then it should be held safely so that
its quality would not be injured.

By Mr. Wilson :

Q. Is there any difference in the quality of butter made in summer and in winter?
Does it vary according to the time of the year I-A. There need not be any marked
variation. Our butter made in January was as good as that made in June, and it is as
well liked in England.

By Dr. Roome:

Q. Is it the same with cheese ?-A. No. It is possible to make fine cheese in
winter but not in the ordinary buildings because they are not suitable. It is neces-
sary to regulate the temperature for cheesemaking and cheese curing.

Q. Is the June and July cheese as good as in October -- A. No, the milk is richer
in October and the cooler weather favours the curing of cheese with mild flavours,
which are preferred.

Butter has two values. The market value is fixed by all competitors in accordance
with the law of supply and demand. Then butter has an intrinsie value, so that one
butter is worth more as a palatable food than another butter because of its superior
quality, regardless of market fluctuations altogether. Ail we can expect to do is to put our
butter on the market in such a condition that by its higher intrinsic qualities it will
command the highest price which is being paid at that time. If by its more excellent
intrinsic qualities it fetches higher prices than that made in other countries, that is ail
we can expect. Butter changes in intrinsic quality by the progress of the process of
fermentation. In making butter we add a fermentation starter to the cream as the
housewife adds yeast to the dough to make it rise. That is how we can make as good
butter in winter as in summer, by adding to the cream for winter butter a certain kind
of bacteria that are common in the atmosphere in June. If you could introduce or ap-
ply a fermentation-stopper as well as a fermentation-starter the butter would remain
unchanged. Butter made in June would be liked just as much in January as in June
if no change in taste or appearance or smell could be detected. We obtain the flavour
we want in butter by heating the cream to 1650 Fahr. so as to kill the forms of fermen-
tation we do not want, and then after it is cooled adding the proper fermentation
starter to it as mentioned in the appendix. The increase of temperature above 1650
Fahr. will practically stop fermentation, and a decrease below freezing point will also
stop it, so that butter held in a dark place, protected from other bacteria and at a tem-
perature below 320 Fahr. will stay practically unchanged for months. There is little
change in the butter except from the disintegration of its constituents through the
action of germ Ife in it. A fermentation-stopper is simply to put it in a refrigerator
so cold that the fermentation will be stopped. About 200 Fahr. (12 below freezing
point) is necessary, because an ordinary package of butter stored at a temperature of 320
Fahr. would not be cooled to that temperature at its centre for four or five days, and
during that time fermentation would go on, damaging the quality. At a temperature
of 12° below freezing point the butter will be cooled in every part in 24 hours and thus
be protected from change and consequent damage. The plan for cold storage service
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this year includes the getting of cold storage on railways once a week whereby the
butter can be conveyed to some central place without being injured in
transit. We also want cold storage in Montreal in warehouses, at
least 120 below freezing point, where it can he held unchanged after
arriving at the port of shipment. Then we want cold storage on the steamships
in one of three ways, all of which will be tested. First of all, in insulated compart-
ments so that when 10, 20, or 30 tons of butter are taken out of these warehouses and
put into the insulated compartments, it will continue of a temperature not appreciably
above 320 Fahr., and be landed in England without undergoing any change on
the voyage. The second system to be tried is that of using ice and salt placed in tubes
at the sides of the insulated compartments, so as to keep then and their contents below
320 Fahr. The third method will be by fitting up one or two refrigerating
machines for the cooling of insulated compartments by the compression and expansion
of ammonia circulated inside pipes. We expect to try all these systems during the
)oming summer, and my opinion is that with the receiving warehouses at Montreal at
20° Fahr., we will have no difficulty in landing butter in unimpaired condition
in England simply by putting it in insulated compartments. Having arranged for the
carriage of our butter to the market in good condition, we must inake the best arrange-
ments we can for its sale. I have had letters from several of the large firins who have
been accustomed to handle Danish, Colonial and Irish butter, and who have received
small quantities of our winter-made butter. They say: " We did not know you made
such butter as this." I am of opinion that by sending small shipmeiits in June, July,
and probably August, when the market is low, and no merchant would ship and sust ain
the loss to be met under such circumstances, we could introduce our creamery butter
favourably to many, who would become large and permanent custoiners, and it would
pay the country to invest a few thousand dollars in this manner, and develop a demnand
so that customers would be waiting for the thousands of packages that would go later in
the season. Just that far I think the department might go into a commercial enter-
prise, reluctantly and only for the purpose of opening up channels of trade, leaving it to
the enterprise of commercial men to continue the business thereafter. The best pack-
ages for shipment are packages similar to those I exhibited in the committee roois two
years ago, or square boxes lined with parchment paper inside. The square boxes are
preferred now to the tubs in most markets, and they cn be purchased for from 16 to 17
cents a piece. They hold 56 pounds of butter. They are made of spruce wood, þinch
or 1-inch thick, and 12 inches deep, Il inches wide, 12k inches long, inside measure-
ments. They should be lined inside with strong thick parchment paper.

Then we have been making experiments in the preservation of butter by the use of
a saline preparation. Salt is used for preserving butter in some measure, and we have
used another entirely harmless and wholesome substance which put on the butter as a brine
helps to keep it unchanged for an indefinite period of time. I have kept butter this
winter from some of our dairy stations for two months which then did not show signs of
having been made much more than three days. We expect to send directions how to pre-
pare the brine to the creameries in the course of a week or two, and also small quantities
of the material to use, the latter at cost price. That will provide a means of keeping
the butter sweet even if cold storage be not reached immediately after it is made ; and
we will be able to send our creamery butter to the English market and get it before the
consumers there just as nice as though it were only two days' old from the crearnery
where it had been made.

By the Chairman:

Q. What is the element used ?-A. It is composed partly of salt. It is perfectly
harmless. I have taken the opinion of the best experts on that point and is as free
from objection as is common salt.
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PROSPECTS OF THE CHEESE TRADE FOR 1895.

I now come to make a few observations on the outlook of the cheese trade for 1895.
At the present time the outlook for cheese is gloomy in point of prices ; a good many of
the farmers and salesmen are getting rather disheartened and timid, and I think that
some of the English importers and, other buyers are making that a handle wherewith to
get our cheese at a lower price than they are entitled to have it. I have given some
careful examination to the market conditions and outlook this year as compared with
last year. I find that in 1894 we had very cheap meats, and meats are competing foods
with cheese in Great Britain. With cheap meats the likelihood is that people would eat
less cheese or only buy it when it was comparatively cheap. Then last year we had a
year of high prices for July cheese ; the prices were kept up by speculation, cheese being
held off the market when they should have gone forward into consumption. That was
an unfavourable condition. Last year there were miny strikes in Great Britain as you
will remember, amongst the cheese-consuming population, which was an unfavourable
condition, lessening as it did the purchasing power of our customers. Then there was
the largest make of cheese in Great Britain last year that has ever been known. With
all these unfavourable conditions the market took care of all our cheese last year at fair
prices with very little loss, and the losses were only suffered by those who bought on
speculation at high prices in the summer.

Seeing that the market with these unfavourable conditions took care of our cheese
last year at fairly satisfactory prices let me analyze the conditions this year. Up to the
end of March the cattle which were killed in the three large markets of the United States
were 270,000 short of the number the year before, that is three times more cattle than
the whole of the cattle shipped from Canada in 1894. That means high-priced meats,
and, therefore, a better outlook for cheese. Then there is a revival of trade all over
Great Britain. The cotton market is going up and the cotton factories are more active,
business is brisker and better. The shipbuilding trade is improving by reason, perhaps,
of the war between China and Japan which has contributed to the building of some large
ships. Then the coal trade is reported as being steadier, and those trades which give
employment to the cheese-consuming population are in a better condition now than they
were in 1894. Therefore our customers will be better able to buy our goods at higher
prices than last year. It will be allowed that between eight and nine cents are fair prices
for cheese mace in May and June. If the cheese go forward and into consumption at those
prices they can be retailed at sixpence per pound. That would mean a practically unlimited
increase in the rate of consumption of cheese, so that the market can take care of an en-
ormous quantity at that price. Last year instead of the cheese going forward at that
price they were held in cold storage here and some of the people were compelled to eat
something else because they would not buy cheese abovesixpence a pound. Another reason
is that we are having a constantly improving reputation, so that more people want Can-
adian cheese than before. Now adding all these things together, in my opinion the
market prospects now are a great deal stronger than they were at this time last year,
and I see no reason at all to look forward to a year of very low prices in the cheese
market. The main thing that needs to be corrected at the present time is that feeling
of timidity on the part of the farmers and on the part of buyers which makes them sup-
pose that the British markets cannot afford more than seven cents a pound for cheese.
This week cheese is selling at seven and seven and a half cents, and I see no reason why
we cannot send cheese to Great Britain to be retailed at sixpence per pound, leaving us
an advancing market for our cheese throughout the season. At ten cents per pound
here, our cheese will still be cheap food in Great Britain.

NUTRITIVE VALUE oF FOOD PRODUCTS.

I have put on a chart illustrations by lines of different lengths of the food value of
twenty-five cents' worth of several common foods. The black line represents calories,
indicating the force value or the fuel value of the food. A calorie is a unit designatiÈg
the amount of heat which would raise the temperature of a pound of water four degrees
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Fahrenheit. The number of calories which a man needs to sustain him at hard labour
is about 3,500 per day In twenty-five cents' worth of beef at fifteen cents per pound
the food value is equal to 1,620 calories. The food value of one dozen eggs at, fifteen
cents per dozen is 1,860 calories. The food value of five quarts of milk at five cents a
quart is 4,062 calories. The food value of twenty-five cents worth of cheese at fifteen
cents a pound is 3,455 calories, so that a pound of cheese is the equivalent of about 21
pounds of the best beef you can buy for food purposes. That is why the Englishman's
diet of bread and cheese gives him a well balanced ration at the very lowest cost. That
is the reason, you see, why although the cheese market may temporarily pay a low price
for it, a large output of cheese is a safe thing in coming years, because it is a cheap food
compared with other foods. Men who have to study economy in buying, buy the foods
which they like best and which at the same time contain the largest quantity of nu-
trients for the price paid for them.

TABLE LJ3

Nutritive Ingredients lbuiin- Carbo-hy- Fat
contained in twenty-five cents' worth. oids. drates. Calorie.

Lbs. Lbs. Lbs.
Beef, sirloin, 15 cents per lb............ . ............... .... ..... 27 1,620
Eggs, 15 cents per dozen............ .......... . ......... 34 ..... · 29 1,860
M ilk, 5 cents per quart........ ......... ................. 45 5 -50 4,062
Cheese, 15 cents per lb............. .................. . .47 03 -59 :3,455
Butter, 25 cents per l................................ .5 3,615
Skim milk, 3 cents per quart ......................... ...... ·72 1 00 . 07 3,495
Oatmeal, 3 cents per lb..... .............. ............... 1-22 5-70 '59 15,370
Beans, 5 cents per lb. ................................. 1-16 296 10 8,075
Cornmeal, 3 cents per lb.......................... . ....... -77 5 832 13,705
Wheat flour, 3 cents per lb .... ....... ............. . '.91 6 24 09 13,705
W heat bread, S cents per lb................................ 44 282 08 6,400
Potatoes, 1 cent per lb.... ..................... .......... -45 3 80 -2 8,000
Rice, 6 cents per lb .................................... '31 3 31 -02 6,795
Sugar, 5 cents per lb........ ............... ............ ...... 489 ..... 9,100
Standard ration per day for man at ioderate work .......... . -28 -90 .30 3,455

* For some of the information in Tables I and 11, I am indebted to Farmers' Bulletin No. 23, by W.
0. Atwater, Ph..D., issued by the United States Department of Agriculture, Washington, D.C.
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TABLE II.*

NUTRITIVE Ingredients contained in twenty-five cents' worth.

Albuminoids. Carbo-hydrates. Fats. Calories.

Beef, sirloin,

15 cents per lb.

Eggs,

15 cents per dozen.

Milk,

5 cents per quart.

Cheese,

15 cents per lb.

Butter,

25 cents per 11.

Skinm milk,

3 cents per quart.

Oatmeal,

3 cents per lb.

Beans,

5 cents per lb.

Cornmeal, - -

3 cents per lb.

Wheat flour, -

3 cents per 1b.

Wheat bread, " -

5 cents per lb.

Potatoes, -

1 cent per lb.

Rice,

6 cents per lb.

Sugar,

5 cents per lb.

Standard Ration per day for man
at moderate work.
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The nourishing constituents of food may be considered under two main heads:-
The albuminoids, sometimes called " protein," " proteids," or " nitrogenous compounis,"
are those which contain about sixteen per cent of nitrogen. They get the naine
albuminoids from a typical albuminoid, well-known to us as albumen, the main con-
stituent in the white of eggs. Albumen is also a constituent of milk. It composes the
thin film which is coagulated when milk is heated above scalding point. The albumin-
oids are the "flesh-formers " in foods; and, while they may be consumed to produce
heat in the body, their main function is to nourish and repair the muscles, nerves, skin,
and other parts of the body which contain nitrogen.

In contradistinction to the albuminoids are the " heat producers." These are the
carbo-hydrates and fats of foods. They are the starch, sugar and gums which are ob-
tained in vegetables, cereals, fruits, etc., and the fat which we obtain in the form of the
fat of meat, the butter-fat of milk, or the oils from grains and other plant sources.

The term "nutritive ratio " is the one used to denote the proportion of albuninoids
or flesh-formers in food to the sum of the other nutrients in the food. The heat-pro-
ducing or fuel value of fat in food is two-and-a-quarter times as great as that of carbo-
hydrates, such as starch and sugar, and also two-and-a-quarter times greater than
albuminoids.

That the " flesh-forming " and " heat-producing " parts of our food should
be in correct proportion to each other is important for the health and well-being of
the race. In the food of the well-nourished peoples of Europe the proportion is about
1 of the "flesh-forming" to 4 of the "heat-producing," or 1 to 6. In the diet of
Americans the ratio is usually from 1 to 6½, or from 1 to 8 or 9. In our experimental
work in the feeding of animals we find that it is never econornical to feed animals
which are being kept for profit through increase in weight or the production of
milk upon a ration which has a very wide nutritive ratio. In the fattening of swine

upon foods with a wide nutritive ratio, such as would exist in Indian corn, a very much
greater proportion of lard or fat to the lean ineat is produced in the animals thai when
similar animals are fed upon a diet containing a larger proportion of flei forîing
material, as in ground pease, oats, barley or wheat, with a little skhini milk. The vigour,
healthfulness, and apparent contentment of the animals, as well as their profit yieldmg
capacity, are in a large measure determined by the proportion which these two
classes of nutrients bear to each other, as well as to the palatability and digestibility of
the food which is consumed. I think that the same principle might correctly and bene-

ficially be applied for the guidance of people in purchasing and preparing food for tlem-

selves. We have been studying on the experimental farms the best methods for supply-
ing plant-food to plants, in order that they may give us the most desirable returns in

quality, size and appearance. We have been carrying on extensive experimnents upon
the methods of feeding domestie animals to discover what foods yield the best in-

crease in live weight, or through the giving of such products as milk. I think the De-

partment of Agriculture might carry the investigations a step furthter and provide for

an examination of the most economical and beneficial foods for nourishing the people
through these plants and animals which are grown and fed for that ultimate purpose.
It does not seem wise to stop this investigation at a point where they might, by being
continued, become capable of rendering the largest, widest and most lasting service to

the people. Information of this nature is what would help to make the nation stronger
in the physique and personality of its people, as well as richer in the realzations from

its resources. This is one reason why I believe in promoting the mnaking of good butter

and fine cheese. These have high values as foods, and can be easily used with other

portions of our diet to make well-balanced and nutritious meals at a low cost to the peo-
ple. If you look for a moment at the chart, you will observe that oatmeal and milk are

among the best balanced foods that can be obtained, particularly during the growing
period of life, and they bave the decided advantage of being cheap. I have observed

the diet of some of the people of Canada who cannot afford to buy extravagantly or
carelessly, and I find that I can buy for twenty-five cents considerably more nourishing
food than many of these poor people, who do not know anything about the nutritive

value of foods, buy for one dollar.
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If we can help the people to understand these things and the principles which
underlie them, and thus teach them how they can get more value for their money, we
shall make our country more prosperous and better worth living in.

Mr. O'BRIEN-I would like to ask the Dairy Comnissioner's opinion on the branding
of cheese.

The CHAIRMAN-I think it might be well for us to call Prof. Robertson again, when
he can enter into that subject much more fully than would be possible to-day.

Prof. ROBERTsoN-Without discussing the general question there is one observation
I may make. At Brockville the other day there seemed to be a feeling on the part of
the dairymen that they would like to be represented by a deputation before this
committee. I know also that the Honourable the Minister of Agriculture would gladly
receive a deputation of these gentlemen. If it be decided to invite them to Ottawa, I
think the Dairymen's Boards of Trade would be represented from Belleville, Kingston,
Brockville, Montreal, London, Ingersoll, Listowel and other places.

By Mr. Cochrane :

Q. Are they the makers or buyers of cheese ?-A. Nearly all of the members are
the salesmen who represent the factories, and in the membership are also the men who
buy cheese. I am given to understand that the Cheese and Butter Association of the
Montreal Board of Trade, which represents the buyers, also wishes to be represented.

Having examined the preceding transcript of my evidence, I find it correct.

JAS. W. ROBERTSON,
Dairy Comissioner.
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APPENDIX to evi%?nce ofJas. W. Roberton, Dairy Comnmissioner, bfie the Select Stand
ing Committee of the House of Commons on Agriculture and Culouization.

ON THE MAKING oF BUTTER.

A thimbleful of milk of average quality contains over ten millions of globules of
butter-fat. They are lighter than the liquid or serum of the milk, in which they float,
and when it is left at rest they rise to the top. Creain is only that part of the milk
into which the globules of fat are gathered in larger numbers than they are in the whole
milk. It has no constant or regular percentage of butter-fat. There may be only 8
pounds or there may be 75 pounds of butter-fat in 100 pounds of cream.

SEPAR&TING THE CREAM.

Two methods of separating the cream from milk are in common use ; one is known
as the natural or setting method, and the other as the mechanical or cerntrifugal inethod.

In the natural method, the force of gravitation attracts the heavier portion of the
milk, commonly known as skim milk, downwards in the vessel which coitains it, witli
the result that the globules of fat are pushed upwards towards the top. 'he seruin of
milk is the name given to the heavier portion consisting of w'ater, coitaining the casein,
albumen, sugar and ash, nearly wholly in solution in it. Sointirnes the serum becomes
viscous or sticky, and a small quantity of it adlh res to the surface of the globules of fat,
and like a coating of gum hinders their moveinent upwards.

A small quantity of lacto-fibrin occurs in niilk after it is drawn froni the cow, and
its delicate mesh is similar to the fibrin which forms in blood, causing it to clot after it
is drawn from an artery or vein. That also retards the separation of the globules of
fat into cream.

In the mechanical method, centrifugal force is applied to the milk in a metallic
bowl which is made to revolve very rapidly, in some machines at a rate of over 7,000
revolutions per minute. By the force thus applied, the serum of the milk is thrown
outwards against the resisting inside of the bowl, and the globules of fat are pushed in-
wards towards the centre. In the form of cream they are then conducted by a me-
chanical device into one vessel, while the serum, wliich is practically the skim milk, is
conducted into another vessel. The machine which is used for this purpose is called a
centrifugal cream separator.

The following paragraphs are based upon the information derived from tests con-
ducted at the experimental dairies, of which particulars are contained in the annual r-
ports of the Experimental Farms and Dairy Commissioner.

THE SETTING OF MILK.

1. All milk should be carefully strained immediately after the milking is con-
pleted.

2. When shallow pans are used, they should be placed in a room with a pure at-
mosphere, at a temperature as even as possible at between 50° and 60° Fahr.

3. When deep-setting pails are used, the water in the creamer or tank should be
kept below 45° Fahr. or as near 45° Fahr. as is practicable. It is advantageous to have
a supply of ice for use in the water.

4. When an abundant supply of cold water f rom a flowing spring is not available,
the cooling power of fresh cold water may be applied economically by conveying it in a
pipe to the bottom of the tank or creaner. and allowing the warmed water to run off



59 Victoria. Appendix (No. 3.) A. 1896

from the top. If the water be scarce, the overflow may be carried into a watering.
trough for the live stock of the farm.

5. It is advantageous to set the milk as soon as practicable after it is drawn from the
cows.

In a test with deep-setting pails, it was found that the quantity of butter fat not
recovered in the cream, and consequently left in the skim-milk, was 11 -48 per cent
greater when the setting of the milk in ice water was delayed one hour, than it was
set immediately after it was drawn.

6. There was not much difference in the percentage of butter-fat recovered into the
cream, due to the temperature at which the milk was set, when between 88° and 98°
Fahr. The loss of butter-fat unrecovered from the skim-milk was 2.53 per cent greater
when set at 78° than when set at 98° Fahr.

7. The milk should be left undisturbed for about 22 hours. The quantity of butter-
fat not recovered into the cream was 8 per cent greater when the milk was set for only
11 hours than when it was set for 22 hours, in deep-setting pails in ice-water.

8. With ordinary milk, there is no gain f rom adding water " to thin it " when it is
set. There was practically no différence in the percentages of butter-fat not recovered
into the cream when, (1) 25 per cent of water at 160° Fahr. added to the milk, (2) 25
per cent of water at 60° Fahr. added to the milk, and (3) no water added to the milk,
were the differences of treatment in the setting of milk, in deep-setting pails in ice
water.

CREAMING MILK FROM CoWS CALVED MORE THAN SIX MONTHS.

9. The milk from cows which have been milking more than six months does not
yield its cream so readily as the milk from cows more recently calved.

During the cold weather of autumn and winter, by the setting of milk (in deep-
setting pails, in cold water, at a temperature of 38° to 40° Fahr., for 22 hours) from
cows which had been milking for periods of from 6 to 12 months, about 33 per cent of
the total quantity of butter-fat in the milk was left in the skim-milk.

Where the milk of one fresh-calved cow was added to the milk of eight cows which
had been milking for periods exceeding 61 months each, and the milk set as stated
above, about 14 per cent of the total quantity of butter-fat in the milk was left in the
skim-milk.

When the milk of cows, which had been milking for periods of less than 6 months
each, was set as stated above, from 7 to 15 per cent of the total quantity of butter-fat
in the milk was leit in the skim-milk.

During the autumn and winter when the milk from cows which had been milking
for periods of more than 6 months each was set in shallow pans for 22 hours, from 5 to
15 per cent of the total quantity of butter-fat in the milk was left in the skim milk.

By the use of the centrifugal cream separator all the butter-fat in the milk, except
about 3 per cent of the total quantity, may be recovered into the cream, from the milk
of cows at all stages of lactation and during all seasons of the year.

SEPARATING CREAM BY THE CENTRIFUGAL METHOD.

10. The milk for the separator should be carefully strained and heated to a tem-
perature of 800 or 85° Fahr. If it be used at a lower temperature, the cream is apt to
become thick and clotted in the separator. Cold milk has a greater density than milk
at a higher temperature; the higher the temperature up to 85° Fahr., the greater the
efficiency of the separation of cream, all other conditions being equal.

11. Particular care should be exercised to prevent the use of any bitter milk. If
any appreciable quantity of bitter milk be mixed with the general supply, the result
will be a vield of butter which is likely to be more or less bitter in flavour. In very
bad cases, the butter may become quite oily. These are both serious defects.

12. Where the heating and cooling conveniences are rather limited, the milk- may
be sep-rated at a temperature of 800 Fahr. ; but in those cases, the inflow of milk should
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be lessened and be regulated according to the percentage of butter-fat which is discovered
to be left in the skim milk. That should not exceed one-tenth of one per cent. The
Babcock milk tester should be used every day to check the percentage of fat in the skim
milk and in the buttermilk. For the testing of the skim milk, the samuple should be
composed of small quantities taken frorm the outflow of the separator at different times.

13. The efficiency of the separation of the cream depends largely upon the skill and
management of the operator, although there are differences in the capacity and con-
struction of the different centrifugal machines. The thoroughness of the separation of
the fat into the cream depends mainly upon (1) the speed at which the separator is run
(2) the temperature of the milk, and (3) the quantity of milk run through per hour.
The operator should study carefully the instructions which are issued by the mainufact-
urer or agent of the separator which he uses. It is desirable that the separator be run
at its maximum speed, and that it be not exceeded. The separator should be set exact-
ly level, and it should be kept so. Where belt machines are used, the belts should not
be intensely tight; and in setting up the machines and calculating the speed between
tie engine and the separator bowl, from 3 to 5 per cent should be allowed for slippage
of belts.

14. When the quantity of cream to be separated can be regulated by a set-screw in
the bowl, it should be set to allow froin 14 to 16 per cent of the quantity of average
milk to flow through the cream outlet. A good rule is to take off creani which contains
from 20 to 25 per cent of butter-fat, or crean which contains about one pound of butter
to from 31½ to 5 pounds of cream. The set screw inside the machines should be loosened
occasiona!ly, to prevent it from becoming immovably set.

THE RIPENING OF THE CREAM.

15. The cream from the centrifugal separator should be cooled quickly after it ià
received f rom the machine.

16. The cream from the setting method should be kept cold and sweet until the
quantity intended for one churning has been gathered.

17. The temperature of the cream, when set to be ripened, may vary from 65 to
80 degrees Fahr. according to the season; the higher temuperature is used during the
late fall and winter.

18. The temperature at which the cream is set for ripening should be maintained
about six hours, during which time it may be stirred occasionally. After that, it
should be left undisturbed until ripe for churning. No close cover over the cream vat
need be used. A clean canvas cover is suflicient. Care should be taken to purify the
canvas or other cover frequently.

19. " Fermentation starter " is the designation applied to the portion of fermented
or sour milk, buttermilk or cream, which is added to the crean to ripen it for churning.
The ripening of the cream consists of the development of the ferment or ferments which
are added to it, or which get into it from the atmosphere, from contact with ves ýels or
utensils, or from other sources.

20. It is quite important that every butter-maker should have on hand a fermen-
tation starter of pure clean flavour, and of a uniform smooth consistency.

21. The following is the way in which a culture of lactie ferment was made at the
Central Experimental Farm dairy, from which " fermentation starters" were
prepared :-

A quantity of about two quarts of skim milk was heated to 205° Fahr. The tem-
perature was mainitained at that point for ten minutes after which, and while exposed to
the atmosphere of the butter-making room, it was cooled to 80' Fahr. It was left in a
closed glass-stoppered bottle at the ordinary temperature of the dairy-voom, from 60' to
70° Fahr. for five days. It was then found to be coagulated and to possess a mild pure
lactic-acid flavour, which became more distinct after it had been kept in cold water at a
t emperature of 40° Fahr. for three days. That was the culture. The flavour of it was
such as was characteristic of cream from which fine flavoured butter had always been
ohtained ; and "fermentation starters " for the ripening of cream were prepared
from it.
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22. A "fermentation starter" may be prepared from skim milk which is pure,
sweet and free from taint. It should be heated to 150° Fahr. and left at that tempera-
ture for ten minutes. It may then be cooled to a temperature of 80° Fahr., when a
portion of the culture, as described above, at the rate of ten per cent of the quantity of
the skim milk should be added to it. That becomes the " fermentation starter."

23. The "fermentation starter " should be left to ripen at a temperature not ex-
ceeding 80° Fahr. for 20 hours. When the flavour and odour are distinctly acid, it
should be placed in cold water at a temperature of 40° Fahr. in order to arrest a
further development of the ferment.

24. The bacteria cultures for the making of " fermentation starters " may now be
obtained also in the market from firms who deal in dairy supplies.

25. Where no undesirable flavour exists and no difficulty has been experienced in
churning, some buttermilk of pure, nice flavour may be used as a " fermentation starter "
for the cream. If at any time the flavour of the butter seems to deteriorate from that
method, a new "fermentation starter" should be secured, as described in paragraphs
21 and 22.

26. The "fermentation starter " may be added to the cream at the rate of from five
to ten per cent of the quantity of cream.

In any case where the cream has become somewhat tainted, if the taint be of fer-
mentation origin, a larger quantity than usual of the fermentation starter should be
added. This may in a great measure check the development of the taint and leave the
particular fermentation of the starter which is added to be the prevailing one in the
cream and butter.

27. If for any reason it is desired to churn the Cream while sweet, the churning
should be commenced at a temperature of five to eight degrees colder than for the
churning of sour cream. In all our examinations, the butter from sweet cream has
been rated from two to three points lower in valuable commercial flavour than butter
from a portion of the same cream which had been ripened or soured.

28. Although it is usually not desirable that turnips should be fed to milking cows,
when they are fed, the odour and flavour may be prevented from appearing in the butter.

In a trial which was made from the milk of cows which were being fed the exces-
sive quantity of 90 pounds of turnips per head per day, the odour and flavour of turnips
was not perceptible in the butter which was made after the following treatment was
given to the cream -

The cream was heated at 150° Fahr. and stirred at that temperature for ten minutes
while it was still sweet. It was afterwards cooled, ripened and churned in the usual
way. A portion of the cream from the milk of the same cows was ripened and churned
in the usual way without being heated above 68° Fahr.

The butter obtained from the cream which was not heated above 68° Fahr. had a
distinct odour and flavour of turnips ; while the butter obtained from the cream which
was heated to 150' Fahr. was excellent in odour, flavour and grain, and was without
any perceptible odour or flavour of turnips.

From the cream heated to 150° Fahr. before being ripened for churning, eight-
tenths of one pound less of milk was required to yield each pound of butter than from
the cream from a portion of the same milk which was not heated above 68° Fahr.

29. It has not been found advantageous to thin the cream by adding a quantity of
water to it before it is churned or before it is ripened. Quantities of water were added
to cream at the different rates of 10, 20, 25 and 30 per cent of water added ; and the
conclusions were that (1) the churning was slightly less efficient in the recovery of the
butter-fat, (2) the quantity of marketable butter obtained per 100 pounds of milk was
one ounce less, (3) the butter was not so firm or solid in the grain, and (4) the churning
period at an equal temperature was longer by from one minute to thirty minutes,
when water was added to the cream than when cream was churned without the addition
of water.

CHURNING.

30. The preferable degree of ripeness in the cream will be indicated by the following
points,-a mild, pleasant acid taste, a uniformly thick consistency, and a glossy appear-
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ance, somewhat like white oil paint. If not at the exact temperature desired for churu-
ing, it should be cooled or warmed to that point, which may range froi 54° to 58' Fahr.
according to the season. It should be strained into the churn and the churn should not
be filled to more than two-fifths of its capacity.

31. If butter colour is to be used, it should be added to the cream before the
churning is commenced.

32. The regular speed of a factory revolving churn should be about 65 revolutions
per minute; and when butter granules are formed in the churn, a few gallons of weak
brine (salt and water) should be added, to assist in the separation between the granules
of butter and the buttermilk, and also to give a firmer body to the butter.

33. The churning should then be continued until the granules of butter become a little
larger than clover seed. The buttermilk should then be drawn off and a quantity equal
to the buttermilk, of pure cold water, at a temperature of f rom 50' to 58° Fahr., accord-
ing to the season, should be put into the churn, for the purpose of washing out the
buttermilk from the butter granules. The churn should receive a few quick revolutions,
and the water should be drawn off immediately. Attention to this is of some import-
ance, as the water will contain more or less curdy matter, which, if allowed to settle on
the sides of the churn, forms a film there, where it is apt to adhere to the butter when
that settles gradually as the water is drawn off.

34. After the butter has been left to stand for some 20 minutes, it slhould be salted at
the rate of f rom one-quarter of an ounce of salt per pound of butter, to one ounce of salt
per pound of butter, according to the preferences of the market whicl is to be supplied.
The very finest quality of pure butter salt only should be used. That which is of a
uniform fineness of grain and velvety to the touch is suitable.

35. Care should be taken to prevent the salt frorm being exposed to an atnosphere
that may leave on it impurities causing foul odours and taints, as these may readily be
întroduced into the butter by that means.

THE WORKING OF THE BUTTER

36. After the butter is salted it should be left for 2 or 3 hours, to allow the salt to
dissolve. Then, by a second working, the excess of moisture may be expelled, the salt
thoroughly mixed, and any streakiness in colour corrected. Care must be taken that
the butter be not overworked and made greasy. This may resuit f rom the butter being
worked at a teinperature either too high or too low. Where practicable, it should be
worked at a temperature which leaves it in a waxy condition, causing it to bend about
one-half towards the under layer when it is being doubled on the butter worker. A
temperature of 50° Fahr. will usually put the butter in the best condition for being
worked. Sometimes injury results from a larger quantity being placed on the butter
worker than can be handled conveniently.

PREPARING PACKAGES AND PACK1NG THE BUTTER.

37. Where the butter packages are not tinned or paraffine lined, they should be filled
with strong bot brine and left to soak for a day. The brine may be used several times
if boiled each time. The insides of the packages should be lined with butter cloth or
parchment paper-preferably the latter. The package will thon be ready for filling.

38. In packing, the butter should be pressed against the side of the package, keeping
it slightly hollow in the centre of the package, tbe object being to pack the butter so
close to the side that no air spaces will be left between the butter and the package.
These are often seen when a tub or box of butter is "stripped." Care must also be
exercised in using the packer, not to move the butter more than is really necessary to
make it compact. When the package is filled, the surface should be smoothed with a
hardwood ladle or scraper, and then covered with fine butter cloth or strong parchment
paper.
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CLEANING THE UTENSILS.

39. In the washing of churns and all other vessels for milk or cream, they should first
be rinsed with cold or tepid water. The addition of washing soda, or a small quantity
of borax to the water, will increase its cleansing properties. They should then be washed
with warm water, and scalded with water " boiling hot." The use of a brush for the
cleansing of dairy utensils is much preferable to the use of a dishcloth.

40. All wooden utensils and vessels should be scalded, cooled and dipped into cold
water before they are used. Small wooden utensils should be kept floating or immersed
in cold water.

41. Where closed drains flow from a dairy or creamery, they should be flushed out
occasionally with a strong solution of concentrated lye, followed by hot water.

I certify this correct as an appendix to my evidence.

JAS. W. ROBERTSON,

Dairy Commssioner.
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COMMITTEE Room 46,
HOUSE OF CoMoNs,

Tuesday, May 21st, 1895.

The Committee on Agriculture and Colonization met this day at 10.30 a. m., Mr.
Sproule, Chairman, presiding.

Mr. JAMES FLETCHER, Entomologist of the Dominion Experimental Farms, was
present, and being called, addressed the committee as follows

Mr. Chairman and Gentlemen,-As the chairman lias stated, I expressed to
him a wish to have questions asked under the different headings I shall speak of, as they
come up, so that my evidence may be as miuch to the point as possible, because in
previous years it has very frequently happened that after the committee has risen,
members have said to me that they would have liked to have further information on
certain points, or have asked the question; " Why did you not speak upon such and such
a point 7" In the department that I have charge of, there are a great ma.ny different
subjects that come up for consideration and study, and it is, of course, important to find
out which subjects are of most interest to individual members of the coinmittee. Now,
any one subject nay be as important as another, but not of such importance to all as to the
one who is immediately concerned in it. For instance, the potato-rot disease is very
important in some parts of Canada, but in some others it is actually of little importance,
because it is not the serious pest that it frequently is over the greater part of Canada.
Therefore I am very glad to carry out the suggestion that lias been made by the chair-
man and Mr. MeMillan, and shall be much obliged to any inemnbers who will ask nie
questions.

It was late in the season, gentlemen, last year, when I had the honour of appear-
ing before the committee, and I, at that tinie, reported on mnany subjects wlieh had
come up for study in my department. Some of the sanie will coie up incidentally,
during the course of ny remarks this morning, which I shall try to make as concise and
short as possible, so as not to cover much ground. And I shall try to iake them sug-

gestive so as to bring out from members questions, that I nay be able, as I have
said, to give definite information with regard to those subjects which are of importance
to them in their work in their own districts.

SPRAYING INSECTICIDES, -STANDARD REMEDIES.

What I propose to speak of this morning, first, is spraying for the destruction of
insects. For the last ten years, entomologists have been trying to get fariers and fruit
growers all over the country to adopt the methods of spraying insecticides and fungicides
on plants to protect them against the attacks of injurious insects and fungous diseases.
This work was, naturally, rather up-hill work at first, because it was then thought to be
of a purely scientific nature, and it had to be first demonstrated that these methods
were useful, and then that they could be practically applied by farmers all over the
country without special information or special training in the inatter. After ten years'
study by good men, both in the United States and Canada, we have found there are
certain standard remedies which we can definitely recommend to obtain certain results;
and with these we find that the chief and most serious diseases of many of our crops
can now be kept within control by simple, easily applied and cheap remedies which are
now available for all, as a result of careful study ; and further than this, these remedies
are actually being applied by farmers alil over the country.

It is very fortunate that these remedies are so simple as they are ; and also that
the apparatus necessary for their application has now been so perfeeted that, at small
cost, any farmer of moderate means in all parts of the country, with the present
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facilities for transporting articles to and f rom different parts of the country, can now
obtain a cheap instrument by means of which he can save a very large proportion of his

income, which he formerly lost through the depredations of insect and fungous pets.
This operation of spraying can be practised advantageously against nearly all the

fungous and insect enemies of plants, but it was not found, till a recent date, that we
could get the farmers of Canada to adopt it as an ordinary agricultural method. Last
year, however, there was and during the present year there certainly will be much more

spraying done in all parts of Canada than has ever been done before. This increased
attention to the application of this useful remedy is largely due to some experiments
which were carried out by my colleague, Mr. Craig, under the Honourable the Minister's
orders, in Western Ontario last vear. These were of an extensive nature, and it was
shown that such good results attended this simple operation that, I think, at the present
time there are more people spraying in the Niagara fruit district than there have ever
been before in all parts of Canada together. It has been well known, of course, by
expermenters, that these methods were useful, as I have stated, but it proved rather
diflicult to induce people who were getting moderate crops every year to adopt a new
method.

SPRAYING WITH BORDEAUX MIXTURE

is certainly an unpleasant operation and involves a considerable amount of labour
besides some expense. This is the standard remedy for fungous diseases of crops and
the benefits are so very great that everybody should now use it, certainly during the
present year, owing to the disastrous frosts which have lately injured the crops in West-
ern Ontario particularly, and even here to some extent. Those that spray this year will
certainly reap a much greater reward than in ordinary years when there is a large crop;
because, certainly, the crops of some fruits will be reduced very much in quantity and
what is remaining on the trees will as certainly be more seriously attacked by the num-
ber of insects that were bred last year, and which now exist. The crop will be smaller
and the proportion of injured fruit will be larger ; consequently, the results from spray-
ing this year will probably be much greater and more apparent than in ordinary years,
when there is a usual crop. Therefore, I think there is no time so opportune as the
present to recommend fruit growers and farmers all over the country to spray.

The first sprayings for many of the fungous diseases should already have been done,
but even now a great deal of good can be effected by following out the methods which
are recommended. Recognizing the importance of this subject, we have prepared from
the Experimental Farit, a bulletin for fruit growers, written by Mr. Craig, our horticul-
turist, and myself, upon spraying ; and in this the best methods of spraying, the best
classes of apparatus, and the different crops, from which the greatest results of spraying
will be shown, have been treated of. In the bulletin we have also included what we
call a spraying calender. It is not an original idea: it was originated, I think, at the
Cornell University experimental station, but it is a very excellent one. I have some
copies here to submit for the inspection of the committee.
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You see it just takes two pages of an ordinary pamphlet and is a small sheet which
can be pinned up in a convenient place, as behind a door, for reference at all tiimes. We
have given the number of times to apply the chief insecticides and fungicidel, the length
of the intervals between the sprayings, and the substances which should be applied, so
that it may be said, I think, that on this small sheet you have information with regard
to nearly all the worst enemies that will attack your crops every year. This is included
in the bulletin mentioned, which, of course, is at the disposal of everybody who asks for
it. It is printed separately, in order that it may be sent to all that wish for it, and
that they may pin it up and have it easily accessible for reference. On it, you will find
the leading crops mentioned and the best treatment for them, such as apple, cherry,
grape, and various other crops, including also potatoes, beans and tomatoes, which have
fungous diseases requiring treatment.

The sprayings are done in the case of insects chiefly with two standard remedies.
1. Paris green, which is the most convenient of all the active poisons containing arsenic,
is, we may say, a standard remedy for all such insects as eat the leaves of plants, masti-
cating the substance. 2. Besides that, we have another remedy, kerosene emulsion,
which kills without being eaten, for such insects as, instead of eating the substance of
th& leaves, suck the juice out of them. As I have told the coirmittee before, there are
two large classes of insects which injure crops, one of which eats the substance, and the
other sucks out the juice. Both are equally injurious, but they require different treat-
ment. In the one case, an active poison placed on the surface of the leaves destroys
such insects as have jaws and eat the substance. For the other class of insects, those
which suck out the juice, kerosene emulsion, a mixture of coal oil and soapsuds, is the
remedy most recommended. This remedy is also useful for scale insects which are
causing enormous losses all through Canada, chiefly because they are not recognized by
those who suffer from them until the injury is done. Belonging to this class, is the now
celebrated San José Scale, which I brought to the notice of the comnittee last year. It
is very injurious in California, in the orange plantations there, and is probably one of
the most injurious insects known on the Pacific coast. There has been great fear ex-
pressed in different parts of Canada lest this insect should be introduced here and do
the same harm in the Dominion as it does in California. This is, I believe, extremely
unlikely. I make this statement from a study of its life history and its habitat, the
places where it occurs and breeds. It was introduced from California into British
Columbia, and was discovered there last year, but I think the measures that were taken
were successful in entirely wiping it out. Remedies were applied immediately on its
discovery, and I have not received any further report of its occurrence or reappearance.
There is a danger of its being introduced in nursery stock, but even if it were intro-
duced, I do not think it is likely to do as much harm in Canada as it has done in
California, or even in the eastern States of New Jersey and New York, where it was
also introduced. In a very careful study of introduced injurious insects, by the United
States entomologist, Mr. Howard, he shows that the extension of the Sari José Scale is
imited within a certain life zone, and there are no instances on record where this insect
lias penetrated to a more northern latitude and lias succeeded in perpetuating itself and
living. In instances where it was introduced in certain districts in Massachusetts it
lived for a certain time, but it was found the next winter that after a certain time it
entirely disappeared. I am speaking in some detail of the San José Scale, because at
the present time there is a great deal of alarm with regard to this insect in some parts
of Canada.

The two standard remedies for spraying fruit trees to protect them against the
attacks of the two large classes of insects are, for mandibulate or biting insects, Paris
green, and for the other class, sucking insects, kerosene emulsion (a mixture of coal oil
and soapsuds). These are efficacious for all the insects on which we have tried them,
though for some more than for others. We have tried to show farmers the best way in
which these remedies should be applied, and we have given them receipts for standard
remedies which may be used with small preliminary information and knowledge,
according to the nature of the attack and the insect causing it. I am glad to be able
to state that a law was passed last year which is likely to have a good effect on thi.s

3--4



59 Victoria. Appendix (No. 3.) A. 1896

very question of spraying, at least with reference to the use of Paris green. It is a
curious fact that if there is the slightest doubt about the efficacy of a given remedy,
most people will not apply it at all. There was undoubtedly some adulteration of
Paris green, though I have never been able to find that it affected its usefulness as a
remedy against insects of this class. It no doubt aftected its strength to a certain ex-
tent, but the quantity generally used was so far in excess of what was necessary that I
do not think it affected the general result. The effect of the adulteration was simply to
prevent some farmers f rom using it, but by the passing of this law by which it is
demanded that Paris green shall be sold pure and without any adulteration, a feeling of
confidence in the usefulness of this renedy will be produced, which will have a very
good effect throughout the country. The excuse that many made use of, that Paris
green was often adulterated, now no longer exists, and there is no excuse for people
who want to save their fruit and other crops from injurious insects, if they do not take
advantage of the remedy which has been proved to be of so much value.

There is just one other point to which I wish to draw the attention of the com-
mittee, that is, the necessity of having not only proper materials but also proper appar-
atus, so that the spraying can be done in the proper way. By the proper way I mean
the way by which the same amount of material can be placed upon the plants in such a
degree of dilution that it does not waste the mate-rial nor injure the plant, but yet strong
enough to be efficacious in destroying the injurious insects. As it happens, this useful
material, Paris green, is very cheap, but, at the same time, there is no necessity to waste
it. By using a proper nozzle and spraying pump, we can place a mixture of Paris green
and water which is injurious to all biting insects, on the crops we wish to protect, in a
very fine film indeed. Paris green is of a caustic nature and is liable to injure plants
if applied to the foliage too strong; but by using one of the perfected nozzles, of which there
are now many makes, we are able to put a very small quantity on the leaves and miti-
gate its virulence, so that it will destroy the insects without injuring the plant. If we
use too much, the plant itself will be injured, Nozzles for spraying have now been per-
fected so that we have many different kinds by which we can reduce the volume of
liquid applied to an absolute spray. This word " spray " is often very loosely used. It
is generally used for " drenching " which is a very different thing. Here is a nozzle
called the " Boss " nozzle, which can be used to do good work, but has also a capacity for
harm in that it is easy to use it so as to let out too much liquid, and the plant is
drenched instead of sprayed. It is sold by almost all the pump makers and can be made
to do good wo k if it is carefully used. On the other hand, we have another nozzle
made by Mr. Vermorel, in France, and which bears his name, with which it is almost
impossible to do bad work, inasmuch as the volume of the liquid with which you spray
is broken up into such a fine mist that it cannot do harm, except by careless use. If
the nozzle happens to be stopped up, there is an apparatus for clearing it called a dis-
gorger, by which the obstruction may be removed easily without even unscrewing the
nozzle or stopping the work.

By Mr. McNeill:

Q. What is the name of that nozzle ?-It is called the Vermorel nozzle. The
original of this nozzle was the "Cyclone" nozzle invented by Professor Riley and his
staff of the United States Division of Entomology, and the principle of it is that the
liquid is forced into a very small chamber in a tangential way so as to strike the other
side of the chamber. Then it is forced through a very small central orifice and this has
the effect of breaking the liquid up into a very fine spray. Too much importance can-
not be attached to the fact that the liquid must be broken up into as fine a spray as
possible. In that way we can use expensive materials if necessary, and a small quantity
can be made to go a long way and yet be quite efficacious. Owing to the study given
to this subject, it has been found that it is not necessary, for many pests, to use expen-
sive materials; but this nozzle was invented with the object of using as little as possible
of materials that were at that time expensive and were thought necessary. It is also
found useful for the other reason that it deposits a very small quantity of the poison on
the plant in such a manner as to destroy the insect without hurting the plant.
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Another very good nozzle which I have here-and I think these two nozzles are the
best for general purposes-is the " McGowan " nozzle. The Vermorel and McGowan
nozzles are excellent, probably the best that have been brought out. There are perhaps
others equally good, but these tw& can always be relied on. The difference in this nozzle
(exhibiting a sample) is that a small orifice is obtained by forcing the central brass dise
against the bottom plate so that it contracts the orifice through which the liquid is
distributed. It throws out the liquid in fan shape and has the same effect as the
Vermorel nozzle. If any member of the Committee would like to ask questions as to
this matter of spraying, I should be glad to answer them now.

By Mr. McMillan:

Q. Is the bulletin which you referred to, the one that was sent out lately ?-A. Yes.

By Mr. Cochrane:

Q. Have you some copies on hand ?-A. Yes, I have a few with me.

By the Chairman :

Q. Do you find any particular kind of pump more advantageous than another 7-
A. No, there is no particular one which I care to recommend. Competition in the
sale and manufacture of spraying pumps, owing to the great demand for them, has
brought it about that a very good article is now being manufactured, and pumps bave
been brought down to a reasonable price. It would hardly be wise to recommend any one,
but we have three or four made in Canada which answer all purposes. There are
three kinds of pumps. The first is the small hand pump which will answer for a garden
containing from fifteen to twenty trees. This can be got for about $5. For $10 or
$12, you can get a good strong force pump for putting in a barrel or tub which can be
drawn through the garden or orchard by a horse. Again there is a larger pump for
large orchards, costing from $25 to $30, in which the power is geared on to the axle of
the vehicle. I think probably these do not answer quite so well as the smaller pumps
which are regulated by hand power, because in stopping or turning these instruments
there is a good deal of waste. I think the middle size for general purposes is as useful
as anything we can get. We have had very good results from these at the Experi-
mental Farm.

By Mr. McGregor;

Q. When you speak of Paris green, do you mean the Bordeaux mixture 7-A. No,
but the Bordeaux mixture which is used specially for fungous diseases, such as the
black spot on the apple, may have Paris green mixed with it for treating at the same
time insect enemies. One of the most important discoveries that has been made is
that lime if mixed with Paris green neutralizes its injurious effects on foliage, so that in
all mixtures where Paris green is used it is advisable to add an equal weight of fresh or
quick-lime to the Paris green. This has the effect of neutralizing its caustic effects and
does not take away its toxic qualities. Bordeaux mixture, consisting of sulphate of
copper and lime, is now very generally used for potato rot, which I shall speak of
presently. It certainly has some insecticidal qualities but it is not strong enough alone
for many insects. It also has a preventive effect in some way we cannot understand.
Where Paris green is used on egg-plants for the potato bug, it is not strong enough to
prevent the beetles from eating the egg-plants, which curiously they are fonder of than
they are of the potato plant itself ; but Bordeaux mixture will keep them off. Through
its use we grew egg-plants last year where in previous years we had failed. However,
for insects which attack fruit trees, Bordeaux mixture is not strong enough to use as an
insecticide without Paris green; but the two can be mixed and used together.

Q. Our farmers were instructed to use four pounds of the sulphate of copper to a
barrel of water and four pounds of lime mixed with it for the second application 7-A.
What was that for ; for fruit trees ?
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Q. Yes.-A. That is Mr. Craig's recommendation. The results of my experiments
have been much more successful with six pounds of sulphate of copper and four pounds
of lime to the 45 gallons of water.

Q. And when is it to be applied ?-A. You can# put it on at any time when the
trees have foliage. The first application Mr. Craig advises to be done with sulphate of
copper alone before the leaves expand.

Q. Would you advise it at first ?--A. In spraying apple trees, if the bud moth is
noticed on the trees, Paris green can be put in the first spraying. That is an insect
which when it does occur is frequently very troublesome, but it does not occur regularly
every season. In fact, luckily, it can be described as rather intermittent in its occur-
rence, but when it is present, Paris green may be put in the first application the same
as in the following ones.

Q. Is there likely to be any danger for the bees ?-A. Yes, if the trees are in
flower. There is no danger while they are fruiting, but there is while they are in flower.
The bees visit the flowers of fruit trees for the nectar, and then there is a likelihood of
their being poisoned. This fact has been distinctly proved by Prof. Webster of Ohio.
He made a careful examination and analyses of bees that had been gathering nectar
from sprayed trees and had subsequently died. The result of his examination was that
he found in the bodies of the bees undoubted traces of arsenic derived from the Paris
green which they had imbibed with the nectar from the flowers.

By Mr. Semple :

Q. What quantity of Paris green would you apply to an acre of potatoes ?-A.
The quantity applied to an acre would depend altogether on the amount of the foliage
to be treated and this would vary in different soils and according to the width of the
rows apart. Now that lime is known to neutralize the caustic effects of Paris green the
standard application would be one pound of each in 200 gallons of water. That strength
can be applied safely on all foliage that we have as yet tried it on.

By fr. Snith (Ontario) :

Q. Will that mixture kill the potato bug ?'-A. Yes.

By Mr. Macdonald (P.E.I) :

Q. Do you refer to unslaked lime or slaked lime ?-A. I allude to fresh lime. If
slaked lime is used, it will require more. If it has been a long time slaked, it will
have no effect at all, as it will have changed into chalk.

By Mr. McGregor :

Q. Do you experience much trouble in the clogging of the spraying pump '-A.
Not if care is taken to strain the lime waste. The results obtained are so very marked
that the little extra trouble necessary in getting the lime thoroughly strained is small
compared with the trouble which otherwise we should have in the pump being stopped
up all the time. We therefore strain the lime carefully ; there is no trouble in doing
this through a sack. By a slight agitation of the liquid in the strainer we get all the
lime through that is necessary. In the amount of four pounds of lime to the six pounds
of copper sulphate to which I have alluded there is really an excess of lime over what is
required, and in making the Bordeaux mixture it is not necessary to bother with the
sediment which will not slake.

By Mr. Featherston:

Q. If you take the water out of the stream would it not be necessary to strain
that also '-A. Undoubtedly. As you have only a small orifice in the nozzle, so as to
obtain the finest possible spray to cover the surface of the foliage, the mixture to be
sprayed must be free from all rubbish, as leaves, chips, etc.
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By Mr. Pridham:

Q. Can you get those nozzles anywhere ?-A. Yes. The leading seedsmen in
Canada now keep them in stock, or they will get them for you in a very few days.

By the Chairman:

Q. Is there any pump which forces air to the bottom of the barrel and keeps
the mixture agitated all the time and of a uniform strength 7-A. Many pumps have
been devised in which there is a special apparatus called the " agitator," but in my
experience none of them gives perfect satisfaction. Although they succeed in keeping
the mixture âgitated to a certain extent, they cannot be relied on. The best is a
mechanical agitator which operates every time the handie of the punp is worked.
These agitators usually consist of an extra tube which forces air or water to the bottom
of the barre], but owing to the heavy nature of Paris green they only act where the
pipe discharges. The result is that the poison collects into edges of the barrels and it
is difficult to get it mixed. If you keep it stirred with a stick, it helps it somîewhat.
The motion of the cart as it goes along also shakes it to a certain extent, but after it
has been filled three or four times, it is best to empty out the barrel because a quantity
of Paris green has sunk to the bottom every time the barrel was filled, and if allowed to
accumulate, there is danger that it will burn your plants.

By Mr. Featherston :

Q. If you had a vessel sufficiently large could you not use the clear lime water
from the top without any danger to the trees ?-A. Only a small quantity of lime
actually dissolves in these mixtures ; the most part of it is in suspension in the saine
way as the Paris green. The lime water is not strong enough, but after stirring
up the lime wash you might dip from the top where the finer particles would be, for
the heavier ones would sink to the bottom quickly and would not then get into the
mixture, but under the circumstances it is best, I believe, always to strain the lime wash.

By Mr. McGregor :

Q. You have given us four pounds of lime to six pounds of copper sulphate. Now,
how much Paris green would you use to the barrel, and what is the easiest way to
apply it ?-A. About a quarter of a pound. The potato, however, which is much
treated with Paris green for the Colorado beetle will stand a good deal severer treat-
mient than other plants or trees. For instance, the peach tree is very sensitive indeed
to injury from Paris green. It was almost impossible to use Paris green of sufficient
strength to destroy insects on peach trees without injuring the foliage, until it was
found out that by the admixture of lime with the Paris green this injury could be
avoided. The easiest way to apply it to potatoes is with a spray pump. Although
Paris green is a very deadly poison, it must be remembered that it is slow acting. You
might put it on the foliage of potatoes one morning, and the next morning see very
little result. Apparently the plants are covered with the beetles; the second day, how-
ever, they will be very much reduced, and the next day they will be gone altogether.

By Mr. Featherston:

Q. The trouble would be if there were a rain in the meantime 7-A. Yes, if there
were a heavy rain it would wash off a quantity, certainly. The most extensive use we
have put these mixtures of Paris green to, are for the Codling Moth of the apple and the
Plum Curculio of the plum. If rain falls, the treatment should be repeated after a day
or two, but in good weather it would not require to be applied oftener than once a fort-
night.

Reverting to the subject of the potato rot and the treatment of the different
diseases of potatoes, it was thought advisable by the Director to have published for the
information of the farmers during the laist summer what we call an " Experimental
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Farm Note." I may explain that we have two classes of publications at the Experi-
mental Farm; those for immediate use at some crisis or time of urgent demand, which
we call, " Experimental Farm Notes." These are a smaller publication than the usual
bulletin, which is the other class of publications we issue. It was found necessary last
summer to get out one of these notes with regard to the potato blights. It referred
especially to the two blights of the potato which are most injurious. The first is the
Early blight, which strikes the potato about the first of July, but is not always injurious.
Three years ago this early blight was, however, very injurious; the next year it hardly
occured at all. The worst disease of the potato is that which occurs every year and is
known as the Potato Rot, or the Irish blight as it is sometimes called. This is the most
serious enemy which the potato crop has. The Bordeaux mixture, when applied to the
growing potato plant, has shown such remarkable results, that it was considered most
advisable to publish a bulletin urging that this remedy be applied for the potato rot
with instructions as to the most efficacious manner of treatment. The results reported
to me are of a most satisfactory nature. The history of the Potato Blight is simply this:
It passes through the winter in the potatoes which are used for seed the next spring,
and when these are sown for seed the disease may develop in a very virulent form. I
have a specimen here that shows the potato thoroughly rotten. A character of fungi is
this, that they may develop and keep on increasming enormously, or they may reach a
stage where the conditions of the weather may stop the development and then they have
the power of remaining dormant for a long season. I have here two specimens showing
these methods of development. This is a potato which shows only a slight discoloration
beneath the skin; while this other one is thoroughly rotten. In the field from which
this latter one was taken, a large quantity of the crop was so rotten that it was not
carted from the field at all. As a result, next year, infection will come from the crop
left rotting there. Then, I have here another one which was picked from a bushel of
seed potatoes represented as exceptionally good. On examining these potatoes casually,
there is no very great appearance, from the outside, of the existence of disease. It is
difficult often to discover disease by merely examining the outside of the potato; for
this reason, it is, I think, advantageous to use large potatoes for seed and cut them up
before sowing. In this way there will be a better opportunity of detecting the disease.
The favourite practice is to use moderately sized, but whole, tubers. In cutting up the
larger ones, you get two or three eyes and sufficient starch to make a good plant, and in
addition you see whether the potato is diseased or not. By spraying the foliage of the
potato plant from about the first of August, and afterwards at intervals of ten days or a
fortnight, that is with three or four sprayings at the most, the results are very satis-
factory. A good crop of tubers is secured, and the cost of the treatment is so small
that no one should hesitate about using it for the purpose of saving his crops. In my
experience, everyone who has tried it has found the results quite satisfactory. In Eng-
land and Ireland, however, the results have not been quite so good. There the conditions
of the climate are much more advantageous to the disease, and the results, although
satisfactory in the long run, are not so wonderful as they have been in this country.
The treatment of the potato crop in the Dominion has been so beneficial that everyone
ought to adopt it for his own sake and to get rid of the disease which at the present
time is destroying a large proportion of the potato crop of the country. In some districts
the rot was so bad last year, particularly in the Lower Provinces, that there was practi-
cally no crop at all. This should not be. There is no necessity for this very great loss,
and those who have tried the remedy carefully have got such good results that they say
they will never give it up again.

By Mfr. McGregor :

Q. Would the disease in the Lower Provinces result from the manures taken from
the sea shore -A. I think not. It is the same in other parts of Canada.

By Mr. Roome:

Q. Do you think the disease comes from planting seed that is diseased A. Un-
doubtedly. It is exactly the same as a disease like typhoid fever or any other fever.
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It comes from a definite germ. Conditions of wet soil and climate will permit it to
increase, but its origin is a germ of a definite nature, which passes the winter in the
tubers. I brought these potatoes with me to-day to show how essential it is that the
farmer should use sound potatoes when sowing his seed, and to illustrate some of the
forms the disease presents.

By Mr. Semple :

Q. I suppose the condition of the season has much to do with the condition of the
crop ?-A. Very much indeed. There may be indications of a serious infestation at the
time the rust stage appears on the foliage, and then the crop may be saved by favour-
able weather. The spores germinate and the parasite grows up through the tissues of
the potato, and about the first of August the new. crop of spores appears under the
leaves as a hardly-perceptible grey mould. The spores are given off and either carried
by the wind to adjoining plants or washed by the rain into the ground. If you get a
dry August, these will not be washed into the soil at ail. If they are carried into the
ground, the rot will follow. If they are blown to the foliage of adjacent plants, they
will produce the mere rust which is a summer form of the same disease. A field of
potatoes may be badly infested by the rust on the leaves, and yet you may possibly get
a tolerably good crop from it. Again, you may have sone of the foliage rusted, and,
wet weather following, the whole of the crop will be destroyed. J once saw a particular
instance of this where a fine crop of potatoes disappeared in three days. The tubers
were ail destroyed, because the spores were washed into the ground by heavy rains.
There was nothing left that could be earted away. Again, on the other hand, four years
ago, we had very wet weather late in the season and soine of our potatoes were actually
under water for about a week, anci yet we had very little potato rot. Now, it is prob-
able that these spores had more moisture than they required, and on that lower ground,
where we expected there would not be a single potato dug, we liad better results than
on the higher ground where there was not so much moisture.

By Mr. Featherston :

Q. Have you any experience with the turnip louse -A. Yes, it is one of the
aphides or plant lice. The only remedy is to treat it promptly when it first shows
itself. It appears when the turnips are large enough to be thinned out. They always
begin in small colonies, and these colonies can be treated by spraying with kerosene
emulsion, which is a mixture of coal oil and soapsuds, or the affected plants can be
pulled out. One year I saw a whole field entirely destroyed by these aphides. Sone four
or five years ago on the Experimental Farm we were troubled with thein, but we had the
affected spots attended to and they did not spread any further. Another field, how-
ever, close by, left untreated, was seriously injured.

By Mr. McGregor :

Q. How much coal oil do you use to the barrel ?-A. The mixture is made with an
emulsion of coal oil and soapsuds in this way: Half a pound of soap is cut up in fine
shavings so as to dissolve easily in boiling water. It is then put into a gallon of water
and boiled until it is thoroughly dissolved. Then you have a gallon of soapsuds. You
pour that into a barrel or tub containing twice the quantity of coal oil, two gallons.
This is then churned or beaten up thoroughly for five minutes with a whisk or syringe,
or, what is preferable, a spraying pump. You then have an emulsion which is like
cream. This may be mixed with ten times its quantity of water before use.

By Mr. Grieve :

'Q. Is not that the same as is made use of for horn fly ?-A. Yes.

By Mr. Cochrane :

Q. With reference to the use of that liquid for potato rot, what effect will it have
to treat the tuber itself ?-A. The Bordeaux mixture?
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Q. Yes.-A. None.

Q. Do you recommend treating seed before you sow it ?-A. You cannot treat it
before you sow it. The disease is in the inside of the potato not on the outside. Some
experiments have been conducted with a view of getting at it from the outside but it
could not be reached.

By Mr. McDonald (Assiniboia):

Q. Is there any remedy for the yellow worm which attacks the tuber ?-A. These
are the larv of the click beetles or wire worms, which penetrate the potatoes rendering
them unsightly and allowing decay to set in. The only remedy which can be used with
any success at all is that used in Nova Scotia, where this worm is sometimes very
injurious. The plan is when the potatoes are dug to carry them away at once. In that way
a very large number are taken into the carts and taken ofi the field. Of course it is a
very partial remedy, and though it can only destroy a small number comparatively, it bas
been found efficacious. A gentleman of Bridgetown, Nova Scotia, Mr. William Miller,
a verv successful farmer there, told me he had entirely cleared out his land from this
worm in this way. It neans simply for two men to work together, one to dig and another
to carry, so as to clear the rows as soon as they are dug. It seems a very simple and only a
partial remedy ; but, as I have stated, it has been found effective.

By Mr. Featherston :

Q. Are not these worms generally found in land that bas been in sod for a long
time ?-A. I think they are. Most of the insects that attack our crops are the insects
whicli in nature attack some other wild plant, and in sod you have several kinds of
grass and other plants as well, so that all the insects which attack these will be found
there in the land, after ploughing in sod, but at the sane time wire worms attack cer-
tain lands year after year. There is a Mr. Caldwell living within a few miles of Ottawa
who bas a field on which, he says, he can only grow barley, owing to the wire-worms,
but when lie grows barley or rye on it, that is not injured. I am trying experimnents to
see whether that crop is always exempt, and if it is exempt whether it cleans the land
of wire worms so as to allow it to be used after a time for other crops.

By Mr. Featherston :

Q. Is there any other remedy that can be used ?-A. Several have been tried with-
out good results. There was a careful series of experiments conducted at Cornell
University and it was decided that the only remedy which gave any degree of success
was ploughing the land late in the fall, so as to expose it to the winter frost and destroy the
insects after they had gone into winter quarters.

By ilfr. Mc Jfillan :

Q. What effect would it have to spread slaked lime over potatoes after they were
dug -- A. It would have the effect of drying the potatoes and preventing to a certain
extent the spread of the disease in the tubers, but it does not cure it because it bas at
that time penetrated the tissues, and although the wet-rot is checked the disease is still
there and shows as a discoloration just under the skin, as in these specimens on the
table.

Another disease which is very injurious to potatoes and is seldom taken notice of
is the Scab. This again is a definite disease which comes from infested seed, and,
although you may get apparently clean seed, if it has been kept in boxes or bags where
scabby potatoes have been it is probable it will have the germs of the disease upon
it. This fact has caused some confusion, as where it bas been thought that clean
potatoes had been sown and a scabby crop was reaped ; but " the Scab " is certainly a
definite disease and can be controlled. In our Spraying Calendar we have at the bottom
here, under the heading Potato--" Scab, rot and insects." Then for the scab the remedy
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recommended is two ounces of corrosive sublimate disolved in sixteen gallons of water.
This makes a solution which will destroy the spores, so that the disease may be prevented
if the seed potatoes are soaked in the mixture for a day and a half. It is not
a very strong solution ; but the material is a very powerful disinfectant. It
does not injure the seed at all and this requires to be soaked for a long time to destroy
the fungus and its spores. I made some experiments with plain sulphate of copper
solution and found that the eyes were apt to be injured, but there was a decided
advantage from this treatment also. But by the method I now recommend, the seed is
not injured and the disease is checked.

By Mr. Pridham :

Q. Some people are of opinion that a certain class of manure causes scab ?-A. The
term scab covers a whole class of diseases, in its general acceptation, but I have used it
today with reference to the disease shown on the specimens on the table, which is due
to a fungus known as cospora scabici.

Certain manures undoubtedly do produce roughness of the skin, but not so deep-
seated as shown in the one which I hold in my hand. Naturally it iakes a potato
unsightly, but it does not penetrate the body and does not occasion wliat iii aggravated
cases turn out to be deep pits in the tuber. I had soime potatoes sent to iie lately
which were full of deep pits in the body and which only showed on the outside a
very small hole. I have a sample here of one of the most serious forms ; it is an instance
of the " deep scab " and this could have been prevented by corrosive sublimnate treatmnent.

By Mr. McDonald (P.E.I.) :

Q. With us, the use of river mud or lime will produce the scab ?-A. Undoubtedly
lime has that effect.

By Mr. Roone:

Q. How does lime produce that ?-A. I do not think that that has been decided.
The matter has been very carefully investigated by the Rhode Island, Connecticut and
Massachusetts stations, and they find that lime undoubtedly produces surface scab.

By the Chairman :

Q. Would ashes produce it, if put on freely -- A. I think so, but do not know to
what extent. Ashes contain a great deal of lime. One ton of air slaked lime contains
twice as much lime as a ton of wood ashes.

By Mr. McGregor:

Q. I would ask you to tell us something about the clovers. low can we save red
clover ? It is going out with us ?-A. Do you mean to save the seed i

Q. No, to save the plant. In my part of the country some insect is troubling it ?
-A. It is probably the root borer. The root borer of the clover is an insect which has
not occurred widely in Canada, up to the present. In one of my previous reports I
have referred to it. You will see it mentioned on page 200 of the 1891 Experimental
Farm Report. The illustration which you see there is, of course, very much magnified.
The clover plant is attacked seriously by three insects. Probably the most serious is the
clover seed midge which destroys the seed, and which could be controlled in the clover
seed districts by cutting or feeding off the first crop before the 20th June. In that way
you remove the whole of the grubs of the first brood in the flowers, but if these are left
on the field they fall to the ground and produce the second brood which appears at the
same time as the flowers of the second;crop. If, then, you cut the first crop before the
20th June, the insects are carried away with it. They are then so small that they do
not affect the hay as food. Where this practice is followed the second crop is generally
clear of the midge. Then there is the Punctured Clover Weevil, which is much larger,
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but not nearly so injurious as the midge. It is sometimes injurious in some localities by
eating the leaves of the clover. It is a curious fact that this weevil is, in Canada, being
kept thoroughly in check by a fungous parasite peculiar to it. The weevil has never
occurred in Canada seriously two years running. The first year it occurs and seems to
have uninterrupted liberty. The second year, however, a fungous disease attacks it
before the weevil comes to maturity. Another pest is that to which I referred a few
minutes ago and which is treated of in my 1891 report, the Clover Root Borer. The
most useful 'remedy for that is to plough up the clover after the first cutting.

By Mr. McMillan :

Q. We have found it the best practice to put the cattle on in June and then take
them off. In that way the borer is tramped out.-A. Undoubtedly the cattle tramp-
ing the land would have that effect to a large extent, but the most good comes from the
larvae never being allowed to mature.

By the Chairman :

Q. Would it do to roll the land ?-A. That would not be very effective. Many of
the insects would be beneath the surface and it would be almost impossible to injure
them.

By Mr McGregor:

Q. What is the general opinion as to the best class of clover ?-A. They are al
good for different purposes. We find the perennial clover, or cow grass or mammoth
clover to be very good. It comes into bloom too late for the midge to affect it. The-
common red clover is considered a more valuable crop for most purposes, and it is that
with which Canada has kept up her reputation for producing the best clover seed.

By Mr. Featherston:

Q. In my county (Peel) something is attacking the Alsike clover and destroy-
ing the seed ?-A. The whole head ?

Q. Yes.-A. I think that is probably the clover weevil I spoke of.
Q. For the last two years they have grown Alsike for dyeing purposes and have

exported it for that ?-A. I did not know that it was grown extensively in Canada for
that purpose. There is one other plant, while I am on the subject of fodders, to which
I might allude. It has been written about a great deal, and we have received many
inquiries concerning its nature. For that reason I brought a sample with me to-day to,
show the committee. It is a member of the Dock or Knot weed family and is called
Sacaline. Remarkable advertisements have appeared in the seed catalogue and in the
newspapers as to the value of this plant as a fodder. These advertisements, I think,
are rather exaggerated. The plant has been particularly strongly recommended for the
North-west and for dry lands. I am not prepared to say that it will not suit there, but
I think the evidence is against it. The island of Saghalien, where it is indigenous, is
almost an arctic island lying to the north of Japan, and off the coast of Siberia. This
island has a particularly wet and cold climate, the mean temperature being only about
40 degrees. It has a large area, being equal tol Holland and Belgium combined. The
island is long and narrow and extends up the coast of the mainland. The climate being
wet and cool, it is unlikely that a plant native to that island and there growing along
rivers would do well in our North-west. I call atten}ion to this now, because I noticed
that the plants were badly nipped by the frost the other day at the Experimental Farm.
It has not been grown extensively as yet and it might be well for anyone wishing to.
experiment with this plant to try only a small quantity at first. If we could add to the
fodder plants of the North-west nothing would please me better, but from my observa-
tions so far, I have come to the conclusion that we have not found a valuable addition
in Sacaline.
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By Mr. Roome :

Q. Would it not be too stalky for food ?-A. No, I think not. It grows over ten
feet high, and has a succulent soft stem.

By Mr Bain (Wentworth) :

Q. Is it an annual?-A. No, a perennial. In low lying lands it extends very
much by the roots. In Germany, Switzerland and Russia it has been tried, and all the
reports are rather adverse to it.

Q. Is it like the Canada thistle; staying when it once gets here i-A. I suppose it
would be rather persistent.

By Mr Pridham:

Q. Is it for feeding or cutting ?-A. It is grown either for feeding green, or for
cutting for hay.

By Mr. McDonald (Assiniboia):

Q. Do animals like it ?-A. It is reported that animals will eat it when they are
short of other things. There are many waste lands and fields which mîight be utilized
for the growing of this plant if it proves to be of value. On a previous occasion I drew
the attention of the conmittee to the Awnless or Austrian Brome grass, which pro-
duces an enormous quantity of hay or green fodder of good quality. I recomniend it
to be grown in corners of fields and odd corners of land which it would not be possible
to utilize in other ways than pasture. I recommend it for some parts of the eastern
townships, where they have a grand climate for grasses but where the land is rather
hilly and rocky. This grass would therefore be specially useful there, or in similar
districts.

By Mr. Bain (Wentworth):

Q. Is it permanent ?-A. Yes, extremely so, and in land used for alternate hus-
bandry this will certainly be considered a defect.

By Mr. McGregor :

Q. What is your experience of alfalfa?-A. We have been very successful with
alfalfa. The frost the other day nipped some of our clovers, but I noticed that the
alfalfa was not so badly injured as some others. We must not, however, be misled by
this instance, as possibly the situation may have had something to do with1 its immunity
from frost.

By Mr. Featherston:

Q. It was likely not exposed like the others ?-A. Yes, the exposure is exactly the
same for all. I have two crops of alfalfa at the farm. They were sown five years ago
and give us yearly a splendid cutting of hay. Where this clover will grow at all it is
an extremely valuable variety. It has given us excellent results, and should be tried

by everybody.

By Mr. McGregor:

Q. Will you give us a good pasture mixture ?-A. The one that I mentioned last
year has shown up splendidly in our comparative tests. If any members of the com-
mittee will visit the farm shortly, I am sure they will be interested in looking at the
plots in which the mixtures for hay and pasture are grown. The mixture named has
certainly a fine appearance this spring. It consists of six pounds of timothy, four
pounds of meadow fescue, two pounds of orchard grass, and one of Kentucky blue
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grass. In wet land there may be added to that one pound of red top. Then to the
foregoing you require 2 pounds each of the four clovers, common red, white, alsike and
alfalfa, making 22 pounds of seed to the acre.

By Mr. Featherston:

Q. Is that considered a good pasture mixture ?-A. Yes. It gives a good crop of
hay for two or three years, and may then be used for pasture. Timothy is not consid-
ered a pasture grass, but the others are all excellent for that purpose. Alsike will last
for three or four years, but the common red clover will for the most part be gone by the
third year. This variety only lasts two years, but the mammoth red clover will last
about three years and sometimes four. In suitable soils the alsike will last longer than
four years.

WEEDS.

There is one other subject which I would like to speak upon, and that is weeds.
Judging from the amount of correspondence which reaches us, I imagine that the weed
question is one of the most burning questions for farmers in Canada. We probably had
between two and three hundred letters about weeds, last year. The writers send in
weeds to be named, and ask for treatment. Owing to the large number of inquiries, I
have orders from the Director to prepare a bulletin on weeds, as soon as possible. I
think the chief reason why farmers do not get rid of weeds is simply because they do not
try. They make up their minds that certain weeds cannot be got rid of, and con-
sequently they do not try, or do so in a half-hearted or even a wrong way. Others per-
haps do not recognize the importance and seriousness of getting rid of weeds. There is
a very curious instance of that in the Perennial Sow Thistle. That is probably to-day
one of the worst weeds we have in Canada, not even excepting the Russian thistle about
which so much excitement has been shown in Manitoba.

By Mr. McDowall :

Q. Is the sow thistle the Canada thistle ?-A. No. It is really not a thistle at all,
it is a soft milky weed with large yellow flower heads like those of the dandelion, borne
in a loose cluster of four or five together. It can easily be recognized, because when
barlev, wheat and oats are in the head the yellow flowers stand up about two inches above
the top of the grain. All through Quebec and the maritime provinces into Prince
Edward Island this weed has got thoroughly hold of the land. Farmers have not
thought much about it, although it is a terrible pest, as bad, indeed, as the Canada thistle,
and as hard to get rid of. It is, too, much more abundant now even than the Canada
thistle and is causing a great deal of loss. The leaves grow in a flat rosette over the ground
and preventing the grain under it from making its appearance. This weed will start in a
corner of a field, .and the first year makes only a single stem. Then several stems are thrown
out from the root, each of which formsat its end a close rosette of leaves which lie flat on the
ground. It spreads rapidly and if not checked will soon take possession of a field. In some
parts of Quebec the French farmers call it " creves-yeux " because it is so abundant that
they have to cover their eyes with a veil when threshing their grain; this being neces-
sary to keep out the down which comes from the seeds. If the nature of this weed is
studied it will be found at the time when it throws up its stem it can easily be pulled
up, and the rosette at the roots also. It holds to the ground very lightly, so that by
careful watching and prompt action much can be done to check its spread and eradicate
it. The Canada thistle is known as a bad pest, and quack grass as well, but unfortun-
ately some people have the idea that nothing can be done to get rid of them. Laws are
passed requiring that they shall be cut down, but unfortunately not in one parish in a
thousand are the proper steps taken to carry the law into effect. I question whether
there is any railway in the country which makes a systematic attempt to remove the
thistles growing alongside its tracks, although the law provides that they shall. The only
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way to get rid of these dangerous weeds is by calling public attention to them and
endeavoring to make known the best methods. Weeds can be removed from every farm
without much difficulty if the farmer will only recognize their nature. In my report for
1891, I included an article on weeds in which the following general principles were
stated.

Weeds may be divided into the following classes: annuals, biennials and perennials.
In eradicating weeds it is all-important to know under which of these heads they
come.

Annuals-Are those plants which complete their whole growth in a year. As a
rule, they have small fibrous roots and produce a large quantity of seed. Examnples of
this class are found in Wild Mustard, Penny Cress (called in Manitoba Stink-weed or
French-weed), Lamb's Quarters, Wild Buckwheat, Purslane, Ragweed. There are also
some annuals which are biennial in habit, that is, of which seeds ripened in the suimimer
produce a certain growth before winter sets in and then complete their developinent the
following spring. Of these may be mentioned Shepherd's Purse, Penny Cress, mentioned
above, and Chess.

Biennials-Are those plants which require two seasons to complete their growth,
the first being spent in collecting and storing up a supply of nourishment, which is used
the second season in producing flowers and seeds. Exaniples of these are Burdock,
Wild Parsnip, Mullein, Evening Primrose and Viper's Bugloss or Blue-weed.

Perennials-Are those plants which continue growing for several years. Perennial
weeds are propagated by various methods. The most troublesonie are those which
extend long shoots beneath the surface of the ground as Sheep's Sorrel, Canada Thistle,
Perennial Sow Thistle, Chicory and Couch Grass. Some perennials extend but slowly
from the root by means of short stems or offsets, but produce a large quantity of seed.
Of these, Ox-eye Daisy, Dandelion, Golden-rod and Perennial Groundsel are examples.

In adopting a method of extermination the nature of the plant to be eradicated
must first of all be taken into consideration. Any method by which the germination of
the seed in the soil is hastened and then the young plants are destroyed before they
produce fresh seed, will clean land infested by annual weeds. The seeds of some annuals
have very great vitality, and will continue appearing for several years as fresh seeds are
brought to the surface. Wild Mustard and Wild Oats have been known to germinate
after lying deep in the ground for twenty years. Biennials nust either be ploughed up
off or cut off previous to flowering. Where ploughing is impracticable they should be cut
below tbe crown of the root. For this purpose a large chisel in the end of a long handle
(to obviate the necessity of stooping) is as convenient a tool as can be used. Perennials
are by far the most troublesome of all weeds and require very thorough treatnient, and
in some instances the cultivation of special crops, to ensure their eradication. Imperfect
treatment, such as a single ploughing, frequently does more harm than good, by breaking
up the underground stems and stimulating growth.

There is no weed known which cannot be eradicated by constant attention, if only
the nature of its growth be understood. Farmers should be constantly on the alert to
prevent new weeds from becoming established on their farms. There are some general
rules which all should remember :-L. Weeds do great harm by robbing the soil of the
plant-food intended for the crop. 2. They crowd out and take the place of more useful
plants. 3. They cause great loss of time to eradicate, and frequently compel the farmer
to change the best rotation of his crops, and perhaps grow crops which are not the most
advantageous for his farm. 4. Weeds oj all kinds can be eradicated by constant atten-
tion along the following lines: (i.) Never allow them to seed; (ii.) Cultivate frequently
early in the season, so as to destroy seedlings while of weak growth; (iii.) For perennial
weeds, the only means of destroying them is to prevent them from forming leaves and
storing up nourishment in their roots.

The most difficult class of weeds to fight is, of course, the perennials. These require
constant attention. I am glad to know there are some farmers who do pay attention to
weeds and make efforts to clear their land of tbem. But I think it must be conceded,
that any person going through Canada with his eyes open will see that the proper
amount of attention is not paid to this question which there should be. You will find
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that one farmer has done his utmost to keep his farm clean and you will say he is a good
farmer because he has kept down the weeds, and this fact alone is the best evidence in
most people's opinion. Sometimes, however, a neighbour is careless about the matter,
and the one who takes a real interest in his farm and works hard, has his labour increased
simply because of the carelessness of the farmer whose property adjoins his. Weeds
certainly occasion great loss and they are one of the worst enemies farmers have to fight.
It is essential, therefore, that they should be imbued with the idea that with a little
labour they can be kept down and not think that the case is hopeless.

By Mr. MfcMillan :

Q. How would it do to hoe the sow thistle ?-A. Hoeing would certainly tend to
get rid of it, but the root runs deep under ground, and, if the earth is well boed and
care is taken, you will prevent the weed from breathing and feeding by destroying the
leaves, and hence it will die.

Q. I was on a farm this year where the farmer was seeding down on it with grain.
-A. It would be hard to hoe it down under those circumstances. Pulling up the
thistle would perhaps be the easier method.

By Mr McGregor:

Q. How would it do to summer fallow the land 2-A. That would do, but you
would lose the value of your land for the season.

By Mr. Macdowall:

Q. In the Prince Albert District we have been trying to get rid of the dandelion,
1t grows very rapidly there. In ten days it comes to maturity. Would the thistle
grow the same way ?-A. Ten days for the growth of the dandelion is very rapid.
You must have very rich land.

By Mr. McGregor:

Q. Some fields are very much troubled with mustard. Is there any way of getting
rid of it other than by pulling it ?-A. It is an annual, and pulling it is the only
remedy when it is among crops. Mustard and some other seeds have great tenacity of
life and can germinate for many years-the mustard certainly for twenty years. Every
time fresh seeds are brought up to the surface of the land and obtain the necessary heat
and air, they germinate. The only remedy, therefore, in land infested with mustard
is to pull it. Directly the crop is off, there are sure to be seeds near the surface of the
ground. These should be started by harrowing and the land may be harrowed at short
intervals, when many will germinate, and every one that is started is destroyed by the
next harrowing.

By -Mr. Mc.Donald (Assiniboia):

Q. How do you treat quack grass ?-A. The chief thing to remember about quack
grass is that it does not grow deep into the soil. It is therefore necessary to plough
lightly.

Q. Do you plough in the spring ?-A. Every time you can get at your land. When
we first went to the Experimental Farm we had quack grass growing there very thickly
in one field, and it took us three years to get rid of it. Every time we got a chance we
ploughed lightly or cultivated in order to bring the underground stems to the surface.
The land was kept in hoed crops for three years. Quack gives a heavy crop of hay for
a couple of years, but of course it cannot be recommended on any account as a crop to
be grown.
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By Mr. Featherston:

Q. Light ploughing in the fall is good.-A. Yes, I think the chief thing to reinember
about quack grass is that it does not grow deep into the soil.

I have here the celebrated Russian thistle which was introduced into Manitoba
from the Dakotas. It is a very pernicious weed, undoubtedly, but the Manitoba Gov-
ernment have taken such vigorous steps to have it eradicated that I am in hopes we
shall not have as much trouble with it in our country as they have had in the Dakotas.
This specimen is not thoroughly matured ; it has not the sharp thorns which older
plants show. One of its chief injuries is to horses. It is said to be quite impossible
for horses to work in fields infested with the Iussian thistle, as it pricks their legs,
when the wounds fester and become very painful.

Q. That is when the weed is at its matured growth ?-A. Yes, the spikes are then
hard and sharp. The matured plant grows in a round bush about four feet high and
four feet through. It is one of the tumble weeds which in autumn and winter are
blown everywhere by the wind.

By Mr. McNeill :

Q. With regard to the spraying of fruit trees for fungous diseases, is a strong solu-
tionjearly in the season of benefit 7-A. Our chief aim bas been to obtain remedies of.
a preventive nature. For instance, the principal disease of the apple is the black spot.
That pest rests on the twigs and boughs of the trees during the winter. If we spray
the trees early in the spring before the foliage makes its appearance there is great immu.
nity from this disease, but of course none of these remedies are absolute preventives.

Q. You can use a stronger solution in the winter than in the summer ?-A. Yes.
You can use one pound of sulphate of copper to twenty-five gallons of wateç. This salt
dissolves freely and is a powerful destroyer of fungous growths. You will find full par-
ticulars set forth in bulletin 23 to which I have referred and in the reports of Mr.
Craig, the horticulturist.

Having examined the preceding transcript of my evidence, I find it correct.

JAMES FLETCHER,
Entomologist and Botanist to the Dominion Exoerimental Farms.
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HOUSE OF COMMONS,
COMMITTEE RooM No. 46.

WEDNESDAY, May 29th, 1895.

The Select Standing Committee on Agriculture and Colonization met this day at
10 a.m., Mr. Sproule, Chairman, presiding.

Mr. A. G. GILBERT, manager of the poultry department at the Experimental Farm,
was in attendance by request, and, being called, addressed the committee as follows :-

Mr. Chairman and Gentlemen of the Committee,-First let me express the
pleasure that I have in meeting you again, and next let me ask your kind consideration
of some facts which I wish to lay before you in regard to the importance of the poultry
interests of the country. I wish to lay these facts before you because, last year, the
copies of my evidence before the Comnittee were eagerly sought for when published,
notwithstanding the fact that many thousands of our farm report containing my annual
report had been circulated and a special bulletin on " poultry and eggs " had been
gotten out by instructions of the Minister of Agriculture,-all going to show increased
interest in poultry matters. I, therefore, ask you to allow me to make certain state-
ments in regard to the poultry interests.

SPECIAL VALUE ATTACHED TO POULTRY RAISING.

I wish first to ask and answer the question " Why poultry should enlist the inter-
est of the farmer? " Two years ago I stated while making a similar statement that I
did not intend, in so doing, to depreciate any other department of agricultural work.
Nor do I wish to do so now, although I still think that poultry has peculiar claims on
the sympathy and interest of the farmers that no other branch of agriculture has. Take
for instance small fruits. It will be three years from time of investment before pro-
fitable returns can be had. You may say the same of a heifer. From time of birth it
will be three years before she will give milk in paying quantity. It will be seven or
ten years before an apple orchard will give profitable returns, and it will take half or
a whole generation for forest trees to mature. But with poultry, in three weeks from
time of setting the eggs you have chickens. In four or five months you have cockerels
ready for market and in six months you have pullets which will be laying eggs of greater
or lesser value according to a close or distant market.

There are other considerations which make poultry a profitable investment. Much
of their food may be composed of stuff that would be otherwise wasted or thrown away
and by this means it can be turned into manure and be made valuable. Besides it is an
occupation in which the farmer's wife or daughter may engage and leave the farmer to
apply himself to other departments. It may be pursued with the greatest profit in the
winter when the farmer has most time to spare. While it can be made with capital and
suitable buildings a special business, it can be a valuable adjunet to the ordinary farm,
at little cost.

Thenagainthere are certainkinds of farming which can only be successfully prosecuted
in certain parts of the country. For instance, it is true of fruit. Peaches, apples, plums,
&c., &c., can only be grown in certain sections where the climatic conditions are favour-
able. The same may be said of certain cereals. It is not so with poultry, which can be
cultivated with success everywhere. Lately we have heard that a great deal of damage
has been done to the fruit crop in many portions of the country by f rost, but I have yet
to learn that the chicken crop has been so affected anywhere. "Poultry are equally at
home,"-says a well-known writer on poultry matters-" in the palace or in the humble
abode of the cottager." You will see from these facts that poultry should certainly
enlist the sympathy and attention of the farmers.
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POULTRY RAISING AS AN ADJUNCT TO GENERAL FARMING.

Now, wvhy should poultry secure your warm support and interest? As practical
men representing many different sections of the countrv-indeed I nay say all sections
of the country-I ask your particular attention to the stateient that we have in Canada
630,000 farmers. I ask you if each one of these were to make only $50 per annun
profit out of his poultry (which lie can do with what is comparative waste), what an
enormous amount it would represent im the aggregate We have heard a great deal
about the agricultural wealth of France. The French farmer, we are told, farms a small
holding, as a rule, and may make little. but that little is profit and in the aggregate the
amount is an enormous one. So it would be with our farniers if they would direct their
attention to the poultry department and inake it pay, but if a little. As I said before,
I do not wish in any way to run down any other department of fari work, in advocating
My own.

The next consideration of importance for a fariner in relation to poultry keeping is
what price shall I get for my eggs ? I have lere sone letters that I got fron fariners to
whom I had written asking if they could supply me with new laid eggs during the -winter
of 1894-95. First I wrote to Mr. Duncan Paul, of Lachute, who is a well known farmer,
and I asked him what he would sell so mîany dozen eggs for in the winter, and lie wrote
me in reply:-

LAcrUrE, l9th Dec'mnber, 1894.

"Sir,-Your kind favour of the 17th to hand to-day. I am getting 40 cents per
dozen for strictly fresh eggs at present, and would not like to promise any to you except
on the condition that it would be a permanent business, for it would not do to drop mîy
custoners at this season unless I could do better."

B'y Mr. Girouard (Two Mountains) :

Q. What is the name of the gentleman who wrote you that letter ?-A. Mr. Dun-
can Paul, of Lachute. His residence is within two or three miles of Lachute.

I also wrote to Mr. Henry Lathe, of Lacolie, in the Eastern Townships, making the
same inquiry, and his reply is as follows :-

" LACOLLE, 24th Decemnber, 1894.

" Sir,-Your letter of the l7th instant received. We are getting at present an

average of five dozen eggs per day, but I would be very loath to change custoners. I
have shipped continually to Montreal for four years and get froni 15 cents per dozen,
the lowest summer price, to 45 cents per dozen in winter. I ship to one mai. It costs

me about 22 cents per 30 dozen crate. Since January, 1894, I have shipped 8,092
dozen eggs, and I expect ta send many more.

"HENRY LAKE."

He also answers incidentally another question as to the profit he mnakes out of a

hen, which subject I may mention later on.
I then wrote to a gentleman in Montebello, and lie wrote to say that he could give

me no eggs because he sent all his eggs to Montreal at 35 cents per dozen. I next wrote

to a gentleman in Montreal. This may be going from the country to the city, but I do

so to show you the extraordinary prices that are paid by dealers in a large city, for new

laid eggs in winter. The letter is from Mr. M. A. Sutherland, the Assistant Secretary
of the Montreal Poultry Association, and he says "I got 60 cents all winter for my
eggs, while people with stoves and hot-water pipes did not do so well." He did this, I
may remark, in passing, without artificial heat. Now, you see fromn what I have read

that large prices are to be had in certain localities for new laid eggs i winter. If there
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are any questions you would like to ask me, before I go on to another point, I shall be
very glad to answer them. I mention these facts to show the inducement for the farmer
to get eggs from his poultry in winter.

By the Chairman :

Q. Do those prices realized apply to eg2s for hatching ?-A. No. They were
sold for eating purposes. Mr. Duncan Paul and Mr. Henry Lathe sold to dealers in
Montreal, who afterwards made their profit by selling to customers; but Mr. Suther-
land sold directly to customers at 60 cents. I might say that we got 45 cents last
January from the Rideau Club in this city, for eggs from the Experimental Farm.

By Mr. Burnham :

Q. Did you write to anybody in the neighbourhood of Toronto, or anywhere else
in Ontario ?-A. Yes ; but I had also been in Ontario attending Farmers' Institute
meetings, and I found that in Toronto the price paid for choice eggs was from 30 to 35
cents a dozen. In some parts near London the price was only 20 cents per dozen ; but
I could not help contrasting the difference in the prices of 20 cents a dozen paid in some
places, and 60 cents a dozen obtained in others. J thought if it w ere possible to
get the eggs from the cheaper places to the high price districts, that we would be con-
feri ing a favour on the consumer and also on the farmer. At this point I may say that
I have been asked at several Farmers' Institute meetings, "What about over-pro-
duction ?" and I have always replied that so long as eggs are selling at 60 cents a
dozen at certain points it means that the rich only can buy them as a luxury, and
that when new laid eggs are put into the hands of the masses at those points in such
quantity that they can be bought at reasonable prices, then, and not till then will I
take into consideration the inatter of over-production. The sane may be said in regard
to over-production in butter; so long as the superior article is not found on the table of
the masses in the same quantity as the inferior article, so long is there no danger of
over-production.

By Mr. Roome:

Q. There is over-production now in the local market. Is it not so in eggs ?-A. Only
at certain seasons.

Q. Eggs to the extent of from one million to two millions of dollars a year have
been shipped out. There must have been over-production then in the local market ?-A.
The question of markets with your permission I would like to consider later on. J may,
however, say at this point that there is our winter home market, to supply which no great
attempt has been made.

PROFITS OF WINTER PRODUCTION oF EGGS.

By Mr. Grieve:

Q. What price is now given for eggs -- A. 18 cents for strictly fresh eggs.
Q. That is for table use ?-A. Yes; as I said, I did not intend to bring up the

subject just here, as I was going to refer to it under the head of the different markets
the farmers have for their eggs, and to deal with that phase of the subject you have
mentioned.

By Mr. Macdonald (Huron):

Q. How is it that Montreal people do not take their eggs from the west where
they can get fresh eggs at from 8 to 10 cents, and when they are selling in their own
city for 18 cents? There is something strange in that ?-A. I cannot say. I know
when I was in Cornwall attending an Institute meeting, last fall, several menibers
of the poultry association there, stated their intention during the coming winter of
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putting up new laid eggs in small packages and sending them to Montreal to sell at 40
cents a dozen. I don't know whether they carried that intention out or not, but what
I read to you from those farmers who made regular shipients, will show you the prices
they have been getting. I have always thought there vas a great discrepancy in the
prices paid at different points. It amounts to this, that in the portions of the country
where the winter is mild, prices are low as compared with the prices paid in those
sections where severe winter weather prevails.

Next, how can the farmer secure the eggs at a time when they are highest in price 1
Is it not true that the farmer as a rule does not get eggs in winter, and consequenitly
the high prices that I have mentioned, prevail. New laid eggs in winter are a scarcity
and not a matter of every day supply. In this city not long ago we could not buy new
laid eggs at all or very seldom, and we paid from 45 to 50 cents per dozen. Before I
went to the Experimental Farm to occupy my present position, I sold many dozens of
new laid eggs at from 45 to 50 cents, and I have been paid as iuci as 60 cents a dozen.
It was entirely owing to the fact that the farmners in the neighbourhood did not bring
in eggs, that such high prices prevailed. They are doing better now, and last wiinter I
was told there was a fair supply of new laid eggs, for whiclh the farmers got a higher, or,
a lower price, according to their efforts to obtain customners. If the fariner brought bis
eggs to the market, without any trouble to get a custoner, of course the huckster or the
dealer to whom he sold them would push biim down to the lowest possible price. If,
however, the farmer took the trouble to look out for good customers, with the choice
article, he would get the high price. Wherever I have addressed farmers I have im-
pressed that fact upon them. They should try if possible to do without niddleinen in
the matter of winter eggs, and when they do sell to them make then give a good price.
It is certainly to the middleman's interest to push the farmer down to the lowest pos-
sible figure. If the farmers would only take a little trouble to secure good customers
they would get better prices for choice eggs. I have got, in several cases good custo-
mers, in this city, for farmers in the surrounding country.

By fr. Grieve :

Q. Would it not follow, if the production of eggs in the winter season were any-
thing like half as great as in the summer season, that the price of eggs would be materi-
ally affected ?-A. Certainly it would, but would it not also be a benefit to the masses if
we could bring down the price of eggs in winter? Sixty cents a dozeîî inake eggs
almost prohibitory to the people. There is plenty of profit in eggs at 25 or 30 cents a dozen.
Two years ago I submitted a calculation to the committee to the following effect: Sup-
pose we had froin a hen a hundred eggs at a cent each, that would be a dollar. Sup-
pose that the hen raised ten chickens worth 10 cents each, that would be another dollar.
The body of the hen would be worth 25 cents to sell or to eat : that would be $2.25.
The manure or excreta might be allowed to go for the time occupied in looking after the
hen, and it is valuable if properly taken care of. You thus have two dollars and twenty-
five cents. The cost of feeding the hen would be no more than a dollar, so that you have
a margin of a dollar and twenty-live cents of profit as to te cost of the hen per annum. Mr.
Henry Lathe, of Lacolle, a practical farmer, says : " In reply to your question ' what is
the cost per head per year ?' I would say after repeated tests I am fully satisfied that 95
cents is the maximum cost of the keep of a hen for a year, and if there are waste vege-
tables and other waste stuff given you could possibly reduce this price to 75 or 80 cents
per annum." That is ho.r a fariner calculates. I put down a dollar per annum cost
of the hen as being very fair, so that we may say the fariner has a margin of $1.25. I
do not give these figures as my own for I have repeatedly asked the question as to cost
per annum wherever I have been, even in localities where the eggs have been selling at
a very high price ; and it must be remembered that I am taking the statement of fariners,
not of specialists, who go into the business as an enterprise, and have special buildings
and make special arrangements for the production of eggs.

By Mfr. McGregor:

Q. To get this $1.25 you must have winter eggs for the market. You must not do
as the fariner does now ?-A. No. Not as he is doing now. At present the farmer
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allows his hens to remain non-productive in the winter, to produce eggs when they are
at the cheapest price. Everybody's hens are laying in the spring and that is the timle
when the farmers' hens begin to lay.

By Mr. Macdonald(Huron);

Q. [n your calculation, how many eggs do you reckon a hen will lay in a year ?-
A. 100 per year.

Q. Besides raising a number of chickens ?-A. Besides raising a number of
chickens.

Q. At what price per dozen ?-A. 12 cents a dozen.
Q. Not for summer eggs?-A. At that figure the price is distributed over the

entire year. At certain times in the year eggs are much higher in price than at others.

EXPERIMENTAL WORK IN TREATMENT OF HENS-RESULTS OBTAINED.

By Mr. Burntamn:

Q. Would there require to be special treatment for the hens, including special
heating or other arrangements ?-A. It ought to include acconmodatiun such as a
farmer can give his hens.

Q. Would it not include better accommodation to give better production 9-A.
Certainly it ought, but the fariner would have to calculate as to the accommodation for
his poultry as lie would for his cattle. I have a new and improved plan for a cheap
pouhry house with a southerly aspect, that can be attached to a barn.

By Afr. Macdonald (Huron) :

Q. What has been your own experience at the Experimental Farn. You keep a
number of hens and they produce eggs which have been sold. What is your opinion as
to the profit ?-A. The profit depends upon the season in which the eggs are produced,
but I should say his poultry ougbt to net $1 a year profit per head to the farmer,

Q. What do you make at the Experimental Faris ?-A. It is bard for us to get at
the exact figure, because we have to carry on so many different experiments. Then
again, I have to keep over so nany old liens for sitters, and so many male birds to sell
to the farners where they want them for breeding. My position is not exactly the same
as a farner's would be. Again, I have to carry on many experiments, all affecting my
wQrk, that a farmer would not have to do. Sometimes my failures are as valuable to me
as my successes. From the experience which I have had, I have procured facts about
the treatment of hens and hen habits which are most valuable. I have a number of
fowls in close confinement, and by observing them closely I find out much about them
that no one can ascertain unless he is similarly situated. For instance, I have valuable
data in regard to the vices of poultry. I have found that such breeds as Andalusians
and Black Minorcas or other high strung birds of similar nervous temperament require
to be kept actively employed all the winter day, for when idle they are predisposed to
pick feathers and eat eggs. It is not so much so with the more phlegmatic Brahmas,
Cochins or Langshans. All laying stock requires to be kept active.

That is the sort of experimental work that I have been doing. In the spring time
when we are selling eggs at $1 per setting of 13, I have frequently gathered up six
dozen eggs a day, and there is always a greater demand for them than I am able to
supply. That is $6 for the day, but that would not be a fair price to put down for all
eggs obtained, or for all the year round, because at the same time I may be only get-
ting 15 cents a dozen for soine of the eggs for eating purposes. The high price for eggs,
for hatching purposes, only prevails for about 3 months, then I come down to the
ordinary position of affairs and go on with my experimental work. It is hardly fair to
compare my position at an experimental farn, with fourteen breeds in limited quarters,
with the comfortable and happy position which the farmer has with only one breed and
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unlimited range for that breed. He is particularly well situated as regards the
obtaining a constant supply of eggs in summnier. The keeping of liens in suinmier does
not cost the fariner a great deal.

Q. Would it not be a good thing to try soie such experiment as this at the experi-
mental farm : Take, say 100 hens on the farim, keep theii in the s-me condition as
the average farmer, without mixing theni up with the experimental work, and see wliat
the result would be ?-A. That suggestion was niade to nie sone tiime ao. The ditli-
culty that struck us was in getting the cost of the production of the gra:n. The waste
of the farm is what should be given to the poultry. I get ail the waste of the experi-
mental farm which it is possible to obtain, and use it in ny departmlîent.

By fr. Mfc 3ilan :

Q. The experiment suggested would be a very iiiportint one for the farners. I
think you could get a flock of liens and experiiient wit h i liem iiiider the sanie con-
ditions as the ordinary fariner?-A. That experiiment could cerit ainly be carried out,
but it would be necessary to go over the year's work to give you the average of cost.

By Mr. Cochrane:

Q. You could keep those liens as the fariner does. You have the waste grain antid
the waste of the farmn and you could utilize this undr practically tlie saie coditions
as the fariner ?-A I will give the Conuniittee the feed for one day in winter, in order
to give an idea of how we feed. Iii the nonth of Januarv we fed to our hes, 2 11.s. of
wheat for one morning ration. Next day for the same ration we fed, instead of the
wheat, 18 lbs. of eut green bone.

By Mfr. Grieve:

Q. Do you feed the grain in the raw state A. Yes.

By Mr. McGregor:

Q. And the eut green bone the sanie wav ?-A. Yes. On the thirdti mîiorning I
would vary by giving a warm mash and feeding the cut green bone iii ti afterioon with
a little grain afterwards. The object is to so feed tie grain as to keep the hens busy
scratching for it in the litter on the floor. It is very essential to success that the

farmers realize the importance of keeping the hiens busy duing thie day. Tlere< are
three factors in winter laying eut green bone, plenîty of exercise, and greeri food.
When we lessen the supp]y of one ration we increase thîat of soime otlier.

By Mr. Roome :

Q. Why not feed the grain and the eut green bone regularly every day ?-A. We

get better results by varying the rations.
Q. Why ?-A. Because the variety we find to be better for the health of thie poul-

try, as well as giving better results.
Q. Why not give the food regularly every day A. It rmîay be clieaper in somte

cases to feed another grain than wheat.
Q. If seems to me that you could well feed theni regularly every day, so muehi

bone, so much wheat, and so much soft food ?-A. I think it is essential that the food

should be varied, and that fact should be inpressed on the fariner.
Q. But the farmer cannot vary the food very easily ?-A. I urge on the farier to

feed his hens with what he has in the greatest abundance, at the sane time affording
variety. Sometimes he may find wheat the cheapest feed, at another time some other

grain.

By Mr. Cochrane:

Q. Reverting to winter treatment of hens, what other essentials are there than

those you have named ?-A. Allow me to answer the question in this way. In the
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winter treatment of laying hens, you have to feed with material to make the shell, as
well as the egg. You require to feed so as to snpply phosphate of lime for the shell as
well as albumen and phosphoric acid for the egg. Cut green bone supply al[ these and
is considered the cheapest and most perfect food known.

Q. You would not consider it necessary if the hens were running around as
farmers' liens are ?-A. No, I am not talking of summer treatment, but of feeding hens
for eggs in winter when prices are high. In the summer when they are running about
and hunting for themselves, they require to be given very little food.

By Mr. Macdonald (Huron) :

Q. Your object for feeding the eut green bone is also to supply the shell?--A. Yes.
Q. Would not ordinary lime answer the purpose ?-A. Yes, in the form of old

mortar, but we have never found anything more satisfactory than the cut green bone as
a means of supplying the lime necessary to make the eggshell.

Q. Of course all farmers would not have an opportunity of getting it ?-A. Well,
they will have to supply material to make the eggshell in some other way. It is as
necessary in the case of the hen to furnish egg-shell making material, as it is necessary
to give the food required to make milk in the case of the cow.

Q. Would it not be more feasible to give the food that is at the disposal of the
farmers generally, then your results would be of more practical use to the farmers ?-A.
Certainly, if they have not cut bone at hand they can use the best egg-shell making
material they have.

By Mr. McNeill:

Q. Do I understand you to say that lime in other forms does not giv:e so satisfactory
results as cut bone ?-A. That is so. We also give oyster shells with the double object
of supplying grit and lime.

Q. And the shells are broken up ?-A. Yes.
Q. What is the cost of a machine to cut up green bones ?-A. For cutting bones,

from $10 to $15.

By Mr. Sanborn:

Q. I have found broken crockery a good thing. They will eat any quantity of it?
-A. I intended to touch on the necessity of grit, in speaking of the treatment of the
hen in winter. There is no doubt that broken crockery is very good, and there are
many other things of advantage.

TREATMENT OF FOWLS TO REALIZE PROFITS.

With your kind permission, I will now passon to speak of the proper treatment of the
hen, in order to obtain from her the largest number of eggs. Let me say here that if
the farmer will only take proper care of his fowls in winter and, in so doing, use the
waste of his farm, also using discretion and judgment in the treatment of his layers,
there is no reason why he should not make poultry keeping exceedingly profitable.
There are many farmers 1 have recently met wlo said they got eggs from their hens in
winter who never got them before, and they admit that it has been in consequence of
their following out the instructions in the poultry reports sent out from the Central
Experimental Farm. The proper keeping of poultry is a subject on which very little
information has been given to the farmer in past years, and he is just beginning to take
advantage of the knowledge given to him. Up to recent years what the farmer has
known about poultry, you may say, has been a sort of traditional knowledge, but lately
progress has been made in poultry keeping, as in every other branch of agriculture, and
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to-day it is becoming one of the most important branches of farm work, because the
farmer is beginning to see that what has hitherto been a non-productive agent in winter
may be made, by proper management, a valuable revenue producer. Formerly the cow
was unproductive in winter, but now, under judicious management and treatnent, she
has been made the means of bringing millions of dollars to the farmers. I want the farmer
to do the same with his poultry. I know, fron my own experience and from what
farmers have told me, that there is n'i branch of farming in whiclh there is greater
profit, but it takes care and it takes trouble and energy to get it. No man can niake
dairy farming suce -ssful without effort and without the expenditure of mîoney. i heard
Mr. Fletcher say the other day that it costs $10, $15 and $20 for punps to spray fruit
trees. You have difficulties to contend with in poultry raising, but there is less expense
necessary. I may say that less expense is necessary to get a revenue from poultry than
from any other department of agriculture. I do not want the farmer to turn all his
farm into a poultry yard. I do not want himu to go to the expense of putting up special
or extravagant buildings, or to lay out much capital. All I say to himu is, " Utilize the
non-productive fowls you have about your barnyards, inistead of keeping then in a lalf-
frozen and non-revenue-producing condition during the winter."

The cow has certainly been the means of bringing nany millions of dollars into the
hands of the farmers, and, while we appreciate that fact, let me say that few persons
realize the enormous value of the poultry interests of our own and other countries. In
the Anerican Agriculturist (published in New York) of the I Zithî Decemnber of last year
the statement is editorially made, that " Great as is the value of the dairy interests of
the Eastern States, it is exceeded by that of the poiltry interests."

There is another thing in connection with poultry keeping that our fariers do not
understand. They do not understand the kind of poultry to keep that is good for both egg-
production and market. Our farmers might just as well keep the breeds which lay eggs
making seven to a pound, as those which lay small eggs. Fariers require to be educated
on this point as they do on points relating to dairy farning. At a recent institute
meeting a farmer said to me, " We do not know nuch about the proper way to keep
hens." While attending a meeting at Carp, a neighbouring village, last winter, I was
told that a farmer's wife in the neighbourhoocl had inade $230 by her poultry during
the previous year. After a meeting at Clayton-a village in North Lanark-a fariner
told me that he had followed the instructions given in ny reports and had got eggs al]
along in the winter, a thing lie never did before. He made money out of bis hens by
reading up how to manage them. Our farmers only need to be educated in the proper
management of their poultry to make a profit out of thein, and that profit would be so
much more wealth to the country at large. If they will only make the effort they will
make the profit.

By Mr. Cochrane:

Q. What kind of hens would you recommend to produce the best results?-A. I

would recommend to the farmer if he wanted a good fowl for general purposes to keep
the White Plymouth Rock, the Wyandotte, Langshans, the Branahs or one of the

Javas. I would take the Langshans and the Bramals in the order named, but we have

no fowl to give better results than the Plymouth Rock, as a general al] round farmer's

fowl.

CROSS BREEDING.

By 3fr Roome:

Q. Do you try crossing breeds?-A. Yes, that is part of our experimental work.

I have crossed the Plymouth Rock with the Dorking with most satisfactory results. In

crossing you need to have some definite aim in view. I crossed the Plymouth Rock

with the Dorking for the reason that the Dorking is full of flesh in the breast and

small of bone, and the Plymouth Rock is heavy in flesh in the thighs and legs, but
rather lacking in breast development. By crossing the two breeds I got a cockerel last
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year that put on a pound and a quarter per month. I do not say the chicken did that
in the first month, because in the first month the growth is not so great as it will be in
the second, but at the end of four months we had a cockerel showing a development of a
pound and a quarter a nionth, which I thought most satisfactory. Now, just think for a
moment what a source of profit it would be to the farmers if they were to do the same, and
they can do it if they try. I arn not asking anything more from them than energy
and intelligence. If farmers would only bring chickens of that weight into the market
they would surely get better prices and it would certainly be better for the consumer.
As a result of the work of the Experimental Farm it has been noticed that there is
a better class of poultry brought into Ottawa. The result of the farmers giving more
attention to their poultry.

By Mr. Bain:

Q. Have you tried a second cross of that sort ?-A. No, the first cross generally
turns out more satisfactory than the second.

Q. You are not trying to establish a new strain?--A. No. I was just trying for a
heavy market chicken and one to mature early.

Q. I thought perhaps you were after a new strain which will combine the best of
the qualities of both breeds ?-A. Very often when you get a market fowl you do not
get a good layer. It is hard to get both laying and market qualities combined. It
does not follow that by crossing a good layer, but a poor market fowl, with the reverse
that you will get the good qualities of both. Very often you lose in one direction what
you gain in another. I thought it best to cross to get the market fowl without aiming
at establishing a new strain.

Q. Then you are only recommending the cross for chickens ?-A. That is all.
Q. 1 suppose you find their laying qualities deteriorate very often under those cir-

cumstances ?-A. Very often deteriorate.

By Mr. MecNeill:

Q. Was the cross with the Plymouth Rock cock with the Dorking hens or the other
wav ?--A. It was a Plvmouth Rack cock with Dorking hens.

Q. Did you try the other cross ?-A. No. In crossing the Plymouth Rock
male with the Leghorn hen we got as good a layer as the Leghorn, a slightly larger egg
than laid by the Plymouth Rock, but not a larger fowl than the Plymouth Rock.

By Mr. Bain :

Q. Did you use a Plymouth Rock cock ?-A. Yes.
Q. Did you use a small fowl in both cases ?-A. A smaller fowl in the case of the

Leghorn. Next year we used the smaller Leghorn cock bird with the larger Plymouth
Rock hens, but did not get quite as satisfactory results.

Q. We would expect that ?-A. Perhaps. I got as good a layer as the cross the
other way, but not as good as a market fowl, and that knocked some preconceived ideas
of poultry men on the head. I find a good deal of teaching in the poultry journals
purely theoretical. You often hear it said that the offspring take their markings from
the cock bird, and their size from the hen. Now, it was not so in the cross I mention,
because the female was smaller and the egg was not any larger. I.n crossing the White
Leghorn male with Light Brahma hens the result was similar, the female being smaller
than the Brahma hens.

By Mr. Macdonald (Huron):

Q. Does it interfere with the hens in laying eggs, to remove the male bird from
among them? Will they lay as well?-A. They lay better.
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Q. Then do those eggs without the germ keep longer ?-A. Yes. Undoubtedly,
in my opinion. I have attempted to inform you how to feed a lien ; on what to feed ber,
and the proper quantity of feed to give. I will now go on to another point of manage-
ment.

By Mr. Bain.

Q. Just a word before you leave the subject of food. You remember the quantity
of wheat you fed to your fowls, but you forgot to mention the numuber ?-A. Tiere were
160. I intended to mention that. I also intended to mention the number of eggs they
laid and so on.

By Mr. Rosanond:

Q. Before you proceed, tell me what is the best kind of bone cutter -- A. The
Malleable Iron Works, of 19 Mill Street, make an excellent bone cutter at .15.

By Mfr. McNeill :

Q. I did not catch what you said. What is the naine of that firni ?-A. The
Malleable Iron Works, of 19 Miil Street, Montreal, make a bone cutter for $15. If
there was a denand for bone miis they could be nmade much cheaper.

By fr. Rosamond :

Q. There is a kind of mill, but it does not stand very long, sold at , 15.-A. I think
you will find the mill I mention satisfactory.

By Mfr. Seînple :

Q. Is it possible to have eggs the whole winter round without having a stove or
heating apparatus in the hen house ?-A. Yes, I think so.

By Mfr. McGregor:

Q. Do you use heat ?-A. I have got to use heat in the poultry house at the
Experimental Farm on account of the height of the ceilings, but a fariner should require
no artificial heat for his poultry house. If you will allow me to state, while J lived on
the Richmond Road, where I may say I served ny apprenticeslip to the poultry busi-
ness for many years before coming to my present position, I built my iouses with iy
own hands, and I found that a house built with ordinary pinle boards--with tar paper
on inside and grouted with sawdust-that the drinking water will not freeze in it. Saw-
dust is the best non-conducting substance that I know of.

By Mr. Rosamond:

Q. How about vermin gettîng in ?-A. Well, the tar paper seemed to have prevented
that. There is that objection, I know, but I prefer the sawdust to the air space that
is so much in vogue, and perhaps it is just as well. But I do not think there is any
necessity for the farmers having artificial heat. You see, too, that MI r. Sutherland says
in his letter " that he got the eggs which he sold for 60 cents a dozen last winter with-
out artificial heat, while people with stoves and hot water pipes had no results." I
believe that artificial heat is enervating. I would rather be witlout a stove, if possible,
than have one.

By Mr. McKeill:

Q. I would like you to tell me what size -hen house would you require for, say,
two dozen hens ?-A. It is a safe rule to allow 4 feet square to each hen. You can do
with no less, and as much more as you like.

Q. Four feet on the floor ?-A. Four feet floor space. Now, another very great
mistake the farmer makes is in keeping his hens until they are too old; I was among
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many farmers last year, and when I asked them about the age of their hens, they did
not know. I found also that farmers who were the most successful were those who had
young stock. It is a fact which we have learned from our experiments on the farm
that no fowl of the Asiatic family, Brahmas, Langshans or Cochins is of any use to the
farmer after 2½ years of age.

By Mr. McMfillan:

Q. Just one thing comes in here. I am aware most farmers are ignorant of how to
tell the age of a hen. I am ignorant of it myself. Is there any mark by which you can
tell the age of a hen ?-A. After two years of age you will see a spur beginning to deve-
lop, and as the hen grows older, so much longer does this spur get ; but it is a very hard
thing to tell the difference between a two year old hen and a yearling.

By Mr. McNeill:

Q. You don't sav that is an invariable rule, with regard to spurs on hens ?-A. No,
but you will find in most liens there is a large growth. I hav e seen them on some
liens almost as large as the spur on the cock bird. There is another sign: The older the
hen gets the more scaly is the leg.

By Mr. McKeill.:

Q. Could not some process of marking be adopted ?-A. Yes ; there are half a
dozen ways of marking. There is the small leg band ; the web of the foot can also be
punched.

Q. Could you not punch the bill ?-A. Yes, but the easiest and best way is to
punch a hole in the web of the foot of the fowl.

Fron what I have already said, the comnittee understands that the Plymouth
Rock is the best general purpose fowl for the Canadian farmer. Closely following that
breed comes the Wyandotte and the Java.

AVAILABLE MAIRKETS FOR EGGS.

Having got the eggs, naturally you ask where will the farmer best dispose of them.
We have several markets. There is the winter home market which is not yet by any
means fully catered to and with prices varying according to the severity of the season.
In Montreal you may get 60 cents a dozen for eggs; in Ottawa 45 cents. The further
west you go, the climate is milder and eggs are more easily procured, because the con-
ditions are not so hard to fill, and you have the lower price. Then there is the British
market if you choose to cater for that, and there is a summer market for eggs with good
flavour, which has not yet been catered to. It may seem strange to say, but I repeat it
that there is a good summer market for new laid eggs of good flavour. Can you or I
buy eggs, on the market, in summer, and put then before our friends with any sense of
security ? I have experience in this respect. We' bought f rom four to five dozen of
eggs at a time, frequently last summer, and paid 12 cents per dozen for them. Half
were bad which made the price 25 cents per dozen, while the remaining half had not the
flavour that a new laid egg ought to have. I consider the subject an important one, for
it affects us in a very tender spot in our domestic economy, viz. : our stomachs. What
is the cause of so many bad eggs being brought to market ? Simply because, I believe,
the eggs are in the great majority of cases partially hatched before they leave the farmer's
hands. There is a farmer in the neighbourhood of New York city who sends thousands
of eggs to that city every week, and he says if through carelessness or by accident a
broody lien sets on a new laid fertilized egg for twelve hours, the flavour of that egg is
completely gone, and I believe him. Risk of any such result may be avoided by the
farmer taking 10 or 12 of his best liens and putting them apart for breeding purposes.
After he bas saved, from these liens, what eggs lie wants for hatching chickens, let him
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take away the male bird and sell or kill it. Let him keep the hens in the breeding pen
for a week or more until the effect of the male bird is lost, and then let thei run at
large with the other laying stock with which there has been no male bird. If lie adopted
such a course, the farmer would have stronger and larger chickens and non fertilized
eggs to sell on the market. By no means would I allow the male bird to run with the
laying stock.

110W EGGS ARE RENDERED UNFIT FOR MARKET.

Three or four years ago when there was some agitation for cold storage in which to
send eggs to the English market I said that was beginning at tlie wrong end. We must
first get the egg with good flavour from the farimer. No subsequent cold storage treat-
ment would make a bad egg good. We must first begin with the farier and educate
him as to the importance of having non-fertilized eggs and the necessity of preserving
their good flavour by collecting them frequently and getting then off his hands quickly.
He has got to prevent the male birds runining promiscuously with the laying stock.
Sometimes you will see in the barnyard four or five cock birds with fouir or tive dozen len,.
Such should not be allowed -where eggs of superior flavour are to bie sent to imlarket.

Then the farmer is not careful in collecting the eggs as fiequently as they should
be. Perhaps he does not send then to market as cftern as he should. Then again thie
eggs may have been allowed to remain in the nests iii the hen iouse aind hens riay have
been sitting on them for sone days before they are collected to send to market, The
result is that when collected to be sent to market the germ lias started on its way to
become a chicken.

The following is a diagram taken f rom a treatise on "Ineubation aid its Natural
Laws " by Mr. Chas. A. Cyphers : It is the result of microscopic observation aid in his

DIAGRAM A.

own words it is a " Diagram of the circulation of the yolk sac at the end of the third
day of incubation. The veins are marked i-i outline and the arteries are black." Tllhe

diagram is not very large and may not be distinctly visible to all the committee but it
77
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will suffice to show the condition of a fertilized egg at the third day of incubation, a
condition in which nany eggs are taken to market. When we test the eggs in the
incubator at the end of the fifth or sixth day we can see with the naked eye, by

means of our test tube, the embryo of the fertile egg
DIA u B. quite distinctly. The egg at this period presents the

appearance as shown in the illustration, which is that
of a strong fertile egg :

C To make the above more redily understood it may
be explained that B, the dark spot, is the live germ ;
A A are the blood vessels extending f rom it ; C is the
air-bulb.

H1OW TO PLACE EGGS IN GOOD CONDITION UPON THE

MARKET.

You can easily see from what I have said and shown
you, how, with a little care on the part of the far-
mers, a superior class of eggs can be placed on the
market in suminer, or, indeed at any season. When
the farmer sees the condition of the fertilized egg on
the third and fifth day, he will be impressed with the
necessitv of keeping the male bird away from the hens.
From the foregoing you will also see how easy it is for
bad eggs to find their way to market in summer. I am
sorry to say such eggs are the rule and not the exception.

If it is true that you cannot depend upon the eggs you buy in summer, so is it true
that to send a collector to gather eggs in a hap-hazard manner throughout the country
is only to get a collectirn of doubtful eggs for market or shipmient. The necessity of the
farmer being instructed on these points will be apparent to you. The sooner the
farmer realizes the fact that he niust have non-fertilized eggs for market or for ship-
ment, the sooner will the reputation for a superior Canadian article be secured.

Q. Have you any faith in the usual way of testing the egg by reflected light?-A.
We do that in the case of incubator eggs.

Q. Is it a true test ?-A. It is very reliable, but the ordinary way of handling is
not satisfactory.

By Mr. JcGregor:

Q. Is there much disease where you house the hens together closely ?-A. By
keeping poultry in close confinement they are more subject to disease than when running
at large. Louis Wright, the great English poultry authority, says it is impossible to
house a large quantity of poultry together in limited quarters without having a large per-
centage of mortality.

By Mr. Pridhamn:

Q. How much longer would a non-fertilized egg keep than a fertilized one?
-A. I have known a non-fertilized egg to be fairly palatable at the end of
nine weeks. It must be understood, however, that a non-fertilized egg must not be
kept near contaminating substances. One of our best authorities states that a corn-fed
egg will keep better than any other, and he urges, moreover, that the cellar in which
the eggs are kept should be cool and the atmosphere pure. The egg-shell is porous and
the egg is susceptible to contamination, as with butter.

By Mr. Sanborn:

Q. Then, the character of the food would influence the quality of the egg ?-A.
There is a great deal in that. The flavour of an egg from a hen fed on clean fôod is
better than from one fed on decayed or decaying vegetable or animal substances.
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By lr. IcGregor:

Q. You spoke before of Indian corn as too fattening. Have you made any furth er
experiments on that point ?-A. No. We found that we could not give it with any
degree of safety to Plymouth Rocks, Bramahs, Langshans or Cochins.

Q. I t is too fattening ?-A. Too heating and too fattening.
Q. When would you feed it ?-A. At the last feed. We can use it in that wav in

our part of the country with impunity, so far as the Leghorns, Mitiorcas or Hamnburgs
are concerned.

By Mr. M3oncriejf:

Q. Would that be for laying purposes ?-A. Yes. We give different foods to the
fowls we are feeding for the market to those we feed for layiîng purposes. The treatient
is different in the two cases. What you feed to the laying hen you would not feed to
the hen which you would fatten for market. And you would not feed what would go
into the eggs, in what we call the Spanish class, to muembers of the Asiatie famnily. 1 t
would inake the latter so fat they would not lay at all.

By Mr. Sm itht (Ontario):

Q. When you speak of Indian corn, what kind do you mean ?-A. The Canadian
Indian corn, not the horse-tooth corn.

By Mr. McMlillan:

Q. Do you feed roots of any kind ?-A. Yes, when wheat was dearer than it is
now we tried roots, and we found that when we supplied all the vegetables thie layers
required the less grain food.

By Mr. McNeill:

Q. Do you use cabbage ?-A. Yes, cabbage is excellent.

By Mr. IcMillan :

Q. We have found mangels very good.-A. Yes, the fowls eat mangels with avidity.

By Mr MfcYeill:

Q. Do you feed them raw ?-A. Yes.
Q. Have you tried them cooked at all?-A. Yes, cooked turnips miake an excellent

mash. It is better to vary the rations by giving cooked vegetables once a week. I
think it adds to the health of the laying stock to do so.

By Mr. Macdonald ( Huron) :

Q. In what way do you feed the cabbage ?-A. Hang it up and make them jump
for it. That is the better way.

By the Chairman:

Q. You spoke of producing eggs unvitalized. How long is it necessary to keep
the cockerel away before the hen will produce such eggs ?-A. About a week.

Q. And how long should the male bird be with the lien in order to get vitalized
eggs ?-A. The male bird should be with the liens eight or ten days before the eggs are
fit to set.

INTELLIGENT TREATMENT NECESSARY TO REALIZE PROFIT8.

I have rapidly gone over some of the points which I wisbed to bring to your
attention this morning, and I would ask your kind consideration of the fact that poultry
can be made a satisfactory revenue producer to the farmer. I regret that his poultry
has not received that attention from the farmer that is given to the cow. I have said
before, I think, that next to the cow the lien will be found the most important revenu'e
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producer to the farmers of this country, that is, when she receives careful and intelli-
gent treatment at his hands. In so doing the farmer need not go to any great expense.
He has the buildings that can be utilized for keeping poultry and lie need not spend much
for food because what lie would give the liens would much of it otherwise go to waste. I
have found that wherever I have been among the farmers great interest has been taken
in the subject of poultry. There is hardly any farmer who has given the subject his
practical attention and who has got eggs in the winter and brought them into market to
sell but has been very much gratified at his success. Poultry-keeping is bound to be
the means of bringing a large amount of money into the hands of the farmers of this
country, but they must look after their laying stock properly. The subject of chickens
of a better class for market which I was going to touch upon, and have touched upon
briefly, is one which has never received the proper attention it deserves. lI England
the hatching and rearing of chickens for market purposes bas received great attention.
Indeed, the subject of poultry has, of late years, in England, been much discussed.
Within the last eighteen months the English authorities have appointed a Professor of
Poultry at the Royal Agricultural College in England, and commissioners have been
sent al] over the country to report as to the possibilities of successful poultry-keeping in
the different districts. They have found that the profits of poultry-keeping are much
greater than they ever expected, and in certain districts the rearing and selting of poultry for
market purposes is a means of wealth to a large number of persons. The market poultry
business is handled differently there. The farmer hatches out the chickens and sells them
while young to a dealer who comes round for them and afterwards fattens them. Our
farmers have little excuse for not putting a better class of poultry on the markets of the
country. If they will only keep the fowls thit will develop flesh quickly they will have
a superior article for sale, and a superior article will bring a better price. In my
opinion it is only a matter of educating the farmers as to the breeds that will put on the
most flesh in the shortest time.

The Plymouth Rock, Java and Wyandotte have given us the best satisfaction so
far, and if the fariner will only make a choice of one of these breeds lie should briñg
cockerels to market in four months weighing eight pounds a pair. That is development
at the rate of one pound each per month. I repeat that farmers should bring to market
cockerels weighing eight pounds per pair in four nonths. Such birds will be satisfactory
to him from a pecuniary standpoint, and a great deal more satisfactory to the consumers,
who will get better value for their money. It is, as I have said, a matter of educating
the farmer in the proper handling of his poultry department.

By Mr. McKeXill:

Q. Do you give miat to the fowls at all in the winter, or do the bones take the
place?-A. The bones take the place of all meat preparations that we lieretofore
used.

Q. The fowls have the meat and the lime in the bone ?-A. Yes, it is the most
satisfactory way of giv-ing both.

DIAGRAMS OF APPROVED POULTRY HOUSES.

Here are two plans of poultry houses to which I referre I a few minutes ago and
which I now submit to the Committee, with my own approval. The first is that of a
house calculated for from twenty-five to fifty liens ; and the second for a hundied hens.
The object aimed at in both is to give the laying stock warmth at night and also afford
them an opportunity to keep themselves busy exercising during the day. We find that
to keep the nest dark underneath the platform not only prevents egg eating but also
feather picking, and these two vices are much easier prevented than cured. The
house faces to the south, and I think Mr. Rosamond will agree with me that it makes a
gr eat deal of difference which way the house faces. I think the southern position
makes many degrees of difference in the temperature inside the house in the winter.
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By Mr. McKeill:
Q. What amount of glass have you in the front? What amount of light ?-A.

You can have as much light as you think necessary.
Q, Is it well to have much glass or not ?-A. In a cold section of the country

such as this I would not have too much glass.

.DIA GRAM J o. 1.

A.--1.
2.
3.
4.
5.

B.- 1.
2.
3.

References to Diagram No. 1.
Platform.
Support for roost with notch.
Entrance to nests under platform.
Slide door to scratching house.
Hinged door giving access to nests.
Window facing south.
String with cabbage attached.
Space for straw, sand, gravel, &c., to be let down below.

The above plan No. 1 is an improvement on the plan given in 1893 report, and
represents a house and addition that can be added to the end or side of a barn facing
south. A small portion " A " of the end of the barn is partitioned off for the roosting
and laying room. The ceiling is made low, and under this iow ceiling is the platform
and roost so placed as to economise the animal heat of the fowls during the cold niglt,
and keep them as comfortable as possible during that period. The roost should be a 2
x 4 inch scantling, broadside down, and placed 10 or 12 inches over a jlatform which
should be two and a half feet wide and eighteen inches from the ground. Under
this platform should be the nests so arranged that by i oarding the front of the plat-
furm, they (the nests) will be kept dark. The partitions of the nests will support the
platform. The object of keeping the nests dark is to offer no inducement to the liens
to stay in or about them after the egg is laid, and to keep the other hens fromn seeing
the eggs. Egg-eating is so prevented and prevention is a great deal easier than the
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cure. After keeping themselves comparatively warm by scratching busily all day in the
scratching room the layers require soume warmth during the night and in most poultry
houses that is the very tiime they are coldest. The improvement consists in having the
platform with nests underneath placed close to the wall or partition and allowing the
farner to get access to the nests by means of hinged door 5 without going into the hen-
house.

DIAGR A No. 2.-FL OOR PLAN.

3

-'T
N

N 2 22

.-. " Roon foRt SCRATCHING IN5

30' o"

References to Diagrai No. 2.

1. Platform and roosts with nests underneath.
2. Slides to scratching rom.
3, 4 and ò. Doors.

The above plan, No. 2, shows the end of the barn with the roosting and laying
roon and scratching room attached.

The numbers are explained as follows:-
1. Is the platform and roost with the nest boxes underneath. This platform need

not run all the length of the room. Indeed, the room might be made
smaller and warmer at night by making the platforn into smaller lengths
atid running them cross-ways or from north to south.

2. Are the slides to allow access to scratching-room. In a smaller house one
or two might do.

3 and 4. Are doors to get into the apartments.
5. Is a side door to get in and out the room for scratching, to clean up, etc. If it

can be managed without, there need be no nec.'ssity for this door as the
fewer openings the less cold the premises are likely to be.
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DIA GRAl No. 0.

. - 1'3
DIAGRAM SHEWING PERCH

AND NEST BOXES UNDER

A. Entrance to nests.
B. Platforn.
C. Roosts 2 x 4 inch scandling.

Rferncces to Diagram No. 3.
D. Supports for roosts.
E. H1inîgud door.

The above diagram shows the platform and roosts with nest boxes 'underneath and
the hinged door to nests. It is only when occasion requires that two roosts are neces-
sary. Urnder ordinary circunstances one roost may do.

DIAGR1AM1 Ko. 4.

DIAGRAM

SHEWING NEST BOXES

The above diagram shows the nest boxes underneath the platform and access to
which is had by the hinged door E shown in diagram 3.
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The following Nos. 5, 6 a-d 7 are diagrams of sections of a more pretentious house
divided into compartnents (diagram 5), and so arranged that the nests may be reached
from the passage way by the hinged door. The pens are 11 x 12 with a door entering
into them 2 x 6. This will permit of their being cleaned, and new straw or other litter
being put into them from the passage way 3 feet wide. The depth of the bouse includ-
ing passage is 15 feet. The front faces the north and the rear windows of course
face the opposite direction. The object is to have abundant room for the layers to
scratch in, to have the platforn and darkened nests underneath to prevent egg-eating,
and access to the nests from the passageway. Each pen inay be separated from the
other by a solid partition, or open by nieans of wire-netting. The height of the ceiling
is put in the plan at 7 feet, but it may be made lower, or the animal heat may be utilized
by having a ligh t wooden screen 2 or 2ý feet over the fowls as shown in the sectional view.
A brief description of the plan is as follows: 1, door to building; 2, feed room with
bars ; 3, passage way 3 feet wide or smaller if thought best ; 4, pen for fowls allowing 4
feet square to each fowl ; 5, window.

DIAGRAM 6.

Is the front elevation of the building which will face the north.

DIAGRAM î.

Is a sectional view of a pen in diagranm 5.

P'OULTBY I0 USE.

Diarm5s No. 5,ad7.

By .r. McGregor

Q. You could double the glass i-A. Yes, you could and with good results. I
would certainly have a window large enough to allow plenty of sunshine during the
day on the floor, and in the smaller roosting and laying room they could retire at night and
so keep themselves warm. The animal heat of the fowls would be economized, that is a
very important point. Such a building would not necessitate any very great outlay,
whilst the method of keeping the hens warmer is far better than any artificial heat that
you could get.
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By Mr. Cargill:

Q. What sized building have you for 100 hens ?-A. We allow 4 square feet or 4-
foot square for each hen, and the houses are divided up into pens 8 by 14.

By Mr. Smith (Ontario) :

Q. How many do you keep in these ?-A. Eleven.

By the Chairman :

Q. Do you mean 4 square feet ?-A. Yes.
Q. That would be much less than 4 feet square ?-A. I would put it at 4 feet

square if the space would permit, and under no circumstances less than 4 square feet.

By Mr. Carpenter :

Q. On the floor ?-A. Yes.

By the Chairman:

Q. That would be 16 square feet ?-A. Less space would do.

By Mr. Rosamond:

Q. Four feet square would be 16 square feet to each fowl ?-A. I was going to say
that we have found when -we give the fowls plenty of room they will give better results.
You will get more eggs out of 15 fowls with plenty of room than 25 that are crowded.
If you crowd your fowls too much you get no eggs at all.

By Mr Carpenter:

Q. In this space you are not including your pen room as well, but simply the space
in your building ?-A I would have my pens so made that the roost and all the furni-
ture would be included in that calculation.

By 3Mr Sanborn ;

Q. Do you keep 100 bens in one block ?-A. We keep then together, but divide
them up into colonies.

Q. Of twenty-five only ?-A. Thirteen or fifteen in each pen.

By Mr Tyrwhitt :

Q. On a farm where the poultry have the run of the barn yard or farm during the
day time there would be no harm in having the hen house the size of this rooi and
allowing 100 hens to roost in it ?-A. No. For it would only be a roosting room.
Fowls should have as much room as can possibly be given thein; but I an dealing with
cases where room is an object, and where you have to economize on that acount.

By Mr. Smith (Ontario):

Q. And where they have to be confined I-A. Yes.

By Mr. McNeill :

Q. When you say 4 feet square, do you mean 4 square feet in this way (indicating
with the finger), or do you mean a space of 4 feet on each side ?-A. I mean the
smaller square of the two.

85

3-.6½



59 Victoria. Appendix (No. 3.) A. 1896

By Mr. Moncrieff:

Q. A building 10 x 10 holds 25 hens exactly ?--A. I would not put more than Il
hens in 8 by 14 ; 1 have tried more in that space, and found that a larger space would
be better.

By Mr. Snith, Ontario:

Q. A space of 8 x 14 would be quite sufficient for 25 hens, if they had the run
of the barnyard ?--A. Yes, in such a case you do not want to have too much room for
roosting in during winter.

By Mr. McGregor:

Q. When you house them in winter, are you troubled with vermin ?-A. No, we
have never been, because we take some precautions during the summer to prevent the
lodgment of vermin.

Q. What are the precautions ?-A. We coal oil the roosts. It ought to be done
once every fortnight, as also inside of the nests, in hot weather.

Q. Do you use much lime and whitewash ?-A. Yes. We use lime when wanted,
but with us we have the place painted and we use coal oil. We find coal oil better.

Q. Do you put it on with a brush ?-A. Yes, with a brush.

By 3fr. McKeill :

Q. What do you find best to put on the floor ?-A. I find that straw or any similar
substance is better than earth for giving the hens a chance to keep in exercise.

Q. Do you like a wooden floor.-A. I like a wooden floor better than an earthen
one, for the reason that what you put on it is more likely to be dry, particularly during
the winter.

By _11r. McGregor:

Q. Have you not put lime in the food to see if that would assist some ?-A. Not
pure lime, but I have fed red clover which is said to contain a certain percentage of
lime.

Q. How do you feed that ?-A. We generally pour boiling water over it and let it
remain steeped all night and pour off the water in the morning, it then mixes well
with the soft food.

Q. Do you have it eut fine 7-A. Yes. It is eut up in quarter-inch or half-
inch lengths.

Q. Do you mix your mashes with hot water ?-A. Yes, mix with boiling water and
let cool a little. I think food half cooked is better than raw food.

Q. What sort of mash is it? Bran and shorts ?-A. Yes, and whatever is most
plentiful on the farm. Sometimes we use a mash of ground wheat, ground oats, ground
rye and bran.

By Mr. Cargill:

Q. In speaking of the amount of space for each hen, do you mean four square feet
or four feet square ?-A. I would give the hen as much space as possible.

Q. And you recommend four feet square; not four square feet ?-A. I would give
the hens four feet square if it were possible.

Q. In that case it would require the building four times the size of the other ?-A.
If you can give that space so much the better, but the lesser space will do. I want the
layers to have as much space as possible. It must be remembered that some breeds
require more space than others. If you are keeping Andalusians or Leghorns you will
find they will require more room than Plymouth Rocks or Wyandottes.
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By Mr. Carpenter:

Q. Would you recommend that the fowls be confined all summer '-A. -Not when
it can be otherwise. Give the laying stock all the run you cai, but keep away the
male birds from them.

Q. You are hard on the male birds ?-A. No, but I want the eggs in sununer to be
put on the market with good flavour. AIl these points of management require to be
talked over, nany may be new to the farmer. Fron the questions asked at the different
meetings I have attended in the past it is evident the fariner, in miost cases, requires to
be informed on the local methods of poultry management, and lie is fast acquiring that
information.

In conclusion, I have to express my thanks to the Coniunittee for the kind attention
given to the different subjects I have brouglit up in coniection witlh poultry-keeping. I
wish also to express the pleasure I had in meeting different imiemàibers in their different
constituencies last year. I hope to have the pleasure of meeting others during the
present year. I am much gratitied to find that our fariers are taking greater interest
in poultry matters than they have ever done, and it will not take themru long to find what a

great source of revenue the poultry industry mav becoie if properly conlueted. I amn
confident that the poultry department of the farm will brecoie a great source of revenue
to our farmers and the country.

Having examined the preceding transcript of my evidence, I find it correct.

A. G. GILBERT,

Manager, Poeltry Dept.
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COMMITTEE RooM 46,
HlOUSE OF COMMONS,

OTTAWA, Thursday, 6th June, 1895.

The Select Standing Committee on Agriculture and Colonization met this day at
10.30 o'clock a.m., Mr. Sproule, Chairman, presiding.

The CHAIRMAN.-We have with us this morning, Mr. Craig, Horticulturist of the
Experinental Farms, who will speak to us on the operations carried on in his branch
last year.

Mr. JoHN CRAIG, Horticulturist of the Dominion Experimental Farms, then
addressed the Committee as follows:-

Mr. Chairman and Gentlemen of the Conmittee, I am pleased to have again an
opportun ity of meeting you in council. I recognize you not so much as fruit specialists,
but as representatives from widely separated portions of the Dominion, of the particular
service or industry which I am endeavouring to foster. Through you I also expect
much assistance in furthering and pronoting this particular industry and in reaching
the fruit-growing public. The Central Experimental Farn at Ottawa, as you are aware,
is particularly designed to answer questions affecting agriculture and horticulture in the
two provinces immediately contiguous to it, namely: Ontario and Quebec. Although
the horticulturist is styled the Horticulturist of the Central Farm, I may
say that his duties are by no means bounded by, or restricted to, the two
provinces which the Central Farm at Ottawa represents. I am therefore pleased at
ail times to answer questions relating to my particular department, no matter from
what part of the Dominion these questions may come. It is my duty, and I also feel
it as a special privilege to encourage horticultural progress in all parts of the Dominion.
This is done by personal visits-when the travelling expense fund will admit of it-to
the provincial gatherings and farmers' institute meetings in the different parts of the
country, as well as by transmitting information by letters and bulletins.

It May be advisable, Mr. Chairman, for me at the outset to state briefly the lines
of work and of investigation which I would like to discuss with you this morning. In
the time at my disposal I may not be able to discuss all the points which I may desire
to lay before you. I intend, first, to consider in a general way the progress of horti-
culture in the various provinces of the Dominion. I shall also ask your attention for a
short time to a consideration of some points which have an important bearing upon
the successful marketing of our fruits. This I shall present to you under the head of
"cold storage," and I may say that during the past year I have been experimenting in
the cold storage of fruits. Then I would like to give you some of the results of spray-
ing experinents c arried on last vear in Ontario for the prevention of fungous diseases,
and lastly, to supplenient the remarks which I made last year upon the tobacco industry
of the country from the producer's standpoint, by showing you samples of the finished
product, with the addition of an expert opinion regarding its value.

MEETINGS.

During the vear it has been my privilege to attend, besides various farmers' insti-
tutes, for the purpose of giving addresses, the Provincial Fruit Growers' associations of
Nova Scotia, Quebec and Ontario. I have not gone further west than Ontario, so far,
but I nevertheless have attended a large number of meetings The Provincial Fruit
Growers' associations, as you are well aware, are doing good work in their respective
provinces in fostering and furthering horticulture, and they are being supported liber-
ally by the local legislatures. During the past year also I had an opportunity of
visiting Prince Edward Island, and was present at the Agricultural Convention held at
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Charlottetown, which was arranged for by the Dominion Dairy Commissioner, aid was
honoured by the presence of their Excellencies the Governor General and the Countess
of Aberdeen. The impressions which I gathered fron a hastv review of the Island
from a horticultural standpoint have been very useful to me'since, in enabling me to
arrive at a more-or-less correct estimate in a general way of the capabilities of the
Island as a fruit producing region. It is obvious that without personal visit and
personal contact with the farmers it is impossible to give advice or coun-
sel that is likely to be of service. From what I saw I an led to believe that the soil
of Prince Edward Island, especially in the more elevated portions of the isand, is well
adapted to the cultivation of a number of our leading fruits, both large and smail. The
common red cherry of England is found growing freely ard iaturalv in nearly all
parts of the island. The earlier varieties of plums and apples have also been cultivated
sufliciently to demonstrate the probability of success if grown on a coiirercial scale.
The geographical situation of the island and the climatic conditions surrountding it, are
such as to give fruit growers peculiar and special advantages for the
marketing of their products. For instance, cherries and smnall fruits ripen at a timle
when the western product is out of the market so that it alliows tiese fruits to be put
upon the home market or the Boston market after the crop froim other points has been
exhausted, and in that way the farmers nay reap larger returnts.

By fr. Bain ( Wentworth)>:

Q. You mean that these fruits are much later thain ours in (ntario ?-- Yes, very
much later. For instance, the commton red cher ry rîpeis iri n rîrce Edward Island
about the 1st of August, or in the latter part of July, while in ( Ontario tley ripei
about the beginning of July. On imy visit to the island I was speciy struck withr the
excellence, both in regard to size and quality, of Englislh gooseberri-s, which I saw grow-
ing near Charlottetown. I have been taking a particular inrterest iti tie cuitivation of
the English gooseberry, because I think there is a market for this hrerry if growrn in tie
proper way, and on the riglt kind of soil. Wiat is nost needed at the preseit tirmre irn
that section, froin a fruit-grower's standpoint, is definite informatioi of at elenwrtary
character suitable to the beginner It is impossible for anyore to answ.er correctly all
questions which are likely to arise in the mind of the beginnrter, witihout first visit irng or
seeing something of the surroundings of the place where he resides. Experierce, in mry
line of work particularly, is the only reliable guide, and I would ik4e to imnpr-ess on the
me:nbers of the committee the importance of this fact. RlViable exprienrce car onily
be acquired by years of patient trial. Apart fronm this, howevr, inui iriformrat ion
useful to the beginner may be imparted by individuals who have iad tihe opportunrity of
studying similar problems though under differeit corndiitions. li conireetiort wit h irty work
I c tn be greatly aided by you, gentlemen, wlto have opportunities of gathering knowiedge
by coming into contact with the practical difficulties of vour constitts. I siall at
all times, however, be only too glad to answer questions or impart inforriration of a use-
ful or helpful character to beginners and others in fruit culture, so far as i arm able.

During the past year various publications have been issued from rmry division of
the farm, and I have some of this literature here. Tie first publication si in response
to a demand for special information regarding the Eilack Krot, a disease whiici affects
the plum and the cherry. In response to that demtand this buttit was pulisied and
distributed freely in English and French in the parts of tie courttry wiere thie disease
is most prevalent. About the same time a circular, in tie Frernc language, on the
TREATMENT Of FUNGOUS DISEASES, was publishe,1 and widely distributed.

I have been experimenting for the last four years witi sMALL FrUITS on the Central
Farm andduring the past winter the information gained during that timne was corrpiled
and lias been issued in the form of bulletin No. 22, copies of which were sent some time
ago to all Members of the House as well as to tho-e wlio were on our mailing list. ne
of the most prolific subjects of correspondence and discussion at Farrmers' Institutes ias
been that touching the prevention of fungous diseases, and in answer to a gerteral de-
mand for this kind of information, bulletin 23 was issued recently and in tirne to enable
the recommendations contained in it to be put in practice this spring.
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By Mr. Macdonald (Huron) :

Q. Are, these bulletins distributed to the members by the bureau or by the Farm?
-A. By the Farm.

Q. And they are sent to the members for distribution among their constituents?
-A. No, the Farm has a mailing list of its own. In addition to that, it always sends
copies of its publications to the members so that any member can ask for extra copies of any
publication, if he likes, and they are supplied, as far as possible.

Q. How frequently is the list changed ?-A. It has been revised this year, and we
are adding new naines all the time, as fast as they come in.

Q. I do not think the list for my constituency has been revised for a number of
years ?-A. I believe that the whole list was revised this year.

Q. Who revises the list ?-A. It has been revised under the supervision of the
Director of the Farm.

Q. Who gives you the information ?-A. This list has been builtup bypersonal appli-
cation on the part of farmers, and by lists sent in by the members of the House, but
mainly by personal request.

Q. A few years ago Professor Saunders asked the members to put in a list of four
or five hundred farmers in their constituencies. That was five or six years ago. Has
that list never been revised ?-A. After the names are on our lists we deal with the
recipients directly.

Q. The reason I want to know is this, that after a certain number of farmers in the
constituencies have got these bulletins for five or six years, we would like to change and
give other farmers the opportunity of receiving them. When the sane people get them
year in and year out, it is really going over the same ground again.-A. I think they
would decidedly object to giving up the bulletins after having received them for some
time. Our nailing list is constantly increasing, and we hope to extend it from year to
year.

By MJr. Carpenter :

Q. I think all members of the farmers' institutes are put on your list ?-A. If the
names are sent in.

Q. I think the names were put on ?-A. In most cases they have been.
In addition to the publications I have already mentioned, there is a circular

here, in the form of a calendar, which gives much information in regard to spraying, in
a very condensed form, and this I have found very useful to farmers, who can pin it up
in a place convenient for reference.

By Mr. Sanborn:

Q. Have you any in French ?---A. All these publications are published in both
languages.

During the year part of my work is to receive and examine new fruits, and I
solicit from parties who are interested in the introduction and production of new fruits
or old fruits which have lost their name, to send me samples and I shall examine them
and identify them as far as possible, because the value of a fruit is very much enhanced
when we know its name and in this way can deal with it commercially. During the
past year I have examined an unusually large number of specimens of seedlings and
un-named fruits. This kind of work involves a considerable expenditure of time, but
gives me much satisfaction as indicating a move in the right direction. There is also
another aspect of usefulness in connection with this work, viz., that it brings me into
contact with, and gives me a knowledge of, varieties of fruits worthy of trial and intro-
duction. Whenever a fruit appears promising, an endeavour is made to procure scions
for trial at the Central Farm and at the branch farms. Our experience will be a guide
in recommending or condemning it in the future. A large number of scions have been
received and tested during the past year, and in some cases I have sent scions to spedial-
ists throughout the country, so that the scope of the experiments is extended and the

90



Agriculture and Colonization.

results made more valuable. I am also pleased to state that interest in our work is
being evidenced by the receipt of donations of different kinds sent in by manufacturers
of implements, spraying pumps, and so on, and originators of new fruits have also sent
us from time to time samples for trial, showing that they take some stock in our work
and find that our opinion is of some weight and value in the country. Tien 1 have
received from time to time a large number of specibmen plants of different kinds wluich
may be infested with various kinds of fungous diseases. Tiese I ani always glad to
examine and give the information as quickly as possible to the senders. This is a very
important branci of my work, and a large amount of information has been thus dis-
pensed to inquirers from the Atlantic to the Pacifie.

PLANT DISTRIBUTION.

I have from year to year reported briefly what we have been doing in sending out
plants and seeds for trial. Mr. Saunders lias no doubt told you about the distribution
of seed grain. In the horticultural division of the farm there is also a distribution whicl
has been carried on for the last four years. It lias been mainly so far-iainly I say-
in the way of supplying to settlers in Manitoba and the North-west Territories varieties
of hardy and fast growing forest trees for the purpose of giving themt shelter for their
gardens and stock-yards. It has been our experience tbat tley caniot grow fruits suc-
cessfully without first getting some sort of shelter about their gardenîs. Without a wind-
break, which will catch and hold the snow and thus give additional moisture to the soil
it is impossible to grow any kinds of fruit with any degree of certainty. in order to
overcome and meet this difiiculty during the past three years, we have sent out large
quantities of cuttings of poplars and willows. These have been found to be thie mnost
serviceable for that country. They are hardy and fast growing and do not winter-kill.
In addition to these, last year about 200 packets of seed of hiardy varieties of apples
were distributed. Three years ago a distribution of the hardiest known kinds of apples,
that we had was made. I have since found tliat they all failed and tis led me to
believe that there is only one possible method of success in growing large fruits in that
country, and that is to start with the seed. Then by having the seed establislhed in the

soil and the plant grown without reinoval we may be able to secure fruit. If the seeds

of that fruit are sown, we shall be nuch more likely to get varieties thiat will stand the

climate than by any other method. Accordingly, during the past season I have sent out
a number of packets of apple seed, and in addition young seedlings of hardy plums and

cherries. In this work of distributing desirable plants, the Ilorticultural Societies of

our central provinces have not been forgotten. I may say that this work is one wlichî

is rather difficult to manage, inasmuch as it has a tendency to increase so rapidly and
the number of requests are so large that we are not able to imeet the demand ; it was

therefore found necessary, a few years ago, to restrict the distribution to the Provincial
Horticultural organizations of the Dominion, so that now we select for eachi province the
class of plants likely to be most useful and send them to each organizatioi. The Fruit

Growers' Associations of Ontario, Quebec and Nova Scotia received consignnents in this

way during the past season.

HORTICULTURAL PROGRESS.

I would just like to run over some of the evidences of the horticultural advance-

ment in the Dominion during the past year. Beginning down at the east in Nova Scotia,

horticultural progress is very well set forth there in the rapid growth of the Provincial

Fruit Growers' Association which bas been truly phienomenal. Two years ago it was a

comparatively small organization, though an old one, but since that time renewed life

and vigour have been infused into it and the nembership bas more than trebled. I
connection with this association it bas establisbed a horticultural school in the Anrapolis
Valley, which is the only one of its kind in Canada, and I think the only one of its

kind in America. This speaks very highly for the enterprise of the menbers of thtat

society. I had the pleasure of being present at the closing exercises of the year' work

in the history of the school, and I was exceedingly gratified at the progress that had been
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made during the season, and to note the broad and liberal foundation upon which the
school has been established under the direction of Professor Faville. An arboretum has
also been establisbed for the purpose of gaining information relative to the adaptability
of trees and shrubs, and to afford object lessons to the student. Some idea of the im-
portance of fruit growing to this part of the country may be gathered f rom the fact that
the output of apples, which has been increasing year by year, reached last season the
magnificent total of between 250,000 and 300,000 barrels, from the Annapolis Valley
alone, meaning to this section a cash value of over $500,000.

In Quebec the Provincial organization is also doing good work and the fruit
growers there are realizing that a better system of cultivating and fertilizing their
orchards than has been practised in the past is necessary. For a number of years past,
orchards have been put out there, and have not been cultivated nor fertilized in the
way which fruit growers now recognize is necessary in order to gain the best results,
but of late better methods of cultivating and manuring are being introduced, and with
the instruction which the Provincial Association affords fruit growers, a much improved
state of things is coming into vogue.

By Mr. McNeill :

Q. There is a matter you touched upon, manure for orchards. In the case of the
ordinary farmer whose manure is taken up very much with his other crops, what would
you recommend as the best manure ?-A. Where manure is scarce, it is a great mistake
to grow other crops, such as grass, in the orchard.

Q. Should there be no grass ?-A. As a general rule there should be no grass in
the orchard. A second mistake is often madle by the farmers in not applying sufficient
manure. If it is found inconvenient, or for some cause impossible, to cultivate the
orchard, then it should be pastured with sheep. I think a sheep is the best animal to
have in the orchard, but in addition to the manure furnished by the sheep the orchard
sod should be dressed with some other sort of manure. Of course the ideal way is to
keep the orchard ground perfectly clean by frequent cultivation. A good fertilizer, I
have found, is one composed of alternate dressings of barnyard manure and wood ashes.

By the Chairman:

Q. Don't you find that sheep eat the bark off the small trees A. The small trees
should be cultivated for four or five years and it is not necessary then to put sheep in
the orchard. I am referring particularly to old orchards where it is imposible to
cultivate with satisfaction. Sheep will do a little damage to large trees. I know of a
great many orchards now that are being pastured with sheep, very successfully. If
the pasturage is short, it is advisable perhaps to allow half a pound of meal per day
to each sheep. This will increase the value of their manure and remove their appetite
for the bark or young branches of the trees. I would say therefore cultivate when
possible, a3nd when the trees bave attained such a large size, then it may be well to
pasture vith sheep.

By 3fr. Piridian :

Q. Would hogs be better than sheep in the orchard i-A. Hogs are.sometimes
desirable in the orchard, but they generally do rather too much rooting in certain small
places, or limited areas, and none in other places. They w 11l very often root around two
or three trees and leave the rest of the ground undisturbed, seeming to prefer one
locality to another, while sheep will crop the whole ground. They also eat a good many
of the sprouts that come froin the roots of the trees.

By the Chairman :

Q. They cannot plough quite as well as a hog?-A. As the chairman says they
cannot plough quite as well as the hog.
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By 3ir. Semple:

Q. Would not a ring in the nose prevent rooting ?-A. Then tbey do not browse
as well as the sheep.

FRUIT DISTRICTS FOR QUEIEC.

In connection with Quebec in order to give definite information to beginîners in
fruit growing, I divided the province into definite districts in my report of last vear
and arranged fruit lists for each district. This I have found to give nuch satisfac-
tion and to be of great service to planters. To explain this 1 niav say that in mY report
for 1893, you will notice that the province has been divied into 13 districts, each
district being made up of two or more counties. Thenî under each district are enunerated
the best pears, pluns, cherries, grapes, raspberrîe, gooseberries, currants and strawberries
which, in my experience, and in the opinions of the leading fruit growers are deeied
nost suitable for cultivation therein.

By Mr. McNeill:

Q. Is there any place in Canada where the Newton Pippini can be successfully
grown ? It brings a much higher price in the London miarket than any other ?-A. I
do not know of any place where it is successfully grown at. the present time, nor do T
know that I ain prepared to say that it cannot be successfully grown in our best apple
sections. It has not been successfully grown because in the piast we h not, been

practising our best cultural nethods. We are going to do better in fiit growing in

the future, and I think we shall be able to grow Newton Pippin successfully. 1n the
Grimsby district last year, after spraying, I saw sone very gol Newton Pippins and I
dare say there are other places where this variety has been grown and is bîeing gown to
perfection now that spraying is being generally practised witi gratifying results by the
farmers

By Mr.)McMillan (Huron):

Q. You were speaking about English gooseberries, and you were going to tell us
something about the variety of soil required to cultivate therm. I have tried then very
many times.

Mr. MCGREGOR :-Also the districts.

A. The English gooseberry is rather particular in the character of the soil which is

necessary to bring it into the highest state of perfection. It requires a cool, miîîî st and

rather heavy soil but not sodden; so that nany of the clay soils of Ontario where there

is sufficient moisture are well adapted to the cultivation of the English gooseberry.
A somewhat shaded situation is preferable. We have at the farm at Ottawa, 130
varieties of this fruit on trial for the past two years and nany of tieiri are fruiting this
year. We experience some little difdiculty from winter-killing, but othîerwise there is no

difficulty in growing them except that any one who plants thei mîust make up their

minds in this climate to spray with Bordeaux to prevent the mildew, because no natter

how well they grow, the leaves and fruit, in this climnate, are particularly liable to be

injured by the mildew which gives that powdery-like appearance which is characteristie

of infested plants. On the Island of Montreal fruit growers are cultivat ing the English
gooseberry quite extensively, and those who have gone into it find it profitable.

By Mr. Carpenter :

Q. low many varieties did you say ?-A. About 130. They are being cultivated

on the Island of Montreal because there is a good home market, they have also the right
kind of soil and manure within easy hauling distance. It is a fruit that needs a heavy
soil, good cultivation, and careful spraying, and then you will get good returns.
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By Mr. McNeill:

Q. Is the limestone soil suitable ?-A. Well, limestone soils are usually too light.
Q. Supposing it were heavy ?-A. If it is heavy enough by having a fair amount of

clay in its composition it would be quite as suitable.

By Mr. McGregor :

Q. What about the climate of Essex ?-A. The climate of Essex would be very
favourable, but the sandy loam which prevails in many portions would not give the best
results.

Returning to the horticultural progress of the country with regard to Ontario
the principal feature of interest in connection with horticultural progress during the
past year was the establishment of fruit experimental stations. This is purely a pro-
vincial matter established and controlled by the province, and I mention it with no
other object tian that of chronicling an important event and to record the pleasure I
experienced in being able to assist in the drafting of the scheme upon which these trial
stations were organized, which plan was adopted and put into operation. If thoroughly
carried out these stations will do much towards solving questions of local adaptability
of variety. The stations are under the joint control of the fruit growers association' and
the authorities of Guelph College, and they are managed on the basis of giving some
specialist a full assortment of the fruits with which he is best acquainted. For instance
a plum specialist is supplied with a large number of varieties of plums and is asked to
test them carefully and report. The same with strawberries, peaches, apples and so on.

PRESERVING FRUITS BY COLD STORAGE.

I want now to direct your attention to the results of some experiments carried on last
year in preserving fruits,-not canning themn,-but retarding their period of maturity
by means of a low temperature. The object of cold storage, as you know, is to retard or
arrest the process of ripening. This process of ripening in apples and pears and other
fruits is in reality the beginning of decay because it is almost impossible to differentiate
or show just where the fulness of maturity ends and the beginning of decay commences
-so gradually do they grade into each other-and the principle of cold storage is thus
based upon this process, or the possibility of arresting the chemical changes which
produce decay in fruits. These chemical changes which transform ripeness into decay are
very gradual and almost imperceptible. By placing the fruit in a temperature below a
certain point no change will take place. The changes in fruits are due to vegetable
ferments which can only grow in the presence of a sufficiently high temperature ; thus
by having your fruits surrounded by a temperature below that point the ferment is
prevented from developing and the fruit does not change.

By the Chairman:

Q. What temperature did you put this fruit in ?-A. The temperature for the
fruit experimented upon last year was uniformly 34 degrees Fahrenheit.

By Mr Mccregor:

Q. Did you obtain the temperature by the use of ice and salt ?-A. With your
permission I will discuss the different systems later on. Cold storage in connection
witl the fruit display at the World's Fair was probably the means of calling atten-
tion to the possibility of carrying fruits from one season to another. It will be remem-
bered that our success in the fruit exhibit at Chicago was due in large measure to the
cold storage facilities which were afforded us. The success achieved there gave rise to
the idea of trying some experiment with our Canadian fruits. Accordingly last year,
beginning with the first large fruits, viz., early apples which ripened at the farm,
consignments were forwarded at intervals to a cold storage warehouse in Montreal. I am
pleased to acknowledge the kind co-operation and facilities which were afforded me by the
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Montreal Cold Storage Conpaay. Without charge to the governiment, the managers of this
companygave sufficient space as enabled me to carry on these experiments in the most satis-
factory manner. I began with early apples, following thei with peaches and peurs as
they ripened. The peaches, of course, were not grown at the Central Fari, and had to be
secured elsewhere. They were sent to Montreal, and placed in an uniforn temperature
of 34 degrees. One of the points which I wished to bring out was the best kind of
package to use and the effect of wrapping the specimens in tissue paper. 1 had
duplicate packages of each variety sent to the warelhouse, the fruit in one package
being wrapped in tissue paper, and that of the other being placed in baskets or boxes,
as the case may be, in the ordinary way. We packed Mountain Rose and Early Crawford
peaches, each peach wrapped in tissue paper, in twenty-pound baskets and placed thein i
warehouse on September 5th. These remained in good condition until October lst ;
a little over three weeks. The same varieties under the sane conditions, but without
tissue paper wrapping, on the 1st October showed five or six per cent of decayed fruit.

By Mr. Roome :

Q. In the same cold storage ?-A. In the same room ; not the sliglitest difference
in the conditions except that of the tissue paper wrapping. On ()tober i0thi, about
30 per cent of the wrapped packages of Nlountain Rose had decayed, indicating thiat
decay went on rapidly after it once commenced. This was about six weeks after tle
fruit had been put in cold storage. At this time, of the fruit whici was not wrapped,
fully 75 per cent had rotted. The Early Crawfords, on the sane date, were in a very
much better condition. Not more than 10 per cent of the wraped fruit had decayed
six weeks after experiment commenced, and of the unwrapped 15 per cent.

By Mr. MGregor :

Q. Was the fruit which came out of cold storage as good as that which liad not
been stored ?-A. That was one of the points which I was specially trying to investigate.
The results were different. Peaches which were kept for four weeks in .3 degrees
temperature lost flavour to a certain extent. At three weeks the flavour was not iumuel
affected, at four weeks it was slightly impaired, and at five weeks they woîuld oily
" stand up " for a few days after being taken out, after which they wilted away. This
shows that in the case of peaches. and it probably liolds good in the case of ail stone
fruits, that it is not safe to hold them more than three weeks.

By Mr. MciMillan :

Q. Was the atmosphere in the warehouse danp ?-A. For nost fruits a slightly
damp atmosphere is preferable.

By Mr. Roome:

Q. Why is that necessary ?-A. Otherwise they would shrivel, Our experiments
with plums were not so successful as with peaches. We were not able to keep theim
quite as long, as the fruit soon became discoloured. The discoloration began fir'st near
the stone and worked outwards. They would sometimnes look well on the surface, but
when they were cut open you would see that they had lost colour and quality in the
centre. Moreover, they also lost flavour and firnness. The general conclusion which
I drew froui the experiments was that, for peaches and plumns, it would not be safe or
wise for growers to hold them for more than three or four weeks.

Our experiments with pears were very much more satisfactory. Lartlett pears
were stored when fully ripe. I may remark here that, for cold storage, the fruit should
not be allowed to hang on the tree till it has reached perfect maturity. It should be
fully grown, but not fully ripe, otherwise in the case of early maturing varieties they
may have reached the period when decay has commenced. Once decay has commenced
it cannot be arrested. Fully ripe Bartlett pears, wrapped and packed in baskets, stored
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on 1st September, began to show signs of decay on 15th November. The same un-
wrapped were badly decayed on that date. The same variety of pear taken not quite so
ripe and packed in wooden cases holding from 50 to 75 pears each, kept in good con-
dition until 15th of December, or a month later.

Q. Is there any guide with respect to the time the fruit should be picked for
storage ?-A. I do not think that anyone could describe the proper condition in a man-
ner that would be intelligible. It is a matter that has to be acquired by experience.

Q. An old gentleman told me that from his experience with regard to apples,
the moment the pip was brown, the fruit should be pulled ?-A. That is not an invari-
able guide, although it is very good as a general rule.

By Mr. Bain (Wentworth):

Q. Were your Bartlett pears perfect specimens ?-A. They were picked in the
Grimsby district, and they were very fair specimens. I think the crop on the average
was rather better than that of the previous year.

By Mr. Carpenter:

Q. How long did you keep the Bartlett pears ?-A. Those stored in baskets until
lSth November, and the same varieties in wooden cases and carefully wrapped, up to
15th December, a month later. These when taken out of storage would keep in fair
condition from a week to ten days.

By Mr. M3cNeill :

Q. Were they impaired in flavour at all?-A. Yes, I think they were.

By Mr. McGregor:

Q. Was the market fairly good when you came to sell then ?-A. I am glad you
asked me that question, as my experience on this point rather astonished me. I thought at
the outset that good Bartletts kept in cold storage until two weeks before Christmas
ought then to sell like hot cakes. They were put up in nice-looking boxes holding 50
pears each, but when they were put on the market they did not sell readily. First we
had to convince the commission men that the fruit were really Bartletts. They were
not ready to believe that it was possible to keep Bartletts until that time. Then the
sane thing had to be done with the buyer, and in addition that they would keep sufli-
ciently long to allow of their being sold. A few boxes were put in the windows of
some of the best retail grocers in Montreal and sold at advantageous prices. At first
considerable loss resulted in the case of those which were not sold in December. It is
evident, however, that unless some one looked after a business of this kind very closely
and kept pushing them out whenever possible, it would be diflicult to get rid of the
fruit at advantageous prices. It is a new business, and a line that would have to be
worked up before it could be made to pay. Just in the same way when Californians
shipped pears, two years ago, they could hardly be sold, but last winter Montreal
took two or three car loads a week, and they were disposed of readily. It is a matter
of education. I do not think I need go over the results in detail. I have them on a
printed form here. I would like to say in regard to grapes, that Lindley, Delaware and
Niagara grapes were stored on 27th September and kept in good condition till the 15th
of March. The Lindleys did not lose flavour in the slightest degree. The Delawares
were slightly off flavour, and the Niagaras were also slightly off flavour.

By Mr. McGregor.:

Q. They had not decayed ?-A. No.
Q. Were they put up in paper ?-A. No, they were not wrapped in paper but were

simply placed in storage in the same condition as they came from the shipper, that is
packed in 10 pound baskets.

A. 1896
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Q. Did they sell pretty readily afterwards 9-A. The grapes were stored ouly in
small quantities and were not put upon the market, but there should have been no
difficulty in disposing of grapes during winter as there is a regular demand for grapes all
through that season.

Q. Would they keep as nany days after being taken out as if they had not been in
cold storage?-A. I had some of them in my office about two weelks in a temperature of
70 degrees and they were very good. Thie Lindley kept best but the thin skinned
varieties like Delaware and Niagaras kept fairly welL.

Q. How do you thinik Catawbas would do?-A. This is a thick skinned grape and
I think for that reason, would keep well.

The deductions which may be drawnî from the results of this prelininary trial in
the preservation of fruits by cold storage iay be suniarized briefly as follows :

1. Fruit for storage should be picked when fully grown but before it has thoroughly
matured.

2. Early pears, peaches and the larger varieties of plumls should he wrapped sepa-
rately in tissue paper.

3. Tight wooden boxes are the most satisfactory packages for storing and handling.
When baskets are used they should be provided with strong veneer covers.

4. Stone fruits, such as peaches and pluns, under ordinary circumstances should
not be held for a longer period than two or three weeks.

5. The marketing season for early pears and apples may be extended fron thirty to
sixty days, and under favourable circumstances for a longer period.

6. The outcome of experiments with fall and early winter varieties of apples and
pears, including samples of grapes, shows that cold storage could be used with profit by
the grower.

By fr. Roome:

Q. What starts decomnposition in fruits in cold storage ?-A. As I explained,
decomposition of fruit is caused by ferment.

Q- \\ould not naking it a little lowver than 34, below freezinig point, prevent that ?
-A. It does not ferment in cold storage, but a change which causes discoloratjoli takes
place.

Q. You say it lost flavour, but I suppose it would not decay. I think you said that

the peaches and plum.s decayed after being so long in the storage ?-A. I called it decay
but they turned brown without actually rotting or breaking down. I do not tlink it
would be safe to bring the temperature nuch below 31 degrees.

Q. I thought it would destroy the bacteria and the fruit would keep longer ?A.

I do not think this particular kind of decay was caused by bacteria producing rot. The
discoloration took place without any breaking down of the tissues of the fruit. It

could be classed under the general head of decay but it did not take place because of

bacteria or the ferment produced by them.
Q. Have you tried keeping thein in some chamiber where the air was irmpregnated

with some germicide ?-A. No; I have not tried that. If the temuperature is kept as
low as 34 degrees, there will be little or no growth of gerims.

By fr. Macdonald (lHIrou) :

Q. I did not catch what you said about the apples. low long were you able to

keep the apples ?-A. Early winter varieties like Wealthy and Colvert kept easily till

the 1st of April and then the storage building had to be used for other purposes and

they were taken out.
Q. How did the early varieties do?--A. The very earliest variety we lad was the

Tetofsky and that kept in good condition for two months. The Duchess I lad in good

condition up to the middle of February.

DISTRICT sTORING IIOUSES.

The cold storage system came into use in New York city about 18 years ago and it

has been operated there in connection with the fruit business with great success for
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about 15 years. Dealers began first with the ordinary refrigerators on the ground floor,
from which the cold air was forced upwards over the product they wished to cool.
With that system they could only obtain a minimum temperature of about 38 degrees,
that is simply cooling with ice.

By Mfr. Carpenter :

Q. Before leaving this question I wish to ask whether with our present system of
cold storage for the export of butter to the English market, we could successfully place
our fruits on the English market in the same way. As you are no doubt aware, the
growth of our fruit industry has been a very wonderful one; and if we could get the
market of England for our pluns and pears it would be a great advantage.-A. I think
that is a question that would not onlv be profitable to discuss, but in my opinion would
be feasible to carry out. Having the cold storage system that is being introduced in
connection with the butter trade and with the addition of district cold storage ware-
houses, I do not seë whv grapes and plums and peaches and early pears could not be put
in these district cold storage warehouses and then sent forward in refrigerator cars and
with the cold storage accommodation on the steainship they should reach the English
market in good condition.

By Mr. Bain (TJentwortl :)

Q. Would they reach that market at a season which would give a good price there?
-A. That is a question that would have to be investigated by actual experiment. It
would depend upon the market that we sent them to. I do not know enough about the
London market to be able to answer off hand.

Cold storage is now used for a great variety of purposes. I n New York not only
fruit but vegetables such as peas, lima beans, lettuce, okra, celery, horseradish and all
sorts of vegetables are held for a short time and kept in good condition. Dried fruit,
nuts aid ev en snuerkraut is stored in large quantities. Nurserymen use it for keeping
nursery stock dormant. Fruit trees have been kept dormant for three years in one of
these warehouses with low temperature and have been planted out and grown very
successfully. The amount of cold storage space operated in the principal cities of the
United States is very large. New York has 8,000,000 cubic feet ; Chicago 5,000,000
cubie feet, Philadelphia 4,000,000; Boston 4,000,000 ; Baltimore 2,500,000; St. Louis
2,000,000; San Francisco 1,500,000 ; Pittsburg 750,000; Washington 750,000 ; a total of
28,500,000 cubic feet.

By Mr. MeGregor:

Q. Are these run on the refrigerator system with ice and salt ?-A. The simplest
form of a storage building is a frost proof building. To have it frost proof it would be
necessary to have three air spaces separated by double boarding. The air spaces would
need to be not only in the wall but also in the roof. That kind of building ought not
to vary more than 15 or 20 degrees, after receiving fruit in autumn, perhaps not as
much as 20 degrees in winter. This would be the simplest kind of cold storage build-
ing which it is possible to construct, but a very useful structure for storing pears and
grapes.

Q. You could not get 34 degrees in that without ice or something?-A. Oh, no, I
did not mean to give that impression. You would have to depend on the temperature
of the outside atmosphere more or less, but you could regulate it in the autumn by
keeping it closed in the day and opening it during the night. A building 100 feet
long, and 40 feet wide, would accommodate 10,000 barrels of apples and would cost
about $1,200, depending principally upon the price of lumber.

The next building to be considered is one which is cooled with ice only. It is
suitable for storing apples and pears. Large reservoirs on the upper floors are required
to hold the ice. The third system is that in which you introduce salt with the ice.
Having salt with the ice gives a much lower temperature. With this system the rooms
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are lined, or more or less lined with large Inetal pipes, cast or of galvanized iron about
ten inches in diameter. Above these roons are tanks in which ice is placed and broken
up and then mixed with salt. Then the pipes are tilled with salt and ice. With this
system a temperature as low as 15 degrees above zero can be obtained, which is
necessary for the preservation of butter. In Montreal one of the large warehouses is
supplied with this sort of cooling apparatus, and it has worked very efliciently.

By Mr. McGregor :

Q. The pipes going down through the building are of galvanized iron ?-A. Yes
they are ranged along the walls. I think that tiis is probably one of the best and
cheapest systems for district warehouses intended for storing fruits. A building 100
feet long by 40 feet wide would probably cost front $1,200 to ,500. We iigit then
estimate an equal anount for piping and ice chamubers, mnaking a total cost, of, say,
,S3,000. Such a building would store eight to ten thousand barrels of apples, and in
periods of a glutted market I thitik would be exceedingly useful.

Q. There are partitions in it?--A. You should have compartments so arranged as
to give different temperatures.

Q. Taking out and taking in you should not open ail the doors at the samne tiie ?--
A. It should also be supplied with a ventilating sVstemt.

The next system I would like to call your attention to is tlat known as the Linde
system. This is based on the evaporation of liquid anhydrous aunoni a at a low tem>-
perature, the heat necessary for tiis evaporation being extracted frou surrourndinug
bodies which are thus reduced in temperature or refrigerated. ite ammni a vapour
having served this purpose is again recovered by neans of a compression air pumpi and
reduced to liquid form by means of condensation.

Q. That would cost ten times as much as the other?-A. Thure are inatcines of
the Linde system now on the market which can be put in at comttparatively smttall
amounts. A machine which vill cool 200 tons can be ntow purrchased for about 85,000,
and this is a system you can always depend upon. The temtperature miav be reduced
as low as you like, and can readily be regulated, the temiperature of the different roois
nay also be regulated to suit the produet stored.

Q. Could you put down one costing ,000 in a roomi of tiis size -A. (f course,
in a smtall room salt and ice alone would be very nuch cheaper, depending upon the
price of ice and labour, but in cooling 200 tons you would nie] a conpantively large
building. There are two nethods by which the cod is distibuted throughout the
building. (1.) A solution of salt brine is constantly circulated front the brine refrige-
rator through pipes placed in the ciaibers and returnted again tuhe brni tooler. (2.)
In the case of the other, the cold is driven directly by revolving disks placd abive the
tanks which contain the salt and the brine. This is cheaper thait the coil systemt and
is more applicable to small warehouses.

I think, returning again to the question of district cold storage warehouses, that
wherever there is a refrigerator car service, district cohl storage warehouses ut fruit
centres can be very profitably erected. It would not be safe to place fruit designed for
foreign shipment in cold storage, then take it out and ship it in ordinary unrefrigeratted
cars. This would be very unwise, as the fruit would decay rapidly by reason of rapid
change of temperature.

Q. Goods coming out of a refrigerator should be kept in a cool place and disposed
of without delay ?-A. If they are chilled below a certain point they do not stand as

well.

KI-ND OF PACKAGE.

Then, with regard to packing, I have already drawn your attention to this matter.
I think that fruit-growers in this country would make mucli more money if they paid a

little more attention to the kind of package they used and exercised a little more care
in grading their fruit. By selecting the finer fruit and wrapping it carefully in tissue
paper and placing in smaller packages they will get much larger returns than by packing
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in barrels and baskets and shipping them without taking care to make the package
attractive. Our Californian friends are shipping tremendous quantities of fruit here
'every winter, and they find it pays to go to the expense of wrapping up each sample of
fruit and packing in small, neat cases. The fact that after shipping all this distance
they can compete succe-sfully with our own home-grown fruits, proves the desirability of
the method. It shows that our fruit-growers could well afford to spend a little more
money in making their fruit package more attractive.

Now, gentlemen, I have just about closed on this matter of cold storage, and I
was going to take up the question of spraying, or this matter of tobacco, just as the
committee desired.

By Mr. Corbould:

Q. Are you giving any attention to horticulture in the province of British Col-
umbia ?-A. I have never had the opportunity during the time of iny connection with
the Experimental Farm, of visiting the province of British Columbia, and the attention
I have given it has been nerely through correspondents. I have a number of very
intelligent correspondents in different portions of the province, and I know something
of it in that way, as well as by corresponding with Mr. Anderson, the statistician.

Q. From your remarks I gather you have only given attention to Ontario, Quebec
and Nova Scotia. Well, we have in British Columbia essentially a fruit growing pro-
vince, and I do not hesitate to say we can grow fruit with any other province in the
Dominion ?-A. British Columbia proved that at the World's Fair. It had the biggest
apple there for three weeks at one time.

Q. What the fruit-growers and the farmers want there, is more knowledge of how
to grow fruit and the best kinds of fruit to grow. We have been growing tobacco
there for nearly twenty years ?-A. I had samples from there last fall.

Q. As to fruit there is one particular matter, and that is that we don't know how
to pack. It is one of the most essential things in fruit growing to know how to
pack. If you send fruit into the market nicely packed, it will sell. When I went
into that province the custom was to knock a box together and pile all the fruit in,
good, bad or indifferent. There has been a large improvement during the last few years,
but still there are a good many points the province needs instruction in, particularly in
regard to what kind of fruit to grow, how to grow it and how to pack it; and we
cannot help thinking, Professor, that not only in your department, but in every
department of the Experinental Farm, we do not get that attention that we deserve.
I think only one department, that is the dairy department, has visited the province so
far, although we have had a great many promises; and I hope that you will represent
to your Minister the necessity of some advice being given to British Columbia as regards
fruit-growing. We expect to have a very large market, and we expect to be able to
supply the North-west, where at present it is unable to be grown at all, with fruit. If

you take a box of cherries, a box of plums, or a box of apples to Calgary, they are
picked up before you can get them to the market, often.-A. I might say to Mr.
Corbould that the fact must not be overlooked that the Governnent has an experi-
mental farm at Agassiz, and Mr. Sharpe, the superintendent, is endeavouring, although
he has a good many lines of work to carry on, to do all that he can for the fruit inter-
est, as well as the other agricultural interests of the country.

Q. I quite agree with that. le is very efficient in every way.-A. And the
results are of very much service to the country. British Columbia, however, is peculiar
in regard to its elimate. It varies so much in such a short distance that results gained in
one place are very often not applicable only a short distance away. I am glad to be able
to say further in connection with our work, that Mr. Fletcher, the entomologist and
botanist bas been authorized to visit British Columbia this summer and he will start in
a few weeks. It is his intention while out there to meet the fruit growers of the pro-
vince and discuss methods of preventing injuries caused by insects, as well as to study
all lines of work pertaining to his department, and I have no doubt he will be able to
give you a good deal of information. Of course we all like to do as much as we can in
every province of the Dominion, but we have a good deal of territory to go over and the
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matters of time and expense must be considered, British Columbia being a very distant
point. But I am sure the Director of the farm as well as the officers take just as much
interest in that province and endeavor to do as much for her as it is in their power to
do. I may also say that I am looking forward to the pleasure of a visit to Iritish
Columbia before very long.

CoMrIITTEE Rooi No, 46,
HOUSE OF CO.mONs,

WEDNESDAY, June 12th, 1895.
The Cominittee on Agriculture and Colonization met at 10.30 a.m., this day, Mr.

Sproule, Chairmuan, presiding.

THE CHAIRAN.-Mr. Craig is before us this morning to continue the subject that
lie was dealing with at the last sitting of the committee.

1VIR. JOHN CRAIG, Dominion Horticulturist, resurned his address as follows
Mr. Chairman and Gentlemen.-I feel gratified that you thouglit my subject was of suffi-
cient importance to give me another hearing, and I am pleased to be a-ain before you
this mo ning. There are two subjects that I wish to bring before you, tnamely,
the cultivation of tobacco and the practice of spraying for the preventioi of fuiigous
diseases. With your permission I shall speak of tobacco first, and afterwards deal with
the question of spraying, in connection with which I wish to give you the resu lts of sone
experiments conducted last year.

I sietailed last year, when i had the honour cf appearing b fore you, the
results of our experiments in tobacco growing at the Experiiental Farm here at
Ottawa. I told you that we grew some thirty varieties of tobacco-a certain nunber
of plants of each variety-and we treated thein in different ways with the object of
ascertaining, first, the best method of growing the tobacco in this vicinity, and, secondly,
with a view of finding out which varieties were most suit-tble for cultivation in this
locality. To make the experiment more complete, and, therefore, more satisfactory, I
told you that it was our intention to have specimens of the cured Ieaf-which were
cured at the farm at Ottawa-to have specimens of this cured leaf sent to a ianjufae-
turer in Montreal, in order to obtain manufactured samples with his opinion of the par-
ticular use of each variety. Now we have arrived at that point at the present tirne. I
may say that so far as growing the plants here and obtaining a good crop is concerned
our experiments demonstrated fully, last year, that this was quite practicable in this
locality, and if it is a paying crop in this locality, where we have climatic difliculties to
contend with which do not exist in the west and in certain sections of the east as well,
how much more then could this crop be made a profitable one where these favourable
conditions prevail ? With a view of bringing before you the importance of this industry,
I have ascertained from the Dominion statistician the amount of tobacco leaf imported
for manufacturing purposes into Canada, on an average, each year during the last twelve
years. According to his figure the average for the last twelve years was 12,300,000
pounds of tobacco leaf imported into Canada per annum,

By Mr. Girouard (Two Mountains):

Q. How much ?-A. 12,300,000 pounds.

By Mr. Semple :

Q. Is that the total for the last 12 years ?-A. It is the average annual importation
for the last 12 years.

I do not say that we could grow that amount in Canada, because as the result of
our experiments, which I shall tell you about later, I do not think that the climate of
Canada will produce a leaf possessing the qualities necessary to produce a fine cigar.
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But we can certainly increase our area of production so that the amount imported May
largely be reduced. With regard to the anount of native tobacco grown, we find that,
according to the Census of 1891, there were 4,277,936 pounds grown in Canada and it
inay be surprising to our Ontario friends to learn the fact that, of this, 3,958,737 pounds
were grown in the province of Quebec.

By Mr. Dugas:

Q. What was the quantity altogether?-A. 4,277,936 pounds.

By Mr. Carpenter :

Q. Might I ask you, Professor, about the samples referred to the experts? What
did they say about them, as compared with the imported articles ?--A. I shall speak
about that very soon.

Q. Oh, I thought perhaps you were overlooking that ?-A. No, I shall take it up
nrimediatelv. I thought first I would like to give you an idea of the importance of this
industry. I do not intend to speak at length on this point, simply to show you that it,
is possible to grow tobacco profitably in Canada, and that there is a demand for it, and
further that the province of Quebec produces more than three-quarters of all the tobacco

grown in Canada. I may say that last year, I received a sample of tobacco from British
Columbia and the quality appeared to compare very favourably with any that I had seen.
As far as strength was concerneI, it seemed to be remarkably powerful in this respect.
When it was tested in a pipe, it was found to be extremely potent. I do not know that
it could be used by itself. Tt would probably have to be blended with other brands.
In addition to those figures I have given you, there were 290,800 pounds of cut tobacco
imported.

By 31r. MfcDonald (Assiniboiaì:

Q. That is already imported ?-A. Yes, in the form of smoking tobacco, cigarettes,
cigars and snuff. This, then, is a brief statement of the position of the tobacco industry
in the Dominion at the present time.

By IMr. Semple:

Q. Where is the tobacco imported froin, mostly ?-A. From Virginia, Mar yland,
Georgia, and all that southern belt of States which form the great tobacco growing
region of the United States. It is aiso considerably grown in Wisconsin, and to some
extent in Massachusetts, and also in Pennsylvania in Pennsylvaia, however, more than
in Massachusetts. I wish to show you dried leaves of the varieties which I have found
not only to succeed best at the farm, but according to the report of the manufacturer to
be best adapted for the production of a good burning leaf or a chewing tobacco as the
case iay be. [Mr. Craig here exhibited a number of samples.] These first set of leaves
on the right, show the best varieties of smoking tobacco which were grown at the farm,
according to the manufacturer's report. They are White Burley, Climax and Quesnel.

By Mr. Dugas:

Q. Was this manufactured in Montreal (holding up a specimen produced by Mr.
Craig) ?-A. All the samples were manufactured by Messrs. J. M. Fortier & Co., of
Montreal.

There is a sample of White Burley put up in plug form for smoking. Mr.
Fortier says it is best adapted for plug smoking, but it is also valuable for cigarettes.
It is a good all round variety and probably one of the best. On looking at my tables
of yields of last year, I find that the White Burley gave me"at the rate of 1,468 pounds
to the acre.

By Mr. McDonald (Assiniboia):

Q. What is this leaf worth now -- A. I cannot say what the value of the leaf is
just now, between 8 and 10 cents, I think.
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By Mr. Dugas :

Q. Between five and six, I should say ?-A. It may be as low as five and six cents
at present.

Q. Quesnel is between 25 and 30 -A. Yes. I understand the Quesiel brinigs
a much higher figure. I think that the greiter portion of Mr. Walker's rop was sorid
last year at nine cents per pound. I visited his fari this spring. le still iad somre
ten or twelve tons of dried leaf, which lie bad held over owiig to the fact that lie
thought at the time of selling his main crops that ie was not getting as mulich as he
ought to have. I do not know how the price stands at present,

By fr. McGregor:
Q. They offered imin eight cents ?-A. For the rest. Now with regard to this

Quesnel, it seems to have been a variety that has been growi for a coisiderable
length of time in the province of Quebec and ihas, in a imreasure, bece acelimatized.
It does not produce as nany pounds of dried leaf to the acre as t ie large rrowing kinds,
but it does produce a leaf which is prized by the mnanufactu rers for mkrakinrg Ip in t
smoking tobacco ; as a pipe smokiing tobacco, Mr. Fortier recon1nends it ighly. Hire
is a sample of the Quesnel in plug. It makes a riai coloured torco ii plug fori, but
it is said to be of very good quality. The next series ef varieties are those vhich are
prized for chewing as well as smoking.

By Mr. McDonald (Assinbnia):
Q. What was the return per acre of this Quesnel ?-A. The return of Qoue el

was 750 pounds per acre, about one-Ialf of that secured fromr the larger leafedi variety.
But I may say I did not plant this in sucli a way as to give it quite a fair comîrparative
chance. It is not so large a growing variety as tie other, aini it was plantei at the
same distance apart, whereas I could have planted cornieraby closer a tir hs a larger
yield could have been obtained. All tie varieties were platntedi bv four feet apart;
whereas the Quesnel could have been planited 2h hy 3 feet apart, in which case 1 could
have got a larger number of lbs. per acre.

In the next series are the Pryors, BlIue and Yellow. These are iboth iisedi for
smoking and for chewing. The next series are three varieties thrt 3v. Fortier fon
made a cigar of very fair quality. I have not tried it rnyself, but perhaps soerWn rf the
inembers who had the opportunity of testing tiem at the last meetinrg mrray ibe abie tr fler
expert opinions as to their quality. I should be pleasedi to get thrm. These (puirinrg tir
samples of leaf) are the Connecticut seed leaf andi the Penwsylvairia seed leaf, two
varieties of tobacco which grow to a large size arrd the heaviest yielders of all tihe kind
that were grown. Pennsylvania seed leaf yielded at the rate o)f 1,76:; pouinds per acr,
and the Connecticut seed leaf yielded at the rate of ],800 prounrids per acre. Yieldling
so largely and being useful for cigar purposes, they are two of the most profitable vari
eties, especially for western Ontario.

By Mr. McDonald (Assiniboia):

Q. Does it take long for these to grow ? Do we require a longer season for the
Connecticut seed leaf than for the Quesnel ?-A. Yes, we do as a rule; but we finid here
that our season is sufficiently long to bring to a proper state of rraturity. both the Con-
necticut seed leaf and the Pennsylvania seed leaf, if we start the plants in a hotbed in
spring.

By Mr. Carpenter:
Q. Those cigars you distributed the other day, were they wrapped in Canadian

leaf 7--A. They were made f rom Canadian leaf.

Q, Were the wrappers Canadian ?-A. Yes, the wrappers were Canadian as well
as the filling; they were filled and wrapped with the Canadian leaf. These were put
up absolutely and entirely from our own products, so that the test would be a fair rre.
The result shows that, growing for cigar purposes, the Connecticut seed leaf ,rnd the
-Pennsylvania seed leaf are two of the best varieties. For cigarettes, that small leaf
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over there (pointing to sample), the iHavana Vuelta Abajo is the best variety. Then,
there are four other varieties: the Canadian, Yellow Mammoth, the Oronoka Yellow
and the Oronoka White. These are grown in the southern States for chewing purposes,
and Mr. Fortier reports also that, as grown in this locality, they are the best adapted
for this purpose. They all yield heavily and can be profitably grown. The Yellow
Mammoth is perhaps a little late for this locality, and, I think, will be perhaps rather
late for most parts of the province of Quebec, but for western Ontario it should reach
perfection. The Canadian yielded 1,210 pounds per acre, and the Yellow Mammoth
gave me 1,676 pounds per acre. I think, therefore, taking the yield per acre, the cost
of production and the other factors which enter into the making of a success of any
industry, we can consider the tobacco industry is one which can be recommended to the
farmers of the contiguous provinces here, with every reason to believe they can profit-
ably grow a certain area annually, and that it is good farming practice to set apart a
portion of the farm for growing tobacco eacli year.

By Mr. McMillan:

Q. What was the extent of the crop grown this year ?--A. We had altogether two
acres, and the quantities of each kind varied from one-twentieth of an acre to a thir-
tieth of an acre.

By Mfr. McDonald (Assiniboia):

Q. What effect does this have on land? It is very exhausting, is it not?-A.
Exhausting on the potash of the soil-that is the constituent whiQh it takes from the
soil most largely. Any kind of soil which will grow a corn crop is suitable, so long as
it does not bake and become too hard during periods of drought. If you have a supply
of wood ashes, you can easily return to the soil the potash which it takes out in con-
siderable quantity. In my report of last year these points were discussed, including the
curing and the harvesting of the leaf.

By Mr. McGregor:

Q. Have you any idea, Mr. Craig, as to the difference between the price of the seed
of the Virginia and the same seed in Southern Canada ?-A. On the seed itself ?

Q. The value of the product ?-A. I don't know how the two products compare as
to market value, I have not looked into the commercial side of the question to any
extent.

By Mr. Carpenter:

Q. Can you tell me the average selling price of the product last year ; for instance,
when it was ready for market in its crude state. That is the only way we can get at
the profit on it ?-A. The price varies a good deal. I know individual growers whoý
got as high as 15 cents a pound for ordinary grades, while Quesnel brought as high as
20 to 25 cents.

Q. From 15 to 22 cents ?-A. It depends very largely on the quality and variety
of tobacco. To get the best price it should bc grown carefully and harvested carefully;
and the price obtained therefor will depend largely upon the care exercised in growing
and harvesting as well as the condition of the market. If the leaf has not been care-
fully topped and the suckers removed throughout the season the size and quality of
the leaf will be impaired, and selling price reduced.

Q, I understood you to say that the average yield was 1,200 lbs. per acre in
Canada ?-A. I think that taking the varieties only which I have mentioned specifically,
it would perhaps be a little above that. The highest yield secured was 1,800 lbs., and
the lowest 750. The average of all kinds would thus be about 1,200 lbs.

By Mr. McGregor:

Q. In Southern Ontario it runs higher than that.-A. I have no doubt,. Mr.
Walker's foreman told me that on their hundred acres, the crop averaged more than one
ton to the acre.
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By Mr. Semple:

Q. Have you estimated the cost of raising one acre ?-A. I have a record of the
cost of raising, harvesting and curing our own at the Expermental Farm, whicb is nuch
above the ordinary expense involved. Speaking roughly, I should say it would probdably
run from $30 to $40 an acre. Of cours- this niatter of cost always depends very much
on the anount of the particular crop that you grow. If vou go into tobaceo cultivatin<
extensively the cost per acre will be very nuch reduced. For a snall area the cost iî
proportionately increased.

By M1fr. Girouard (Teco MoutiS)

Q. Does that estimate cover the whole cost of sowing the seed, cultivatinîg it, bar-
vesting and curing ?-A.Yes the whole thing. The process of drving the leaf, vitiout
special drying bouses, if the weather is favourable, usually takes ael>ut two months. It
may be dried in inuch less time than that wîtlh artificial het ; unîder ordinary (o-
ditions f rom six weeks to two months is required. The manufatured samples y iu see
before you, were over two months in drying. The room was not particularly well
adapted for the purpose, and consequently a mouc k, bnger time was necessary than woul
otherwise have been needed had we had a suitable building.

By fr. Dugas :

Q. Is the climnate of Canada adapted for the curing of tobacco ?-A. Yes ;ertain-
ly in the interior. Ini coast climnates where there is more lumidity, the difliculty of
curing properly is much increased.

By Mr. Rowand :

Q. What about the labour of cultivating tobacco ? T-A. he labour of cultivating
it would about compare correctly with the labour which shoulI be put on a crop) of
cabbages.

By Mr. Mc(regor.:

Q. Or corn ?-A. Yes ; or corn. In the growing of tobacco you would need to
cultivate tbe ground once in ten days. Then vou have the labour of topping and taking
out the suckers, which would probably equal le cost of cultivating it.

By Mr. Carpenter:

Q. Then there is the curing ?-A. Yes ; the harvesting and thiien the curing.
Q. Have you tried to arrive at a probable estimmate of tii cost per pounid of growing

tobacco?-A. No. i have not figured it out to the pouild.
Q. Would it cost seven or eight cents a pound when plaeed on the market ?-A.

Not as much as that, I should think.
Q. Then there would bc a good niargin left after cu]tivating, if you estimnate the

cost at $40 an acre.-A. The estimate of '40 an acre is not based upom our own ex-
periments, but upon the experience of large growers. Taking t lie estimated yield of the
Connecticut seed leaf, and supposing the selling price to be 10 cenits per pound this
would give $180 an acre. If vou take 840 fron that, for the cost of growing the crop
you will have 8140 an acre for your trouble. This of course is niuch more than
would be secured on the average, but night be secured under favourable conditions.

By Mr. Rowand:

Q. Did you use fertilizers ?-A. We used barnyard manure.
Q. Did you use the manure the saine as for roots ?-A. The ground received the

same treatment as if prepared for a crop of corn.

By Mr. McMillan:

Q. How would it do to cure the tobacco in sheds ?-A. It nmight do, but in open
sheds it is subject to changes with the changing conditions of the atmosphere. It
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would be better in a building which can be closed so that the leaf can be kept from
outside influences. Tobacco is particularly sensitive to the influence of the atmosphere,
and absorbs moisture very rapidly. I had an opportunity this spring of visiting Mr.
Walker's tobacco farni in Essex county, near Windsor. It is probably the largest in
the province. The curing buildings are large parallelogram shaped structures situated
a few hundred yards apart and ranged in a line down the centre of the field. Each
barn is from 80 to 100 feet long, bv fromt 30 to 40 feet wide, fitted with swinging doors 15
inches wide and short distances apart on the sides and gables. These doors are opened
or shut according to the state of the atmosphere during the drying process, The plants
are grown in hotbeds on the south side of the field and sheltered by wooden walls on
the north side. Wbat particularly struck me was his nethod of fertilizing the ground.
He is specially favoured in that respect, as he possesses large stockyards from whicb he
can get a large quantity of manure. I was informed that he could obtain sufficient
liquid nanure to keep a three-inch streain running upon the land from November to
April. It is collected in a large cistern into the yard and then forced out the field by
means of a steain engine after the ai rangement of waterworks. Hydrants are placed
at regular distances apart over the field, one is opened at a time until the portion of
the field in the vicinity of the hydrant is thoroughly saturated. The next one is then
opened. This process goes on till the whole area has been irrigated with liquid manure.
Mr. Walker has obtained, by means of this kind of treatment and good cultivation, over
a ton to the acre for the 100 acres.

By Mr. Mtacdonald (Huron):

Q. Th'n he raises a succession of crops on the ground?
Mr. McCGoR.-He bas iad eleven successive crops from the saine ground.
A. Mr. Walker bas been taking tobacco crops frcm that piece of ground for ten

years past. My visit to this tobacco farm was a striking lesson to me illustrating what
could be donc if one had a sufficient quantity of manure. Of course we could do the
same thing by following a proper rotation of crops.

By Mr. Grieve:

Q. It would be quite an extensive undertaking on Mr. Walker's part ?-A. Well,
he says it pays.

By Mr. McMillan:

Q. I an af raid it would cost more than 840 an acre to fertilize the land for tobacco
growing. It costs us $30 an acre to grow roots ?-A. It would compare well with
roots, the cost being about the saine; but supposing it costs $60 or $70, considering the
yield of sonie of the varieties, as for instance Connecticut seed leaf, it would give you
a good return even then.

By Mr. McGregor:

Q. Last year the average price was only 9 cents a pound ?-A. Well, if we can get
$30 clear to the acre, it will compare very favourably with any other farm crop which
we can grow.

Q. Do you find any one of those plants more hardy than the others ?-A. Quesnel
and the Canadian are the two varieties most at home right here. The other varieties
grow luxuriantly, and unless started early may be too late. Mr. Walker grows the
Connecticut seed leaf and the White Burley. Where we secured 1,800 pounds to the
acre, he harvested 2,600 pounds to the acre, from the same variety.

By 3r. Semple:

Q. What is the best method for planting ?-A. The young plants should be treated
in this locality the same as tomatoes. iMr. Walker does not treat his in quite the same
way. I find it necessary to prick out the plants in the hot bed in order to make them
stocky before setting them into the field. The pricking out does not cost much when
the plants are small, as a man can handle a great many in a day. It is of great import-
ance to give them a good start in the field.



Agriculture and Colonization.

By Mr. Grieve :

Q. How far apart do you plant them ?-A. Three to four feet. I would strongly
advise pricking out, that is transplanting in the hot bed, in order to give the plants a
good start. The same iethods will apply in Quebec as in Ontario, becaise ' vou have
about the sane amount of sumner heat in Quebec as we have in Eastern )ntarîo,

sTATISTICS FROM THE UNITED STATES DEPA1rTMENT OF A;RIICULTUE.

The final estimates of the average farm price of tobacco,
fifteen States that produced tobacco, are as follows :
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I stated last vear that I had in contemlîplatilon, and I gae yot at the tim1e, an otut-
line of some experimental work in spraying for the prevent>ion of fu ngi, whici was
being carried on by myself in connection w'ith the Fruit Growers' Association of nio -1.
We have been advocating strongly the beneficial effects of this practice for soitt years
farmers, while rather slow to take it up, have yet evinced an mereasmg amount of
interest each year. Last year the Fruit Growers' Association of Ontario thougit it
wise to institute experiments in conjunction with mnyself, and withb thea i planned a
series which we carried out during the season. That work has all been detailed in te
annual report and in the special bulletin which I have laid before you, but I have placed
on the chart, here, some of the principal resuits obtained in spraying apples to prevent
the apple spot, in order to emphasize the value of the expetiments. I imay say that the
work was not confined to the prevention of diseases which aflect the apple, but was
extended to those which affect peaches, plunis and pears. I will give you briefly the
results which were gained in spraying these other classes of fruits. Affecting the peach
tree, we have in Ontario a disease called the " Curl Leaf " which, apart fron the yellows,
is probably one of the most serious diseases in peach growing districts. When the ex-
periments were planned they were arranged with a view of showing how this disease
could be prevented. Orchards inthe Niagara district and in the St. Catharines district
were under treatnent. In both of the orchards treated the results were favourable,
although the season was unfavourable to securing the best results ow ing to heavy rain-
falls at frequent intervals. At the saine time, the Curi leaf was not so bad as in former

years, and my results were not as striking as they mnight have been. But they were
sufficiently favourable to encourage the fruit growers in that locality, as a result of that

object lesson, to take it up themselves this year. We also tried to prevent the Peach

Rot, which is identical with that of the plum, and were successful in doing so, but I founid

that we could not use the same strength of Bordeaux nixture-which was the agent
used in all the experiment, I had in charge-upon peach foliage as upon apple.
The peach foliage was more sensitive and more easily injured and, as a result of

that work, I recommended that instead of four pounds each of copper sulphate and lime,
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that three pounds each of copper sulphate and lime, and three ounces of Paris Green
should be used in spraying peaches. In this spraying calendar already mentioned that
information is given.

RESULTS OF SPRAYING PLUMS AND CHERRIES.

Affecting plums there is a disease which causes the leaves to fali off just about
the time the fruit is ripening. You will also notice that the leaves appear as if a
charge of shot had been fired through them, causing the presence of a great many
small round holes each with a red edge just on the inside. This is caused by what
is known as "the shot hole fungus" or septoria. It is prevented by the same
fungicide tliat used to prevent the rot in the peach and plum. With a view then of
preventing both these diseases, the leaves and fruit were sprayed with Bordeaux mixture
and the results carefully noted. As an effect of spi aying, I found at the picking season
that 100 pluns off the sprayed trees weighed three pounds and nine ounces, and 100
average plums off the unsprayed weighed two pounds and one ounce. It was not only a
matter of difference in weight. In the one case they were large and finely coloured
in the other they were small and would only sell for second class. Then as to the foliage,
the sprayed trees carried green, luxuriant leaves, and in the case of the unspraved trees
the leaves at harvesting time had nearly all fallen off. Thus not only was the fruit
benefited by the treatmnent but the trees were invigorated and brought into a condition
to bear a good crop of fruit next year. With regard to cherries, some results were
so striking that I was almost afraid to publish them.

Experiments for the prevention of rot were carried out in the orchards of Messrs.
Broderick and Gregory, of St. Catharines, Ont., and E. J. Woolverton, of Grimsby, Ont.

Spraying began with Bordeaux mixture on May 1st, when the blossoms were begin-
ning to open. Three additional applications were made with the saie mixture with the
addition of Paris green. Records of yields were obtainable from Messrs. Broderick and
Woolverton. The former gives the yields of two trees of Yellow Spanish as nearly alike
in every respect as possible at the beginning of the season.

Sprayed tree yielded 90 pounds of sound fruit.
Unsprayed " 30 " "

Mr. Broderick adds that the lower branches of the treated tree were well loaded
with sound fruit, while there were a good many cherries at the top of the tree which was
not thoroughly covered in spraying. This emphasizes the necessity of great care in
applying the fungicide to all parts of the tree.

Mr. Woolverton's results were rather startling in their emphatic conclusiveness.
He reports as follows :-" Gave cherries three applications of Bordeaux mixture with
four ounces of Paris green to 50 gallons of water on the following dates, blossoms having
fallen, May 10th, May 26th and June 4th, also one application of Ammoniacal Copper
Carbonate on July 4th." Note ; June 4th " cherries already show good results; the
tree unsprayed is niuch inferior in fruit and foliage to the one treated."

July 9th. " Picked fruit on unsprayed tree, yield, 17 pounds." July 10th. " Picked
part of fruit off sprayed tree, amounting to 112 pounds ; the remainder not quite ripe."
July 1 th. "Picked remainder of fruit on sprayed tree, 18 pounds ; total yield, 130
pounds."

"Spraving cherry trees with Bordeaux mixture not only prevents rot, but seems
to prolong the growing season, as will be seen from the above dates of picking." He
further savs that the advantage from spraying these trees is apparent from the follow-
ing figures which are absolutely correct. Cherries from sprayed trees netted $9.25,
and were a choice sample. Cherries from unsprayed trees netted $1.20, and were a
medium sample.

These are actual results, obtained from two large trees, the advantage being on the
side of the unsprayed, in point of size of tree and bearing capacity, at the time spraying
began. One of the lessons this teaches is that, in the case of cherries, early spraying-
that is, before the buds start-is not so important as the thorough and frequent appli-
cation of the fungicide during the growing period of the fruit.
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RESULTS OBTAINED FRoM SPRAYING APPLE TREES.

I am very glad to state that our results were so convincing in treating apples that,
it will do away with any dispute that may arise on this point hereafter. I will first
read you an extract from the report of one of the experinenters. This work as J told
you was carried out with the assistance of fruit growers in the Niagara district. M r.
A. H. Pettit, of Grimsby, writes : " I now inclose you a statement of the results of the
spraying experiment with Bordeaux conducted in mty orehard during the past suimmer,
and in doing so I nust express my great satisfaction witi the results attained ; it lias
shown the effects in such a marked degree. The experimient you conducted iere this sea-
son has demonstrated to me and mnany other fruit growers that spraving with Bordeaux,
properly applied and at regular intervals, will be of great practical value iii destroying lthe
fungus that is, I believe, causing the unfruitfulnessof our orchards. The sprayed trees, aside
from the large increase in crop, presented a fine healthy folage, while those by the side
of them, unspraved, showed a very unlhealtly appearance and ito fruit. * * * *
I believe, sir, that the value of this experiment, so practically denintt>strated, will give
a wvonderful inspiration to our fruit growers to fight stiraight along this line, and 1
trust your report will be so convincing and as widely distributed as possible, ino order
that every fruit grower will reap the reward and your associates tesates atd experi-
ments to destroy the insects and diseases that are affecting our fruit trees amd ouri fruit,
and J trust that if there are anv other doubting fruit grotwer(ts, as to the bentefits of
spraving, you will convert them at once, even should it be the means of floodintg the
universe with clean, choice, Canadian fruit."

Probably you will notice froin this chart wlich I mîtay sav is coinpiled front the
average results of the trees treated in different orchards and undrt- dlife-rent cotiditiois,
so that it is much more reliable than if it were the result of a sitngle experimttent con-
ducted at one place. You will see that the purple ine indicates the atonuIut of first-
class fruit obtained front spraying. Northern Spy, Greenintg, alUdwitn and American
Golden Russet.

TABLE showing average returns fron the different Experinenters.

Gnarý1q or. Fii 1,r.
Variety. How Treated.

Per ut 1'-r c-nt. Pur cent.

A. G. Russet ............ .......... Spryed....... . . . 38 03 i7 24
do .... .................. insprayed .......... 17 5 53 o 2 s

Bal in.......................... a ...... 75 15 21 40 3 4
do ........ ................... t Unsprayed.......... .t 51 74 19

Greening.......................... Sprayed .......... . t> 7 25 23 1 97
do .......... .......... Un..praved ...... t 66 35 57 .99

Northern Spy...................... Sprayed 41 os ; t;
do ............. ........... Unsprayed......... . 83 42 4) 4- 7(

Average ............ ..... Sp ayed ............ ... 57 00 2s (0) l
do ............. .... Unsprayed.......... . 18 31 e1 O 33 (f

The same variety unsprayed only yielded 18 per cent of No. 1 fruit, which shows a
gain of 20 per cent for the sprayed. Now then take the Baldwin, and we find the re-
markable result of 75 per cent of No. 1 for the spraved, and only 25 per cent for the
unsprayed. It is unnecessary for me to go over the figures in detail. The results are
so striking and have been every year so conclusive that it only i emtains for us now to

encourage the farmers by information and by example along this line, in order that the
practice may become general and that they may be able to grow a larger quantity of
fruit of better quality.
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PROSPECTIVE INVESTIGATIONS.

I might say that the work which I have laid out for this year includes some experî-
ments which are a continuation of some of these investigations commenced last year.
I want to find out not only what the effect is in regard to both quantity and quality of
the fruit during the vear in which the spraying is done, but also the collective effect
from year to vear in treating the same trees. It is reasonable to suppose that if we get
that good foliage this year, even if there is no fruit, that a much better crop will be
received the next year, and thus I expect the beneficial results will be cumulative in
this wav. For this reason I think it is a desirable thing to continue these experiments
on the sane trees from year to year, and carefully note the results. 1 have therefore
inade arrangements with Mr. Pettit, from whose evidence I read, and one or two other
gentlemen in the same locality, to continue experiments during the present season.

By 1r. Carpenter :

Q. Iow often was this fruit sprayed ?-A. It was sprayed four times.

Py -3lr. M]cDonaldl ( AIssini2boi'a) :

Q. What is the cost ?-A. The cost is about $8 an acre.

INCREASE OF RECEIPTS, BY SPRAYING.

The effect of the improvement in quality alone upon the gross receipts from an acre
of bearing apple trees may be shown as follows :-Supposing the yield to be 50 barrels,
we find according to results gained that spraying would give us $56.75 worth of No. 1
fruit, ,31.50 worth of seconds, and 86.97 of thirds, or a total of $95.22 per acre. The
same unsprayed would give No. 1 fruit $26.75 worth, $37 worth of seconds and $13.61
worth of thirds, or a total of 877.40, leaving a balance of $1 7.82 in favour of the sprayed
per acre. This is also supposing that all the " seconds " and " thirds " could be dis-
posed of, which is very problematical. The cost of spraying an acre of apple trees five
times with dilute Bordeaux mixture need not exceed 86.00 and may be under $500;
there should be a net profit of $10.00 on the basis of equal yields, but improved quality.
But as a result of these experiments, and looking now at spraying as afectinq the yield,
we find that the sprayed trees gave 74-14 per cent of the total yield, this return added
to the improved quality of the fruit, gives a difference in the net receipts of $51.53 in
favour of the sprayed acre. I do not think this side of the argument need be pushed
farther, though it would probably prove interesting to know the effect of this on the
crop of the province. Each grower will find it to his interest, however, to make . cal-
culation for his own satisfaction on this basis.

By Mr. Carpenter:

Q. What stage had the fruit reached when you gave its last spraying?-A. The
last spraying was made about the 10th July, and in the Grimsby district the fruit
would be about half grown or perhaps a little more than half grown at that time.

By 11 r. McGregor:

Q. It has a good effect generally in preventing insects, has it not ?-A. Yes, we
can apply Paris green for the prevention of insects at the same time, so that we really
have a double-barrelled gun.

PEACH CURL.

Now, in the Essex district, the peach industry is becoming very prominent and is
going to be very important in the near future, as I may say it is at present. The
phenomenal success of a few fruit growers who started there as pioneers in this work,
directed the attention of others to the success of peach culture and they are now being
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largely planted. The Yellows have not appeared in that district, but a disease I have
already referred to under the name of the "curl leaf " bas appeared to a soultwhat
injurious extent. I referred to the result of my experimuents, last year, as Iot being
entirely conclusive in preventing this disease. This year, with the co-operation of Mr.
W. W. Hillborn, of Leamington, who was the formier horticulturist of the farim and of
Mr. R. R. Blake, of Cedar Springs, I an testing the value of another fungicide, which
has been recommended by a Germai scientist. It is called Lysol, and is a elemical
substance manufactured from coal tar. It resembles in character and process of ianu-
facture the creosota and carbolic acid coipounds. It belongs to that set of substances.
I have arranged with Mr. Hillborn to give this a very thorouglh trial and to nake the
trial as comprehensive as possible, not onlyi upon peaches but upion pluins. I lad a
letter from him yesterday in which he says the curl leaf has not shown its appearance
on the sprayed trees so far, but it is too soon to speak of the results of that test.

In Quebec we have taken pains to give soime objeect lessis in) different portionis of
the country. On the Island of Montreal, a fari lias been selected on which an object
lesson in spraying has been given, whichî will be earried (ut by the owner of the orchard
during this season and which will no doubt result benefiially to the surroulndinoi
residents. Also in the LIslet County, in the far easternu p-tion of Quiebec, wherv
plumis and apples grow, the saine plan is being pursued. Curiouslv enoughJ tlv grow
there varieties w hiCh are not beard of furtier east, and althoîugll tlhev have a bLil,, c4>1
winter, yet they have such an amounit of snow thit bv setting theu l i losely plaitedi
in orchard rows they are able to grow then quite successfully. A bout a mn it h ago I was
instructed bv the Hon. the Minister of Agriculture to( go downi tlere and select an orchard
in which an object lesson in spraving was subsequently gi vein. The experiimieins will be,
carried on during the season, so that it will lie useful to thiat distict.

SPRAYING APPARATUS.

Now, with regard to spraying equipruent, we have been tryuing every-n ye-a LII suiplify
the matter because the introduction of this practice wIll very llnluch depnild uîponîi tle
ease with which it can be done. Since appearing before you o hi e] last ouc:sioni, t have
been spraying our orchard and have taken a pliotograph of our field apparatus just as i
appeared when at work. These prints illustrate the outfit. I hav tle puip huere
which I shall also show you. You will see that this pumnp is anl ordinary force pumlip
fitted in the head of a barrel and the barrel placed in a dumpiî cart. To, iiake it imior-
convenient the cart is floored on a level with the top of the hody. These boards help
to hold the barrel in position and also give a platform-u foi tlie iai to stand upon, so
that it serves a double purpose in this way, and I have found it a v-ery cieap and haidy
arrangement.

By Mr. Carpenter:

Q. You are using a double line Lose here ?-A. I ai using a double line of hose,
yes. J want to show you what I consider an easily rigge-d and cheaply equipped pumrip.
You will see that this is a pump supplied with an air chambr whicli thus keeps up a
steady and constant force. Then at the outlet or discharge pipe is a " "' and to each
end of the " T " is attached a nipple and then a valve and to that is another nipple to
which the hose is attached. The hose is 8 or 10 feet in length, and then a brass tube
is connected with the hose and to the end of the brass tube we attach our nozz-ie. That
gives us an apparatus which enables us to throw two streams to a considerable height.
You will notice that I have two kinds of nozzles on these. The one in mry left hand is
called the " McGowan." The reason I have two kinds of nozzles is this : The McGowan
throws a coarse spray to a considerable distance The one in my right hand is called
the " Vermorel." In spraying a tree the McGowan is directed to the top of the tree, as
it gives a coarser spray. The Vermorel makes a much finer spray which does not carry
as far, and is directed to the bottom or lower branches of the tree. In the pbotographs
which I have here, one man with the two jets stands in the position as you see, and with
the horse walking slowly it is possible to spray one side of a tree without stopping.
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By MAr. Carpenterp:

Q. What is the cost of the operation ?-A. It requires two Men to do that work,
as you notice. The total cost of the apparatus is $S15 as it stands. This is a special
apparatus, the fittings of which were put in by myseif. Including the gas pipe the total
cost is about $ 15. The pump used is made by the Ontario Wind Engine and Pu mp
Co., ToNonto.

By -Mr. Afc.1eill

Q. That is for the pump alone ?-A. Yes. The expense of the barrel is purely

nominal ,75 cents at the outside.

By Mr. Cowand :

Q. Does the $15 include the nozzles too ?-A. It includes everything except the
barrel; as I say, you can get a gasoline or coal oil barrel for 75 cents. 0f course you
want a barrel with oth heads ; a hole is eut in one end or the side to let the pump in.

By fr. Carenter :

Q. We find the difficulty in keeping, the mixture stirred. Have you devised any-
thing for that ?-A. There is an attachment to the handle of this pump consrsting of a
rod with a dasher below, that is dropped into the barrel. Then, on the other end of the
rod is a wooden dasher, so that with every stroke of the pump the lower portion of the
liquid is agitated.

By Mr. cGregor:

Q. I suppose the moving of the cart helps it also ?-A. Yes, to some extent, but not
sufficiently, however, as the Bordeaux mixture is heavy and settles readily.

By the Clarrman :

Q. Have ou tried the patent of Holmes & Holliday, of Clarksburg ?-Yes. They
make a -very good pump.

Q. Hlow does their agitator work ?-A. By means of a return pipe into the barrel.
There is no agitator that acts as effciently as it should when depending on the force
obtained by the return pipes. This one operates on that principle, the liquid being
stirred by the force of the pump.

By Mr. MecGregor :

Q. If you keep the cart movin it will stir the liquid pretty well ?--A. Not suffi-
ciently. I have some photographs here illustrating the results of the spraying carried
on last year. I think, perhaps, I ouglit to say something about pears before closing.
Some of the most striking results that we have obtained have been in treating the
fungous diseases which attack pears. You will see by the photoraphs that have here
two trees, one sprayed and the other not sprayed. The sprayed tree is simply bending
down under its weight of luxuriant f oliage and large crop of fruit; the other has hardly
any foliage at ac and little fruit. Another point which must be reembered. Where
t'le orchard area is quite large the trouble of preparing this mixture each time is consid-
erable, and it may be that the fruit grower does not spray at the right time because he
has to prepare bis copper suiphate and to slack bis lime each time. It is disagreeable
work at all times but the trouble may be reduced by preparing at the beginnin of the
season a stock solution of these two mixtures. Take a barrel and dissolve in it a quan-
tity of copper suophate using a pound of proper sulphate to a gallon of water. That will
keep throughout the whole summer. Then take another barrel and slack in the saine
way a pou d of lime in a gallon of water. That will keep throughout the season. The
two will not keep throughout the season if poured together, but we ean do it in this way
by keepin the lime in one barrel and the copper sulphate in another. Knowing how
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much we have put in, and taking four gallons of the one and four gallons of the other
we know we have the proper quantity for the barrel, as shown in that photograph. The
barrels can be placed under a shed and the fruit-grower can put the two mixtures to-
gether as he needs them.

By Mr. Kaulbach:

Q. Can you give any information for the cure of black knot on the plum ?--A.
There is no cure, as you may call it. It bas beeti proved during the past year, how-ever,
that the Bordeaux mixture will deter the spread of the black knot to some extent. The
only remedy is to eut out the knot and destroy it as soon as it is noticed.

Q. What do you apply on the wound ?-A. I would apply either red oxide of lead
or turpentine.

Q. How would clay do ?-A. Clay helps to exclude the air, but the other substances
would act also as fungicides and kill any spores of the black knot which may he left.
In using turpentine or coal oi you must exercise great caution, because if not carefully
applied they will injure the healthy tissue as well as the diseased wood.

By fr. Carpenter :

Q. You recommend cutting off the diseased portion ?-A. That is the onily practical
remedy at the present time-cut off and destroy by lire all the diseased portion. 'lie
best time to do this is during the month of June. There are two periods at whici the
spores of this disease are distributed. We have a group of sumier spores whiîh will
be dissipated by the wind in a few days, and it is therefore essential that we should
destroy them before they are driven off. Then there are the winter spores, which are
carried off by the winds in winter and spring.

By Mr. McGregor :

Q. Would the black knot of the soft maple go to other trees of a differef, variety?
-A. The black knot of the plum and cherry is quite distinct from any of that which
affects trees of other kinds.

Q. It could not be carried, for instance, to an apple or plum trae ?-No. The black
knot can be carried from the pluni to the cherry, or rice versa, or from the choke cherry
or wild cherry to cultivated forms.

By Mr. Carpenter :

Q. What is the result of your experiments with the pear blight ?- A. We have no
other preventive remedy than to cut off and destroy the diseased portions. Owi% 1ng to
the character of the disease and the rapid way in which it develops, we hav e no mifeans of
preventing the germs of the disease from affecting an entrance into the tissues. The dis-
ease begins with the newestgrowth of leaves either on the terminal shoots or main branches.
When the main branches or stems are injured, it is through tufts of Jeaves growing upon
spurs that the disease effects an entrance.

By Mr. McGregor :

Q. Would whitewashing affect it ?-A. It might act as a preventive.
Q. We used to wash with lye in our country ?-Washing with lye is a good thing.

It acts as a preventive of insects also.

By Mr. McMillan,

Q. Is there any connection between the fungus attacking the pear and the fungus
attacking the leaf on the same tree, because I have observed with some Flemish Beauties
that we have, that where the spot appears on the leaf there is also cracking in the fruit ?
-A. It is one and the same disease which causes the spot on the leaf and the cracking
of the fruit. The pear blight is quite distinct from that which attacks the fruit, but
you will always notice that where the leaf is spotted the fruit is cracked, as you say.
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Q. I notice if it is sickly it is more liable to be attacked 7-A. There is no doubt,
that it is more liable to be attacked when the tree is sickly.

By the Chairman:

Q. What is the best time to wash trees ?-A. The best time to wash trees for bark
lice or sucking insects is the second week in June in this locality.

By Mr. Carpenter :

Q. What is your mixture ?-A. I find the best mixture to wash them with is one
which has been recommended by Professor Saunders. It consists of a saturated solution
of soda-that is to say, all the soda the water will dissolve-thickened to the con-
sistence of paint with soft soap. Apply to the trunk and main branches of the tree
with a whitewash brush. A man will go over it very rapidly. It will not cost you
more than a quarter of a cent a tree. It is a very desirable thing to do.

By the Chairman :

Q. Should it be dissolved in soft water ?-A. It is not necessary; hard water
will do.

By Mir. Carpenter:

Q. It is mixed with soft soap ?-A. It is mixed with soft soap till it is as thick

as paint.

By Mfr. Ferguson:

Q. Hard water would not affect it because they are both carbonates ?-A. Quite so.
When this is applied to the tree it dries and forms a glossy covering over the bark;

trees washed with that will keep a green appearance from year to year. The farmer ex-
cursionists who pay visits to the farm-we had a large excursion there this norning-
frequently ask what makes the bark of the trunks of our trees so green, and the reason
is this annual washing with an alkaline solution.

FERRO CYANIDE OF POTASSIUM TEST, FOR BORDEAUX MIXTURE.

I might refer to a test for finding out how much lime is necessary to neutralize
the 'free acid in the copper sulphate, in making Bordeaux mixture. Now, if
you do not have enough lime present the Bordeaux mixture will burn the
leaves of the trees. This is on account of the free acid which is in the copper
sulphate and which has not been neutralized by the lime. If you wish to find out
whether all the free acid has been neutralized you should take some yellow prussiate of
potash dissolved in water and add a drop to your Bordeaux mixture. If it turns
brown there is free acid and it is dangerous to use in that condition, and it is therefore
necessary to add more lime. But if the prussiate of potash remains colourless-it bas
a light vellowish colour-there is sußlicient lime and you can use it without fear of injury
to foliage. This is a convenient thing to know. By the use of this test it is unnecessary
to record the quantities of copper sulphate and lime kept in the stock solutions. You
can make your mixture by testing with the prussiate of potash and if it shows the brown
reaction, keep adding lime till the cyanide of potassium gives the proper reaction.

By Mr. Ferguson:

Q. It must be a composite mixture because it will not dissolve all that lime ?
-A. Yes, a mechanical mixture because lime will only dissolve in water in the propor-
tion of one part in 750 and a solution would not have sufficient lime.

This, Gentlemen, concludes what I had intended to present to you this morning, and
I am very much obliged to you for your attentïon.
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PROVISIONS FOR THE EXPORT OF FRUITS.

With regard to the resolution which Mr. Carpenter presented to the coininitt ee at
your last meeting, I may say that Mr. Carpenter asked me to think the mat ter over and
give him my opinion on any points which might occur to me in connection with that
subject. I have therefore prepared a brief memorandum which I have already shown to
Mr. Carpenter, and which lie has asked me to read. It is as follows :-

There are many of our early fruits more or less perishable in character, which
cannot be profitably disposed of in our donestie markets. These fruits include peaches,
early pears, plumus, grapes and tomatoes.

During periods when the market is overstocked, mnucli loss results from the ordi-
narv method of handling them. The home markets being unable to dispose of large
shipments on short notice, much loss results both to grower and buyer, directly and
indirectly. This has amn unsettling effect on the trade, with disastrous results.

There are two ways of remedying this undesirable condition of things :
1. By the erectiun in fruit districts of suitable buildings in which fruit umay be

stored sutliciently long to tide over a glutted market or a period of weak demand.
2. District cold storage warehouses supplemnented by a refrigerator car and steamer

service betveen home and foreign nmarkets. With these equipen. growers wVould be
able to market with more profit a greater quantity of frtit, which would alow of the
fruit area being încreased, without a corresponding falling off or lowering of ices.

DISTRICT WARE1HOUSES.

I am of the opinion that storage buildings with a capacity of 10,00) barreis or this
equivalent of fruit, and cooled with ice and brine can be erected anid fitted at a cost not
exceeding $2,500. Smaller storage buildings cooled with ice could probably be con-
structed at less than half of this figure.

PACKING AND PACKAGES.

All fruit intended for storage or distant shipmnent should be picked when fully
grown, but before reaching perfect maturity. Pears, peaches and plumos should be
wrapped in tissue paper and carefully packed in smnall, light but strong boxes, holding
from 50 to 75 specimens each. Fruit will carry better and be stored with greater satis-

faction if packed in wooden boxes instead of baskets. In shippuing tomat<es the sîmooth

kinds only should be selected.
It may seem a little venturesome to moot the question of shipping tomatoes b the

European market, but I think it could be done if they were properly handled. We ean

grow tomnatoes here at a profit if we can get fron 20 to 25 cents a bushel, and I thinik

if they are properly handled, they can be shipped to the London mmarket with good results.

They shou]d be picked just as they are beginning to colour, wrapped in tissue paper and

packed in small cases.
Another kind of package specially adapted to the requiremnents of a high class grade

is the compartment box, constructed on essentially the samie plan as the egg case of con-

merce. This case has already been used to a limited extent by shippers near Montreal

for exporting to England carefully graded apples of high quality and of soft texture. In

the vicinity of Montreal they grow to a large extent the Fameuse and the Mclntosh

red apple. These two apples are fine in quality and beautiful in appearance but they

are soft in texture. They have been shipped from Montreal in large quantities in the

way I have described by packing them in compartment cases and sending them to a

dealer who had a trade that would call for this c!ass of fruit. In this line there is cer-

tainly an opening for a lucrative trade, as the saine kind of package could bc applied to

select pears and .peaches.
I am of the opinion that a trial shipment of these fruits, made in the manner out-

lined above, aided by cold storage, would be a most valuable experiment, which could be

carried out without great cost, and might result in the opening up of a lucrative outlet

for Canadian fruit.
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There is no doubt at this juncture that advantageous arrangements could be made
with a steamer or steamers plying between Montreal and Liverpool, which are now
f arnishing cold storage for butter, by which sufficient space could be secured for the
transportation in proper conditions and in quantities large enough to test the practica-
bility of the scheme.

By Mr. McGregor:

Q. There is another point while you are on your feet. Would you state the proper
way to pick apples, if the apple is properly matured to pack it away in the barrel and
get the best results ?-A. Early apples such as Duchess of Oldenburg and Red
Astrachan should be picked consecutively, that is the whole tree should not be gathered
at once. To get the most out of the fruit you should go over the tree two or three times,
beginning when the first specimens have begun to colour, picking the largest and finest
as they ripen; ship the fruit in small baskets and cover these baskets with netting of
some kind. By this early picking the remaining apples on the tree will reach a more
perfect state of development. In regard to winter apples, the usual method is to pick
them all at one time, because there is no object in going over the tree more than onc, as in
the case of suinmer varieties. After they are picked and graded and packed in barrels,
they are placed in a warehouse, where they are allowed to sweat for a day or two before
finally placing them in cold storage. If they are immediately placed in a cold cellar, for
instance, the difference in the temperature causes a condensation of moisture on the
surface of the apple, whichbrings them into a condition inducing rot. But if this sweating
process is allowed to take place in a drier atmosphere they will then be in a condition to
go into winter quarters in proper order,

By Mr. JcMillan:

Q. Do you approve of piling apples and leaving thein in heaps in the orchard ?-A.
No, I do not. I believe in placing them at once in boxes or barrels so that they can be
carried properly. Apples cannot be carried like potatoes. If they are dumped and
piled in heaps in the orchard a certain amount of bruising always take, place.

Q. I find there is a long needle-like worm gets into the apples when they are le:t
lying in the orchard and the fruit is more or less punctured ?-A. Wire worms and inilli
pedes I dare say would attack them but that would be ti ifling injury compared with the
injury sustained by dumping them in loose heaps upon the ground.

Q. My own belief is that apples should be put into barrels or boxes placed in some
building and allowed to lay three or four days before they are packed. Then they
should be packed, sealed up and sent off.-A. There is no doubt this sweating process is
a very important otie and should always be allowed to take place before the barrel is
headed and stored in the cellar.

By Mr. McGregor :

Q. People ought not to put their apples on the ground because the ground being
damp and the sun warm it will lead to early decay ?-A. I might say in regard to pick-
ing apples I have found a very satisfactory kind of picking vessel can be made out of an
ordinary two busiiel 'ack. Putting a potato or something of that sort in one corner it
gives you soinething to tie to. Then attach a strap to that with a snap on one end and
place a hoop in the mouth of the bag to which is attached a hook or ring. Then you
can hang it over your shoulder by means of the strap and you have the open mouth of
the sack before you. You can then go up a ladder and use both hands in picking and
the shape of the bag allows the apples to slide down without bruising. When it is
necessary to empty into a barrel, all you have to do is to remove the snap, lower the
bag gently into the barre], which may be done without bruising.

By the Chairman:

Q. In packing apples do you recommend the first layer of apples in the bottom of
the barrel being placed on end ?-A. Yes. I also recommend that the middle layer
be of the sane size as the end layer.
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Q. You would not place every layer on an end ?-A. If you did, the same as with
pears, it would pay and would certainly carry much better. Half barrels should always
be placed in layers. I always place two layers with the stem end down in the bottoin
of the barrel, and with a small package, say a bushel ami a half, it would not take long
to fill a whole barrel in that way, and when thoroughly packed there is no shaking and
the barrel goes to its destination in very much better shape.

By Mr. MfcMIfillan :

Q. A gentleman I know, was in the old country when apples were being sold. le
saw barrels from the continent taken into the saime roomws thtat didii not contaii q u ite
two bushels, while ours contained three, and lie told ne those barrels sold for nearly the
saine amount as ours. They were more neatly packed ?-A. There is no doubt, as Mr.
McMi Lan says, our growers do not realize the beiefits that will accrue to them by using
a neater and more attractive package for their fruit.

By Mr. Carpenter:

Q. Would you ship them in a small package ?-A. I would ship tliemn in a smaller
package and put them up more neatly. Pick consecutively. DIon't allow theri to ripen
fully on the tree. Picking hastily and shoving fruit on the market in a hurry always
results in considerable loss to the shipper.

By Mr. Ferguson:

Q. In reference to tobacco. I attempted to go into tobacco growirig once and the
grasshoppers drove me out.-A. Yes. That side of tobacco culture was discussed last
year, and I night say the first experience I have noted of the injurious effets of grass-
hoppers was in Wisconsin. I visited the tobaco regions tiere soile tliree years ago
and I found, in many places, that one of their principal enemies was the gra.ssiopper.
Very often four or five rows on the outside of the tobacco plantation iad tie leaves
riddled bv the attacks of grasshoppers. They used various devies there, both preventive
and reinedial. Among others they used whait is called a hopper dozer. a sort of sheet

iroi, shallow pan, which is drawn along the ground. At the back of this pan is a

vessel containing coal oil. As this was drawn along the grasshoppers jurrpe( iito the

coal oil and were thus destroyed. They also used Paris green on the plants. 1l ere, we
have thus far had no trouble with grassioppers whatever, and I think it would depend

upon where you grew your tobacco. If you grew it near a pasture field where grass-

hoppers were plentiful the outside rows might be damaged.

Having examined the preceding transcript of my evidence of the 6th and 12th

June, I find it correct.

JOHN CRAIG,
Horticulturist.
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APPENDIX.

By request of the committee, Mr. Craig submitted the following memorandum in
writing, outlining his views regarding the provisions necessary to successful shipment of
early and perishable fruits to foreign markets

There are many of our early fruits more or less perishable in character which cannot
be profitably disposed of in our domestie markets.

These fruits include peaches, early pears, plums, grapes and tom ttoes.
During periods when the market is overstocked much loss results from the ordinary

methods of handling them. The home markets being unable to dispose of large ship-
ments on short noÀice, much loss resuits both to grower and buyer, directly and
indirectly. This has an unsettling effect upon the trade, with disastrous results.

There are two ways of remedying this undesirable condition of affiairs.
lst. By the erection in fruit districts suitable buildings in which fruit may be stored

sufficiently long to tide over a glutted market or a period of weak demand.
2nd. District cold storage warehouses supplemented by a refrigerator car and steamer

service between home and foreign markets.
With these equipments growers would be able to market with more profit a larger

quantity of fruit, which would allow of the fruit area being increased without a corres
ponding falling off or lowering of prices.

I am of the opinion that storage buildings with a capacity of 10,000 barrels or this
equivalent of fruit, and cooled with ice and brine, can be erected and fitted at a cost not
exceeding $2,500.

Smaller storage buildings cooled with ice could probably be constructed at less than
half of this figure.

All fruit intended for storage or distant shipment should be picked when fully
grown, but before reaching perfect maturity.

Pears, peaclies and plums should be wrapped in tissue paper, and carefully packed
in small, light but strong boxes, holding f rom 50 to 75 specimens each.

Fruit will carry better and be stored with greater satisfaction if packed in wooden
boxes than in baskets.

In shipping toimatoes the smooth kinds only should be selected. They should be
picked just as they are beginning to colour, wrapped in tissue paper and packed in small
cases.

Another kind of package, specially adapted to the requirements of a high class
trade, is the compartment box, constructed on essentially the same plan as the egg case
of comiierce. This case has already been used to a limited extent by shippers near
Montreal for exporting to England carefully graded apples of high quality and of soft
texture. In this line there is certainly an opening for a lucrative trade, as the same kind
of package could be applied to selected pears and peaches.

I am of the opinion that a trial shipment of these fruits, made in the manner out-
lined above, aided by cold storage, would be a most valuable experiment which could be
carried out without great cost, and might result in the opening up of a lucrative outlet
for Canadian fruits.

There is no doubt at this juncture that advantageous arrangements could be made
with a steamer or steamers plying between Montreal and Liverpool, which are now fur-
nishing cold storage for butter, by which sufficient space could be secured for the trans-
portation in proper condition and in quantities large enough to test the practicability of
the scheme.

JOHN CRAIG,
Horticulturist.
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COMMITTEE lloo», No. 46.
HOusE OF COMMîONS,

Fumrîrx, 14th June, 18S95<.

The Select Standing Cormmittee on Agriculture and Colonization met this dav, at
10.30 o'clock a.m., Mr. Sproule, Chairman, presiding.

Mr. F. T. SHUTT, Chemist at the Central Experimnental Farm, was present, by
citation, and being called, addressed the Committee as follows:

Mr. Chairman and Gentlemen,-Havinig again been honoui ed witlh an invitat ion to
appear before you, I conceive it ny dlu ty this moring to presenit as brieflv and as clearly
as is consistent with the time that I have at my disposal an acco u nt of tire work carried
on by the chemical department at the Dominion Cent ral Experiirental Farmri during t he
past year. Every year is with us a busier one than tie last. i t is onli a maltter of a few
years since that our farmers were ignorant of the value of the appliiation of thre science
of chemistry to agriculture. But since the institution of the experiiientail farins, tie
farmers throughout the whole Dominuion, I mig-ht say, have learned to apreciate the
value of chenical knowledge as applied to their work, aid tiev have reaized iat im-
portant assistance may be obtained froi this science, whuiei it is mrY dlut y te preseit to
them. As this appreciation and realizatioi grow, tire demn s niraerde un r timire
become more and more nuinerous. I shall not take up orti m iiire t is moriiig iy
speaking at any iength with regard to the itimate relatioisiip ietwe eieistry ari
agriculture, and further, I do not think it is rat ail necessary firire, iern, te give aiy
illustrations to corroborate this stateuent. T aum fully aware thrat you ire cgnizatof
the fact that there is such an intimate relationsip, timt lier is great value to be
obtained from the application of exact scieitific iiforiratioi to lie orai of agricu-
ture. However, I think that it will be ighly satisfactorv fori vou tro 'air tIat owiig,
I presume, to the publication of the annual reports aid bulltiis uf te exp i cerina
farms, and of the fact that mnany addresses iave brein dlivIi ered b) 1<f1or e cnvii%'eiiions of

agriculturists throughout the country, tiat the farrimers are availinrg tiolves mrrore
and more of these advantages whilch the Domrinrior Goverinmrieirt uflers t hemi throu g thie
farms, to improve both their methods and increase their knorw g ii i Iteir work.

CHEMISTRY A PRIME PRoMOTER OF PRFiTALE iA MiIG.

I think you will all agree witlh me that in thesfe (irys of keen eiion, ii agri-
culture as well as in other vocations, that it is only tiose whrlo have iae timrrnselvtes
masters of all there is to know witi respect to their work, who cai iopi t, phiace hem-

selves in the front rank. This matter mrust be as gratifying to vou as i s ti me, and,
in fact, I think it is most encouraging for the future of agriculttre. i tiiîik ail those

that are interested in the welfare of our country generally, mu-t besince this is an
agricultural countrv-equally interested in the welfare of tie arers: an 1 i saV itiat
this condition of affairs must be particularly gratifying and satisfactory to ther as it is
to us who have charge of the work.

I have onlv one thing to say in connection with that pharmrse of tie subject, aid that

is this: that these ever-increasing demands upon our time will neces-itate in the irear

future an enlargement of the scientific staff in ie cieinical divisionf. The work has

already for some tirne past outgrown the possibilities of tre preseit staff, whih consists

of myself and an expert assistant. If we are iii any way to keep areast of the work

which is asked of us, it will be absolutely necessary that there should be further expert
and analytical assistance in my division.

DIV-ISION OF WORK IN THE CHEMICAL BRANCH--CORRESPONDENCE.

I will now very shortly bring before you the principal subdivisions of my work, not
dwelling at any length upon those which do not require to be spoken of

in detail in this committee. First of all, there is the correspondence.
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During the past year, the correspondence received and despatched, numbered
2,288 letters, an increase of nearly 800 letters over the preceding year. This fact
alone, I think, testifies to the usefulness and the increasing popularity of the
chemical woi k. These letters are, of course, letters of inquiry, and touch
upon ail branches of agriculture. They contain questions on dairying and horticulture
and general farming, anything and everything wherein the inquirer thinks that chemical
information will be of assistance to him. For iny own part, I feel convinced that this
branch of work (that is to say, the correspondence branch) has been the one which has
served, more perhaps than anything else, to popularize, and convince the general farmer
of the value and usefulness of the experimental farm. From the figures that I have
given you, you may see that they have not been slow to avail themselves of the oppor-
tunities afforded them. As I mentioned a few moments ago, it is but a few years since
that our farmers did not understand anything with respect to the application of chem-
istry to farming ; the correspondence, now amounting to some 3,000 letters, therefore,
gives an indication whereby we may judge of the value the farmers place upon the
information afforded them by this government institution.

By M!r. Dyer:

Q. One of the other Professors gave us somewhat similar figures. Do I understand
you to say that the 3,000 letters would probably be received this year by your depart-
ment alone ?-A. Yes, alone.

Q. Then, each Professor speaks of his own letters only ?-A. Yes. I am only
speaking of the chemical department. As has been very well said by the press of Can-
ada, our farm in all its departments bas now become a bureau of information, and I
think we have in that way been a means of awakening the interest of the farmers in
the scientific side of their work and of helping them by a process of education which
must undoubtedly bring forth fruit in the future.

By Mr. Girouard (Two Mountains) :

Q. I would like to know from you if the province of Quebec has taken advantage
of your office?-A. Yes.

Q. Of your departmnent?-A. Yes.
Q. And asked you questions ?-A. Yes. I have not a synopsis of the letters re-

ceived from each province, but the province of Quebec stands very well in comparison
with the others.

sUBJECTS OF PUBLIC ADDRESSEs.

Of agricultural addresses I have delivered some twenty during the past year.
They have been delivered before the principal horticultural, agricultural and dairying
associations of Ontario, Quebec, Nova Scotia and New Brunswick. The principal
object in view in these addresses lias been to impart fundamental elementary knowledge
respecting the requirements of farm crops, the nature of plant food, and the sources of
plant food, the fertilization of orchards and fruit trees, the composition and value of
natural and artificial fertilizers, the value of Canadian-grown fodders for feeding pur-
poses, and the testing of milk, &c. The attendance at these conventions bas been most
encouraging, both to those who have had in hand the organization of the conventions,
and also to the speakers. The number of questions asked at the close of the addresses
lias shown that the farmers feel that they have in these conventions the opportunity of
obtaining much useful information. I am of the opinion that the plan of addressing
farmers at conventions throughout the Dominion, as far as our time and appropriation
will admit, is one which is doing very much towards bringing, on the one hand, us into
touch with the farmers individually, so that we can understand their pressing and
peculiar wants, and, on the other, one which brings them directly into touch with the
experimental farm system-so that they always afterwards read our reports with greater
understanding and with more pleasure and certainly very much more profit to themselves.
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ANALYSIS OF SOILS AND PRODUCTS.

In addition to the original investigations carried on ii tihe chenical departient, it is
sought, as far as possible, to render assistance to farners by the exaninationof suci sanples
as may be taken in for analysis. Of course, no work of this claracter is undertaken, the
results of which would benefit the individual only. it is apparent that such> would he ii pos-
sible ; nevertheless, there are many samples forwarded by individuals, the resulhs of the
analysis of which and the publication of ny report thereon, would not only beniefiti the
farier who sends the samples, but be of value to a large portion of the comnuiunity iIn the
district wherein the farmer lives. In such a case, I consider it well, as far as time per-
mits, to make the analysis. i refer, in speaking of such saiples, to deposis of swamp
muck and peat and such naturally-occurring fertilizers as fisl waste and sea-weed. Sucb
iaterials can be obtained in certain parts of our J)Iminio Inv territorcovers fromn
the Pacific to the Atlantic-free of expense as regards the pucliasinru co st. Conse-
quently, althougli the analysis may be asked for by an iidividual, the results will be
of value to the farmers in the comnunitv.

Under the sarne category comes the estimation of the feeding and the mnanurial
value of Canadian grown plants and aninial products.

WATER FOR DOMESTIC CONSUMPTION.

There is, however, one exception to the ruie whicl I have necessarily mmhd not to un-
dertake work which would benefit the individ ual only, aynd that excep t ioi is tlie exainiira-
tion of samples of well-water. I have on several previous occasions, before this clous ittee,
emphasized the great need of impressing upon our p>eople the importance of a fuli w'ater
supply upon the farm, not only as conducive to their own IealIth and tle hiealth and
thriftiness of their cattie, but to the production of pure niik and lirst class dairy pîro-
ducts, We have accordingly continued this very t.,ood missinary work. I may
say that we analyze the water free of expense for ail those who wilI coilect a sarple of
their well-water according to instructions which we issue, and forward it to us, pre-
paying the express charges. I am aware, however, that the timie is cing wlien the
demand made upon us in this inatter will necessitate the charging of sonæie simali fee
for the analysis. However, in the meantirme I wish to continue this work upoI the
lines we are now doing, because I feel confident that it is one of the most isefil aid inm-
portant, not only to agriculturists generally, but more especially to the dairyinîg ini-
dustry. Our report for 1894 gives the data repecting fifty samîples of water analysed
in our laboratory lastyear, and I regret to say tiat as heretofore a large pencentage of
the samples were such as to make it absolutely necessary for me to condemn them. I
do not propose to enter this norning into any discussion of tlis question fuler tlan to
say that I am of a very decided opinion regarding the pernicious efi-cts of contaminated

water, water contaminated or polluted from the barnyard, cesspools or similar sources,
and that I think we are doing a verv good work in the chenical department by drawinlg
the attention of our farmers to this matter. I am of the opinion thlat it is 'f equal im-
portance that the water should be good as that the food slould bi niutritious and]
wholesome. While our farners understand in irany instances. inded ii the ii;jority
of instances, the absolute necessity, if econony and profit are to result, that the forod

should be nutritious and wholesonie, they do not realize thîat pol]uted water can be
dangerous, especially in this matter of affecting the digestive funict ion-. I right say that
I drew attention to this matter in a public way at the convent ion of the American

and Canadian Health Association in Montreal, and the publicatiori of that paper in thre
press was fraught with very much benefit to the Canadian population. It also drew

the attention of those on the other bide of the line to the fact that we were alive

to the question and were looking after the interests of our farmers in this niatter.
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CLASSES OF SUBSTANCES RECEIVED FOR ANALYSIS.

Of the samples I have referred to, received between lst May, 1894, and lst May,
1895, the total number was 270, made up as follows :

To the naturally-occurring belong mucks, muds, marls and matter
related ........ . . ...... ............................. 67

Soils.......... ...... ...... ................. ... ........... 64
C attle foods............................. .. .... 13
1Inecticides and fungicides.. . . 8
Waters.................................................. 68
D airy products.. .............................. ........ 6
iMiscellaneous...... ...... ... ... ...... .... ............ 44

The numbers received from each province were as follows :
British Columbia...... .................................... 44
North-West Territories......................,.............. 9
Manitoba ........................... .... .............. 8
Ontario .... .................. ........... ............... 116
Q u eb ec .. . .. . . .... . . . . . . . .. . ... .. . . . .. . . . . . . . . . . . .. .. 3 7
New Brunswick...... .... .. .................... ..... 8
Nova Seotia.... ................................... .. . 26
Prince Edward Island... .................................. 22

Total................................. .270

It will be impossible for me to refer in any detail this morning to the reports whieh
have been issued c n these various samples, but I shall call your attention very briefly to
some of the principal classes, and then I shall be very happy to answer any questions
which any meniber of the comnittee may put to me, either with respect to the work
whicb I allude to, or that which I pass over.

FERTILIZERS,-SWAMP MUCK.

Briefly then, I would refer first to the samples of swamp muck. We have con-
tinued our investigations that we commenced soine vears ago upon these naturally-
occurring fertilizers. I use this term " naturally-occurring" ni contradistinction to the
commercial fertilizers and barn-yard manure. These naturally-occurring fertilizers
comprise chiefly the vast deposits of swamp muck to be found in various parts of the
Dominion. This material, as doubtless you are aware, is formed by the gradual
accumulation of decayed vegetable matter in the presence of water. Consequently it is
exceedingly rich in humus, and contains a very considerable quantity of nitrogen,
nitrogen being one of the three essential elements of fertility. The value then, from a
nanurial standpoint, of our swamp mucks, is : first, in the nitrogen that they contain,

and, secondly, in the humus which they possess. Very little, however, of the nitrogen
which they contain is immediately available for plant use. Fermentation must first
ensue in the compost heap, which process converts the nitrogen into soluble and avail-
able forms. We can see thus that the farmers in many parts of the Dominion, by using
proper methods, may obtain a very large amount of this most important element of fer-
tility, nitrogen, at a very small cost, and that they can by means of an amount of
trouble which is by no means excessive, convert that nitrogen into forms which are
equal in value to those whici they purchase in the more expensive forms of nitrate of
soda and sulphate of ammonia. We have, therefore, to consider muck as a highly
nitrogenous natural fertilizer, and one obtained at very little cost in the majority of
instances.

Apart from its manurial value, however, I advise its use on account of its proper-
ties as an absorbeA. I think it should be used, wherever it is easily obtainable, in the
pig-pen, or indeed wherever there may be liquid manure to absorb. By such means a
great deal of the valuable fertilizing elements contained in the liquid manure-and I
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may mention that the liquid manure is by far the most valuable part of the manure
produced on the farm-by its use the fertilizing constituents in this liquid manure may
be saved. Otherwise, this liquid fertilizer would be lost, and probably finid its way
into the farm well, or render the conditions of the farm buildings and surroundings dirty
and unhealthy. The fermentation which ensues after the peat or inuck has absorbed the
liquid manure, is one which brings about the availability of the nitrogen of the mîuck itself.
To sum it all up then I would say that the fermentation which subsequentlv ensues after
the absorption of the liquid inanure converts the plant food in the muck into soluble
form, and at the saine timne prevents much valuable fertilizer from going to waste.

I have received many opinions fron various parts of Canada with respect to the
use and application of this material. Il giving adv*ice I have endeavoured to be giiided
by the opinions of the most successful agriculturists of this country. To this cn] I
have procured data from practical men. As a result I have coie to the conciusion that
the best practice is to dig the muck in the autuin, anl allow it to be exposed toi tle
frost during winter. This improves it n inany ways. It vill correct acidity, dry it,
and make it a better absorbent and vastlv improve its imieehanical condition. I t
should then be drawn into the barnyard and used there, in the cow sheds and pig pens,
&c., or it may be used directly in the compost heap, alternatig it witli livers of harn-
yard manure or with w ood ashes and lime. Of course it wvoull not he wel to compost
this material with wood aslhes and lime and barnyard ianiure, thils would iad to loss of
nitrogen ; but if barnyard manure is io t available, wood asies or wood asies :ind lim1e
will answer. It is not advisuble to apply this material b toi soil in its cru(le fori ; it
should be first subjected to the ferimientation process. I have one imore riiiark to add on
this subject, namely : that thie ferimentation requires both air aid i iisture to proceed
satisfactorily. Conequently the advice is not to keep the conpost lieai so soaked wNith
water that the air cannot perneate it. We nulst liave the right d-gree of iîoistuire,
but the air must also be able to perneate the mass, so that th mcicr-organism of fiar-
mentation may have a favourable enviromnent for developiment. Aloistui-i, leat and air
are the three requisites for fermentation.

Q. Don't you think a direct application of this muuck to ligit 'oils woil be an
advantage ?-A. I think it would be from the meclianical aspect, in îicrasing the re-
tentive capacity of the soil for moisture and otherwise improing tie tilti. I do iot
think, how ver, that in a light sanly soil tliere would be iiucl of the paiit food of the
muck rendered available. It has a ineclhnuical value for both light and1 heavv ay soil.
I always consider, however, more econoiiical to first compost it. ()uIr report foir 1894
contains the analysis of 18 samples, eollbetel froim Prince Edxward Jslaiid to tle North-
west Territories. The average quantity of nitrogen founl in tIe air- dried aterial was
27. pounds to the ton. Nitrogen in commercial fertilizers costs in t nleighbourhood
of 1.5 cents per pound. I an of opinion that, after being fermîented, the nitrogn of
muck would closely approximate the value of that in commercial fertilizers. We can,
therefore, realize the value of this material.

SEA-WEED.

I now desire to detain the committee for a few minutes on the subject of sea-weed.
From the fact thAt there are very large deposits of sea-weed Onl both the Atlartic and
Paciflc coasts of the Dominion, it was thought advisable to ascertain its manurial value.
Our analysis briefly shows as follows. One ton of the fresh material was founîd to
contain:

Lbîs.

Nitrogen ............. ............................. .. .. 9 -36
Phosphoric acid ......... ....................... ..... 2 . 18
P otash.......... ........ ..... ................ ...... 40 -50

Since the fresh sea-weed contains a vry higli percentage of water, the above
amounts could easily be increased by allowing it to partly dry out on the shore before

hauling it to the farm. These figures show that undoubtedly we have a valuable fertili-
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zer in sea-weed, as io is particularly rich in potash. It is one that readily decomposes
in the soil, giving up its constituents for plant use almost inmediately. This quality or
property greatly enhances its value.

By Mr. Bouers:

Q. In my county (Digby, N. S.) we think that sea-weed applied to grass land
forces the grass, and after a while leaves the land very poor. To use it for several years
and then not to apply it for one or two vears, the land seems to be entirely run out.
-A. In light soils the tendency is for the plant to take up everything that is avail-
able. I presume in your case you have been taking out year by year all that you have
been putting in. Especially with the light soils under the system you have pursued,
you have not been able to build up the fertility of the soil. Light sandy soils do not
make a good store bouse for the preservation of plant food.

Q. Even with medium soils, in grass land particularly, the sea-weed seems to
force a great crop of grass, but if you do not follow it up every year the land deter-
iorates ?-A. That is so. I wish it to be distinctly understood that the effects of sea
weed are principally those obtained the year of application. If you want an extra-
ordinary crop of grass every year you would need to apply the fertilizer. The
grass really feeds on the sea weed and uses it all up.

By Mr. Perry:

Q. How would it do on heavy clay soils ?-A. It gives the best results on the
lighter soils ; soils that are warm and light, not too dry and not too wet. The sea-
weed requires to ferment before it is of any practical value to crops and it ferments
best in those soils that the air can easily permeate and that have a fair amount of
m oisture.

By Mr. Carpenter:

Q. Do you recommend it as a top dressing?-A It should be harrowed under
lightly. There is one other point in connection with the use of sea-weed. The effect of
using it, it is easy to see, would be to enrich the land more particularly in one element.
You would notice that it is essentially a potash fertilizer, and in that sense is not a coin-
plete manure unless it is supplemented. I would suggest therefore that it should be ap-
plied with bone meal, say 20 to 30 tons to the acre, together with bone meal, or super-
phosphate would prove an excellent fertilizer for general farm crops. Occasionally plough
under a crop of clover or its aftermath to supply nitrogen.

ANALYSIS OF SOILS.

I will now proceed to speak of the original investigations which have been carried
on by the chemical department of the Experimental Farm. Hitherto I have spoken of
the more important agricultural analyses which have been made, fuller reports upon
which appear in my report for 1894. Of original research investigations that have been
in progress, the principal, perhaps, is that in connection with the virgin soil of Canada.
During the year 1894 we made complete chemical analysis of ten soilso all of which were
represenitative of large areas that had never been cropped or mianured, that is to say, they
were truly virgin soils. The analytical data and full reports upon these soils are to
be found in my report, which has recently been published. It will be practicably
impossible for me to enter into any detailed notice of them this morning as my time
is limited. I may say, however, that they go to show that Canada possesses in
her various provinces soils rich in plant food, and comparing most favourably with
the best and most fertile virgin soils of other countries. I might mention that among
the specimens examined last year were some representative of the fertile soils of our
North-west prairies, and of the alluvial deposits on the British Columbian coas4s,
and particularly the soil formed by the Fraser River. Al these soils were marked
by the possession of a very large percentage of the essential constituents of plant
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food, and we cannot but regard them as being exceedingly rich soils-soils which
will compare most favourably with the very best virgin soils of other countries. The
committee will pardon me speaking so briefly on this important subject, but vou will
under stand that this is such an extensive subject that if I went into it in detai] and
gave all the pereentages in these soils it would more than take up thre tinie at my dis-
posal. In connection with the analytical data of the soils to which I have referred, I
have endeavoured to point out what would be a rational, economical and profitable treat-
ment as regards fertilizers for these soils.

GREEN CROPS AS FERTILIZERS.

I might again very briefly point out in connection with light soils the value of
green manures, more especially when for this purpose le-gumes are used. I think it was
on this occasion last year that in the course of the disc ussion it ýwas brouglht out tiat
the legumes are a family of plants whieh obtain in a large measure their essential and
valuable constituent, nitrogen, fron the atmosplhere. We have iii the legumes-I refer
now to the clover, pease and beans, a class of plans wlilh appropriate and assimi-
late a large proportion of atnospheric nitrogen, which may' be of use to future crops,
by simply ploughing it under. When we examine the most fertile soils iii all parts
of the world we find they are those which are invariably rieh in nitrogen, so tiat it
becomes very good economy to see that our clays and our sandy soils are eniricled and
kept in good heart by a liberal application of organie inanures in otler words, mainures
which contain both humus and nitrogen. I know of no other cheaper wiy of doing this,
than that of turning under a green crop, more especially when tliat green ctop is of th'e
legumes. On many of our farms we do not keep sufficient cattie to produee enough
manure to properly dress the whole land, and, this being the, case, I woukl particularly
recommnend the turning in of clover.

By fr. Carpenter:

Q. At what stage do you recommend turning it in ?-A. While it is in flower.

By Mr. Semiple :

Q. What is your opinion of ploughing under rye ?-A. It adds a very large aImounlt
of humus to the soil and will improve the mechaiical condition of the soil, besides unpart-
ing other benefits; but it does not add anything to the soil w hich lias not ien in the

soil in the first instance, in the way of plant food. It lias rendered more availale somie

of the original plant food in the soil. Clover obtains the larger proportion of its nitro-

gen from the atmnosphere, consequently we make a distinct addition to thre plant food in
the soil by making use of it in this way.

By Mr. McGregor:

Q. What about buckwheat?-A. Buckwheat does not take its nitrogen from the
atmosphere either, but for the same reasons already given, it is very useful.

By Mr. Pridham :

Q. Vhat effect would feeding animals on the land have, say sleep or lambs, on
the crop following?-A. You would have a certain amîourit of plant food taken out of

the crop by the sheep. Consequently if the sheep were not being fed anything beside

the crop you would not add the same amount of plant food to thie soil (im the iaitiure

from the animals) that you would if -you turned the crop under. On the other band to

offset that you have it rendered somewhat more availale. The digestive functions of
the sheep would render the plant food, which finally passes out as manure, more readily
available for crops, but you would not have the same suim total of plant food, because

part of it would be retained by the growing animals.
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By Mr. McMillan:

Q. Would not the quantity of food taken depend upon whether they were lambs or
s'îeep ?-A. The manure from the sheep would be richer in fertilizing constituents. The
1 tmbs take more out of the food than the sheep.

By Mr. MfcGregor:

Q. It would depend upon the quantity of the sheep ?-A. Undoubtedly. I would
like to say tlis in connection with green manures. There is a greater benefit, where it
is at all possible, in feeding the clover rather than ploughing it under, because then two
profits will be obtained. From 70 to 80 per cent of plant food constituents will be
returned in the manure, and a profit will be obtained by the feeding of cattle. How-
ever, where this is not practicable, I would advise the growing and turning under of al]
green crops.

WOOD ASHES, LIME AND SALT AS FERTILIZERS.

In conjunction with this method of manuring by green crops I would say one or
two words by the way of emphasizing the value of w ood ashes. Wood ashes would
suppleinent such a green crop-would supplement it in the fertilizing constituents which
it chiefly lacks, and also assist in the decomposition of the humus in the soil. Super-
phosphate or bone dust would be valuable in supplying additional phosphoric acid. We
have thus to consider the green manures as more particularly nitrogenous, supplying
the other constituents by means of wood asbes and phosphate.

Q. Would you use any lime ?-A. Yes, wood ashes contain a considerable amount
of lime, but it would do no harm to add wood ashes with lime at the saine time that
you turn under your green crop. Speaking of lime, it reminds nie that in many of our
Canadian soils I find what I may termi a minimum amount of lime. Agricultural chem-
ists consider that less than one per cent is too low for the best returns and there are
many of our soils which contain less than one per cent of lime. Undoubtedly such
soils would be benefited by a judicious, though certainly not an indiscriminate, use of
lime.

Q. Would you use salt at the same time ?-A. Not necessarily. Salt in itself is
iot a direct fertilizer. The elements of sait, while they are contained in plants, yet are

present in such simall percentage that it is not as a rule necessary to supply them in the
way of fertilizers. There is an indirect use of salt which renders it valuable, more
especially for clay soils.

By Mr. McMillan:

Q. For a heavy clay soil it is one of the worst things you can put in, tending to
" puddle " the soil ?-A. Salt? That is contrary to nost of the opinions in the standard
text books. It is generally held to flocculate and thus improve the tilth of clay soils.
Salt also liberates potash in the soil for the use of crops.

By Mr. Carpenter :

Q. You would recommend pasturing off clover, I suppose then ploughing
under the sod ? You attach some value to the roots ?-A. Yes, there is a large amount
of nitrogen in the roots. The crops could either be cut or fed on the field, perhaps the
first plan is preferable in most cases.

Q. You would pasture off the clover and turn under the sod ?-A. I don't
necessarily mean pasture off it, but feed in some way; as dry feed or ensilage.

By Mr. McMfillan:

Q. I think it a wasteful course to pursue, ploughing clover under altogether ?-
A. No; not necessarily so. I consider that it would be a practical method of adding
humus and nitrogen; but, as I explained, there may be an extra profit by feeding the
clover and carefully preserving the resulting manure.
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By 3fr. M'fcKeill :

Q. Do you consider clover the best crop for that purpose, as a rule ?-A. Yes. Pease
grow luxuriantly and are also rich in nitrogen, but, taking evervthing into consideration
and the depth to which the clover roots grow, I am of opinion that clover takes the first
place as a green manure.

By Mr. Henderson:

Q. Speaking of salt, wvhat quantity should you use ?-A. This matter of its value
to soil is debatable. I pointed out that it is not a (lirect fertilizer. We cannot con-
sider the elements which compose salt as being necessary to plant growth, because
they are already contained in soils in suflicient quantities for the requirunents of farm
crops. The question occurs, what is the value of sait in agriculture On mrany soils
where it has been indiscriminately applied it has dlonie more harmii than good. As I
mentioned a mo:ment ago, it is held by nanv that it flocculates clay soil equally well with
lime, but we have beard to-day a contradictory opinion.

Q. That is why I asked the question ; to get at an idea of what quantity it would
be proper to use. You say it may be over done. You mrav use too much of it ?-A.
Yes ; 300 lbs is probably a good dressing. Perhaps Mr. IcM illan could gie anopinion.

By Mr. Mc TMilan:

Q. Well, we have to put in three and four hundred pounds to the acre. I know
of one field that was being sumnmer fallowed close to where there had been a salt hock.
There was a lot of salt in it. It was a ten acre field and it was thouht would be
destroyed, but it had one of the strongest fall wheat crops ever seen A. WIat was
the character of the soil?

Q. It was a clay loam ?-A. From 100 to 300 pounds is the usual quantity.
Q. The only way we use salt at present is with the imangels, which are very much

improved by it. We apply from 300 to 400 pounds to the acre before we imake oui
drills ?-A. Most authorities are agreed that between 100 and 500 pounds is the usual
application per acre. There is one other iatter in connection with the functioni of salt
it probably renders available the potash in the soil. Mangels and all r<ot crops take up
a large quantity of potash. It very probably perforns the saume functions for a crop of
wheat.

SUPPLEMENTARY FERTILIZERS.

I would like to place on record that I consider wood asies and superphosphate or
bone meal more particularly are the correct fertilizers to supplement the eb>ver, and
that I think there are many poor soils that could be brought into excellent cndition of
fe'rtilitv bv the adoption of this method of growing legumes and adding the potash and
phosphorie acid in the forms I have mentioned.

By Mr. McVell :

Q. What proportion of ashes and bone meai would you apply per acre ?-A. If
wood ashes are obtainable-from 30 to 100 bushiels. A good deal would depend upon
the character of the soil in the first place., and, in the second, upon the crop which you
intend to grow. Bone meal may be applied fromt 100 pounds to 600 pounds per acre.

By Mfr. McG'regor :

Q. When would you use the green manure 2-A. I would plough the crop under
when it is in flower.

Q. When would you apply the ashes ?-A. I would apply the ashes in the spring,
and the bone meal in the autumn.

Q. When would you use the ashes-after the ground has been ploughed ?-A. Yes,
and then harrow them in. It is not necessary to harrow to a great depth.
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By Mr. Mc Neill:

Q. What quantity of bone meal would you use ?-A. From 100 to 300 pounds.
Q. What does bone meal cost ?-A. I have not the price list with me, but I think

it is from $30 to $35 per ton.

By Mr. Carpenter :

Q. In some sections of the country we have a difficulty in procuring ashes?-- A.
Where the ashes are not obtainable you can get kainit or muriate of potash. In such
forms it is often cheaper than the wood ashes, and you would not require the same
amount of kainit or muriate as you would of wood ashes. Kai;it is used at the rate of
300-700 pounds to the acre. It contains about 13 per cent of potash. Muri te of
potash contains approximately 50 per cent of potash. It is used at the rate of about
200 pounds per acre.

COMPONENTS OF THE APPLE.

We have been enabled this year to continue our investigation into the chemistry of
the apple. It was in the year 1890, I think, that I published the results of our 'nalysis
of the leaves, results which showed the amount of the important constituents witiidrawn
from the soil by the leaves, and consequently the partial requirements of the
plant for its well being and growth. In the present report I have given the comp si-
tion of the fruit, showing the important constituents withdrawn from the soil by the
fruit, so that where the fruit is sold we may be able to estimiate the extent to which
the soil has suffered in that connection. The apples which were eximined were the
Duchess of Oldenburg, the Wealthy, the Fameuse and the Northern Spy. We
found that in 1,000 pounds of the mature but still green apple leaves there are of
nitrogen 8.87 pounds, phosphoric acid 1-94 pounds and potash, 3-92 pounds. Then I
state that, assuming the weight of the leaves produced by a full grown tree to be 50
pounds (this is of course merely an approximate estimate), and that there are 40 trees
to the acre, we obtain the following figures :-

Nitrogen.............................. 17-74 pounds per acre.
Phosphorie acid.......................... 388
Potash................................... 7-84

These figures, therefore, represent approximately the amounts of the chief fertilizing
ingredients withdrawn per acre by the leaves from the soil.

By Mr. McMillan:

Q. That would be mostly returned to the soil when the leaves fell ?-A. I pre-
sume so.

By the Chairman:

Q. If they are not blown away ?-A. Yes.
With respect to the fruit, the result of our analyses go to show that a barrel of

apples approximately contains :-

N itrogen ....................................... 0-9 ounces.
Phosphorie acid ........................... ...... 0-5
P otash ...... .... .... .... ................... .... 3 -5

Assuming that 40 trees per acre in an orchard 25 years old, vield on an average
160 barrels, the following would represent the amount of the chief elements of fertility
that are taken f rom the soil by the crop in that area :

N itrogen.......... ....................... ...... 8-9 lbs.
Phosphorie acid ......... ....................... 5·3 "
Potash.......................................... 32-8
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You will see from this that the apple crop is not what might be termed an ex-
haustive one. It ought to be a very easy matter to return to the soil a concomitant
amount of fertilizing materials to replace those annually removed by the apple crop.

By Mfr. Bowers :

Q. These con-tituents, such as nitrogen and the others quoted-are they taken
from the atmosphere by the apple ?-A. With respect to the elements I have quoted,
none of them are derived by the apple froin the atmnosphere. Nitrogen, potash and
phosphoric aci t, the requireinents of the plant for life and growth, are elements for
which it has to draw upon the soil.

By the Chairman :

Q. Have you found out by analysis what the constituent eleimtents of the apple are?
-A. Yes, we have.

Q. I mean have vou the figures with you ?-A. Yes, I have the composition of the
fruit. The composition of the fruit, giving the average of four varieties, is 8.98 per
cent of water, 12-4 per cent organic mtatter, 28 per cent of ash, that is the average com-
position in the apple. The nitrogen is '0428 pet cent. I have calculated fromîî this the
amount per acre and have already given you that data.

By Mr. MeKeill :

Q. Judging from these facts you have just given us, Mr. Shlutt, what manure
would you recommend for the orchard, provided that barn-yard mnanture is not easily
obtainable ?-A. I should advise a green crop in the first place.

Q. Clover ?-A. Yes, hecause that is, as I have already mentioned, a nitrogein col-
lector, and one which would not only enrich the soil in hunms, but also to give it a con-
vertible supply of nitrogen. I think it would also benefit an orchard very nmuch
physically, by improving the absorbent power of the soil.

By Mr. McMillarn:

Q. Is it settled by science as to whether the clover draws the nitrogen fron tHe
air through the leaf or fromn the soil through the root?-A. Fronm the air thtat is in the
soil, through the root by means of tubercles and the bact'ria contained in thtem.

By Mr. McNeill:

Q. What else would vou use after the green crop?-A. I would suppleient that
by an application of unleached wood a-hes; 2.5 to 40 bushels to the acre. Then
100-300 lbs. of bone meal or super-phosphate.

Q. That would be sufficient to maintain the fertility ?-A. That would be sufficient.
If the soil were one which was particula ly deficient in lime, it migltt be well te add
some lime. I ought to know something of the soil before speaking too definitely
as to the treatment, because soils differ so much in composition and in ciaracter, but I
am speaking now within limits of what would be useful for soils in general.

By Mr. Pridhan

Q. How would you apply the ashes ?-A. Spread them over the land. They
could then be harrowed in after the ploughing of the green clover.

Q. On the surface ?-A. Yes.

By Mr. McKeill :

Q. Would it be necessary to h;trrow them in or would it do just to scatter them on
the surface ?-A. They would do without harrowing, especially if it were in a rainy
seaiion.
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What I have already said as to muriate of potash, is applicable also to kainit.
Kainit contains about 13 per cent of potash, and the muriate about 50 per cent.
These results are according to analyses. I have made out several formulae for fertilizers
for an orchard, and these are published in my report.

By Mr. Pridharn :

Q. In our county quite a few have sown gypsum round their crops, clover, &c.
You think that is a good thing ?-A. More particularly for clover. It is a good thing
in many ways I think. First of all it is a direct supplier of plant food, and in the
second place it liberates potash, whieh is an element particularly wanted by leafy crops,
more especially clover and peas. They are crops which are specially benefited by
potash, and the effect of the gypsum, or land-plaster, in soils, is to liberate the locked
up stores of potash in the soil.

By Mr. McNeili :

Q. Do I understand you have published in your report, formulæ for fertilizers for
orchards ?-A. I did not insert th&t part.

Q. The reason I have been asking you these questions is that I find a number of
people in mny section of country object to having large orchards, on the ground that
they cannot supply manure for them, which I think is a very unfortunate view for thein
to take ?-A I will read one or two now if you like. The following formula consists of
commercial fertilizeis only, and is as follows

Nitrate of soda .... ......... ......... .............. 100 lbs.
Ground bone (tine)... ............................... 100 "
Superphosphate................... .... .... ........ 125 "
Muriate of potash ................... ....... ........ 150 "

Q. That is per acre ?-A. Yes.
Q. Could you give any idea of what that would cost per acre ?-A. I have not the

trade prices with me, but I could figure it up approximately. By buying in large
quantities it would be about $7.

Q. You think the green manure, supplemented with wood ashes, where available,
would be sufficient ?-A. Yes; and a certain amount of bone meal.

Q. How much bone meal with the wood ashes ?-A. From 100 to 200 lbs., because
there is a certain amount of phosphoric acid in the wood ashes. The bone meal has 20
to 25 per cent. of phosphorie acid.

COMPoNENTS OF THE STRAWBERRY.

The chemistry of the strawberry plant vas the next investigation which we under-
took, and what was done respecting the apple has beea repeated in the case of the
strawberry. The varieties analyzed were Sharples, Crescent, Wilson and Manchester.
The whole plant, including the root while in flower, was taken for analysis with the
following result :-

One thousand lbs. of the plant contain on the average-
Nitrogen...................................... .. 5.07 lbs.
Phosphoric acid. ....... ..................... ... 1.39
P otash....... ...... ..... ... ........... .......... 5.75

If we estimate 50,000 plants to the acre, there will be withdrawn from that area
of soil:

Nitrogen.............. . ......................... 47.5 lbs.
Phosphoric acil ................................... 13.0 "
Potash ............................... .......... .53.9 "

The only further remark which I wish to make in regard to the strawberry plant
is that, as the growing, and more particularly the fruiting season, is short, the strawberry
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to bear well must have access to a large anount of immediately available plant food.
Unless this demand is satisfied, during this short period, the best returns cannot be
obtained.

By Mr. McMillan:

Q. I heard a discussion about ploughing the orchard and keeping it in grass. One
gentleman of large experience stated that the orhard which was kept in grass produced
the best eaing quality of fruit.-A. Ilhe opinion of the majority of orchardists is that
it is better to plough the orchard. I have no opinion to give on that subject. I (o not
know of any accurate data in connection with it, but I have never heard that the
quality of the fruit was improved by leaving the orchard in grass.

By Mr. Bowers :

Q. What is the best time for fertilizing the strawberry plant ?-A. It would
depend somewhat on the soil, but if bone ineal is applied I would put it on in the
autumn. Such soluble manures as nitrate of soda should be applied as a top dressing
during the early growing period in the spring. It is a quickly acting nanure, and if
applied in the winter and rainy weather, and rainy weather sets in, the greater part of
the nitrate is lost through being leached out. The best fertilizer for the strawberry
crop is barnyard manure, supplemented by one which contains potash.

By the Chairman :

Q. Would wood ashes do ?-A. Certainly. Tiat would do very well and, if not
obtainable, kainit or muriate may be used. The soils should be mnuch richer than would
be considered necessary, on account of the short season. It should have a large store of
plant food.

By .1r. Bowers:

Q. You can never get too much manure on the strawberries ?-A. I should scarcely
like to say that, because if it caine a wet season and you had applied a considerable amount
of barnyard inanure you would have a large development of leaves to the probable detri-
ment of the fruit. The fruit grower must, of course, use his own judgnent.

THE FOOD COMPONENTS OF CORN AT VARIOUS STAGES OF DEVELOPMENT.

Before closing, I want to speak on the matter of Indian corn as a fodder crop.ý lIt
is a very important crop, and for fodder only ranks next to grass. Indeed anongwinter
fodders it takes a first place.

By Mr. McGregor:

Q. What ratio per ton of each does it stand to clover or timothy hay I-A. As an
equivalent ?

Q. Yes.-A. I have not any figures with me to-day on that point. I am about to
speak more particularly on the chemistry of the corn plant itself. However, according
to the quality of the timothy and clover, and the quality of the corn crop the value is
that one ton of timothy and clover hay is equal to from 2 to 4 tons of the ensilage. I
presume in the majority of instances the proportion is nearer 4 tons of ensilage. It
would all depend on the quality of the two. I consider it highly desirable that we
should ascertain all possible information respecting the growth and requirements of this
crop and also ascertain its food value.

By Mr. McNeill:

Q. I would like to ask you as to the food properties of pure timothy andýpure
clover ?-A. Clover is much richer than timothy; it has a larger proportion of.albumi-
noids, and hence the feeding qualities are better.
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Q. Can you take that as the test of the nourishing qualities? Is one substance

more assimilated than the other? May it not be quite as nutritious to the animal?-A.
Foods are made up of several classes of constituents, and these classes have different
functions in the animal economy. These albuminoids are kown as flesh formers ; they

replace the tissues which are wasted or used up by the work of the animal. They are

necessary for the support of the blood and to build up the f rame generally. The starches
and the sugars (the carbohyd ates) are for the production of heat and energy. The
albuminoids cannot be repaced in the diet by fats or starch or sugar. If the animal is

to retain life and grow it must have food that will produce flesh and milk and develop
heat. It is therefore essential that the food should contain a sufficient proportion of
albuminoids as well as of the other food constituents.

Q. What I wanted to get at was this: Supposing that a certain food bas a greater

quantity of albuminoids than another given food, and supposing that another given
fo. d whi'i lias not so large a proportion of albuminoids is more easily assimilated, might it
not in reality be the more nutritious food of the two in practice ?-A. Yes, under certain
circumstances, because the value of food, in the first place, depends upon its digestibilitv
and assimilability, as we might call it. The other matter that should be considered is
the proportion of its various cons ituents. The albuminoids are absolutely necessary
for the vital functions of the animal ; still we could not feed them entirely, no inatter
if their price were such as to m, ke it possible, because we should be feeding the animal
too much nitrogen, and then the excretory organs would be overtaxed and become
deranged, and the wh le animal economy upset. So there must be a certain balance of
proportion in the ration or diet between the albuminoids and the non-nitrogenous sub-
stances, fLt, starch, &c.

Q. Then, in addition to that, those substances must be digestible ?-A. Yes, they
must be digestible or they have no value whatever to the animal; and, therefore, you
cannot make a comparative statement that a certain food is more nutritious than
another food, without at the same time assuming they are of equal digestibility.

Q. That can be found out by practice ?-A. Yes, by practice ; or, rather, by direct
experiment.

For the investigation into t'he composition of the corn crop, several very well known
varieties were taken. They were Longfellow, Pearce's Prolitic, Thoroughbred White
Flint, and Red Cob Ensilage. This research was commenced several years ago, but
owing to the large demands upon our timie we have not been able to finish the work until
this year. Samples of these varieties were taken froin two plots-an upper and a lower
plot-at the following stages of growth-tasselling, silking, early milk, late milk, and

glazing.

By Mr. Carpenter:

Q. Is the Mammoth Southern included in that test ?-A. No. At the same time
that these sanples were taken for analysis, the produce of one-twentieth of an acre was
weighed; so that, froni the chemical data and the weight of the fodd r so obtained, the
value of the corn at the different stalges of growth, the value per ton and per acre could
Le calculated.

By Mr. MfcNeill:

Q. Just what I mean to say is this: In order to discover the value of it for
feeding purposes you would have to know whether it was equally easily assimilated,
equally digestible and agreed as well with the animal at the one stage as at the other?
-A We have no experimental data with regard to the digestibility of the corn crop.
We examined the corn plant between practically 1st August and about 25th September,
and I do not t hink that within these dates its digestibility was impaired. For the benefit
of the Committee I have put mv data in the form of tables. I shali be glad, if you-wish
to follow me in the conideration of this subject, if you will look at the tables while I
am speaking.
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The above table gives in detail the composition of the fresh or green material at
the various stages of growth, and the composition is also calculated to the "water free"
substance. In the corn, as in other plants, we have water and we have dried matter.
In the first series of columns, we have the composition showing the percentage of water,
and in the second series of columns we have the composition of the dry matter, calculated
to percentages.

The first fact to be noticed is that the water diminishes in amount from the tassel-
ling to the glazing stage of growth. In other words, this means that the percentage of
dry matter increases steadily between those two periods. For instance, if we take the
first two corns which are upon that table you will notice there are 13-13 lbs. of food ma-
terial in the younger corn and 24·72 in that of the more mature corn. In the Pearce's
Prolific there were 15-48 lbs. of dry matter or food material in the tasselling condition and
27 -64 at the glazing stage. These amounts may be obtained by subtracting the percent-
age of water f rom 100.

The second point I draw your attention to in that table is in connection with the
percentage of ash. You will notice that the ash contents diminish as the plant matures.
On calculating the percentage of ash to the water free substance as shown in the second
series of columns of the table, it will be noticed that the percentage of ash shows a most
decided decrease during the period of growth between the tasselling and the glazing.

The third point is that the albuminoids, which I have already referred to as the
flesh formers, Nwould appear to increase somewhat in anount as the plant proceeds to the
glazing condition. This increase is not a large one in quantity, but undoubtedly it
represents an enhanced value because of the greater food value of the albuminoids in the
maturer conditions of the corn. The nitrogen in the younger stages of growth exists in
the form of amides ; in the more mature corn the amides are converted into the
albumin<ids, which are supposed to havé- a greater feeding value than the former.

Amides are a form of nitrogen which are found in plants during the rapidly grow-
ing season. They are soluble and are the vehicles for transmitting nitrogen from one
part of the plant to the other. As the plant matures these amides are converted into
albuminoids, so that in the maturer corn the nitrogen represents a larger proportion of
albuminoids than it would do in the younger stages ; and further it is generally conceded
that the food value of the albuminoids is greater than that of the amides.

By Mr. Carpenter:

Q. You have not given the glazing stage here in White Flint or Red Cob Ensilage?
-A. Because they do not reach that stage, unfortunately.

Q. Longfellow is a very early variety, and the same way with Pearce's Prolific ?-A.
-Yes.

Q. And Longfellow gave the best results ?-A. Yes, they show an increase in nitro-
genous matter during the latter stages of growth. As the plant matures their albumin-
oids decrease when calculated to the water free substance. You will find that in the
second series of columns under the caption " Albuminoids." It goes down in the next
Longfellow from 12-27 to 7-2 and froin 12-73 down to 5-97.

By Mr. Dyer:

Q. That establishes Longfellow in your opinion as being the best ?-A. Not neces-
sarily, from that standpoint. That corn which will come to the glazing condition is the
best corn to grow, not to grow corn which does not come to the glazing condition before
the frost arrives.

The fourth point in that connection is that the fibre which forns the framework
of the plant-the part that carries by means of its tubes and vessels nourishnent elabo-
rated by the roots and leaves, increases in amount as the plant matures. So long,
however, as it does not become dry and hard I do not think its digestibility is impaired.
It is to be noticed that the percentage of fibre decreases as the season advances, when
calculated to the water free material.
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The fifth deduction f rom this table is that there is a very large amount of carbo-
hydrates-heat producers such as sugar and starch-stored up during the later stages
of growth. The increase in the total dry matter referred to is chiefly due to the
increased proportion of these constituents-the carbohydrates. In Longfellow this
increase of carbohydrates in the green material is from 4-47 per cent to 5-51 ; in Pearce's
Prolific fron 3-73 per cent. to 6-74 per cent., and so on. When calculated to the water
free material we have for the saine varieties, 32-0 per cent in the tasselling stage,
increasing to 58-97 per cent. In the glazing condition for Pearce's Prolific the per-
centage runs from 47-43 to 57·33. This gain will be more apparent when we study the
next tables.

TABLE II.-Showing the composition of the four naned varieties of fodder corn reduced
to an average of the whole, in the several stages of growth.

IN FRESH OR GREEN 1\IATERIAL. I i

Stage of Growth.

Tasselling ........... 8573 1*25 1*51 4-44 5'90 1 17 8-80 10*80

Silking. ......... ... 8384 1-24 1 40 5-34 7-15 1-03 7 85 904

Early Milk ..... ..... 80·55 1 08 1-43 5 71 9 56 1 67 5-59 7 -58

Late Milk. ........... 77-86; 1'05 155 559 12'17 1 78 4·74 7·05

G lazing............... 73 82 1·08 1 71 6 12 15 33 1 94 4-50 6:58

31-31 40 7C 8 33 14-27

32 83 43 17 7'11 1617

29 34 48'87 8 62 10 -95

25 21 54
9 7j 8-05 22·14

23,31 58 16 7'40 26 18

By Mr. Carpenter:

Q. Would it not be well to make an investigation and see the relative value of the
corn in the glazing stage, and clover and timothy when cured ? That is the only way
we can get at the relative value of the food -- A. That would be a benefit. There have
been several investigations on that point carried on, but I cannot at the moment quote
the data.

I will now direct your attention to table 2, which contains the averages made from
the foregoing data, and which serve to emphasize the deductions already made. The
average composition of the four varieties examined at the various stages of growth may
be seen at a glance. The last column gives the gain in pounds per 100 of green corn of
the real cattle food as the plant matures ; while the other columns give the figures that
show wherein this g in has been made. If you take 100 pounds of the green material
it shows that in the tasselling stage the percentage of dry matter is 14-27, which is the
cattle food. Allow that corn to proceed to the glazing condition and from 100 pounds
of the green material you will get 26-18 of real cattle food, thereby increasing in its
value, if the digestibility has not been impaired, by almost 100 per cent.
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TABLE III.-Showing the weight in pounds of each constituent contained in a ton
weight of green fodder corn, at diffierent stages of growth; also the weight of the
several constituents contained in the same corn product of an acre, at the stages
indicated, the four named varieties of corn being estimated at an average of the
whole.

' POUNDS PFER TON. TONS ANn POUNDS PER ACRE PRODUCT.

Stage af Growth. Bs. lbs. lbs. lbs. lbs. lbs. tons Ibs. tons lbs. tons lbs. tons lbs. tons lbs. tons lbs.

Tasselling . . .25·030-2 88-8 118·023 4 285-4 0 566 O0684 1 12 1 674 0 5301 3 466

Silking........24·828-0 106-8 143·020-G 323-2 0 596 0 G73 1 566 11436 0 495 31766

Early Milk..21·6 28' 114-2 191-233·4 389-0 0 495 0 655 1 (615 2 379 0 765 4 909

'È

Late Milk..21-031-0 111·8 243435-6 442·8 0 449 O 663 1 390 21204 O 761 4 1467

G]azing...21·634-2 122-4 306·638·8 523-0 O 466 O 738 1 641 3 615 O 837 5 1297

By M1r. Dyer.:

Q. But would it not be reduced in heft ?-A. Table 3 will make that matter clear.
Table 3 gives the weights of the constituents per ton and per acre in the green corn.
These averages are deduced from the foregoing table and the weights per acre obtained
by weighing the product of one-twentieth of an acre of each variety at the stage of
growth already noted. The number of tons and pounds per acre can, of course, be only
regarded as approximate. Every season such data would vary, and the crop upon any
one plot will not be the same from year to year. To get uniform crops to experimnent
with, is exceedingly difficult and, indeed, impossible. These figures, however, give a
fair indication of the value of the corn crop at the different stages of growth. A study
of this table will prove the wisdom in allowing the corn to corne to the glazing con-
dition before cutting either for silo or for drying in shooks. It is then that the plant
contains the most nutriment. If allowed to stand after it has reached this stage, the
probability is that the digestibility of its constituents will be impaired.

By! Mlr. MfcGregor :

Q. By table 3 that dry glazed corn would only weigh 5½ tons to the acre ?A
That would be the total dry matter per acre-5 tons 1297 lbs. You see I have removed
out of consideration altogether the water, because it is not the total weight of material
we obtain which fixes the value of the corn. We know that the largest total weight
is reached by the corn plant somnewhere between the early and late milk stage, but that
stage by no means represents the greatest value of the corn plant. After that it
decreases in weigh t per acre, but nevertheless increases very largely in food value.

Q. I would like to ask you on this point : Supposing you have a ton of hay which
weighs 2,000 pounds. iNow, we want to ascertain the value of a ton of glazed corn as
compared with a ton of hay ; that is, how many tons of glazed corn would weigh a ton
of hay ?-A. Eliminating those elements which are of no value for food purposes, we
have here the total dry matter which for our purpose may represent the real cattle food
in the corn. [n the tasselling condition you see there are 285.4 pounds of real catt4e
food in the ton. Calculate that out to the acre, using the weights I bave obtained,
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gives us 3 tons 466 pounds of real cattle food, or dry matter. An equal amount of dry
fodder from clover and timothy would be richer in albuminoids. I can prepare a table
giving the data you require.

By Mr. Dyer:

Q. And at the glazing period it is nearly double ?-A. Exactly. The figures are:
for the silking period, 323-2 lbs. ; early milk, 389 lbs. ; late milk, 442-8 lbs., and glazing,
523-6 lbs.

By Mr. McNeill:

Q. The dry matter is the only nutritious element ?-A. Exactly. The other is all
water. We divide it into two parts, water and dry matter.

Q. Supposing you feed hay to one horse and the same quantity of green grass to
another, have you the same quantity of dry matter? Would not the horse be fatter on
the grass than on the hay if you give it the same amount of dry matter ?-A. The total
weight of grass would be much more than the weight of hay from the sane gross weight,
but then the question of digestibility would come in. Undoubtedly the digestibility of
the grass, if eut at the right period, would be much greater than that of the diry niaterial.
Nevertheless for our purpose we can consider the value for food of these two according
to the dry matter they contain. Granting that the digestibility is not impaired, which
I believe to be the case, a close consideration of this table shows the wisdon in allowing
the corn to cone to the glazing condition before cutting either for the silo or for drying
in the shooks. Further conclusion from this investigation is that the mineral constitu-
ents (the ash), which are taken f rom the soil, and the nitrogen, that essential element of
the albuminoids, are more particularly taken up by the roots during the early stages of
growth. The data here presented go t, show that it is during the early stages of the
growth of the plant that these materials are taken up from the soil.

By Mr. McGregor ;

Q. It takes a considerable amount of nourishment from the soil, but that is not
the point I wish to mnke at this particular moment. The increase in weight which
ensues during the later stages in growth is not any iaterial taken from the soil?-A.
It is in the storing up of the starches and sugars ; materials that are taken by the leaves
from the atmosphere. This added material is alinost entirely recovered from the
atmosphere.

By Mr. McNei i:

Q. Is the nitrogen taken from the soil or the air ?-A. From the soil in the case of
the corn plant.

Q. And in a case of other plants from the air ?-A. From the air in the case of
leg'umes.

Q. Then legumes would not impoverish the soil ?-A. During the early stages of
the growth of the clover plant it uses the nitrogen in the soi], but as it grows and
develops it is able to assimilate the free nitrogen of the atmosphere. Another thing
that I might mention in that connection is this: That when you have a very rich soil
the clover apparently takes the nitrogen from the soil and not from the atmosphere. It
is only when partially starved that it will work for itself. If you feed this clover with
similar forms of nitrogen, it does not exercise the power which it has for taking up
atmospheric nitrogen.

Q. So that it is specially suitable for impoverished soils ?-A. Exactly. The soil
derived constituents of the corn are taken up during the early stages of growth more
particularly, and therefore it points to the economy, if we wish a rapid and luxurious
growth of corn, of supplying it well with ash constituents and nitrogen at the first.
This points to a good condition of the soil and to the economy of well maruring the
crop. The soil should be in good tilth and contain plenty of manure, in order to give
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the'plant a good start. With respect to the manuring of this crop, it is well to supple-
ment barnyard inanure with some forms of potash. The chemical data point in that
direction If we were using from 10 to 20 tons of barnyard manure, it would be well
to use in addition to that 100 lbs. of muriate of potash, or from 15 to 20 bushels of
ashes, which would supply, approximately, about the same amount of potash.

Q. That quantity to each acrç ?-A. To each acre.
Q. Supposing you had not the barnyard manure and the ashes, could you substitute

some other fertilizer equally valuable ? What about phosphates, for instance ?-A.
Supposing you do not use barnyard manure, then I would recommend muriate of potash,
150 to 200 lbs. ; superphosphate, of a goodi brand, about 175 lbs.. and nitrate of soda
about 100 l bs. This is also to the acre. If you could get wood ashes and bone meal,
the formula would be like this :-

W ood ashes ...... ........................... 30 to 40 bushs.
Bone meal, finely ground ........................ 100 to 200 ibs.
N itrate of soda ............................ .... .100 '-

It would be preferable to put on the nitrate of soda in the spring, as the top
dressing.

By M1r. Carpenter:

Q. If barnyard manure can be obtained, how would you apply it-in the green state
or'otherwise ?-A. That is a debatable question, and I do not think I ought to enter
into a discussion on it at this late hour, although I am perfectly willing to discuss it.
The committee will readily understand, however, that it would not be well to discuss it
in a fragmentary manner so as to leave any misunderstanding.

Q. It is a very important question which I think should be threshed out before this
comrittee ?-A. I am perfectly willing to discuss it another day if the committee so
desires.

By Mr. Semple.:

Q. Have you any information about sunflowers, such as you have given us about
corn ?-A. I can give data respecting the value of the stalks and heads with seeds of
sunflowers, but have not the iuformation, or rather the figures, with me to-day.

COMMITTEE NOOM No. 46,
HOUSE OF COMMONS,

TUESDAY, 25th June, 1895.

The Select Standing Conimittee on Agriculture and Colonization met this day at
10.30 o'clock, a.m., Mr. Sproule, Chairman, presiding.

Mr. F. T. SHUTT, was present by recall, and said

Mr. Chairman and G entlemen,-Towards the close of my evidence on the last occasion
that I was before the committee, several questions were asked which, owing to the
lateness of the hour, it was thought well that I should defer replying to until I should
be called before you again. Consequently, I do not appear before you this morning with
a specially prepared matter, but rather to reply to such questions as were asked by
members of this committee and also to answer any others which may be put to me.

DIGESTIBILITY OF THE FOOD CONSTITUENTS OF INDIAN CORN.

Of the questions which were submitted to me at the last meeting, there was one
put by Mr. McNeill, with regard to the amount of digestible matter per ton and per
acre in the corn crop, and also in the corn crop compared with other coarse Canadian
home grown fodders. You will remember that I pointed out that our analytical data
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show very clearly that, in the later weeks of the growth of the Indian corn crop, there
is a large accumulation of inaterial which I designated as "dry natter." After bring-
ing the proof of this before you in tabular fori I said I thought there was no impair-
ment of the digestibility in the food constituents of the corn up to the glazing period in
the crop, so that this accumulation of material was one of reai value. The digestibility
of the corn after glazing period is probably inipaired, and further it is most probable
that after the corn bas reached that stage there is no further accumulation of food
materials. I am, in this connection, not speaking from ny own data, but from that
which has been obtained in several of the Experiiental stations of the United States;
their data go to show that after the corn has reached the glazing period there is no
longer an assimilation of plant food, but that there is a mrigration of the food materials
from the stalk and the leaves to the kernel. The practical point is that, in cutting corn
for our silos or for preservation in the dry condition, we should leave the plant until it
has reached the glazing stage. We then have the largest amount of food constituents
per ton and per acre. The question asked me was: What is the amount of digestible
matter in these various stages of growth referred to in this investigation ? The
answer to this is furnished in tabular form, thus

TABLE IV.-Showing the number of pounds per ton and the number of pounds per acre,
products of digestible matter contained in corn fodder at the different stages of
growth.

Digestible Digestible
Stage of growth. Inatter iatter

mn one ton. per acre.

Lbs. L bs.

Tasselling ................. ..... ........... ................... 186 2 4,220

Silking.... ... ............... ... ..... .............. ... ..... 211 0 5,069

Early milk 25.. .................. ..................... 2)615 5,873

Late milk ...... .. .................... ............. ...... .. .. 2859 6,012

Glazing.. ...... ...... ............... .. .... ................... 339-2 7,308

We saw that there was a steady increase in the percentage of dry matter.
Taking these figures, and taking the co-efficients of digestion, as usually allowed by the
best authorities in agricultural chemistry, I have calculated the digestible matter per
ton and per acre at the various stages of growth. These digestion co-eflicients are
really percentages of the food constituents which are digested by the animal ; they are
the outcome of actual experiment. For instance, if out of 100 Ibs. of albuminoids or
flesh-forming constituents, in one fodder, 50 per cent is digested by a milch cow, then
the co-efficient of digestion, under the circuinstances, would be 50. From our averages
we find that one ton of fodder corn at the tasselling stage of growth contains 186.2 lbs.
of digestible matter. At the silking stage the amount would be 211 lIbs. ; in the early
milk 256-5 ; in the late milk 285'5 lbs., and in the glazing stage 339-2 lbs.

Afterithasreached theglazingstage, I am of opinion that there is little, if any, further
assimilation of plant food by the plant. Now, using the same co-efficients of digestibility
as before, we calculate the following as the amounts of digestible matter per acre: At
the tasselling stage 4,220 lbs. of digestible matter, albuminoids, carbohydrates, etc. At
the silking stage the amount will be 5,069 lbs. ; the early milk 5,873 ; in the late milk
6,012, and in the glazing period 7,308 lbs. You will observe that there is a continual
increase from 4,220 to 7,308 lbs. within the last five weeks of the life of the corn plant.
These are figures which corroborate the statement I made when I said I believed we
should find the digestible matter increase up to that period of growth.
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TABLE V.-Showing the average yield in weight per acre of various fodders and esculent
root plants; also the proportion of digestible matter, per ton and per acre product,
contained in each.

Average Ontario Crop, 1881-89. Average Experimental Farm Crop,
1890.

Fodder. Digestible Matter. Digestible Matter..

Yield Yield
per acre. per acre.

Per ton. Per acre. Per ton. Per acre.

Tons. Lbs. Lbs. Lbs. Tons. Lbs. Lbs. Lbs.

Fodder corn, glazing.. . .... 16 ........ 339 5,424 21 1,154 339 7,308
Clover and hay, dry........... 1 800 1,034 1,448 1 1,520 1,034 1,820
Fodder oats, green. ........... .. ...................... . ... 10 ........ 208 2,080

do rye, in head........ .. ......... .................. 10 ........ 266 2,660
Carrots...... .............. ,. 10 820 173 1,984 23 1,061 173 4,070
Turnips ....... .... .. . .... 11 1,460 179 2,066 27 745 179 4,846
Mangel-wurtzels.............. 12 1,620 145 2,231 36 531 145 5,258
Sugar-beet...............,.... 10 ........ 296 2,960 23 82 296 6,820
Potatoes ...... ............... 3 1,074 440 1,556 6 1,200 440 2,904

Another question was the percentage of digestible matter in the corn fodder as
compared with several of our ordinary coarse fodder crops and roots. I have had a
table prepared which shows the average yield of fodders in Ontario, and the amount of
digestible matter per ton and per acre in the average Ontario crop. I have taken the
average for nine years (1881-9) as returned by the Bureau of Statistics of the Depart-
ment of Agriculture at Toronto and compared it with the average Experimental Farm
crop in 1890. The table which I have prepared is almost self explanatory ; little is
needed on my part to make it plain to you. I should, however, explain that there were
no figures representing the average corn crop in Ontario during the 9 years mentioned,
because fodder corn during the early part of that period was not grown extensively.
Accordingly, I placed it at 16 tons per acre, our own yield being much higher. It
appears, however, that the average yield in Ontario is nearer 11 tons than 16 tons.
With the exception of the fodder corn, ail the other figures are taken from the annual
report of the Bureau of Statisties. In the nine years in question, therefore, the figures
are as follows :-Carrots, 10 tons, 820 lbs. ; turnips, 11 tons, 1,460 lbs.; mangel-wurtzels,
12 tons, 1,620 lbs. ; sugar beet, 10 tons; potatoes, 3 tons, 1,074 lbs. ; clover and hay
(dry), 1 ton, 800 lbs.; These are the average yields per acre. In the second column is
to be found the amount in pounds of digestible matter per ton and per acre. You will
notice that corn easily stands ahead in the amount of digestible matter which is produced
per acre. In the case of clover and hay, containing only some 14 or 15 per cent. of
water, the digestible matter per ton is very much higher than any of the other fodders
here discussed.

COMPARISON OF CROP YIELD PER ACRE.

I would call your attention, since the table is before you, to a comparison of the
yields per acre, as obtained on our Experimental Farm at Ottawa and the average
Ontario vield. In everv case the average yield is very much less than that upon the
Experimental Farm. I an of the opinion that with good farming there is no reason
why the yields throughout Ontario should not equal a fair average yield as obtained
upon the Experimental Farm. Undoubtedly the great profit in farming lies in obtaining
a crop over and above what might be called an average crop, because the expenses of
tillage and harvesting are practically the same whatever we have, a large crop or a small
one. Of course, when we come to discuss digestible matters we shall likewise find the
amounts produced on the Experimental Farm are very much in excess of those obtained
on the average Ontario farm.

140



Agriculture and Colonization.

By Mr. McKeill:

Q. I would like to ask whether of late years you have found carrots yield more in
proportion than this table seems to show ?-A. I cannot answer that question without
referring to our data. The answer is easily obtainable by reference to the Experimental
Farm reports.

Q. In some reports the yield of carrots is very much heavier than the yield of
turnips, being nearly double in one year. I observe in one report that the yield of
carrots would be nearly double that of turnips, whilst in this table the turnips are 27 and
the carrots 23?-A. I think that is explainable from the fact that for several years our
turnips were subject to a disease which very much lowered the yield. For several years
that disease was prevalent and we were not able to check it, consequently, the yield of
turnips was much less than it would have been normally.

Q. The carrots beat the mangolds also ?-A. Not unusually, they generally stand as
they do here in this average Ontario crop. I presume in the relation of 10 to 1 2-that is
carrots to mangolds. In the last column of this table we see the digestible matter
which is produced per acre by these fodder crops. That is a very instructive column,
and will allow you to make a comparison of their true value as food materials. In case
of the fodder corn, using the figure which I have already given you, we find that there
are over 7,000 lbs of digestible food produced per acre. In the case of the carrots some-
thing over 4,000 lbs, turnips nearly 5,000 lbs, mangolds, 5.250 and sugar-beets, nearly
7,000 lbs. These figures, of course, it is not to be thought will be the same year after
year. Naturally, as the seasons change, the yields will to soine extent fluctuate, but,
nevertheless, we have on this table the means of comparing, approximately, the amount
of food material which is produced by these different fodder crops.

By Mr. McMfillan :

Q. Will there not be a difference in roots raised on different qualities of land in
respect to the feeding matter contained according to the weight ?-A. The composition
of roots does vary slightly, but not to any very great extent. It is principally in their
being more or less watery, that is to say, containing a little more or a little less " dry
matter." The larger the root, as a rule, the more water, and consequently the less dry
matter that it contains and the poorest in food value. The same is true with regard to
sugar-beets, so that we find smaller sugar-beets contain a larger percentage of sugar than
the larger sugar-beets.

Q. We have been in the habit of raising roots on clay and mucky lands and we
found the roots raised on clay land contain most food, according to the quantity pro-
duced per acre ?-A. We have no data which shows the comparative composition of
roots growing on clay and mucky land. Where they are forced to grow very large,
they usually contain a somewhat smaller percentage of food material than they do
where they are not grown to such an enormous size.

By the Ciairman:

Q. In collecting your data regarding turnips, do you always take the Swedish tur-
nips ?-A. Well, with regard to that average Ontario yield I cannot say. The turnips
are all put in together. There is no differentiation made at the Bureau of Statistics.

Q. I mean, by the statistics you get from the farm, where the vield is 27 tons to
the acre ?-A. All the turnips are included in that.

Q. Swedish, white and ail ?-A. Yes.

By Mr. Girouard (Two Mountains):

Q. What do you mean by the glazing state of the corn ?-A. When the skin on
the kernel of the corn becomes bard, and aglaze appears upon it.

By Mr. Featherston:

Q. It takes the glaze as soon as it gets hard ?-A. Yes. The tasselling stage is
when the tassel comes out of the top of the stalk. The early milk period is when the
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sap or juice of the kernel may be easily expressed as a limpid, opaque liquid. The late
milk stage is when the contents of the keriel are becoiming doughy, and it is " glazing"
when it begins to harden. Just about that time the leaves on the base of the stalk
begin to turn yellow.

By Mr. McMillan:

Q. I suppose they have not experimented at the farn with ensilage which is 8 or 10
days after the giazing stage. Through an accident one of our silos was a little later than
usual in being tilled and we found we had a very fair quality of ensilage. Mr. lodgins,
going out last week froni thjs meeting, told me there was a farmer in his locality pre-
vented last vear from eutting his corn for 8 or 10 days after the usual period. He said
lie never lad such ensilage and was going to leave it all until that stage. That has
been our own experience ?-A. I think if there is an error in that, the error is on the
right side. It is far better to have a corn which is a little over ripe than to eut it
before the glazing stage. 1, myself, would be quite willing to run the risk of a little
frost rather than cut it before the glazing period. However, we can easily see that, if
left to any great length of time afterwards, the fibre must become woody and to some
extent indigestible.

By Mr. Grieve:

Q. Does being frozen hurt the corn to any appreciable extent ?-A. No. I think
not, as long as it is frozen. l he trouble is, that when the frost goes out, decomposition
and decay set in very rapidly. If eut and immediately put in the silo, good ensilage
may be made from corn not too badly frozen.

By Mr. Cargill:

Q. That is if frozen before cutting ?-A. Yes.
Q. Do you mean to be frozen like that before cutting ?-A. I think if it could be

put at once into the silo very little deterioration will be found to have taken place.

By Mr. Girouard (Two Mountains) :

Q. You mean decomposition ?-A. The danger is in the decay, which immediately
sets in when the frost leaves the tissue.

By Mr. Cargill :

Q. I am very glad to hear that, because I have always been of the opinion that very
serious deterioration took place if it were stricken by any frost at all before being cut,
and we have always been very anxious to have it eut and put into the silo before the fall
frosts cime ?-A. I could have brought the testimony of several farmers in New Bruns-
wick last year who appealed to us as to what it was the best to do. They had frosts
early in Septemnber and they were advised to get their corn into the silo as soon as pos-
sible. When I was in Fredericton at the convention in February last, I met several of
these men and they told me that their ensilage had turned out very satisfactorily. The
object in getting an early corn is not altogether to avoid the early frost. A corn will
not arrive at its maximum growth until the glazing period, and it is at that time that it
has the most and best food.

By Mr. Featherston:

Q. But the frost leaves it as soon as the sun comes out.-A. It ought to be cut and
put in the silo at once. If it is left some days standing there will be a further loss of
plant food. One of the reasons why an early corn was advised was that it should come
to this glazing stage while there was yet time to harvest it. The contention is that
chemical data shows until the corn arrives at that condition it is exceedingly watery,
that it does not contain the same proportion of real cattle food per ton that it would do
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if it could corne to this glazing condition; and secondly if it does not corne to that stage
before the frost, there is no possibility of its ever reaching the glazing stage. We thus
lose many pounds on every ton of real cattle food when we grow corn that the climate
does not allow to come to this glazing condition of growth.

COMPOSITION OF THE SUNFLOWER.

I believe Mr. Semple asked me with regard to the question of sunflowers, as used
in addition to corn for ensilage purposes. In my report for 1892, page 121, will be
found the figures which show the composition of the stalks and leaves of the sunflower
plant and of the heads with seeds taken together, the he-d being eut off with one or
two inches of stalk, in a way similar to what would be lone for silo purposes, then
analysed together witl the seeds which it contained. The following weights and
measurements were then taken

Lbs. Oz.
Stalks and leaves. . ............................ 6 10
H eads with seeds................ ............... 3 11
Seeds alone .................................... 1 4
Receptacle and petals............................ 2 6

Feet. Inches.
H eight.......... .............................. 6 10
Diameter of heads............................... 8ï

The sunflower stalks and leaves contain but very little nutrimnent, being low in
albuminoids and fat, and containing a large percentage of water. In the heads with
seeds, however, a marked difference is to be noted.

By the Chairînan:

Q. What is the food value of the head ?-A. In the head with seeds there is a
very large amount of food constituents, principally of fat and albuninoids. They con-
tain less water than the stalks and leaves, the albuminoids are nearly three tines higher,
and the fat six times greater than in the stalks and leaves. Thus we find that of
albuminoids there are about 50 lbs. to the ton, and fat in the neighbourhood of 100 lbs.
to the ton. It will be seen, therefore, that the addition of the suntlower heads contain-
ing the seeds, to the corn in the silo, will be to enrich it more particularly in those two
constituente, first, fats ; and second, albuminoids. The albuminoids'are not present in
the same proportion as they are found in the horse bean, and it was for this reason that
the addition of horse beans was suggested to make a complete fodder, the bean being
more particularly rich in the nitrogenous or flesh-forming constituents known as
albuminoids.

LEGUMINOUS PLANTS.

By Mr. McNeill:

Q. Is there much difference in the composition of the bean and the pea in that
respect ?-A. With regard to the composition of the pea plant I have no data, such as
in the case of the corn. I have, however, in my report for 1892, given an analysis in
detail of the broad Windsor bean, the English horse bean, and the telephone bean,
which is a climbing variety and which can be grown with the corn, using the corn as a
stick or pole to climb upon.

By the Chairman:

Q. You told us something last year about a valuable pea which had been cultivated
at the farm?-A. Do you mean the lathyrus sylvestris?

Q. Yes. Did you make any further analysis of the food value of that pea 7-A.
An analysis of the lathyrus sylvestris, or Wagner's wood pea, as it is called, is to be found
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in my report for 1893, together with several other legumes. It belongs to the leguminosae
family, to which the pea, the bean and the vetches belong. They have the peculiar
capacity or ability to assimilate the free nitrogen of the atmosphere, and thus add to
the store of valuable nitrogen in the soil when ploughed under.

By Mfr. Featherston:

Q. Is it the action of the large leaf that attracts the sun ?-A. Not for the assimi-
lation of nitrogen. That takes place by certain tubercles in the roots. The assimilation
does not take place by the leaves.

Q. It must be in the land ?-A. It is f rom the air which is enclosed in the soil that
the roots take their supply of nitrogen, by means of these tubercles in which are living
bacteria, that is, small microscopic plants.

By Mr. McMillan:

Q. The air is in the soil before the roots take it up ?-A. The air is held mechanic-
ally in the soil. In between the particles of the soil, air is everywhere present, and it
is this air which the plant utilizes.

Q. The soil has not the power of extracting the nitrogen in the air; it only enters
by the roots?-A. The soil has nothing to do with it? It is by means of the bacteroids
in the tubercles upon the roots of the legumes that the free nitrogen is assimilated.

By Mr. McNe ill:

Q. As it is being assimilated, more nitrogen f rom the air is being gradually stored
in the plant 3-A. Yes. We say from the atmosphere. It is, however, in the soi when
taken up by the plant.

It is not always that these legumes take their nitrogen from the atmosphere. It
is only when they are in a state of partial starvation. If you supply a clover plant with
abundant supply of nitrogen by growing it in a soil which contains a large amount of
available nitrogen, such as might be used by any other plant, then the clover plant will
feed on that nitrogen, and will not exercise its ability of extracting that element from
the atmospliere. So that it does not always follow that by growing a field of clover you
are taking nuch nitrogen from the atmosphere, but when the plant finds the niineral
food that it requires and does not find the nitrogen in the soil, then you have a luxuriant
growth and you have the larger part of the nitrogen taken from the atmosphere.

By the Chairman:

Q. Do you say that in the report of 1893 you gave the analysis of the wood pea ?-
A. Yes, it is in my report of 1893. Analyses are given of the wood pea and several
others, five of them altogether. With regard to the lathyrus, I say it is a plant of
recent introduction and one that will do well on poor soil. Undoubtedly it is one that
yields a large amount of green fodder per acre.

Q. Have you the weight there ?-A. No. When I did this work we were only try-
ing it on a very small plot, and I do not think it would be safe to multiply it into an
acre and give that as the average yield. Certainly during this second year of growth it
produced a very large mass of leafy stems. I suppose the plant was about four feet
high. It flowers very profusely during the present month. The analysis which I gave
you shows that it is extremely rich in albuminoids. We found some little difficulty at
first in getting the cattle to eat it, but that difficulty may be overcome in time. It is
reported that in England it is relished by the cattle both in the green stage and also as
hay. I do not know that we are in a position to report definitely upon it, but certainly
I consider it a promising fodder crop. It yields a very heavy crop per acre and the
analysis shows that it is a valuable food.

By Mr. McMillan :

Q. What is that ?-A. That is the elathyrus sylvestris, or wood pea. It has been
introduced of late years and the seed may now be obtained f rom seedsmen.
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By Mr. mcNeill:

Q. Do you think the horse bean is very much more valuable to mix with the green
corn than the wood pea would be? It is very difficult in some parts of the country to
grow the horse bean at ail ?-A. The trouble is, I think, to get the pea in the green
condition at the time you are getting the corn in. Undoubtedly, if onie could manage
it, there would be a large yield of green fodder which would probably be quite as rich
as the bean fodder, if the pea was cut while in the pod, as is the case with the bean, but
I think the practical difficulty would be in having the crop green just at the time when
you wanted to put the corn into the silo. I have no definite information on that point,
however.

Q. You have told us about the percentage of food constituents, and you have also
told us of the percentage of digestible matter. Now, do you find any considerable varia-
tion in those quantities ?-A. By the digestible matter I mean the total amount of
digestible food constituents, that is to say, the digestible carbo-hydrates, st arch or sugar,
and the digestible fat, and the digestible albuminoids or flesh forming matters. Put
together, they make the total per ton or per acre as the case may be. The total per-
centages are certainly liable to vary.

Q. Suppose that you take a ton of pea straw and a ton of hay, and suppose that
you found in the pea straw that there was a greater amount of digestible food material
mixed with certain proportions of other materials. When you found tiere was more of
that in the pea straw than in the hay, you would think that you had not such a nutri-
tious food in the latter as in the former ?-A. The food value of any fodder does not
depend altogether upon the total amount of it, constituents. That is one factor we
have to take into consideration. Another important factor is the percentage of that
food whieh is digestible, because it is only the food that is digested, that is assimnilated
and made use of for the sake of producing heat or replacing the tissues or the laying on
of flesh and the production of milk.

The digestive power differs with the same animal according to the temperature or
the state of h-alth. There are a great many other factors which affeýct digestibility.
Consequently we have to take the average in discussing this question. If, as far as we
know, the animal is in a normal state of health, and we ascertain by experiment the per-
centage of those food constituents in that fodder that are voided in the dung we are able
to deduce the co-efficients of digestion. That has to be done for every fodder.

By fr. McGregor:

Q. Have you tried sunflowers ?-A. No, I do not think that there are any data
on record with regard to the digestibility of sunflowers. Do you refer to the head ?

Q. No, the seed.-A. We can only argue from analogy. I presume that a large
amount of the seed is digestible.

Q. Sunflower mixed with corn makes a very nice mixture -- A. It aids in pro-
ducing a more complete ration. It supplies fat, in which the corn is lacking. Cattle
cannot be fed on carbo-hydrates alone, nor on albuminoids, nor on fats. The inost econ-
omical and profitable ration is a well-balanced one, one that contains the right propor-
tion of these three constituents, carbo-hydrates, albuminoids, and fats, to create energy
and repair the waste that is continually going on in the animal.

By Mr. MfcNeill :

Q. Might you not be misled altogether as to the nutritive quality of a food, by
.simply considering the quantity of digestible matter that might be obtained by analysis
from that food ? If that digestible matter be combined in such a way as to be in fact
indigestible, the food may not really be so nutritive as a food which has less digestible
matter in it -- A. I think the result of digestion experiments would show that.

Q. That is what I want to understand ?-A. The experiment would give you as
.a result the actual amount that has been digested of those constituents.

Q. How are those experiments carried out ?-A. In the first place by feeding
the animal for a certain number of days with the food intended to be experimented
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with, before the experiment begins. Knowing the composition of the food and the
amount fed to the animal, the solid excreta are weighed and analysed ; it contains the

undigested food constituents. The balance or the part digested, consequently, has been
assimilated, and used for the purpose of developing heat in the animal, or for the per-
formance of the other vital functions. It is on this principle the experiments are con-
ducted.

Q. When you spoke of digestible matter, you meant discovered in the way of
that experiment ?-A. Exactly. There are also artificial ways of arriving at the data.
We canot, however, strictly compare them with the data procured in the way I have
described. We make an artificial digestive fluid in the laboratory by means of pepsin
and hydrochloric acid. Such a fluid is as near as possible in composition to that secret-
ed by the glands in the stom ch. This is after all an artificial method, and while it
inay approximate the truth, I should scarcely place the same dependence on the results
of such experiments as when working with animals. However, they give us very useful
information at times.

By Mr. Cargilii:

Q. Supposing you had a crop of corn and you allowed it to reach the glazing stage
in the fall and then cut it for silo. Then you have another crop which you allow to
remain out two weeks longer and it is struck with the frost and then you put that into
the silo. low would you ascertain the difference in the food value of these two
fodders?-A. The only way in which it could be done would be by practical feeding ex-
periments. Suppose you took two lots of three cows each for testing purposes and fed one
lot with the corn which had been put into the silo in proper condition, and the other
animals with the corn that was frozen. Each lot would receive the sanie amount of
meal, roots and hay, in addition to the same amount of corn fodder in the one case
frozen and in the other unfrozen. The weights of the animals would be taken before
commencing feeding ; the milk would be weighed and analysed and the weights of the
cattle taken after the experiment to show gain or loss. If it were made a digestion ex-
periment, the solid excreta, which shows the undigested matter, would be analysed and
fron all this data would be deduced the feeding value and the digestibility of the frozen
corn as compared with the unfrozen. You see all the other circumstances would be
alike in the two instances. The only factor which is a varying one would be the one
of corn.

Q. Have any experiments of that kind been made at the Experimental Farm ?-
A. I am not aware that any trial has been made comparing frozen with unfrozen corn.

Q. So that you do not know the difference in the two crops ?-A. We have no data.

By the Chairman:

Q. Have you made any examination of the feeding qualities of ensilage made out
of greener corn, that is, not so ripe as compared with the ripe corn ?-A. We know this
much : that water has no food value, and that in the younger corn the percentage of
water is very much greater than in the more matured corn, which means much less
dry matter or real cattle food. You could not expect the same return from twelve
pounds of dry matter as from twenty pounds-amounts respectively in tasselling and
glazing corn.

Q. Does it make any difference in the feeding value of the ensilage, owing to the
ensilage being more or less sour ? I understand that when made from younger corn, the
ensilage is much more sour ?-A. Undoubtedly. The corn of the younger stage
has a tendency to produce a more acid ensilage than the corn of more matured growth.
Sour ensilage has had its food value deteriorated. Neither is it as wholesome as sweet
ensilage.

By Mr. McMillan:

Q. Is there not this fact to be taken into consideration also: Take a working
ox. If he is let be at rest and fed, would he not take less of the nitrogenous element
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than when working ?-A. Yes. When an animal is simply fattening he is not making
any great demand on the food. A young and growing animal takes more fron the
food than an animal which is matured. An animal which has matured and is at rest
takes less from the food, so that more of the plant food constituents pass out in the
dung. This fact must be taken into consideration when discussing the question of
digestibility.

COMPARATIVE FOOD VALUE OF ESCULENT ROOTS.

By Mr. JcNeili :

Q. Is there a greater percentage of food constituents in mangels or in turnips ?-
A. I can give you the resuits of my analyses.

Q. I mean food constituents; not digestibility ?-A. I may say that, with regard
to roots, we usually allow the total percentage of the food constituents to be digestible.
We look upon the dry maftr as entirely assimilable and digestible. In ny report of
1891 certain analytical data is given. We find there the pourds of digestible matter
in the ton. The dry matter n -rrots, of different varieties, varies froin 184 to 196
lbs. to the ton. Turnips (greystone), 81 lbs. Purple top Swede, 205 lbs. per ton. In
the case of Golden mangel, 189 lbs. ; Golden Tankard mangel, 162 lbs, of digestible
matter per ton. Mammoth Long Red mangle, 172 lbs. per ton.

Q. I saw it stated in an old country work thatthe mangel is much more nutritious -
A. Their percentage of water is, as a rule, higher, especially in the larger mangels. In
carrots it is 90 ; in turnips, 90 ; in mangels, the percentage runs up to 91-9, or practic-
ally 2 per cent more. It mangels, therefore, instead of 10 per cent of dry inatter we
have only 8 or 9 per cent, as coimpared with the carrots and turnips. A good deal,
however, depends on the soil and the season.

By Mfr. Cargil :

Q. Do I understand you to say that it requires a greater quantity of the compo-
nent parts of food to feed a mature animal. Would a steer two years old require more
food than a four year old, in order to make a proportionate increase in weight ?-A. Yes,
I presume such would be the case. What I say is this: the functions of food are
several. One is to maintain the vital heat and develop energy. Another function of
the food is to repair the waste which is continually going on, and to store up muscle and
fat. The mature animal has not got to form bone. It has reached maturity and re-
quires only a minimum amount of food, because it has only to maintain life. The
young animal has to assimilate food for the purpose of adding to its muscular and bony
development. A working animal has to make extra calls on the food, because it is the
food which is supplying the energy or force necessary to enable the animal to do the
work. It is therefore the working and the young animal which makes the largest
demands on the food.

Q. Supposing you took a four year old steer and a two year old one, and put them in
the stable in the sanie condition-you propose feeding them both for beef-do you say
that the four year old steer will eat less food in order to give a proportionate increase of
beef than the two year old steer ?-A. That is scarcely an analogous case. They are both
lean. The larger animal would probably require a relatively larger amount to make it
fat than the smaller animal. The older animal would probably have rouch the larger
frame. I think the demands per 1,000 lbs. of live weight would be less in the case of
the older animal, but not necessarily so in every instance.

Q. I understood if the animal was mature, there was no bone to be made, conse-
quently all the food used would go to making beef ?-A. That is partly true. The
larger animal would not make any great demand on the mineral part of the food, but Àt
would still require the nitrogenous portion of the food as well, the fats and carbo-
hydrates.
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COMPARATIVE EXHAUSTION OF SOIL IN BEEF RAISING AND DAIRYING.

By Mr. Pridham:

Q. What difference is there in the feeding of an animal giving milk and one being
fed for beef ?-A. A cow producing milk would require the most food, and would make
the greatest demand, because in the milk we have the caseine, which must be taken out
of the food, and which is formed at the expense of the albuminoids of the food.

By fr. MfcNeill :

Q. Which is the most exhausting to the farm ? Suppose you are feeding for fatten-
ing purposes or for milking, which manure would be the richer ?-A. I could not at the
moment give figures to answer that question, but, speaking generally, I should say that
against good dairy cows, beef cows take much less away from the farm than dairy
cattle.

MR. MCMILLAN.--I have it very strongly impressed upon my mind that the animal
that is merely making beef and that is fully mature only takes about five per cent of the
real fertility of the food consumed, whereas milking cows or a young animal will take
all the way up to 45 per cent. That is quite consistent with what I have seen.

By Mr. McfNei7l:

Q. Suppose you were feeding two year olds on the one hand or keepirig a dairy farm
on the other, which would be the most exhaustive ?-A. I fancy that a good dairy herd
would exhaust the soil more than the same number of two year olds, though the differ-
ence would not be as large as if we were comparing dairy cows with more mature
animals. The thrift and production of the cattle would have to be carefully considered
before that question could be answered definitely.

By fr. Featherston :

Q. Then a mature animal does not take as niuch front the farm for the amount of
food you give him as a younger beast ?-A. Yes. He is not taking much fertility away
from the farm, compared with fertilizing constituents contained in the milk of a milch
cow.

Q. Would it be more profitable to feed an animal that will grow both flesh and
muscle with the fat? I suppose the more digestible matter there is in food, the more
profitable it will be to grow it ?-A. Undoubtedly.

Q. Suppose we got a plant that would be all digestible ?-A. You would then have
to take into consideration the amount grown per acre. That is the point to find out:
how much real cattle food you can produce per acre. It is not merely a question of the
amount of digestible matter in a fodder; one must ascertain how much of that fodder
you can produce per acre. The whole of the fodder might be digestible, but if you are
only able to produce a small quantity per acre it would not be a profitable fodder.

Q. What the animal does not assimilate is returned to the farm as manure ?-A.
Yes.

By -Mr. McNeill:

Q. Are the figures you have given us taken from chemical analyses or from actual-
experiment ?-A. No, those are fromt my own analyses.

Q. Not digestibility experiments ?-A. I have taken it for granted that the author-
ities are correct, and u.sed my own analytical data.

Q. The authorities have given the digestibility ?-A. They have given the digestive
co-efficient. We have never obtained such data on the farm. There have been no diges-
tive experiments conducted in Canada. This work requires a large staff to attend to it
and requires a great deal of time. We have not had any opportunity as yet, with our
multiplicity of duties, to attempt that, and what we do is to use the co-efficients of
digestibility obtained at scientific institutions of a like character.
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Q. After all, is that not what we want to get at ? Is that not bottom rock, so to
speak ?-A. Yes, in connection with chernical work. However, until we have this data
of our own we must be content to use that of other experiment stations in Gernmany,
England and the United States.

Q. That is really what we want to know. It is not what the food constituents may
be, but what the animal can assimilate ?--A. Undoubtedly, and that is the reason why
I have in these two last tables given the digestible matter of the corn and other crops
per ton and per acre.

Having examined the preceding transcripts of my evidence of the 14th and
25th June, I find it correct.

FRANK T. SHUTT,
Ch ief Chemist, Dominion Eqperimental aris.
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Agriculture and Colonization.

COMMITTEE RooM 49,
HOUSE OF COMMONS,

FRIDAY, 3lst May, 1895.

The Select Standing Committee on Agriculture and Colonization met this day at
10.30 a.m., Mr. Sproule, Chairman, presiding.

THE CHAIRAN.-The object of this meeting is to hear from the different cheese
boards of trade, the exporters, and others who are interested in this industry, what their
views are in regard to the bill for the branding of cheese. I understand that the Brock-
ville Board is represented here, and the Montreal Board, or perhaps I should say the
exporters, and the Eastern Townships have also a representative here. It would perhaps
be advisable that the gentlemen who are here should select some one to present their
case to the cominittee. The meeting is open for that pur pose now, and we will be very
glad to hear what they have to say. I might state that the Minister of Agriculture is
here for the porpose of hearing the representations made. With regard to the bill that
is before Parliament it is proposed, if it should become law, to make it compulsory upon all
manufacturers of cheese to brand on their products, the date or the month in which they
are made, and the name of the country as well, both upon the cheese itself and upon the
boxes.

Mr. McLENNAN.-Did you get answers to the circulars that were sent out
asking the cheese men for an expression of opinion on the branding of cheese ? The
gentlemen who speak may be in a better position to give their views after knowing the
opinions of those who are interested in the cheese trade throughout the country.

Mr. CASEY.-DO I understand circulars were sent out to the cheese factories?

The CHAIRMAN-Yes. I might say that in accordance with the resolution of
the committee I had 2,500 circulars sent out to manufacturers of cheese in the various
parts of the Dominion and that up to the present we have received about 570 replies.
They have been coming in very rapidly of late, and there have been opened and
examined up to the present 345 of these answers. Out of this number 314 are in favour
of branding, 16 against, and there are 9 that are doubtful, the wording in the replies
classed I doubtful " being such that one could not very well tell which way they meant
to reply. So many came in last night and yesterday, that the clerk tells me he has been
unable to examine and tabulate them all, as I instructed him to do for the benefit of the
meeting to-day.

By Mr. Sanborn:

Q. These answers are from tbe factories ?-A. These answers are from the factories.
Mr. TAYLR.-Will you please read the circular and one or two replies ?
The CHAIRMAN.-The circular reads as follows:-

COMMITTEE ON AGRICULTURE AND COLONIZATION.

HOUSE OF CoMMoNS,
OTTAWA, 8th May, 1895.

SiR,-It has been brought to the notice of this Committee, that impositions have
been perpetrated upon purchasers and consumers of Canadian Cheese in England, by
having had sold to them cheese made in the month of July, represented to be of Sept-
ember make. It is contended that repetitions of such imposition would no doubt
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endanger the present high standing of Canadian Cheese in the English markets, and
jeopardize the existence of the present large and increasing sales of our cheese in these
markets, as well as lower it in the est6imation of our own people and thereby induce out-
side competition in the home market.

To avert this danger and to avoid loss of demand to the Canadian producers, it has
been proposed to enact a statute which will make it compulsory upon all makers of
cheese in Canada, to brand each cheese as well as the box containing it, with the date of
manufacture.

You are hereby asked to be so good as to say, under the following head of " Reply,"
whether or not, in your opinion, such an Act woùld be beneficial as a means of safe-
guarding the interests of the cheese industry.

Please give briefly your opinion, to which affix your name, employment aid post
office address, and inclose the saine with the whole of this sheet within the directed
envelope herewith, for mailing.

A prompt return is respectfully solicited.
Yours faithfully,

T. S. SPROULE,
Chairman of Conmittee on Agriculture and Colonization.

This is one of the replies :

"With regard to the branding of cheese would say that I am strongly in favour of
branding being done in order to place our reputation fairly and honestly before the
purchaser and prevent fraud by unprincipled or dishonest dealers, thereby maintaining
the good reputation and confidence of the dealers and consumers in the future, which it
has taken years of persistent labour to acquire."

This is signed John Gilroy, Lynn, Ontario.
Mr. RooME.-I don't think this should come up before the meeting to-day. We

have met for the specific purpose of hearing these gentlemen from the Cheese Boards
who desire to express their views, and the matter of the circular we can take up at any
future meeting,

Mr. CASEY.-We want to know what they have been asking.
Mr. R.ooME.-Still that has nothing to do with the meeting to-day. We want to

hear the views of the gentlemen who are here.
Mr. ANGER.-Let us hear a reply that is opposed to the branding.
THE CHAIRMAN.-I have another reply here, one that is opposed to branding. It

is as follows :
" think the branding of the date of make and manufacture of cheese is quite

unnecessary, as the English buyer is quite able to look after his own interest, and
my belief is that, if cheese is misrepresented as to make, there is more of it done by the
English wholesale buyer than in this country. If Parliament was as much interested
in the cheese industry as they try to make the fariners believe they are, they would act
pretty much the same as they have done to the butter trade.

"Yours respectfully,
" R. GRAHAM,

"(Cheese Manufacturer, Crewers Mills, Ont."
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Most of them forget to put their post office address in their reply. The meeting
is now open to those representing the different Cheese Boards who wish to express their
views. I might ask the representatives of the Montreal Board to speak, coming as they
do from a large and important citv.

Mr. ARTHUR HoDGSON, of the Montreal Board of Trade, being called upon, said:-

Mr. Chairman and Gentlemen,-With your permission, I would like to hear some of
the views of the country men first. Personally, we are much obliged for you reading
out the answers received. The merchants of Montreal feel that the interests of the
factory men are the same as their own, that if you legislate in any way affecting the
interest of one you affect the interest of the other, that as the merchants of Montreal
prosper the factory men in the country will prosper, and that both our interests are one.
Now, I might say that at a meeting of the Association which is represented here by Mr.
MePherson and myself we passed a resolution, which I hope you have received, in favour
of the branding of cheese.

At a meeting held in Montreal on the 29th of May the following resolution was
proposed and carried unaninously "That in view of the meeting to be held in Ottawa
on Friday, May 31st, 1895, of the Select Standing Committee of the House of Commons
on Agriculture and Colonization, for the purpose of securing an expression of opinion
from the various Dairy Associations of Canada, this Association hereby places itself on
record as strongly in favour of the branding of the date of manufacture on all cheese
made in Canada, such being the unainimous wish of the entire cheese trade in Great
Britain, and further that this Association Committee on the subject do proceed to
Ottawa to attend the meeting mentioned above."

I might mention that the main object our Association had in passing that resolu-
tion was this We have to remeiber that the outlet of the produce of this country
depends upon England, that cheese eating people in Canada are at a minimum, and,
speaking as a nierchant, in our figures as to the future course of markets we have no
occasion to take into consideration the consumuption of Canada. Therefore, we need not
think of any outlet for the production of cheese in Canada except so far as the English
market is concerned. Now, most of us in connection with the Association in Montreal
were in England this winter, and, without discussing the pros and cons of the merits of
the case, there is no doubt that there is an idea in the minds of Englishmen, whether
rightly or wrongly, that impositions have been practiced on thein, and I think it is to
our interest that we should, as far as we can, consistently with the interest of the factory
men and the merchants, do everything to take away any feeling of suspicion (Hear,
hear). We are all more or less of a logical turn of mind, and it seems to
me that if any other course is taken than the adoption of branding,
the Englishmen will feel that their reasons are all the stronger for believing that
impositions were practised upon them. If nothing is done and the dates are not put on
the boxes, or if there is any opposition to its being done, the Englishmen will be more
convinced that they have bit the nail on the head. We have to take into consideration
the feeling of the market where the cheese have got to go. I think it is quite a
possibility that the branding of cheese may affect the sale of some months' make, but I
think in time that will rectify itself. In justice to the cheese merchants of Montreal
who have been wrongfully accused of imposition, I think it is right to mention that when
I arrived in Canada it was the exception to get a cheese that had not the date on, and
it was at the request of these Englishmen that the date was not put on. Now they
turn right round and ask for it to be put on. If they want it to be put on, I see no
reason why we should not do so, but I think it is only a matter of time before you will
have a request for the date to be removed. Anyone who bas had experience of selling
cheese in England is more or less mystified at their wanting it, but of course if the
reasons they offer are just, they require attention. The cheese in England are sold on
the merits of quality. They are bought from the Montreal shipper on the month's make
and the Englishmen are willing to pay a premium for June and September months'
make, but when the cheese reach England they are not disposed of, on months' inake,
but simply on the question of quality. The groceryman will come into a merchant's
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warehouse in England and say he wants 20 boxes of cheese. He will not ask anything
about month's make; lie will perhaps be guided by the shipper's brand, or he will iron
them himself and buy them on the quality. We feel in Montreal very strongly that a
refusal to brand would be a handicap tÔ our cheese, or rather it would be interpreted as
a reflection on the Montreal merchants if this branding is not adopted. But if it is
adopted one good result will be that it will remove any suspicion on the part of English-
men, that any person in Canada wishes to do anything opposite to the wishes of the
merchants in England.

Mind you, while I maintained at the beginning that the interests of the merchants
are the same as the interests of the farmer, I wish to go a step f urther and admit that
the interests of the English merchants are the same as the interests of the Montreal
shippers and the factorymen all over the country. The three are united in their
interest. If we did not have the English market for an outlet, we should have no trade,
and the more all the three work in harmony the better it vill be for the butter and
chee e association. I might mention here, if I am in order, with your permission, Mr.
Chairman, that the only danger we see as merchants in Montreal is that of the respon-
sibility for the branding. We think that in the passing of a bill affecting this matter
of branding, great pains ought to be taken to avoid any complication at the point
of shipnent. This I think is of the utmost importance, and I might perbaps explain
what is the system followed in a great many sections of Canada as regards the shipping
of produce, if this is in order at the present time. If the cheese boards of this country
were all conducted on the same principle, the matter would be easy and simplified. For
instance, if all the boards were conducted on the principle of the Brockville Board, where
the goods are sold subject to Montreal inspection and approval of quality, the course
would be nuch easier ; but the fact remains that there are scores of factories-I was
going to say hundreds, and perhaps even more than that, who refuse to sell their cheese
until the buyer pays for the goods, and the consequence is that in many instances the
merchant has to pay the money down for the goods before he receives them. I see in
the bill (I have a copy of it here), that a penalty is attached to any person who shall
sell, offer or expose or have in his possession for sale, any cheese or butter which is pro-
duced in Canada unless the word " Canada " and the year and nonth of manufacture
thereof, the registered number of the factory and the initial letter or letters of the
province in which the factory is situated are branded, stamped or marked upon the out-
side of the box and, in the case of cheese, on the cheese itself.

By Mr. Cochrane :

Q. Will you explain what you mean by the merchant paying for the goods before
they are delivered ?-A. Supposing my man in the townships were to buy a hundred
boxes of cheeses f rom a facto-y. He buys. Then taking the quality for granted, as he has
been there a month before and le knows the maker and he can rely pretty much on the
quality. He says " all right, I will buy your cheese," and the goods are sent in to
Montreal and he brings in his bill of lading to the buyer at the shipping point
and gets his money before the cheese reach Montreal. It seems to me that under this
bill you are virtually making the merchant the policeman of this Act, because it says in
section 5, no person shall sell, offer or have in his possession for sale any cheese which
is not branded. Now, supposing I received in all honesty some cheese from some factory,
the buyer, knowing the quality is all right, waits for the farmer to bring in his bill of
lading to him at the county bank, and he gets the money. The goods afterwards arrive in
my warehouse and some of them do not happen to have the date on. I sell the goods in all
innocence to some other dealer and I should like to know who is to pay the penalty i
I would suggest that the man who is responsible for the branding in the first instance
should be responsible for seeing that the dates are upon the cheese.

Q. The man who makes them ?-A. Yes.

By Mr. MVcLennan :

Q. The bill provides for it to be branded before leaving the factory ?-A. Yes, but
how are we to see whether it is done or not? Suppose I happen to receive a thousand
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boxes of cheese into my warehouse. Somne of us will receive twenty thousand boxes of
cheese a week in Montreal in the busy time. It is impossible to see whether the cheese
are branded or not. The theory of the bill is all right, but the practical part is unjust
to the merchant, and it would be impracticable for the merchant to carry it out. I
would suggest that the word " merchant " should be changed to the word " factoryman."
It is the factory men who will have to carry out this law. The merchant will do what
he can and he will report whenever he is required, but if you make the merchant respon-
sible with the factory man, it is putting a burden on the nerchant which lie bas no
right to have placed upon him. The only objection I have ever raised at some of the
boards which I have attended, against the branding of cheese, and it is a very natural
one, is that until the prejudice of the English people is overcome they will have to sac-
rifice the July make or other month's make. That may be the case for a couple of
years or so, but I believe the objection is largely magnified. The only way to overcome
this prejudice is to ship over the cheese made in July, which they will see is better than
that made in June. The only objection therefore which is raised in the country will
soon be overcome in the course of time. On behalf of the association which I represent
I may say that we shall be glad at all times to advise or assist in the furtherance of this
matter; but we do hope that this committee will be particularly careful on the point of
not handicapping the merchant. If you handicap them with inspectors, and so forth,
and prevent the shipping of goods pronptly, you handicap the fariner and it is just as
much in the interest of the farmer as the merchant that this Act should be franed for
the benefit of both. A few practical hints from the shippers as well as the factory men
will obviate any difficulties.

By Hon. 11r. Wood (Brockville)

Q. Would not the word "knowingly" before the word " sell " meet your views ?-
A. Where is going to be the onus of proof? It will be very easy to say there was no
inspection.

Q. Could you not uncover all these boxes when you get them at the factory ?-A.
That is hardly the point that I wish to make. It is not the difficulty of being able to
open every box. I have a system myself by which I have every box in my warehouse
opened, but the cheese are paid for before they are opened.

Q. Well, supposing they could be opened and they were found to be not branded,
in that case it would be easy to show that they did not reach you branded.-A. Is it
right that the merchants should have to assume any responsibility in the matter when
the system of selling in Canada is such that the merchant may have thrown on his
hands cheese that he has paid for and for which he may be subjected to fine for their not
being branded, while at the same time he is in no way to blame?

Q. Suppose it were brought out before the police magistrate in Montreal that the
cheese were not branded before it reached you. You prove that and go free ?--A. By
this Bill ?

Q. Yes.-A. My belief is that it would be unfair to make the merchant respon-
sible at all.

By Hon. Mr. Angers, Minister of Agriculture:

Q. You seem to be protected further by the words in the Bill " before leaving the
factory," showing that the obligation is on the cheese maker.-A. At the first glance
that would seem to be the case, but in the practical working of that, the difficulty occurs.
Competition among the buyers of the country has reached such a pitch that the comnon
expression is : some of the buyers are willing to say anything with a view to procuring
cheese. We might prove in our warehouse that the cheese had not been branded when
they arrived there, and yet the cheese maker might be able to bring six or eight men to
say that they were branding. There would be a good deal of contradictory swearing.

By fr. Cochrane:

Q. What redress would the cheese makers have against the cheese buyers ? The
cheese makers might be let off scot free, and yet the shipper might impose on the con-
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sumer f rom the fact that they were making a little money ?-A. My experience of Eng-
lishmen is that if you succeed in imposing upon them once you cannot do it again. At
the sanie time that is the natural position ; the merchants are likely to suffer. ''here
is one other matter in connection with this Bill that I would like to mention. It
has been suggested in the measure that the factories should have a registration number,
and that this iumber should be branded on the cheese. I may mention, in regard to
the practical working of this, that so far as the registration'of every factory is concerned
the merchants have no objection at all. The English people, however, like as few marks
on the cheese or on the box as can be put there. In fact, the fewer marks the better. They
want protection, but the fact is vou will find the circular from the London Cheese As-
sociation siinply requests the branding with the dates, and they sent out a neat impression
of the kind of brand they considered helpful to the trade. I have a number in Montreal
and shall be happy to send them to members of the committee if you so desire. I think,
gentlemen, it will be helpful to have a list here in Ottawa with the address of each
factory and let each man have his number, so that if a difficulty arises we can locate it at
once, but it is detrimental to have the number branded either on the cheese or on the
box. I will tell you why. Every shipper puts the naine of the factory on the invoice ;
they do not want it on the box. Eight or nine years ago the English steamers wanted
the name of the factory on the box, now, since we have to put on " Canadian produce,"
which is one brand, each man in England has his own brand. As certain factories have
helped to build up his brand he expects to deal with those factories, but he does not
want to have the name of the factory on the box. He may have a gilt edge brand, and
supposing he has the number of the factory, as well as the weight of the box, together
with the words " Canadian produce," the box will be simply loaded down with brands.
And the fewer brands or marks that are put on the boxes or the cheese the better for the
Englishmen in England. I amn only now giving the opinion which is unanimous in
England on that question. They want the cheese, but they do not want any more
brands put on than can possibly be avoided and I think you will gain your point if the
Dairy Conmmissioner were to keep a roll showing the registered number and issue a certi-
ficate so that we shall be able to trace any delinquents at once.

Mr. COCHRANE-They do not want to sell our Canadian cheese as English.
Mr. HODCSON.-That is obviated by the fact that every cheese ha.s to be branded,

"Canadian produce."

By Mr. Cochrane

Q. I thought I understood you to say they did not want that ?-A. They do
not want the registered number of the factory on the box, but simply want the boxes
marked as mentioned on their bills, because it makes so many marks, and the
fewer te marks on the boxes the better they like it.

By Mr. McNeill :

Q. With the word " Canada " plainly branded ?-A. The London Association sent
out a brand that I think it would be hard to beat. The word " Canada " is there, and
the date underneath. It is I think about half-inch letters, block type, and would be
very easily read, and I think you will find it very hard to beat that brand.

By Mr. Taylor :

Q. As I understand it, every cheese now shipped from Montreal contains the
brand " Canadian produce " on the Canadian boxes, and " The produce of the United
States" on the American boxes ?-A. That is correct.

Q. Do you recommend a continuance of that system? Is it considered in the
interest of the Canadian producer that that brand be continued so as to identify Cana-
dian cheese from the American when it gets to England ?-A. I think it is to the
interest of Canadians, and I think the reasons that were given at the time when that
branding was adopted were sufficient to warrant it. There is a class of cheese made
in the United States, speaking more particularly of Wisconsin, that really are, and have
been, passed off as Canadian, and which were a disgrace to any country (hear, hear) ;
and I think the causes that warranted the English asking for the brands were fully
justified at the time, and if you remove it now, it would be injudicious.
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By Mr. Cochrane :
Q. There is one question I would like to ask Mr. Hodgson witl reference to his

experience with July cheese. July cheese are in no danger of being held over, if the
price is not satisfactory, and put on the market in the fall ?

A. No, but that is a little foreign to the subject, and I did not mention it
at the time. The Montreal nierchant has received a good deal of blanie for
carrying cheese in refrigerators. Well, gentlemen, the people who are more to blamle
for that are the English people, and I will tell you why. They have not in England
the same facilities for carrying cheese as we have i Canada. Our refrigerator
accommodation is better than in England, and the consequence is, it is the custom for
some merchants in England-I know one man with whom I trade, who lias got over
200 shops-to lay in a large quantity of cheese here, and have it as lie wants it. Now,
the Dairy Cominissioner, whom we all feel proud to know. is at the head of this
industry, will inform you that if the cheese are held at the proper teniperature, they
will carry, on the whole, without depreciation of quality, so that the fact of holding the
cheese in refrigerators, so far as the quality is concerned, will not imiprove the quality,
neither on the other hand will it in any way cause it to deteriorate. But there is a

prejudice against " Julys " which can only be overeonie by being able to prove to the
Englishman that we cai produce in England as good a quality in July as June, and,
believe me, the only way that prejudice can be overcorne, will be to brand these cheese

Julys."
Our worthy Dairy Commissioner is in error in one thing. I have not heard of the

Bristol or London Association sending any circular to cheese makers. It is the agents
who have received the circulars. There is no doubt whatever that the Englisli people
know their own minds, and their request for branding has been placed very strongly
before their agents out here. I would like to make nyself clear also on another point.

As a representative of the Butter and Cheese Association of Montreal, I wish to say.
that the resolution we passed at our meeting was not intended to mean that we wished
the omission to brand to be a penal offence. There is no expression to that effect in

the resolution at all. As an individual I quite agree with the Dairy Comniissioner's
remarks and I think I would be voicing the sentiment of the association, althougli I

have not their authority to state so, that ee have not asked for branding to be made
compulsory. We simply wish that some action should be taken to allay these unpleas-

ant suspicions. The Comnissioner lias mentioned here that lie was not surprised at the
attitude of the merchants of Montreal. The merchants of Montreal have been blamed,
we think wrongfully, but whether rightly or wrongly is not a matter for discussion, and

we wish, as a reasonable people, to do all we possibly can to allay tiese suspicions. I

think it would be wrong to make the omission to brand a penal offence. We, as
agents of the English receivers, will do what we can to buy cheese tlhat have the date

on, and if this act suggests that the branding ought to be done, or if an aêt is passed

that branding lias to be done, of course that will be all right to us, but I don't believe

in naking it a penal offence to leave cheese unbranded. Wlien I first came to Canada,
as I said before, we received instructions to leave off the date. We have now received

instructions to have the date on, and we wish to carry out those instructions, but I
should like to inake it clear that we are not asking for the ommission to brand to be
treated as a penal offence. The intention is merely to allay these unpleasant suspicions.

There has been a good deal of remark about the branding of cheese as "Canadian" or "Pro-
duce of Canada." I think most of us at the time this act was first putin force suffered a,

good deal of unpleasantness in England. There is no reason for parliament to legislate
any further on that subject. Any box of cheese that lands in England not marked
" Canada " is taken possession of by the Customs House officer and is confiscated forth-

with. Some of us, when the act first went into operation, were put to inconvenience in

Canada, through the errors of the men in the warehouse. It is clearly defined in Eng-

land that any single box of cheese arriving in England not branded with the Canadian

brand is seized and confiscated for good.
Having examined the preceding transcript of my evidence, I find it correct.

ARTHUR HODGSON,
Butter and Cheese Exporter.
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Mr. 1D. A. MCPHERSON, of the Montreal Board of Trade, was called and addressed
the committee.

Mr. McPIIERSON.-I can only express the sentiments of my friend Mr. Hodgson,
who is here with me to-day representing the Montreal Butter and Cheese Association.
Everything and anything that Mr. lodgson has said in connection with this matter of
branding, is in accordance with the wishes of our Board anI Association in Montreal.
I will occupy your time but shortly. I would just like to touch on the general senti-
ment of the whole country on this question, so far as I have been able to gather it. As
we all do in the trade, I have come in contact with the feeling both in the east and the
west, and wherever cheese is produced in Canada. I have met up to the present a great
many cheese manufacturers, that is to say farmers, who have come to Montreal to sell
their cheese, and I have talked this matter over with them, and without a dissentient
voice, may say such gentlemen as I have met were all of one accord in favour of the
bill, and they would like to have their cheese branded. I do not think you can get any
better representation of the sentiment throughout the country on this question, than
through the circulars you have sent out and the answers you have got back. I would
like just to refer to the sentiments which might be inferred to be entertained by the
Brockville Board. I was very much pleased with the opinions expressed by the
gentleman who came here representing the Brockville Board. I thought they would
be very much stronger against the bill from what I had seen in the press, and from
what occurred at the last meeting of the board with reference to this subject. Some
other cheese boards have also expressed themselves against the branding of cheese.
You must infer from that that they are not representing the sentiments of the patrons
,on this question. The cheese buyers and the cheese sellers meet on that board. Each
of these cheese sellers represents from one to three hundred patrons, who are not there
to speak for themselves. If this circular were sent out to them individually, fully 90
per cent. of them would reply in favour of the branding, just as they have done in the
replies you have on hand. It may be that my agent, without instructions, in the
Brockville market or in any other market, with a view of getting at the seller, may say
"Mr. Seller, if you brand the cheese, I will riot give you as good a price," and that sort
of conversation spread about among the Brockville Board or any other Board, produces
a feeling which is naturally against the branding of cheese. From that you get the
statement published in the country papers that that section is against the branding of
cheese ; but I am satisfied, from the replies to the circulars you have sent out, that if the
patrons or the sellers of the cheese were appealed to, their answer would be in accordance
with those you have already received.

By Mfr. °Roome :
Q. Do not the sellers represent the patrons ?-A. The sellers represent the patrons,

certainly, but I do not think if you consult the sellers here that they will represent the
farmers.

Q. They ought to know better than you would as a seller in Montreal?-A. Well,
you have an expression of opinion in the replies to the circular you have sent out.

Q. The circular asked for information ?-A. And you have 90 per cent of the
replies in favour of branding.

Q. Still the circular did not lay the case before them ?-A. I think the circalar did
lay the case before them. I do not see how it could be put much plainer.

Where I think you get the true sentiment of the farmers is through the meetings
of the Dairymen's Associations held through the country at which this subject comes
before the leading farmers of the various districts. Everyone of them is interested and
if you take the resolutions passed by the Ontario Dairymen's Associations and also by
the Associations of the Province of Quebec, you will find their opinion is strongly in
favour of this branding bill. It is there you get the general sentiment of the country,
the franchise of the country. With respect to the manner of branding, I should just
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like to make one remark as to the branding on the box as well as on the cheese. Mr.
Hodgson has explained the matter fully, and I just throw out this little suggestion on
that point that we want as few marks as possible. If you get the date and the section
in which the cheese is produced put on the cheese when it is made in the factory,
the factoryman will incur no additional expense. But it would be altogether un-
necessary, I think, to have the same naines on the boxes, for the reason Mr. Hodgson ex-
plained to you. If you have the name of the section and "Produce of Canada" stencilled
on the box and we as shippers have put our brand on, the fact is that when all these brands
are put on there will hardly be room for anything else. There can be no fraud perper-
trated if the brand is on the cheese, but the box is often broken in transit. We have to
recooper a great deal of the cheese and get new boxes put on, because so many of then
are broken before they get to us. Consequently that cheese would go forward without
brand if you depended upon the box, but no fraud can be perpetrated if the brand is
on the cheese, whether it is on the oOX or not.

It will certainly be necessary to put it on the package in the case of butter, because
you cannot put it on the butter. The President of the Brockville Board says that the
brand should be put on the top of the cheese. That will be impracticable because in
certain sections they do not put a top cloth on and you could not put it on the rim.

Mr. REDMOND.-They nearly all put a cloth round the top.
Mr. McPHERSON.-Yes, but only a few sections in the Province of Quebec put a

top cloth on. They are beginning to do it, but some of thei do not do it yet.
Mr. REDMOND.-They would soon get over that.
Mr. McPIIERSON.-As regards the prejudice against July cheese in England I can

say f rom having been over in England that July cheese are looked upon by the merchant
and the consumer as of good value while we send over the quality we have been sending.
I might also say that the premium has nothing to do with the price of July cheese. It
is a standing fact that the cheese beginning at 9 or 10 cents a pound, or 6 or 7 cents
as it is this year, gradually increases so that the prices of our fall cheese are worth
a prenium of a cent or a cent and a half over the summer goods.

Now, there can be no fraud perpetrated or injury done to the Canadian producer
if the date of the manufacture is established and indelibly put on the cheese, but I as a
Montreal shipper have no hesitation in telling you that I have seen cheese shipped out
of iViontreal myself-I am not the shipper I ar proud to tell you-August cheese with the
September brand on the side of it.

By Mr. Wilson:

Q. A large quantity ?-A. I recognized the fact because the goods were shipped
out of my warehouse. The shipper put the brand on the boxes when they left my
warehouse.

By Mr. Hodgson:

Q. Was not that the exception ?-A. Certainly it was the exception. I mentioned
that to show that I knew of one case in which August cheese had been branded Sep-
tember make.

By Mr. McGregor:

Q. On the whole, you think that the cheese going to the English market should be
branded with the date ?-A. It should be done, and it will increase the value of our
product in future.

Having examined the preceding transcript of my evidence, I find it correct.

D. A. McPHERSON, of D. A. McP. & Co.

Produce Exporter, 22, 26 William St., Montreal.
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THE CHAIRMAN.--We will now hear from the Brockville Board of Trade. Will the
gentlemen who are present to represent that board be so good as to proceed now with
their renarks ?

Mr. J. P. REDMOND.-I have the honour to be the president of the Brockville
Board of Trade. I might say, as far as the Brockville board are concerned, they are not
unanimous. That is as to the whole of the bill before Parliament. There are several
clauses in it, as far as the branding of chee-e with the word " Canada," and the section
fron which they come. They aie unanmmous that the cheese should be branded as well
as the boxes. I want a little more than that word " Canada " put on. The feeling of
our people is that we from Ontario have the best reputation in Canada for making fine
cheese (hear, hear), and w e would like to have that fact known in England (hear, hear).
With all due respect to our friends from Quebec (I think I see some of thein here) and
in other parts of the Dominion, they are making very fine cheese, but still it could not be
expected they could equal Ontario, because they have not been as long at it, they have
not put as ruch skill and science and as much money into it as we have, and therefore
thev cannot do so well, but they are coming on fast. I want the bill to go a little
further; I want the name of the province put on.

Mr. McLENNAN.-The bill provides for the initial letters -of the province being
put on.

Mr. REDMoND.-Does it provide that I have only glanced over it since I came
here. However the initial letters are not enough, it is not very hard to brand the word
"Ontario " in full. Let it be distinctly known the cheese has come from Ontario.
When we went to Chicago, at the World's Fair, we stood first, I think, in the province
of Ontario.

Mr. CHOQUETTE.-Quebec.
Mr. REDMOND.-I beg your pardon, I think I have the best right to know, be-

cause I was there during the Exposition. Then coming down a littie closer, Mr. Chair-
man, I would like to go even further than that, I would like the sec tion of the country
branded on the cheese (hear, hear). We come from eastern Ontario. We claim we
took the most medals at Chicago fair from eastern Ontario, and we want that distinctly
known too.

Mr. McLENNAN.-That is provided for in the bill, to put the initial so that you
can tell every factory on every cheese manufactured.

Mr. REDMOND.-That is a round about way of going. I would rather have it put
so that a man need not wait to consult the Dairy Commissioner of Canada, who did not
desire to do so. That would be a round about way, if he wanted to buy cheese in a
hurry.

Mr. HODGSON (Montreal).-I would like to mention that the shippers in Montreal
always have to quote a section of the country when they sell. When I send out my
quotations, I have to quote " Brockville " or " Belleville," and I think the system of
trading from Montreal will obviate all your difficulty. I dare not, if I get orders f rom
Brockville, put in any Quebec cheese, from the fact of having the name of the factory
on your invoice. I can assure you that the Englishmen are just as well posted as to
the quality that comes from Brockville or any other part of Canada as you yourselves,
and they will order by sections.

Mr. REDMOND.-I have to depend upon your doing it. Why not make it com-
pulsory and then I shall be sure it is done. You may do it, you are an honest dealer,
but other men may not do it, and we may suffer from that fact.

Mr. HoDGsoN.-I was speaking of the association, not personally.
Mr. REDMOND.-I would like the cheese to be branded not only on the boxes but

on the cheese itself with the words " Ontario, Canada," and the section of country as
well. It would not be much to put on the brand where the cheese comes f rom. Com-
ing now to the most important point, Mr. Chairman, and that is the disputed point
with us, as to dates on cheese, I might say, as I am here as a representative, I must
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state what the feeling of the Board is, and then I will give you my own view and you
can make what you like of it. Our Board voted almost unaninously that the cheese
should be branded, in so far as regarded the points I have been speaking on-the coun-
try, and the province and all that kind of thing-but they were opposed to putting a
a date on the cheese. Some gentlemen said: "Let the cheese sell on its reputation, on
its own nierits and never mind the date.

By 3fr. iícLennan :
Q. Why are you opposed to the date?-A. They say, just as I think Professor Robert-

son said the other day, at Brockville, that there is some prejudice against some months'
make. Every man who understands anything about the manufacture of cheese knows
that we cannot make the sane quality of cheese in every nionth of the year. There is
some prejudice against that made in the hot weather. Some seasons we make very
fine cheese in July. Other seasons when it is hot and dry we cannot make as good.
But however that nay be, there is a prejudice in the old country in favour of Septemu-
ber and against July. I know that fron 25 years' experience with old country dealers.
If they see the cheese branded " July " they will say : " I do not want July cheese I
want September."

By Mr. Mcillan:

Q. This is a very important point you are at, just now. Now, you say that
there is a prejuclice against July cheese and that Professor Robertson says there
is a prejudice against July cheese, and yet you say the July cheese is sometines
better than June. If it is better, then certainly the marking of that J uly cheese as
July cheese is the only way in which you can overcome that prejudice, and if you are
not going to do it in that way how are you going to place that cheese upon the iarketb
of Great Britain? Are you going to represent it as the product of another month, as
September cheese? Is that fair dealing ?-A. No ; it is not. I agree with you exact-
ly as to that. In what I have been saying I have not been presenting my own views;
but I am here as a representative and I thought it my duty to give you the opinion
held by the majority of the Board. I will give my own views directly, and other gen-
tlemen, perhaps, will oppose me ; but, whatever may be the case in Prince Edward
Island, Manitoba and other provinces, in Ontario ve are niaking a finer cheese in July
thai we used to. We have got better appliances and better cheese inakers,
and with the inprovements introduced by dairy schools we are making finer cheese in
June and July than ever before. If they are branded, and the Englishman finds a
cheese of fine quality branded " July," I think that the prejudice against July cheese
will die away. Some of the buyers have said that they will not give so much for the
cheese if they are branded with the date on. I do not wish to reflect on any of the
gentlemen here, but as a representative I am bound to say what I have heard, and to
give other people's views. Now, I will turn to the other side and give you ny own
views. I agree with the gentleman who has brought in this Bill th at the cheese should
be sold on its merits. We want our own cheese known, because I corne frm a section
of the Province that makes the finest cheese in Canada, indeed I think the finest in the
whole world. We have done that in competition with the whole world ; and I think it
is not asking too much to have our own cheese known, and not only the Province but
also the section marked on the cheese. I think there is no way to overcome the English-
man's prejudice against July cheese so quickly as to have the date branded on our
cheese, and let him know the fact that our July cheese is of fine quality. I do not
believe in practising deception upon any man, much less upon men who have to consume
our cheese. Therefore I think it would be better to have the cheese branded, and if
there is anything like prejudice I think there is none that will not be removed when it
is found that we make a fine cheese in July. Formerly, in the warm weather, we did
not make as good cheese. It was a gassy, porous cheese, that did not take as well. Now,
if the weather is good, we make nearly as good a cheese in July as in the other months
of the year. Some gentlemen told me last year that they made as good cheese in July
as in any part of the season, because the grass was good and the weather was fine. Let
the people who are to consume our cheese know what they are getting and it will be no
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worse for us in the long run. These are my views and the views of many others, but
they are not the views of the Board. My own opinion is that the Englishmen have a
right to know what they are getting. I believe it will build up our trade better and
safer than it is now.

There was a discussion between Mr. Hodgsori and another gentleman as to how the
penalty shiould be inflicted. The question was as to who should pay the penalty in case
the cheese were not branded. I think, as a factoryman, that the responsibility should be
thrown upon us. I would not like to see the responsibility thrown upon any dealer in
Montreal. If any inan neglected to brand the cheese when he was making it, then I
think lie should suffer for it.

There is the further question to be considered of how the cheese sh uld be branded
and where. The cheese should be branded on the top. It will be very difficult for the
shipper to take the cheese out of the boxes to see if they are properly branded, but if
they were branded on the top, as soon as the lid was taken off the brand would show
and it woul , be very. easy to go through a lot of cheese and see whether they were
properly branded or not. I do not know of any other point just now that I wish to
bring before the Committee, but I am very much in favour of the Bill and I hope it will
becone law. I believe it will be of advantage to our trade. It is the best trade for our
farners in Eastern Canada and I want to make the best of it. The market is depressed

just now, but it will probably advance very soon. Mention was made about dishonest
dealers. I would hate to say that, because so far as I have had to do with therm I have
found then very good men, that we have had to deal with, but I think it is a very wrong
thing to deceive the old country people in the way that lias been stated. It has been
suggested that you might deal with this Bill by leaving it permissive. So far as the
dite is concerned, you might leave that permissive, but my view is that to put the date
on is the best. Still, if it were lef t. permissive, it would meet the views of many of our
people. For myself, I think it is better to put it on and let people know just what we
are producing and what they are buying. I believe in the end it would be for the
benefit of our trade.

By 11r. Cochrane:

Q. When you speak of branding the date, do you mean the month or the day of
the month ?-A. I think the month would be enough. To brand the day on would be
rather too fine.

Having examined the preceding transcript of my evidence, I find it correct.
J. P. REDMOND,

President, Brockville Dairynian's Board of Trale,
Farmer and Cheese Manufacturer.

MR. O. BUsu, member for Kemptville in the Ontario legislature, was then called,
and addrepsed the committee.

iNMî. Busr.--The only question on which there seens to be a difference of opinion
is as to the question of branding the date. So far as saying that it is Canadian cheese,
that is universally agreed upon by all classes. I cannot be so sure as Mr. Redmond that
we should brand on the cheese " Ontario " or " Brockville section." I believe we are all
Canadians, and I think the brand " Canadian" is enough. (Hear, hear.) Now, as to
the question of the date. Some three weeks ago, when this question first came before the
Brockville board, I think if we had taken a vote on it then, nearly every member of that
board, including 200 salesmen, would have voted for the bill, but after it was considered
and discussed at our last meeting I think it was an almost unanimous conclusion against
an act being passed for the compulsory branding of the date at which the cheese were
made.

The reason is this : we believe as producers the cheese should be bought and sold
on their merit. The seasons vary. One year we may produce a better quality of goods
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in June than in July, and a better quality in July than in August, but as a rule August
cheese has the preference. But, as I say, the seasons vary, and the quality of the cheese
that is made we can attribute, in great measure, to the condition of the grass and the
weather. For instance, during the last ten days, I believe, we have been making as good cheese
in this part of the country as can be produced in any season of the year. My cheese
makers tell me, and I have come in contact with many others who have said the same thing,
that the quality of the curd is the very best. There is this important fact, however, to
be borne in mind : if we brand this cheese as "May " cheese, we shall have to sell it at
a reduced price. At the Brockville board, cheese sold for 6J cents last week ; yesterday
it fetched 7½ cents per lb. I would like to explain to the committee that our cheese in
this eastern portion of Ontario-what we cal] the Brockville district-is sold sulject to
inspection in Montreal. Now, if I sell 500 cheese, and they go to Montreal in a few days, if
the quality is fine, what more do they want, whether they were made on the lst of May,
the 7th of May or the 10th May. There is one thing that must not be overlooked also
in connection with this matter, and that is that, last year, the Englishmen bought their
cheese a little too dear. Last year you might have got 200 cheese makers in our district
in favour of branding the cheese. Yesterday, and a week ago yesterday, if the matter
had been put to a vote I do not believe there would have been an assenting voice. The
feeling was unanimous, however, that the cheese should be branded " Canadian," but as
to the date of the make that was something which they agreed should not be on the
cheese.

By Mr. Taylor:

Q. Was not the discussion at Brockville generally in the direction that the Mont-
real board was opposed to it? How do you reconcile your statements with those of
Mr. Hodgson, in which he says that in Montreal they wanted this done 7-A. I under-
stood Mr. Hodgson, when he was in Brockville two weeks ago, was opposed to
branding the date, and now he is in favour of it. I was told that he was opposed to
the branding.

Mr. HODGSoN.--Will the committee allow me to make a personal explanation? I
had the pleasure of being at Brockville a fortnight ago, and the logical reasons given
against branding were correct and true. As a merchant, I think the diffi ulties the
factorymen have to meet should be placed before theml. There is no doubt about it
that the farmers are going to have to pay for this branding of the cheese until this
prejudice is overcome. If any of you gentlemen spoke to the Brockville dairymen and
explained the matter to them, naturally they would be opposed to the brand.ng. If I may
ask a question, it would be this: Is this going to help the country this season or next ?
I say not. Take my word for it, there is no doubt about it that the onus is going to
rest with the factorymen until the prejudice is overcome.

Mr. BUSH (Continuing).-I was rather amused at the statement of Mr. Hodgson,
when he said that some years ago the Englishmen did not want the date and that now
they want it. I do not believe in submitting to the dictation of the English dealers.
They are looking after their own interests ; they are not looking after the interest of
the Canadian producer. 1 have heard it stated by men who know somnethinv of the
position of atiairs in England, that they have seen English cheese out of Canadian
boxes, in other words that they are selling English che-ese as our product. The object
of the English dealers is to make money ; they are not considering our interests but
their own. What concerns us is to make the best cheese and thern sell them as finest
goods, for the best price, regardless of the month which they were made.

By Mr. Coctrane:

Q. How would it injure June cheese by putting the month on each box 7-A. Because
there is a prejudice against it in England. It was stated by Mr. Hodgson that June
cheese p!aced in cold storage will neither deteriorate, improve or go back. Now, with
cheese selling at 7 or 71 cents the representatives of the combination of factories may
say: We will store our cheese; we wil not sell them. By ke-eping them over for a month
or six weeks till the price advances, would it not be to the inter-st of the farmers of this
country, instead of giving the advantage of the increased price to the English dealer?
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By Mr. Taylor:

Q. How is it that all the cheese shipped from Montreal last year were branded
September make. We have been informed that the cheese shipped from Montreal was
branded Septemiber make ?-A. They were not.

Mr. HoDsoN.--I must olject to the statement that the cheese shipped from Mon-
treal were branded September make. The fact is that 60 per cent of the cheese that
was sent from Montreal had not the month branded on at all. It caused the trade
much amuseient when they saw the statement made in the House. The English-
men do not want the month on the box ; the fewer brands the better. If the cheese
shipped from Montreal were not Septeiber they were not branded as September. If
we are here to defend our character, I think this explanation should be given.

Mr. TAYLOR.-The statement I made in the House was that somewhere between
the warehouse and the vessel the clieese were branded September make.

Mr. HoDasoN.-The exceptions prove the rule. I was speaking of a general prac-
tice of conducting business in Montreal.

Mr. REDMOND.-Was any other month put on them ?
Mr. HODGSoN.-Certainly not ; none of the cheeses shipped from Montreal last

year had the month on them.
Mr. Bus.-I have had a good deal of experience with Montreal dealers and have

been there frequently, especially last fall. I do not believe that what Mr. Taylor says
was done, was practised there to any extent. I have a higher opinion of our Montreal
cheese buyers.

By Mr. McLennan

Q. You say you want to place the cheese on the market on its merits. If the
cheese is marked as to the date, what is there to prevent you placing it on the market
on its merits. What objection can there be to having the cheese marked, specifying
what it is, and placed upon the market and sold on its merits ? Why do you draw the
distinction between the two?

Mr. Busa.-When they are dated you are placing an instrument in the hands of
the buyer to argue with the man who produces the cheese "Those are old cheese, and
I cannot give you the price," and they may be just as good in quality. We have been
shipping from the Brockville district for years. We sell our cheese at that port and
they go f rward every week. Here is a point: Supposing I sold Mr. Hodgson on the
Brockville cheese board 500 boxes of fine cheese, I guarantee the quality and weight in
Montreal. Those cheese go to Montreal. I meet Mr. Hodgson there. He tests those
cheese and he says the quality is all right. What is the difference whether that cheeso
was made in June or July, as long as the quality is all right? That is the point,
as long as the quality is all right ; and I tell you this thing has been asked for by the
English dealer from the very fact that they buy our cheese in July, store them in this
country and get the benefit of the increased prices.

Q. You have not ansýN ered my question, why does it make any difference in the
ordinary condition of the cheese, in placing cheese on the marketon its merits.

Hon. Mr. ANGER.-If you put the month on, it augments the prejudice against it.
Mr. Bus.-You know there is a prejudice. August and September cheese have

the preference over that of July or June, but last year our July cheese was really better
than our August cheese. I think that was universally admitted last year. Probably
this year it might, not be the case.

By Mr. McGregor:

Q. Did you get the price accordingly ?-No, we did not. Any cheese we sold last
year as July cheese we had to take a quarter to a half a cent less than the price, that
was the result. I have nothing more to say thansimply this: I believe there has been
a feeling growing in the country during the last ten days or two weeks against th.is
branding of cheese with the date, and I believe it is nearly universal. Personally, I be-
lieve it is against the interests of the producer.
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By Mfr. McLennan :

Q How do you account, Mr. Bush, for 95 per cent of the answers being in favour
of it ?-A. They answered th( question that was asked, and the question came to them
in a general way as to whether they approved of the branding of cheese-did they
approve of the branding of Canadian cheese ? There w'as no distinction made between
the date and the branding. Those answers are given without careful thought, the peo-
ple have not corne together and discussed it, and probably the farmers have not been
studying the matter up. They think it is a gand idea to brand cheese, and they do not
look into the merits of the bill. But I venture to say, when you get the farmers of this
country to corne and discuss this qu-stiont fairly and candidly, in nine cases out of ten,
they would vote against the branding of the date on cheese.

By Mfr. 3ce ill :

Q. You say there is a very strong prejudice to be overcome. If we branded the
cheese with the date of manufacture there would be a prejudice against the earlier made
cheese, that is what I understand you to say ?-A. There lias been in the past. I think
that is being overcome to some extent.

Q. If there be a prejudice such as you speak of still existing, wvill it iot injure our
reputation as a cheese-making country if there be a doubt as to wlether it is September
cheese that is being bought or not ?-A. I do not believe it. Suppose Mr. Hodgson
sells the English buyer 10,000 boxes of chee-e of fine quality ; when those cheese go
over, if they are fine, that is what they want.

By Mr. McLennan:

Q. Before you go further I would like to ask do you say July cheese is better than
September cheese ?--A. Not as a rule.

Q. You say that all the farmers, notwithstanding they sent t1ose answers, in nine
cases out of ten would be against the branding of cheese. Are we to uniderstand that
you propose to say that the fariners and the owners of cheese factories who sent those
answers in, did not know what they wxere (oing, and have not inteligence enough to
judge for themselves as to what answer they should send in, and whbat they would like
to have ?-A. I do not intend to say that at all, but you nay remenber the nature of
one answer that was made here to-day.

By Mfr. Cochrane :

Q. That was a man opposed to it.-A. And vou iheard tlev arguments that he used.
I am satisfied that many of those who sent answers have not looked into the mnerits of

the bill. Take the fact of the branding of cheese. Two or three years ago you will

remember the British agitation because of the impression that American cleese passed

through here and was branded as Canadian. It was a suspicion on the reputation of

Canadian cheese that lias been remedied.
Q. Was that not a fact ?-A. It was a fact, and it was doing a geat deal to injure

the reputation of Canadian cheese.
Q. Is it not a fact that when you buy July cheese you get July prices, and that

there is not as much paid for July cheese as there is for June ?-A. Not as a rule.
Q. Or September ?-A. Not as a rule.
Mr. HlODGSON.-July cheese has often got a higher price than June. There were

higher prices for " Julys " last year than " Junes."

By 1r. Cochrane :

Q. That is from the fact you wanted the cheese ?-A. From the fact that they got
a higher price.

Q, But as a general rule you buy July cheese at July prices?
Mr. BusH.-Just one word. I do not believe that in the last three or four years

deception bas been practised as rnuch as it was years ago, the reputation of our Canadian

cheese has been greatly going up.



59 Victoria. Appendix (No. 3.)

By Mr. Cochrane ;

Q. What do you mean ?-A. The selling of June cheese for August.
Q. Taking your argument, as I understand it, if the cheese are branded the pro-

ducer i, going to lose from the fact that we are going to brand July cheese. Now,what
I want to know is: is it not a fact when you buy factory cheese you pay July prices for
July cheese ?-A. It is often done. I have had men come to my factory, and looking
over my cheese they would say: " I want to know each ronth in which they were
made." I would not tell i he buyer. I would say : " Judge that for yourself. There are
500 boxes of cheese which I will guarantee fine, and I want a fine price." Now, it is
for hirn to judge himself, but one-half the buyers in this country could not tell, nor
Englishmen cannot tell, a June cheese from a July cheese.

Mr. REDMOND.-It would seem, if the practice was adopted last year of selling
"Junes " for " Septembers," it is having an effect of turning back upon us now. I
believe it is just because that deception may have been practised last year that we are
getting six cents instead of the ten cents that we ought to be receiving.

Having examined the preceding transcript of my evidence, I find it correct.

O. BUSH, Manufacturer.

THE CHAIRMAN announced that he had been handed a request from the Listowel
Board of Trade advising a postponenent of this Bill for another vear.

Mr. TAYLOR.-The Minister of Agriculture informed us that there is a general law
for the punishment of fraud in trade marks. Is not this cheese industry of sufficient
importance for putting a special clause in the statute to make it a penalty for putting
falso dates on cheese, irrespective of the General Trades Marks Act ? Could not some
such clause be included in the Dairy Products Act ?

Hon. Mr. ANGERS.-If Parliament coines to the conclusion that it is in the inter-
ests of the fariner to enact some such clause-and not altogether in the interests of the
shipper and the dealer on the other side-the Government will be willing to do its ut-
most to nake the measure as perfect as possible.

Mr. C. H. SurTH, of the Brockville Board of Trade.--" Mr. Chairman and Gentle-
men,-As one of the delegates from the Brockville Cheese Board of Trade I would like to
say a few words. While my good friend the President of the Brockville Board has
given you his idea about this branding, he has also given you in a rough way the idea of
the Board. Mr. Bush likewise gave you his idea. I do not think, however, that either
of those gentlemen have voiced the sentiments of the Brockville Dairynien's Board of
Trade so clearly as has the Minister of Agriculture and Mr. Robertson. I think
these two gentlemen have voiced the sentiments of the Brockville Cheese Board
accurately. Major McLennan hangs fire on placing our cheese on its merits by stencilling
the month. I am here as a manufacturer of cheese, and I think we have men here in
the trade from Montreal who will agree with me in reference to the quality of the
cheese. You have heard something said about the climate and conditions of weather
and grass. I claim to-day that we have been making cheese during the past
seasons which, if branded "June" "July" or " August " as the month of make, would
not be placed on the market on their nierits. Last year our July cheese was of better
quality than cheese which we made in August or the first week in September. As
Professor Robertson has pointed out, everything depends on the conditions. It seems
to me that while we are here as delegates we want to look at this matter fairly ; we
want to deal honestly with the farmers and buyers at home and honestly with the
buyers in Europe. It lias been pointed that the English buyer is asking for this legis-
lation for his own convenience. If it is your pleasure to pass certain legislation in
reference to this question, we will only know by experience the result. I think, gentle-
men, fron what the Minister of Agriculture and Professor Robertson have said that
they have given you the sentiments of the Brockville Cheese Board of Trade, even
better than we can do it.
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By Mr. Cochrane:

Q. Are you a maker of cheese ?-A. I am a maker of cheese as well as owning a
number of factories.

Mr. IIODGSON.-I may state that the Montreal Association asked me to mention
that if you want any further assistance in this matter they will be happy to furnish it,
either by sending up a deputation or otherwise.

Having exanined the preceding transcript of my evidence, I find it correct.

C. H. SMITH,
ChIeese AJfanufactu rer.

MR. H. S. FOSTER, President of the District of Bedford Dairy Association, was
then called. He said: I feel hardly qualified to discuss this question of branding before
this Committee because I see that this is a matter in which the English imaiket is very
largely concerned, and I question whether we are qualified as p, olucers to discuss it in an
intelligent way. My impression was, in the first instance, that it was best to establish
as much confidence as possible between producer and consumer, and I thought by the
branding of the month's make on the cheese we would be able t o establish such confidence,
but I see now that there is a very dt cided interest in England that want the cheese
branded, and there is another faction here that do not want it branded. I tiink, for
my part, I should be inclined to leave the question to be decided by the )airy Coi-
missioner, Mr. Robertson, vho knows the circumstances boti iere in C;taa(Ia and in
England. Then there is the question of the branding on the cieese the naine of the
province in which it is produced. We have Professor Rlobertson here, who has been
promoting the manufacture of Canadian cheese. That is what we want branded on it,
the name " Canadian" more than the particular province in which it is produced.

In the Province of Quebec, representing as I do the Eastern Townships there, we
are interested in establishing the greatest confidence possible in the minds of the
English consumer, and I trust that the inatter will be considered very carefully and
looked at in all its different phases before any action is taken. The natter is not one
to be dealt with hastily and should be very thoroughly considered before any legislation
is passed. I feel convinced that a prejudice exists in England against J uly cheese, but
if we can overcome that by showing that we can produce as good a cheese in J uly as in
August, that is a very important fact to have placed before the English consumer, but to
go to work and decide the matter hastily I think would be a muistake.

Certified as true copy of the stenographer's report of Mr. H. S. Foster's statement
before the committee in reference to the branding of cheese.

J. H. MAcLEOD,
Clerk to Comm ittee.

Mr. JAMES W. RoBERTSON, Dominion Dairy Commissioner, was called.

He said: Mr. Chairman and Gentlemen,-This is a question whieh has given rise to
a wide difference of opinion, mainly owing to the standpoint fromn whicl it is viewed.
The agitation in fsvour of branding began in England on the part of men who, while
interested in our Canadian trade, have the greatest interest in the desire to make all the
money they can by buying from us as cheaply as they possibly can. It will be therefore
seen that, while our interests and theirs are closely allied, our interests are not identical
with theirs.

The practice of branding cheese with the day of the month and the name of the
month was common before 1880 and thereafter. At some time later the English im-
porters sent instructions to their buyers in Canada not to have the name of the month
put on the cheese. The practice was, therefore, discontinued at their instance; it was
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for their profit, not for our good. One of the speakers to-day said: very likely the
English merchants will ask to have the practice of branding resumed and discontinued
again for their own profit. Canadian cheese has won a capital reputation by its quality
and intrinsic merit-not by any marks on the boxes except that of " Canadian." The
Canadian reputation has come from the intrinsie quality of the cheese. This important
fact should be borne in mind. Now, if the Eng ish merchants who buy our cheese
desire the nonth of the make branded upon it, they will send directions to their Luyers
or agents in Canada to have the month put on, and not a single factoryman will object,
if requested by the buyer who usually handles his cheese. The law here and in England
is absolutely prohibitive of any kind of misrepresentation by dates; so that if thai par-
ticular shipment referred to in evidence, when August-made cheese was branded Sep-
tember, lad been found out, the persons concerned were liable to prosecution under the
Merchandise Marks Offences Act. If I had come across a case of that kind I would
not have hesitated a single mornent in putting the law in operation against the person,
because it was a fraud or attempt at fraud.

The sentiment in favour of branding cheese is based on this : the branding which was
made compulsory in the past has been beneficial. When the "I Dairy Products Act, 1893,"
was passe d, providing for branding with the word " Canadian," apparently it helped our
cheese trade. Now, those who advocate the extension of the practice to include the
date perbaps argue that, as the branding was good in that regard, it will do good in the
second regard also. It g#ill be difficult, however, to make the farmers realize this,
unless the niatter is thoroughly explained to them. Personally, I am opposed to making
this branding of dates compulsory; I am opposed to all legislation that is coercive in
regard to commercial affairs, except for the prevention of fraud.

By Mr. Cochrane:

Q. Is not our wheat already branded ?-A. It is graded by inspection, not by any
date upon it. Another point I want to make here is this: It is generally admitted on
all hands-it is an admission on both sides, and it is not merely My own opinion-that,
by branding the nonth on the side of the cheese, we are going to pay for it through the
nose for one season. It is admitted that compulsory branding will entail a sacrifice on
our part, and for what? To overcome a prejudice. And shall we gain anything by it?
After we have overcome the prejudice we have only put another instrument into the
hands of the Canadian and English purchaser to bring down the price. It would not
be long before we heard the buyers saying that July make was not as good as that of
another month. Let me show the fallacy of seeking to brand the cheese " July " at
all. The quality of cheese is not determined by the month or the year in which it is
made; the quality is determined by conditions of weather and grass and temperature at
which it is cured and stored. A moment's reflection, however, will convince the com-
mittee that conditions of weather and grass do not follow the calendar. Why, then,
should a law be passed requiring a designation which will be taken as descriptive of
quality. when the conditions to enable the cheesemaker to obtain that quality were not
perhaps present at the time? I bave known the conditions for cheesemaking in Sep-
tember to be worse than in July; I have known the conditions in July to be better
than in June.

I need not remind you that the English retail purchaser does not go by names of
months ; he goes by what naines stand for. Cheese ordered from Montreal dealers are
not asked for " of September make " but " of September quality "; and it is a fact that
what is known as September quality sometimes cannot be made in September in some
parts of Canada. I hold, therefore, that it is a mistake to seek to compel the putting on
an article of a nane that will give a wrong impression of its quality. If cheese be made
in July or August when the conditions of September weather May prevail and the pro-
duct be equal to September make, why should not that cheese thus coming right up to
the standard of Sept ember quality be sold on its merits without being handicapped by a
brand against which there is still a prejudice ? The prejudice against our summer-made
cheese is not general and is founded upon the kind of cheese which was made fifteen-
years ago. It should be our object to let it die out as quickly as possible. If, then, we
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adopt this Bill and require compulsory branding we shall put ourselves in the position
where we shall have to begin the fight over again at a time when the prejudice had per-
haps otherwise died away. I can quite understand why the exporters froin Canada
must necessarily take a stand in public in favour of branding the month on the cheese.
They have been charged by the English Produce Exchanges with misrepr'esenting the
make of the cheese. They have been so charged in the press-I think wrongfully.
No doubt if they had stood up and said, " Don't put on the date," it would have a ten-
dency to confirm the opinion which the English Produce Exchanges have formed. Thle
prejudice to which I have alluded against summer-nade cheese has been always regarded
and bas been used in the past as a haminer with whieh to hanner lown the price of our
cheese; and I think it would be folly upon our part if we were to put a haimer into
the hands of the English importers to our detriment. Considering the progress which
the cheese industry in Canada bas made, and knowing the prejudices with which we
have to contend, I see no reason against letting our cheese go over without the date
upon it. There is no misrepresentation in that. The cheese is sold on its merits, and
the object of the shipper is to get as good a price for it as can be obtained on the mar-
ket. I an free to confess that branding would tend to repress the practice of buying
on speculation.

If the date is to be put on the cheese and also on the box it will cost more money
and more trouble, and therefore the shippers unanimously object to the branding of the
boxes. The two go together and stand side by side. Let me say this also: it would be
a restriction on some of the speculative buying, and it might be unprofitable to repress
speculative buying in cheese. I don't know about that. 1 an not here to express an
opinion beyond saying this: that the speculative buying of cheese duriIg the last four
years has given the Canadian producer more money than he would have got otherwise
for his whole season's make, although this spring those in the cheese export trade have
not been making money out of cheese on account of speculative buying. (A voice-
quite right.)

There are two cheeses made in Great Britain for one in Canada, yet do you bear
anything of the English merchants asking the British parliament to enact legislation to
compel the English producer to brand his cheese with the months of July and August?

MR. D. A. MCPHERSON.-Yes, there is an act before parliament now to that effect.
MR. R OBERTSON.-Then it bas only come up recently, and you will find that there

will be no desire on the part of the English farmer to have his cheese branded July and
August. If the imperial parliament would set us a good example in this regard I would
feel disposed to follow in their wake. We would have their exanple, aid a little
example is much better than a great deal of precept from the men who are buying our
cheese. I vould say th s also in regard to the act before the Dominion parliament: I
would go very slow in the matter of creating a new offence in our country. I have been
in favour of recommending the factorymen to put the name of the month on their cleese
for the last six or seven years. I have never once said anything opposed to that, but
always in its favour as being a desirable thing to do-if ths buyers want it. But that
is quite a different thing from making it an offence for a mari not to do it. I would say,
"Brand the nonth on every box when the cheese buyer asks you." Is that not far
enough for you to go? Make it permissive and then make it prohibitive against fraud
by misrepresentation. Before I leave this part of the subject I may say further

By k1r. Taylor:

Q. When you say prohibitive against fraud, do you mean mîaking an offence of
putting the wrong date on cheese ?-A. Yes, putting the wrong date on ; that is a mis-
represention of dates. It is an offence now ; and to prohibit that is quite a just kind
of legislation. Let me say, in passing, that our butter trade is coming to the front and
is likely to be a very important trade in the near future. We have quite easily at our
command now preserving materials and refrigeration by means of which we are getting
our butter on the English market in a fresh-made condition, with the quality unim-t
paired. We would excite a prejudice against it in England in havirig our butter
branded " June " on the sides of the tubs. Is it wise to say that butter is three
months old ?
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HON. MR. ANGERs.-In England they want the butter fresh all the time.
MR. ROBERTSON.-When the butter is fresh in taste if not in regard to age.

If we do that we wil find ourselves shut out of the market, because neither the
Australians nor the Danes brand the butter they make and we would be only handi.
capping ourselves. I think it would be most disastrous to the butter trade to have that
done. The view I have taken before, in speaking to the Minister of Agriculture, was
this : Since there is so much difference of opinion and so much at stake it would be
wise to postpone the legislation for at least one year. By that means the
farmers and shippers in this country and the importers in England can come to an
understanding; and meanwhile an unmistakable expression of opinion can be given,
that Canadians are bound to prevent fraud in their cheese-making and cheese-selling;
and that any inan who sells July cheese for August cheese would be guilty of a mis-
demeanour punishable by law.

HoN. MR. ANGERS.-That is the case now.
MR. ROBERTSON.-There is no necessity for having our cheese stamped to

the prejudice of the producer.

By Mr. McMfilan :

Q. If there is no stamp how are you going to distinguish between July and August
make ?-A. If there be fraud it is only committed by the wrong date, and that can be
proven in the ordinary course of law.

Q. That would be only as to quality and not to date of make ?-A. If a certain
date were specified in the agreement of sale it could be traced to the maker.

By Mr. O'Brien:

Q. I understand from your argument that you would be opposed to any branding
of cheese whatever, as regards the date ?-A. I would be opposed to the branding of
cheese being made compulsory and the neglect being made a penal offence.

Q. Would you brand September cheese any more than July ?-A. Not by law. I
would not make it compulsory. I am in favour of the factorymen branding their cheese
if they choose, but I would not favour compulsory branding that may entail loss, with
no good result to the producer. Besides this, I object to all branding that -would in-
volve making the neglect to brand, an offence, unless fraud was committed or likely to
be committed in the branding itself or in the neglect to brand.

Q. " We don't want the principle of compulsion in reference to all matters of
merchandise, in reference to all trade matters." I understood Mr. Robertson opposed
compulsion. I took those words down when lie was speakiiig, perhaps he went a little
further than lie intended ?-A. I was dealing at that time entirely with the branding of
the date. Now I am coming to another part of the Bill. Speaking of that, I think
it is desirable to have the word " Canada "' or " Canadian," and I would suggest that.

HON. MR. ANGERs.-That is the law now.
MR. ROBERTsoN.-The word " Canadian " is one that is used in the trade

journals. Our cheese is known as " Canadian." In the meantime I think it would be
advantageous to have every factory register its name and location in some department
in Ottawa and to have a registered number issued for that factory, in order that any of
its goods in Great Britian could be traced back to the source of manufacture. It
would be of value in that sense and it would have a special value here, which I think
would accrue to the producer.

By Mr. 3cLennan :

Q. How would you trace it unless you brand a number on the cheese ?-A. I
would brand a registered factory number on the cheese. I would do it so that factory
number 950, making a cheese of such superlative excellence that it would be likely to
fetch in England 2 cents a pound more than the cheese of factory number 949, which is not
so excellent, would presently find a similar differentiation in price according to quality
here. When the grocer in England, who ultimately gets them, finds they please~ his
customers immensely, he can get the name of the factory, give it to his shipper and his
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buyer, and start a new competition, the result of which will be to improve our cheese
trade. I do not think the shippers would be injured by this after it was in operation.
The only other remark I have to offer is in regard to the penalty for violation mentioned
in this Bill. I would make the penalty at first as light as possible. It is not an offence,
in any sense, that should be counted as a great misdemeanour involving a heavy financial
punishiment.

These are my views as Dairy Commissioner.
If the dates are branded on the cheese the consensus of opinion is that our farmers

will pay through the nose for doing that for two Nears. My opinion is that after they
have paid through the nose for doing it they will gain nothing that is worth anything
to then. Therefore, if we lose for two years and gain no good, we subject ourselves to
inconvenience and trouble. In the second place, I think it would be disastrous to our
butter trade to have our butter branded on the outside of the tub, because you can pre-
serve the quality intact, if you have proper storage, for several weeks.

By Mr. Cochrane :
Q. Can you do the saine with cheese ?-A. No, cheese cures differently.

By Mr. McLennan:
Q. Would you make it compulsory with butter?-A. I would not.
Then I think in the third place it would be advantageous to have all factories reg-

istered. Then in the fourth place, since there lias been a difference of opinion and this
discussion bas taken place, I think a declaration from Parliament will do good if it says
that Canadians are in favour of the prevention of all fraud by misrepresentation of
dates or otherwise. Then I think the position would be better for the cheese trade and
for the farmers as well.

By Mr. McMillan;
Q. You say that if the English buyers wished to have the date put on the cheese

they would have sent word to Canada. Is it not a fact that the Bristol Board of Trade
have sent word that they want the date branded on the cheese?-A. Let me distin-
guish between the two communications. I have made enquiries of the men who are
buying cheese and I have not found a man who has given orders to have the date put
on cheese purchased on his account this year.

Q. But is it not a fact the people in Great Britain have sent representations that
they wish to have the brand put on ?-A. Let me make miy point clear, it is not quite
understood. These men in Bristol who buy cheese, buy it through their agents in Can-
ada. It they want the cheese marked with the date and if there is no bluff in the mat-
ter, they have only to send instructions to the men who buy for then to ask to have the
date put on the chesse. But so far I have not heard of a single man who has asked to
have the date put on.

Q. Don't you think that the expression of the opinion of the Bristol Board is the
expression of the individual buyers and that the reception of a circular fron thenm is ex-
pected to have more effect than any private individual giving orders himself might
have done ?-A. I think if the buyer wanted to have it donc lie would send orders to
his buyer here to have it put on. It does not cost anything.

Q. The Board of Trade have sent a representation and no doubt it comprises a
large number of buyers in localities ?-A. Well, the history of this inatter in England,
so far as I have learned, is this : Some few merchants there last year bought cheese at
higher prices than they could sell it for. They claimed that the cheese which they had
bought was bought as of a certain month's make and delivered of another month's inake.
It so happened there was loss and this was the cause of the trouble. There were cases
of arbitration and as an easy way to escape from the troubles of arbitration they agreed
to ask Canada to pa-s a law for the branding of cheese so as to simplify their arbitra-
tion proceedings hereafter. If they did really want the cheese branded they would not
send it through the papers, but would have sent instructions to the buyers and it would
be done at once.

(Mr. Robertson's evidence of this date subscribed to on p. 202.)
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The CHAiitMAN.-It has been suggested to me by Mr. Wood that I should invite an
expression of opinion from the shippers as to how the inspection could be easily carried
out if the Bill becomes law.

MR. MCYNEILL. -I wish to say a word or two on this matter, if you will allow me
for a moment. I think, from the fact that I have myself resided in England for thirty

years, that I may without impropriety say a word in reference to this subject. I have
also taken, as you all know, a good deal of interest in the trade of this country, in its
bearing on inter-imperial trade.

I hold that this is a very serious question, one which seriously affects the largest
export of agricultural products that we have in Canada-by far the largest. It is one
as to which if we arrive at an unfortunate conclusion, it will tend to the detriment of
the agricultural interest of this country. Now, I am quite sure of this, that, howev er
unfairly some dealers in England may act-and there are unfair and dishonest dealers
in England, as in every other country-but I am certain of this, that, if there be in the
whole world any conmunity which attaches importance, as a cormunity, to fair-play
and fair-dealing, it is the English people. I am quite certain that, if the impression
exists in the minds of the English people at the present time that we here in Canada are
not dealing fairly by thein in reference to our cheese, that feeling there will pro-
duce a very injurious effect on the export of Canadian cheese to England. I have very
little doubt in my own mind, although, of course, I have no proof, that the very low
price wliich Canadian cheese is at the present moment producin, is due to the impression
which has arisen in the minds of English purchasers that they are being unfait ly dealt
with in reference to the cheese sent from this country. There are two prejudices which
have to be overcome, one against July cheese, which we have been told by one gentleman
representing the Board of Trade in Montreal is a prejudide wbich is rapidly disappear-
ing; and the other is a prejudice regarding the whole cheese trade of Canada.
Whicli is the more important to consider ? That is the point to grapple with. Sup-
posing we do lose a trifle for a short time, and, judging from what lias transpired, it wiil
be for a very short time, by branding the cheese " June " and " July," if we save the
whole cheese trade by so doing, is it not in the interests of the whole countrv ? There
is no one in this room who lias a higher appreciation of my friend, .Mr. Rlobertson,
than I have. No one adiires the ability and judgme4t of the Dairy Commissioner
more than I do, but greatly as I appreciate Mr. Robertson's work and worth, still, I
think, in this matter, he bas fallen into error. I think that if this prejudice against our
July chîeese be met fairly and squarely, as was suggested by the president of the Brock-
ville Board of Trade, it will disappear very rapidly. Let us sell our cheese on its
merits. Let us acknowledge that July cheese is Julv chees-, and if there be a prejudice
against it in England, and if it is found there to be as good as September make, surely
that prejudice will soon disappear ; but do not let us give the opportunity for
unscrupulous men to brand July cheese as September. At present there is a prejudice,
we know, against July cheese. Then, why should we allow a risk to be run by branding
such cheese "September ?" Mr. Robertson says lie would not have compulsory branding,
but would allow it to be branded " September" if it were September. I would point out,
however, that if you would compel the branding on July cheese, it is impossible to have
a fraud. If you 1eave the cheese unbranded, another man can brand it what he pleases,
but if you brand according to the month in which it is manufactured, it is impossible
for this fraud to be committed. One other observation, before I sit down. It will be
time enough to consider the question of the butter trade when that arises. We are
now dealing with the cheese industry ; let us settle that according to the best of our
ability and the best interests of the trade.

MR. MCLENNAN said :-I am glad that the gentlemen who have come here
to-day representing the different boards have spoken as favourably as they have for the
branding( of cheese and butter. I expected to meet with very great opposition. It was
reported that the Brockville and Montreal dealers in cheese were very much opposed to
the bill ; it was reported that Mr. Robertson was also opposed to it. I am glad to
find he is not, except so far as the compulsory clauses are concerned. He approves of
the principle that all the cheese factories should be registered here at Ottawa. I would
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point out to him that if we are going to legislate on this matter of branding at all, it
must be made compulsory. The Dairy Commissioner speaks of this as coercive legisla-
tion, but'all legislation of this kind is compulsory. The Weights and Measures Act is
compulsory ; the Excise law is compulsory. Mr. Robertson bas said that he has
known July made cheese to be sometimes better than September make. Well, if July
cheese is better than September, there certainly can be no wrong in branding it
"July " cheese. If there is a prejudice against July cheese, the quicker we overcome
it the better. Before to-day, Mr. Robertson, in this commiittee, has expressed himself
in regard to the prejudices of the English consumer of oui dairy and other products.
He lias told us it was our duty to bow to those prejudices, and to try and please them
by placing our products before them in a fair and honest way. The Dairy Commis-
sioner is one of the most pleasing speakers that I have listened to on this subject, and I
am glad that he is not against this bill. The only question where we are at issue, is
that lie is not in favour of making the branding coimpulsory. This bill provides for
marking the cheee as "Canadian ;" also for narking the month,
and it also provides for the registrattion and nunbering of the factories. This
latter provision means that every man who owns a factory in the Dominion will write
to the Dairy Commissioner or some other person who may be chosen by the Government
for the purpose of taking registrations of cheese factories throughout the Dominion.
There will be a registration made of the locality in whicl the factory is ; the naine
and post office address of the man owning the factory, and he will have sent
to him by registered letter the number of his factory and certificate of registration.
This will do away with all inspection. This is the best kind of inspection, because with the
cheese in Montreal, in Liverpool, in Boston or any place in Great Britain, all that
is necessary to do is to refer to this register, and it can then be ascertained where that
cheese is manufactured and by whom, so that if a mari places bad cheese on the market,
if it is filled cheese or composed of any article that it should not con tain, he is held
responsible for his own conduct in trying to perpetrate a fraud upon the buyers and
consumers of that article. So I think this is a very complete systemu, and will not cost
the government one cent. We do not need, nor want any inspector. The grocer in
Liverpool, or any other part of England, who bas that cheese on sale in his store knows,
with the brand upon it, it is under inspe-tion from the time it is used until that brand
is destroyed. I think, therefore, every requirement will be met In this respect. Il
regard to the clause providing a penalty for riot branding cheese at the factory, I may
say that certainly the shipper will not be responsible for this. The law provides that
the cheese must be branded at the factory and there is a penalty of from $5 to .20 for
every cheese that is sent out without being branded, or for neglect to carry out the full
conditions of the law concerning the different matters stipulated in this section. Thus
there can be no doubt that there is no inspection necessary.

MR. TAYLR.-Mr. Chairman, if the hon. gentleman will just allow me, I will point
out that the bour for our meeting is just about up, and I know the Minister lias a few
words to say.

MR. MCLENNAN.--I beg your pardon, I thank you very nuch for mentioning this.
I only intended to say a few words and I am sure the Minister, Mr. Robertson and the
people of this country are quite willing to extend justice to the farmer. We have
already got from the latter an expression of opinion of 90 per cent in favour of it. The
people of England want this branding and the people of Canada are also in its favour.
Different societies have passed resolutions in favour of it, and why should not the cheese
be branded ? If there is anything unfair or unreasonable, then it is for somebody to
say so, and point out where the unreasonable provisions of the bill are to be found. So
far, nobody bas been in a position to say we are asking for anything unfair or un-
reasonable.

MR. MCMILLAN-Mr. Robertson says that any infringement of the law
can be traced back to the factory. I suggest that it will be necessary to amend the bill
and instead of saying "no person shall sell," provide that "no salesnian in any factory
shall sell."
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THE CHAIRMAN.-That will be only with regard to the details. I was going to
suggest that there will be ample opportunity for members both of this coinmittee and
the house to express their opinions in regard to this matter at a later stage. We will
close by having some expression of opinion from the Minister of Agriculture, who is
here to listen to the views of the delegates.

Hon. Mr. ANGERS, Minister of Agriculture :--Hon. gentlemen, I thank you very
much for the trouble you have taken in coming up here in such a large delegation to
give us the best information possible relative to the interest of the farmers in the brand-
ing of cheese. The object of this committee and the object of Pariiament must be to
further, first, the interest of the producer. We know how smart and cunning the dealers
and the shippers are, and this law is not required, I believe, to protect them
at al]. What we have to do is to protect the producer. The dairy industry now is the
main thing and the most prominent that our farmers have to depend on. Any law that
we adopt which will check the advance of the value of theirgoods or will give an
opportunity to the purchaser in the market of saying: "Oh, this is a July cheese, it is
worth two cents less in Liverpool, Bristol or London, therefore, you will only get that
for it from me," will be a mistake.

Mr. COCHRANE.--They say that now.
Hon. Mr. ANGERS.-That may be, but if we pass this act we shall give written

evidence against the farmers that this is July cheese, because it will be branded on it.
Now, I am willing in this matter to be advised by the most interested parties, and I
look upon as the most interested parties the producers, not the seller or shipper. There
is a fear here that if this bill is adopted as it stands, it will check the endeavour that
Parliament is making now to put Canadian butter at its real value on the British
market. It is a well-known fact to you all that they will have nothing in England but
what is called fresh butter. They want f resh butter with as little salt as posible. We
are in a position to give them that butter up to two or three months old as good as if it
were only two or three days old. We are making an endeavour in that direction now.
Well, if you brand the butter as you propose to brand the cheese, instead of giving a
certificate of freshness to your butter, you are bringing it down in the market. As
Prof. Robertson told you, they will say: "This is butter three months old, we don't
want it. We look for butter which may be just three weeks old." Now, I am willing
to do all that is reasonable to satisfy the prejudices of the English purchaser. What is
it that he wants ? He wants to know the month in which our cheese is made. It has
been demonstrated here that to do that you want no law at all. You just want instruc-
tions from the British purchaser to his agent in Canada who is dealing with the fac-
tories throughout the Dominion, and he will get exactly what he wants, so that if they
want to be informed if a cheese is of July or September make lie can get that infor-
mation if lie p!eases, without it being necessary to pass a law. Now, it is said that no
fraud is to be permitted. The law as it stands now makes it a misdemeanour and a
fraud to give a wrong date, to put a false trade mark upon goods. This should be suffi-
cient to prevent factories and shippers on this side from stamping a month which is not
the true one. There is another question which has not been properly considered. The
British purchaser has expressed a prejudice against the cheese manifactured during
cei tain months. There is a question of climate in this connection which nobody has
eonsidered. Now, the climate of the Dominion of Canada is not the same all over.
The July cheese may be very bad if made far west of Ontario. It nay be very good if
it is made in Nova Scotia because when there is a urought in the wA est, very
often you have abundant rain and abundant grass in the east. There is a material
difference also in the season of ail provinces. In Quebec you have not the abundant
grass at the same date that you have it in Ontario, and consequently the ch-ese made
in Ontario may not according to months be ranged with the cheese made in the province
of Quebec. This is a subject which the comiittee should consid er before we decide to
mark the month of manufacture. There is a question of geography implied. and you
nay be doing injury both to the producer and the purchaser. You may be mis eading
the purchaser on the other side by putting on the month. I hope the committee will
give the greatest possible attention to the subject, and they will perhaps come to the
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conclusion of the Dairy Commissioner that it needs further consideration. But what-
ever you do, I hope you will take no action to check the attempt now being made to put
Canadi&n butt-r on the British market.

The CHAIRMAN.-I would ike to express to these gentlemen who have cone here
to-day, at some inconvenience to themselves, our appreciation of the clear and lucid
manner in which they have expressed their views to the committee.

COMMITTEE Room 46,
HoUSE OF CoMMoNS,

TUESDAY, 18th June, 1895.

The Select Standing Committee on Agriculture and Colonization met this day
at 10.30 a.m., Mr. Roome in the chair, presiding.

Hon. THOMAs BALLANTYNE, of Stratford, Ontario, was present by citation, and being
called upon addressed the committee as follows :-

I may say that I have been connected with the dairy industry of Canada for the
last 28 years. This is the 29th year that J have been engag d in the manufacture of
cheese. In 1867, when dairying hlad become sutticiently general for the supply to exceed
the demand, and the product was almost unsalable, we thought it might assist us in
the difficulty of marketing our produce to have a convcntion. This convention was held
in Ingersoll in 1867, and an association was then formed. I was then elected a director
of that association, and I have been a director uninterruptedly ever since. I was pre-
sident in 1872 and 1873 before the association was divided into eastern and western
sections. Up to then, it was the Canadian Dairymon's Association, and I was president
in 1872 and 1873. Since then I have been seven years president of the Western Dairy-
men's Association, and I an still one of the directors. J am a farmer and a producer
of milk. I have been in the manufacture, as I say, for 28 years. I have been actively
engaged in dealing in cheese for the last 25 years. I have been in England every year
but one, and at almost every month in the year for the last 25 years, so that I might
see our product at all the different seasons of the year, compare one month with another,
keep in touch with the trade as far as possible, and be able to give my opinions or sug-
gestions with a view of improving the product. I have conscientiously endeavoured to
do so. I have just returned fron England lately, and during the time that J was there
I suppose that I examined probably 100 specimens of cheese that I had shipped, includ-
ing June, July, August, September and October-some of which had been kept in cold
storage and some not-in the hai.ds f the different warehouse men, so that J could note
the character in any that might be deficient with a view to assist in improving the pro-
duct. While there I found the trade unanimously in favour of the branding of cheese
by putting the month and the dy of the month upon it. They issued a circular, pro-
bably it lias been before you, setting forth their views on the matter. I have here a
copy of the circular issued by the trade in London. The form of it is immaterial, and I
need not trouble to read it. It is simply to bring before the cheese manufacturers of
Canada the importance of branding. It was rendered necessary by a strong suspicion,
probably a well grounded suspicion, that the re were certain dealers in Canada in the
habit of shipping cheese of diflerent months' make than that they represented it to be. I
would wish the committee to uniderstand that we buy from the factories. I have been
dealing somewhat extensively in chee e, shipping on an average about 125,000 boxes a
year direct to England, so that I know whereof L speak. As J was saying, we-buy f rom
the factories in every case according to the month's make. If we buy May we get May
if we buy June we get June, and so on. We ship théni, or I hope the great najority
do, indeed I believe that they do, representing them to be cheese of the different
months that they actually are. We put them first half of May, second half of May,
June, July, Auigust. September, one month or another, as the case may be. There has
been a strong suspicion, resulting from ai bitrations held last year in England, that some

177



59 Victoria. Appendix (No. 3.) A. 1896

of the cheese shipped from Canada were not of the month's make that they were repre-
sented to be. I have no wish to accuse any one of doing one thing or another. I have
never myself been accused by any dealer of sending cheese which belonged to any
other month than that I represented. But there has been a strong suspicion that the
English dealers have not been getting the months that they have paid for. The only
way to remove that is to have the cheese branded. It should be branded with the
month and the day of the month when it is taken out of the press and put on the press-
board. Then you cannot take it out again without showing where the erasure lias taken
place.

When we began, 28 years ago, it -was the exception not to put the month and the
day of the nonth on the cheese, but somehow it has gone out of use. The time has now
come, I think, when we should return to the system of branding. It was always neces-
sary to put the day of the nonth on, because in inspecting cheese it is impossible to
inspect them as you otherwise would unless you know the day. The branding of the
day bas been a general thing, but the month bas not been branded of late years. There
are those who suggest that nothing should be done, but I think the Committee will see
that there is good reason for taking action in the way that is now asked for. I know
that it is denied that there is a practice of selling cheese as of a different month's make
than that which it really is, and, as I said before, I do not wish to accuse anybody. But
I was last year in a custoner's house in Glasgow when they handed me a circular saying
that such an individual was quoting Ingersolls, which is the term by which all cheese
west of Toronto is known in England,-cheese was first made in Ingersoll and it bas
given its name to all the cheese of that district-saying that they were quoting August
Ingersolls at 48s. 3d. I told them " It is simply impossible, but I will telegraph to Canada
and get to know." I cabled and they replied that 48s. 3d. for Julys was the lowest price.
This lad come forward as August cheese, but there can be no doubt that it was July,
because of the price. The effect of course is to give the English dealers a prejudice
against a particular month. We know that the quality of cheese is entirely different
in different months, always and without exception. September, of course, bas keeping
properties that others have not. I am aware that some people are opposed to the
branding of cheese because they suppose it would prejudice the sale of the July make.
Now, I had supposed that there could not possibly be any objection on the part of any
factory man to branding his cheese. They sell it in every case without an exception as
for the month in which it was actually made, and why they should object to the month's
make being branded on it I could not understand. But it is easy to see that they have
been in conversation with certain dealers, or their agents, who bave hinted that.branding
would affect the reputation of July and August cheese, and that they could not pay as
high a price for these months' make because of the prejudice against then. I hope
these agents are the exceptions, but I wish to show that the basis upon which they are
arguing, the prejudice against July cheese, is a mistake. I have been at the pains to
find out what the average for July cheese, and for June cheese, bas really been during
the last few years. I never sold a box of July cheese for August or September cheese
in my life. I find that in 1894 the highest price for June cheese was 9½, and the lowest
8½, average 9 cents a pound. In July it was 9 Il and 91, average 9¾. In 1893. June
was from 9g to 9, average 9* cents a pound; July was from 91 to 9*, average 9¾. In
1892, June was 9 to 8¾; July 9¾ to 8¾ In 1891, June 8¾ to 8½; July, 9½ to 8½. In
1890, June, 8¾ to 8j, July, 8L to 8J. In 1889, June, 9- to 85 ; July, 9 to 85. It will
be seen that in almost every case the price of July cheese is higher than the price of
June. It is the same with September and October cheese as compared with September.
The figures are as follows :-1894, September, 10* and 10 cents; September and October,
10 to 10-. 1893, September, 101 to 11 cents; September and October, 10î to 11,.
1892, September, 10 cents; September and October, 10 to 10¾. 1891, September 9Ï
and 10 cents ; September and October, 9¾ and 10 cents. 1890, September, 9¾ to 101;
September and October, 9 to 10*. 1889, September and October, 9¾ to 11 cents; no
Septembers only were sold this year.

Now, our Code Book is here, and, you will see, it provides for every month. The cable
correspondence shows we quote these months-we quote them Julys. Sometimes you

178



Agriculture and Colonization.

can buy September alone, sometimes you cannot. Everyone knows there are generally
two months sold together, September and October. I never found there was any pre-
judice against October, as Octobers. There was a time when our Octobers were inferior.
The principles of cheese making were imperfectly understood, the milk was not of a
sufficient age, the proper temperature was not kept up in curing, but there is no reason
now, with the knowledge that we have, why Octobers should not be better. The inilk
is richer, it contains a larger percentage of butter fat, it is in perfect condition as a rule,
and it sbould be quite equal to the September make. I must state that I was told by a
firm which has possibly the best family trade in all England-I mean Hudson Bros., of
London. This firm has the best family trade in England, and I sold it some months of
October alone, and I sold as well some Septembers and Octobers together. I caused
Mr. Hudson to get samples, and I said to him: " How would you compare Octobers ?"
His reply was : " There is no better cheese in the world." No firm has such a fine trade.
The firm is not particular about the price so long as you can give the quality. Mr.
Hudson said: "I don't want anything better. I don't know whether we could get any-
thing better." It is a mere question of whether we should create distrust and want of
confidence amongst our customers in England, or whether we should make themu feel
we are willing to act honestly ; that we buy these particular months and sell thein as
these particular months ; and I cannot imagine any honest man will object to doing
that.

By Mr. McNeill:

Q. Do you sell them in England as those months ?-A. Sell them in England as
those months, always. They want to know what months they are frot your buyer there,
and vou sell then as such. If a small committee wishes to see mny correspondence with
my customers they can do so, and they will see that we quote: "Last half Julys, last
half Augusts," and so on. There can be no objection, I should think, to branding.

By 3fr. Carpenter:

Q. Can you tell me whether, of your own knowledge, the nane of the month in
which the cheese was made is legible on the brand when it reaches the retailer in the
old country ?-A. Perfectly legible, and it cannot be taken off without showing that it had
been branded at one time. We always brand them when taken out of the press, by
putting the stencil on, and you can never erase that without showing that an erasure
has been made. It might be quite covered with mould and you could iot see it at first
sight, but you cannot take off the brand without svowing it has been interfered with.

By3Mr. Bain:

Q. Where do you brand ?-A. On the side of the cheese.

By the Chairman :

Q. You mentioned that in England there is an unanimous feeling that the branding
should be done. Has any Irish, Scotch or English cheese been branded i-A. Well,
there is a difference, and cheese has been sold as representing the different months.

Q. Do you know whether they brand their cheese ?-A. I don't think so. You see
they are such small concerns, private dairies, making one or two cheese in a day. That
is a very different thing to factories making 500 to 600 cheese of similar quality in a
month.

Q. You mentioned that years ago the practice was to brand cheese. At whose
instance was this done, the buyers or the manufacturer i--A. I presume it just got into
disuse. I have known buyers who asked the factory not to brand the particular parts
of the month. I have known buyers who did not brand the last three days of July and
did not put the dates on for the last three or four days in, August. It got into disuse
in that way, after some years of branding.

Q. There was no agitation to stop it 7-A. Never.
179
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By Mr. Carpenter :

Q. I am informed that some of the retailers take the trouble to strip off the bandage

on each brand when it reaches their counters.-A. You cannot provide against that.

Q. Do you know as a matter of fact that they do that ?-A. I don't think the

retailers attach much importance to the month. The retailers know what they are

buying. They do not care anything about the month as long as they get the quality.

By Mr. McLennan :

Q. In a large nuinber of answers to the circulars that were sent, the factory men

say that some dealers and speculators in cheese asked that they should not brand cheese
with a date ?-A. As far as I know that is the cause of any objection to the branding.

Q. What about the box ?-A. They attach no importance to the box. If the

cheese is branded it is all that is necessary.
Q. Will you say the Lower Provinces cannot produce as good cheese in July as in

Ontario in August and September ?-Well, I will not say that I am not aware there is
any sucli difference as that.

Q. You don't think there is any such difference ?-A. I am not aware.

Q. Have you ever bought from Prince Edward Island or Nova Scotia.-A. I
never did.

Q. Would there be danger of interfering with their cheese trade in branding ?-A.

I have no idea. The climate is the same as here, they have sumner and fall, and, assum-

ing the cattle get pure water, the cheese if properly made will be all right.

By Mr. Carpenter:

Q. I think perhaps Mr. Ballantyne should go on and complete his statement, which

he would have done if I had not asked the question I did ?-A. It was a very pertinent
question.

Q. Now, perhaps you would like to go on?-A. I don't know. Probably what

information I know can best be brought out by questions. I have only to say this : I

found the feeling in England unaninously in favour of branding. Now, I will state
what my opinion is if I was a inerchant in England and had honest correspondents

here, in fact everyone would deal fairly with me. Would I then want cheese branded ?
It might operate against me. The English merchants say not. They say " we do not

care what the cheese are if we have the quality." There have been certain merchants
who did not want cheese maiufactured in July. But they are getting out of that. As

a rule, 1 say in 99 cases out of 100, the last half of July make are better goods than those

of June. I have instructed my correspondents to that effect and I have always said so.

I have the opportuinity this year of making a comparison between them. I saw June,
July, August and September cheese stored here and in England, and I found the July
cheese equal to that of June.

By Mr. Carpenter:

Q. How do vou account for the strong prejudice in the English market against
August cheese ?-A. Oh, no, there is not.

Q. I understood you to say so?-A. I said there had been against July.
I find that we have been paying a higher price for Julys and I am pleased to be

able to say that the prejudice against July cheese is disappearing very much. Some
will perhaps say even yet that July is not so fine, but if we send them branded it will
be found that July cheese are nearly if not quite superior. I say here, as a result of my
experience and observation, that 99 out of 100 cheese made in the last few weeks in
J uly are as good as any other make.

By the Chairman (Mr. Roome):

Q. You manufacture cheese, as well as ship it ?-A. Yes.
Q. And you brand your make of cheese ?-A. Yes.
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Q. With the day and month 3-A. Yes. I used to put the September month
only on the Septembers and the day of the month on other cheese, commencing with
the 1st of August, but we quit putting the month on except on Septembers. That was
the only month I put the date on.

Q. What practice are you following this year ?-A. We are branding all this
year.

By Mr. Carpenter:

Q. Do you know whether the retailer buys froin an examination of the article
when he purchases, or is lie governed by the brand ?-A. It is under the trier. In 99
cases out of 100 they buy them under the trier.

Q. Why then should you put the brand on ?-A. To protect the dealer in England;
that is, the man who is buying from us. Our cheese is not prejudiced by sending June
cheese, which in no case was ever equal to September cheese. It is said, however, that
June cheese has been shipped to England as September make.

By Mr. Bain ( Wentworth);

Q. Has the cheese been placed in cold storage in the meantime ?-A. It does not
matter whether it has or not. The September make contains a larger percentage of
butter fat than the June cheese. The temperature while euring June cheese gets high,
and the June cheese is not equal to the September.

Q. But if it is placed in cold storage what is the effect ?-A. It just stops where it
iS.

Q. The process, then, is to place it in cold storage and delay the ripening ?-A.
That is what they seek to do. Several arbitrations took place in Bristol and London
last year on suspicion that some of the shipments were not what they were represented
to be, and many of them were decided in favour of the importer.

Q. Decided what ?-A. That the cheese were not the montb's make as represented.
Q. Were the cheese or the boxes branded 3-A. -Neither were branded. They were

simply sold as the inake of such a month.
Q. What would be the immediate effect in price on July cheese if it were branded ?

-A. The best evidence I could give would be to quote my own experience. I ain quite
willing to show my books to a sub-committee. Such an exanination would demonstrate
that I have been paying a higher price for Julys right along than -J unes.

Q. I would like to know what your judgment would be as to the probable effect on
the prices paid to the Canadian farmer, of branding July cheese?-A. If I thought it would
bring a less return to the farmer I would not advocate the branding of the cheese. I
have been a farmer myself for a good many years. The non-branding doubtless depre-
ciates very seriously the value of our summer made cheese, and I will explain how. I
landad in England this year about the first of May. Fall cheese, that is Septeibers
and Octobers, were selling at 49s. and 50s. One in the trade was selling simultaneously
with them, Junes at 38s. Nothing depresses the market so much as that. This was
one of the firms which had a representative in the west recently and who has been say-
ing that he hopes this bill will be prevented from passing, and that if it does pass lie will
not take any cheese that are branded May. I do not wish to mention any nanes, as I do
not think it advisable, but I state this on my honour. Now, if June cheese is branded
" June " it will make them more careful in selling, and we shall not see many boxes
placed on the market at 38s.

By Mr. JcMfillan :

Q. Then you think it would be to the benefit of the farmer to have the cheese
branded ?-A. Most decidedly.

By Mr. Mceill :

Q. My question was as to the immediate effect of branding Julys, and particularly
as regards what the farmer will receive ?-A. I have given you the best illustration so
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far as my own business is concerned-that I have not bought July cheese for less price
than any other person. We have sold theni as "Julys " by cable and shipped them as
such.

Q. You are in favour of selling your cheese in the English market according to the
month's make ?-A. I have never sold them otherwise. We have bought them, sold
them and shipped them as such.

Q. You have adopted the branding system this year, for each month ?-A. Yes.
Q. In your own interest ?-A. Yes.

By fr. Carpenter:

Q. I would like to follow out the methods of the consumer, as we must remember
that we have to cater to his taste as well as to the importer. Do you know whether, as
a rule, when the consumer in England goes into a store, he asks for any particular
month's make of cheese?-A. He does not even take time to look at the article. It is not the
consumer who indicates his wishes; it is the importer by whom we are directed. I will
give you an illustration as to how this works. I returned from Bristol one morning and
made my way to Edgeware road, where the Home and Colonial Company have a large
store. At the sixpenny counter of Canadian cheese, they were handing it out in little
bits, and the people were buying it as fast as they could. Then I went to Little Poult-
ney and af terwards to the retail stores at Islington, where the Home and Colonial Com-
pany has other large retail stores. They were selling there in the same way. In no
case does the consumer ask for the month's make.

Q. Have you bought cheese in the Western States and shipped them through
Canada ?- A. I have bought cheese in the Western States.

Q. How are they branded there ?-A. They are branded, when they get to Canada
"Product of United States." That suggests a remark which I should like to make.
We do not want their reputation. We want their prices, and that is all. I was asked
once to give evidence before a Committee of the State Legislature of New York.
They were advocating filled cheese, by using lard or margarine, and I stated then that
one of the effects of filling the cheese with these substances would be to diminish the
price.

I stated that one of the effects would be to destroy confidence, to diminish con-
sumption and to lower the price ; and if they wanted to destroy their trade they could
not do it better than by substituting margarine and these other things for butter-fat.
The effect of it is that now, except for a little while in summer, when they do not adul-
terate it, everybody is afraid to touch United States cheese. Scientists claimed that if
you added margarine oil it would take an expert to detect it ; it could not be discovered
by the dealer or the consumer, but, although it is all right for the same month, it will
not keep. I have seen it sold for a half-penny a pound.

By Mr. Wilson:

Q. How do you find the difference in the price between Canadian and American
cheese ?-A. At the present time there is not very much difference, because margarine,
or lard, what we call neutral oil, which was used as a substitute for butter-fat, is not
used during the summer, during the present month. A correspondent in New York,
yesterday, representing the wholesale co-operative stores there, wrote me saying that
they were getting American cheese, which was suiting them very well at the present
time. There was no danger of it being adulterated.

By the Chairman (Mr. Roome) :

Q. Have Canadians been accused of adulterating their cheese ?-A. No, they have
never been accused of adulteration.

By Mr, Wilson:

Q. At what season of the year is the difference in price apparent, between Canadian
and United States cheese ?-A. Oh, when it gets later there will be quite a difference,
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because our cheese are, as a rule, firm and more suitable for cold storage. As soon as the
supply is in excess of the demand for immediate shipment, our cheese invariably com-
mands a higher price. These prices are all the result of causes, and that is the princi-
pal cause. Our cheese are much more suitable for cold storage, and as soon as the sup-
ply is in excess of the demand for immediate shipnent there is sure to be an advance in
price. The demand for immediate consumption has greatly increased in the States.
They only ship one half of what they did some years ago.

By Mr. Carpenter:

Q. I understood it was your invariable practice to brand the make of your own
factory ?-A. Always the day of the month.

Q. And not the month ?-A. We have not been branding the month except the
month of September.

Q. You might make a cheese on the l5th of July, and sell it as of the 15th of
August ?--A. Oh, I don't do that.

By Mr. J. A. Leitch :

Q. You have always had a special brand ?-A. Yes, the cheese have always gone
under the brand of the factory.

By the Chairman (fMr. Roome.)

Q. Do you brand it for any other factory ?-A. No; our shipments are about
125,000 boxes a year.

By Mr Hutchins:

Q. In buying cheese would you be guided in any way by the brand or exclusively
by your own judgment ?-A. Oh, by our own judgnent.

Q. Not at all by the brand?-Always by personal inspection, but we buy the par-
ticular month. If we are buying July, we get July; if we are buying August, we get
August.

Q. If you went into the factory to buy cheese you would not be guided by the
brand as to the quality, but by your own judgmnent ?-A. Oh, we find a great difference
between one factory and another, and we buy by our own judgment, but we buy them
as July and sell them as July.

By Mfr. Wilson :

Q. You would buy them by the actual test, and not by the brand ?-A. We are
not going to pay a high price for an inferior cheese simply because it happens to be
branded September. There is no danger of that.

By Mr. McNeill :

Q. Does the July cheese bring a lower price than the September?--A. Oh, yes,
than the September. If the price was regulated by the quality, they would always, but
it may happen that you will have higher prices in July than in September. But July
will in no case sell for the price in England at same time that September wili, if they
are put on the market at the time. Everyone knows that the character of the goods is
entirely different.

By the Chairman (Mr. Roome):

Q. Do you know whether the farmers in the western part of Ontario, where you
reside, are in favour of this branding bill?-A. At our convention in Stratford last win-
ter at which 700 or 800 farmers were present-the hall was packed-a resolution was
passed unanimously in favour of branding, but speculative buyers have been telling the
farmers that they would be able to pay a higher price for the cheese if they were not
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branded. The factory men know nothing about that, and I believe there is some senti-
ment against branding among the farmers arising from dealers talking in that way. I
have heard from the representative of a firn selling cheese at 36 and 38 shillings, intim-
ating that he would not buy them if they were branded. The effect of such statements
to the farmers is to make them afraid of branding.

Q. We were led to believe at first that all the farmers were in favour of branding,
but it now turns out that it is not so. The Listowel Association had a meeting about
it. What did they say ?-A. I was not present. I saw from the newspapers they had
left it over.

Q. What about the Ingersoll Association ?-A. I was in England at the time.
Q. You have heard how tbey decided ?-A. No, I did not.
Q. Would you look upon these as good boards ?-Yes, they are al] good. Listowel

is the largest, and London is also an important board.

By Mr. McNeil1 :

Q. I understood you to say that cheese made in July is bought at a lower figure
and sold in the English market as September ?-A. My own memoranda are really the
best guide as to what others are buying for. We are not able to pay much higher prices
than other people. My own returns show that July bas not been sold at an average for
less than June.

Q. But I am sp eaking of cheese which is made in July and sold for September ?-
A. Suppose you bought in the market in July and September last year, you would have
got six or seven shillings less for July cheese than for September. That would be upon
the prices of the best cheese. When the finest cheese are at a high price, secondary will
sell at two or three shillings less. When they are low, inferior sells for ten shillings. I
had accounts this week of July cheese sent over in cold storage and in perfect condition,
but they would not compaie with September and October, and they sold for 28 shillings,
while September and October were 43. But if the price was high, secondary quality
would have sold for three or four shillings less. A few years ago the secondary quality
which we shipped in June w'ould be within two or four shillings of September or
October.

By Mfr. CarpCnter :

Q. Was this July cheese branded or not ?-A. Oh, no, the brand had nothing to
do with it. It was simply the quality.

By the Chairman :

Q. Would you be in favour of branding the month if the Cheese Boards of Trade
were in opposition to it ?-A. There could not possibly be a board in Canada in
opposition to it of their own accord, but if makers represent to them that the branding
of cheese is likelv to be of a disadvantage to the farmers, they may be influenced by
such representations. It bas only been the result of speculative dealers conversing with
salesmen, and telling them that if the cheese were branded they could not pay as high
a price for it.

Q. Do you not think the Cheese Boards will be conversant with the subject tbem-
selves ?-A. No, they are not conversant with the market, or with the conditions in
England. They have no means of knowing anything about it.

By Mr. McMillan:

Q. Would you not consider the meeting of the Western Dairymen's Association at
Stratford was a better guide as to what the general feeling of the country was than
any Boards of Trade ?-A. Unquestionably. You had the leading men in the trade
from all parts of the province there. Of course there had been no dealers then saying
"I won't buy these cheese if they are branded." That had not then occurred. But
that resolution that you have before you was passed unanimously.
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By Mfr. Hutchins :

Q. If you received an order for 500 boxes of cheese, do you intimate that they are
fine cheese or July cheese, or is any particular month or quality mentioned ?-A. We
invariably quote the month. Without a single exception we reply as I have stated. I
have brought one or two books just to show that, invariably, June, July, August,
September, winter or summer, are mentioned, and whether they are stored in cold
storage or not.

By Mr. Carpenter

Q. I understand from your reasoning, then, if part of our factories brand, and part
do not to make the factories brand who do not at present would cause their cheese to
go into the English market with a prejudice against them ?-A. I don't think there has
been any branding hitherto at all.

Q. Oh, yes.-A. I am speaking of the factories generally.
Q. Branding generally, yes ?-A. We have been trying, at least within the territory

where w-e more imnediately operate, to get every factory to brand the day of the
month, and the vat, as an educational influence of the cheese maker, when lie keeps
the notes relating to it. Some have advocated putting a faetory brand on. If, in every
case, the maker or manager of the factory was capable of understanding cheese sufiiciently
that would be all right, but there is a danger, you know, that you may have the managers
of cheese factories who may not be thoroughly conversant with the subject. This matter
is easily understood by practical men. Milk is a perishable object and easily injured
from so many causes. It is never twice in the same condition, and is not like iron, wood,
or articles of that kind. And the dificulty is to manufacture an article of a uniform
qua'ity, though the conditions are different. You nay have a condition to-night very
different from what it was two nights ago.

By Mr. MfcMillan:

Q. Do you think, if a large number of factories branded the day of the month on
their cheese and then sent it to England, whilst other factories did not brand, that there
would be a prejudice against any cheese that was not branded ?-A. I think there
would be.

By Mr. Wilson:

Q. By the retailer ?-A. Not the retailer but by the importer. They have got
thoroughly alarmed and are under the impression that they have been swindled. I
conversed with the leading men of the trade all over, and they have got thoroughly
alarmed, thinking they have been swindled by the Canadian dealers shipping then cheese
of a different month to what they bought.

By Mr. McKeill:

Q. In order to get rid of that fear, I understand you to say, all that would be
required would be this: That other people should do what you have been doing always.
That is to say, state the month in which the cheese was mnade and state it in such a way
there can be no mistake about it, by branding the cheese ?-A. As I said, vou know one
of the causes of depression of the market is the short-selling of " June " because this
month they have been in the habit bitherto of storing, principally in Scotland. They
were in the habit of storing them there largely. It is a northern country and they
were not suffering from the heat to the same extent. Now, as 1 stated, I found one of
the trade selling down at 38 and 36 shillings in that drop. The price for cheese was
then 49 and 50. Nothing prevents buying freely and nothing prevents a fair price
being paid more than these short sales. If these men that sell cheese a month before
they buy them had to deliver the cheese with that brand, I think they would be more
careful in selling and we would not pay low prices as a result of these causes.
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By Mr. Wilson :

Q. Why should not the law for branding be permissive, and allow the factories that
choose to brand ?-A. Well, I believe in going to the mountain rather than the mountain
coming to you. The dealers in England are the very class that should benefit by cheese
not being branded. All the respectable houses-I don't say all the houses-but all the
respectable houses are very pronounced in favour of it.

By the Chairman (Mr. Roone) :

Q. Have you known American cheese to be branded as Canadian cheese ?-A. I
think that has been done.

' Q. Are they invoiced from Montreal ?-A. In Northern New York they usually
ship them to -Montreal and the buyer ships them from there or sells them to some other
shipper there. From Jefferson County and St. Lawrence County they are shipped
that way.

Q. They are invoiced from Montreal --A. Invoiced from Montreal.

By Mr. Wilson ;

Q. Mr. Hodgson, of Montreal, stated before the Cominittee the other day that it
was the practice when he first came to this country to brand the cheese, but at the
instance of the English buyer, it was dropped.-A. Well, in those days there was a
great prejudice against July cheese. I don't know that I have done so any more than
others, but I have quoted them and have in conversation with them represented that the
first half of Julv was no better and no worse than the last half of June cheese, but
last half of July cheese, 90 times out of 100, was better than the average June
cheese.

Q. Mr. Hodgson was also opposed to making this law compulsory. He thought it
should be left optional?--A. I would make it compulsory if I had the making of the
laws and that woula give the English importers confidence. They would feel they were
honestly dealt with. In some parts of New York State they have better water, better
grass and many advantages generally that we have not, but there is a great distrust in
England of everything American on account of cheese being sold for what they are not.

By Mr. Henderson:

Q. The Committee would like to understand from you why you recommend the
branding of cheese ? It appears your practice has not been to brand the ronth. Can
you make it plainer to the Committee, why you propose to do something that bas not
been done in the past ?-A. There might have been no objection at one time. But now
the objection has arisen. Now that the distrust bas been created I think it is the only
way to restore confidence by branding the cheese. When we commenced, as I said, 25
years ago, we used to brand them, following the example of our American friends. My
own factories brand in order to be able to trace any defects. We have not been putting
the month on, as I said, but we have not been suspected of shipping July for August
or September cheese. They have been sold under the nanie of the month and the invoice
shows that. But my own factories are somewhat different from others ; the cheese
manufactured there bas been going to the same customer and the same man has hanled
them for the last 25 years.

By Mr. McMillan:

Q. I would like to ask Mr. Ballantyne if he made any inquiries about butter when
he was in England ?

Mr. BALLANTYNE.-Whei in London I found some of our own creamery butter, in
pound packages, offered for sale, but whether it went from the Dairy Commissioner or
from Park & Blackwell I do not know. I contracted for the whole season's butter at
22½ cents per lb. For the first year in the trade, the supply of fresh made winter
creamery was in excess of the demand for the local trade.
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By the Dairy Comnissioner :

Q. Was the butter in lb. prints that you saw in London ?-A. Yes.
Q. We did not send any of it ?-A. I found in Manchester that some of our

creamery made butter had gone there in tubs. I was anxious to know everything re-
lating to it, and consequently made many enquiries respecting the possibilities of the
trade. I felt that if there was going to be as much winter dairying in the future in
Canada as there was last year, and I felt it was likely to increase instead of diminish-
ing, then we would have a surplus, and that surplus would go to England. I saw the
gentleman who was handling Canadian butter in Manchester and got froni him a report of
the different lots, being specially interested, of course, in my own creamery. The Man-
chester trade requires a very pale butter ; in fact, almost white. That should be
clearly understood. The first question put in Manchester is as to the colour. If the
colour is wrong all is wrong. Now, in making for the Canadian trade our butter is
heavier salted than it would be for the English trade, and unless you prepare it
specially for the English market, you do not give it a fair show. Eighty tubs of butter
f rom my own creamery were sold in Manchester. It was butter coloured and salted for
the Canadian trade, and therefore, altogether too high for the Manchester trade.
It is well, therefore, that our dairymen should profit by this experience and en-
deavour to suit the requirements of the particular market to which their butter
may be going. Then the question of the package is worth considering. We wvere
shipping out butter twice a week. We do not think that, like wine, it improves with age.
On the contrary, it commences to deteriorate after it lias left the churn. My conclu-
sion is that if you want to capture the English trade, the butter nust be very slghtly
coloured. Glasgow wants the pale butter ; Manchester wants it almost white. Tbey
also want cheese as white as you can ship it. Taken, on the whole, the butter did very
well. The 1b. prints I referred to, as having found then in London, sold froim 84/ to
94/. Now, with regard to the package, the Australian package and the Irish creamery
package, are no doubt the most suitable packages for Canada. Let us have one uni-
form package for the whole of the Dominion-a square box with parcliment paper.
The Austraian box is made of Australian pine, and the butter is wrapped in parchment
paper. It is packed nicely ; there is no w aste. It comes out clean and nice. The box
is square with plain boards.

By Mr. Carpenter:

Q. What about weight ?-A. Oh, yes, the question of weight is also of considerable
importance. We should have a uniform weight, the same as thev have, 56 pounds.
No doubt the Danish casks might get a few shillings more for a time ; the Danish is
still a popular butter in England, and commands a high price for winter butter. Theirs
is 112 pounds.

By Mr. McNeWl:

Q. Is theirs very light in colour ?--A. Yes ; for Manchester and Glasgow.
These cities and the markets of the north of England generally do not want as high a
colour as is usual in Canada.

Q. Do you know the reason ? Is it a prejudice arising from the fact that butter
has been coloured artificially ?-A. It is just the same as cheese. They want it almost
white. Manchester wants cheese as white as your shirt. It is very difficult for us to
give them good quality of the colour they want.

Q. What I want to know is whether the reason of that is a prejudice on account
of butter being artificially coloured ?-A. Well, we have got to go to the mountain. It
is no use asking the mountain to come to us.

Q. If we could find out what the mountain is made of, it might help us ?-A.
What we have to do is to find out what they want and give them what they want.

Q. But if they have got an ignorant prejudice and imagine it is by reason of arti-
ficial colouring we could do something to remove that prejudice ?-A. We do colour oui
winter butter.
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Q. But what about our summer butter ?-A. I have notmuch faith in our trade in
summer butter. I don't think there will be much of our summer butter exported
because there is generally a fair demand for it at home.

Q. In the winter we can inake it what colour we like ?-A. Yes; it is all artificial-
ly coloured. 56 pounds of light coloured butter, wrapped in pure parchment paper,
which you can get from Germany, is the best form for our product to be put on the
Englisb markets. Last year was the first year there was a surplus of winter butter. The
home consumption is generally sufficient to absorb the supply. But there was doubtless
a surplus last year, and of course the butter that was sent over was not nanufactured
for a particular market, and regard was not had to the colour and the weight of the
package. It might be shipped every week.

By 3r. Hutchins:

Q. Are you speaking of farmers' butter ?-A. Of my own factory.
Q. That is quite different from a farmer's dairy ?--A. The day for farmers' dairies

is past. Any man who knows anything of the provision trade in England will tell you
that dairy butter is no use. They cannot give it away now. They cannot dispose of it
even for confectionery.

I would like to add that assuming that there is a prejudice against July cheese, we
want by all means to still further improve the quality in every way in our power, and
if there is a prejudice (assuming that to be the case, which I deny, for it is qontrary to
my experience that July cheese should sell for less than June) surely it would just put
us on our iettle to show that our July cheese is perfectly good, and that prejudice
would disappear. I certainly would like very much to see this Branding Bill carried into
effect. I have spent 29 of the best years of my life in trying to improve the cheese
trade. Without egotism I may say that J do not know of an improvement I have not
suggested. Above ail, let us say to them in England " We are honest, we are willing
to do all we can to prevent deception and fraud." That is, after all, what this Bill
means.

Having examined the preceding transcript of my evidence, I find it correct.

THOMAS BALLANTYINE.

Mr. J. A. LEITCH, Warden of the County of Middlesex, Ontario, was present by
citation, and being called, said

Mr. Chairman and Gentlemen,-I appear before you this morning as a representative
of the county of Middlesex, which is, I think, the second largest county in Ontario, and
where a very large quantity of cheese is manufactured. I have been connected with
the cheese industry now for about twenty years. When I commenced manufacturing
cheese at that particular time, namely, 1873 or 1874, J branded my cheese with the
month and the date, and followed this practice for five or six years. Then the agents
of the English importers, men like Mr. Ballantyne and others in the trade, asked me to
quit branding. Since that time I have just kept the day on the cheese. With regard
to the question now under consideration as to whether the cheese should be branded or
not, I mîay say that, from the information which I have received, the trade in England
is divided in opinion. There are some good men in the trade in London and Liverpool
to-day who want the cheese branded, and there are others who do not. Over in Eng-
land they have any amount of protection for the farmer, and I hold it is the duty of
our Government to protect the producer. The man who supplies the milk in Canada
should be protected.

By Mr. McNeiii:

Q. We have come to a decided issue at the present moment. Mr. Ballantyne, who'
has just returned from England, says that there is almost a consensus of opinion there
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in favour of branding. What is your authority over there for saying that the cheese
men are divided in opinion ?-A. I have it from two buyers who recently returned from
England. One of them ships quite as much cheese every year as Mr. Ballantyne does.
He says the trade there is divided on the subject.

By Mr. Cochrane :

Q. Have you any letters in your possession to that effect ?-A. I have not, but I
have always found the gentlemen who gave me this information to be honest men.

Q. Who are they ?-A. One of them is Mr. Riley, who buys for Rowson of London.
Mr. BALLANTYNE.-Mr. Rowson is anxious that the cheese should be branded.
Mr. LEITCH.-Well, I have it from his agent, who bought about 40,000 cheese in

Canada last year, that his firm is not in favour of the branding. I have been told by
another very large buyer, that he found the dealers in England were divided in opinion
as regards branding. I may say that if any shipper ships cheese of different quality
to what he represents them to be at the time sold, they have produce exchanges in
Liverpool, London and Glasgow, at which any dispute can bc left to arbitration. If
Mr. Ballantyne or myself sell 2,000 boxes of cheese to an English buyer, and tlhey are
not what we represent them to b)e, the produce exchanges can cut the price down
according to the quality of the cheese.

By M1r. McKeill:

Q. We don't want that kind of dispute ?-A. Well, we want as few as possible.
They quickly refer anything to arbitration over there if tbere is a dispute. I may say that
I have talked to many of the factorymen in ny own county of Middlesex and in the
adjoining counties, and I do not find many in favour of the branding bill. The ques-
tion bas not been properly considered. The matter lias been talked over, but most of
them are against the Bill. Probably they have not heard everything in favour of it.
If all the arguments were laid before them they might forai a different opinion. The
London Cheese Board of Trade; the Ingersoll Cheese Board of ýfrade have not decided
either one way or the other. The matter bas been talked over but no definite conclu-
sion reached. With regard to disposing of our product in England, it is true that
there bas been a prejudice against the make of certain months. For instance, I do not
think that if May cheese was branded they would bring as higli a price as they have dur-
ing the last few days. I believe that the make of the last ten days of May will bring
as good a price as Junes. They will fetch a cent a lb. more than the earlier May pro-
duct. The cheese made the latter part of May in Western Ontario is certainly as good
as that made in the first half of June. Where Mr. Ballantyne lives is undoubtedly one
of the best dairying sections in Canada. They make as fine a cheese there -ts anywhere
in the world. They are differently situated to other localities or other provinces. It
would not matter to him whether he had May or June, or any other month, on his
cheese. He could sell them at any time.

By Mr. Cochrane:

Q. Give us your reasons for saying that that section of country is better than any
other section in Ontario ?-A. Well, it is a limestone soil and well watered. The coun-
ty of Perth bas cooler weather than many of the other counties, that is, the nïghts are
cooler. Moreover they have been engaged in dairying a long time in that county; some
for over 30 years. The farmers are well educated and they have a good breed of cows.
You must have first class milk before you can have first class cheese. I do not know of
any other county in Canada where they make better cheese than in the county of
Perth.

Q. Do you think the breed of the cows affects the milk ?-A. Certainly. You
must have the right kind of cow and good milk or else you cannot have good cheese.
Mr. Ballantyne has been selling his cheese right along to certain English houses, and
they know the kind of goods they are getting. There are other factories in that local-
ity which I suppose turn out cheese just as good.
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By Mr. McNeill :

Q. If you knew that the large majority of dealers in the mother country are in
favour of branding, would it change your view ?-A. It would change my view if they
were unanimous and pay price and buy according to brand.

Q. But if you knew that a large majority were in favour of branding, would it
change your view ?-A. My opinion as a manufacturer of cheese is that we won't get
as good a price for the make of certain months if we brand the cheese.

By Mr. Cochrane:

Q. Why ?-A. Because there is a prejudice against Julys. Moreover I have
known soine of the October cheese to be sold as Septembers. If you branded them as
Octobers you would not get as good a price, although I have known Octobers to be
often better than Septembers.

By 3fr. Wilson:

Q. Were they sold as Septembers, or on the quality as being equal to September ?-
A. They were sold as September quality.

By Mr. Dawson:

Q. Do you pay as much for July as you do for June ?-A. We paid more last
year.

By Mr. McMillan:

Q. You say that tliey know when they get August cheese from Mr. Ballantyne's
factory. Is it not right that they should know when they get them from other factories ?
-A. They do. A man writes and asks me for fine quality August equal to September
and he gets it.

By Mr. Griere:

Q. But you sell them as Septembers and they are August cheese ?-A. They are of
as fine quality as September in some seasons.

By Mr. Cochrane:

Q. Do you put any cheese in cold storage ?-A. Yes.
Q. Why ?-A. Because my customers in England order it, and sometimes I do it

for myself.
Q. When you buy cheese in May and June it will be kept in cold storage according

to instructions and go to the old country as of another month's make perhaps ?-A. No.
Q. It is the quality you judge by ?-A. Yes.
Q. But the price they fix ?-A. Yes.

By Mr. JcMillan :
Q. Does it not injure the Canadian trade to sell July cheese as September which

was shown to be done at the last meeting of the Committee? It was shipped as Sep-
tember ?-A. I have seen the last half of August as good as the first half of September.

Q. Does it not injure the credit of the country if it comes to be known that August
cheese is sold as September ?-A. Not if a man buys according to quality and gets better
cheese than September.

Q. He is under the impression that he is getting September ?-A. He knows by the
quality what he is getting.

By 3r. Cochrane:

Q. Then how does branding'hurt him ?-A. They do not know the month but they
know the quality.
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Q. If he buys according to quality why can it hurt the cheese to put the brand on
it ?-A. If it is good and he does not know the month, but he knows the quality, in
what way is the buyer injured?

Q. Because the farmer only gets paid for the month in which the cheese is actually
made ?-A. I have had July cheese for which I was only offered 7 and 8 cents a pound
and sold at 9½ afterwards owing to the increased demand.

By Mr. McLennan:

Q. But the farmer gets no benefit from that ?-A. Yes, he does. He gets all they
realize when sold.

By Mr. Grieve:

Q. You buy cheese from the factories at the same price as Mr. Ballantyne, who
ships July cheese as July cheese ?-A. Well, I know a great nany who do not.

By Mr. McMillan:

Q. Would it not be better for the country if they did ?-A. I do not think it would.
There are some times when they have a short make of cheese, like last year, and there
is a good deal of speculation going on, when the fariner benefits.

By Mr. McNeill :

Q. Have you seen this London circular addressed to the cheese trade in Canada ?-
A. No, but I have circulars fron England.

By MYr. Carpenter:

Q. How do you think the branding of cheese would affect the producer, the farmer?
That is what we want to get at ?-A. I think he will get less moniey for his cheese.

Q. And why? Can you not give me your reason why ?-A. Because there is more
or less speculation.

By the Chairman (1fr. Roomne):

Q. Do you think buyers would lessen the price to the manufacturers if the cheese
was branded ?-A. I think so. Suppose a man sold ten thousand June cheese le might
have to purchase July cheese to fill his contract.

Q. You think the buyer would take advantage of the prejudice that exists against
July and October cheese ?-A. Certainly, against July, October and November in some
seasons.

Mr. MCNEILL.-May I be allowed to read this circular to the witness? 1e does
not seem to have seen it. The circular to which I refer is the following:

HOME AND FOREIGN PRODUcE EXCHANGE, LTD.,
CHEESE SUB-COMMITTEE,

HIBERNIA CHAMBERS,
LONDON BRIDGE, LONDON, E. C., 1895.

To the Producers of Canadian Cheese :

It has no doubt come to your knowledge that there has been considerable dissatis-
faction among the cheese distributors on this side of the Atlantic, as to the course of
the business during the last two or three years, especially as to buyers who in many
cases alleged that they did not receive the special month's make they had contracted
for, which called for frequent arbitration during the season just closed.

The result has been to injure the good reputation of the Canadian product, and to
destroy that confidence in dealing which is so essential between seller and buyer.

As the result of a conference representing a great majority of the trade in 'Great
Britain, suggestions have been made to your government as to the desirability of an
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Act making it compulsory to brand the date at the time of manufacture upon each
cheese. It is fully believed that such protection will be a decided advantage to the
factorymen and to the distributors throughout the United Kingdom, as it will at once
restore confidence on this side, and effectually prevent any speculative or unscrupulous
shipper covering his transactions by substituting one month's make for another. It is
earnestly hoped that the factorymen throughout the Dominion will at once commence
dating their cheese, especially as the desire is pretty general among the importers to
favour those factories adopting this system.

Our interest is as yours, that goods should be sold honestly for what they are, and
that the reputation and market price of fine fall makes should not be destroyed by the
improper substitution of the earlier summer product.

The specimen form we have suggested for use is enclosed herewith, and this and
nothing else should be put upon the cheese.

Several of the shippers now and recently in England have also been approached on
the subject and they cordially endorse the action taken.

By order of the Cheese Sub-Committee,
C. J. HIGGINSON,

Secretary.
(SPECIMEN BRAND inclosed.)

CANADA, AUGUST 23rd.

THE WITNEsS--I am in favour of having " Canadian Produce " put on every box.

By the Chairman (Mr. Roone):

Q. That is on now, is it not?-A. Yes, that is on now. I would suggest that
those chaps over there want to do al] the speculation themselves and rig the market to
suit themselves.

By 3fr. Cochrane:

Q. You want the buyers on this side to have a show ?-A. Yes, I want them to
have a chance with the merchants over there. I had a letter from a large buyer in
London the other day and he says : " We want to be recouped. We have lost heavily
last season and we want to be recouped." I venture to say that if we brand the
cheese for one season these very dealers in England will call meetings and send out
circulars asking them to remove the brand.

Q. You have no authority for making that assertion?-A. They did it before.

They cavilled for a long time about the weight of cheese. In western Ontario (and I
suppose they do it in other parts as well) we give them half a pound of cheese on every
box, something which no man dealing in other commodities would think of.

Q. It is the fariers who give them that ?-A. Oh, certainly.
Q. When you buy my cheese you get that half pound ?-A. That is what I say, but

we do not get the benefit of it on this side; the importer gets it.

By Mr. McLennan:

Q. We sent out 2,500 circulars to the factories and we had several hundreds of
answers. There are about 94 or 95 per cent in favour of the branding of cheese. How

can .you justify yourself in saying that the cheese should not be branded when the
farmers who furnished the milk wanted branding and the people in England wanted
branding, and it is only speculators, and the few they can induce to say so, who do not
want it branded. I would like you to explain why you do not want it branded 7-
A. Well, I can account for the replies to the circulars; that is a very easy matter. A
great many men just pick up a circular, when it is sent out by the committee or one of
the departments, and a farmer or manufacturer reads it over and fills it in, and sends it
back without having ever considered the matter for five minutes. The circular invited~
a certain answer, and that was given in most cases.
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Q. He would not need especially to go to you to tell him if that cheese should be
branded. - You would say you would not buy that cheese, and when the speculator tells
him he won't buy the cheese, naturally enough the farmer will say branding is not the
best thing to do. However, 95 per cent are in favour of the branding of cheese.-A. I
never heard any speculator or buyer in western Ontario tell a manufacturer he would
not buy his cheese.

By Mr. Carpeînter:

Q. Do you know of your own knowledge whether, when those circulars were sent
to the cheese factory, the patrons were called together and consulted, before answering
or not ?-A. I don't know of a single meeting of patrons in western Ontario-not a
single meeting of farmers-nor did I ever hear the matter discussed. I think I would
have heard of it if the matter had been discussed.

By the Chairman (Mr. Roome) :

Q. Then your own personal opinion, fron what you know, is that it would be better
at the present time to leave this branding optional until it is thoroughly understood by
the dairymen of Canada ?-A. Certainly. I don't want to have an enactment or law
put upon the statute books that compels me, and says that I inust do this, and subject
to a penalty for not doing it.

By Mr. Ccchrane:

Q. This does not compel you but compels the factory to brand. A.-I am a manu-
facturer ; I have had four or five factories.

Q. Let us understand that. You are a manufacturer, but you buy milk fromu the
farmers and the farmers hire you to manufacture it ?-A. They pay me so much a
pound for manufacturing.

Q. When the cheese is nanufactured it belongs to the farmer, does it not ?-A.
Certainly it does ; I am their agent.

Q. You are hired to make the milk into cheese.-A. I own the factories and
charge so much for naking.

Q. You do it to get your money for making the cheese ?-A. Yes. I get the
cheese made. I have noney invested in these factories.

Q. They are not your cheese ?-A. They are in my possession a certain length of
time.

Q. Do you buy them ?-A. No, sir.
Q. Well, another man, a buyer like Mr. Ballantyne, for instance, lie has the oppor-

tunity to buy cheese out of your own factory ?-A. Certainly. They are put on a
board and sold to the highest bidder.

Q, You are the salesman of these factories ?-A. Yes.

By MVr. Featherston:

Q. They are not your make ?-A. They are made in my factories.

By M1r. JIcLennan :

Q. Why do you oppose the branding of cheese ?-A. I am satisfied lIl get less
monev for these cheese in certain months on account of prejudice existing; I am telling
you plainly why I an opposed to it.

Q. That is what you are telling the farmers ?-A. I don't think I have spoken
upon the question to lialf a dozen farmers.

By Mr. fcMillan :

Q. The question resolves itself into this proposition: When you sell your July
cheese under a wrong name in order to get a better price you perpetrate a fraud ?-A. I
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do not perpetrate a fraud. There are some seasons very dry in western Ontario, but
if we have ram in July it gives a second crop of grass, and we may make a finer cheese
in July than we are making now. A finer July cheese.

Mr. BALLANTYNE-The factories would sell them to the dealers as July cheese.
-A. As July cheese. I do not perpetrate any fraud. I sell iny cheese as May, June,
July cheese or August, September or October.

By fr. Dawson :

Q. low do you account for the strong desire to have them branded ?-A. I say
the trade in England is divided in opinion about that.

By 3fr. McLennan :

Q. I have a memorial from Bristol asking for the branding of cheese ?-A. Bristol is
about the only place where they are fairly unanimous. I quite agree with you they are
very unanimous there, but in other places they are not.

By ilr. Carpenter:

Q. Do you think if the June, July and August make of cheese were branded, that
an advantage would be taken of it by the buyer, and in consequence our farmers would
get much less money for their cheese ?-Yes. I may tell you there are only two months
known to the smaller dealers in England, practically, and those are June and September.
Hundreds of the smaller dealers have no knowledge whatever about other months.

By Mr. Cochrane:

Q. Was not the trade demoralized owing to the speculation in cheese ?-A. The
farmer did not suffer, the trade suffered.

Q. Was it not owing to speculation and holding the cheese that the prices of
cheese were demoralized this spring ?-A. No. I will tell you what demoralized the
trade this spring. There were two or three months of cold weather, and hard times in
Great Britain and the working men had not the money to buy dear cheese.

Q. How did this interfere with cheese being put on the market as usual?--A. In
consequence of the cold weather, hundreds and thousands of people had to purchase
coal stoves and coal to keep themselves warm, and the brokers in England urged them
to buy bacon and pork in preference to cheese, because it was so much cheaper. That
stopped the consumption of cheese during the cold weather.

Q. Had the cold weather anything to do with summer cheese of last year's make
being put on the market ?-A. Certainly. I sold September cheese and it was not put
on the market until the spring. I suppose if they had not had this cold weather in
England, the natural consumption would have gone on and there would have been
so nany less summer cheese this spring to put prices down.

I have heard a great deal to-day about dishonest buyers, but I must say that, so far as
western Ontario is concerned, we don't have men of that character. Those who
are dealing in cheese in western Ontario are just as honest as the farmers. I have
done a large business among the farmers of this country and I have found just as much
trickery among farmers as in other classes.

Having examined the preceding transcript of my evidence, I find it correct.

JOHN A. LEITCH,
Cheese Manufacturer.
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MR. JAMES W. ROBERTSON, Dairy Commissioner, was called. In response, he said :
Mr. Chairman and Gentlemen,-When I addressed the committee on this subject

some weeks ago, I took this position which I have not seen any reason to change from
since: that any man who would misrepresent the cheese be sold was doing a dishonest
business, and should be prevented from continuing that; but I do not at all agree with
the statement that a man who opposes the compulsory branding of cheese is therefore
not an honest man. The two are quite different.

By Mr. McNeill :

Q. No one will make that statement ?-A. It lias been made twice to-day in the
committee, by Mr. Ballantyne. The point is simply this: First of all, is it a compe-
tent subject for legislation to compel a man to do something with the goods he owns and
has made, whether he wants to or not, if his doing it or not doing it does nobody any
barm ? In the second place, is it a safe principle to go on that we shall attach to our
cheese a label or brand which does not describe their quality but which inay be used to
misrepresent the quality? iNow, it is clearly understood by everybody in the trade who
knows the business well., that, from the consumer, through the retailer, up to the importer,
in England, our cheese are always bought on quality and not on brand. From the con-
sumer to the importer, in Engiand, cheese are bought on quality and not on brand.
Therefore the branding of cheese will have no influence on those people buying our
cheese for consumption. I think that is agreed to by everybody interested. Well, if
that is so, those people who eat the cheese pay according to quality. Now, the quality
is not determined by the month. If it were so, I would say stamp the month on it.
The quality depends upon pasture and climate, not on calendar; and if June does not
always stand for abundant grass, and cool nights, and plenty of water, then why stamp
June on? And if July does not always stand for dry pastures and hot nights, why stamp
July on? The goods should be bought on the basis of quality, and not of calendar dates,
and therefore I think the principle is wrong that anyone should put something on his
goods which does not truthfully, infallibly and faithfully describe the quality- of those
goods.

By Mr. MclMillan:

Q. Why brand the cheese Canadian; it does not describe the quality?-A. Oh;
yes.

Q. The country but not the quality ?-A. Still the cheese of Canada is distin-
guished in the markets of the world as " Canadian," as distinguished from that from
other countries. It would not be safe for the country to let its reputation depend on
everybody or anybody's beck and call.

By Mr. mcNeill :

Q. If cheese is purchased by its quality, what harm would be done by branding it ?
-A. I will come to that in a moment. I am attempting to show that there is no need
for this legislation at the present time. .

Q. Don't you think there is something in what bas been said that July represents
a certain period ; that it is not necessarily quality ?-A. The point is this : I have no
objection at all to any manufacturer or buyer having the month of July stamped on his
cheese. In fact, I prefer it myself, and we are doing it at the Dominion Dairy stations
-that is, not by the names of the months, but by marks to designate the months. For
instance, No. 1 will represent May, with the day of the month; No. 2 will represent
June ; No. 3, July, and so on. The point is, however, that I do not think this legislation
should be compulsory ; it should be left to the maker himself whether lie shall brand his
cheese or not.

Q. You are in favour of stamping July cheese with the word " July" I-A. I am,
if the makers or buyers desire it.
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Q. But you considered a moment ago that the word " July " might be misleading.
-A. It may be, and consequently I am not in favour of making it compulsory. If the
lawsays it must be stamped "July," it stands for something, if it is optional -

By Mr. McMillan:

Q. If you were buying, you would want the day and the month on the cheese ?-A. I
would want to know. The point I want to make is this, however : Personally, I am in
favour of branding, but I am wholly against any legislative compulsion. In this circular
sent from Great Britain, and from the evidence of Mr. Ballantyne himself, it is their
contention that if the cheese were branded, the first effects would be a preference for
those cheese. Is there any inducement to the men to brand the cheese? If you offer
one-sixteenth of a cent per pound more for the cheese branded " July," every man will
brand it. If higher prices are to be obtained no law would be required to induce them
to brand. What I would favour would be the placing of a law on the Statute-books,
making the man who brands June cheese as " July," and so on, guilty of a misdemeanour
and subject to heavy penalties.

By Mr. fcNeill :

Q. You are in favour of the branding of cheese because you believe it to be an ad-
vantage, but you are opposed to the compulsory principle that is involved in this proposed
legislation. Is that the distinction ?-A. Yes, with this qualification: that if the men
who want the branding of the cheese are sincere in their belief that it would make the
cheese worth more, and I suppose they are, let them pay a little more for it when it is
branded. I would like to ask, however, is there a buyer in England sending instructions
to bis buyers on this side to have the cheese branded? I have made careful enquiries
on this subject and I cannot find any. If an English dealer sends a cable for 500 boxes,
does he say they must be branded the day and the month ? I cannot say that I have
heard of one.

By Mr. McMillan:

Q. We have it stated before this committee that cheese had been sold in Canada
as " August " make when really it was made in July. Let u's vindicate our good name
by adopting this branding sysi em?-A. I agree that it is essential that we should protect
the country's good name. Let us do it by putting a fine of $50 a box on the man who at-
temnpts to mislead the public by improper branding.

By Mr. McNeill :

Q. If a compulsory brand were required, would it not be more difficult to mislead
the public?-A. The effect of compulsory branding of months is that you establish for
all time a false basis of description for our goods. The branding of the month is ad-
vantageous for safety and clearness of records at the factories, but not for description
of qualities.

By Mr. McLennan:

Q. If a large majority in Canada are in favour of branding, why should we hesitate
in passing this bill ?-A. If there be a niajority engaged in the cheese industry in
favour of it, listen to the majority. But my opinion is that in Ontario, on the average,
80 per cent of the men who sell for the farmers are opposed to making it compulsory.
As Dairy Commissioner I have to listen to these men to get their views. If you leave
this matter over for a year, I .think, in the meantime, we can get a more unanimous
opinion on the subject. Before next year I would have the opinion of the Scotch and
English importers, as well as the feeling of the farming community in this country.

Q. The intention was that the bill should not go into effect until the 1st of March
next. There will be no harm done, therefore, to pass the bill this year?-A. It is very^
true that the law may not go into force until March next, but if it is put on theý
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Statute-book and public opinion is found to be against it, it would have to be obeyed
despite the feeling of the public. The better plan would, therefore, be to get the views
of ail the trade before enacting legislatiori.

By Mr. McMillan :

Q. Of the circulars which were sent out 395 have been examined. Of this number
314 were in favour of branding, 72 opposed to it, and 9 undecided. That is the report
of the circulars sent out as far as the committee has examined them ?-A. The circulars
were sent to many people who were not well informed on the details of this business.
The only people among the farmers who are well informed on this business are the men
who sell the cheese, because they have experience and know the effect of statements or
marks on the prices they are likely to get. These men-the salesmen of factories in the
Dairymen's Boards of Trade-who have not asked for a postponement, have been
against branding, and they are the ones who represent the farmers.

Q. They were not unanimous '-A. I understand that the Brockville Cheese Board
passed a unanimous resolution against it.

By Mr. McLennan :

Q. Mr. Ballantyne is selling cheese, and he is in favour of branding ?--A. He is

buying cheese much more largely than selling on behalf of the farmers.

By ilfr. McMillan:

Q. I must say that I am surprised at the Dairy Comniissioner. He says he is in
favour of this branding, and yet he is giving al] the arguments that he can against it ?
-A. We brand our cheese at the dairy stations with marks to represent the different
months, but J am not in favour of making it compulsory for farmers to brand their
cheese when they are opposed to it. I want to get the opinion of the farmers in the
meantime, and, when the matter has been thoroughly discussed, let us have legislation
in accordance with the expressed wish of the farmers.

By Mr. Dawson:

Q. Would you advise them to brand their cheese '-A. I would.
Q. As a witness here you would advise them to be branded ?-A. I would. I

advise them wherever I go to brand their cheese, because the men who buy say they
will pay more for it. Let us bran< our cheese and give them a chance.

Q. Then you are in favour of branding but you are opposed to compulsory legis-
lation ?-A. I am opposed to compulsory legislation until there is a general feeling in
favour of it, lest buyers might use it as an argument to bring down prices.

Q. Can you suggest any means whereby the fraud could be prevented ?--A. In
New Zealand they have a systen of legislation, the suggestion of which I believe they
borrowed from one of my reports. By this system the product of any factory can be
traced at any time, because there is compulsory registration. Ç every factory were
compelled to register its number with the government, its product could be traced and
identified at any time. Also it could be traced back f rom England if it were of extra
fine quality and you would get a special denand for the make of that factory, which
would tend to stimulate improvement of the quality of Canadian cheese.

By Mr. McDonald (Huron) :

Q. Would not that be compulsory in its nature as well as the other ?-A. Yes, but
in that you do something which does not injure anyone. It would promote the pros-
perity of the cheese industry and the wealth of the people.
p ~3Q. What is to prevent the cheese made in the United States being put in cold storage
in Montreal and sent to England, if they can only be identified by the outside brand'
-A. They must be branded produce of United States and we would not be depriving
them of anything, but protecting the Canadian producer in his rights.
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Q. But if you are willing to apply compulsory registration, what is your objection
to the corpulsory branding of the date ?-A. Well, if you make the branding of the
date compulsory, these cheese buyers are not particularly easily gotten round, and use
all kinds of suave and other arguments when they try to buy cheese in order to get it
cheap. If some of them have gone to the farmers and .said, " If you brand the month
on the cheese I will give you less money," they will say when the bill is passed, " There
is a prejudice in England against July cheese and now that it is branded 'July,' we
cannot give so much for it." They use arguments such as this to crush the prices down
and I would not place an instrument in their hands for that purpose.

By Mr. MeNeill:

Q. Still that would apply to your advice that they should brand their cheese.
Although you are not in favour of compulsion you advise the farmers to brand their
cheese and yet you say that branding will be used by the buyer as an argument to force
down the price ?-A. They may corne and say " Your cheese are branded and I will
not give you so much for them," but without the compulsory legislation the salesman
can reply " My cheese shall be branded if I can get as much money for thein, but if vou
will pay more and prefer them unbranded, unbranded they shall be."

Q. Nevertheless you think they should be branded ?-A. Yes.

By Mr. McDonald (Huron) :

Q. Would not one of the dishonest buyers come to the seller and say " We cannot
give you so much money for your cheese because we cannot get so much for it " under
the present conditions, and then put on the market as September cheese what he has
bought' as July or August and thus reap the advantage ?-A. They might do that, but
the facts are that in the past the July cheese, just because they were not branded,-
because this agitation sprung up very recently-the July cheese have been held in store
and the farmers here have obtained as high prices for their July cheese as the quality
of the cheese really warranted.

MR. BALLANTYNE-My own experience is the very opposite.
MR. ROBERTSON.-Let me show you the fact on which my opinion is based. Our

July cheese does need to be kept in cold storage, because we make cheese for five and a
half months of the year and sometimes longer, while cheese consumption in England is
during 12 months. We are not going to get all our cheese to the consumer's plate right
off. Somebody has to hold the cheese, because the sale is spread over 12 months and
the production over five and a half months. Therefore we must do nothing to injure
the sale of cheese, which must be held by somebody. People have given higher prices
for July cheese than the immediate demand for consumption would warrant, and put
them in cold storage because they supposed they could be sold for more later on.

By Mr. McNeill :

Q. But what difference would it make whether the branding was compulsory or
not -A. A compulsory act gives the buyers a new handle to work the prices down to
the farmers.

Q. But you say the farmers ought to brand i-A. That is my preference; if left
optional with them it could not be used against them in buying.

Q. You say you would advise the farmers to brand, and if your advice was carried
out the cheese would be branded. So far as the price is concerned it would not make
any difference whether the branding is compulsory or not ?-A. Suppose you have half
a dozen buyers of cheese. Two of these men may have connections whereby they sell
their cheese, not to the importers in Great Britain only, but to the wholesale men to
whom the importers in England usually sell. These men may not want the cheese
branded.

Q. Still that would be contrary to your advice ?-A. Let me show you these facts:
Now, if these six buyers or two of them say " My instructions are to have no brand on
the cheese; I would have given you a higher price if you had not branded "-in that
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case if you leave it optional to the farmer to leave off the brand he may get more money.
Still, if you make it a fraud to brand July cheese as August, they can see very clearly
in England that this Parliament is strongly in favour of preventing misrepresentation
but that we are not in favour of putting a yoke on the farmers' necks for the sake of
pleasing a few men who have been dishonest.

Q. But you say you are in favour of branding. How would you meet that objec-
tion ?-A. I would recommend branding to our farmers, as I have been doing, as being
a desirable practice to adopt. But J would defer all compulsory legislation till the
judgment of these men was convinced one way or another and till the farmers say it is
not going to hurt them. Then if they still wanted compulsory legislation, it could be
carried with the unanimous consent of the people concerned.

By Mr. cLennan :

Q. Do you not know that all the dealers in England want it ?-A. Some do and
some do not.

By Mr. Ballantyne:

Q. Who does not ?-A. It is not advisable to say in public all one knows.
Q. There may be some speculative dealers, but there are no good firms who do not

want it.-A. I cannot assent to that at all.

By Mr. McMillan :

Q. If your advice was followed by a number of factories and they did brand, and
some of the other factories did not, and the buyers said that they would give higher
prices for the cheese that was branded, then the factories that did not brand would be at
a disadvantage as compared with those that did ?-A. Yes, and the circulars here say
that that would be the case.

By Mr. Hutchins :

Q. I understand you brand your cheese, 1, 2, 3 and 4 instead of the month ?-A.
Yes. No. 1, May; No. 2, June and so on.

Q. You do not put the month on at all. That must be an evidence that it would
be an injury ?-A. In the past the men who bought our cheese have objected to having
the brand on.

By Mr. Cochrane:

Q. Who are your men ? Do you mean the men who buy your cheese ?-A. Yes.
I brought samples to Montreal last year and offered it to all the buyers in Montreal.

Q. You have no men buying cheese in Ontario ?-A. No; no men buying cheese
anywhere. I am the salesman for several factories in Prince Edward Island, about
thirty factories in all, and I sell the cheese for the highest prices I can get. For safety
and for my own guidance in 1892 I had the cheese branded with the day and the
month, but because the men who bought the cheese said, " We do not want the month
marked on the ch'eese," I altered the brand and changed it from the month to the
number.

Q. But the opinion in the Old Country has changed. They have asked for the
brand to be put on ?-A. The men who have bought from me in the past do not want
the month on; or rather, in the past, they have objected and this year they have not
asked to have the month on.

By Mr. McLennan:

Q. I would like to read an extract from a letter I have received from Mr.
Alexander, of Montreal. He is in the cheese and butter business, and I would just ask
you if this is correct. " I have just returned from England and know something of the
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complaints made therp, and am bound to say the coniplaints are not exaggerated. I
attribute the present demoralized state of the chese market mQstly to the enormous
qupetities of summer made cheesp (undated) ý4at were stored last season. Cheese which
sould have gone into consumption long ago, but are now fIloding the markets. If the
farmers gained anything when these cheese were being stPred, they are paying sweetly
fQr it now "?-A. Allow rue to finish my statement for a moment. We are in this mar-
ket, I hope, tp stay for a long time. We are selling Canadian cheese and butter. It is
our policy and should be our policy always to retain the confidence of the men who buy
our cheese and butter. Therefore, I would deplore anything that would seern to be the
expressiQn of opinion from Canada that pur men refuse to brand their cheese because
they want to misrepresent the quality. We don't want to misrepresent. I would have
it understood that we are in favour of passing a very stringent law that any man who
will sell Canadian cheese for other than the month it was made in, should be punished
very severely.

Q. I have received two letters from Mr. D. M. McPherson, commonly known as the
cheese king, in which he dçplores that anything should be done to injure the reputation
of Canadian cheese, which it bas taken twenty-five years to build up. He says we
should deal fairly with the people of Great Britain, who are buying our products, and
he puts the case very strongly. He is very strongly in favour of the branding of cheese.
He is a man who understands what he is talking about, and is the local member for my
constituency ?-A. There is no difficulty with the factories at all. The difficulty is with
the dealers on this side and the dealers on the other side.

By Mr. Carpenter:

Q. I would like to ask Prof. Robertson a question, arising out of what Mr. Ballan-
tyne said in reference to the trade with the old country. Do you find that the retailer
when he makes his purchases from the importer buys a certain brand, that is cheese
made in a certain month, or is he governed entirely by the article he is buying ?-A. He
is governed entirely by the quality of the article he is buying.

Q. Then what is the good of a brand of the month ?-A. Nothing to my mind at
al except for safe and convenient factory records.

By Mr. Cochrane:
Q. What on earth does he do ?-A. The brand is nothing to him at all, he tests the

quality.

By Mr. Carpenter:

Q. When he goes into a store to make bis purchase does he know whether the
cheese is June, July or September or is he governed by the quality of the article ?-A.
Governed by the quality of the article bought the last time. If it pleases him he comes
again and asis for the same.

By Mr. McNeill:

Q. The consumer does not know where the cheese comes from ?-A. He may kriow
where the cheese come from. He commonly asks for the Canadian article. I may say
that a few men who ship cheese are the men complained of as being dishonest; there is
po charge against anybody else. We want to understand how quickly buyerm will use
any advantage they have to wreck the market. The cheese that went from Australia
and 1New Zealand during last year and the butter that went from those countries also
bas in some part gone to men who were not in the regular trade. Sharp buyers have
gone to their warehouses in England and said " that is so and so and we will give you only
so much." I know of very many instances where that butter was bought, and sold next
day at a profit of 15 to 20s per cwt. ; but meantime the fact that it was bought at a
very low price had been used all over England to wreck the market for our butter and
cheese. This is a little instance of how the market can be manipulated in that way,
because a man can say he got Australian butter yesterday at 60s. and he sold it again
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for 75s. In the same way it could be the case if you gave any extra handle to the men
who buy our cheese until the people are convinced that the buyers' argument is no valid
argument against the quality when they make state.ments of that sort. My position is
this: I am in favour of brandi4g the cheese with the month in which it was made, but I
am in favour of putting off legislation until we can get the whole thing fully discussed
and get our farmers to assent to the proposition. I am in favour of having cheese
branded with a registered factory number. I am in favoqr of passing a resolution or
having a law adopted in the meantime to make it a very serious misdemeanour to rnis-
represent the time when the cheese was made.

ARRANGEMENTS FOR EXPORT IN COLD STORAGE.

By fr. Wilson:

Q. What about cold storage ?-A I had intended to say a few words about that
if I had time. We have provided a cold storage service for butter, running into Mon-
treal, by a car leaving Windsor and taking up butter at points between Windsor and
Montreal; a car leaving Teeswater and being consolidated at Toronto; a car leaving
Owen Sound and being consolidated at Toronto; a car leaving Wiarton, via Palmerston,
Stratford, Guelph and Toronto. Anyone who bas freshly made butter, can ship on those
cars with no additional cost above the usual freight rates of the railway companies.
We have arranged a cold storage car from the city of Quebec into Montreal; on the
Intercolonial Railway from St. Simon, below River De Loup into Montreal ; and on
four other routes into Montreal, from the south and east. When these arrangements
are completed the merchants can have freshly made butter go to the central point for
export at no extra cost to themselves for refrigerator service. We shall have cold
storage on board steamers, with a service leaving for Liverpool next week and fort-
nightly or weekly thereafter; steamers leaving for Glasgow the week after next and
fortnightly thereafter; steamers leaving for Bristol, that is, for Avonmouth, on the 4th
July, I think it is, and fortnightly or weekly thereafter. The whole arrangements
are now about completed whereby we shall get fresh made butter from nearly all points
in refrigerator cars, to Montreal. There we have cold storage accommodation, and the
products will be placed in refrigerator compartments on board the steamers. That is
the position of that enterprise at the present time, and I might say this : that the rail-
way and steamship companies, seeing the possibilities of this trade being enlarged, have
met us in a generous and liberal spirit.

By Mr. Dawson:

Q. There will be shipments from Ontario to the English market ?-A. Provision
-will also be made so that any merchant who has any kind of butter can obtain the use
of these cars, if they are not full. Of course, creamery butter for export will have the
preference, but when the cars are not full, individual merchants may have the advantage
of this accommodation for shipments of dairy or other butter.

By Mr. McKillan :

Q. What are the results in regard to the butter exported and sold by the govern-
ment -- A. It is all sold. A return of the sales was received this week. I can make
a return to the committee of the whole of the account sales from the shipment of
butter.

By Mr. mcNeill:

Q. What does it average in price ?-A. The last sales of butter were down as
low, J think, as 63s. I think that is the last quotation.

Q. What would that be a pound -- A. Barely 14c. The quotations in regard to
butter from Australia and New Zealand are 50 to 55s. In my opinion the demoraliza-
tion of the butter trade was due to the unbusinesslike method adopted by those colonies
in selling their butter last year and the year before.
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BRANDING.

By Mr. Cochrane :

Q. Do I understand you properly in reference to the branding ; you are of
opinion that the proper principle is that the cheese should be branded with the month
and the date, but you are satisfied in your own mind if that was done that the farmers
would not realize as much from the sale of the cheese ?-A. I realize there is a danger
of that being a consequence if branding is made compulsory this year.

Q. Danger of what ?-A. Of some of the buyers using that as an argument for not
paying as full a price as they otherwise would.

Q. Don't you think the buyers want to speculate on that account ?-A. I do, but
while I an in favour of branding being permissive, and think it desirable, I would
not be in favour of making it compulsory until there is a more unanimous opinion on it.

Q. Whose opinion do you want yet ?-A. I want the opinion of the salesmen and
the factorymen in Canada.

By Mr. McLennan:

Q. Sales of cheese are taking place in the English market and the cheese repre-
sented as of another month's make than it really is. Have you heard of that ?-A. I
have heard of some instances. Some of the cheese of this month's make is held over in
cold storage for a higher price. Some men hold June cheese until January.

Q. Don't you think by leaving the thing open it would give an opportunity to
dishonest speculators to place that cheese on the market ?-A. Possibly, but if vou
make it a misdemeanour to misrepresent, and any English merchant finds himself imposed
upon, the proof is not difficult to get, and if a conviction of the guilty party can be
obtained, why, then, punish him.

By Mr. Ballantyne :

Q. How could the English merchant trace the cheese ?-A. By the shippers and
factory brandi.

Q. You might be plaintiff in one country and defendant in the other 7-A.
Exactly; but you could not help that.

By Mr. McNeill :

Q. Do I understand you to say that you are not satisfied there would not be a loss
to the farmer, but you think there is a slight risk of loss ?-A. I do not think there
will be loss to the farmer at all from branding a registered number on the cheese.

Q, Not for this year ?-A. Not for this year. You would find, however, a great
deal of dissatisfaction by compelling the farmers to do something they don't want
to do.

Having read the preceding transcript of my evidence of the date of 31st May and
18th June, I find it correct.

JAS. W. ROBERTSON,
Dairy Commissioner.
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Agricultum and Colonisation.

COMMITTEE RooM 46,
HousE OF COMMONS,

TUESDAY, July 2nd, 1895.

The Select Standing Committee on Agriculture and Colonization met this day at
10.30 a.m., Mr. Sproule, Chairman, presiding.

Mr. A. M. BURGESS, Deputy Minister of the Interior, was present by citation, and,
being called, addressed the Committee as follows

Mr. Chairmen and Gentlemen,-Following the method that bas been adopted
during the two years that I have come before your Committee, I propose to commence by
making to you a statement of the immigration during the current season, so far as our
returns will disclose, that is to say from the beginning of January up to the end of the
month of May. The business of the balance of last section is shown by the annual
report of the Department of the Interior, and the intention of this Qtatement is to give
you an idea of the extent and kind of work up to the date of the most recent complete
returns.

The immigration as a whole, I regret to say, has fallen off, as compared with last
year, and I am not able to say at this moment that there are any distinct evidences of
revival. Our agents have all informed the department from time to time during the
winter that the extremely low price of wheat has had a very depressing influence upon
,their operations, but have expressed the opinion that otherwise the period has been
reached when we might fairly look for a return of the flow of immigration in the direc-
tion of this continent. And I might say that the unrevised reports of the port of New
York which have reached the department, covering the period up to, and including the
month of April only, would indicate that there the signs are in the direction of revival.
They are not very decisive there any more than here, but still there are signs.

The immigrant arrivals, that is to say the third class passengers, arriving at Hali-
fax, Quebec and Montreal, during the period ending with May, number 9,223, as com-
pared with 11,950 for the corresponding period of last year. Of these, 7,594 declared
their intention of remaining in Canada as opposed to 8,930 for the correspond-
ing period of last year, and 869 were ticketed from Quebec to points in the
United States, as compared with 1,918 for the corresponding period of last
year. Of the total number declaring their intention of remaining in Canada 2,444
were ticketed for points west of Port Arthur, as compared with 3,637 for the cor-
responding period last year. The statement which we make up periodically from our land
registers, however, is much more favourable than the general statement which I have
just read, showing that a larger proportion than usual of the people reaching the coun-
try are settling upon land, instead of going to the cities or remaining in the older pro-
vinces. I have in my hand a comparative return from the Dominion Lands Agencies of
the number of entries granted during the first five months of 1895 compared with the
corresponding period of 1894, showing the national origin of the homesteaders. From
these it would appear that we had 164 Ontario people make homestead entries during that
period as compared with 244 for the corresponding period last year. There were 24 in
both periods from Quebec. There were 11 this year from Nova Scotia as compared
with 6 last year, and no entries at all were made by people coming from New Bruns-
wick as compared with 8 last year. There was 1 from Prince Edward Island as compared
with 3 last year; and 6 from British Columbia as compared with 12 last year; and 29
people who had been for some years resident in Manitoba took up homesteads as com-
pared with 45 last year; while from the Territories there were 11 as compared with 34
last year. This, you will observe, indicates pretty clearly that the movement from the
older provinces has very greatly fallen off. It was very much less last year than it had
been for any previous year, and the reduction continues. The movement from the
United States on the other hand has largely increased. We have had Canadians re-
turning from the United States to the number of 46 as compared with 83 for the cor-
responding period of last year.
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By Mr. Roome:

Q. Is that 46 all that came last year ?-A. No, during the first five months, 46
heads of families, men over 18 years of age, who have obtained homestead entries. Most
of the people coming from the United States bring with them large families of children.
There would in many cases be two or three over 18 in a family, Of Canadians return-
ing from the States we had 46 making homestead entry as compared with 83, which is a
falling off as regards returned Canadians. But we have 277 people simply describing
themselves as citizens of the United States, as compared with 177 for the corresponding
period of last year. We have 131 heads of families from England as compared with 133
last year, and 10 from Ireland as compared with 3 for the corresponding period of last
year, and 39 from Scotland as compared with 34 for the corresponding period of last
year. There are 45 f rom France as compared with 55 during the corresponding period
of last year, and from Belguim 9 as compared with 17 during the corresponding period
last year. There are 2 from Italy and there were none last year; 2 from Holland as
compared with 1 last year; 23 from Germany as compared with 29 last year ; 25 from
Austria, that is to say Austro-Hungary, as compared with 44 last year; 4 Danes as
against 3 last year; 5 Icelanders as against 10 last year; 9 Swedo-Norwegians as against
23 last year; 44 Russians, other than Mennonites and Poles, as compared with 39 last
year; 2 Mennonites as compared with 3, and 7 Poles as against none for the corres-
ponding period of last year. The net result of this is to show 130 of a falling off in the
heads of families obtaining homestead entries from the older provinces during the first
five months of this year, as compared with the corresponding five months of last year, a
falling off of only 92 in the total number, and the falling off from the provinces com-
pensated for, as you will observe, by an increase of persons from places other than
Canada, to the number of 26.

Q. Is there no way of keeping track of how many there are in a family ?-A. Yes,
we give the actual number in each family. The homesteader makes a statement of the
number when he appears at the land office to obtain entry. The statement of the actual
number of souls involved, shows that we had 3,306 people going on homesteads for these
five months of the current year as compared with 3,828 for the corresponding period of
last year.

)3y the Chairman:

Q. You have only given us the figures for five months of the current year ?-A.
Yes.

Q. Would it not be better to give the figures for the whole year, so that we might
be able to compare the pasu year's operations with those of previous years ?-A. The com-
parison you suggest is made in the annual report, from which I will read you an extract,
if you will permit me.

By Mr. Roome:

Q. What is your year ?-A. The calendar year?
Q. To the first of January ?-A. From the first of January to the end of December.
Q. I suppose you find that it is during the first five or six months that most of the

immigration comes into the country ?--A. So far as European immigration is concerned,
yes. So far as emigration from the United States is concerned, it is very much the same
in the autumn as in the spring. Many of the people drive across in the course of the
summer, that is from Nebraska, Idaho, and the North-western States, arriving in the
autumn, after which they take up land. Those who drive across country generally bring
with them their horses and cattle, and send their household furniture and agricultural
implements by railway.

Q. The comparisons you have made are those of five months of last year with the
same five months of the previous year ?-A. Of the current year. At page 11, Roman
numerals, of the report of the department for 1894, will be found exactly the same class
of information in regard to the whole of last year as I have given here in regard to the
first five months of last year and the first five months of the current year.
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Q. During what part of the year does most of the immigration come in ?-A. As I
have said, so far as European immigration is concerned, the first five months of the year
show the largest returns. As regards the movement from the older provinces and the
immigration from the United States, the autumn seems to be as favourable as the spring.
People go in the autumn with a view of preparing their land for crop the following
spring, putting up their houses, &c.

Q. I presume you do not keep track of all those who come in ?-A. We do not
pretend to keep track of all who come in, except in so far as the numbers may be
disclosed by the steamship returns and by the entries that are made for land in the
North-west.

Q. I noticed some time ago the Manitoba Government pointed out to the Dominion
Government an increase in the population of 50,000 during the last three years, or since
the census was taken.-A. We applied our returns to that statement of theirs, and the
effect was that the whole of the claim was not allowed. But our returns indicated that
the population on which the provincial subsidy was finally adjusted, was justly claimed.

Q. You simply allowed them 40,000 ?-A. Yes.
Q. You can show an increase of 40,000 in the returns ?-A. Yes. Allowance was

of course made for natural increase. We were able to trace 40,000 of the 50,000
claimed.

Q. It must have increased much faster than it did from the statement you made
here to-day.-A. No, sir. You see these figures are for five months of the year cnly.
You will observe for the whole of last year the returns showed an increase of the people
who simply go on land. We take no account of those who may dispose of themselves
otherwise, and only note the people who have gone upon land.

By Mr. Cochrane:

Q. I understand that last statement you made applied to all upon homesteads ?-A.
All upon homesteads.

Q. And they were just heads of families ?-A. Heads of families. And as already
explained each head of a family declares at the time that he makes his entry the number
of persons in his family.

By Mr. Innes:

Q. You do not pretend to keep trace of those who come into the country without
taking homesteads ?-A. No.

Q. That might account for the discrepancy ?-A. Well, some allowance was made
in making up the returns on which were based the new subsidy arrangements with the
province of Manitoba, for the movement of people backward and forward across the
international boundary, and from the older provinces, of whom, however, it would, in my
opinion, be as impossible to keep trace as it would be to count the sands by the sea
shore. I dare say that the members of the Committee who pay attention to that class
of subjects will remember that when immigration was handed over to the Department
of Interior, I was required by the Government to make a report upon that subject, and
I recommended the abolition of all the provincial agencies, the chief business of which
appeared to be to endeavour to keep record of the people coming into and going out of
the country. I based my recommendation on the impossibility of obtaining information
of this kind in a reliable form, in view of the very large number of avenues for ingress
into and egress out of the country and the large travel there is backward and forward.
In this view the Government concurred, and abolished the system accordingly.

Q. Still, you keep a careful record of those who come in at Quebec ?-A. Careful
records made from the manifests of the steamships and the results of the examinations
of our own agents at Quebec and Halifax.

The CHAIRMAN.-YOu have not given us yet the number of immigrants that came
in last year.
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By fr. Bain ( Ventworth) :

Q. Have you any record of those who come in by way of the Bridge, as it is
called ?-A, No.

Q. You dropped that ?-A. Yes. In answer to the question of the Chairman, I
may say that the number of heads of fanilies who took up homestead entries last year
was 3,174, with a population of 9,716 composing their families, according to their own
statement.

By the Chairman:

Q. That is the number of homestead entries ?-A. I mean the number of immi-
grants coming into the North-west country as a whole who have gone upon the free
homestead lands of the Government.

Q. And by all the routes that you have means of keeping trace of --A. At page
x of the report of the Department of Interior for last year the following statement on
that subject, Mr. Chairman, will be found:-

" The whole number of arrivals of the immigrant class at the ports of Quebec,
Halifax and Montreal during the year 1894 was 27,911, as compared with 63,447 dur-
ing the previous year. Of the 27,911 persons mentioned, 20,680 declared their inten-
tion of becoming residents of the Dominion of Canada, being over 8,000 less than for
1893; and 7,087 declared their intention of settling in Manitoba, the North-west Terri-
tories and British Columbia, a decrease of 4,279. It will, of course, be remembered," I
say here again, " that the department has abandoned the plan of collecting statistics
with regard to immigrant arrivals in the country generally. Al that is done is to
count the ocean arrivals, obtaining from each incomer a declaration as to whether he
intends to remain permanently in the country or not, and the province in which he
proposes to reside."

Q. This gives us the number brought in from European countries ?--IA. Yes.
Q. But you have no account in that of the number coming from other countries,

I see ?-A. No.

By Mfr. Innes:

Q. Only in so far as they take up land ?-A. Only in so far as they take up land.

By Mfr. Roome :

Q. You cannot tell how many come from the United Statea ?-A. Only in so far
as they take up homesteads.

Q. You cannot tell what your agents are doing there ?-A. We have prepared a
table, which you will find at page xii of the report for last year, showing the States
from which the homesteaders from the neighbouring country come. We really are not
encouraging any other than agricultural settlers from the United States or anywhere
else.

Q. How many agents have you engaged in the United States now ?-A. Well, we
have only one gentleman at the present moment engaged in the United States. We
have a few working on commission, who are paid $5 per homestead entry, and the set-
tiers are required, according to a form of certificate furnished by the department, to
show they were induced by these agents to go on to the land before the commission is
paid. We have, however, in prospect the employment of three gentlemen in the United
States for part of the current financial year.

By M]r. Carpenter:

Q. Who have you employed in the United States at the present time ?-A. Mr. C.
0. Swansen.

Q. Are you pretty well satisfied with the class of people you are getting from the
United States now; are they turning out fairly well ?-A. They are turning out splen-
didly, according to my experience and observation.
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By Air. tnnes:

Q. The bulk of them are from the Western States 1-A. The great bulk from the
Watern States, but there are a few Scandinavians and Germans from the Eastern
States.

By Mr. Carpenter:

Q. Are they equal to the European class --A. They are very largely Europeans by
birth, who have settled in the United States from periods of various duration up to 30
years. They are very much like the class of settlers who left Ontario and went to the
States at one time ; men who have large families, and the land in the neighbourhood of
which they would place those children if they could is too dear for their means, so what
they do is to sell out to their neighbours who are better off and move over to the Cana-
dian side of the line, bringing with them their ready money, their families, their agri-
cultural implements, their horses, their cattle, and an invaluable experience of the
system of agriculture best suited to our western prairie country.

By Mr. Roome:

Q. lHow many are there from the State of Michigan?-A. Quite a few.
Q. What are they, mostly Canadians 7-A. Very largely Canadians.

By Mr. Innes:

Q. What are the favourite sections of settlement in the North-west Territories ?-A.
They change almost every year. The country lying between Calgary and Edmonton
has been a favourite location for a large number of people of late years.

Q. The Red Deer country ?-A. Yes, and north of the Red Deer. The reason of
this is easy to understand. There are there large tracts of land unsettled, and people
moving into the country in large bodies, as those from the Western States have done, were
able to settle down closer together than would be possible in more advanced settlements.
On the other hand, the colonization which is effected by single families and individuals
following friends, and dropping off at various stations along the line of the railways,
has been going on extensively in Eastern Assiniboia, Southern Manitoba and elsewhere.
That is a kind of immigration of which the public has not as much knowledge. It goes
on quietly, and is much less in evidence than the system by which people go into the
country by train loads. The census recently taken of the Territories shows that there
has been during the past three years quite a large addition to the population by immi-
gration at every important point along the lines of railway, as our periodical returns of
homestead entries clearly indicated.

By Mr. Roome:

Q. You have had quite a number of agents working during the past year in the
United States --A. Only a few. The number has been gradually reduced.

'By the Chairman:

Q. How many have you had there altogether I-A. The largest number of agents
we had under employ in the United States during the past year was 9.

Q. Did each one make a report on his work 2-A. Yes.
Q. And the number of emigrants he sent to Canada ?-A. It is very difficult to do

that; because all the emigrants an agent may be the means of inducing to come to the
country do not move while he is in communicatioù with them, nor in many instances
for long afterward.

By Mr. Robillard:

Q. Are you doing asnthing to eneonfage femfale domiestie servants to come ont fron
EÉôpe, as suggested in the High Commissioner's teott ?-A. We have done something
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in that way. We offered a bonus to Miss Birt, the lady who keeps the home for female
immigrants at Knowlton, P.Q.,-a bonus of, I think, $5 per head. I will have to refer
to the official documents to be quite sure of the amount. I may say, however, that Miss
Birt never made any claim, and no money has ever been paid to her in that relation.
The offer does not appear to have had any effect on the movement.

By fr. Carpenter :

Q. Has your department considered the advisability of building small houses and
breaking up five or ten acres to each with a view to establishing a home for the settler
when he arrives here ?-A. The subject has been discussed a good deal.

Q. Don't you think it could be done with advantage ?-A. My own view is that
you might as well make a present of the house and breaking to the settler at once. If
he had the money in his pocket to enable him to make payment immediately he would
sooner do the work himself. The probability however is that neither the breaking nor
the house would be of the kind he would choose if he did the work himself. Then if
you were not to exact payment immediately, you would create in the country a large
class of people more or less dependent on the government, who would probably in time
be able to make it a condition with the member of parliament elected for that district
that they should be relieved from making payment. My own individual view is against
a proposal of this kind. I cannot say that the government, as a government, has given
any attention to the subject. But it is a question which I have discussed with the
Minister of the Interior on different occasions, and in the course of such discussion I
have expressed the same views as here.

By Mr. Innes :

Q. Such a scheme would create a lot of trouble and necessitate the employment of
a staff of men ?-A. Yes ; a staff more expensive than useful, I am af raid.

By Mr. Carpenter:

Q. What portion of the year do you recommend the settler to locate in Canada-
the spring or the f all ?-A. The spring, on the whole, is the best time for the European
immigrant to settle.

Q. The Americans also ?-A. The Americans say the autumn suits them just as
well. The plan largely adopted by immigrants from the United States is for the father
and the boys of the family to come over in the autumn and select their homesteads.
They also in some instances build their houses and do a little breaking in preparation
for the spring. Late in the autumn, they go back for the family, and bring them over
in the early spring, when the permanent settlement is effected. Colonists from the
older provinces frequently adopt the same plan.

By Mr. Innes :

Q. Have you any recent information as to how the Crofters are doing ?-A. We
have nothing very recent. We know how they were last autumn.

Q. How about the Mormons ?-A. They are doing very well indeed. They are a
most industrious and hardworking people and good farmers.

Q. Do they still stick to one wife each !-A. A most careful investigation by de-
partmental officers fails to reveal the existence of any objection to them on that score.

By Mr. Bain :

Q. Does the female population in the settlement appear to be greater than in other
settlements ?-A. No.

Q. There does not appear to be a surplus of female cousins, sisters and aunts ?-
A. No. I may explain that some years ago Mr. Card, the chief promoter of the colony,
came to Ottawa with two of his elders, in order to obtain some few concessions from
the government. Sir John Macdonald was then Prime Minister, and he instructed me

210



Agriculture and Colonization.

to ascertain the views and intentions of these gentlemen on the question of polygamy.
He desired me to make it clear that their answer on this score must be satisfactory be-
fore any concession could be granted to them. I made careful enquiry of Mr. Card,
and lie answered generally that it was their intention to obey the laws of their country.
I replied that it was no use trying to make virtue of that which would be a necessity;
-that the laws were strictly enforced in Canada, and that anyone who did not obey
them would have to pay the penalty. I further pointed out to this delegation that it
would be useless for them to go to the Prime Minister without being prepared to give a
definite answer to him on this particular question. Mr. Card replied immediately that lie
understood the situation perfectly, and asked me to accept his solemn assurance that
when his people came to Canada, or, to use his own expression, " When they found an
asylum in Canada fron the persecutions of their own government," they thorouglly
comprehended wbat our marriage laws were and they intended in good faith to obey
them as well as all the other laws. He nentioned the marriage laws particularly, said
they quite understood what they were, and intendec as far as they were concerned to
give no ground of complaint, in so far as the people responsible for the colony were con-
cerned. I will do Mr. Card the justice to say that although seven years have elapsed
since that time not the slightest evidence has been brought to My attention or to the
attention of the government, as far as I am aware, to indicate that he has not fulfilled
his promise in the best of faith.

By the Chairman:

Q. Is the colony numerous ?-A. It is getting to be quite numerous.
Q. Have you any record of the number it contains ?-A. About 1,000 people at the

present time.

By Mr. Innes

Q. They are, as a rule, industrious and intelligent farmers ?-A. They are very in-
dustrious and fairly intelligent.

By Mr. Roome :

Q. Where are they located ?-A. At a place called Lees-Creek in Southern
Alberta.

By Mr. Innes:

Q. Near the boundary ?-A. A little north of the boundary.
Q. Do they live together -- A. Yes.

By Mr. Bain ( Wentworth) :

Q. Did they take up a reserve ?-A. They took up homesteads. No reservation
was made fci them, nor any special privilege granted them.

Q. And how are they progressing ?-A. They are doing well. They have a cheese
factory, a cloth factory, and other industrial establishments in the settlement. Mr.
Davis, the Member for Alberta, whom I see present, could speak more definitely on
that point than I.

MR. DAvIs.-They have several factories, mills, &c.

By Mr. McMillan :

Q. Is this settlement a mixed one ?--A. I do not know of any persons settled tlhere
but those of the Mormon faith. There is, however, not the slightest hindrance to any
one of another faith going to live among them. They have no exclusive rights or privi-
leges. I suppose, however, that other people do not care to join them.

By the Chairman:

Q. When speaking about emigration work in the United States, you mentioned that
you had one man employed there ?-A. Yes.
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Q. Where is le working ?-A. He has no particular headquarters. His operations
are carried on among the Scandinavian people of the eastern states, principally New
Hampshire, Maine, Vermont and Massachusetts.

By Mfr. Roome :

Q. Why have the services of the other agents been dispensed w ith ?-A. Beeause
the appropriation is not sufBciently liberal to permit of their retention in the service,
and because we think that the business in the United States-in a large number
of states, at any rate-has reached tlat point where further work is not necessary, at
least on the scale requisite in former years.

By Mr. Bain:

Q. You think that the settlers themselves are the best immigration agents when
they succeed over here ?-A. Undoubtedly.

By mr. Roome :

Q. What object would there be then in putting on new agents after this ?-A. We
should place them in territory not touched before. For instance, in the case of Mr.
Swansen, he is operating in a section of the United States where little work has been
done hitherto. Mr. Swansen is a native of Sweden ; he speaks English, but the Swedish
language is his native language, and le is a fair interpreter into English. He is a suc-
cessful fariner in the eastern townships, and he is engaged at this moment collecting
parties of representative Scandinavian farmers in the eastern states to go to the North-
west to look over the country and report.

Q. Is lie employed the whole time ?-A. He was employed nearly the whole time
during the past year.

By the Chairman:

Q. Have you many men operating as agents on commission ?-A. Five or six.
Q. In what sections are they working ?-A. Chiefly in Kansas, Nebraska and

Idaho.
Q. What conditions do you attach to their agreement -that the settlers they bring

over remain on the land a certain length of time, or do you pay the agents when the
settlers are placed ?-A. When they are placed on the land.

By 3fr. Semple :
Q. Have you an agent in Dakota ?-A. Not at the present time. The Dakota

field is pretty well worked out.

By Mr. Innes:

Q. These agents have to furnish you with evidence that they have brought in the
settlers ?-Yes ; they have to supply us with two kinds of evidence. First, the evidence
must be that of the railway company, and the evidence of the settler himself when he
appears before the land agent.

By 3fr. Roone

Q. How is this system wcrking ?-A. It is working very well in Nebraska, where
we have an energetic Englishman name Gadsden employed.

Q. And he receives nothing but a commission ?-A. Nothing but a commission.

By 3fr. Carpenter :

Q. Have you any information as to whether the immigration will be pretty large
this year ?-A. If the price of wheat remains as it is, there should be a large influx of
immigration from Europe next spring.

Q. Not this year ?-A. There is no hope for this year.
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By the Chairman :

Q. HoW many agents has the department under employ in European countries -
A. We have one in France and Belgium and four in Great Britain and Ireland. These
latter are not stationed at any particular point, but go round lecturing and visiting
amongst the people. Then we have the regular agencies at Liverpool, Bristol and Glas-
gow. The permanent agencies in Ireland have been abolished.

Q. You have no permanent agents in Ireland at ail ?-A. We have an agent in Ire-
land who is permanent like the other three I have mentioned in Great Britain, except
that he does not stay in bis ofBce at Belfast or Dublin as before. He inoves about the
country continuously, but his appointment is permanent.

Q. And at these other places you have permanent offices established that are looked
after by men all the time ?-A. Yes, at Liverpool, Bristol and Glasgow. Then, there
is the High Commissioner's office, which is largely devoted to the promotion of emigra-
tion.

By Mr. Innes

Q. Is Mr. Stewart still employed in the North of Scotland ?-A. Yes.
Q. Is he successful?-A. Only moderately so, for the reasons thathave interfered with

the success of the others. I may say, however, that two or three promising colonies, the
fruits of Mr. Stewart's labours, have been started in the country lying between Red
Deer and Edmonton.

Q. Is lie paid by commission ?-A. No. He receives a salary of $100 per month.

By the Chairman :

Q. And these are all the parties travelling over there, or have you other lecturers ?
-A. We have many volunteer lecturers, clergymen, school-masters, etc., who get assist-
ance in the form of lantern slides with which to illustrate their lectures, with full infor-
mation upon any question on which they desire to be informed.

Q. Do you find that plan successful ?-A. One can hardly say that any present
effect is noticeable from it, although the educational influence of this class of work must
be very great.

By Mr. Innes:

Q. This plan of volunteer lectures is managed largely by the High Commissioner's
office, I understand. ?-A. Yes.

By the Chairman :

Q. Last year you spoke of means being adopted for the imparting in the schools of
information about Canada ?-A. Yes, the plan was largely carried out.

Q. By the supplying of pamphlets ?-A. We usually furnish them with what they
apply for. The Handbook of Canada has been largely in demand as a text book, as
well as the reports of the farm delegates. Instead of publishing these latter in a single
volume as before, we issued them separately, and circulated the several parts in the
districts from which the delegates came whose reports such parts contained. We found
that to be a cheap and effective method. We also found that the reports of the delegates
were largely in demand in the schools.

Q. What number of these reports and pamphlets did you supply ?-A. The IHigh
Commissioner reports about half a million pamphlets, documents and reports of one kind
or another supplied for that purpose.

Q. To the schools ?-A. To schools, schoolmasters, clergymen and other people of
position and influence, who interest themselves in emigration.

Q. What other pamphlets are you issuing or have you been distributing in European
countries ?-A. We have not been publishing anything of our own since last year.
Since I came to the meeting this morning I have telephoned to the Interior Department
to have sent over a complete set of the literature, in all the languages in which we are
publishing it.
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Q. Have you any information as to the cost of this literature ?-A. The cost is
fully shown in our accounts. I shall be very glad to make a report to the Committee of
the cost of publication, classifying all the different publications. I think also it would
be well to put in the report a statement of the distribution that has been made, and the
methods of distribution adopted. I can give that more concisely by looking at the
various reports than from memory.

(Vide Supplernent to Mr. Burgess' evidence, p. 226.)

By the Chairman:

Q. I notice that there is child immigration carried on by societies. I have here a
long letter sent by the manager of the Barnardo Home, of Toronto, giving a statement of
the operations that have been carried on through that association. Have you the
number of children that have been brought to Canada during the year ?-A. Yes.
There is published in the annual report a statement of the societies and individuals
engaged in promoting juvenile immigration during the past year. It will be found at
pages 7 and 8 of Part No. 3, of the Interior Report for last year, and is as follows

Rev. Mr. Wallace-that is, of the Marchmont Home at Belleville-brought out last
year 227 children; Church of England Waifs and Strays' Society, 23; Mr. W. J. Pady,
16 ; I might at this point say that an examination of Mr. Pady's methods satisfied us
that he was an undesirable man for this class of work, and we have taken steps to
prevent his continuance of it. He is really out of the business now. Finley Home, 2;
Dr. Stephenson's Homes, 53 ; Gordon Boys' Homes, 6 ; Miss Macpherson, 103 ; Miss
Rye, 121; Mr. Quarrier, 239; Miss Birt, 130; Fegan's Homes, 65 ; Dr. Barnardo, 612;
Salford Catholic Protection Society, 31 ; Liverpool Catholic Protection Society, 78 ; Hon.
Mrs. Joyce, 11; Self Help Emigration Society, 36; Rev. Father Seddon, 61 ; Children's
Aid Society, 18; Young Colonists' Aid Society, 37 ; Philanthrophic Society Farm School,
2; Bristol Emigration Society, 20; Total 1891 last year, compared with 2,720 the
previous year.

Q. What assistance do you give for bringing these children out ?-A. $2 per capita,
except for children that are brought from any of the workhouses, and for those we give
nothing.

Q. You give them all the same ?-A. The same, except as regards children that are
brought from the workhouses.

By Mr. Innes :

Q. Are the children brought direct from workhouses without any previous training?
-A. They are brought direct to homes established for that purpose in this country, and
kept in those homes until they can be placed with satisfactory families.

By the Chairman:

Q. Do they get any reduction in passage rates or anything else besides this $2 a
head ?-A. Not that I am aware of, but that is a matter between them and the
steamship companies.

By Fr. McInnes:

Q. These parties get a special rate ?-A. I suppose they do, and I come to this
conclusion not from anything I know, but because the companies sometimes practically
give them a special vessel. Take for instance during the past week, I know that Mr.
Quarrier sent about 230 children from Glasgow direct to Quebec by one of the slow
sailing boats of the Allan Line. I should expect that in a case of this kind a special
rate is given, but I really do not know.

By the Chairman :

Q. Have you had many objections from any parts of the country regarding this
class of emigration?-A. The Department has received no complaint from any person or
corporation. 
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Q. You have had reason to believe that the class of children brought was fairly
satisfactory .to the people of the country, since there have been no objections ?-A. All
our information is that they are fairly satisfactory. I might say that we are required
by the Imperial Government to make an annual inspection of the workhouse children
that are sent out, and the result of this inspection last winter was on the whole very
satisfactory.

Q. An annual inspection for how many years after they are landed here ?-A. We
are not bound to do it for more than one year, but as a matter of fact our agents con-
tinue the work. When they go to a particular locality for the purpose of following up
a child that came within the past 12 months, they look after alt of the same class that
may be within reach, so that we keep from time to time very good trace of them.

By ilr. Carpenter :

Q. Some of the institutions that bring these children out make a point of looking
after them for several years ?-A. They ail do.

Q. I know Dr. Stevenson's Home keeps track of them until they are 21 years of
age ?-A. So does the Rev. Mr. Wallace, who is engaged in the same class of work.

By Mr. Innes:

Q. I know Barnardo does it ?-A. For a much longer period than most of the per-
sons and organizations engaged in the same work.

By the Chairmtan

Q, Do these societies make any report to the Department for some years as to the
success or failure of the children after they come to the country ?-A. They answer all
inquiries that are sent to them, and we do inquire according to prescribed form regu-
larly. Dr. Barnardo has volunteered reports at various times, and so have some of the
others, but there is no systematic report continued over a series of years. I subnit for
the information of the Committee the following letter, of the date of the 24th April
last, addressed to myself, from Mr. Owen, the agent at Toronto of the Barnardo Homes.*

By Mr. Roome:

Q. They do not make any annual report to the department ?-A. No.

By Mr. Carpenter :

Q. You stated you paid certain immigration agents in Great Britain $100 a month.
Does that include living allowance ?-A. They have an allowance not to exceed $600 a
year in addition to the $1,200 salary. That $600 includes the hiring of halls, advertis-
ing and everything of that description.

By the Chairman :

Q. Do they make any report of the lectures they deliver ?-A. They make a
detailed report monthly of the work of the preceding month.

Q. Then the average expense of each man to the department will be $150 a month ?
-A. It must not exceed that.

Q. Have you any knowledge as to immigration to other countries compared with
what is coming to Canada ?-A. The falling off in immigration to the United States has
been enormous. Lately, however, there has been a slight improvement at the port of
New York.

By Mr. Innes:

Q. There has been considerable falling off in emigration to New Zealand, Australia,
and to the other colonies ?-A. Yes ; to all except to South Af rica.

* For a full explanation of the system pursued by Dr. Barnardo in reference to his Orphanage Homes
the bringing out and placing of young children in Canada, see letter of Mr. Alfred B. Owen, agent for the
Dr. Barnardo Homes,-p. 221.

115



59 Victoria. Appendix (No. 3.) A. 1896

Q. And therefore the falling off is not exceptional as regards Canada ?-A. Not
at all.

Q. Mining is responsible for emigration to the Cape ?-A. Undoubtedly.

By the Chairman:

Q. You have no knowledge of the emigration to the older provinces ?--A. No. We
take that to be the work of the provincial authorities. They own the Crown lands, and
we regard it as their work to look after their immigrants.

Q. You make no effort to keep a record of the classes coming in ?-A. We make
no effort. As I have already explained, my individual conclusion was that an effort of
that kind must be unsuccessful and the results misleading ; they at least are not to be
depended on. Therefore the attempt to get this information was abandoned. It could
be done, but to do it properly would cost a large sum of money-a sum out of all pro-
portion to the advantage to be derived from it. As you may remember, I took the
ground that the Canadian census was taken at sufficiently frequent intervals to be as
satisfactory as we could well wish upon this head.

By Mr. Roome:

Q. Has the United States any emigration agents in the old country?-A. TheUnited
States railways have emigration agents on the other side of the Atlantic.

Q. And still working ?-A. Working hard.

By the Chairman :

Q. Are our railway companies doing anything in that line ?-A. The Canadian
Pacific Railway Company is.

By Mr. Carpenter :

Q. Is the Grana Trunk Railway doing anything ?-A. Not that I know of. I
would not like to say that they are doing nothing, but they are not doing anything
that I know of, except indirectly through their passenger agencies. But they send the
department no information as to their work, if any, or its results.

By the Chairman:

Q. Have you any knowledge of the success or otherwise that has attended the
efforts of the railway companies?-A. I think it would be impossible to apportion what
has been done respectively by the agents of the Government and the railway agents.

Q., Would not the emigrants sent out by the railway companies purchase railway
lands ?-A. Not necessarily. Many that the railway people send out iay take up
Dominion lands, while a good many we bring out purchase railway lands. They increase
the 160-acre holding by this method. Those coming from the United States, for instance,
have been selling their land in the States at $15 and $20 per acre, and in some instances
I believe even higher prices, and have been buying Canadian Pacific Railway lands near
their homesteads at $3, and in this way they have been securing farms for their younger
children, as well as extending their own holdings.

By Mr. Carpenter:

Q. I think it is fair to assume that the Canadian Pacific Railway would bring
out the best class of land holders, as they have to do business with them in the future ?-
A. They would be interested in bringing good settlers.

By the Chairman :
Q. Have you had many applications during the year for domestic servants and

labourers from the older provinces ?-A. We have had a great many applications from
farmers in the Ottawa Valley, and a considerable demand for foreign labour, no doubt
largely arising out of the construction of the Parry Sound Railway. An abnormal local
demand for labour has been created on that account, and the farmers have had less
choice of material.
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Q. How far have you been successful in supplying that demand ?-A. We have
supplied it pretty fully, so far as my recollection serves me at this moment, but I think
there was a greater demand for farm hands than we were able to meet.

Q. And as to female servants, has there been any demand for them ?-A. There
was a great demand for female servants.

Q. Have you been able to supply that ?-A. Not nearly all.
Q. Have you mapped out any change in the system during the coming year from

that of the last year ?-A. The chief change, Mr. Chairman, has been in the direction
of " drawing in our horns." Our vote is $70,000 less than it was last year.

Q. How much was spent in immigration last year ?-A. Our appropriation was
exactly $200,000.

Q. You intend to reduce it to $130,000.?-A. We intend to reduce it to $130,-
000 this year.

Q. In what direction are you making reductions ?-A. In every direction.
Q. I understand the salaries are the same for the agents ?-A. Yes.
Q. And the allowance the same ?-A. The allowances are the same.
Q. You are making no reduction in that direction ?-A. We are making reduc-

tions in the contingencies of the permanent agencies, places like Liverpool, Glasgow and
Bristol, and in the High Commissioner's own office.

By Mr. Carpenter:

Q. You have a local agent, have you not, at Toronto ?-A. No.
Q. In making applications for farm help, where do you apply ?-A. The local

government are presumed to look af. er that. We refer a good many applications to the
local government.

Q. There was one at Hamilton?-A. Yes, there was at one time, but not now.

By 1Mr. Bain :

Q. You have no agent in the province of Ontario at all?-A. We have an agent
at Port Arthur, but that agency is incidental to the work along the railway. Each
party of immigrants is visited at different points along the line of the railwav, and an
agent of the government at several points sees that the immigrants are comfortable
and well and properly cared for.

By Mr. Roome :

Q. How do you look after the immigrants that come from the old country ?-A.
We have excellent facilities for looking after them at Quebec. I wish the coimmittee
would come to the conclusion some time to go down there and look at our arrangements.
The Department of the Interior takes no credit to itself for this ; the arrangements
were in existence when the business was handed over to us ; therefore I speak on the
subject without bias.

By Mr. Innes:

Q. There were complaints of want of accommodation at Montreal ?-A. The reason
was that the steamship companies were carrying immigrant passengers to Montreal, where
there was not intended to be accommodation for their landing, but there was no reason
why they should go there at ali. Quebec was the point where proper accommodation had
been provided. Their being brought to Montreal was merely the result of rivalry be-
tween the steamship companies.

Q. There is no accommodation at Montreal, because J have seen them loitering
about the railway stations ?-A. There is no necessity for their landing at Montreal at
ail.

By Mr. Boome:

Q. Why should Quebec be better than Montreal for the immigrants to disembark 7
-A. Because Quebec is the first port of call, and it is desirable that steerage passengers
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should be landed as soon as possible. Besides, we have the accommodation at Quebec,
and there would be no justification for maintaining two large and expensive establish-
ments when one will meet the requirements of the business. It saves time, too, to land
at Quebec.

Q. Twenty-four hours ?-A. Twelve hours at least, according to my recollection.
But the point of time is not of great importance.

Q. But it is cheaper, is it not ?-A. No ; it means the same thing in the end.

By the Chairman :

Q. You have no quarantine arrangements at Montreal ?-A. No.
Q. But you have at Quebec ?-A. All our arrangements for quarantine and disin-

fection are perfect at Quebec--far superior, in my estimation, to the quarantine and
the disinfection station at the port of New York. I have had the opportunity of
examining both.

By Mr. Featherston

Q. The immigrants seem to know that, because they come to Quebec and then go
to the United States ?-A. They are not doing that so extensively now as they did last
year and the year before.

Q. Immigrants have told me that they get better accommodation at Quebec and
get in more easily than in the United States and they come to Quebec and then pass
over to the United States ?-A. There is a little of that done.

Q. There is a great deal of it done by English immigrants ?-A. I have just read
to the committee a statement of how that business is this year. It is very small.

By Mr. Innes :

Q. There was likely at one time to be friction between the representative of the
United States government at Quebec and our government with reference to the inspec-
tion of the immigrants by the United States officers. Is that carried on now ?-A.
This government has nothing to do with it. It is a matter in which the government
refuses to take any part. The steamship companies and the railway companies furnish
facilities for doing this work. We do not.

Q. The government simply allows this officer to make this inspection ?-A. He does
not make this inspection on government property.

By the Cthairnan :

Q. What means have you to prevent the introduction of disease ? I thought the
government had arrangements for inspection and quarantine ?-A. Oh, decidedly. I
have no doubt what Mr. Innes referred to was the compliance of immigrant passengers
bound for United States points with the regulations so far as concerned the United
States Alien Labour Contract Act.

By 3fr. Roome :

Q. If they did not comply with the Alien Labour Act they would be refused at De-
troit ?-A. They make the examination at Quebec. Then, having passed a satisfactory
examination, they give them immigrants' certificates and they pass right through.

By Mfr. Carpenter:

Q. They are not delayed ; there is no cause for that ?-A. There is no cause for
delay. We would not permit them to delay the immigrants.

By Mfr. Roone:

Q. I notice that some 2,000 had been refused admission in New York under the
Alien Labour law recently ?-A. That may be.
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By the Chairman :

Q. las the quarantine station been found sufficient to handle all the baggage of
the immigrants coming in last year; I understand that there were some reports as to its
înadequacy ?-A. I do not think there were any complaints last year.

By Mr. Innes :

Q. During the cholera scare, the disinfectant apparatus was enlarged ?-A. It was.
Q. And now works satisfactorily ?-A. Quite satisfactorily.

By Mr. Carpenter:

Q. I understand that all the latest improvements were put in ?-A. Yes. The
committee will, however, understand that the question of quarantines is within the
jurisdiction of the Agricultural Department-not the Interior Department.

By the Chairman:

Q. And your department has nothing to do with it ?-A. Except that it has a
direct bearing on our business. We have occasion to see how it works, and it is to our
interest to have it efficient.

Q. Are you getting out any new pamphlets or documents for distribution ?-A. Not
on a very large scale. The reduction of our appropriation will have a distinct effect
upon that branch of our work. It is one of the items in regard to which we can econonize.
We hope to be able to conduct our work so that its efficiency will not seriously be
interfered with. Naturally, we shall have to reduce the volume of literature and the
number of publications to some extent.

By 11r. Carpenter:

Q. You think the reduction of $70,000 in your appropriation will not seriously
interfere with immigration work ?-A. I am hopeful that it won't. We shall certainly
do our best to prevent it.

By Mr. Innes:

Q. You could cut off the contingencies in the High Commissioner's office ?-A. You
might cut off the contingencies so as to seriously interfere with the efficiency of the office.
Take the item of travelling, for instance. You might cut that down so as to prevent a
man from carrying on his work. The chief saving we expect will be in the work in the
United States. That is where we shall make the chief cut.

By }Mr. Roome :

Q. Don't you think the money which has been spent there has been bringing more
immigrants into the territories than from Europe ?-A. Probably, but the immigration
from the United States will not cease. The number will largely increase on the repre-
sentations of friends already settled in Canada.

Q. Would not that apply equally from Europe ?-A. No; it does not apply to the
same extent.

Q. Don't you think it would be better to push the work energetically for some
time longer in the United States, and then quit altogether, instead of having a one-
horse affair ?-A. I would not call it a one-horse affair.

Q. But one or two agents cannot do a great deal ?-A. No, but the interest of the
people over there has been stirred up in regard to the North-west, large numbers have
been induced to look at the country, and what they have seen has awakened their
interest. As you will see by reference to the latest report of the Department of the
Interior, we had people entering the North-west last year and taking up land, f rom 33
States of the American Union.
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By Mr. Featherston:

Q. These people will then act as immigration agents by corresponding with their
friends ?-A. We have found that to be the case, from practical experience.

Q. They would be more efficient than regular agents 7-A. We have found it so.
But the regular agent is a necessity to start the work, and, on a modified scale and at
least for some time, to keep it going.

By Mr. Semple :

Q. Have you any information from the old country that working men can make
as much there as here ?-A. As far as agricultural labourers are concerned, that is the
case. The actual amount of money earned there may not be quite as large, but its
purchasing power is.

Q. And that is the reason they do not come to Canada ?-A. Undoubtedly. We
have found in past years that they made good progress on homesteads, but the terms of
employment on farns in Canada are different to the old country. There they can get
employment all the year round, whereas the farmers in Canada hire them simply for the
season.

By Mr. Innes:

Q. So that they are busy in summer and idle in winter ?-A. Yes.

By Mr. Mc3Millan:

Q. In my county (Huron) we find great difficulty in getting young men to hire by
the year ?-A. Does that refer to Canadian young men ?

Q. Yes, and to those from the old country as well ?-A. The net effect in the old
country is this : that a man would be willing to take smaller wages and be employed all
the year. At least, that is what they say. Mr. Peter Fleming, our travelling agent in
Scotland, writes us that the condition of affairs in Canada as respects the terms and
periods of employment, has a depressing effect upon his work.

By Mr. Carpenter :

Q. That is not our experience in my section (Wentworth). There the married men
are largely employed by the year. We can get a better class of men in that way ?-A.
In the North-west, the farmers are not able to hire men in many cases, and when they
do get them they simply hire thein for such time as they want them. Consequently the
agricultural labourer under present conditions won't come out. He prefers to rerain
in the old country.

Having examined the preceding transcript of my evidence, I find it correct.

A. M. BURGESS.
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DR. BARNARDO'S HOMES, 214 FARLEY AVENUE,
TORONTO, 24th April, 1895.

A. M. BURGEss, Esq.,
Deputy Minister of the Interior,

Ottawa, Ont.

SIR,-Conceiving that the subject of juvenile immigration is not unlikely to occupy
some little attention fron yourself, and possibly the Comnittee on Immigration, during
the present parliamentary session, I venture to submit for your consideration a few re-
marks upon that subject, as it appears to me from the result of my experience of the
past eleven years, during which time I have been the representative in the Dominion, of
Dr. Barnardo and his institutions.

I write under the assumption that in the view of the Government immigration to
the Dominion from Great Britain and the older countries is to be promoted and encour-
aged as a matter of general policy, and that therefore in dealing with the subject of
child immigration the object of the Government would simply be-first-to satisfy them-
selves that the class of persons added by means of this movement to the population of
the Dominion is a desirable class-second-having so satisfied themselves to be in a posi-
tion to meet and answer the objections or prejudices of persons opposed to the movement,
and thirdly, to determine what measures, if any, it is incumbent upon them to take to
guard against abuses connected with child immigration, and to promote and direct its
developments to such an extent as shall be beneficial and acceptable to the country.

Before going further it is necessary to say that I speak only of Dr. Barnardo's
work, and have no intimate knowledge of any other, but inasmuch as Dr. Barnardo bas
for several years past brought out to the Dominion alnost as large a number of children
as all the other individuals and institutions put together, I presume that a satisfactory
defence of Dr. Barnardo's work would constitute at any rate a very strong plea for the
whole movement as far as it is conducted on similar lines and governed by the same
principles.

As to the class of children brought out, there is a not uncommon impres-
sion, among those who have taken no pains to inform themselves upon the sub-
ject, that they are sent from England untaugbt and untrained, that they are
often morally corrupt and physically unsound, and the work of the persons
engaged in child immigration, who are generally described as " professional philan-
thropists," is supposed to consist in huddling together a lot of these unfortunates
in some receiving depôt in London or Liverpool, covering them with a few
decent clothes, and forthwith transporting them to the Dominion to fill the gaols,
penitentiaries, lunatic asylums, etc., and make themselves a burden and pest to the
community. Against this let it be said that " Dr. Barnardo's Homes " and bis work of
child rescue and training had been many years in operation before he turned his atten-
tion to emigration in any shape or form. It was only when the necessity presented it-
self for finding an outlet for boys and youths who had been trained and educated in the
homes and were thus equipped to go forth into life, that he began to seek some wider field
than was afforded in England with its overcrowded labour market in which each trained
boy entered only to be another competitor in the industrial struggle, whose presence might
too often be the means of driving somne other to want and privation. Not a boy or girl is,
or ever has been, sent to the Dominion until he or she has passed through a period of care-
ful, practical training and educqtion in the English home, and have during that period
satisfied those who have charge of them that they are physically healthy, mentally sound
and that in character and in morals they are at least honest, decent and inclined to be
industrious. In the various homes where boys of different ages are under training no
less than seventeen trades and handicrafts are in operation besides the various schools
which are attended by all boys under " school age." It is not supposed that the boys
when immigrated will follow the trades at which they have been employed in the
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homes, but the object is attained in their having acquired habits of industry and appli-
cation, and having been brought under firm but kindly discipline. The institution for
girls is a village home where, in the fifty-two villas seven hundred young maidens are
being brought up and trained on the family system, each cottage containing f rom twelve
to eighteen girls under the care of a inatron known to them as " mother," and from whom
they learn the rudiments of house work and household usefulness supplementing the
excellent education they receive at the schools of the Village Homes. The various
institutions acconmmodate in al] over four thousand children, and when each year
from seven hundred to eight hundred are selected from tliis number to be sent to
Canada, it is a gross misrepresentation to describe them as mere "street arabs "
gathered in from the slums and gutters. Of course inasmuch as human judgment is
fallible, grave mistakes bave occurred and we have had to lament over a smali percent-
age, happily a very small one, whose immigration has been unquestionably a mistake,
but the mistake bas been in judgment not in intention, and it has been the bonest aim
and effort of Dr. Barnardo and those associated with him to send out those, and those
only, whom we have good and reasonable grounds to expect will turn out to be useful
and respectable citizens of the Dominion. Nor are any large number of the children
origina!ly what may be styled "gutter children." Al have been poor and indeed must
have been in a position of actual or impending destitution to be eligible for admission
to the "homes," but in the vast number of cases the homes have stepped in between
them and the street, and have rescued them on the threshold of what would otherwise
have become lives of adventure on the street. How this is so, is easily imagined by
those who are at all familiar with the conditions of life among the British working
classes. The widow and family or the orphaned children of an English labourer or
mechanic, too often find themselves plunged by his death into a condition of hopeless
poverty and want, without any blame or disparagement attaching either to themselves
or to him. The process by which the home is broken up! and by which gradually, often
after a brave but hopeless struggle, the family succumb to the cruel pressure of want is
a very oft told tale to those engaged or interested in philanthropic work. The casual
ward, the common lodging house, the street must be the ultimate fate of those so
situated, but for such institutions as Dr. Barnardo's, but thanks to these great move-
ments, children under such circumstances are sought after and rescued, and are thus
prevented from joining the ranks of the vagrant and vicious classes. Surely even those
who are most prejudiced against child immigration would find it hard to justify the
contention that the door should be closed in the face of those wbose only fault is that
they are poor and have been in want, and on this ground to refuse to allow them the
chance of raising their position, and earning an honest and respectable livelihood.

Furthermore, statistics abundantly establish our claim that amongst the large
numbers that Dr. Barnardo bas placed in the Dominion, we have experienced a remnark-
able immunity f rom disease or serious failures of health, and further that an exceedingly
small percentage have been committed for crime or have lapsed into criminal or vicious
courses. The full details as to the latter bave been already furnished to the Depart-
ment, and it will suffice to say that less than one per cent have been convicted of crime,
while the death rate and health statistics will compare favourably with those of any
class of people in the Dominion. It would suggest itself that if it had not been so, and
if any large number of the children sent out by philanthropic individuals or societies
failed to become good citizens, it would have become apparent to those among whom for
the past twenty-five years those young people have found their homes, in whose families
thev have grown up and intermarried, and who have bad the fullest possible experience
of them, good, bad and indifferent, and that as a result there would have ceased to be a
desire on the part of the farmers to employ or give homes to such a class. We find on
the contrary, that there is a demand five or six times in excess of the supply, that for a
party arriving at the end of March applications to the full number have been received
early in February, and that to secure the services of a " Home " boy or girl, farmers are
willing to take an amount of trouble that would be inconceivable if it were not that
they have excellent reason to anticipate from their experience in the past that the
young person will be such as to be a help and benefit to them. We sometimes hear
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that this is simply greed for cheap labour and a desire to obtain help at less than its
fair market value. Certainly no one will accuse the Canadian farmer of not looking
after his interests in such a matter as the hiring of labour, or of being a bad band at a
bargain, and if the boys were sent out unfriended and unprotected to make their own
arrangements there would often be cases in which they would be taken advantage of.
They are not thus left however. No boy is ever placed with a farmer without an agree-
ment being entered into and signed. This agreement is simple in form and shorn as far
as possible of legal verbiage and intricacies, but it provides for the boy being engaged
for a certain definite length of time, for his being boarded, clothed, lodged, cared for
and looked after, and his attendance at Church and Sunday School and at day school, if
his age requires, shall be promoted by his employer and that he sliall be paid wages at
a stated rate per month, or per year, or in a lump sum, at the end of a term of years, as
we consider his age, strength and capabilities justly and fairly entitle him to receive in
accordance with the current rate of wages in the country. We are careful not to demand
from a fariner an amount of wages for a boy that would necessitate his working b:-yond
his size and strength in order to fairly earn, but, as far as in us lies, we strive, and I
venture to think strive successfully, to secure that our boys are reasonably and fairly
paid for their services. Needless to say our views of what a boy should receive do not
always accord with those of his employer, and many weary hours are spent every month
in negotiation, personally or by letter, but as the result I have abundant justification in
assuring you that the young people under our charge are not underpaid or taken advant-
age of, and if " cheap," that is underpaid labour, were the sole or principal object of the
farmers of the Dominion in taking our boys and girls, they would long since have dis
covered that they were failing in its accomplishment.

The subject of wages, and what I have said upon it, leads to the general question
of the supervision of the children after being placed out, than which nothing is more
imperatively essential, or more surely affects the success of any scieme of child immi-
gration. With all deference, I venture to submit that the department is called upon by
the dictates both of policy and humanity to allow no individual or institution to bring
to this country and place out young children without requiring that the persons who
bring them out shall be made responsible for visiting and looking after them, and that
with a view to this they shall establish and inaintain a "home " or institution to which
it shall be possible for children to return and be taken in, if from any circumstances
they should fail to remain in their situations. Dr. Barnardo has three such institutions
at the present time, one for girls at Peterboro', one for boys in Toronto, and the third
an Industrial Farm for older lads and young men near Russell in the Province of Mani-
toba. If any boy or girl should fail physically or morally, it is known to both the child
and its guardian that there is a place where such child may return as to its home, so that
there is no pretext or necessity for its wandering about or becoming chargeable to the
charitable institutions of the country, any more than a child who has parents living in the
country. To do further justice to the interests of the children placed out, a large and con-
tinuous correspondence is necessary. They and their employers must be encouraged to write
freely and regularly, and such letters will always supply matter for anxious and careful
consideration on the part of anyone honestly doing their duty in the capacity of guardian
to these young people. And last and perhaps even most important, I would venture to
urge that regular and systematic visitation is an absolutely necessary feature of any pro-
perly conducted work of child immigration. Without it there can never be really satis-
factory assurance that a child is being kihdly and properly treated, and moreover nuin-
berless opportunities are missed of influencing a boy or girl in the right direction, of
restraining them f rom wrong and foolish courses and of promoting pleasant and harmo-
nious relations between them and their employers. With the knowledge that in the
event of trouble of any kind there is a home open for his reception, finding himself
in occasional receipt of letters conveying, it is hoped, kindly and judicious advice,
and receiving a visit annually or semi-annually f rom someone who invites his confidence
and comes to look after his interests, no child can feel neglected, and no case of illusage
or hardship can pass unnoticed or unredressed ; and I would repeat that a system of
child immigration thus administered, safeguards the country to the fullest extent
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from being in any shape or way burdened with the care or charge of the young
immigrants. In our own experience, I am happy to say, cases of illtreat-
ment or cruelty on the part of employers are extremely rare. .That it
might be otherwise if the children were not carefully looked after, I will not deny,
but as it is I can only bear grateful testimony to the general consideration and kindli-
ness which our young people receive at the hands of the farners of the Dominion.
The class of farmers who chiefly eiploy themn nay be divided into three: first,-
young beginners, who, not being in a position to find employment for a man, can pro-
fitably use the services of a boy to assist them ; secondly,-elderly people whose own
families have been started out in life, and, thirdly,-large farmers eniploying adult
labour but requiring the services of a boy to run errands and do light chores about the
house and buildings. It would be hard to conce"ve what the country would gain by
depriving either one of these three classes of the supply of boy help which at present
they so n uch appreciate. In the case of the first class, the boys often remain for years,
growing up and developing with the development and improvement of the new farm
and treated and looked upon by the " boss " more as a brother than an employee. With
old people the children of ten find those who are almost more than parents, and against
the suggestions we sometimes hear as to the boys being overworked and imposed upon,
we can point to numberless instances of children who have been adopted and pro-
vided for with a generosity and liberality that nothi g but genuine affection could inspire.
Not a few boys, now grown to manhood, are well established on farms of their own upon
which they were originally " set up " by the farrners with whom they were placed on
their first arrival in the country. Of course such cases do not figure in the usual news-
paper references to the wvork, which generally take as their text some isolited case of
crime or misdemeanour committed by a juvenile immigrant, perhaps under great provo-
cation, and very likely in participation with native delinquents, to whom, of course, no
such ungenerous censure is to be meted out. In this connection I would point out
what seems to me an especially satisfactory feature in the results of child immigration,
and that is the very large percentage of them, as compared with other immigrants, who
remain permanently upon the land and directly assist in the agricultural development
of the Dominion. I feel sure that I am well within the mark in saying that of those
under our care fully eight-five per cent. are permanently and definitely established on
the land, making, "two potatoes grow where one grew before," and in doing so
adding, as I think we may fairly claim, to the wealth and resources of the country.
In the province of Ontario our boys largely supply the place of farmers' sons and farm
hands who have migrated westward, and as far as can be judged from present indica-
tions, this westward movement will supply homes and openings for them for many years
to come., In filling these openings we contend that they neither displace or unfairly
compete with any other class of labour, and that their loss would be severely felt and
would prejudicially aflect the interests of the farming community.

As to the attitude of the government towards child immigration, I feel great diffi-
dence in approaching the subject, inasmuch as it would seeîn unfitting to suggest any-
thing in view of the very generous support and consideration we have received for
so many years past,, and further wben there is so much to be said
in favour of everyone minding his own business, and letting other people,
including the government, mind their's, but I cannot refrain from giving evpression to
a desire that I have for a long time past had in my miid, which is that the
department would make the assistance it gives us in the shape of a capitation grant, a
means more directly of encouraging not only the immigration of children but the careful
selection of the subjects for immigration, and the subsequent supervision and caring for
them when they have been placed in the Dominion. Supposing for example instead of
giving two dollars ($2.00) per head, as commission upon the children landed in the
country, the department would give a grant on a rather more liberal scale per capita,
payable at the end of five years upon as many children as the parties who immigrated
them could show were still in the country and employed upon farms, and who had
been visited and properly looked after during the five years. By this means the depart-
ment would at once have the means of discouraging unsatisfactory immigration work
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and would be showing its recognition of the efforts of those who have done good service
for the Dominion and faithfully fulfilled their responsibilities. Of course there may be
considerations that make anything of this kind impracticable, but I hope I niay be par-
doned in making the suggestion inasmuch as I am sure the departmemt will symîpathize
with the object of securing proper and adequate supervision of the young people brought
to this country, and discouraging the importation of undesirable classes.

May I express, in conclusion, my conviction that this question needs only a fair
hearing in the Dominion to remove the prejudice that at present exists, and in certain
quarters is industrially fostered against it. It is inconceivable that if it can be shown,
as I feel sure it can, that by means of the enterprises of Dr. Barnardo and others, thou-
sands of young people whose only fault is that they have been in need and want can
be benefitted and established in life, that a legitimate demand for labour aniong the
agricultural community cai be supplied, and that a useful and deserving class can be
added to the population of the Dominion-that any measures should be taken to discour-
age it, and that the argument that " England should take care of its own poor," should
be applied to these boys and girls to their exclusion froin this country, while there are
openings for them here, where without injury or detriment to any class of the community
they may enter upon useful and honourable careers. And it is impossible to believe that
the government would seek by legislation or otherwise to frustrate the efforts of those
who are seeking to aid them and would prefer to cast them back into lives of pauperism
and dependence.

Humbly apologizing for having obtruded my views upon you at such length,
I have the honour to be, sir,

Your obedient servant,

ALFRED B. OWEN,
Agent, " Dr. Barnardo's Homes."
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Supplement to Mr. Burgess's evidence on Immigration.

STATEMENT of Immigration Literature utilized by the Department of Interior since the
transfer of the immigration business to this Department, in 1892.

Language. No. of Copies.

English-
Iilustrated and other periodicals
Pamphlets and delegates' reports...
L eaflets ................. ........
P osters ..........................
Extracts......................
Hand bills ............ ..........
Circulars and slips , .............
Folders .......................

Totals...........

French-
Pamphlets,.....................
Newspapers, &c..........

Totals.............

Icclandic-
Newspapers....... .............
Pamphlets........... ............
Leaflets .......................
Circulars...... ..... .... ........

Totals............

Scandinavian-
Pamphlets.....................
Cireulars......................
Leaflets . ..............
Newspapers, &c............. .....
F olders.... .. ..................

Totals..............

Ger-man and Dutch-
Pamphlets and folders.............
Newspapers...................

Totals..............

Finnish-
F olders .... ......................

Bohemian-
Pamphlets................... ....
Folders..........................

Totals..............

Maps for pamphlets...............

Grand totals. ......

188,450
1,100,000

1043,(00
40,00)

299,560
100<,0100
321,000
108,000

2,272,010

Cost.

$ cts.

9,540) O5
29,306 18

125 19
2,295 40
2,164 60

243 43
168 21

1,619 16

45,462 22

86,500 1,713 49
344,500 7,640 43

431,000 9,353 92

135,000 2,635 00
5,000 197 78
2,000 24 35
3,000 27 00

145,000 2,884 13

290,069
25,000

100,000
91,650
10,000

516,719

430,042
:-2,000

........... ....

452,042

60,000

20,000
50.000

70,000

7,350 04
87 23
81 49

1,903 80
35 58

9,458 14

Where distributed.

Principally in Great Britain an
the United States.

In France, Belgium
United States.

and the

In Iceland, principally.

Norway, Sweden, Denmark and
in the Scandinavian settle-
ments in the United States.

13,274 02 'Germany, Holland and United
695 50 States.

1,666 00

15,635 52

669 17 Europe and United States.

158 17
547 50

705 67

635,805 2,463 82

4,582,576 86,632 59

Europe and United States.
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RECOMMENDATIONS BY THE COMMITTEE.

The following resolutions were adopted by the Committee as recommendations for
the promotion of the agricultural interests referred to in each :

No. 1.-DISTRIBUTION oF AGRICULTURAL REPORTS.

Moved by Mr. Roome, seconded by Mr. Wilson,-" That the Chairman appoint a
sub-committee of five members to consider and report to this Committee upon some
feasible plan for a better distribution than at present, of the official reports upon
agriculture. "-Carried.

No. 2.-BRANDING OF CHEESE.

Moved by Mr. Taylor, seconded by Mr. McNeill,-" That the Chairman be and is
hereby instructed to issue a circular and address one to each cheese factory in Canada,
of which he can ascertain the address,-asking for a reply by the 25th instant,-
requesting the different producers in the country to give their views on the advisability
of passing a law compelling the producers to brand the date of production on each
cheese and box."-Carried.

No. 3.-A DELEGATIoN APPOINTED.

Moved by Mr. Taylor, seconded by Mr. McNeill,-" That Messrs. The Chairman,
Frechette, McLennan, McMillan and the mover compose a delegation of this Committee
to attend the Dairy Convention to meet at Brockville on Thursday, 9th May instant."
-Carried.

Committee Room 46, 7th May, 1895.

No. 4.-DAIRY CoMMISSIONER's EVIDENCE.

Moved by Mr. Taylor, seconded by Mr. McNeill,-" That the Committee ask the
House to authorize the printing of a sufficient number of copies of the evidence of Mr.
Robertsoni, Dairy Commissioner, before the Committee to-day, to place 1,000 copies at
the disposal of each of the Honourable The Members of the Senate and of each Member
of the House of Commons, for distribution."-Carried.

Committee Room 46, 14th May, 1895.

No. 5.-AID TO EXPO'RT OF FRUITS.

Moved by Mr. Carpenter, seconded by Mr. Roome,-" That in consideration of the
rapidly growing importance of the fruit industry, to the people of a large section of the
Dominion, and the importance and difEculty of establishing a good reputation in the
English market : The Conmittee are of opinion that the Governnent would be justified
in adopting some iethod of assisting our fruit growers in placing their fruits on the
English market, believing, as we do, that if some shipments of fruit were male by the
Government, it would give Canadian fruits a standing abroad that they cannot secure
when exported by individual shippers."-Carried.

Comimittee Room 46, 6th June, 1895.
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No. 6.-COLD STORAGE FOR FRUITS.

Moved by Mr. Carpenter, seconded by Mr. McGregor,-" That the opinion sub-
mitted to-day, by Mr. Craig to this Committee, on the practizability of exporting in good
condition, Canadian grown fruits of the more perishable kinds, by the aid of a system of
cold storage as outlined by him in his said statenent, be incorporated into the
Committee's final report, as a part thereof."-Carried.

Committee Room 46, 12th June, 1895.

No. 7.-THE CENTRAL EXPERIMENTAL FARM STAFF.

Moved by Mr. Roome, seconded by Mr. Carpenter,-" That each member of the
official Staff of the Central Experimental Farm be granted 500 copies of his own
evidence before this Committee and that the Superintendent, Mr. Saunders, be granted
in addition thereto, 500 copies of the Committee's full report."-Carried.

Committee Room, 12th July, 1895.

No. 8.-EXTRA ISSUE OF COMMITTEE'S REPORT.

Moved by Mr. Roome, seconded by Mr. Carpenter,-" That whereas the report of
the Select Standing Committee on Agriculture and Colonization is often inquired for
and in much demand: We, therefore, recommend that at least 50 copies of said report
be supplied to each Member of the House representing a rural constituency, in addition
to the number usually supplied."-Carried.

No. 9.-PUBLIC ACCOMMODATION

Moved by Mr. Roome, seconded by Mr. Carpenter,-" That in the opinion of this
Committee, there should be a suitable building erected at the Central Experimental
Farm, in which excursionists and parties visiting the Farm might be accommodated as
a place of shelter and lunch-taking, with a good supply of water by fountain or other-
wise, and other necessary conveniences for their comfort."-Carried.

No. 10.-COMPLIMENTARY VOTE TO THE CHAIRMAN.

Moved by Mr. Semple, seconded by Mr. Pridham,-" That the cordial thanks of
this Committee is hereby tendered to Mr. Sproule for the energy with which he has
conducted the variety of business that has come before this important Conmittee and
in bringing all the matters of investigation to a satisfactory conclusion ; as well as for
his uniform courtesy while occupying the chair."-Adopted.

Committee Room 46, 15th July, 1895.
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INTERIM REPORTS.

WEDNESDAY, lst May, 1895

Mr. Sproule, from the Select Standing Cormmittee on Agriculture and Colonization,
presented the first report of the said Committee, which is as follows --

The Committee recommend that the House authorize theni to employ a short-hand
writer to take down such evidence as the Committee may deem necessary.

Votes and Proceedings, No. 10, p.'74.

TUESDAY, l4th May, 1895.

Mr. Sproule, from the Select Standing Committee on Agriculture and Colonization,
presented the second report of the said Committee, which is as follows:

The Committee recommend that the House authorize a special issue of two hun-
dred and ninety-five thousand (295,000) copies of the evidence of Mr. J. W. Robertson,
Dominion Dairy Commissioner and Agriculturist, before this Coimnittee on the date
hereof, to be printed in the usual proportions of English and French, for equal allot-
ment to the Honourable the Members of the Senate, and the Members of the bouse
of Commons, for distribution to farmers.

Votes and Proceedings No. 19, p. 12,.
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INDEX.
APPLES,--HOW to pick and to pack, p. 116.

BUTTER,-Making in winter, 20. Government aid to export, 29. Government assist-
ance to manufacture in Canada and in Europe, 31. Export from Denmark, in 1883
and in 1894, 31. Export from Canada, 32. Prices of Canadian, Australian
and Danish butter in England, 32, 33. Directions for butter making in every
stage of the process, 41-46,

BEES,-Danger to from spraying, 54.

CATTLE,-Numbers and grades found affected with tuberculosis, at the experimental
farms, 12. The tuberculin test, 15.

CEREALs,-Varieties of, 4. Free distribution of, 6. Testing vitality and purity, 16.
Cross breeding, 16. Origin and comparative merits of different wheats, 17.

CHEMISTRY of food, 37. Components of the apple, 128. Components of the strawberry,
130. Indian corn fodder at different stages of growth, 139-148.

CLOVER INsECTs,-The root borer 59, 60. Clover seed midge, 59. Punctured clover
weevil, 59.

CLoVERs,-Varieties and characteristics, 60.

CONFERENCES on agricultural interests, 24, 88, 120.

COLD STORAGE,-System provided by government for export of butter, 201. Applied
to preservation of fruits for export, 94, 118. Cubic space provided in leading
cities of the United States, 99. Different systems described and approximate
cost of each, 99, 100.

DAIRYING,-In Prince Edward Island, 18. In Nova Scotia, 23. In New Brunswick,
23. In Quebec, 25. In Ontario, 25 Growth of exports, 31.

FRuITs,-DsEAsEs OF. San José scale, 51. Bud moth, 54. Codling moth, 55. Plum
curculio, 55. Fungi, 89. Peach curl, 110. Black knot, 113. Pear blight, 113.

IMMIGRATION,-Arrivals from Europe, at leading ports for first five months of 1894 and
1895 respectively, 205. Heads of families who made homestead entries in the
same period,-enumerated by nationalities. 206. Increase of population in
Manitoba, within past three years, 207. Number of heads of families who made
homestead entries, in 1894-and total arrival of European immigrants, 208.
Total number of heads of families who made homestead entries and population
colonized, 208. Agents employed, 208, 212, 213. Mormon settlement, 210.
Instruction on Canada, in the public schools of Great Britain, 213. Juvenile im-
migration,--persons and associations engaged in the work, 214. Expenditure
and appropriation, 217. Accommodation for immigrants, at Quebec, 217. Fe-
male domestic servants and labourers, 209, 216, 220. Literature,-languages in
which published, titles and number of copies, cost and in what countries distri-
buted, 226.
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INSECTS AND FUNGoUS DISEASES,--STANDARD REMEDIES: Bordeaux mixture, 48, 109.
Calendar guide to periods of spraying, 49-50. Paris green, 51. Kerosene emul-
sion, 51. Classes of insects requiring different remedies, 51. Paris green and
Bordeaux mixture, 53. Spraying apparatus, and how to work it, 52, 53, 112
Bordeaux mixture test, 114.

MANUREs,-Barnyard manure,-comparative merits of fresh and rotted, 7. A good
artificial fertilizer, 7. Orchard manuring, 92, 131. Swamp muck, 122. Seaweed,
123. Green crops, 125. Wood ashes, lime and salt, 126. Superphosphate,
bone meal, potash, phosphoric acid, 128, 129.

POULTRY, -Management of, to realize profits, 66-88. Diagrams illustrating process of
incubation, 77, 78. Diagrams of model poultry houses, 80-85.

SACALINE as a fodder plant, 60.

SHELTER BELTs,-Tree and hedge planting, 10, 91.

SMALL FRuITs,-Cultivation of the English gooseberry, 89, 93. The red cherry, 89.

TUBEROUS RooTs,-Potato rot,-Irish blight, 53, 55. Potato bug, 55. Yellow worm,
58. Potato Scab, 58. Wire worms, 58. Turnip louse, 57. Comparative food
values, 140, 147.

WEEDS,-Varieties of, and how to exterminate, 62.
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